Volume 40 Issue 1 March 2023

Journal of Experimental & Clinical Medicine



JECM https://dergipark.org.tr/omujecm



FACULTY OF MEDICINE

e-ISSBN 1309-5129

JOURNAL OF EXPERIMENTAL & CLINICAL MEDICINE

Volume 40 - Issue 1 - 2023

ISSN 1309-4483 e-ISSN 1309-5129

Owner On Behalf of Ondokuz Mayis University Yavuz ÜNAL

Director in Charge Cengiz ÇOKLUK

Publisher Administration Office Ondokuz Mayıs University Faculty of Medicine Atakum / Samsun, Turkey

Publish Type Periodical

Online Published Date 18/03/2023

Scientific and legal responsibility of the papers that are published in the journal belong to the authors.

Indexed: Scopus, EBSCO, Google Scholar, Crossref, EMBASE, TurkMedline

EDITOR IN CHIEF Cengiz ÇOKLUK

ASSOCIATED EDITORS Yasemin ULUS Serkan YÜKSEL Davut GÜVEN Mustafa ARAS Adem KOCAMAN

SECTION EDITORS Mahmut ŞAHİN Meftun ÜNSAL Ayhan BİLGİCİ Latif DURAN Mustafa AYYILDIZ Mahmut BAŞOĞLU Ferşat KOLBAKIR Şaban SARIKAYA Ahmet DEMİR Mustafa Kemal DEMİRAĞ Beytullah YILDIRIM Lütfi İNCESU

> Cover Design Sefa Ersan KAYA

LAYOUT EDITORS Adem KOCAMAN Büşra Nur ÖZCAN Sebati Sinan ÜRKMEZ Zeynep AKÇA

EDITORIAL ADVISORY BOARD

Ali KELES

Ondokuz Mayıs University, Samsun, Turkey Avdın HİM Bolu Abant İzzet Baysal University, Bolu, Turkey **Bahattin AVCI** Ondokuz Mayıs University, Samsun, Turkey **Christopher S. VON BARTHELD** University of Nevada, Reno, USA **Devra DAVIS** Environmental Health Trust, United States Murat TERZI Ondokuz Mayıs University, Samsun, Turkey Dursun AYGÜN Ondokuz Mayıs University, Samsun, Turkey Ferhat SAY Ondokuz Mayıs University, Samsun, Turkey Gürkan ÖZTÜRK İstanbul Medipol University, İstanbul, Turkey İnci GÜNGÖR Ondokuz Mayıs University, Samsun, Turkey Javad SADEGHINEZHAD University of Tehran, Tehran, Iran Jens R. NYENGAARD Aarhus University, Aarhus, Denmark Latif DURAN Ondokuz Mayıs University, Samsun, Turkey

Anatomy

Mehmet Emirzeoğlu, Samsun, Turkey Sait Bilgiç, Samsun, Turkey Ahmet Uzun, Samsun, Turkey Mennan Ece Pirzirenli, Samsun, Turkey **Biophysics** Ayşegül Akar, Samsun, Turkey **Biostatistics** Leman Tomak Samsun, Turkey Histology and Embryology Süleyman Kaplan, Samsun, Turkey Bülent Ayas, Samsun, Turkey Mehmet Emin Önger, Samsun, Turkey Physiology Erdal Ağar, Samsun, Turkey Mustafa Ayyıldız, Samsun, Turkey Ayhan Bozkurt, Samsun, Turkey Gökhan Arslan, Samsun, Turkey Biochemistry Nermin Kılıç, Samsun, Turkey Ramazan Amanvermez, Samsun, Turkey Birşen Bilgici, Samsun, Turkey Bahattin Avcı, Sansun Turkey Medical Biology

Leonid GODLEVSKY Odessa National Medical University, Odessa, Ukraine Maulilio J. KIPANYULA Sokoine University of Agriculture, Morogoro, Tanzania Mehmet YILDIRIM Sağlık Bilimleri University, İstanbul, Turkey Murat Terzi Ondokuz Mayıs University, Samsun, Turkey Murat MERIC Ondokuz Mayıs University, Samsun, Turkey Mustafa AYYILDIZ Ondokuz Mayıs University, Samsun, Turkey Paul F. Seke ETET University of Ngaoundere Garoua, Cameroon Sandip SHAH B.P. Koira Insttute of Health Science Dharan, Nepal Sabita MISHRA Maulana Azad Medical Collage New Delhi, India **Stefano GEUNA** University of Turin, Turin, Italy Süleyman KAPLAN Ondokuz Mayıs University, Samsun, Turkey **Tara Sankar ROY** All India Institute of Medical Sciences New Delhi, India **Trevor SHARP** Oxford University, Oxford, United Kingdom

EDITORIAL REVIEW BOARD

Sezgin Güneş, Samsun, Turkey Şengül Tural, Samsun, Turkey Microbiology Asuman Birinci, Samsun, Turkey Yeliz Tanrıverdi Çaycı, Samsun, Turkey **Medical Education** Özlem Mıdık Samsun, Turkey Servet Aker Samsun, Turkey Rahman Yavuz, Samsun, Turkey **Emergency Medicine** Ahmet Baydın, Samsun, Turkey Türker Yardan, Samsun, Turkey Hızır Ufuk akdemir, Samsun, Turkey Latif Duran, Samsun, Turkey Celal Katı, Samsun, Turkey Fatih Calıskan, Samsun, Turkey **Forensic Medicine** Berna Aydın, Samsun, Turkey Ahmet Turla, Samsun, Turkey **Family Medicine** Mustafa Feyzi Dikici, Samsun, Turkey Bektaş Murat Yalçın, Samsun, Turkey Füsun Ayşin Artıran İğde, Samsun, Turkey Mustafa Kürşad Şahin, Samsun, Turkey

Child and Adolescent Mental Health

Koray M.Z. Karabekiroğlu, Samsun, Turkey Gökçe Nur Say, Samsun, Turkey Pediatrics Ayhan Dağdemir, Samsun, Turkey Murat Avdın, Samsun, Turkev Ayhan Gazi Kalaycı, Samsun, Turkey Fadıl Öztürk, Samsun, Turkey Recep Sancak, Samsun, Turkey Alişan Yıldıran, Samsun, Turkey Hasibe Canan Seren, Samsun, Turkey Canan Albayrak, Samsun, Turkey Özlem Aydoğ, Samsun, Turkey Gönül Çataltepe, Samsun, Turkey Ünsal Özgen, Samsun, Turkey Ayşe Aksoy, Samsun, Turkey Nazik Yener, Samsun, Turkey Işıl Özer, Samsun, Turkey Mustafa Ali Akın, Samsun, Turkey Levla Akın, Samsun, Turkev Esra Akyüz Özkan, Samsun, Turkey Sahin Takcı, Samsun, Turkey Hülya Nalçacıoğlu, Samsun, Turkey Dermatology Fatma Aydın, Samsun, Turkey Nilgün Şentürk, Samsun, Turkey Müge Güler Özden, Samsun, Turkey Esra Pancar Yüksel, Samsun, Turkey Infection Disease Esra Tanyel, Samsun, Turkey Şaban Esen, Samsun, Turkey Aydın Deveci, Samsun, Turkey Aynur Atilla, Samsun, Turkey Fatih Temoçin, Samsun, Turkey Pharmacology Süleyman Sırrı Bilge, Samsun, Turkey **Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation** Ayhan Bilgici, Samsun, Turkey Gamze Alaylı, Samsun, Turkey Dilek Durmuş, Samsun, Turkey Yeşim Akyol, Samsun, Turkey Yasemin Ulus, Samsun, Turkey İlker İlhanlı, Samsun, Turkey Kıvanç Cengiz, Samsun, Turkey **Chest Medicine** Atilla Güven Atıcı, Samsun, Turkey Meftun Ünsal, Samsun, Turkey Nurhan Köksal, Samsun, Turkey Oğuz Uzun, Samsun, Turkey Public Healthy Cihad Dündar, Samsun, Turkey Şennur Dabak, Samsun, Turkey Ahmet Teyfik Sünter, Samsun, Turkey Özlem Terzi, Samsun, Turkey Air and Space Medicine Fersad Kolbakır, Samsun, Turkey Mehmet Ender Arıtürk, Samsun, Turkev Internal Medicine Ramis Colak, Samsun, Turkey Nurol Arık, Samsun, Turkey Ahmet Bektaş, Samsun, Turkey Mehmet Turgut, Samsun, Turkey Düzgün Özatlı, Samsun, Turkey Güzin Demirağ, Samsun, Turkey Melda Dilek, Samsun, Turkey Hayriye Sayarlıoğlu, Samsun, Turkey

Ayşegül Atmaca, Samsun, Turkey Beytullah Yıldırım, Samsun, Turkey Metin Özgen, Samsun, Turkey Hasan Ulusoy Samsun, Turkey Bahiddin Yılmaz, Samsun, Turkey Engin Kelkitli, Samsun, Turkev Talat Ayyıldız, Samsun, Turkey Memiş Hilmi Atay, Samsun, Turkey Cardiology Mahmut Şahin, Samsun, Turkey Özcan Yılmaz, Samsun, Turkey Okan Gülel, Samsun, Turkey Murat Meriç, Samsun, Turkey Korhan Soylu, Samsun, Turkey Serkan Yüksel, Samsun, Turkey Neurology Murat Terzi, Samsun, Turkey Hüseyin Alparslan Şahin, Samsun, Turkey Dursun Aygün, Samsun, Turkey Hacer Erdem Tilki, Samsun, Turkey Nilgün Cengiz, Samsun, Turkey Hande Türker, Samsun, Turkey Ayşe Oytun Bayrak, Samsun, Turkey İbrahim Levent Güngör, Samsun, Turkey Sedat Şen, Samsun, Turkey Nuclear Medicine Tarık Başoğlu, Samsun, Turkey Feyziye Cambaz, Samsun, Turkey Oktay Yapıcı, Samsun, Turkey Sibel Uçak Semirgin, Samsun, Turkey Psychiatry Ahmet Rıfat Şahin, Samsun, Turkey Hatice Güz, Samsun, Turkey Ömer Böke, Samsun, Turkey Gökhan Sarısoy, Samsun, Turkey Aytül Karabekiroğlu, Samsun, Turkey **Radiation Oncology** Nilgün Özbek Okumuş, Samsun, Turkey Bilge Gürsel, Samsun, Turkey Ahmet Deniz Meydan, Samsun, Turkey Alparslan Serarslan, Samsun, Turkey Radiology Meltem Ceyhan Bilgici, Samsun, Turkey Hüseyin Akan, Samsun, Turkey Murat Danacı, Samsun, Turkey Lütfi İncesu, Samsun, Turkey Selim Nural, Samsun, Turkey Muzaffer Elmalı, Samsun, Turkey Aslı Tanrıvermiş Sayit, Samsun, Turkey Veysel Polat, Samsun, Turkey Kerim Arslan, Samsun, Turkey İlkay Çamlıdağ, Samsun, Turkey Ayşegül İdil Soylu, Samsun, Turkey **Medical Genetics** Ümmet Abur, Samsun, Turkey Engin Altundağ, Samsun, Turkey Ömer Salih Akar, Samsun, Turkey **History of Medicine and Ethics** Hasan Tahsin Keçeligil, Samsun, Turkey **Anesthesiology and Reanimation** Deniz Karakaya, Samsun, Turkey Binnur Sarıhasan, Samsun, Turkey Fuat Güldoğuş, Samsun, Turkey Sibel Barıs, Samsun, Turkey Elif Bengi Sener, Samsun, Turkey İsmail Serhat Kocamanoğlu, Samsun, Turkey

Ebru Kelsaka, Samsun, Turkey Fatih Özkan, Samsun, Turkey Fatma Ülger, Samsun, Turkey Yasemin Burcu Üstün, Samsun, Turkey Ersin Köksal, Samsun, Turkev Cengiz Kaya, Samsun, Turkey Neurosurgery Cengiz Çokluk, Samsun, Turkey Ömer Lütfi İyigün, Samsun, Turkey Alparslan Şenel, Samsun, Turkey Kerameddin Aydın, Samsun, Turkey Ersoy Kocabıçak, Samsun, Turkey Mustafa Aras, Samsun, Turkey Aykan Ulus, Samsun, Turkey Abdullah Hilmi Marangoz, Samsun, Turkey Şevki Serhat Baydın, Samsun, Turkey **Pediatric Surgery** Mehmet Ender Aritürk, Samsun, Turkey Ferit Bernay, Samsun, Turkey Ünal Bıçakçı, Samsun, Turkey **General Surgery** Mahmut Basoğlu, Samsun, Turkey Ayfer Kamalı Polat, Samsun, Turkey Cafer Polat, Samsun, Turkey Bekir Kuru, Samsun, Turkey Bahadır Bülent Güngör, Samsun, Turkey Gökhan Selçuk Özbalcı, Samsun, Turkey Saim Savaş Yörüker, Samsun, Turkey Oğuzhan Özşay, Samsun, Turkey İsmail Alper Tarım, Samsun, Turkey Murat Derebey, Samsun, Turkey Mehmet Can Aydın, Samsun, Turkey Chest Surgery Ahmet Başoğlu, Samsun, Turkey Burçin Çelik, Samsun, Turkey Ayşen Taslak Şengül, Samsun, Turkey Yasemin Bilgin Büyükkarabacak, Samsun, Turkey **Ophtalmology** İnci Güngör, Samsun, Turkey Nursen Arıtürk, Samsun, Turkey Yüksel Süllü, Samsun, Turkey Hakkı Birinci, Samsun, Turkey Ertuğrul Can, Samsun, Turkey Leyla Niyaz Sahin, Samsun, Turkey **Gynecology and Obstetrics** Mehmet Bilge Cetinkaya, Samsun, Turkey İdris Koçak, Samsun, Turkey Miğraci Tosun, Samsun, Turkey Handan Çelik, Samsun, Turkey Devran Bildircin, Samsun, Turkey Davut Güven, Samsun, Turkey Abdülkadir Bakay, Samsun, Turkey İbrahim Yalçın, Samsun, Turkey Ayşe Zehra Özdemir, Samsun, Turkey

Christopher S. VON BARTHELD University of Nevada, Reno, USA Devra DAVIS Environmental Health Trust, United States Javad SADEGHINEZHAD University of Tehran, Tehran, Iran Jens R. NYENGAARD Aarhus University, Aarhus, Denmark Leonid GODLEVSKY Odessa National Medical University, Odessa, Ukraine Maulilio J. KIPANYULA

Cardiovascular Surgery

Mustafa Kemal Demirağ, Samsun, Turkey Fersat Kolbakır, Samsun, Turkey Hasan Tahsin Keceligil, Samsun, Turkey Serkan Burç Deşer, Samsun, Turkey Semih Murat Yücel, Samsun, Turkev Head and Neck Surgery Sinan Atmaca, Samsun, Turkey Recep Ünal, Samsun, Turkey Atilla Tekat, Samsun, Turkey Özgür Kemal, Samsun, Turkey Senem çengel Kurnaz, Samsun, Turkey Abdülkadir Özgür, Samsun, Turkey **Orthopedic and Traumatology** Nevzat Dabak, Samsun, Turkey Davut keskin, Samsun, Turkey Yılmaz Tomak, Samsun, Turkey Ahmet Piskin, Samsun, Turkey Ferhat Say, Samsun, Turkey Hasan Göçer, Samsun, Turkey Medical Pathology Filiz Karagöz, Samsun, Turkey Yakup Sancar Barış, Samsun, Turkey Levent Yıldız, Samsun, Turkey Oğuz Aydın, Samsun, Turkey Mehmet Kefeli, Samsun, Turkey Bilge Can Meydan, Samsun, Turkey Yurdanur Süllü, Samsun, Turkey Urology Saban Sarıkaya, Samsun, Turkey Ali Faik Yılmaz, Samsun, Turkey Recep Büyükalperli, Samsun, Turkey Ramazan Aşçı, Samsun, Turkey Yarkın Kamil Yakupoğlu, Samsun, Turkey Ender Özden, Samsun, Turkey Yakup Bostancı, Samsun, Turkey Kadir Önem, Samsun, Turkey Plastic Surgery Ahmet Demir, Samsun, Turkey Lütfi Eroğlu, Samsun, Turkey Tekin Şimşek, Samsun, Turkey Murat Sinan Engin, Samsun, Turkey **National Universities** Hakan Karabağlı, Neurosurgery, Konya, Turkey Yurdal Serarslan, Neurosurgery, Hatay, Turkey Altay Sencer, Neurosurgery, İstanbul, Turkey Fatma Öz, Anatomy, Hatay, Turkey Murat Güntel, Neurology, Hatay, Turkey Adnan Altun, Neurosurgery Konya, Turkey Bircan Yücekaya Samsun Turkey

INTERNATIONAL ADVISORY BOARD

Sokoine University of Agriculture, Morogoro, Tanzania Sandip SHAH B.P. Koira Institute of Health Science Dharan, Nepal Sabita MISHRA Maulana Azad Medical Collage New Delhi, India Stefano GEUNA University of Turin, Turin, Italy Tara Sankar ROY All India Institute of Medical Sciences New Delhi, India Trevor SHARP Oxford University, Oxford, United Kingdom EDITORS EMERITI **Muhsin SARACLAR (1978-1981)** Gürler İLİÇİN (1981-1982) Emin U. ERKOÇAK (1982-1985) Arman BİLGİÇ (1985-1988) Ercihan GÜNEY (1988-1990) Naci GÜRSES (1990-1992) Mete KESİM (1992-1995) Cemil RAKUNT (1995-1998) İhsan ÖĞE (1998-1999) Kayhan ÖZKAN (1999-2002) Fulya TANYERİ (2002-2005) Şaban SARIKAYA (2005-2008) Haydar ŞAHİNOĞLU (2008-2012) Süleyman KAPLAN (2012-2020)

CONTENTS

	RESEARCH ARTICLE	
1	Protective effects of glutathione administration on ischemia-reperfusion injury in rat ovaries	
	Ali GÜRSOY, Belkız Ongen IPEK, Ayşe Gökçen SADE, Kemal ATASAYAN, Ezgi DOGAN TEKBAŞ, Mustafa Erinc SITAR	1-6
2	The protective impact of glutamine on anti-tuberculosis drug-induced nephrotoxicity in Wistar rats	7-12
3	Knowledge of health care providers about Covid-10 disease in pregnancy and lactation in Ardabil	
5	Rafat KAZEMZADEH Leila REISV. Samaneh DARAGH FEKRI Pouran AKHAVAN AKRARI	13-17
4	Comparison of anxiety, depression, and quality of life of husbands of women with and without breast cancer	18-22
	Fatemeh VİZESHFAR, Fereshteh DEHGHANRAD, Mahboobeh MAGHAREİ	
5	Pove H AL HADDAD Hameed M IASIM	23-26
6	HOMA-IR level in obese type 2 diabetic rat model treated by Sleeve gastrectomy and pancreatic	
	Abdul MUGHNİ, Vito Mahendra EKASAPUTRA, Reza Tri SUTRİSNO, Anggoro Teguh PRASETYA, Indra PUTRANTO, Dimas ERLANGGA	27-30
7	The effect of chamomile on nausea and vomiting after laparoscopic cholecystectomy: A triple-blind randomized clinical trial	31-36
	Soheila BAKHTIARI, Gholamreza KHALILI, Razieh Salimi ZADAK	
8	Change of complete blood count parameters according to blood type and smoking	37-41
	Habibe İNCİ	57-11
9	Role of transvaginal ultrasonography in determining endometrium cancer risk in asymptomatic postmenopausal women with thickened endometrium	42-46
	Osman Samet GÜNKAYA, Arzu TEKİN, Meltem TEKELİOĞLU, Zeynep GEDİK ÖZKÖSE, Ayşegül BESTEL, Üzeyir KALKAN, Niyazi TUĞ	12-10
10	Comparison of depression and anxiety in inflammatory bowel patients treated with anti-TNF or immune modulators	47-51
	Esra ÇATALTEPE, Nergiz EKMEN, Mehmet CİNDORUK	
11	The investigation of concomitant dermal and oral lichen planus in patients referred to Zahedan University centres	52-56
	Tahereh NOSRATZEHI, Abolfazl PAYANDEH, Atefeh NOSRATZEHI	
12	Efficacy of kinesio taping versus extracorporeal shock wave therapy in the short term for the calcaneal spur	57-61
	Nurten NAS KIRDAR, Tuba KANYILMAZ	
13	Camza TÜRK, Mustafa PİL CİL İ. Ahmat Emrah ACAN, Ali KOC	62-65
14	Evaluation of the effect of $NO2$ levels on mortality in four key cities of Türkiye hetween 2017_2010	
17	Elif Nur YILDIRIM ÖZTÜRK. Mustafa ÖZTÜRK	66-71
15	What is the effect of vitamin D deficiency on Pap smear test results in the postmenopausal period?	
	Asena AYAR MADENLİ, İnci ÖZ, Ergül DEMİRÇİVİ	72-75
16	Investigation of awareness of human papilloma virus infection among female health workers at Ondokuz Mayıs University	76-79
	Yunus KATIRCI, İbrahim YALÇIN, AbdülKadir BAKAY, Davut GÜVEN, İdris KOÇAK	
17	Evaluation of patients admitted to the emergency department after Coronavac (Sinovac) vaccination? Bahadır TASLIDERE, Ertan SÖNMEZ, Serdar ÖZDEMİR	80-84
18	Impact of an HPV diagnosis on the psychosexual sphere	
10	Esra KELEŞ, Uğur Kemal ÖZTÜRK, Cihat Murat ALINCA, Damlanur YÜCEL, Murat APİ, Kürşad Nuri BAYDİLİ	85-89
19	Correlation of blood glucose and prostatic-related parameters in patients with prostate enlargement	
	Ida Bagus Gde Tirta Yoga YATİNDRA, Anak Agung Sagung Mirah PRABANDARİ, Pande Made	90-93

	Wisnu TİRTAYASA, Ida Bagus Tatwa YATİNDRA, Anak Agung Ngurah Oka DİATMİKA, Kadek Cindy MERNİKA	
20	Relationship between psychiatric symptoms, childhood traumas, and types of crime of convicts in Elazig closed prisons	94-99
	Şüheda KAYA, Gülay TAŞCI, Nülüfer KILIÇ, Bahadır DEMİR, Filiz ÖZSOY	
21	The effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on pediatric patients with otitis media with effusion	100 102
	Nesrettin Fatih TURGUT	100-102
22	The value of preoperative inflammatory markers in patients through total laryngectomy for advanced stage larynx carcinoma	103-106
	Mehmet ÇELEBİ, Dursun Mehmet MEHEL, Semih VAN, Seda Nur CİHAN2, Doğukan ÖZDEMİR, Abdülkadir ÖZGÜR	105-100
23	An evaluation of the laboratory and clinical data of the Crimean-Congo hemorrhagic fever patients during the Covid-19 pandemic	107-112
	Pınar ÖNER, Müge ÖZGÜLER	
24	<i>Epidemiological and clinical characteristics, management, and outcomes of antenatal hydronephrosis: A single-centre experience of 229 cases</i>	113-115
	Mesut ÖNAL, Hülya Gözde ÖNAL	
	REVIEW ARTICLE	
25	Hemiplegia and oral health	116-121
	Manolya ILHANLI, Ilker ILHANLI, Peruze ÇELENK	110 121
26	<i>Stem cell applications in female infertility – A rewiev</i>	122-126
	Ayşe Zehra ÖZDEMİR, Ayşe Şeyma TAŞTAN	122 120
27	Overview of hematopoietic stem cell transplantation	127-131
	Neslihan MERİÇ	127 131
28	Beyond cognition and sleep: Stop the domino effect	
	Shaimaa Nasr AMIN, Ahmed Sayed KHASHABA, Ahmad Yousef ALAZZAM, Hamzeh Mahmoud ALKHAWALDAH, Khaled Anwer ALBAKRI, Omar Amjad ALMAJDOUBAH, Yasmeen Jamal ALABDALLAT, Ahmed Shaaban ABU SEIF	132-149
29	Experimental intervertebral disc degeneration models	150 152
	Osman Fikret SÖNMEZ, Ayşe İKİNCİ KELEŞ	130-132
30	Emergencies in movement disorders	152 1(0
	Dursun AYGÜN, Murat POLAT	153-160
31	CRISPR/Cas9 system in hematopoietic stem cells: Basic research and clinical applications	1(1 170
	Esra ALBAYRAK	161-170
32	From laboratory studies to clinical applications mesenchymal stem cells in cancer treatment: Translational oncology	171-179
	Melek YUCE	
	CASE REFORM	
33	Erain imaging finaings of methanoi poisoning and detection of chronic stage nervous system damage. A case report Eatma XII MAZ CAN Mehmet Feuzi ÖZTEKİN	180-182
31	A rara case: Convistance of noncompaction cardiomyonathy and Electric anomaly	
54	Ahmet CINAR, Ömer GEDIKLI	183-185
35	Post arrest bispectral index monitoring	
	Serdar ÖZDEMİR, Oktay ÖCAL, Hasan DEMİR, Yasin METİNER, Tuba CİMİLLİ, Aysel HÜNÜK, Özge ECMEL ONUR	186-187
36	Curative breast cancer surgery with local anesthesia	100 100
	Yasin DALDA, Özlem DALDA, Deniz Yavuz BAŞKIRAN, Fatih GÖNÜLTAŞ	188-190
37	Lung cancer and choroidal metastase	101 102
	Fatma Selen ALA, Meftun ÜNSAL, Alparslan SERASLAN	191-193
	LETTER TO EDITOR	

38	Medical management during the pandemic period Emin PALA	194-195
39	Prognosticating poor outcome in COVID-19 Emin PALA	196-196
40	SCUBE-1 as a novel predictor of thromboembolic event Hatice Şeyma AKÇA	197-198



Journal of Experimental and Clinical Medicine https://dergipark.org.tr/omujecm



Research Article

J Exp Clin Med 2023; 40(1): 1-6 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.40.1.1

Protective effects of glutathione administration on ischemia-reperfusion injury in rat ovaries

Ali GÜRSOY^{1,*}, Belkız Ongen IPEK², Ayşe Gökçen SADE³, Kemal ATASAYAN⁴, Ezgi DOGAN TEKBAŞ¹, Mustafa Erinc SITAR²

¹Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Faculty of Medicine, Maltepe University, İstanbul, Türkiye ²Department of Medical Biochemistry, Faculty of Medicine, Maltepe University, İstanbul, Türkiye ³Department of Pathology, Haydarpaşa Sultan 2. Abdulhamid Han Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Türkiye ⁴Department of Obstetrcis and Gynecology, Faculty of Medicine, Bezmialem University, İstanbul, Türkiye

Received: 01.03.2022•Accepted/Published Online: 06.07.2022•		Final Version: 18.03.2023
---	--	---------------------------

Abstract

We aimed to examine the biochemical and histopathological potential beneficial effects of glutathione administration on the ovarian ischemia/reperfusion injury (IRI) model. Thirty Wistar Albino female rats were used in this experimental study and were divided into five groups. Group 1 (sham) underwent observational laparotomy. Group 2 (torsion) had their left ovaries torsioned. Group 3 (torsion + detorsion) was detorsioned after torsion. Groups 4 and 5 received the same procedure as group 3. 0,2 ml glutathione was applied to the left ovaries of group 4 (torsion + detorsion + intraovarian glutathione injection) after detorsion. Group 5 (torsion + detorsion + intraperitoneal glutathione injection) was administered 1 ml glutathione intraperitoneally five times. Fifteenth-day blood samples were taken to examine total antioxidant status, total oxidant status, oxidative stress index, anti-mullerian hormone (AMH), and malondialdehyde (MDA) values. Besides, the left ovaries were resected for histopathological examination. Total antioxidant status was significantly higher in the intraperitoneal injection group (p<0.05). The AMH values of the sham and intraovarian groups were similar (p>0.05). MDA value did not differ significantly between the sham, intraovarian, and intraperitoneal injection of our study were the relatively small size of our series, the absence of serial blood measurement, the absence of a group in which intraovarian and intraperitoneal injections were administered together, and the absence of a sham + drug group. Glutathione administration reduces the detrimental effects of ovarian IRI.

Keywords: anti-mullerian hormone, glutathione, ischemia reperfusion injury, ovarian torsion

1. Introduction

Ovarian torsion is a gynecological emergency that causes reduction or cessation of blood flow due to the partial or complete rotation of the ovaries around their ligament supports. Even though ovarian torsion is most common in women between 20 and 30, it can be seen at any age, from prepubertal to postmenopausal period (1,2).

The venous return becomes interrupted since venous pressure is lower after ovarian torsion. Edema develops in the ovarian tissue due to the continuation of the arterial blood flow. This edema causes ischemic damage by slowing down and stopping the blood flow (3). Early diagnosis and appropriate treatment should be made quickly to prevent possible ovarian necrosis, decrease in fertility, and life-threatening complications. In the case of ovarian torsion, the first therapeutic option is surgical detorsion as soon as possible because delay in diagnosis and treatment is associated with decreased ovarian reserve and infertility (4).

Abundant oxygen uptake occurs after ovarian detorsion, and the resulting free oxygen radicals increase tissue damage.

Following detorsion, the return of blood flow increases, and accordingly, the production of toxic reactive oxygen species (ROS) increases (5,6). By providing oxygen during reperfusion following detorsion, xanthine oxidase converts the accumulated hypoxanthine to xanthine. Thus, an excessive amount of free oxygen radicals is formed, which causes a deterioration in the antioxidant mechanism of the body (7,8). Overproduction of ROS causes a significant increase in lipid peroxidation, creating malondialdehyde (MDA), which can destroy the human body's antioxidant defense systems (9,10).

Glutathione is a tripeptide (cysteine, glycine, and glutamic acid) molecule found in high concentrations in tissues. It plays an essential role in pathophysiological processes such as reducing oxidative stress, increasing metabolic detoxification, and regulating immune system functions (11,12).

Many studies have investigated the effects of glutathione on female fertility. For example, while intracellular glutathione levels were found to be higher in young women, glutathione levels were found to be low in cases of premature ovarian insufficiency and ovarian cancer (13,14). In addition, glutathione protects follicles from damage caused by oxidative stress during folliculogenesis. Thus, oocytes with high intracellular glutathione levels produce healthier and stronger embryos (15).

In experimental animal models, the protective effect of glutathione administration has been shown in liver damage, liver transplantation, neurotoxicity, and testis torsion situations (16-19). Although many studies demonstrate the protective effect of glutathione administration against ischemia-reperfusion injury (IRI) in various tissues, no studies have been performed on ovarian IRI.

Glutathione is the cell's primary antioxidant and can reduce oxidative stress by preventing the formation of harmful free radicals in the reproductive system (20). Based on the known positive effects of glutathione on the ovaries and follicles, we hypothesized that glutathione administration could have histopathologically and biochemically protective effects in a rat model ovarian IRI.

2. Materials and Methods

This study was approved by the Institutional Animal Use and Care Committee and performed in accordance with the Helsinki Declaration of World Medical Association recommendations on animal studies. The rats included in the study were female Wistar Albino type, 12 weeks and weighing 187-220 grams. Rats were placed in individual cages and fed ad libitum in an environment at a 20-22 ° temperature, 50%-55% humidity, and 12-hour light/dark cycles. Before the study, the rats were given ten days to get used to the environment. The rats were randomly divided into five groups. All surgical interventions were performed under general anesthesia and sterile conditions, with a midline (2.0 cm) incision in the lower abdomen of the rat.

2.1. Group I (Sham group, n: 6)

The ovaries and tubes were imaged. After the evaluation, the incision was closed with 4.0 polyglactin 910 sutures.

2.2. Group II (Torsion group, n: 6)

Adnexal torsion was performed by fixing the left adnexa containing the ovarian vessels and tubes to the abdominal wall by rotating it in a clockwise direction by 720 °. After the procedure, the incision was closed.

2.3. Group III (Torsion - Detorsion Group, n: 6)

After the torsion process, 3 hours were spent waiting to complete the ischemic process, and laparotomy was performed again. A Detorsion procedure was applied to the left ovary. The incision was closed.

2.4. Group IV (Torsion - Detorsion + Intraovarian Glutathione Injection Group, n: 6)

After the torsion and detorsion procedure, 0.2 ml of glutathione (Tationil 600 mg / 4 Ml) was applied to the left ovarian tissue, and the abdominal wall was closed.

2.5. Group V (Torsion - Detorsion + Intraperitoneal Glutathione Injection Group, n: 6)

After the torsion and detorsion procedure, five times intraperitoneal glutathione (Tationil 600 mg / 4 Ml) application was performed (on the day of the operation, on the 3rd day after the operation, on the 6th day, on the 9th day, and the 12th day). In each administration, 0.2 ml glutathione was injected intraperitoneally.

The rats were taken into cages in all groups for 15 days following the first laparotomy. At the end of the fifteenth day, following anesthesia, intracardiac blood samples were taken from all rats, and their left ovaries were resected. Euthanasia was applied after the procedure. The rats were anesthetized with xylazine hydrochloride (Rompun, Bayer, Germany) and ketamine hydrochloride (Ketalar, Eczacıbası, Turkey).

2.6. Histopathologic Evaluation

Ovarian samples were fixed in 10% formalin for 48 h, dehydrated in ethanol series, cleaned, and embedded in paraffin. The paraffin blocks were sectioned at a thickness of 5 mm using a sliding microtome (Leica RM2125RTS Nussloch Germany). Sections were stained with eosin and haematoxylin and analyzed microscope using а light (Nikon Eclipse E600 microscope) by experienced an pathologist. Hemorrhage, edema, and inflammation (neutrophil infiltration) were scored from 0 to +3 for ovarian injury as follows: None, Mild, Moderate, Severe

Follicles were counted in the largest section of the ovary to evaluate the ovarian reserve. Total scores were calculated. Follicles were defined as primordial follicle, primary follicle, preantral (secondary) follicle, and antral (tertiary) follicle (21):

2.7. Biochemical Evaluation

Blood samples were centrifuged at 3000 g for 10 minutes to obtain serum. Serum samples were stored at -80°C until measurement. In the blood samples, AMH (Elabscience, USA), Inhibin B (Elabscience, USA), Malondialdehyde (Bioassay Technology Laboratory, China), Total Antioxidant Status (TAS) (Bioassay Technology Laboratory, China) and Total Oxidant Status (TOS) (Bioassay Technology Laboratory, China) were measured by Enzyme-linked Immunosorbent Assay. Readings were done by a microplate reader (Biotek Synergy Reader).

2.8. Statistical Analysis

Mean, standard deviation, median, minimum, maximum value frequency, and percentage were used for descriptive statistics. The distribution of variables was checked with the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. Kruskal-Wallis and Mann-Whitney U tests were used to compare quantitative data. SPSS 27.0 was used for statistical analysis.

3. Results

The weights of the rats in the groups were found to be similar (p>0.05). TOS value in the detorsion group, intraovarian injection group, and intraperitoneal injection group was significantly higher than the torsion group (p<0.05). TOS value

did not differ significantly between the detorsion group, intraovarian injection group, and intraperitoneal injection group (p>0.05). The TAS value of the intraperitoneal injection group was significantly higher than the sham group, torsion group, and detorsion group (p<0.05) (Table 1). The oxidative stress index (OSI) value of the detorsion group was significantly higher (p<0.05) than the other groups.

MDA values were similar (p>0.05) between the sham group, intraovarian injection group, and intraperitoneal injection groups (Table 1). AMH values of the torsion, detorsion, and intraperitoneal injection groups were significantly lower than the intraovarian and sham groups (p<0.05). AMH values were similar (p>0.05) between the sham and intraovarian groups (Table 1).

Table 1. Compa	rison of [biochemi	ical and h	istopatholo	ogic featur	es betwee	n group

		Control Group ¹	Torsion Group ²	D et or	In tr a	In tr a	р		1,2	1,3	1,4	1,5	2,3	2,4	2,5	3,4	3,5	4,5
Weight	Mean±s d	204.3±10. 2	00.8±8.4	02.3±11.7	203.0±7. 9	202.5±8. 4	0.97	к	0.52 2	0.63 1	0.93 6	0.74 8	0.93 6	0.62 9	0.63 0	0.87 3	0.87 3	0.93 6
	Median	206.0	200.5	202.5	202.5	200.0	5											
TOS	Mean±s d	7.01±0.39	7.75±0.3 9	8.42±0.6 1	8.58±0.9 8	9.00±0.9 0	0.00	к	0.01 6	0.00 6	0.00 4	0.00 4	0.04 5	0.04 8	0.00 5	$\begin{array}{c} 1.00\\ 0 \end{array}$	0.22 9	0.26 1
	Median	6.97 ²³⁴⁵	7.79 ³⁴⁵	8.40	8.20	8.80	1											
TAS	Mean±s d	2.64±0.38	2.39±0.4 0	1.94±0.4 6	3.46±1.3 8	3.48±0.4 4	0.00	к	0.19 9	0.03 7	0.26 1	0.01 0	0.06 5	0.07 8	0.01 0	0.01 6	0.00 6	0.52 2
	Median	2.61 ⁵	2.41 ⁵	1.74^{145}	3.03	3.62	5											
OSI	Mean±s d	2.71±0.46	3.33±0.6 1	4.49±0.8 2	2.80±1.0 3	2.63±0.4 6	0.01	К	0.10 9	0.00 6	0.87 3	0.87 3	0.02 5	0.42 3	0.05 2	0.02 5	0.00 6	0.52 2
	Median	2.73 ³	3.28 ³	4.65	3.03 ³	2.41 ³	U											
MDA	Mean±s d	$0.68 {\pm} 0.07$	0.88±0.1 3	1.17±0.2 6	0.68±0.0 9	0.76±0.0 9	0.00	К	0.00 6	0.00 4	0.93 6	0.07 8	0.04 5	0.01 0	0.14 9	0.00 4	0.00 6	0.17 3
	Median	0.6723	0.87 ³	1.15	0.6823	0.79 ³	1											
AMH	Mean±s d	3.89±0.65	2.02±0.7 5	2.79±0.2 2	3.72±0.6 6	2.89±0.7 9	0.00	к	0.00 4	0.00 4	0.87 3	0.03 7	0.06 5	0.00 4	0.05 5	0.01 0	1.00 0	0.04 8
	Median	3.63 ²³⁵	2.14	2.74	3.91 ²³⁵	2.76	1											
Hemorrhag	Mean±s d	0.00 ± 0.00	3.00±0.0 0	1.83±0.7 5	1.33±0.5 2	1.67±0.8 2	0.00	к	0.00 1	0.00 2	0.00 2	0.00 2	0.00 7	0.00 2	0.00 7	0.21 2	0.66 5	0.46 5
e score	Median	0.00^{2345}	3.00	2.00 ²	1.00^{2}	1.50 ²	U											
Edema	Mean±s d	0.00 ± 0.00	3.00±0.0 0	1.83±0.7 5	1.33±0.5 2	2.00±1.1 0	0.00	к	0.00 1	0.00 2	0.00 2	0.00 7	0.00 7	0.00 2	0.02 1	0.21 2	0.54 6	0.12 7
Score	Median	0.00^{2345}	3.00	2.00 ²	1.00^{2}	2.00^{2}	U											
Inflammati	Mean±s d	0.00 ± 0.00	3.00±0.0 0	2.00±0.8 9	1.33±0.5 2	1.33±0.8 2	0.00	к	0.00 1	0.00 2	0.00 2	0.00 1	0.02 2	0.00 2	0.00 5	0.16 2	0.14 9	0.67 3
on score	Median	0.00^{2345}	3.00	2.00 ²	1.00 ²	1.00 ²	U											
Primordial Follicle	Mean±s d	6.33±1.03	0.17±0.4 1	4.17±1.1 7	3.00±1.1 0	2.50±1.0 5	0.00	к	0.00 3	0.01 4	0.00 3	0.00 4	0.00 3	0.00 3	0.00 3	0.12 8	0.03 2	0.35 6
Count	Median	6.00^{2345}	0.00	4.00^{25}	3.00 ²	2.50 ²	U											
Primary Follicle	Mean±s d	7.00±2.37	1.00±0.6 3	4.33±1.0 3	3.50±1.0 5	2.67±0.5 2	0.00	к	0.00 3	0.04 1	0.01 2	0.00 3	0.00 3	0.00 4	0.00 4	0.20 9	0.00 7	0.12 0
Count	Median	7.00^{2345}	1.00	4.00^{25}	3.50 ²	3.00 ²	U											
Preantral Follicle	Mean±s d	6.83±1.83	1.50±0.55	4.00±0.6 3	2.67±1.0 3	2.67±1.0 3	0.00	к	0.00 3	0.00 5	0.00 4	0.00 4	0.00 3	0.04 5	0.04 5	0.02 2	0.02 2	$\begin{array}{c} 1.00\\ 0\end{array}$
Count	Median	6.502345	1.50	4.00^{245}	3.00 ²	3.00 ²	U											
Antral Follicle	Mean±s d	5.50±1.38	1.50±0.5 5	3.83±1.47	3.83±1.17	3.17±1.1 7	0.00	к	0.00 3	0.04 5	0.04 5	0.01 4	0.00 7	0.00 7	0.01 2	0.93 5	0.41 0	0.32 3
Count	Median	5.00^{2345}	1.50	3.50 ²	4.00^{2}	3.00 ²	4											

Kruskal-wallis test (Mann-whitney u test) / Difference with Control Group 2 Difference with Torsiyon Group / 3 Difference with Intraperitoneal Group

⁴ Difference with Intraovaryen Group / ⁵ Difference with Detorsiyon Group

Hemorrhage, edema, and inflammation scores were significantly higher (p<0.05) in the torsion group, detorsion group, intraovarian injection group, and intraperitoneal injection group, respectively, compared to the sham group. The scores in the torsion group were significantly higher (p<0.05) than the detorsion group, intraovarian injection group, and intraperitoneal injection group (Fig. 1).

While the number of primordial and primary follicle numbers were significantly lower (p<0.05) in the intraperitoneal injection group than in the detorsion group, there was no significant difference (p>0.05) between the detorsion group and intraovarian injection groups. The preantral follicle count was significantly lower than the detorsion group in the intraperitoneal injection group and intraovarian injection group (p<0.05). Follicle numbers were not significantly different between the detorsion group, intraovarian injection group, and intraperitoneal injection groups (p>0.05) (Table 1).

4. Discussion

We evaluated the difference between biochemical markers TOS, TAS, OSI, AMH, and MDA values as a primary outcome. In addition, we compared the change in follicle numbers by making a histopathological evaluation as a secondary outcome.

TAS was measured to determine the general antioxidant status, and TOS was measured to determine the oxidant status (22,23). OSI is calculated as the ratio of TOS to TAS. OSI is considered an indicator of oxidative stress in the tissue (24). We found that glutathione administration increased the TAS value, especially with intraperitoneal administration. It was found that OSI value increased mostly in the detorsion group. With the application of glutathione, we could keep OSI at a lower level than detorsion. Thus, similar to the publications showing that glutathione reduces oxidative stress damage in the female reproductive system, we revealed that glutathione protects the ovaries from the effects of free oxygen radicals in cases of ovarian IRI (20, 25).



Fig. 1 - Histopathologic Evaluation

- A. Sham group with a normal appereance of ovary (4X magnification)
- B. Torsion and detorsion group with increased inflamation, hemorage and edema (4X magnification)
- C. Torsion group with similar morphologic features to the B.
- D. Intense polymorphonuclear cell infiltration and intercellular edema are seen in torsion group. Note the seperation and degenerative changes in follicles (20X magnification)
- E. Torsion,detorsion and intraovarian glutathion injection group with decreased inflammation, hemorage and edema (10X magnification)
- F. Torsion, detorsion and intraperitoneal glutathion injection group has similar morphology. Ovarian follicles are marked with black arrows, dense

inflammation is marked with a block arrows, dense

The most harmful effect of free oxygen radicals in the cell is lipid peroxidation, and its' end product is MDA. Lipid peroxidation causes loss of cell membrane integrity, increased permeability to ions, and cell damage. Therefore, inhibiting or reducing the lipid peroxidation process may help prevent tissue damage (26, 27). Our study found that MDA levels increased in torsion and torsion-detorsion groups compared to the sham group. This result supports that ischemia and IRI increased tissue damage. We also noticed that the MDA value did not differ significantly between the sham group and intraperitoneal, intraovarian injection groups (p>0.05). Thus, we showed that intraperitoneal and also intraovarian administration of glutathione has a reducing effect on tissue damage by inhibiting lipid peroxidation.

Anti-mullerian hormone (AMH) is produced by granulosa cells. It is used as an indicator of ovarian follicle reserve and can be measured in serum. Decreased AMH values are generally associated with decreased ovarian reserve (28). AMH value was significantly higher in the intraovarian injection group than in the torsion group, detorsion group, and intraperitoneal injection group. AMH values did not differ significantly (p>0.05) between sham and intraovarian injection groups. We determined the protective effect of ovarian reserve based on the positive effect of intraovarian injection of glutathione on AMH value.

While primordial and primary follicle numbers were not significantly different between the detorsion group and intraovarian injection group (p>0.05), they were significantly lower in the intraperitoneal injection group (p<0.05). Preantral follicle number was significantly lower in the intraperitoneal injection group and intraovarian injection group than in the detorsion group (p<0.05). Antral follicle numbers were similar between the detorsion, intraovarian injection, and intraperitoneal injection groups (p>0.05). Some researchers stated that follicle numbers might not give accurate results as an indicator of ovarian reserve in such studies. They argued that it is not a definitive indicator of the viability of damaged follicles that are not included in the count because they are damaged (29). We attributed the difference in terms of follicle numbers in our study to this reason.

The main limitation of our study was the relatively small size of our series and the absence of serial blood measurement in this experimental model. In addition, we identified the absence of a group in which intraovarian and intraperitoneal injections were administered together and the absence of a sham + drug group as another limitation of our study.

The results of the study showed that exogenous glutathione administration might be effective in preventing tissue damage, oxidative stress, and loss of ovarian reserve caused by IRI in rat ovaries. In order to provide the most effective therapeutic benefit in clinical practice, further studies are needed to define dosage setting, administration method, and frequency of administration.

Conflict of interest

None for each author

Funding

This study was funded by Maltepe University Scientific Investigation Projects Coordination Unit

Acknowledgments

Maltepe University Animal Ethics Committee Approval Number: 2019/09/04

Authors' contributions

Concept: A.G., B.O.I., Design: A.G., B.O.I., Data Collection

or Processing: A.G., E.D.T., K.A., Analysis or Interpretation: A.G., B.O.I., A.G.S., M.E.S., Literature Search: A.G., Writing: A.G., K.A.

References

- Oelsner G, Shashar D. Adnexal torsion. Clin Obstet Gynecol. 2006 Sep;49(3):459-63. doi: 10.1097/00003081-200609000-00006. PMID: 16885653.
- **2.** White M, Stella J. Ovarian torsion: 10-year perspective. Emerg Med Australas. 2005 Jun;17(3):231-7. doi: 10.1111/j.1742-6723.2005.00728.x. PMID: 15953224.
- Somuncu S, Cakmak M, Dikmen G, Akman H, Kaya M. Ischemiareperfusion injury of rabbit ovary and protective effect of trapidil: an experimental study. Pediatr Surg Int. 2008 Mar;24(3):315-8. doi: 10.1007/s00383-007-2079-3. Epub 2007 Nov 30. PMID: 18060415.
- Anders JF, Powell EC. Urgency of evaluation and outcome of acute ovarian torsion in pediatric patients. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med. 2005 Jun;159(6):532-5. doi: 10.1001/archpedi.159.6.532. PMID: 15939851.
- Borekci B, Gundogdu C, Altunkaynak BZ, Calık M, Altunkaynak ME, Unal D, Unal B. The protective effect of dehydroepiandrosterone on ovarian tissues after torsion-detorsion injury: a stereological and histopathological study. Eurasian J Med. 2009 Apr;41(1):22-7. PMID: 25610059; PMCID: PMC4261661.
- Kabay S, Ozden H, Guven G, Burukoglu D, Ustuner MC, Topal F, Gunes HV, Ustuner D, Ozbayer C. Protective effects of the nuclear factor kappa B inhibitor pyrrolidine dithiocarbamate on experimental testicular torsion and detorsion injury. Korean J Physiol Pharmacol. 2014 Aug;18(4):321-6. doi: 10.4196/kjpp.2014.18.4.321. Epub 2014 Aug 13. PMID: 25177164; PMCID: PMC4146634.
- 7. Li C, Jackson RM. Reactive species mechanisms of cellular hypoxia-reoxygenation injury. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol. 2002 Feb;282(2):C227-41. doi: 10.1152/ajpcell.00112.2001. PMID: 11788333.
- 8. Jung JE, Kim GS, Chen H, Maier CM, Narasimhan P, Song YS, Niizuma K, Katsu M, Okami N, Yoshioka H, Sakata H, Goeders CE, Chan PH. Reperfusion and neurovascular dysfunction in stroke: from basic mechanisms to potential strategies for neuroprotection. Mol Neurobiol. 2010 Jun;41(2-3):172-9. doi: 10.1007/s12035-010-8102-z. Epub 2010 Feb 17. PMID: 20157789; PMCID: PMC2877155.
- **9.** Cure MC, Cure E, Kalkan Y, Tumkaya L, Aydin I, Kirbas A, Efe H, Kurt A, Yuce S. The Protective Effect of Adalimumab on Renal Injury in a Model of Abdominal Aorta Cross-Clamping. Adv Clin Exp Med. 2016 Mar-Apr;25(2):219-26. doi: 10.17219/acem/33250. PMID: 27627553.
- Ayala A, Muñoz MF, Argüelles S. Lipid peroxidation: production, metabolism, and signaling mechanisms of malondialdehyde and 4-hydroxy-2-nonenal. Oxid Med Cell Longev. 2014;2014:360438. doi: 10.1155/2014/360438. Epub 2014 May 8. PMID: 24999379; PMCID: PMC4066722.
- **11.** Pizzorno J. Glutathione! Integr Med (Encinitas). 2014 Feb;13(1):8-12. PMID: 26770075; PMCID: PMC4684116.
- Minich DM, Brown BI. A Review of Dietary (Phyto)Nutrients for Glutathione Support. Nutrients. 2019 Sep 3;11(9):2073. doi: 10.3390/nu11092073. PMID: 31484368; PMCID: PMC6770193.
- 13. Mukherjee A, Malik H, Saha AP, Dubey A, Singhal DK, Boateng S, Saugandhika S, Kumar S, De S, Guha SK, Malakar D. Resveratrol treatment during goat oocytes maturation enhances developmental competence of parthenogenetic and hand-made

cloned blastocysts by modulating intracellular glutathione level and embryonic gene expression. J Assist Reprod Genet. 2014 Feb;31(2):229-39. doi: 10.1007/s10815-013-0116-9. Epub 2013 Dec 4. PMID: 24305840; PMCID: PMC3933608.

- 14. Kankofer M, Wawrzykowski J, Giergiel M. Sex- and agedependent activity of glutathione peroxidase in reproductive organs in pre- and post-pubertal cattle in relation to total antioxidant capacity. Aging Clin Exp Res. 2013 Aug;25(4):365-70. doi: 10.1007/s40520-013-0056-3. Epub 2013 Jun 6. PMID: 23740597.
- 15. Lim J, Lawson GW, Nakamura BN, Ortiz L, Hur JA, Kavanagh TJ, Luderer U. Glutathione-deficient mice have increased sensitivity to transplacental benzo[a]pyrene-induced premature ovarian failure and ovarian tumorigenesis. Cancer Res. 2013 Jan 15;73(2):908-17. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-3636. Epub 2012 Nov 7. PMID: 23135907; PMCID: PMC3548973.
- 16. Schauer RJ, Gerbes AL, Vonier D, Meissner H, Michl P, Leiderer R, Schildberg FW, Messmer K, Bilzer M. Glutathione protects the rat liver against reperfusion injury after prolonged warm ischemia. Ann Surg. 2004 Feb;239(2):220-31. doi: 10.1097/01.sla.0000110321.64275.95. PMID: 14745330; PMCID: PMC1356215.
- 17. Schauer RJ, Kalmuk S, Gerbes AL, Leiderer R, Meissner H, Schildberg FW, Messmer K, Bilzer M. Intravenous administration of glutathione protects parenchymal and non-parenchymal liver cells against reperfusion injury following rat liver transplantation. World J Gastroenterol. 2004 Mar 15;10(6):864-70. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v10.i6.864. PMID: 15040034; PMCID: PMC4726997.
- Cavaletti G, Minoia C, Schieppati M, Tredici G. Protective effects of glutathione on cisplatin neurotoxicity in rats. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 1994 Jul 1;29(4):771-6. doi: 10.1016/0360-3016(94)90565-7. PMID: 8040023.
- 19. Bilommi R, Nawas BA, Kusmayadi DD, Diposarosa R, Chairul A, Hernowo BS. The effects of glutathione on malondialdehyde expression and seminiferous tubule damage in experimental testicular torsion-detorsion in Wistar rats. J Pediatr Urol. 2013 Dec;9(6 Pt B):1059-63. doi: 10.1016/j.jpurol.2013.03.008. Epub 2013 Apr 17. PMID: 23602206.
- 20. Gardiner CS, Salmen JJ, Brandt CJ, Stover SK. Glutathione is present in reproductive tract secretions and improves development of mouse embryos after chemically induced glutathione depletion. Biol Reprod. 1998 Aug;59(2):431-6. doi: 10.1095/biolreprod59.2.431. PMID: 9687318.
- **21.** Female reproductive system. Young B, Heath WJ, editors. Wheater's Functional Histology: a text and colour atlas. fourth ed., Sydney: Churchill Livingstone; 2000.
- **22.** Erel O. A novel automated method to measure total antioxidant response against potent free radical reactions. Clin Biochem. 2004 Feb;37(2):112-9. doi: 10.1016/j.clinbiochem.2003.10.014. PMID: 14725941.
- 23. Erel O. A new automated colorimetric method for measuring total oxidant status. Clin Biochem. 2005 Dec;38(12):1103-11. doi: 10.1016/j.clinbiochem.2005.08.008. Epub 2005 Oct 7. PMID: 16214125.
- 24. Ozler A, Turgut A, Görük NY, Alabalik U, Basarali MK, Akdemir F. Evaluation of the protective effects of CoQ₁₀ on ovarian I/R injury: an experimental study. Gynecol Obstet Invest. 2013;76(2):100-6. doi: 10.1159/000353425. Epub 2013 Jul 23. PMID: 23886769.
- 25. Fujii J, Iuchi Y, Okada F. Fundamental roles of reactive oxygen species and protective mechanisms in the female reproductive system. Reprod Biol Endocrinol. 2005 Sep 2;3:43. doi:

10.1186/1477-7827-3-43. PMID: 16137335; PMCID: PMC1224869.

- **26.** Girotti AW. Lipid hydroperoxide generation, turnover, and effector action in biological systems. J Lipid Res. 1998 Aug;39(8):1529-42. PMID: 9717713.
- 27. Celik Kavak E, Gulcu Bulmus F, Bulmus O, Kavak SB, Kocaman N. Magnesium: does it reduce ischemia/reperfusion injury in an adnexal torsion rat model? Drug Des Devel Ther. 2018 Feb 28;12:409-415. doi: 10.2147/DDDT.S157115. PMID: 29535502; PMCID: PMC5836654.
- 28. La Marca A, Sighinolfi G, Radi D, Argento C, Baraldi E, Artenisio AC, Stabile G, Volpe A. Anti-Mullerian hormone (AMH) as a predictive marker in assisted reproductive technology (ART). Hum Reprod Update. 2010 Mar-Apr;16(2):113-30. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmp036. Epub 2009 Sep 30. PMID: 19793843.
- 29. Calis P, Bozdag G, Karakoc Sokmensuer L, Kender N. Does ischemia-reperfusion injury affect ovarian reserve and follicle viability in a rat model with adnexal torsion? Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol. 2015 Feb;185:126-30. doi: 10.1016/j.ejogrb.2014.12.006. Epub 2014 Dec 23. PMID: 25575140.



Journal of Experimental and Clinical Medicine https://dergipark.org.tr/omujecm





J Exp Clin Med 2023; 40(1): 7-12 doi: 10.52142/omujecm.40.1.2

The protective impact of glutamine on anti-tuberculosis drug-induced nephrotoxicity in Wistar rats

Elias ADIKWU^{1,*}, Martins MBONU¹, Tobechi Brendan NNANNA²

¹Department of Pharmacology/Toxicology, Faculty of Pharmacy, Niger Delta University, Bayelsa State, Nigeria ²Aston School of Pharmacy, Collage of Health and Life Sciences, Birmingham, United Kingdom

Abstract

This study assessed the protective effect of glutamine (GTN) against rifampicin/isoniazid/pyrazinamide/ethambutol (RIPE)-induced nephrotoxicity in rats. Thirty adult Wistar rats (200±20 g) of both sexes were grouped into 6 of 5 rats/group. The rats were treated daily for 30 days as follows: Group 1 (Vehicle control [normal saline 0.2mL]), group 2 (GTN 200 mg/kg), group 3 (RIPE 150, 75, 400 and 275 mg/kg in vehicle), group 4 (GTN 50 mg/kg +RIPE), group 5 (GTN 100 mg/kg +RIPE) and group 6 (GTN 200 mg/kg +RIPE). After treatment, blood samples were obtained and assessed for serum renal biomarkers. Kidneys were harvested, weighed and assessed for oxidative stress markers and histology. RIPE significantly (p<0.01) decreased body weight and significantly (p<0.01) increased kidney weight when compared to the control. Serum urea, creatinine, uric acid levels and kidney malondialdehyde levels were significantly (p<0.001) increased in RIPE-treated rats when compared to the control. Serum total protein, albumin, kidney glutathione, catalase, superoxide dismutase and glutathione peroxidase levels were significantly decreased (p<0.001) in RIPE-treated rats when compared to the control. RIPE caused tubular necrosis and collapsed glomeruli in the kidneys of rats. However, body and liver weights were significantly restored in GTN 100 mg/kg +RIPE and GTN 200 mg/kg +RIPE-treated rats at p<0.05 and p<0.01, respectively when compared to RIPE. Serum and kidney oxidative stress markers were restored in GTN 50 mg/kg +RIPE, GTN 100 mg/kg +RIPE and GTN 200 mg/kg +RIPE-treated rats at p<0.05, p<0.01 and p<0.001 respectively, when compared to RIPE. GTN restored kidney histology. GTN protects against RIPE-induced nephrotoxicity in a dose-related fashion.

Keywords: anti-tuberculosis drug, kidney, toxicity, glutamine, rat

1. Introduction

The kidneys, which receive 20 - 25% of cardiac output are the primary organs for maintaining homoeostasis of extracellular fluid volumes. The kidneys perform two major functions; excretion of the end-products of metabolism and the control of the concentration of body fluids. The kidneys are also involved in drugs and metabolites excretion through glomerular filtration and tubular secretion (1). The regulatory effect of the kidneys on drugs and their metabolites predisposes them to nephrotoxicity. Drug-induced nephrotoxicity is recognized as a contributor to acute and chronic kidney diseases. Nephrotoxicity reflects damage to different sections of the nephron, which may results to renal failure (2).

Rifampicin/isoniazid/pyrazinamide/ethambutol (RIPE) is a frequently used anti-tuberculosis regimen. It is used for treating tuberculosis for two months followed by isoniazid/rifampicin for eight months (3). One of the primary complications of using RIPE is the development of nephrotoxicity, which may be acute or chronic (4-6). Rifampin has the highest propensity for nephrotoxicity, which can be augmented by partner anti-tuberculosis drugs (7). In animal studies, RIPE has been associated with impaired renal biomarkers, kidney inflammatory reactions and oxidative stress marked by lipid peroxidation (3,8). RIPE may cause

kidney morphological changes such as tubular necrosis (9,10).

Glutamine (GTN) is one of the most abundant amino acid in human body. It is involved in the regulation of protein synthesis, acid-base balance, immune function and adaptation to stress (11,12). It is as essential chemical substance for glutathione, which is an important antioxidant in the body (13). Glutathione is a potent ubiquitous antioxidant that is important for many drugs and endogenous substance metabolisms (14, 15). GTN has potent antiulcer, antioxidant, antibacterial, cardioprotective, anticancer, and anti-apoptotic potential (16). Moreover, its nephroprotective effect has been reported in animal studies (17). It decreased renal cell apoptosis and inflammatory markers in cisplatin-induced nephrotoxicity in rats (18). It stabilized antioxidant status and reduced renal lipid peroxidation in cisplatin- treated rats (19). GTN decreased tubular necrosis, stabilized renal biochemical markers and decreased oxidative stress in gentamycin -treated rats (20). The current study evaluated the protective effect of GTN on RIPE-induced nephrotoxicity in Wistar rats.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Drugs/chemicals and animals

Glutamine (GTN) (Qualikems Fine Chemical Private Limited

Nandesari, Vadodara, Gujarat, India) and Rifampicin, isoniazid/ pyrazinamide/ethambutol (RIPE) (Lupin Limited Chikalthana, Aurangabad India) were used. Approval was obtained from the Research Ethics Committee (NDU/PHARM/PCO/AEC/068) of the Department of Pharmacology/Toxicology, Faculty of Pharmacy, Niger Delta University, Nigeria. Thirty Wistar rats of both sexes (200±20g) were used. The rats were supplied by the animal handling unit of the Department of Pharmacology/Toxicology, Faculty of Pharmacy, Niger Delta University, Nigeria. The rats were randomized into six groups of 5 rats /group and were housed under standard laboratory conditions (12 h light: 12 h dark cycle at 25±2°C). The rats were orally treated daily for 30 days as follows: Group 1 (Vehicle control [normal saline 0.2mL]), group 2 (GTN 200 mg/kg) (20), group 3 (RIPE 150, 75, 400 and 275 mg/kg in vehicle) (3), group 4 (GTN 50 mg/kg +RIPE), group 5 (GTN 100 mg/kg +RIPE) and group 6 (GTN 200 mg/kg +RIPE). The rats were weighed and exposed to anesthesia at the end of treatment. Blood samples were collected from the heart and analyzed for serum renal biomarkers. The rats were dissected and kidneys were harvested, weighed and assayed for oxidative stress markers and histology. The kidneys assayed for oxidative stress markers were rinsed in cold saline and homogenized in chilled phosphate buffer (0.1 M, pH 7.4) containing KCl (1.17%). The homogenates were centrifuged (15000 rpm for 30 min at 4 °C) and the supernatants were collected and assayed for oxidative stress markers.

2.2. Evaluation of renal biomarkers

Serum creatinine, urea, uric acid, total protein and albumin concentrations were measured using an auto analyzer.

2.3. Oxidative stress marker assay

Malondialdehyde (MDA) was estimated using an established method described by Buege and Aust (21). Super oxide dismutase (SOD) was assessed using the procedure described by Sun and Zigman (22). Glutathione (GSH) was assayed according to the method reported by Sedlak and Lindsay (23). Glutathione peroxidase (GPx) was measured using the procedure described by Rotruck *et al.* (24). The method reported by Aebi (25) was used for the estimation of catalase (CAT).

2.4. Histology of the kidney

Kidney samples were cleaned and stored in a solution of formalin saline (10%) for 24hr. Thereafter, the kidney samples were dehydrated in graded concentration of alcohol solutions, processed and embedded in paraffin wax. Kidney tissues were sectioned (3μ m thickness) and stained with Haematoxylin and Eosin on slides. The slides were examined using a light microscope.

3. Results

3.1. Effects of glutamine on body and kidney weights of antituberculosis drug-treated rats

GTN had no effects (p>0.05) on the body and kidney weights when compared to the control (Table 1). On the other hand,

8

RIPE significantly (p<0.01) decreased body weight and significantly (p<0.01) increased kidney weight when compared to the control (Table 1). However, treatment with GTN 100 mg/kg +RIPE, and GTN 200 mg/kg +RIPE significantly restored the body and kidney weights at p<0.05 and p<0.01, respectively when compared to RIPE (Table 1).

Table	1.	Effects	of	glutamine	on	body	and	kidney	weights	of	anti-
tuberc	ulc	osis drug	;-tre	eated rats							

Treatment (mg/kg)	FBW(g)	AKW(g)	RKW (%)
Control	210.8±16.7	0.75 ± 0.07	$0.36{\pm}0.07$
GTN 200	220.6±14.9	0.73 ± 0.03	0.33 ± 0.05
RIPE	$120.7 \pm 16.6 \#$	$1.88{\pm}0.04{\#}$	$1.56{\pm}0.08{\#}$
GTN 50 + RIPE	140.1±15.5	1.70 ± 0.01	1.21 ± 0.06
GTN 100+RIPE	175.0±15.2*	$1.10\pm0.06*$	$0.63 \pm 0.04*$
GTN 200+RIPE	200 2+17 5**	0 78+0 00**	0 39+0 02**

Data as mean \pm SEM (Standard error of mean), n=5, GTN: Glutamine, RIPE: Rifampicin/isoniazid/pyrazinamide/ethambutol, FBW: Final body weight, AKW: Absolute kidney weight, RKW: Relative kidney weight, # p<0.01 differ significantly when compared to the control, *p<0.05 and **p<0.01 differ significantly when compared to RIPE

3.2. Effects of glutamine on renal biomarkers of antituberculosis drug-treated rats

GTN had no significant (p>0.05) effects on serum renal biomarkers when compared to the control. In contrast, RIPE significantly (p<0.001) increased serum creatinine, urea and uric acid levels when compared to the control (Fig. 1a-1c). On the other hand, treatment with GTN 50 mg/kg +RIPE, GTN 100 mg/kg +RIPE and GTN 200 mg/kg +RIPE significantly decreased serum creatinine, urea and uric acid levels at p<0.05, p<0.01 and p<0.001, respectively when compared to RIPE (Fig. 1a-1c). RIPE significantly (p<0.001) decreased serum total protein and albumin levels when compared to the control (Fig. 1d and 1e). However, treatment with GTN 50 mg/kg +RIPE, GTN 100 mg/kg +RIPE and GTN 200 mg/kg +RIPE significantly increased serum total protein and albumin levels at p<0.05 and p<0.01 and p<0.001, respectively when compared to RIPE (Fig. 1d and 1e).



Fig. 1a. Effect of glutamine on serum creatinine of anti-tuberculosis drug-treated rats. Data as mean \pm SEM (Standard error of mean),n=5, GTN:Glutamine,RIPE:Rifampicin/isoniazid/pyrazinamide/ethambut ol, #p<0.001 differ significantly when compared to the control, *p<0.05, **p<0.01, and ***p<0.001 differ significantly when compared to RIPE



Fig. 1b. Effect of glutamine on serum uric acid of anti-tuberculosis drug-treated ratsData as mean \pm SEM (Standard error of mean), n: 5, GTN:Glutamine,RIPE:Rifampicin/isoniazid/pyrazinamide/ethambut ol, #p<0.001 differ significantly when compared to the control, *p<0.05, **p<0.01, and ***p<0.001 differ significantly when compared to RIPE



Fig.1c. Effect of glutamine on serum urea of anti-tuberculosis drugtreated rats.Data as mean \pm SEM (Standard error of mean), n: 5, GTN: Glutamine, RIPE: Rifampicin/isoniazide/pyrazinamide/ethambutol, #p<0.001 differ significantly when compared to the control, *p<0.05, **p<0.01, and ***p<0.001 differ significantly when compared to RIPE

3.3. Effect of glutamine on kidney oxidative stress markers of anti-tuberculosis drug-treated rats

GTN didn't produce significant (p>0.05) effects on kidney SOD, CAT, GPx, GSH and MDA levels when compared to the control. RIPE significantly (p<0.001) decreased kidney SOD, CAT, GPx, and GSH levels when compared to the control (Table 2). However, treatment with GTN 50 mg/kg +RIPE, GTN 100 mg/kg +RIPE and GTN 200 mg/kg +RIPE significantly increased kidney SOD, CAT, GPx, and GSH

Table 2. Effect of glutamine on kidney oxidative stress indices of anti-tuberculosis drug-treated rats



Fig. 1d. Effect of glutamine on serum total protein of anti-tuberculosis drug-treated ratsData as mean \pm SEM (Standard error of mean), n: 5, GTN:Glutamine,RIPE:Rifampicin/isoniazid/pyrazinamide/ethambut ol, #p<0.001 differ significantly when compared to the control, *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001 differ significantly when compared to RIPE



Fig. 1e. Effect of glutamine on serum albumin of anti-tuberculosis drug-treated rats. Data as mean \pm SEM (Standard error of mean), n: 5, GTN:Glutamine,RIPE:Rifampicin/isoniazid/pyrazinamide/ethambut ol, #p<0.001 differ significantly when compared to the control, *p<0.05, **p<0.01, and ***p<0.001 differ significantly when compared to RIPE

levels at p<0.05 and p<0.01 and p<0.001, respectively when compared to RIPE (Table 2). RIPE produced significant (p<0.001) decrease in kidney MDA level when compared to the control (Table 2). Interestingly, GTN 50 mg/kg +RIPE, GTN 100 mg/kg +RIPE and GTN 200 mg/kg +RIPE significantly decreased kidney MDA levels at p<0.05, p<0.01, and p<0.001, respectively when compared to RIPE (Table 2).

Treatment (mg/kg)	GSH µmole/mg protein	GPx U/mg protein	SOD U/mg protein	CAT U/mg protein	MDA nmole/mg protein
Control	12.80 ± 1.07	25.40±2.14	30.50±3.10	25.46±3.11	0.23±0.01
GTN 200	13.31±1.11	25.51±3.32	31.00±3.21	25.67±3.33	$0.22{\pm}0.07$
RIPE	5.52±0.28#	10.62±0.38#	13.48±1.14#	8.48±0.10#	$1.44{\pm}0.09$ #
GTN 50+RIPE	7.67±0.18*	14.80±1.10*	18.52±1.19*	12.56±1.39*	$1.00{\pm}0.07*$
GTN 100+RIPE	9.72±0.29**	19.91±1.07**	22.54±2.09**	17.72±1.19**	$0.60\pm0.06**$
GTN 200+RIPE	11.75±1.07***	24.60±2.13***	28.66±2.10***	23.52±2.29***	0.33±0.01***

Data as mean \pm SEM (Standard error of mean), n=5, GTN: Glutamine, RIPE: Rifampicin/isoniazid/pyrazinamide/ethambutol, GSH: Glutathione, GPx: Glutathione peroxidase, SOD, Superoxide dismutase, MDA: Malondialdehyde. #p<0.001 differ significantly when compared to the control, *p<0.05, **p<0.01, and ***p<0.001 differ significantly when compared to RIPE.

3.4. Effect of glutamine on kidney histology of antituberculosis drug-treated rats

The kidneys of the control (Fig. 6A) and GTN (200 mg/kg) treated rats (Fig. 6B) showed normal renal tubules and glomeruli. On the other hand, the kidney of RIPE-treated rats showed tubular necrosis, lipid accumulation, collapsed glomeruli and widened Bowman's space (Fig. 6C). The kidney of GTN 50 mg/kg+ RIPE-treated rats showed tubular necrosis, collapsed glomeruli, and widened Bowman's space (Fig. 6D). The kidneys of GTN 100 mg/kg+ RIPE-treated rats (Fig. 6E) and GTN 200 mg/kg+ RIPE –treated rats (Fig. 6F) rats showed normal tubules and normal glomeruli.



Fig 6A-F. are kidney micrographs of the control and experimental rats. 6A: Control, 6B: Treatment with GTN (200mg/kg), C: Treatment with RIPE, D: Treatment with GTN (50mg/kg) + RIPE, E: Treatment with GTN (100mg/kg) + RIPE. Treatment with GM (200mg/kg) + RIPE. R: Normal renal tubule, G: Normal glomerulus, N: Tubular necrosis, LP: Lipid accumulation, C: Collapsed glomerulus, W: Widened Bowman's space. x 400

4. Discussion

Nephrotoxicity is one of the common challenges associated with the use of RIPE (26). GTN may play an important role in protecting cells from chemical-induced damage (18). The current study assessed the protective effect of GTN on RIPEinduced nephrotoxicity in rats. The assessments of body and study, RIPE decreased body weight and increased kidney weight in treated rats. This is consistent with decreased body weight and increased kidney weight in isoniazid-rifampicintreated rats reported by Prince et al. (26). The observed decrease in body weight might have been caused by the appetite suppressive effect of RIPE. On the other hand, increase in the kidney weight might be a consequence of RIPEinduced renal inflammation. Studies showed that the induction of renal inflammation might be one of the mechanisms by which RIPE perturbs renal function (26). But GTN supplementation restored body and kidney weights in a doserelated fashion. GTN supplementation might have stimulated appetite and down-regulated the induction of renal inflammation by RIPE. Over the years, the assessments of biochemical markers have been used to diagnose and establish the types and magnitude of perturbations caused by underlying ailments and drugs (28). This study assessed creatinine, urea, uric acid, total protein and albumin levels to ascertain the toxic impact of RIPE on the renal status of rats (28). RIPE remarkably increased serum creatinine, urea, uric acid levels and decreased serum total protein and albumin levels in rats. These are signs of renal dysfunction caused by RIPE. Similarly, Martins and Sabina (29) reported altered levels of the aforementioned parameters in rats treated with antituberculosis drugs. But GTN Supplementation restored renal biomarkers in RIPE-treated rats in a dose-related fashion.

organ weights are essential in toxicity studies (27). In this

Reactive oxygen species (ROS) are produced due to exposure to many exogenous chemicals or plenty of endogenous metabolic processes including redox enzymes and electron transport chain (30). Excess ROS are usually neutralized by endogenous antioxidants such as CAT, SOD, GPx and GSH. The inability of antioxidants to neutralize ROS can cause oxidative stress leading to cellular damage (30). In this study, RIPE caused notable decreases in kidney SOD, CAT, GSH and GPx levels. This is consistent with depleted kidney antioxidants caused by antituberculosis drugs in rats reported by Sharma et al. (31). The depleted kidney antioxidants in RIPE-treated rats may be due to excess ROS production leading to oxidative stress (31). Oxidative damage has been speculated to be involved in the etiology of many chronic diseases and drug-induce toxicities (32). However, in a dose-related fashion, kidney antioxidants were restored in GTN supplemented rats. Studies have shown that GTN can increase the antioxidant capacity of tissues, by enhancing CAT, SOD, GSH, and GPx activities (33, 34). GTN might have inhibited the production of ROS by RIPE thereby incapacitating its capacity to deplete kidney antioxidants. Lipid peroxidation (LPO) is a free radical oxidation of poly unsaturated fatty acids that has been associated with some diseases. It is a self-sustaining process that is capable of causing extensive tissue damage. Many toxic aspects of LPO are attributed to reactive aldehydes produced from oxidized lipids, which react with cellular nucleophiles such as nucleic

acids, proteins and GSH forming a variety of adducts. The formation of adducts has been associated with a number of disease conditions (35). MDA, one of the reactive aldehydes has been used as a yardstick for LPO (36). In this study, RIPE increased kidney MDA levels in treated rats. This is in agreement with increased MDA concentration in antituberculosis drug-treated rats reported by Hussein et al. (37). The elevated levels of kidney MDA may be due to the oxidation of poly unsaturated fatty acids caused by RIPE. However, GTN supplementation decreased kidney MDA levels in a dose-related fashion. This may be due to the ability of GTN to inhibit the lipid peroxidative activity of RIPE in the kidneys of treated rats.

Histology is necessarily a largely descriptive and interpretive science. It gives structural manifestations of diseases at the light-microscopic level (38). In this study, the histological assessment of the kidneys of RIPE-treated rats showed tubular necrosis, lipid accumulation, collapsed glomerulus and widened Bowman's space, which correlate with observed changes in evaluated biomarkers. Adikwu et al. (28) reported similar kidney histological changes in antituberculosis drug-treated rats. This observation may be due to the induction of oxidative stress by RIPE through ROS production causing structural and functional damage to kidney biomolecules (DNA, lipids, and proteins) (28). However, supplementation with GTN restored kidney histology. GTN might have restored kidney histology by safeguarding kidney biomolecules from the menace of oxidative stress induced by RIPE.

GTN supplementation protects against RIPE-induced nephrotoxicity in a dose-related fashion. It may have clinical use for RIPE associated nephrotoxicity.

Ethical statement

Approval was obtained from the Research Ethics Committee (NDU/PHARM/PCO/AEC/068) of the Department of Pharmacology/Toxicology, Faculty of Pharmacy, Niger Delta University, Nigeria.

Acknowledgements

The authors appreciate Mr. James Kemelayefa of the Department of Pharmacology/Toxicology, Faculty of Pharmacy, Niger Delta University, Bayelsa State, Nigeria For his technical assistance

Conflict of interest

The authors declare there was no conflict of interest

Funding

None.

Authors' contributions

Concept: E. A., M.M., T. B. N., Design: E. A., M.M., T. B. N., Data Collection or Processing: E. A., M.M., Analysis or Interpretation: E. A., M.M., T. B. N., Literature Search: E. A., M.M., T. B. N., Writing: E. A., M.M., T. B. N.

References

- 1. Naidoo S, Meyers AM Drugs and the kidney S Afr Med J 2015;105(4):322
- 2. Awdishu, L., Mehta, R.L. The 6R's of drug induced nephrotoxicity. BMC Nephrol 2017; 18, 124, 1-12
- **3.** Sahu N, Mishra G, Chandra HK, Nirala SK, Bhadauria M. Naringenin mitigates antituberculosis drugs induced hepatic and renal injury in rats. J Tradit Complement Med.2019; 10(1):26-35.
- **4.** De Vriese AS, Robbrecht DL, Vanholder RC, Vogelaers DP, Lameir NH. Rifampicin associated acute renal failure: pathophysiologic, immunologic and clinical. Am J Kidney Dis1999; 31:108-15
- Trainin EB, Turin RD. Gomez-Leon G. Acute renal insufficiency complicating isoniazid therapy. Int J Pediatric Nephrol. 1981; 14(1):53–54.
- 6. Kwon SH, Kim JH, Yang JO, Lee EY, Hong SY. Ethambutolinduced acute renal failure. Nephrol Dial Transpl. Eur Renal Assoc.2004; 14(5):1335-1336
- Soffer O, Nassar VH, Campbell WG Jr, Bourke E. Light chain cast nephropathy and acute renal failure associated with rifampin therapy. Renal disease akin to myeloma kidney. Am J Med. 1987; 14(5):1052–1
- **8.** Sahu N, Mishra G, Chandra HK, Nirala SK, Bhadauria M. Naringenin mitigates antituberculosis drugs induced hepatic and renal injury in rats, J Trad Comp Med 200; 10 (1) 26-35
- **9.** Covic A, Goldsmith DJ, Segall L, Stoicescu C, Lungu S, Volovat C, Covic M. Rifampicin-induced acute renal failure: a series of 60 patients. Nephrol Dial Transpl: Eur Renal Assoc. 1998;**14**(4):924–929
- **10.** Schubert C, Bates WD, Moosa MR. Acute tubulointerstitial nephritis related to antituberculous drug therapy. Clin Nephrol. 2010; 14(6):413–419.
- 11. Melis GC, terWengel N, Boelens PG, van Leeuwen PA. Glutamine: recent developments in research on the clinical significance of glutamine. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care. 2004; 7:59–70.
- **12.** Novak F, Heyland DK, Avenell A. Glutamine supplementation in serious illness: a systematic review of the evidence. Crit Care Med, 2002; 30:2022–9.
- 13. Wischmeyer PE, Jayakar D, Williams U. Single dose of glutamine enhances myocardial tissue metabolism, glutathione content, and improves myocardial function after ischemia- reperfusion injury. J Parenter Enteral Nutr 2003; 27:396–403.
- **14.** Anders MW. Glutathione-dependent bioactivation of xenobiotics: implications for mutagenicity and carcinogenicity. Princess Takamatsu Symp. 199; 21:89–99.
- Dekant W, Vamvakas S. Glutathione-dependent bioactivation of xenobiotics. Xenobiotica. 1993; 23; 873-887
- 16. Sadar S, Kaspate D, Vyawahare N. Protective effect of Lglutamine against diabetes- induced nephropathy in experimental animal: Role of KIM-1, NGAL, TGF-b1, and collagen-1Renal Failure, 2016; 38, 9, 1483–1495
- **17.** Abraham P, Isaac B. The effects of oral glutamine on cyclophosphamide-induced nephrotoxicity in rats Premila. Human and Exp Toxicol, 2010, 30(7) 616–623
- **18.** Kim H, Park D, Kim JH, Jeong EY, Jung MH, Kim T, *et al.* Glutamine protects against cisplatin-induced nephrotoxicity by decreasing cisplatin accumulation, J Pharm Sci, 2015; 127 (1) 117-126.

- **19.** Mora LO, Antunes LMG, Francescato HDC, and Bianchi Mde L. The effects of oral glutamine on cisplatin-induced nephrotoxicity in rats. Pharmacol Res 2003; 47: 517–522.
- 20. Naserzadeh R, Jafaripour L, Eslamifar Z, Alizamani E, Nouryazdan, Ahmadvand H. The Effect of Receiving L-Glutamine on the Reduction of Renal Tissue Damages and Renal Function Recovery Following Gentamicin-Induced Nephrotoxicity in Rats. J Babol Univ Med Sci. 2021; 23: 267-74
- **21.** Buege JA, Aust SD. Microsomal lipid peroxidation. Meth Enzymol. 1978; 52: 302-310.
- 22. Sun M, Zigman S. AnImproved Spectrophotometer Assay of Superoxide Dismutase Based On Epinephrine, Antioxidation. Analy Biochem 1978; 90: 81-89
- **23.** Sedlak, J, Lindsay RH. Estimation of total, protein-bound and non-protein sulfhydryl groups in tissue with Ellman's reagent. Anal Biochem. 1968; 25: 192-205.
- **24.** Rotruck JT, Rope AL, Ganther HF, Swason AB. Selenium: biochemical role as a component of glutathione peroxidase. Sci. 1973; 179: 588–590.
- **25.** Aebi H Catalase *in vitro*. In Method in Enzymology, Colowick SP and Kaplane NO, Eds.,New York, NY, USA: Academic Press, 1984
- **26.** Prince SE, Martin SJ, Lavinya BU, Selvanathan K, Geetha A. Anti-tuberculosis drug-induced oxidative stress in kidneys: Role of brahmi as an antioxidant supplement. Phcog Mag, 2019; 15(62).12-16
- 27. Adikwu E, Biradee I, Ogungbaike TO. Therapeutic benefit of resveratrol on 5- fluorouracil-induced nephrotoxicity in rats. J Biomed Res, 2009; 6 (2) 11-16
- Adikwu E, Ebinyo NC, Jumbo P. Isoniazid/rifampicin-induced nephrotoxicity in rats: Protective Potential of selenium. J Integ Nephrol and Androl, 2020; 7: 34-40.

- **29.** Martin SJ, Sabina EP. Amelioration of antituberculosis drug induced oxidative stress in kidneys by Spirulina fusiformis in a rat model, Renal Failure, 2016. 38:7, 1115-1121,
- **30.** Sun Y. Free radicals, antioxidant enzymes, and carcinogenesis. Free Rad Biol & Med, 1990; 8, 583-599.
- 31. Sharma R, Battu P, Singla M, Goyal N, Sharma VL. Expression profile of markers of oxidative stress, injury and apoptosis in antituberculosis drugs induced nephrotoxicity. Nephrol (Carlton). 2019; 24(7):689-695.
- **32.** Hogg N. Free radicals in disease. Semin Reprod Endocrinol 1998; 16. (04), 241-248,
- **33.** Hu H, Chen L, Dai S, Li J, Bai X. Effect of Glutamine on Antioxidant Capacity and Lipid Peroxidation in the Breast Muscle of Heat-stressed Broilers via Antioxidant Genes and HSP70 Pathway. Animals (Basel). 2020; 10(3):404.
- **34.** Li H-T, Feng L, Jiang W-D, Liu Y, Jiang J, Li S-H. Oxidative stress parameters and anti- apoptotic response to hydroxyl radicals in fish erythrocytes: protective effects of glutamine, alanine, citrulline and proline. Aquat Toxicol. 2013; 126:169-79.
- **35.** Nam TG. Lipid peroxidation and its toxicological implications. Toxicol Res. 2011;27(1):1-6.
- **36.** Adikwu E, Ebinyo NC, Benalayefa O. Protective effect of lycopene against tamoxifen-induced hepatotoxicity in albino rats. Biomed and Biotech Res J 2020;4:69-75.
- **37.** Hussein OE, Germoush MO, Mahmoud AM. Rutagraveolens Protects Against Isoniazid/Rifampicin-Induced Nephrotoxicity through Modulation of Oxidative Stress and Inflammation. Glob J Biotechnol Biomater Sci 2016; 1(1): 017-022.
- 38. CrissmanJW, Goodman DG, Hildebrandt PK, Maronpot RR, Prater DA, 5 Riley JH. Best Practices Guideline: Toxicol Pathol, 2004; 32:126–131.



Journal of Experimental and Clinical Medicine https://dergipark.org.tr/omujecm

Research Article

J Exp Clin Med

2023; 40(1): 13-17

doi: 10.52142/omujecm.40.1.3 Knowledge of health care providers about Covid-19 disease in pregnancy and lactation in Ardabil

Rafat KAZEMZADEH 10, Leila REISY 10, Samaneh DABAGH FEKRI 10, Pouran AKHAVAN AKBARI* 10

Department of Midwifery, School of Nursing and Midwifery, Ardabil University of Medical Sciences, Ardabil, Iran

Received: 26.07.2022	•	Accepted/Published Online: 05.08.2022	•	Final Version: 18.03.2023

Abstract

Healthcare workers and healthcare providers need sufficient knowledge and awareness about disease to provide high quality health services to pregnant and breastfeeding women during the Covid 19 pandemic. This study aims to investigate the knowledge of healthcare providers about Covid-19 disease in pregnancy and lactation in Ardabil. This descriptive study was conducted in 2020-2021. The study's statistical population consisted of all healthcare workers working in health centers in Ardabil who care for pregnant and lactating mothers. The census calculated the sample size. Data were collected using a self-administered questionnaire to assess health care providers' knowledge, which was designed using a review of texts, related articles, and instructions of the Ministry of Health, and the validity and reliability of the questionnaire have been confirmed. Data were analyzed using SPSS20 by descriptive statistics, chi-square, and ANOVA statistical tests. Mean age of the participants was 35.51±5.74. In this study, most participants scored more than 33 and had a good level of knowledge about Covid 19 disease in pregnancy and lactation. The study's results showed that participants had higher knowledge about Covid 19 during pregnancy and lactation. The knowledge gained about Covid 19 during pregnancy and lactation is not absolute and may get updated with the reporting of newer studies. Healthcare providers must be trained in person and online during the Covid 19 virus epidemic to receive up-to-date information regularly from the healthcare system.

Keywords: knowledge, Covid-19, health care providers, pregnancy and lactation

1. Introduction

The coronavirus disease started in 2019 in Wuhan, China, and affected the country's large population (1, 2). This virus is a new form of the known Coronavirus, and the resulting disease was called Covid-19 (3). On January 30, 2020, the World Health Organization declared Covid-19 a public health emergency, and later on March 11, 2020, reported it as an outbreak pandemic (4, 5).

On February 20, 2020, two death cases from the disease were reported in Iran for the first time. The number of infected people raised increased in Iran (6). Early scientific reports suggested that Covid-19 may be transmitted from animal to human, but subsequent studies have shown that respiratory droplets cause direct human-to-human transmission (7, 8).

The virus can infect humans in different severities, from upper respiratory tract infections such as colds to lower respiratory tract infections such as bronchitis, pneumonia, and even acute respiratory syndrome (9). The first symptoms seen in these patients included fever, dry cough, shortness of breath, chest pain or pressure, fatigue, muscle aches, dizziness, and leukopenia. Patients with mild symptoms require supportive care and patients with more severe symptoms require oxygen therapy and hospitalization (7, 10, 11).

The covid-19 disease affects various groups, including

pregnant women (12). Due to the weakened immune system and physiological changes in the cardiovascular system during pregnancy, pregnant mothers are vulnerable to infections and viruses, and therefore the Covid epidemic can have severe consequences during pregnancy (13, 14).

Studies have shown that emerging infections significantly impact pregnancy and the fetus, for instance, maternal and embryonic complications due to the H1N1 Flue pandemic in 2009 (15, 16). Pregnant women are worried about giving birth (13), and despite programs of social distancing and fear of developing Covid-19, they tend to reduce the number of visits to health centers. Further, lack of care for pregnant women causes harmful maternal and embryonic complications (17, 18).

As Covid-19 is an emerging disease, people have limited knowledge about it, and healthcare professionals need to know about Covid-19. Healthcare providers are at the forefront of caring for pregnant women and require an understanding of the disease to improve the quality of care for pregnant mothers by providing the correct information to mothers and the proper counseling. Midwives and healthcare providers are responsible for promoting the health of mothers and infants, and their knowledge can affect the community's health (12). Misinformation directly increases the risk of disease (19). There was an urgent need in the community to establish a plan for the deadly Covid-19 and provide community members with guidelines, especially health care providers, to control the disease, promote maternal health and reduce maternal mortality and neonatal complications. Healthcare providers have an essential and decisive role in combating this disease. Familiarity of midwives with different aspects of the disease is fundamental, and they can provide better and more efficient services to pregnant women by gaining the necessary knowledge in this field. The Covid-19 epidemic offers a unique opportunity to assess the level of knowledge of healthcare providers. Thus, the present study evaluated healthcare providers' knowledge about Covid-19 disease during pregnancy and lactation in Ardabil.

2. Materials and Methods

The present study is a descriptive study (2020) that aims at assessing the knowledge of healthcare providers who care for pregnant and lactating mothers against Covid-19. The study's statistical population includes all 180 healthcare providers of pregnant and lactating mothers working in health centers in Ardabil included in the study by the census. The list of active healthcare workers and their places of employment was received from Ardabil Health Center. Inclusion criteria were, midwifery and family health graduates with an associate's and bachelor's degree with at least six months of experience as health care providers in health centers willing to participate in the study. Exclusion criteria were the presence of health care providers on maternity and sick leave or incomplete completion of questionnaires.

The data collection tool was a researcher-made questionnaire to determine healthcare providers' knowledge about Covid-19 in pregnancy and lactation. This tool has two sections: demographic-social characteristics and measurement of healthcare providers' knowledge about Covid-19 during pregnancy and lactation. The questionnaire of demographicsocial characteristics provides information about age, marital status, number of children, level of education, the field of study, service history, employment status, place of work, medical history, setting of obtaining information about Covid-19, having previous information about the coronavirus outbreak, and the second section measures the knowledge of health care providers with 50 questions about the Covid-19 virus during pregnancy and lactation.

Each question is scaled from 0 to 1, and in case of correct answers, 50 points are awarded. In terms of grading, the knowledge of health care providers was assessed at three levels: poor (0-16), moderate (17-33), and good (34-50). This questionnaire was designed by studying texts, articles, and instructions from the Ministry of Health. Face validity and content validity were used to evaluate the instrument's validity. Face validity is the most convenient way to check the validity of a tool, that is, whether the instrument's appearance correctly measures the variable under study. In face validity, the tool's structure is examined from the point of view of the target group. In this step, to check the face validity and reliability, the questionnaire was handed out to 14 Faculty members, including midwives, reproductive health professionals, and nurses at Ardebil University of Medical sciences. In the next step, content validity was performed quantitatively using the content validity ratio (CVR) and content validity index (CVI). According to the CVR decision table, the ten experts' minimum acceptable validity value is 0/62. The resulting number for our study tool was 0/8. The content validity was confirmed. Experts were asked to rate each question on a scale of 1 to 4.

The four-item scales included "fully relevant", "relevant", "semi-relevant" and "irrelevant". CVI is obtained by dividing the total number of positive scores for each item of the questionnaire (obtained 3 and 4 scores that are; "relevant but requires precision" and "fully relevant") by the number of experts. So, 0.8 was obtained for tools, and the study's validity was confirmed. Furthermore, the internal reliability of the questionnaire was obtained using Cronbach's alpha coefficient of 0.87.

After getting approval from the ethics committee of Ardabil University of Medical Sciences (ethics code IR-ARUMS.REC.1399.549), the researchers attended the research site permitted by the permission of the health deputy and the director of Ardabil health center and distributed questionnaires among them. Participants were allowed to leave the study if they wanted to refuse. Finally, 150 questionnaires were returned to the researchers.

The present study analyzed data using SPSS 20 and descriptive statistics (frequency and percentage, mean and standard deviation), and inferential statistics. In inferential statistics, one-way ANOVA and chi-square tests were used. The ethics committee has approved the proposal of this study of Ardabil University of Medical Sciences.

3. Results

A total of 150 people participated in the study. The mean age of participants was 35.51 ± 5.74 years. 85.3% participants were married (n=139), 45.3% had one child, 82.7% had a bachelor's degree, 8.7% had an associate's degree, and 8.7% had a master's degree. The majority of healthcare providers included midwives (74.7\%), who majored in family health studies (18%), and who studied in other fields (7.3%) (Table 1).

The majority of participants, 128 (85.3%), had no history of the disease. Most participants (84.7%) knew nothing about Coronavirus before the outbreak; 110 (73.3%) of the participants had obtained their information about Covid-19 from the Ministry of Health or medical universities. In the present study, 109 people (72.7%) scored more than 33, which means a good level, 38 people (25.3%) had a moderate level of knowledge, and 3 people (2%) had poor knowledge about Covid-19 disease in pregnancy and lactation.

Kazemzadeh et al. / J Exp Clin Med

Table 1.	Percentage and f	requency of a	lemographic	characteristics of	f research samples	(n=150)
	0	1 2	01		1	()

Variables		No.(%)	Variables		No.(%)
					1 (0)(70)
	Single	26 (14.7)		No child	40 (26.7)
Marital status	Married	139 (85.3)	Number of children	1 child	68 (45.3)
				2 children	38 (25.3)
				3 children	4 (2.7)
Field of major	Midwifery	112 (74.7)	Education level		
	Family Health	27(18)		Associate degree	13 (8.7)
	Others	11 (7.3)		Bachelor degree	124(82.7)
Experience (vears)				Masters	13 (8.7)
()	1-5	66(44)	Employment state	Official	40(26.7)
	6-10	41(27.3)	P • J	Temporary	12 (8)
	11-15	13 (8.7)		Internship	4(2.7)
	16-20	11 (7.3)		Contract	94(62.7)
	21-25	18 (12)			
	26-30	1(0.7)			
Setting	Health center	29(19.3)	Disease history	No history	128 (85.3)
	Base	121(80.7)		Respiratory	2 (1.3)
				Cardiovascular	7(4.7)
				Gastrointestinal	1(0.7)
				Glandular disease	8(5.3)
				Renal disease	2(1.3)
				Dermal disease	2(1.3)
Data resources	Websites and statements	47(31.3)	Knowing Coronavirus before the pandemic	Yes	23(15.3)
	WHO			No	121(84.7)
	Social networks	49(32.7)			
	National Media	53(35.3)			
	Ministry of Health and University of Medical Sciences	110(73.3)			
	Colleagues	31(20.7)			
	Others	8(5.3)			

In the present study, the Chi-square test showed no statistically significant relationship between the age of health care providers and the knowledge variable (P = 0.8) and no significant difference between the level of knowledge in married and single groups (P = 0.13).

The study of the relationship between education level and knowledge of health care providers showed no statistically significant difference between the three groups with associate degrees, bachelor's degrees, and master's degrees (P = 0.97). Moreover, there was no statistically significant difference between the field of study, the experience of healthcare providers, and their level of knowledge (P = 0.5, P = 0.33). There was no statistically significant difference between having previous knowledge about the prevalence of Coronavirus and their level of knowledge about Covid-19 disease during pregnancy and lactation (P = 0.8).

4. Discussion

The present study entitled "Knowledge level of health care providers about Covid-19 disease during pregnancy and lactation in Ardabil," was conducted in Iran in the middle of the Covid-19 outbreak in 2020. Covid-19 has been classified as a high-risk infection since it is newly emerged and has spread worldwide, and people, especially pregnant and lactating mothers, are at risk.

The pandemic resulting from the Coronavirus is currently severe and contagious, affecting the world's population (20-22). Therefore, the knowledge level of healthcare providers about Covid-19 disease, who care for pregnant mothers in health centers, is essential, and it is essential to inform them of the severity of the disease to develop preventive measures to reduce and control this infection, especially in pregnant and lactating women. Health policymakers in the Ministry of Health and Medical Education can make the right plans. According to our survey, this is the first descriptive study since the outbreak of Covid-19.

According to the present study results, most healthcare providers had a good level of knowledge about Covid-19 disease during pregnancy and lactation. In the study of Taghrir et al. (2020), the level of knowledge of medical students about Covid-19 in Iran has been reported at a high level (23). In the study by Zhang et al. in Hanan, China, 89% of health workers had sufficient knowledge about Covid-19; physicians had higher knowledge scores than nurses and other health workers (24). A study by Ping et al. in China showed that most undergraduate students had a good knowledge of Covid-19 (25), consistent with the present study results. A study by Bhagavathula et al. (2020) shows that health workers did not have sufficient knowledge about Covid 19, which is inconsistent with the results of our study (26). In the present study, only healthcare providers who cared for pregnant and lactating mothers were studied.

The present study showed that most study participants (73.3%) obtained their information through the Ministry of Health or medical universities. Accordingly, the study of Bhagavathula et al. showed that the primary source of information for the research participants was official government sites (26).

In contrast, in the Kushalkumar study in India on medical students, most students (65.17%) acquired knowledge about Covid 19 from social media (27), which was the reason for the difference in research samples; students tend to read all news and social sites. These students, the main body of the health care system in the future, should obtain valid information on some of the above websites due to the existence of unverified information and should refer to reputable scientific and official government websites.

It should be noted that healthcare providers should ensure the health of mothers by providing primary and correct care during Covid 19 disease, which is why it is necessary to increase the knowledge and awareness of healthcare providers. Studies show that infection of the pregnant mother with Covid 19 leads to pregnancy complications such as miscarriage, premature rupture, fetal growth restriction, fetal distress, and preterm delivery (28-34). Therefore, prenatal care is essential in this regard. During pregnancy, especially in the third trimester, fetal health care is provided mainly for mothers infected with Covid 19 (15, 28, 35).

The present study results can be used as a pilot study by health policymakers for educational programs to prevent Covid19 and reduce the complications of the disease in pregnant and lactating mothers. One of the limitations of this study is that this study was conducted in only one city and the generalization of the results to other healthcare providers in Iran requires further studies. The result of the study depends on the participants' honesty in answering the questions in the questionnaire.

Our healthcare providers have excellent or high levels of Covid-19-related knowledge in pregnancy and lactation. As pregnant mothers undergo changes in physiology and immune system during pregnancy and need high-quality care, healthcare providers must receive up-to-date information regularly from the healthcare system in person and online.

Conflict of interest

There is no conflict of interest in the present study

Funding

No funding was used for the study.

Acknowledgments

We appreciate the participants and the Vice president of Research and Technology of Ardabil University of Medical Sciences for the credit for the research project.

Authors' contributions

Concept: R.K., P.A.K., Design: R.K., P.A.K., Data Collection or Processing: R.K., L.R., Analysis or Interpretation: S.D.F., L.R., Literature Search: P.A.K., L.R., Writing: R.K., S.D.F.

References

- 1. Huang C, Wang Y, Li X, Ren L, Zhao J, Hu Y, et al. Clinical features of patients infected with 2019 novel coronavirus in Wuhan, China. Lancet. 2020;395(10223):497-506.
- Battegay M, Kuehl R, Tschudin-Sutter S, Hirsch HH, Widmer AF, Neher RA. 2019-novel Coronavirus (2019-nCoV): estimating the case fatality rate – a word of caution. Swiss Medical Weekly. 2020.
- **3.** Lai CC, Shih TP, Ko WC, Tang HJ, Hsueh PR. Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) and coronavirus disease-2019 (COVID-19): The epidemic and the challenges. Int J Antimicrob Agents. 2020;55(3):105924.
- Note from the editors: World Health Organization declares novel coronavirus (2019-nCoV) sixth public health emergency of international concern. Eurosurveillance. 2020;25(5).
- 5. World Health Organization. Novel Coronavirus (COVID-19) Situation Report - 104. [Online] World Health Organization 2020 [Available from: https://www.who.int/docs/defaultsource/coronaviruse/situation-reports/20200503-covid-19-sitrep-104.pdf?sfvrsn=53328f46_4.
- 6. Tuite AR, Bogoch II, Sherbo R, Watts A, Fisman D, Khan K. 2020.
- 7. Gralinski LE, Menachery VD. Return of the Coronavirus: 2019nCoV. Viruses. 2020;12(2).
- 8. World Health Organization. Modes of transmission of virus causing COVID-19: implications for IPC precaution recommendations 2020 [Available from: https://www.who.int/publicationsdetail/modes-of-transmission-of-virus-causing-covid-19implications-for-ipc-precaution-recommendations.
- 9. Schoeman D, Fielding BC. Coronavirus envelope protein: current knowledge. Virol J. 2019;16(1):69.
- Singhal T. A Review of Coronavirus Disease-2019 (COVID-19). Indian J Pediatr. 2020;87(4):281-6.
- Guan WJ, Ni ZY, Hu Y, Liang WH, Ou CQ, He JX, et al. Clinical Characteristics of Coronavirus Disease 2019 in China. N Engl J Med. 2020;382(18):1708-20.
- **12.** Nayeri D, Jalaliniya F. Theorizing and nursing theories 2nd ed. Tehran: Hakim Hidji; 2014.
- Rashidi Fakari F, Simbar M. Coronavirus Pandemic and Worries during Pregnancy; a Letter to Editor. Arch Acad Emerg Med. 2020;8(1):e21.
- 14. Rasmussen SA, Smulian JC, Lednicky JA, Wen TS, Jamieson DJ. Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) and pregnancy: what obstetricians need to know. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2020;222(5):415-26.
- 15. Moore CA, Staples JE, Dobyns WB, Pessoa A, Ventura CV, Fonseca EB, et al. Characterizing the Pattern of Anomalies in Congenital Zika Syndrome for Pediatric Clinicians. JAMA Pediatr. 2017;171(3):288-95.
- 16. Rasmussen SA, Jamieson DJ, Honein MA, Petersen LR. Zika Virus and Birth Defects--Reviewing the Evidence for Causality. N Engl J Med. 2016;374(20):1981-7.

- 17. Chen Y, Li Z, Zhang YY, Zhao WH, Yu ZY. Maternal health care management during the outbreak of coronavirus disease 2019. J Med Virol. 2020;92(7):731-9.
- 18. Du L, Gu YB, Cui MQ, Li WX, Wang J, Zhu LP, et al. [Investigation on demands for antenatal care services among 2 002 pregnant women during the epidemic of COVID-19 in Shanghai]. Zhonghua Fu Chan Ke Za Zhi. 2020;55(3):160-5.
- 19. McEachan R, Taylor N, Harrison R, Lawton R, Gardner P, Conner M. Meta-Analysis of the Reasoned Action Approach (RAA) to Understanding Health Behaviors. Ann Behav Med. 2016;50(4):592-612.
- 20. Saravanan P, Diabetes in Pregnancy Working G, Maternal Medicine Clinical Study G, Royal College of O, Gynaecologists UK. Gestational diabetes: opportunities for improving maternal and child health. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol. 2020;8(9):793-800.
- 21. Saúde. Id. Prevention and Control of Infection by SARS-CoV-2 (COVID-19): Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) 2020 [Available from: https://www.dgs.pt/directrizes-da-dgs/normas-ecirculares-normativas/norma-n-0072020-de-29032020-pdf.aspx.
- **22.** Vilelas J. The new coronavirus and the risk to children's health. Rev Lat Am Enfermagem. 2020;28:e3320.
- **23.** Taghrir MH, Borazjani R, Shiraly R. COVID-19 and Iranian Medical Students; A Survey on Their Related-Knowledge, Preventive Behaviors and Risk Perception. Arch Iran Med. 2020;23(4):249-54.
- **24.** Zhang M, Zhou M, Tang F, Wang Y, Nie H, Zhang L, et al. Knowledge, attitude, and practice regarding COVID-19 among healthcare workers in Henan, China. J Hosp Infect. 2020;105(2):183-7.
- **25.** Peng Y, Pei C, Zheng Y, Wang J, Zhang K, Zheng Z, et al. A cross-sectional survey of knowledge, attitude and practice associated with COVID-19 among undergraduate students in China. BMC Public Health. 2020;20(1):1292.

- **26.** Bhagavathula AS, Aldhaleei WA, Rahmani J, Mahabadi MA, Bandari DK. 2020.
- **27.** Gohel KH, Patel PB, Shah PM, Patel JR, Pandit N, Raut A. Knowledge and perceptions about COVID-19 among the medical and allied health science students in India: An online cross-sectional survey. Clin Epidemiol Glob Health. 2021;9:104-9.
- 28. Dashraath P, Wong JLJ, Lim MXK, Lim LM, Li S, Biswas A, et al. Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic and pregnancy. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2020;222(6):521-31.
- **29.** Liu Y, Chen H, Tang K, Guo Y. Withdrawn: Clinical manifestations and outcome of SARS-CoV-2 infection during pregnancy. J Infect. 2020.
- 30. Chen S, Liao E, Cao D, Gao Y, Sun G, Shao Y. Clinical analysis of pregnant women with 2019 novel coronavirus pneumonia. J Med Virol. 2020;92(9):1556-61.
- Qi H, Luo X, Zheng Y, Zhang H, Li J, Zou L, et al. Safe delivery for pregnancies affected by COVID-19. BJOG. 2020;127(8):927-9.
- **32.** Khan S, Peng L, Siddique R, Nabi G, Nawsherwan, Xue M, et al. Impact of COVID-19 infection on pregnancy outcomes and the risk of maternal-to-neonatal intrapartum transmission of COVID-19 during natural birth. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol. 2020;41(6):748-50.
- **33.** Yang H, Wang C, Poon LC. Novel coronavirus infection and pregnancy. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol. 2020;55(4):435-7.
- 34. Liu H, Wang LL, Zhao SJ, Kwak-Kim J, Mor G, Liao AH. Why are pregnant women susceptible to COVID-19? An immunological viewpoint. J Reprod Immunol. 2020;139:103122.
- **35.** Wang SS, Zhou X, Lin XG, Liu YY, Wu JL, Sharifu LM, et al. Experience of Clinical Management for Pregnant Women and Newborns with Novel Coronavirus Pneumonia in Tongji Hospital, China. Curr Med Sci. 2020;40(2):285-9.



Journal of Experimental and Clinical Medicine https://dergipark.org.tr/omujecm



Research Article

J Exp Clin Med 2023; 40(1): 18-22 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.40.1.4

Comparison of anxiety, depression, and quality of life of husbands of women with and without breast cancer

Fatemeh VİZESHFAR *[®], Fereshteh DEHGHANRAD [®], Mahboobeh MAGHAREİ[®]

Department of Nursing, Shiraz University of Medical Sciences, Community Based Psychiatric Care Research Center, Shiraz University of Medical Sciences, Shiraz, Iran

	Received: 11.08.2022 •	Accepted/Published Online: 01.10.2022	•	Final Version: 18.03.2023
--	-------------------------------	---------------------------------------	---	---------------------------

Abstract

The aim of this study was to compare the anxiety, depression, and quality of life of husbands of women with breast cancer referred to the chemotherapy clinic with husbands of non-affected wives. This was a case-control study, with purposive-convenience sampling method. 190 husbands of patients with or without breast cancer participate in this study. Data collection tools included a four-part questionnaire, consisted of demographic characteristics, shortened form of quality of life questionnaire, Beck depression inventory, and Beck anxiety inventory. In the areas of social relations and living environment (QolD3, QolD4), a statistically significant difference was found between the two groups in quality of life (p-value < 0.001). Pearson correlation coefficient showed a statistically significant difference in the case group between the history of chemotherapy and mean anxiety score (p-value < 0.001), and quality of life with number of children (p-value < 0.002). The findings of this study showed that in addition to giving attention to the patients, attention to health needs and quality of life of their spouses is also a priority.

Keywords: anxiety, breast cancer, depression, quality of life

1. Introduction

Cancer is one the most common health problems worldwide. (1) It is the third leading cause of death in Iran after cardiovascular diseases and accidents. Breast Cancer is the most common cause of cancer death in women. (2) It is one of the most common malignancies in the world and unfortunately has been increasing in Iranian women. (3, 4) Diagnosis and treatment of breast cancer have a significant impact on the lives of patients and their families. Women with breast cancer experience a lot of psychological disorder . Psychologic distress affects various aspects of the quality of life of women with breast cancer, especially anxiety and self-image (5). The spouses of such woman become more influential because of their active role in choosing treatments and providing their wives with comprehensive support (6). Studies have shown that spouses who care for their partner with cancer are subject to a wide range of physical, psychological, and social attenuation (7). Couples have an interactive effect on each other's quality of life, mental health, and well-being (6). All members of the family are affected by the illness of a family member, but the supportive role of spouses is much more important than the supportive role of friends or other family members. (5, 6) Feeling good about one spouse affects another. Family members, especially spouses who are the main caregivers to the patient with cancer are directly and indirectly affected by changes in the patients' condition. (7) Qualitative studies on husbands of women with breast cancer described

their major experiences as unpleasant experiences of cancer and changes in their mutual connections. The spouses of such patients share that "the world on which we had built our lives and our regular daily lives were destroyed when cancer was diagnosed (8-9) They were trying to do something to support their spouses. (8) Studies have shown that husbands of women with breast cancer experience a lot of stress and are unprepared for the challenges of caring for their spouses. (9) Husbands have increased stress and distress, affecting their well-being and decreasing their quality of life (10). Symptoms of distress, such as anxiety and depression, have a negative effect on the quality of life of such women and their husbands (13,14) Thus, this study was designed to compare anxiety, depression, and quality of life of husbands of women with and without breast cancer referred to the chemotherapy clinic.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Research design and sample

This case-control study was performed on married men referred to Shahid Motahari Clinic, affiliated to Shiraz University of Medical Sciences. This clinic is a central clinic, located in Shiraz, southwestern Iran, and has several sections in 6 floors and is referred for clients with different kinds of health problems or diseases from all levels of the community. According to similar studies^{4,9}, and considering α =0.05 and 90% power (β =1.0) the sample size by using MedCalc software was estimated as 190 subjects (each group 95).

$$n = \frac{z_{1-\alpha/2} + z_{1-\beta})^2 [p_1(1-p_1) + p_2(1-p_2)]}{d^{*2}}$$

Purposive-convenience sampling method was used and 95 husbands of women with breast cancer who referred for chemotherapy were included in the case group, and 95 husbands of healthy women who referred to the clinic for other reasons were included in the control group. Inclusion criteria for the control group were the presence of husbands and in both groups were the willingness to complete the questionnaire and lack of any physical or mental illness to interfere with their ability to answer the questionnaire. The exclusion criterion was reluctance to complete the questionnaire.

2.2. Data collection and instruments

Data collection tool was a four-part questionnaire. In the first part of the questionnaire, the demographic characteristics of the women's and their spouses, and the status of the women's disease were asked. The second part was the shortened form of the Quality-of-Life Questionnaire. The third part was the Beck Depression Inventory II, and the fourth part was the Beck Anxiety Inventory. The World Health Organization Short Form Quality of Life Questionnaire is a short form of the World Health Organization's 100-question Quality of Life Questionnaire, which measures the quality of life in four health-related domains: physical health, psychological, social relations, and living environment domains. This questionnaire contains 26 questions, which the first and second questions examine the quality of life and health status, respectively. The next 24 questions assess the quality of life in the four areas mentioned above. This questionnaire has been validated for the Iranian population with a validity of 0.7 to 0.9 (15,16). The Beck Depression Inventory II includes 21 questions. These questions vary with the Likert scale from 0, which indicates the absence of the symptoms to 3, which indicates the severe symptoms. The final score of this questionnaire varies from 0 to 63. The scores of 0-15 indicate normal state, 16-31 mild depression, 32-47 moderate depression, and 48-63 severe depression. (11, 12)

The Beck Anxiety Inventory has 21 items on a 4-point scale from 0 to 3. The score varies from 0 to 63, with scores of 0-7 indicating low or no anxiety, scores of 8-15 mild anxiety, scores of 16-25 moderate anxiety, and scores of 26-63 with severe anxiety. The validity and reliability of Beck Anxiety Inventory and Beck Depression Inventory II have been reported and used in many studies in Iran (16-18) Beck Anxiety Inventory with 0.72 validity and 0.83 reliability, and Beck Depression Inventory with 0.93 validity and 0.89 reliability have been confirmed (18).

The questionnaire was completed by husbands who met the inclusion criteria and were assigned to either the case or control group according to whether their spouses had breast cancer or was healthy. Data were analyzed using SPSS version 22.0 software, and the descriptive statistics including mean and standard deviation were utilized. Analytical tests including chisquare for comparison two group, Pearson correlation coefficient was used to investigate the relationship between variables, and ANOVA to evaluate the relationship between independent variables (breast cancer) and dependent variables (quality of life, anxiety, and depression).

3. Results

All the participants, including the case and control groups, lived with their spouses at the time of the study. Duration of chemotherapy in spouses of case group varied from 3 months to 144 months. The mean age of the participants in the study was 41.2 ± 10.2 , with most common level of education of bachelor's or higher 79 (41.8%), 85 (45%) with freelance jobs, and the average of having two children. 31 (16.4%) of the spouses participating in the study were government employees. The highest level of education was high school diploma in 68 (36.0%) subjects. Demographic variables differed only in age between the two groups, and the mean age of the case group was higher, and for the other variables the two groups were matched. Table 1 shows the demographic characteristics and variables of the two groups.

 Table 1. Comparison of demographic characteristics of case and control groups

Group		р
Ich	Case	0.72
JOD	Control	
Education	Case	0.27
Education	Control	
Marital status	Case	0.45
Maritar status	Control	
Child	Case	0.31
Cinid	Control	
Wife job	Case	0.24
whe job	Control	
Wife advection	Case	0.51
whe education	Control	

Overall mean score for quality of life in the case group was 84.5%±14.1 and in the control group was 87.2%±12.6, which did not show a significant difference. In the areas of social relations and living environment (QolD3, QolD4), there was a statistically significant difference between the two groups. Table 2 compares the scores of different domains of quality of life and its overall score in the case and control groups.

Anxiety was higher at all levels in the case group. In the case group 16.8% (n=17) had severe depression but in the control group only 9.6% (n=10) had severe depression. Table 3 compares the anxiety and depression scores in the two groups. One-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) showed that there was no significant difference between total score of quality of life and level of anxiety, and between total score of quality of life and depression in case and control groups. Table 4 shows the comparison of the mean scores of anxiety and depression in the case and control groups.

Table 2.	Comparison	of scores of (Dualities of Life	Ouestionnaire	in case and	control groups
			•	•		8

Variable	Group	Mean	S.D.	p-value	
Quality of life dimension 1	Case	26.0737	4.26575	0.915	
Quality of the dimension 1	Control	27.8191	4.11648	0.015	
Quality of life dimension 2	Case	21.4000	3.87408	0.574	
Quality of the dimension 2	Control	22.1596	3.66120	0.374	
Quality of life dimension 2	Case	25.6842	7.13288	0.000	
Quality of the dimension 5	Control	11.2553	1.93405	0.000	
Quality of life dimension 4	Case	11.3158	4.11087	0.000	
Quality of the dimension 4	Control	26.1702	5.21297		
Quality of life total sector	Case	84.5789	14.18763	0 172	
Quanty of the total score	Control	87.2872	12.68275	0.172	

Table 3 Con	nnarison	of the mean	frequency	distribution	of anyiets	in the	case and	control	orouns
1 abic 5. CO	nparison	of the mean	nequency	uistiioution	of anxiety	/ m une	case and	control	groups

Anxiety								
Group	Low	Weak	Moderate	Severe	Total			
-	No (%)	No (%)	No (%)	No (%)	No (%)			
Case	51 (53.7)	31 (32.6)	11 (11.6)	2 (2.1)	95 (100)			
Control	64 (68.1)	11 (11.7)	11 (11.7)	9 (8.5)	95 (100)			

Table 4. Comparison of the frequency distribution of depression in case and control groups

Depression							
Group	Low	Weak	Moderate	Severe	Total		
	No (%)	No (%)	No (%)	No (%)	No (%)		
Case	30 (32.6)	18 (38.3)	30 (31.6)	17 (16.8)	95 (100)		
Control	34 (36.2)	29 (30.9)	22 (23.4)	10 (9.6)	95 (100)		

One-way ANOVA showed that there was no significant difference between total score of quality of life and level of anxiety and between total score of quality of life and depression in case and control groups. Table 5 shows the comparison of the mean scores of anxiety and depression in the case and control groups.

In regards to relationship between quality of life, anxiety score, and depression with demographic variables, Pearson correlation coefficient showed that in the case group, there was a statistically significant difference between the history of chemotherapy and mean anxiety score (p-value < 0.001), and quality of life with number of children (p-value < 0.002). There was no statistically significant difference between demographic variables, anxiety, depression, and quality of life in the control group.

 Table 5. Comparison of anxiety and depression in two case and control groups

	Case Mean ± S.D.	Control Mean ± S.D.	p-value
Anxiety	8.50 ± 6.81	7.63 ± 8.36	0.123
Depression	9.4 ± 8.09	7.2 ± 6.76	0.0495

4. Discussion

Based on the results of this study, the diagnosis and treatments of breast cancer in women influence the mental health and quality of life of their spouses. A study by Götze et al. found that sexual partners of patient with cancer in regards to the physical dimension of quality of life, had no statistically significant difference with the rest of society, but there was a significant difference in mental and social dimensions (22). The distress created for couples as a patient and caregiver, indicates the need for psychological and supportive interventions (8). Longitudinal studies of the effects of cancer on the quality of life and mood of couples whose one of their partners has cancer diagnosis, have contradictory findings (20,21).

In this study, the level of anxiety in the case group was higher than the control group. Symptoms of depression in caregivers of patients in terminal stages of the disease should not be considered as normal, but require attention and intervention. (13)

Reducing the level of anxiety and depression improves the quality of life in sexual partners of patients with cancer. A study aimed to assessing distress and quality of life in patients with cancer and their caregivers during home care showed that 33% of the caregivers of patients with cancer experience high levels of anxiety and 28% experience depression. Compared with other caregivers, spouses of patients requiring palliative care experience more distress (19). Results of a study by Bigatti and co-workers with title of "Depression in Husbands of Breast Cancer Patients: Relationships to Coping and Social Support" showed that the rate of depression in husbands of patients with breast cancer was higher than control group (23). A review study by Li et al. analyzed 25 articles published from 2000 to 2012 with the aim of examining spouses' experience of caring for patients with cancer. According to the results of that study, the spouses of patients with cancer experienced more negative emotions, such as decreased mental health and quality of life (24). Diagnosis of cancer and the death caused by it have a negative impact on different aspects of caregivers' lives, especially their spouses. Most partners experienced severe symptoms of depression and poorer health soon before and right after their spouse's death (25). Women diagnosed with breast cancer and their spouses experience specific issues regarding illness, treatment, response, and coping. The disease affects the whole family. Among these experiences are adaptation to changes in the role and negative emotions such as decreased quality of life, depression, and anxiety associated with the patient and treatment of the disease (26).

In the case group, there was a statistically significant difference between the history of chemotherapy and the mean score of anxiety and quality of life with the number of children. A study by Sun et al. aimed to investigate the effectiveness of interdisciplinary palliative care intervention for home caregivers in patients with lung cancer showed that there was no statistically significant difference between caregivers' demographic characteristics and other variables including quality of life (27). The results of another study examining the quality of life of home caregivers of patients with cancer in Korea and Albania did not show a statistically significant difference between the demographic characteristics of the subjects and their quality of life (14). Other studies of patients with cancer in other parts of the world also confirm these results and are different from the results of this study. (15-17) This difference could be resulted from cultural differences and the burden of childcare.

Describing health problems and their effects on different aspects of health and quality of life is the first step toward considering the dimensions and solutions of the problem. In this descriptive study, the effects of breast cancer treatment on quality of life, anxiety, and depression of spouses were investigated. The impact of diagnosis and treatment of different types of cancer on the dimensions of family life, especially spouses, is a complex issue with hidden angles and other socio-cultural factors need to be examined for a better understanding. In addition, future evidence-based studies of this group's specific needs and appropriate methods of training and support should be examined and tested.

Findings of this study comparing the effects of diagnosis and treatment of cancer on quality of life and distress of spouses of women with and without breast cancer showed that besides patient, attention to health needs and quality of life of their spouses is also a priority, because they have the key role in supporting their sick wives. Nurses should enhance their ability to design and implement programs and be able to empower patients and their spouses to reduce stress or anxiety and possible depression. There seems to be a need for an appropriate framework to work with such patients and their spouses. The creation of strong social networks and support groups have been mentioned in some studies.

Ethical statement

Ethical approval will be sought in accordance with Vice-Chancellor for Research Affairs of Shiraz University of Medical Sciences and all participant completed the informed consent form

(IF.SUMS.NUMIMG.REC.1400.007.2021.06.19).

Conflict of interest

The authors declared no conflict of interest.

Funding

No funding was used for the study.

Acknowledgments

None to declare.

Authors' contributions

Concept: F.W., F.D., Design: F.W., F.D., Data Collection or Processing: M.M., Analysis or Interpretation: M.M., F.D., Literature Search: F.W., M.M., Writing: M.M., F.D.

References

- Siegel R, Miller K, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2015. Cancer J Clin. 2015;65(1):5.
- **2.** Askarian F, Mirzaei M, Askarian S, Jazayeri M. Epidemiologic study of breast cancer and age distribution of patients in a ten-year interval. Iran Breast Cancer Quart. 2016;9(1):31-6.
- Mohaghegh P, Yavari P, Akbari ME, Abadi A, Ahmadi F, Shormeij Z. Relationships between family levels of socioeconomic status and distribution of breast cancer risk factors. Iran J Cancer Prevent. 2015;8(1):53.
- **4.** Salarvand S, Hemati S, Adibi P, Taleghani F. Priorities in Supportive Care Needs for Non-metastatic Cancer Patients Undergoing Chemotherapy in Iran: The Oncologists' Perceptions. Mid East J Cancer. 2017;8(4):195-205.
- 5. Li Q, Loke AY. A literature review on the mutual impact of the spousal caregiver-cancer patients dyads: 'communication', 'reciprocal influence', and 'caregiver-patient congruence'. Europ J Oncol Nurs. 2014;18(1):58-65.
- **6.** Chung C, Hwang E. Couples' experiences of breast cancer in Korea: a descriptive qualitative study. Cancer Nurs. 2012;35(3):211-20.
- 7. Litzelman K, Green PA, Yabroff KR. Cancer and quality of life in spousal dyads: spillover in couples with and without cancer-related health problems. Support Care Cancer. 2016;24(2):763-71.
- **8.** Zahlis EH, Lewis FM. Coming to grips with breast cancer: the spouse's experience with his wife's first six months. J Psychosoci Oncol. 2010;28(1):79-97.
- **9.** Duggleby W, Bally J, Cooper D, Doell H, Thomas R, editors. Engaging hope: the experiences of male spouses of women with breast cancer. Oncology Nursing Forum; 2012.
- 10. Hayes J, Zimmerman MK, Boylstein C. Responding to symptoms of Alzheimer's disease: Husbands, wives, and the gendered dynamics of recognition and disclosure. Qualitat Health Res. 2010;20(8):1101-15.
- Dadfar M, Kalibatseva Z. Psychometric properties of the persian version of the short beck depression inventory with Iranian psychiatric outpatients. Scientifica. 2016;2016:8196463.
- 12. Toosi F, Rahimi C, Sajjadi S. Psychometric properties of beck depression inventory-II for high school children in Shiraz City, Iran. Int J School Health. 2017;4(3):1-6.

- **13.** Götze H, Brähler E, Gansera L, Polze N, Köhler N. Psychological distress and quality of life of palliative cancer patients and their caring relatives during home care. Support Care Cancer. 2014;22(10):2775-82.
- 14. Judkins J, Laska I, Paice J, Kumthekar P. Quality of life of family caregivers of patients with cancer in Korçe, Albania. J Palliat Care. 2019;34(2):118-25.
- **15.** Kim Y, Van Ryn M, Jensen RE, Griffin JM, Potosky A, Rowland J. Effects of gender and depressive symptoms on quality of life

among colorectal and lung cancer patients and their family caregivers. Psycho Oncol. 2015;24(1):95-105.

- 16. Grant M, Sun V, Fujinami R, Sidhu R, Otis-Green S, Juarez G, et al., editors. Family caregiver burden, skills preparedness, and quality of life in non-small-cell lung cancer. Oncol Nurs Forum; 2013: NIH Public Access.
- **17.** Mosher CE, Bakas T, Champion VL. Physical health, mental health, and life changes among family caregivers of patients with lung cancer. Oncol Nurs Forum. 2013;40(1):53-61.



Journal of Experimental and Clinical Medicine https://dergipark.org.tr/omujecm





J Exp Clin Med 2023; 40(1): 23-26 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.40.1.5

The association between KRAS gene expression and breast tumors in a sample of Iraqi women

Roya H. AL-HADDAD*[®], Hameed M. JASIM[®]

Department of Biomedical technologies, Faculty of Biotechnology, Al-Nahrain University, Baghdad, Iraq

	Received: 21.08.2022	٠	Accepted/Published Online: 31.12.2022	٠	Final Version: 18.03.2023	
--	----------------------	---	---------------------------------------	---	---------------------------	--

Abstract

In Iraq, breast cancer is considered one of the most widespread cancer types causing death in women due to changes in the genes that control cell growth and proliferation. KRAS gene plays a role in 30% of human cancers. This study aims to evaluate the expression of the KRAS gene and its role in women with breast tumours. A total of 120 women (60 women with breast tumours and 60 samples from apparently healthy women) were enrolled in this study to determine the expression of the KRAS gene. The RT-qPCR was used for this purpose. Fibroadenoma (FA) was the most common tumours, accounting for 53% of cases, followed by fibrocystic change (26%). Other benign tumours accounted for 20% of the cases; however, IDC is the most common type of invasive breast cancer, accounting for 70% of all breast cancers. Moreover, KRAS gene expression in women with breast tumours (benign and malignant) was not- significantly different from that seen in normal healthy women.

Keywords: breast tumors, KRAS, gene expression, Iraqi women

1. Introduction

Breast cancer (BC) is one of the most common cancers that cause death in women, and its prevalence is increasing in Asia. Invasive BCs are a diverse group of tumours that vary in clinical presentation, behavior, and morphology (1, 2). In Iraq, from 2000 to 2019, BC accounted for roughly one-third of all cancer cases recorded in the country (3).

In the progression of breast cancer, multiple genetic events can activate dominant-acting oncogenes and disrupt the function of specific tumour suppressor genes (4). In addition, the KRAS gene is a proto-oncogene located on chromosome 12p12.1 that codes for a protein termed small GTPase transductor (5, 6). KRAS protein plays an important role in the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) signalling pathway, and oncogenic mutations in protein can drive downstream activation of this pathway. KRAS 3'-untranslated regions (UTR) of humans contain several putative tumour suppressor lethal-7 (let-7) complementary sites (LCS) (7). KRAS gene is controlled at the post-transcriptional level by a highly complicated interplay of cis-acting elements inside its 3' UTR due to its infrequently long 3' UTR length (8). Therefore, genetic variants of KRAS 3'-UTR may prevent let-7 miRNA from binding to KRAS and control the activity of KRAS to regulate the expression of its protein. A number of studies have found that the SNPs in the KRAS 3'-UTR might cause high levels of the KRAS oncogenic protein and lower levels of the let-7 miRNA (7, 9,10).

Moreover, MicroRNAs (MiRNAs) are small non-coding RNAs that regulate gene expression at the post-transcriptional

level by binding to complementary sites in the 3' UTR of target messenger RNAs (mRNAs) (11,12). This case-control study aims to determine the role of *KRAS* gene expression and its association with the incidence of breast tumours.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Subjects

A total of 120 women participated in this study. Sixty women (who attended the Oncology Teaching Hospital in Baghdad) were diagnosed with breast tumours (both malignant and benign), with 60 appearing to be healthy controls. Details of clinical data and demographic characteristics for patients were collected from medical reports. The women with breast tumours were early-diagnosed cases before surgery or treatment.

2.2. RNA Isolation

RNA was extracted from whole blood samples using the Trizol TM Reagent (Promega, USA) in accordance with the manufacturer's protocol. The RNA concentration was determined using a Quantus fluorometer (Promega, USA). Aliquots of 199 μ l of diluted QuantiFluor Dye were mixed with 1 μ l of RNA after 5 minutes of incubation at room temperature, RNA concentration was measured and stored in an -80 °C deep freeze until use.

2.3. Real-time PCR and cDNA synthesis

RNA was reversed to cDNA using one-step *RT-qPCR* (Promega, USA). The expression level of *KRAS* and *GAPDH* as reference genes was also detected by using the *RT-qPCR* SYBR Green assay. Primer sequences for KRAS gene Forward

(5'- TGAGGACTGGGGGGGGGGGCTTT 3') Reverse (5'-AGGCATCATCAACACCCTGTCT 3') (13) and for GAPDH Forward (5'- AGAAGGCTG GGGCTCATT TG 3') Reverse (5'- AGG GGCCAT CCACAG TCTTC 3'). The mRNA expression level was normalized by using Glyceraldehyde 3phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) as a housekeeping gene (HKG). RT-qPCR was performed using a total of 10 µl PCR reaction mixture that contains 1 µl of RNA, 0.25 µl of reverse transcriptase, 0.5 µl of primers for both forward and reverse primers, 0.25 µl of MgCl2, 2.5 µl of nuclease-free water, and 5 µl of GoTaq 1-Step RT-qPCR Master Mix (Promega, USA). RT-qPCR program was carried out under thermal-cycling conditions involving reverse transcriptase enzyme activation step at 37 °C for 15 min (one cycle), initial denaturation step at 95 °C for 10 min, followed by 40 cycles for 95 °C for 15s as denaturation, annealing step at 57 °C for 20 s, extension step at 72 °C for 7 min.

The *KRAS* gene expression was determined by the ΔCt method, the 2^{$-\Delta\Delta Ct$} equation (14), and the relative quantitative method using the comparative Ct formula:

Folding = $2^{-\Delta\Delta CT}$ where: $\Delta CT = CT$ (target gene) – CT (reference gene). $\Delta\Delta CT = \Delta CT$ (Patients) – ΔCT (Control).

2.4. Statistical analysis

Data were represented as mean \pm S.D. SPSS software (Armonk, NY: IBM Corp) was used for the statistical analysis. The least significant difference –the LSD test (ANOVA) was used to compare between means. The value of *P*<0.05 was considered to be statistically significant.

3. Results

The age of benign breast tumour cases varies from 17-53 years old, with a mean age and median of 32 ± 2.3 and 34, respectively. Results showed that fibroadenoma was the most prevalent type of benign breast tumour, representing 53.3% of the total samples of benign breast tumours; fibrocystic changes were 26.6%, breast cyst was 11%, and intra-ductal papilloma was 9% as shown in Fig. 1.



Fig. 1. Frequencies of histopathological for breast benign tumors in Iraqi women

While the age of Iraqi women with malignant breast tumours varied from 35-70 years old, with a mean age of 51 ± 1.2 years and a median of 52. There are three Histopathological types characterized in this study. The first was invasive ductal carcinoma (IDC), invasive lobular carcinoma (ILC), and ductal carcinoma in situ (DCIS), with frequencies of 78%, 15%, and 7%, respectively, as shown in Fig. 2.



Fig. 2. Frequencies of histopathological for malignant breast tumours in Iraqi women.

QRT-PCR was used to determine the level of *KRAS* mRNA in the blood sample of case-control subjects (women with malignant breast tumours, women with benign breast tumours and healthy control women).

Results showed that the fluorescence measured during each PCR cycle was proportional to the number of PCR products. The actual Ct value was inversely proportional to the total RNA concentration in blood samples.

The melting curve revealed the specificity of the primers designed for *KRAS* and *GAPDH* indicated by a specific single peak in the melting curve graph. No primer dimer was seen in PCR amplification (Fig. 3 and 4).



Fig. 3. Melting curve analysis of the real-time polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) for *KRAS* expression. A: Ct values the photograph was taken directly from Mic-qPCR. B: The dissociation stage was performed.



Fig. 4. Melting curve analysis of the real-time polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) for glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase (*GAPDH*). A: Ct values ranged from 17 to 24. B: The dissociation stage was performed

The *KRAS* gene expression in women with breast tumours (benign and malignant) was non-significantly different from that seen in apparently normal healthy women (Fig. 5)



Fig. 5. Expression of *KRAS* mRNA in women with breast tumors (malignant and benign) compared to apparently healthy women

4. Discussion

In humans, *KRAS* proto-oncogene contains six exons, and it encodes guanosine triphosphatase (GTPase) KRAS isoform, a single amino acid substitution in *KRAS* is responsible for an activating mutation. In addition, the *KRAS* gene is known to be associated with human malignancies (15). SNPs in 3'-UTRs alter microRNA target recognition by disrupting sequence complementarity; some polymorphisms interfere with miRNA function and affect the expression of miRNA targets (16). According to the results of chin et al. (17), the prognostic role of LCS6 variants in KRAS 3'-UTR causes an increase in the expression of KRAS. In addition, (18) stated that LCS6 variants of the KRAS gene were statistically non-significant in women with breast tumours compared with healthy control. Therefore, there are no comparatively different levels of KRAS mRNA, which may also be due to the human mRNA being mostly targeted by several miRNAs at different target sites, which may enable recompensing of the loss of a single binding site (19).

Furthermore, miRNAs have been involved in regulating various cellular processes, including tumour development and progression, indicating that they can act as either oncogenes or tumour suppressors. The irregular expression of miRNAs plays a significant role in the progression of cancer; therefore, reducing the expression of these miRNAs may cause negative regulation of KRAS. In addition, the molecular mechanism of miRNA mediated in the control of KRAS would be useful for developing therapy (20, 21). Several miRNAs were acting as indirect targets to inhibit or increase KRAS-driven tumorigenesis; for instance: in NSCLC, miR-21 promotes KRAS-driven tumorigenesis by affecting negative regulators of the Ras/MAPK pathway (22). While miR-96, miR-30c and miR-181a, miR-143, and miR-145 have been shown to control KRAS in several cancers (23, 24). Also, another study found that miR-16 inhibits the expression and tumorigenesis of KRAS, which directly targets the 3'-UTR of KRAS mRNA (25). This paper shown that fibroadenoma occurs at an early age; however, invasive ductal carcinoma is the most prevalent type of malignant breast tumour. The results of this study indicate that the expression of the KRAS gene, which is conducted by RT-qPCR, has no correlation with breast tumours compared to healthy women, so the KRAS gene has not been represented as a risk factor in breast tumours.

Ethical statement

The study was ethically approved by the Iraqi Ministry of Health (decree order 18815 on 23/5/2018) and the scientific committee of Al-Nahrain University's College of Biotechnology.

Conflict of interest

The authors have no conflict of interest

Funding

None.

Acknowledgments

We would like to express our gratitude to the medical staff of an oncology teaching hospital for their assistance with sample collection.

Authors' contributions

Concept: A.H.R., J.M.H., Design: A.H.R., J.M.H., Data Collection or Processing: A.H.R., J.M.H., Analysis or Interpretation: A.H.R., J.M.H., Literature Search: A.H.R., J.M.H., Writing: A.H.R., J.M.H.

References

1. Lukasiewicz, S., Czeczelewski , M., Forma, A., Baj, J., Sitarz, R. and Stanisławek, A. Breast Cancer—Epidemiology, Risk Factors, Classification, Prognostic Markers, and Current Treatment Strategies-An Updated Review . Cancers 2021 (13): 4287.

- Sung, H., Ferlay, J., Siegel, R. L.; Laversanne, M.; Soerjomataram, I., Jemal, A., Bray, F., "Global Cancer Statistics 2020: GLOBOCAN Estimates of Incidence and Mortality Worldwide for 36 Cancers in 185 Countries". CA Cancer J Clin 2021;71:209–249.
- **3.** Iraqi Cancer Board, "Results of the Iraqi Cancer Registry 2019". Baghdad, Iraqi Cancer Registry Center, Ministry of Health. 2019.
- 4. kontomanolis, E., koutras, A., syllaios, A., schizas, D., mastoraki, A., garmpis, N., diakosavvas, D., angelou, K., tsatsaris, G., pagkalos, A., ntounis, T., and fasoulakis. Z., "Role of Oncogenes and Tumor-suppressor Genes in Carcinogenesis: A Review". Anticancer research 40 2020: 6009-6015.
- Dobre, M.; Dinu, D.; Panaitescu, E.; Bîrlă, R.; Iosif, C. et al., "KRAS Gene Mutations-Prognostic Factor in Colorectal Cancer. Rom". J. Morphol. Embryol 2015. 56(2):671–78.
- Galiè, M. "RAS as Supporting Actor in Breast Cancer". Front. Oncol. 2019. 9:1199
- 7. Smits, K., Paranjape T., Nallur S., Wouters, K., Weijenberg, M., Schouten, L., Brandt, P., Bosman, F. T., Weidhaas, J. B., and Engeland, M. "A let-7 microRNA SNP in the KRAS 3'UTR is prognostic in early-stage colorectal Cancer". Clin. Cancer Res 2011.; 17 (24):7723±7731.
- Kim, M., Kogan, N. and Slack, F. "Cis-acting elements in its 3' UTR mediate post-transcriptional regulation of KRAS". Oncotarget 2016. 7(11).
- 9. Karnoub, A., Weinberg, R. "Ras oncogenes: split personalities". Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2008; 9(7):517± 531.
- 10. Yang, M.; Xiao, X.; Xing, X.; Li, X.; Xia, T. et al. "KRAS and VEGF Gene 3'-UTR Single Nucleotide Polymorphisms Predicted Susceptibility in Colorectal Cancer". PLOS ONE. .2017.12(3):e0174140
- 11. Bruno, A.; Li, L.; Kalabus, J.; Pan, Y.; Yu, A. and Hu, Z. "miRdSNP: A Database of Disease-Associated SNPs and microRNA Target Sites on 3'- UTRs of Human Genes". BMC Genomics .2012. 13(44):1–7
- Yang, Z. and Liu, Z. "The Emerging Role of MicroRNAs in Breast Cancer". J. of Oncology 2020. 1-7.
- Grechukhina, O.; Petracco, R.; Popkhadze, S.; Massasa, E.; Paranjape, T. et al. "A Polymorphism in a Let-7 microRNA Binding

Site of KRAS in Women with Endometriosis". EMBO Molecular Medicine 2012. 4(3):206–17.

- 14. Stephenson, F. "Calculations for Molecular Biology and Biotechnology A guide to Mathematics in Laboratory". 2nd edition. Elsevier Inc.2010
- Hwang, K., Kim , B., Oh, S., Park , S., Jung, J., Kim, J., Choi, I., Jeon, S., Kim, W. "Prognostic Role of *KRAS* mRNA Expression in Breast Cancer". J Breast Cancer. .2019: 22(4):548-561
- 16. Deng, N., Zhou, H., Fan, H., and Yuan, Y. Single nucleotide polymorphisms and cancer susceptibility. Oncotarget 2017, 8:110635-110649
- 17. Chin, L.; Ratner, E.; Leng, S.; Zhai, R.; Nallur, S. et al. "A SNP in a Let-7 microrna Complimentary Site in the KRAS 3'UTR Increases Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer Risk". Cancer Res. 2008, 68(20):8535–40.
- 18. Al-Haddad, R., Jasim, H., Saleh, W. "Lack of Association between LCS6 Variant in KRAS Gene with the Occurrence of Breast Tumors in Iraqi Women". Baghdad Sci J. 2020.17(2):426-430.
- Baek, D.; Villen, J.; Shin, C.; Camargo, F.D.; Gygi, S.P. et al. "The impact of micrornas on protein output". Nature2008.455: 64–71.
- 20. Kim, M. and Slack, F.J. "Microrna-Mediated Regulation of KRAS in Cancer". Journal of Hematology & Oncology 2014.7(84):1–4.
- **21.** Zhou, C.; Lu, Y. and Li, X. "miR-339-3p inhibits proliferation and metastasis of colorectal cancer". Oncol Lett. 2015.10(5):2842.
- 22. Hatley, M.E.; Patrick, D.M.; Garcia, M.R.; Richardson, J.A., Bassel-Duby, R., van Rooij, E. et al., "Modulation of K-Ras-dependent lung tumorigenesis by MicroRNA-21". Cancer Cell. .2010 .18: 282–293.
- **23.** Shin, K.; Bae, S.; Hong, H., Kim, R.; Kang, M. et al., "Mir-181a Shows Tumor Suppressive Effect against Oral Squamous Cell Carcinoma Cells by Downregulating K-Ras". Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications. 2011. 404(4):896–902.
- 24. Tanic, M.; Yanowsky, K.; Rodriguez-Antona, C.; Andrés, R.; Márquez- Rodas, I. et al., "Deregulated mirnas in Hereditary Breast Cancer Revealed a Role for mir-30c in Regulating KRAS Oncogene". Plos one . 2012. 7(6):e38847
- 25. You, C.; Liang, H.; Sun, W.; Li, J.; Liu, Y. et al. "Deregulation of the miR-16-KRAS axis promotes colorectal cancer". Sci Rep.2016, 6: 37459.



Journal of Experimental and Clinical Medicine https://dergipark.org.tr/omujecm





J Exp Clin Med 2023; 40(1): 27-30 doi: 10.52142/omujecm.40.1.6

HOMA-IR level in obese type 2 diabetic rat model treated by Sleeve gastrectomy and pancreatic omentoplasty

Abdul MUGHNI[®], Vito Mahendra EKASAPUTRA^{*®}, Reza Tri SUTRISNO[®], Anggoro Teguh PRASETYA[®], Indra PUTRANTO[®], Dimas ERLANGGA[®]

Department of Surgery, Faculty of Medicine, Diponegoro University Doctor Kariadi General Hospital, Semarang, Indenosia

Received: 04.09.2022	•	Accepted/Published Online: 26.11.2022	•	Final Version: 18.03.2023
		1		

Abstract

Obesity is a health problem that occurs due to the wrong lifestyle, such as lack of physical activity and the wrong diet. Accumulation of adipose tissue in obesity may increases pro-inflammatory cytokines, particularly in pancreatic beta cells leading to type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM). Sleeve gastrectomy (SG) is an alternative therapy for T2DM in obese patients by losing about 40-60% of body weight and increasing GLP-1 secretion which stimulates increased insulin secretion. However, the SG procedure cannot reduce pro-inflammatory cytokines which promote damaged pancreatic cells. Pancreatic omentoplasty can suppress pro-inflammatory cytokines and promote the regeneration of damaged pancreatic cells. The goal of this study is to investigate HOMA-IR in obese rats with diabetes mellitus who underwent SG and pancreatic omentoplasty procedures. An experimental using pre and post-test control group design were done in this study. Eighteen Diabetes Mellitus rats were divided into 3 groups: K1 (SG), K2 (SG + Omentoplasty), and K3 (control). Blood glucose and insulin level were measured using a glucoDR Glucometer Bio-sensor kit and ELISA, respectively before and 10 days after the procedure. HOMA-IR measurement was calculated based on insulin and blood glucose level. A significant decrease of fasting blood gluocese levels were shown in all treatment groups of this study after day 10th. There was a significant increase in the insulin levels after day 10th. Highest decrease of the blood glucose levels and increase of the insulin levels were shown in group K2. Furthermore, a significant decrease of HOMA-IR was shown in the K2 on day 10th. From this study, we may conclude that SG and Pancreas Omentoplasty may significantly reduce the HOMA-IR value in obese rats with T2DM.

Keywords: obesity, diabetes mellitus, gastrectomy, omentum, insulin resistance

1. Introduction

In both developing and developed countries, obesity-related problems are still a challenge for public health. Obesity can occur due to unhealthy lifestyle factors such as lack of physical activity, unbalanced diet, and hereditary factors may be responsible in obesity (1). The accumulation of adipose tissue can increase the secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines that cause impaired secretion of hormones such as insulin, resulting in insulin resistance. To reduce the risk of diabetes mellitus type 2 (T2DM), a weight loss program can be carried out, this program can also be carried out to improve insulin resistance. However, carrying out this program requires a long time and if patients do not have compliance to run this program, the results obtained will not be optimal (2).

Bariatric surgery such as sleeve gastrectomy (SG) could be an alternative therapy for T2DM in obese patients. This procedure results in weight loss of about 40-60% in almost 75% of patients and complete remission. However, this bariatric procedure is not accompanied by a decrease in proinflammatory cytokines so additional procedures are needed to reduce pro-inflammatory cytokines (3). Omentum is adipose tissue that can act as a defense agent to suppress inflammation and increase cell regeneration (4). This tissue can be used as an adjuvant in bariatric procedures to obtain optimal results. The omentum has a role in regulating T cells or Visceral Adipose Tissue (VAT), thereby increasing the expression of chemokine receptors, such as CCR1 and CCR2, and anti-inflammatory cytokine, including IL-10 leading to local immune responses regulation (5).

Measurement of insulin resistance plays an important role in the development of basic science and clinical practice. The gold standard for measuring insulin resistance is the euglycemic hyperinsulinemia clamp, however, it has a complicated procedure that makes it difficult to apply to largescale tests. Another indicator for determining insulin resistance is the homeostasis model assessment-insulin resistance (HOMA-IR).

This study performed an animal model in obese rats with T2DM that underwent SG and omentoplasty procedures as surgical therapy for diabetes mellitus in obese patients to improve insulin resistance.
2. Materials And Methods

2.1. Animals

Eighteen male Sprague-Dawley rats aged 6-8 weeks with a body weight of 170-200 grams, (6) were adapted for 1 week using a standard diet at the Integrated Research and Testing Laboratory (LPPT), Gadjah Mada University, Yogyakarta.

2.2. Animal adaptation

The rats were treated and kept clean from pathogens every day and the substrate for the rats, namely sawdust, was replaced twice a week. Rats were kept at $24\pm4^{\circ}$ C room temperature, 50% relative humidity, and 12:12-hour light-dark cycle according to laboratory standards for animal models (Fig. 1). Nutritional content was adjusted using Teklad Global 14% Protein Rodent Maintenance Diet 2014S feed from HarlanTM Laboratories (2014). Drinking was given ad libitum. The time for adaptation was carried out for 7 days, then fattening with High-fat feed was carried out for 4 weeks and weighed and then assessed by the Lee Index. Rats were obese if the Lee index was more than 300.



Fig. 1. Mouse adaptation

2.3. Diabetes induction

Nicotinamide (NA) at a dose of 230 mg/kg was injected intraperitoneally. A single dose of 65 mg/kg of Streptozotocin (STZ) was administered intraperitoneally 15 minutes after the NA injection. Diabetes mellitus status was measured using the glucoDR Glucometer Bio-sensor kit. Measurements were made by fasting for 4-6 hours. Rats were declared diabetic if their fasting blood glucose was more than 126 mg/dL (7).

2.4. Experimental design

After confirming the status of diabetes and obesity, the mice were randomly divided into 3 groups. Rats underwent Gastrectomy (K1), Gastrectomy, Pancreatic Omentoplasty (K2), and control (K3) procedures. Body weight, fasting blood glucose, and fasting insulin was measured a day before surgery and 10 days after the procedure.

2.5. Sleeve gastrectomy procedure

Before surgery, mice were fasted for about 10 hours. Injection of ketamine 20 mg/kg BW was done intramuscularly. The fur on the abdomen was washed using a hair clipper until the skin of the rat is visible. Asepsis and antisepsis were performed in the operating area. A left subcostal transverse incision was made starting from the xiphoid process to the lateral abdomen. The incision was deepened from the cutis, subcutis, and muscle to the peritoneum and intraperitoneal cavity. Gastric identification was performed (Fig. 2), followed by partial gastrectomy along the major curvature with clamps first to minimize bleeding. Gastric suturing was performed with polyglycolic acid 5.0 (Fig. 3)



Fig. 2. Gastric identification



Fig 3A. Gastric clamping



Fig 3B. Gastric cutting



Fig 3C. Gastric suturing

2.6. Pancreatic omentoplasty procedure The free omentum was sutured 1 piece of a suture in the body of the pancreas so that the omentum was attached to the pancreas with PGA 5 sutures (Fig 4). Bleeding was controlled with pressure gauze or sutures. The surgical wound was sutured with PGA 5.0 thread. The wound was cleaned with 0.9% NaCl and smeared with Povidone Iodine (Fig 5).



Fig. 4. Omentoplasty



Fig. 5. Abdominal closure

2.7. HOMA-IR measurement

Insulin level were measured from blood serum samples collected at day 10 using ELISA kit. The HOMA-IR value was obtained from the analysis of insulin and blood glucose levels. HOMA-IR measured by using formula={fasting glucose (mmol/L) x fasting insulin (μ U/L)}/22.5.

2.8. Statistical analysis

Body weight, fasting glucose levels, and fasting insulin were shown in the form of mean±SD. Shapiro-Wilk was used for the normality test. The HOMA-IR value was hypothesized using repeated ANOVA. Difference between groups were analyzed using Bonferonni post-hoc test. A P<0.05 was considered statistically significant.

3. Result

3.1. Animal experimental models

Eighteen diabetic and obesity rats were successfully made after induced with NA and divided into three groups evenly. After surgical treatment, body weight in treatment groups was decreased on day 10. The K2 group has an optimum decreased body weight level (Table 1). The K2 groups showed earlier effect after treatment than another group.

Table 1. Description of weight data (grams)

Crown	N	Mear	n±SD
Group	IN	Pre	Post
K1	6	248.50±1.67	205.83±1.90
K2	6	250.83±2.02	194.50±1.96
K3	6	244.65±2.82	239.17±2.93

3.2. Fasting blood glucose

Fasting blood glucose were measured using ELISA to

investigate the suppressing capacity of SG and omentoplasty after 10 days treatment. All intervention groups showed a significant reduction in blood glucose levels compared to the control group (p<0.05; Table 2). The K2 group showed the highest reduction in fasting blood glucose levels.

Fable 2. Descri	ntion of fasting	blood glucose	data (mg/dL)
	phon of fashing	blobu gluebse	uata (mg/uL)

Cuan	Ν	Mean±SD	-	
Group		Pre	Post	р
K1	6	265.34±2.37	188.50±2.28	0.000*
K2	6	260.94±0.72	145.29 ± 1.44	
K3	6	265.48±0.82	268.98 ± 0.86	

* p: repeated ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's post hoc test

3.3. Fasting insulin

To investigate the capacity of SG and omentoplasty in enhancing fasting insulin, the level of insulin in serum was analyzed using ELISA in day 10^{th} . All intervention groups showed a significant increase in insulin levels (p<0.05; Table 3). The K2 group showed the optimum increase in insulin levels.

Fable 3. Descrip	ption of fasting	insulin data (μU/L)

Crown	N	Mean±SD		
Group		Pre	Post	P .
K1	6	421.09±2.37	458.28±3.20	0.000*
K2	6	412.79±0.79	467.57±2.53	
K3	6	408.77±1.26	405.15±0.89	
* p: repeated A	NOVA	A followed by Bonferro	ni's post hoc test	

3.4. HOMA-IR value

HOMA-IR value were measured in SG and omentoplasty group. A significant decrease in all treatment groups were shown in this study (p<0.05; Table 4). While the K2 group showed the maximum reduction in the level of HOMA-IR.

Table 4.	. Description	of HOMA-IR	value data
----------	---------------	------------	------------

Crown	N	Mean±SD		
Group	IN	Pre	Post	P
K1	6	5.86±0.06	4.54 ± 0.05	0.000*
K2	6	5.66±0.01	3.57 ± 0.02	
K3	6	5.86±0.06	5.73 ± 0.02	
* p: repeated AN	NOVA	followed by Bonferron	ni's post hoc test	

4. Discussion

STZ induction can lead to pancreatic beta cell damage by mimicking a glucose analog and entering pancreatic cells via the subtype 2 glucose transporter (GLUT-2) which induces toxicity by producing DNA alkylation. Nicotinamide (NA) was given to prevent damage and reduce the destruction of pancreatic beta cells. Administration of a high-fat diet and induction of STZ-NA in a mouse model of T2DM could form obesity and insulin resistance (8, 9).

Based on this study, there was a decrease in blood glucose levels in the K1 and K2 groups. The sleeve gastrectomy procedure affects hormone metabolism in the body, one of which is Glucagon Peptide-1 GLP-1. GLP-1 is a peptide hormone secreted by the intestine, ileum, colon, and certain neurons in the CNS nucleus via enteroendocrine L cells. This hormone could play a role in the metabolism of vital hormones in the body and affect appetite through anorexigenic processes, delaying gastric emptying, and reducing food intake. GLP-1 could decrease blood sugar levels and improve glucose tolerance by increasing insulin secretion by inhibiting pancreatic cells and stimulating pancreatic cells, thereby causing a decrease in postprandial hyperglycemic status and insulin resistance. Increased glucose metabolism by SG was associated with increased GLP-1 secretion (10).

This study also showed that sleeve gastrectomy and pancreatic omentoplasty performed an optimum decrease in blood sugar levels, increasing insulin secretion, and reducing insulin resistance as assessed by the HOMA-IR. The K2 has optimum HOMA-IR decrease. This result showed that pancreatic omentoplasty can provide an optimal role in improving insulin resistance conditions. The function of the omentum itself is as a growth factor, neurotrophic and hemostatic factor, and an inflammatory mediator. Pluripotent stem cells are found in the omentum which can differentiate into various types of cells. Recent studies have shown that in the omentum there are multipotent-mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) and myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs) which act as anti-inflammatory agents and immunomodulators. In addition, omentum could improve the wound healing process through the process of tissue regeneration. Several authors have described that MSCs in the omentum also differentiate into endodermal and ectodermal cells which include pancreatic islets (4).

There are several limitations to this study. In this study, inflammatory cytokines such as IL-6, IL-10, and TNF α were not analyzed to investigate the exact mechanism of insulin resistance improvement. Relevant serum hormone levels like GLP-1 were also not performed in this study, which may give a better understanding of insulin resistance enhancement. More futur studies may be needed to assess the combination of its surgical procedure to continue to the clinical study.

SG and Pancreatic Omentoplasty could reduce insulin resistance in obese T2DM rats. SG and Pancreatic Omentoplasty could reduce blood glucose levels, increases insulin secretion, and reduce insulin resistance as seen from the HOMA-IR value.

Ethical statement

All laboratory and animal procedure were done under the standard guideline for animal experimental studies. This study was approved by the Ethics Committee of Health Studies, Faculty of Medicine, Universitas Diponegoro (Ethical clearence number: 51/EC/H/FK-UNDIP/V/2021).

Conflict of interest

The authors declare no competing interest in this study.

Funding

No external and public funding were used in this study.

Acknowledgments

The authors wish to thank the Director of Kariadi Hospital Semarang and Head of Digestive Surgery Department – Medical Faculty of Diponegoro University Semarang.

Authors' contributions

Concept: A.M., V.M.E., Data Collection or Processing: R.T.S, A.T.P, Analysis or Interpretation: I.P., D.E., Literature Search: A.M., V.M.E., I.P., Writing: A.M., V.M.E.

References

- **1.** Masrul M. The obesity epidemic and its impact on public health status and the nation's socioeconomic status. Andalas Med Mag. 2018;41(3):152.
- McArdle MA, Finucane OM, Connaughton RM, McMorrow AM, Roche HM. Mechanisms of obesity-induced inflammation and insulin resistance: Insights into the emerging role of nutritional strategies. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne). 2013;4(MAY):1–23.
- **3.** Biobaku F, Ghanim H, Monte S V., Caruana JA, Dandona P. Bariatric surgery: Remission of inflammation, cardiometabolic benefits, and common adverse effects. J Endocr Soc. 2020;4(9):1–17.
- **4.** Di Nicola V. Omentum a powerful biological source in regenerative surgery. Regen Ther. 2019;11:182–91.
- **5.** Meza-Perez S, Randall TD. Immunological Functions of the Omentum. Trends Immunol. 2017;38(7):526–36.
- **6.** PJ A, K S, Ignacimuthu S, N AA-D. High Fat Diet-Fed, Streptozotocin-Induced Diabetic Rat Model: Is It an Ideal Type 2 Diabetic Model? J Endocrinol Diabetes Res. 2017;3(1).
- Sithole HL. A review of the use of Streptozotocin (STZ) in the induction of diabetes in rats and subsequent ocular tissue changes. 2009;68(2):82–8.
- **8.** Ghasemi A, Khalifi S, Jedi S. Streptozotocin-nicotinamide-induced rat model of type 2 diabetes (review). Acta Physiol Hung. 2014;101(4):408–20.
- 9. Vieira R, Souto SB, Sánchez-López E, Machado AL, Severino P, Jose S, et al. Sugar-lowering drugs for type 2 diabetes mellitus and metabolic syndrome—strategies for in vivo administration: Part-II. J Clin Med. 2019;8(9):1–20.
- Drucker DJ. The Cardiovascular Biology of Glucagon-like Peptide-1. Cell Metab. 2016;24(1):15–30.





Research Article

J Exp Clin Med 2023; 40(1): 31-3 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.40.1.7

The effect of chamomile on nausea and vomiting after laparoscopic cholecystectomy: A triple-blind randomized clinical trial

Soheila BAKHTIARI¹[®], Gholamreza KHALILI²[®], Razieh Salimi ZADAK^{3*}[®]

¹Department of Operating Room, School of Nursing and Midwifery, Isfahan University of Medical Science, Isfahan, Iran

²Department of Anesthesia, Isfahan University of Medical Science, Isfahan, Iran

³Student Research Committee, Faculty of Nursing and Midwifery, Isfahan University of Medical Science, Isfahan, Iran

Received: 06.09.2022	•	Accepted/Published Online: 17.02.2023	•	Final Version: 18.03.2023
----------------------	---	---------------------------------------	---	---------------------------

Abstract

The present study aimed to evaluate the effect of Chamomilla Recutita on nausea and vomiting after laparoscopic cholecystectomy. Chamomilla Recutita (L.) fell into either chamomile or placebo groups randomly. The intervention was performed one hour before the operation. The severity of nausea and the frequency of vomiting was measured using a visual analog scale. Both groups were studied in three stages before the operation, after the operation in recovery, and 2 hours after the operation. Data were analyzed using descriptive and analytical statistics (SPSS). The mean severity of nausea increased significantly over time in both groups; however, this increase was significantly slighter in the chamomile group than that in the placebo group. The frequency of preoperative nausea in the chamomile and placebo groups was 6.2% and 25%, respectively, before being discharged from the recovery. Two hours later, in the surgical ward, this frequency was estimated to be 31.2% in the chamomile group and 75% in the placebo group (P <0.05). The frequency of vomiting in the surgical ward was 15.6% and 56.2% in the chamomile and placebo groups, respectively. Thus, this frequency in the chamomile group was significantly lower than in the placebo group (P<0.001). It seems that in laparoscopic surgeries, the use of chamomile drops as a preventive drug reduces postoperative nausea and vomiting.

Keywords: Chamomilla Recutita, nausea, vomiting, laparoscopy, cholecystectomy

1. Introduction

Postoperative nausea and vomiting (PONV) is a common complication found in 20 -30% of cases (1, 2), and its prevalence in laparoscopic surgery (up to 80%) is caused by carbon dioxide gas used for pneumoperitoneum (1, 3, 4). Therefore, laparoscopic surgery is the only risk factor for PONV (5). One of these surgeries is laparoscopic cholecystectomy which is a standard surgical procedure for patients with symptomatic gallstones(6). The treatment of complications following laparoscopic cholecystectomy is complex and significantly affects the patient's quality of life (7). Inadequately controlled pain can cause PONV as well (4). Nausea and vomiting can cause spasms, pulmonary aspiration, electrolyte imbalance, bleeding, and abdominal pain. If continued, it reduces blood pressure, increases intracranial pressure (ICP) and intraocular pressure (IOP), and delays discharge from the recovery ward. Furthermore, it burdens costs, so it is necessary to eliminate it (1, 3-5, 8, 9).

Several drugs (such as Metoclopramide and Ondansetron) commonly used to treat PONV can lead to headaches, gastrointestinal disorders, hypotension, and extrapyramidal complications (2, 10). These complications may continue even with the widespread use of chemical drugs such as serotonin and neurokinin receptor antagonists.

To date, no single strategy has conclusively demonstrated to prevent PONV (4, 11). For this reason, further studies for novel treatments are required due to the ineffectiveness of chemical drugs and their side effects, the public's tendency to use herbal medicines, the variety of herbal medicines in Iran, and their minor side effects (8, 12, 13).

The global trend towards complementary medicine entices researchers to study the sources of traditional medicine (13). The World Health Organization has considered developing traditional medicine to fulfill the slogan of "Health for All" (14).

One of the most prominent medicinal plants is Chamomilla Recutita, which stands out in traditional Iranian medicine and is used to treat disorders related to the nervous, gastrointestinal, and respiratory systems (15). Chamomile, an antiinflammatory, anti-spasm, anti-flatulence drug, is used to treat stomach ulcers, eliminate digestive disorders, and relieve pain and fever (16-21).

Chamomile has minor side effects and occasionally leads to minor allergic reactions (12, 17). There is no adequate information on the toxicity of chamomile Recutita (species: M. *chamomilla*) (17).

Sanaati et al. (2016) performed studies on the effect of chamomile and ginger on nausea and vomiting in patients undergoing chemotherapy and showed that both plants affected patients' vomiting but had no effect on nausea (19). Conversely, Borhan et al.'s study (2017) on patients undergoing chemotherapy showed that the consumption of chamomile extract reduces nausea caused by chemotherapy; but does not mitigate vomiting (21). Pakniat et al.'s (2018) study on the effect of chamomile, ginger, and vitamin B6 on the treatment of nausea and vomiting during pregnancy showed that the use of all three drugs effectively reduces nausea and vomiting during pregnancy (22). A study performed by Zargaran et al. (2018) on patients with migraines showed that pain, nausea, and vomiting were significantly reduced by topical application of chamomile Oleogel (23). Johnson et al. (1988) investigated the effect of chamomile oil extract in the treatment of migraines. Patients receiving placebo had severe headaches, nausea, and vomiting (24). The study of Putri et al. (2019) on 30 patients with cervical cancer undergoing chemotherapy showed that chamomile aromatherapy effectively reduces nausea after chemotherapy (25).

Since the technician plays a vital role in providing patient care during, before, and after surgery (26), it is essential to eliminate postoperative complications and ensure patients' convenience. As nausea and vomiting are the most common complications after the surgery and general anesthesias and drugs used to prevent these complications can cause side effects, the present study aimed to determine the effect of chamomile on nausea and vomiting after laparoscopic cholecystectomy surgery. The hypothesis of the study focuses on the mean score of severity of nausea, frequency of vomiting, and nausea in the control group and the intervention group when coming to the operation room, before discharge from recovery, and 2 hours later in the ward.

2. Materials and Methods

The study population comprises all patients referred to the operating room of selected training hospitals affiliated with Isfahan University of Medical Sciences for cholecystectomy in June, July, and August 2020. In the study, the following formula with 95% confidence interval and 80% test power, the number of samples for each group (n=32) was used:

$$n = \frac{(Z1 + Z2)2(2S)2}{d\ 2}$$

The patients were selected by the convenience sampling method and divided into chamomile (n=32) and placebo groups (n=32) randomly.

Inclusion criteria included being on the list of laparoscopic cholecystectomy surgery, insensitivity to herbal medicine, the age range of 18 to 65 years, BMI range of 18 to 28, consciousness or the lack of psychotic symptoms, not being pregnant, not having vestibular symptoms, gastrointestinal diseases, lack of addiction to drugs and benzodiazepines and Exclusion criteria included the inability to continue cooperation for any reason, a transformation of the anesthesia method, transfusion of blood during the operation, and receiving any anti-nausea drug as prophylaxis.

After obtaining permission from the educational supervisor and the head nurse of the operating room and explaining the study's aims to the patients, the researcher obtained their written consent. One hour before the surgery and on arrival in the operating room, the intervention group received two dosages of 20 drops each of a standardized chamomile water extract containing 17% Chamazulenein and 45% Bizabolol solution in 20 cc water (DER=80kg/0.4kg=200) with a glass of distilled water and the placebo group received only distilled water. The study population was randomly divided into control and intervention groups using a table of random numbers. All patients were unaware of the type of substance and its effects. We did not need to show both drugs (water and chamomile) to the patient at the same time to notice their color differences. Patients' demographic information and clinical and therapeutic conditions were obtained through clinical histories and interviews.

At first, the severity of nausea and vomiting was determined and measured by the VAS scale before the intervention (According to the duration of patient evaluation, the VAS scale was the best choice). This tool consists of a 10 cm line (0-10). Zero shows no nausea, and the number 10 is equal to severe nausea. The score 1 to 3 in this tool indicates the severity of mild nausea, the score 4 to 7 indicates the severity of severe nausea. The researcher instructed all patients to rate their severe nausea based on the visual scale criteria. The frequency of vomiting was recorded based on the researcher's observation and patients' self-declaration.

To prevent the psychological effect of the type of intervention on the results, patients undergoing laparoscopic cholecystectomy were asked to drink a harmless substance to ensure they were safe. However, the type of substance and its effect on the patient were not described (single-blind). The severity of nausea and vomiting was recorded in 3 stages: before the intervention, before being discharged from the recovery ward, and two hours after the surgery based on the patient's self-declaration. The researcher recorded all preoperative information. On the other hand, he provided all postoperative information (severity and frequency of nausea, frequency of vomiting) in questionnaires handed out in the recovery room and two hours after the operation (Double blind).

After the patients entered the recovery room and the surgical ward, the severity of nausea was measured using the VAS scale. According to the anesthesiologist's instructions, medication would be routinely started for them if patients gave

severe nausea with a score of 4 or higher. Data were obtained by a statistical consultant who did not know the groups. (triple blind; analytical statistics).

Mean, standard deviation, and frequency indices were used to report the descriptive statistical part of the results. The necessary statistical tests include a t-test (to compare age, BMI, and surgical indicators), analysis of variance with repeated measurement (to compare the severity of nausea), Fisher's exact test, and Chi-square (to compare the frequency of nausea and vomiting) were used.

The article was prepared based on the consort checklist.

The research flowchart is shown in Fig. 1.



Fig. 1. Consort statement

3. Results

Five of the total 69 samples in this study were excluded from the study due to the lack of full unconsciousness in the Recovery Unit. Thus, 32 cases aged 23 to 65 years in the chamomile group and 32 cases aged 19 to 65 years in the placebo group (with a BMI range of 18 to 28) were studied. The results of the independent t-test showed that the mean age and body mass index were not significantly different between the chamomile and placebo groups $(25.05 \pm 2.28 \text{ vs. } 25.55 \pm 2.22)$ (P> 0.05) (Table 1).

Moreover, there was no significant difference between both groups regarding the frequency distribution of sex (X^2 =1/04 and P> 0.05). In the chamomile group, 53.1% of patients were male, and 46.9% were female; and in the placebo group, 65.6% were male, and 34.4% were female. The results of the Mann-Whitney test showed no significant difference between both groups in terms of the level of education (P> 0.05).

Analysis of variance with repeated observations of the significant effect of time on nausea severity score (P < 0.001).

Therefore, the mean severity of nausea increased significantly over time in both groups. However, this increase in the chamomile group was significantly slighter than that in the placebo group (Table 2).

Table	1.	Mean	age,	weight,	height,	and	body	mass	index	in	the
interve	nti	on and	place	bo group	ps						

Variable	le Chamomile group			independent t- test			
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	t	df	Р
Age (year)	43.66	13.70	44.37	12.43	0.22	62	0.83
Weight (kg)	69.89	11.79	70.56	10.47	0.24	62	0.81
Height (cm)	166.37	9.42	165.81	8.27	0.25	62	0.80
Body Mass Index (BMI)	25.05	2.28	25.55	2.22	0.89	62	0.38

Table	2.	The	mean	of	nausea	severity	in	different	periods	in	the
interve	enti	on ar	nd plac	ebo	o groups						

Time	Chame grou	omile up	Place grou	ebo up	P ¹ (effect of time)	P ^{2 (} effect of group)
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD		
Before	0.66	0.15	0.66	0.14		
surgery	0.00	0.15	0.00	0.14		
Before					<0.001	<0.001
leaving	0.37	0.14	1.47	0.22	<0.001	<0.001
recovery						
At ward	1.19	0.32	5.28	0.68		

Fisher's exact test showed that the frequency of nausea before the operation and on arrival in the recovery room was not significantly different between the two groups (P> 0.05). The Chi-square test showed that the frequency of nausea before leaving the recovery room and in the ward in the chamomile group was significantly less than that in the placebo group (P <0.05) (Table 3).

Table 3. the frequency distribution of nausea in different periods in the intervention and placebo groups

Time	Cham gro	omile oup	Pla gro	Placebo Chi-squ group		Chi-square	
	No.	%	No.	%	χ^2	df	Р
Before the operation	3	9.4	4	12.5	-	-	0.50
Before leaving recovery	2	6.2	8	25	4.27	1	0.040
At ward	10	31.2	24	75	12.30	1	< 0.001

Vomiting was not observed in either group before the operation and on arrival in the recovery room. Fisher's exact test showed that the frequency of vomiting before leaving the recovery room was not significantly different between the two groups (P> 0.05). The Chi-square test showed that the frequency of vomiting in the surgical ward was 15.6% and 56.2% in the chamomile and placebo groups, respectively. These results indicate that the frequency of vomiting in the ward in the chamomile group was significantly lower than that in the placebo group (P<0.001) (Table 4).

Table 4. The frequency distribution of vomiting in different periods

 in the intervention and placebo groups

Time	Cham gro	omile	Pla gro	cebo oup	Chi-square test			
	No.	%	No.	%	χ^2	df	P	
Before the operation	0	0	0	0	-	-	1	
Before leaving recovery	0	0	2	6.2	-	-	0.25	
At ward	5	15.6	18	56.2	11.47	1	0.001	

The Chi-square test showed that the frequency of ondansetron use was 0% (in the chamomile group) and 15.6% (in the placebo group) in the recovery room, 25% in the surgical ward (in the chamomile group), and 62.5% (in the placebo group). On the other hand, the frequency of ondansetron use in the recovery room and the ward in the chamomile group was significantly less than that in the placebo group (P < 0.05). The independent t-test showed that the mean amount of Morphine administered, gas volume, and gas pressure was not significantly different between both groups. Also, the duration of operation was not significantly different between both groups. To control this confounding variable, random allocation of samples was used between the intervention and control groups. Different surgical operations in terms of operation duration were randomly assigned to each of the two intervention and control groups, and in this way, the confounding effect of the duration of the operation was removed. (p > 0.05). These results show that anesthesia and surgery were the same in both groups (Table 5). Complications such as gallbladder perforation, intra-peitoneal drain and etc. were not observed in any of both groups. Nasogastric tube was not placed in any of both groups because all patients were NPO.

 Table 5. A dose of anesthesia drugs, duration of operation, gas volume, and gas pressure in the intervention and placebo groups

Variable	Chamomile group		Placebo	group	Independent t- test		
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	t	df	Р
The dose of received fentanyl	119.37	15.76	132.81	18.54	1.03	62	0.31
The dose of received Morphine	9.50	1.83	9.84	1.55	0.81	62	0.42
Operation period (min)	82/8	0.49	81	0.45	0.25	62	0.80
Gas volume	97.59	10.75	93.83	8.70	0.27	62	0.79
Gas pressure	14.12	1.07	14.47	0.88	1.40	62	0.16

4. Discussion

The results of the present study showed that the scores of severe nausea and frequency of vomiting before the intervention in both groups were not statistically significant; however, the mean severity of nausea increased significantly over time in both groups, but the severity of increase in chamomile group was significantly lower than that in the placebo group. Furthermore, the frequency of vomiting in the surgical ward, before leaving the recovery room, and two hours after the operation were significantly lower in the chamomile group than that in the placebo group.

Factors playing a role in the development of PONV included patient-related factors (old age, female gender, history of movement disease), factors related to anesthesia and operation techniques (anesthesia drugs, general anesthesia, longer duration of operation, intra-abdominal surgery including gynecological and laparoscopic surgery), and postoperative factors (use of opioid drugs to control pain) were noted (9, 27, 28) in the present study. The study groups were homogeneous for the prevention of the effect of the above factors.

In a study on 105 pregnant women comparing the effects of ginger and chamomile on reducing nausea and vomiting during pregnancy, Modarres et al. (2011) showed that oral chamomile capsules reduce nausea and vomiting symptoms during pregnancy (12). These results are consistent with those of the present study and emphasize the effect of chamomile in reducing nausea. Although the samples differ in terms of gender in both studies, the results are consistent.

The results of Zargaran et al.'s study (2018) on 100 patients with migraines without aura support the effectiveness of chamomile Oleogel as a pain reliever and reduce nausea and vomiting in this type of migraine. The results of this study are consistent with those of the present study (23). Johnson et al. (1988) investigated the effect of chamomile oil extract in treating migraines. Based on their results, patients receiving a placebo had significantly higher frequency and severity of headache, nausea, and vomiting (24). The results of this study are consistent with those of the present study. In this study, patients were evaluated shortly after the intervention (30 minutes), which is consistent with the present study and emphasizes the immediate effect of chamomile. In addition to these studies, Pakniat et al. (2018) investigated the effect of three drugs, including chamomile, ginger, and vitamin B on the treatment of nausea and vomiting in 105 pregnant women with nausea and vomiting. The results showed that all three drugs reduce nausea and vomiting during pregnancy, although there were no significant therapeutic benefits from these three drugs (22). This study's results are consistent with those of the present study and emphasize the effect of chamomile on reducing nausea and vomiting.

In the present study, the mean score of nausea in patients in the surgical ward was 1.19 (in the chamomile group) and 5.28 (in the placebo group); the score difference of the nausea severity between both groups was 4.09. In a study on 30 patients with cervical cancer undergoing chemotherapy, Putri et al. (2019) showed that chamomile aromatherapy can reduce nausea after chemotherapy. According to this study, the mean score of nausea was 7.33 and 2.87 in the control and intervention groups, respectively. On the other hand, the score difference for nausea intensity was 4.46 in both groups (25). Although chamomile was used by inhalation in this study, overall results confirm those of the present study.

Matthews et al. (2015) conducted a review study of various interventions on nausea and vomiting in the early stages of pregnancy. In this study, 37 clinical trials were performed on 5049 women in the early stages of pregnancy. These studies concluded that ginger and vitamin B6 could reduce nausea effectively and mentioned chamomile as one of these interventions; However, due to the lack of objective evidence, they could not recommend any of these interventions (29). The results of this study are consistent with those of the present study, although the present study concluded significant results from the use of chamomile.

Sanaati et al. (2016) showed that ginger and chamomile had no effect on the severity of nausea in cancer patients undergoing chemotherapy and were effective only in the frequency of vomiting (19). These results differ from those of the present study regarding the efficiency of chamomile on the severity of nausea, which may be due to the research methods or differences in sex and type of disease. Of course, the role of gender in this study may not be considered a reason for differences in the results because, in the study of mentioned researchers (Modares et al. (2011), Matthews et al. (29) and Pakniat et al.) (22), the gender (all were female) was different from those of the present study. However, the results are consistent with those of the present study and emphasize the effect of chamomile on reducing the severity of nausea.

Conversely, in a study on 60 patients undergoing chemotherapy, Borhan et al. (2017) showed that consumption of chamomile extract reduced nausea caused by chemotherapy; but did not reduce vomiting (21). This study differs from the present study as chamomile was administered orally and once. However, the results of this study are different from those of the present study regarding the effectiveness of chamomile on the frequency of vomiting in patients. This difference results from differences in the subjects or dosage of chamomile. Another reason for the difference is that samples were evaluated two hours after the operation in the present study but 12 hours in Borhan's study.

Research limitations include:

Prolonged sampling, the reduced number of hospitalized patients due to the prevalence of coronary heart disease,

Short-term evaluation of patients only up to two hours after surgery,

Lack of cooperation of some anesthesiologists to give chamomile drops to patients before surgery,

Making a mistake in diagnosing the severity of nausea as it was self-declaration,

Due to the importance of controlling nausea and vomiting in patients following laparoscopic surgery, the present study seems to be the first study done in this field after laparoscopic surgery. It seems that chamomile drops, as a preventive drug, effectively reduce postoperative nausea and vomiting in laparoscopic surgeries. However, further studies with a longerterm evaluation to investigate the effectiveness of chamomile in reducing nausea and vomiting will be done.

Ethical statement

This triple_blind randomized clinical trial study was registered in the Iranian clinical trial database with the code IRCT20200612047737N1 and in the ethics committee of Isfahan University of Medical Sciences (IR.MUI.RESEARCH.REC.1398.745).

Conflict of interest

The authors declared no conflict of interest.

Funding

No funding was used for the study.

Acknowledgments

The study complies with the guidelines for human studies and is performed ethically based on the World Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki. Subjects have given their written informed consent. The Ethics Committee of Isfahan University of Medical Sciences approved the study (IR.MUI.RESEARCH.REC.1398.745).

This triple-blind randomized clinical trial was registered in the Iranian clinical trial database with the code IRCT20200612047737N1.

Authors' contributions

Concept: S.B., R.S.Z. Design:S.B.,R.S.Z. Data Collection or Processing: R.S.Z., S.K.,G.K. Analysis or Interpretation: R.S.Z.,S.B.,G.K. Literature Search: R.S.Z.,S.B.,G.K., Writing: R.S.Z.,S.B.,G.K.

References

- Amirshahi M, Behnamfar N, Badakhsh M, Rafiemanesh H, Keikhaie KR, Sheyback M, et al. Prevalence of postoperative nausea and vomiting: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Saudi journal of anaesthesia. 2020;14(1):48.
- Eslami J, Darvishi I, Ebrahimi A, Akbarzadeh M. Effect of acupressure in Pericardium 6 acupoint on nausea and vomiting after general surgery. Nursing and Midwifery Studies. 2019;8(3):143-8.
- **3.** Gan TJ, Belani KG, Bergese S, Chung F, Diemunsch P, Habib AS, et al. Fourth consensus guidelines for the management of postoperative nausea and vomiting. Anesthesia & Analgesia. 2019;131(2):411-48.
- 4. Lee H-M, Kil HK, Koo BN, Song MS, Park JH. Comparison of Sufentanil-and Fentanyl-based Intravenous Patient-controlled Analgesia on Postoperative Nausea and Vomiting after Laparoscopic Nephrectomy: A Prospective, Double-blind, Randomized-controlled Trial. International journal of medical sciences. 2020;17(2):207.
- **5.** Turgut HC, Arslan M. An overview of treatment options for postoperative nausea and vomiting after laparoscopic surgical procedures. Anaesthesia, Pain & Intensive Care. 2019:193-200.

- **6.** Wanjura V. Register-based studies on cholecystectomy: Quality of life after cholecystectomy, and cholecystectomy incidence and complications after gastric bypass: Örebro University; 2017.
- **7.** O'Rourke N, van Rensburg A. Post Cholecystectomy Symptoms. The Management of Gallstone Disease: Springer; 2018.
- **8.** Hines S, Steels E, Chang A, Gibbons K. Aromatherapy for treatment of postoperative nausea and vomiting. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. 2018(3).
- **9.** Shahinfar J, ZERAATI H, VAFAEI S, HASHEMI F, GHORBANZADEH M. Compare adequate intraoperative fluid therapy with Ondansetron on the incidence and severity of nausea and vomiting after general surgery. 2016.
- **10.** Hosseini FS, Adib-Hajbaghery M. Ginger essence effect on nausea and vomiting after open and laparoscopic nephrectomies. Nursing and midwifery studies. 2015;4(2).
- Ebrahimi SM, Parsa-Yekta Z, Nikbakht-Nasrabadi A, Hosseini SM, Sedighi S, Salehi-Surmaghi M-H. Ginger effects on control of chemotherapy induced nausea and vomiting. Tehran University Medical Journal. 2013;71(6).
- **12.** Modarres M, Mirmohhamad AM, Oshrieh Z, Mehran A. Comparison of the effect of mefenamic acid and matricaria camomilla capsules on primary dysmenorrhea. 2011.
- **13.** Mortajia Z, Emaratkar E, Jodeiric B, Jafarid F. Assessment of reasons and treatment of bloating from the perspective of traditional Iranian medicine. Journal of Islamic and Iranian Traditional Medicine. 2018;8(4):415-22.
- 14. Darvishpor S, Hosseini A, Davoodi A, Salehifar E, Akbari J, Azadbakht M. A review on medicinal plants used for nausea and vomiting in Persian medicine. Global Journal of Medical Research: B Pharma, Drug Discovery, Toxicology & Medicine. 2018;18(1):30-40.
- **15.** Bahrani SS, Varkaneh ZK, Sabziani Z, Bagheri Z, Mohamadi MA, Azami H. A Systematic Review of the Role of Medicinal Plants in the Treatment of Chemotherapy Induced Nausea and Vomiting. International Journal of Psychosocial Rehabilitation. 2020;24(4):7888-96.
- **16.** Rabiei Z, Rafieian M. A review on the pharmacological effects of Matricaria chamomilla. Iranian Journal of Physiology and Pharmacology. 2019;2(4):248-0.
- **17.** Chauhan ES, Jaya A. Chamomile an Ancient Aromatic Plant-A Review. Journal of Ayurveda Medical Sciences. 2017;2(4).
- **18.** Albrecht U, Müller V, Schneider B, Stange R. Efficacy and safety of a herbal medicinal product containing myrrh, chamomile and

coffee charcoal for the treatment of gastrointestinal disorders: a non-interventional study. BMJ open gastroenterology. 2014;1(1).

- 19. Sanaati F, Najafi S, Kashaninia Z, Sadeghi M. Effect of ginger and chamomile on nausea and vomiting caused by chemotherapy in Iranian women with breast cancer. Asian Pacific Journal of Cancer Prevention. 2016;17(8):4125-9.
- **20.** Sharafzadeh S, Alizadeh O. German and Roman chamomile. Journal of applied pharmaceutical science. 2011;1(10):01-5.
- **21.** Molavi Vardanjnai M, Sasani L. Effects of Matricaria Chamomilla on the Severity of Nausea and Vomiting Due to Chemotherapy. Avicenna Journal of Nursing and Midwifery Care. 2017;25(4):140-6.
- **22.** Pakniat H, Memarzadeh MR, Azh N, Mafi M, Ranjkesh F. Comparison of the effect of chamomile, Ginger and vitamin B6 on treatment of nausea and vomiting in pregnancy: a randomized clinical trial. The Iranian Journal of Obstetrics, Gynecology and Infertility. 2018;21(8):47-54.
- 23. Zargaran A, Borhani-Haghighi A, Salehi-Marzijarani M, Faridi P, Daneshamouz S, Azadi A, et al. Evaluation of the effect of topical chamomile (Matricaria chamomilla L.) oleogel as pain relief in migraine without aura: a randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled, crossover study. Neurological Sciences. 2018;39(8):1345-53.
- 24. Johnson ES, Hylands PJ, nee Jessup DMH. Oil extract of tanacetum parthenium for treating migraine. Google Patents; 1988.
- **25.** Putri IN, Amelia R, Rahayu S. The chamomile aromatherapy reduce the scale of nausea. International Journal of Public Health Science. 2019;8(3):294-9.
- **26.** Hannani S, Arbkhazaie A, Sadati L, Arbkhazaie A. Determining operating room technologists' clinical competence in educational care hospitals of Iran University of Medical Sciences in the year is 2017. Journal of Advanced Pharmacy Education & Research| Apr-Jun. 2019;9(S2):71.
- **27.** Montazeri A, Raei M, Hamidzadeh A, Hamzekhani M, Soozani A, Kalatejari M. effect of ginger on postoperative nausea and vomiting. . Knowledge and Health. 2012;7(3):118-23.
- 28. Tavasoli A, KHAJE DM, Alipour M, Bigdeli N. Comparison of ondansetron and the combination of dexametasonemetocholopromide on post operative nausea and vomiting. 2011.
- **29.** Matthews A, Haas DM, O'Mathúna DP, Dowswell T. Interventions for nausea and vomiting in early pregnancy. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. 2015(9).



Research Article



Change of complete blood count parameters according to blood type and smoking

Habibe İNCİ 💿

Department of Family Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Karabuk University, Karabuk, Türkiye

Received: 12.09.2022	٠	Accepted/Published Online: 12.10.2022	٠	Final Version: 18.03.2023	
					_

Abstract

In this study, it was aimed to investigate the change in the parameters of complete blood count depending on blood type and smoking status. The individuals were grouped according to their blood group type and status of cigarette use, and the statistical differences in their levels of Neutrophil/Lymphocyte ratio (NLR), Platelet/Lymphocyte ratio (PLR), and Mean Platelet Volume/Lymphocyte ratio (MPVLR) were evaluated.3119 individuals participated in the study. 26.67% of them were smokers. According to the ABO blood group system, 44.47% of the participants had type A, 32.48% had type O, 16.09% had type B, and 6.96% had type AB. 88.81% of the participants were Rh(+) and 11.19% of them were Rh(-). The NLR, PLR, and MPVLR of the smokers were higher than those of the non-smokers. The participants' NLR, PLR, and MPVLR levels showed statistically significant differences depending on ABO and Rh blood groups. This difference was seen to arise from ARh (+) individuals. The NLR, PLR, and MPVLR levels were the highest in ARh (+) individuals and the lowest in the ABRh (-) individuals. The NLR, PLR, and MPVLR levels were the highest in ARh (+) individuals and the lowest. It was found that there were significant differences in the participants' blood count parameters depending on blood type and smoking status. This may imply that ARh (+) individuals who smoke have higher parameters than those who have other blood groups and do not smoke, which may be beneficial in predicting the risk of chronic inflammation-related diseases.

Keywords: ABO blood group, healthy individuals, Rh factor, smoking

1. Introduction

Various blood group systems have been identified based on different blood group antigens. Clinically valid system is ABO and Rhesus (Rh). The ABO blood group system consists of four basic groups, that is, A, B, AB, and O, which change depending on the presence of A and B antigens. These antigens are controlled by three alleles (A, B, and O genes) on the long arm of chromosome 9 (1). The Rh blood group system plays an important role in blood transfusion. In Rh system, blood groups are classified as Rh(-) and Rh(+)(2). Population studies have shown that the frequencies of ABO group phenotypes vary widely between ethnicities (3). While the distribution of ABO blood groups is O> A> B> AB across the world; in Turkey, it is A > O > B > AB and Rh(+) > Rh(-)(4). Although ABO blood group antigens are mainly expressed by erythrocytes, they are also expressed by different cells in various human tissues, including epithelial cells, vascular endothelial cells, and neurons. Therefore, studies have focused on the role of ABO antigens in the pathogenesis of various systemic diseases (5). Studies have shown that ABO and Rh blood groups are associated with cancer, cardiovascular diseases, infections, thyroid diseases, diabetes mellitus, chronic kidney failure, postpartum depression, and rheumatological diseases (6-8).

Exposure to tobacco smoke has been linked to the development of chronic diseases, including pulmonary

diseases, heart infections, and cancer (9). Smoking causes many pathological processes to start and progress. Negative effects of smoking on the hematopoietic system have been shown in previous studies. Smoking causes an increase in the number of leukocytes and platelets in the blood (10). It has been reported that smoking increases systemic inflammation (11).

Neutrophils and leukocytes play an important role in inflammatory processes. Neutrophil/Lymphocyte ratio (NLR), which is calculated by dividing the absolute neutrophil count by the absolute lymphocyte count, is considered as a new marker that can be used to evaluate the systemic inflammatory response (12).

While high platelet counts are associated with poor cardiovascular outcomes, low lymphocyte counts are associated with increased cardiovascular morbidity and mortality. The increase of Platelet/Lymphocyte ratio (PLR), which is a combination of both parameters, is a predictor of poor prognosis in cardiovascular diseases and malignant conditions (13). The increased NLR, PLR, and Mean platelet volume/Lymphocyte ratio (MPVLR) levels were found to be associated with inflammation and poor prognosis (14,15). PLR is seen as a predictor of mortality in heart, lung diseases and some malignant diseases (16).

Although high MPV values pose an increased risk of cardiovascular disease, they have been considered as one of the markers of systemic inflammatory response in recent years (17). MPVLR, a marker that can be easily detected with complete blood count (CBC), has been shown to increase in the presence of inflammation (14,15). NLR, PLR, and MPVLR levels can be evaluated quickly, cheaply, and easily by clinicians. Shown to be the new markers in the evaluation of systemic inflammatory response; NLR, PLR, and MPVLR have been being used to monitor the prognosis, morbidity, and mortality of many diseases (10).

There are many studies in the literature investigating the effects of ABO and Rh blood groups on chronic diseases (6-8). However, we could not find any study in the literature investigating how CBC parameters and NLR, PLR and MPVLR levels are related to blood types and smoking status.

The purpose of our study was to investigate the effects of ABO and Rh blood groups and smoking status on CBC parameters and NLR, PLR and MPVLR levels.

2. Materials and Methods

The individuals who applied to local University Faculty of Medicine Family Medicine outpatient clinic between January 2018 and January 2020 were included in the cross-sectional study. Sociodemographic data such as age, gender, smoking, and blood group, and complete blood count (CBC) test results were scanned from the hospital automation system. In our hospital, blood samples taken for CBC are collected in K3EDTA tubes and analyzed with the automated hematology analyzer Mindray BC-6000. NLR, PLR, and MPVLR levels were calculated. It was evaluated whether there was any change in the CBC parameters depending on blood groups. Again, it was evaluated whether there was a difference in the CBC parameters between the smokers and non-smokers depending on blood type.

The individuals without any disease were included in the study. These people applied to the polyclinic for reasons such as student registration, check-up, driver's license report, etc. The individuals with acute or chronic diseases, any systemic disease that will affect the results of CBC (cardiovascular diseases, diabetes mellitus, hypertension, cancer, digestive system diseases, respiratory system diseases, psychosis, musculoskeletal system problems, hormonal diseases, kidney failure, obesity, vitamin and mineral deficiencies), drug users, individuals under 18 and over 65, and pregnant individuals were excluded from the study. In addition, subjects with abnormally high and low complete blood counts and other laboratory values (anaemia, leukocytosis, leukopenia, or other hematological, biochemical, or serological abnormalities) were excluded from the study (Fig. 1).

This study was approved by the clinical studies ethics committee of local University (Decision Number: 2020/240).



Fig. 1. Flow diagram of the study

2.1. Statistical Analyses

IBM SPSS software package (v.22.0) was used in the statistical data analysis. Descriptive statistics were expressed in number, percentage, and mean \pm standard deviation. One Way ANOVA test was used for the parametric data and Kruskal-Wallis test for the non-parametric data. The categorical data were compared with chi-square test. The statistical significance was set at p<0.05.

3. Results

Data of 4039 people were scanned for the study, but 920 people who did not meet the inclusion criteria were excluded (Figure 1). Of the 3119 individuals included in the study, 1542 (49.43%) were male and 1577 (50.57%) were female. The average age of the individuals was 34.07 ± 12.52 . The rate of smoking in the women was 13.63% (n = 215), and this rate was 40.01% (n = 617) in men. 832 (26.67%) individuals were smokers in the whole group (Table 1).

Table 1. Sociodemographic data of patients

Variables	Smoker	Non-smoker	Total
Age,	36.26±11.44	33.08±13.15	34.07±12.52
mean±SD			
Male, n (%)	617 (40.01)	925 (59.99)	1542 (49.43)
Female, n (%)	215 (13.63)	1362 (86.37)	1577 (50.57)
Total, n (%)	832 (26.67)	2287 (73.33)	3119 (100)

Table 2. Blood group distributions of patients

Blood Group	Rh (+), n (%)	Rh (-), n (%)	Total, n (%)
0	900 (28.93)	113 (3.55)	1013 (32.48)
А	1247 (40.07)	140 (4.40)	1387 (44.47)
В	438 (14.06)	64 (2.03)	502 (16.09)
AB	185 (5.94)	32 (1.02)	217 (6.96)
Total	2770 (88.81)	349 (11.19)	3119 (100)

Inci / J Exp Clin Med

The population consisted of 1387 (44.47%) individuals with blood group A, 1013 (32.48%) with blood group O, 502 (16.09%) with blood group B, and 217 (6.96%) with blood group AB. The number of the A Rh (+) individuals, the most crowded group, was 1247 (40.07%), while the number of the AB Rh (-) individuals, the least crowded group, was 32 **Table 3.** Changes in hemogram test results and systemic inflammatory parameters according to smoking

(1.02%) (Table 2).

The NLR (p<0.001), PLR (p<0.001), and MPVLR (p<0.001) levels of the smokers were statistically significantly higher than those of the non-smokers (Table 3).

Parameters	n(%)	Neutrophil (10 ³ /mm ³) mean±SD	Lymphocyte (10 ³ /mm ³) mean±SD	Platelets (10 ³ /mm ³) mean±SD	MPV (fl) mean±SD	NLR mean±SD	PLR mean±SD	MPVLR mean±SD
Smoker	832 (26.67)	4.56±1.45	2.28 ± 0.69	255.37 ± 58.02	9.99±1.14	2.14 ± 0.91	119.77±39.55	4.74 ± 1.50
Nonsmoker	2287 (73.23	4.29±1.34	2.46 ± 0.89	258.41±62.55	9.98±1.14	1.87 ± 0.62	116.34±41.48	4.50±1.54
Total	3119 (100)	4.36±1.37	2.41 ± 0.85	257.60±61.38	9.98 ± 1.14	$1.94{\pm}0.71$	116.34±41.48	4.56±1.53
р		< 0.001	< 0.001	0.222	0.926	< 0.001	0.005	< 0.001

p value, ANOVA test; n, number; SD, Standard Deviation; MPV, Mean Platelet Volume; NLR, Neutrophil / Lymphocyte ratio; PLR, Platelet / Lymphocyte ratio; MPVLR, MPV / Lymphocyte ratio.

There were significant differences between ABO and Rh blood groups in terms of NLR (p < 0.001), PLR (p < 0.001), and MPVLR (p < 0.001) levels. The NLR, PLR, and MPVLR levels were found to be the lowest in the AB Rh (-) patients (Table 4).

Table 4. Changes in hemogram test results and systemic inflammatory parameters according to ABO and Rh blood groups

Blood Groups	n(%)	MPV(fl) mean±sd	NLR mean±sd	PLR mean±sd	MPVLR mean±sd
AB Rh (-)	32 (1.02)	$9.80{\pm}2.00$	0.57±0.34	69.12±34.03	2.69±1.19
AB Rh (+)	185 (5.88)	9.86±1.13	0.85±0.14	74.23±25.52	2.87 ± 0.75
A Rh (-)	140 (4.48)	9.89±1.24	2.01±0.02	116.96±43.97	4.76±1.85
A Rh (+)	1247 (39.82)	10.00 ± 1.17	2.61±0.58	136.35±42.68	5.38 ± 1.48
B Rh (-)	64 (2.05)	9.68±1.56	1.43 ± 0.01	89.09±22.12	3.23±0.74
B Rh (+)	438 (14.05)	9.99±1.06	1.59 ± 0.08	106.58±32.41	4.15±1.21
O Rh (-)	113 (3.62)	$9.90{\pm}1.07$	1.38±0.31	99.17±32.24	3.65±1.13
O Rh (+)	900 (28.78)	$10.04{\pm}1.05$	1.54±0.29	107.70±32.95	4.22±1.20
Total	3119 (100)	9.98±1.14	1.94±0.71	116.34±41.48	4.56±1.53
р	-	0.126	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001

p value, ANOVA test; Rh, Rhesus; n, number; SD, Standard Deviation; MPV, Mean Platelet Volume; NLR, Neutrophil / Lymphocyte ratio; PLR, Platelet / Lymphocyte ratio; MPVLR, MPV / Lymphocyte ratio.

In the statistical analysis carried out considering the ABO and Rh blood groups and smoking status, a significant difference was found in terms of NLR (p<0.001), PLR

(p<0.001), and MPVLR (p<0.001) levels. The NLR, PLR, and MPVLR levels were found to be the lowest in the non-smoker AB Rh (-) individuals (Table 5).

Table 5.	Changes in her	nogram test res	aults and systematic	emic inflammate	rv narameters	according to	ABO and	Rh blood a	prouns and	smoking
rapic 5.	Changes in ner	nogram test res	sund and syst	chine minaminate	ry parameters	according to	I DO and	i tun bibbu g	groups and	smoking

Par	ameters	n (%)	MPV(fl) mean±sd	NLR mean±sd	PLR mean±sd	MPVLR mean±sd
AB Rh (-)	Smoker	12 (0.38)	10.03 ± 0.98	0.92±0.22	76.74±39.75	1.32±0.24
	Non-smoker	20 (0.52)	9.66±2.43	0.36±0.19	64.55±30.27	2.50±1.09
AB Rh(+)	Smoker	30 (0.94)	9.67±0.67	0.92±0.16	83.91±25.14	3.09±0.86
	Non-smoker	155 (4.86)	9.90±1.17	0.85±0.13	73.43±25.98	2.87±0.75
A Rh (-)	Smoker	42 (1.34)	10.14 ± 1.11	2.02 ± 0.02	113.65±35.71	5.12±2.21
	Non-smoker	98 (3.14)	9.79±1.29	$2.00{\pm}0.01$	118.37±47.17	4.60±1.67
A Rh (+)	Smoker	339 (10.86)	$10.00{\pm}1.29$	2.96 ± 0.87	136.00±41.86	5.43±1.41
	Non-smoker	908 (29.16)	9.99±1.12	2.48±0.34	136.49±43.01	5.37±1.50
B Rh (-)	Smoker	18 (0.51)	9.95±0.59	1.43 ± 0.01	93.88±17.26	3.48±0.33
	Non-smoker	46 (1.36)	9.57±1.80	1.43 ± 0.01	87.22±23.66	3.13±0.83
B Rh (+)	Smoker	98 (3.14)	9.98±1.12	1.65 ± 0.07	107.71±31.82	4.26±1.27
	Non-smoker	340 (10.87)	9.99±1.04	1.57±0.07	106.26±32.62	4.12±1.19
O Rh (-)	Smoker	35 (1.15)	10.03 ± 0.97	1.54±0.28	106.07±29.59	3.76 ± 0.88
	Non-smoker	78 (2.57)	9.85±1.11	1.31±0.30	96.07±33.07	3.60±1.22
O Rh (+)	Smoker	258 (8.24)	9.98±1.03	1.59±0.27	113.85±33.76	4.46±1.24
	Non-smoker	642 (20.58)	$10.07{\pm}1.06$	1.53±0.29	105.23±32.32	4.13±1.18
Total		3119 (100)	9.98±1.14	$1.94{\pm}0.71$	116.34±41.48	4.56±1.53
р		-	0.220	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001

p value, ANOVA test; Rh, Rhesus; n, number; SD, Standard Deviation; MPV, Mean Platelet Volume; NLR, Neutrophil / Lymphocyte ratio; PLR, Platelet / Lymphocyte ratio; MPVLR, MPV / Lymphocyte ratio

4. Discussion

In our study, we examined the future health risks as a result of the reflection of blood Type and smoking on hematological parameters. We investigated the effects of blood types and smoking on NLR, PLR and MPVLR values in healthy individuals. In our study, we found that complete blood count parameters changed depending on blood type and smoking status.

In our study, 832 (26.67%) of the individuals included in the study were smokers. The rate of smoking in women was 13.63% (n = 215), and this rate was 40.01% (n = 617) in men. According to the 2012 data of Government Statistical Institute, the rate of smoking in adults was 27% in Turkey. This rate was 41.4% for men and 13.1% for women (18), which is in line with the data in our study. In our study, the frequency of blood groups was as follows: A > O > B > AB. These data were in line with the data in Turkey.

In our study, the NLR, PLR, and MPVLR levels of the smokers were found to be higher than those of the nonsmokers. The analysis carried out considering the ABO, Rh blood groups and smoking status showed statistical differences in terms of NLR, PLR, and MPVLR levels. In the post hoc analysis, this difference was observed to be caused by the A Rh (+) individuals. The NLR, PLR, and MPVLR levels were found to be the highest in the A Rh (+) individuals and the lowest in the AB Rh (-) individuals. The NLR, PLR, and MPVLR levels were found to be the highest in the A Rh (+) smokers and the lowest in the non-AB Rh (-) smokers.

Behçet's disease, spondyloarthropathy, vasculitis, and rheumatoid arthritis were reported to be more common in the patients with group A blood. Familial Mediterranean fever, systemic lupus erythematosus, systemic sclerosis, and Sjögren's syndrome have been reported to be more common in the patients with group O blood. inflammatory diseases were found to be the lowest in people with group AB blood (4). In another study, blood type A was found to be a risk factor for myocardial infarction. It was reported that there was a link between the distribution of ABO blood group antigens and the risk of developing specific types of cancer (5). Cancer can cause pathological conditions in many different systems in patients (19). Various studies have suggested that there is a relationship between ABO blood group and tumor behavior and later clinical outcome in patients with various malignancies in lung, kidney, ovary, colorectum, and pancreas. Observational studies have recently shown a relationship between the blood group O and the low risk of exocrine pancreatic tumors (20). In another study, it was shown that while the blood group A increased the risk in gastric cancers, the blood group O was protective (3). Another study reported that individuals with group A had a higher risk of developing glioblastoma, while individuals with group O had a lower risk (5). In their study, Franchini et al. found a positive relationship between A blood group and plasma lipid levels and clinically observed increased susceptibility to cardiovascular disease in individuals with non-O blood types (21).

In a meta-analysis, the frequencies of the blood groups A, B, O, and AB in the individuals infected with COVID-19 were reported as 36.22%, 24.99%, 29.67%, and 9.29%, respectively. The frequencies of the blood groups A, B, O, and AB in cases of death due to COVID-19 infection were calculated as 40%, 23%, 29%, and 8%, respectively. It was shown that the individuals with blood group A were at a higher risk for COVID-19 infection, while those with blood group O were at a lower risk (22). COVID-19 can cause diseases in many systems (23).

In the literature, it has been reported that the individuals with blood group O have a lower risk of cardiovascular disease, high total cholesterol levels, and type 2 diabetes (2). In another study, the probability of developing type 2 diabetes was found to be higher in the individuals with blood group A than in those with other blood groups. It was suggested that blood type A be considered as a risk factor for type 2 diabetes screening (24).

Lung cancer has been reported to be more common in Rh (+) people in the literatüre (25). In another study, Rh factor positivity was found to be higher in rheumatologic patient groups (4). In the study of Tulgar et al., white blood cell, neutrophil, basophil and eosinophil counts; mean corpuscular volume, red cell distribution width and NLR were significantly higher in smokers when compared to non-smokers (p<0.05) (26). In our study, the NLR, PLR, and MPVLR levels were found to be high in the A Rh (+) individuals and the smokers. When the groups were combined, the NLR, PLR, and MPVLR levels were found to be at the highest level in the A Rh (+) smoker patients. It may be thought that A Rh (+) individuals have a higher risk for inflammatory diseases, and smoking increases this risk.

The limitation of our study is that it is single-centered and retrospective. Examination of people's smoking addiction level and pack/year status is one of the limitations of the study. One of the limitations of the study is that other laboratory values of the patients (such as white blood cell, hemoglobin, B12, lipid profile, liver function tests, urea and creatinine for kidney function) were not examined. Multicenter studies are needed in which the relationship between the prospective and other systemic inflammatory markers and the parameters such as C-Reactive Protein and sedimentation is examined.

Although there are many studies in the literature on blood groups and chronic diseases, there is no study investigating the effect of blood groups and smoking on NLR, PLR, and MPVLR values in healthy individuals. In this regard, we think that our study will contribute to future studies.

In this study, we found that the parameters of complete blood count changed depending on blood group and smoking status. It was observed that the A Rh (+) individuals who smoke had higher levels of total blood count parameters. This result may be helpful in predicting the possibility of developing chronic inflammation-related diseases based on blood groups and smoking status.

Ethical Statement

This study was approved by the clinical studies ethics committee of local University (Decision Number: 2020/240).

Conflict of interest

The authors declare no conflicts of interest.

Funding

This research received no external funding.

Acknowledgments

None to declare.

Authors' contributions

Concept: H.I., Design: H.I., Data Collection or Processing: H.I., Analysis or Interpretation: H.I., Literature Search: H.I., Writing: H.I.

References

- **1.** Teshome Y, Mekonen W, Birhanu Y, Sisay T. The association between ABO blood group distribution and peptic ulcer disease: a cross-sectional study from Ethiopia. J Blood Med 2019;10:193.
- **2.** Zhong G-C, Liu S, Wu Y-L, et al. ABO blood group and risk of newly diagnosed nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: A case-control study in Han Chinese population. PloS one 2019;14 (12).
- **3.** Stakišaitis D, Juknevičienė M, Ulys A, et al. ABO blood group polymorphism has an impact on prostate, kidney and bladder cancer in association with longevity. Oncology letters 2018;16:1321-31.
- Çildağ S, Kara Y, Şentürk T. ABO blood groups and rheumatic diseases. Eur J Rheumatol 2017;4:250.
- **5.** Allouh MZ, Al Barbarawi MM, Hiasat MY, Al-Qaralleh MA, Ababneh EI. Glioblastoma and ABO blood groups: further evidence of an association between the distribution of blood group antigens and brain tumours. Blood Transfusion 2017;15:543.
- **6.** Rummel SK, Ellsworth RE. The role of the histoblood ABO group in cancer. Future science OA 2016;2 (2).
- **7.** Dağdeviren M, Ateş İ, Demir BF, Ergün E, Yıldız C, Altay M. Investigation of blood groups in benign thyroid diseases in Turkey. Endocrine J 2019;66:1001-9.
- **8.** Araç E, Solmaz İ. Evaluation of blood groups in patients with anti TPO positive. Asian J Med Sci 2019;10:67-70.
- 9. Alkhattabi N, Tarbiah N, Al-zahrani M, et al. Comparison of α-1 Antitrypsin Levels and other Inflammatory Markers in Smokers and Non-smokers. Ann Med Health Sci Res 2020;10.
- **10.** Yucel C, Keskin M, Cakmak O, et al. Predictive value of preoperative inflammation-based prognostic scores (neutrophil-tolymphocyte ratio, platelet-to-lymphocyte ratio, and monocyte-toeosinophil ratio) in testicular sperm extraction: a pilot study. Andrology 2017;5:1100-4.
- 11. Çekici Y, Yılmaz M, Seçen Ö. New inflammatory indicators: association of high eosinophil-to-lymphocyte ratio and low

lymphocyte-to-monocyte ratio with smoking. J Int Med Res 2019;47:4292-303.

- 12. Ivković M, Pantović-Stefanović M, Dunjić-Kostić B, et al. Neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio predicting suicide risk in euthymic patients with bipolar disorder: moderatory effect of family history. Compr Psychiatry 2016;66:87-95.
- **13.** Akboga MK, Canpolat U, Yayla C, et al. Association of platelet to lymphocyte ratio with inflammation and severity of coronary atherosclerosis in patients with stable coronary artery disease. Angiology 2016;67:89-95.
- 14. Sahinli H, Turker S, Eren T, Cilbir E, Altinbas M. The Mean Platelet Volume to Lymphocyte Ratio: A New Prognostic Marker in Resected Gastric Cancer, Eur J Med Invest, 4(2), 155-160.
- **15.** Zorlu C, Koseoglu C. Comparison of the relationship between inflammatory markers and contrast-induced nephropathy in patients with acute coronary syndrome after coronary angiography. Angiology 2020;71:249-55.
- **16.** Kim DS, Shin D, Lee MS, et al. Assessments of neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio and platelet to lymphocyte ratio in Korean patients with psoriasis vulgaris and psoriatic arthritis. J Dermatol 2016;43:305-10.
- 17. Kose N, Akin F, Yildirim T, Ergun G, Altun I. The association between the lymphocyte-to-monocyte ratio and coronary artery disease severity in patients with stable coronary artery disease. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci 2019;23:2570-5.
- 18. Doğan B, Akalın AA, İlhan B, Oğuz A. Kronik Hastaliği Olmadan Hastaneye Kontrol Amaçlı Başvuranlarda Sigara Kullanım Oranlari. International Anatolia Academic Online Journal/J Health Sci 2017;2.
- Beşler MS, Canpolat U. Cardiac metastasis mimicking acute STelevation myocardial infarction. Anatolian J Cardiol 2019;22:E1b.
- **20.** Ben Q, Liu J, Wang W, et al. Association between ABO blood types and sporadic pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors in the Chinese Han population. Oncotarget 2017;8:54799.
- 21. Franchini M, Mengoli C, Capuzzo E, Terenziani I, Bonfanti C, Lippi G. ABO Kan Grubu ve Kan Bağışçılarında Konvansiyonel Hematolojik ve Metabolik Parametreler Arasındaki Korelasyon. Semin Tromb Hemost. 2016;42(1): 75-86.
- **22.** Pourali F, Afshari M, Alizadeh-Navaei R, Javidnia J, Moosazadeh M, Hessami A. Relationship Between Blood Group and Risk of Infection and Death in COVID-19: a live Meta-Analysis. medRxiv New microbes and new infections, 2020, *37*, 100743.
- **23.** Beşler MS, Arslan H. Acute myocarditis associated with COVID-19 infection. The American J Emerg Med 2020, 38(11), 2489-e1.
- 24. Navabi J, Navabi SM, Hemmati N, Shaahmadi Z, Aghaei A. Higher Odds of Type 2 Diabetes for Some Blood Groups. Public Health Genomics 2020;23:36-40.
- **25.** Alqudah M, Allouh M, Hamouri S, et al. Is Rh Positivity a Possible Risk Factor for Lung Cancer? Jordan J Biolog Sci 2018;11.
- 26. Tulgar YK, Çakar S, Tulgar S, Dalkılıç Ö, Çakıroğlu B, Uyanik BS. Sigaranın nötrofil/lenfosit ve trombosit/lenfosit oranı ve trombosit indeksleri üzerine etkisi: retrospektif bir çalışma. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci. 2016;20(14): 3112-8.





Research Article

J Exp Clin Med 2023; 40(1): 42-46 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.40.1.9

Role of transvaginal ultrasonography in determining endometrium cancer risk in asymptomatic postmenopausal women with thickened endometrium

Osman Samet GÜNKAYA^{1,*}, Arzu TEKİN¹, Meltem TEKELİOĞLU¹, Zeynep GEDİK ÖZKÖSE², Ayşegül BESTEL³, Üzeyir KALKAN⁴, Niyazi TUĞ¹

¹Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, University of Health Sciences, Şehit Prof. Dr. İlhan Varank Sancaktepe Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Türkiye

²Department of Perinatology, Beylikdüzü Medilife Hospital, İstanbul, Türkiye

³Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, University of Health Sciences, Kanuni Sultan Suleyman Training and Research

Hospital, İstanbul, Türkiye

⁴Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Koç University, İstanbul, Türkiye

Received: 18.03.2022	•	Accepted/Published Online: 16.07.2022	•	Final Version: 18.03.2023

Abstract

The aim of this study is to determine the cut-off value for the histopathological evaluation of premalignant-malignant endometrial pathologies from benign pathologies in postmenopausal asymptomatic patients with increased endometrial thickness. This cross-sectional study included a population that included asymptomatic 481 postmenopausal women with an endometrial thickness of more than 5mm in TVU who underwent diagnostic/ operative hysteroscopy and full curettage between January 2015 and January 2018. Demographic characteristics TVU, hysteroscopy findings of patients were recorded. As a result, in the histopathological outcome, 154(3%) women were evaluated as having normal endometrial simple hyperplasia, 5(1%) women as having endometrial atypical hyperplasia, 17(3.5%) women as having endometrial atrophy and only one (0.2%) woman as having fibroids. In the 187 postmenopausal women with normal diagnostic hysteroscopic evaluation, histopathological findings were: 13(7%) endometrial hyperplasia, 2(1.1%) atypical endometrial hyperplasia, 27(14.4%) endometrial polyps, 4.2.1%) endometrial atrophy, and 2(1.1%) endometrial carcinoma. The endometrial thickness was analyzed with the ROC curve for cutoff value differentiating atypical endometrial hyperplasia/endometrial polyps, specificity. In conclusion, hysteroscopy is highly effective for identifying the endometrium and focal intracavitary pathologies such as polyps, myomas and foreign bodies in women with abnormal uterine bleeding. However, for the diagnosis of endometrial hyperplasia and cancer, hysteroscopic-guided biopsy with uterine curettage seems to be the best method.

Keywords: endometrial thickness, hysteroscopy, uterine intracavitary pathology, postmenopausal women, transvaginal ultrasonography

1. Introduction

In developed countries, endometrial cancer (EC) is the most frequent gynecological cancer of the female genital tract (1). Obesity rates are rising worldwide, while fertility rates are falling, indicating that the number of postmenopausal women with diagnosed endometrial cancer will continue to increase and endometrial cancer will be a significant public health concern (2, 3). There is no agreed-upon protocol for screening EC, and in this regard, endometrial thickness (ET) measurement by transvaginal ultrasonography (TVU) was discussed previously (4).

TVU is a common examination tool for patient evaluation in gynecology. Women suffering from postmenopausal bleeding who have an ET of less than 5 mm on TVU have a higher risk of EC (5, 6). Although vaginal bleeding is recognized as the most frequently observed symptom of EC,

up to 20% of patients diagnosed with EC are asymptomatic (7 An endometrial sample is required to rule out malignancy in these women with postmenopausal bleeding. However, studies have found that malignancy rates range from 0% to 3% in asymptomatic postmenopausal women with thicker endometrium (traditionally classified as 5 mm) (8, 9). There is no agreement on the endometrial thickness threshold that from distinguishes normal malignant pathology in asymptomatic postmenopausal women. Clinical care of postmenopausal women with thicker endometrium discovered by chance is challenging for clinicians and has not been standardized or established yet (10).

In the diagnosis of endometrial pathologies, dilatation/curettage and hysteroscopy with histopathologic evaluation are well-known methods and can be added to TVU

(11). Considering the invasive profile and cost of these methods, it may not be necessary to perform these procedures on every patient with a thick endometrium (4).

The purpose of this research is to assess the relationship between the endometrial thickness of benign and malignant endometrial pathologies, and to contribute to an approach for postmenopausal women with asymptomatic thick endometrium.

2. Materials and Methods

This research was carried out as a prospective study, and observations were conducted on a group of postmenopausal women admitted to the outpatient clinic of the tertiary hospital between January 2015 and January 2018. All patients confirmed written informed consent. The study was ethically conducted in compliance with the Helsinki Declaration of 1964 and its amendments. The Committee of Ethics of the Scientific Board of the Ministry of Health of Republic of Turkey and the administrative board of the hospital gave their approval to this study (registration no:1828-903).

2.1. Patients

The study population included asymptomatic postmenopausal women whose observed endometrial thickness was greater than 5 mm in transvaginal ultrasonography (TVU) and who had a hysteroscopy and complete curettage as a diagnostic or operative procedure. All materials were evaluated histopathologicaly. Twelve months of amenorrhea was defined as menopause. The demographic characteristics TVU, hysteroscopy findings of patients were recorded. The histopathology findings of patients were obtained from medical records.

Patients with chronic disease (diabetes mellitus, hypertension, hypothyroidism), use of hormone therapy, progesterone treatment and tamoxifen, as well as patients being monitored for endometrial polyps, endometrial hyperplasia, endometrial cancer were excluded.

2.2. Transvaginal ultrasonography

Endometrial thickness was measured by the TVU using a Siemens Acuson x 300 device and a 7 MHz vaginal probe at the sagittal plane of the uterus from anterior to posterior at its thickest point and perpendicular to the outer edge of the endometrium. If presence of fluid was observed in endometrial cavity, the thickness of endometrium was measured by subtracting the fluid intervals from all endometrial thickness. All TVU examinations were performed by experienced gynecologists of the same clinic.

2.3. Hysteroscopy

Under general anesthesia, diagnostic hysteroscopy was performed using a 5 mm and 30° continuous-flow hysteroscope (Karl Storz, Germany) with saline solution (0.9% sodium chloride) as a distension medium. A 10 mm and 12° resectoscope using a continuous-flow hysteroscope (Karl Storz, Germany) with saline solution (0.9% sodium chloride)

2.4. Primary outcome

The primary outcome of the study was to determine the cutoff value for histopathological evaluation of premalign-malign endometrial pathologies from benign pathologies in postmenopausal asymptomatic patients with increased endometrial thickness.

2.5. Statistics

For data analysis, SPSS version 22.0 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA) was used. The normality of the demographic data was assessed via The Shapiro-Wilk test. The interquartile range and median were considered for the case of nonnormally distributed data, while the standard deviation and mean value were considered for data following a normal distribution. For analyzing continuous data, The Mann-Whitney U test was used and for analyzing categorical variables, Fisher's exact test or the Chi-Square test was employed. Significant was defined as a p-value less than 0.05. Cutoff values for the detection of endometrial cancer or atypical endometrial hyperplasia were designated using the receiver operator characteristic (ROC) curve (AEH).

3. Results

A total of 500 postmenopausal asymptomatic women whose endometrial thickness was over 5 mm on TVS were recruited for the study. Thirteen women were excluded due to refusing further examination, and six of them were excluded due to technical problems encountered in storing their ultrasound images. Consequently, the total number of patients included in the final analysis is 481.

In Table 1, the demographic and clinical characteristics of postmenopausal women are summarized.

Table 1. Demographic and clinical characteristics of postmenopausal
women

Characteristics	Values (median) (IQR)	Min-max
Age year	54.0 (8.0) (41-80)	(41-80)
Age at menopause year	46.0 (5.0) (30-55)	30-55)
Duration of menopause year	6.0 (7.0) (1-30)	(1-30)
BMI (kg/m ²)	27.5 (2.7) (20.9-37.2)	(20.9-37.2)
Endometrial stripe thickness (mm)	10 (7) 11.9 (5.6) ^a (5-32)	(5-32)
Parity	2.0 (2) (0-10)	(0-10)
Duration of menopause year BMI (kg/m ²) Endometrial stripe thickness (mm) Parity	6.0 (7.0) (1-30) 27.5 (2.7) (20.9-37.2) 10 (7) 11.9 (5.6) ^a (5-32) 2.0 (2) (0-10)	(1-30) (20.9-37.2 (5-32) (0-10)

BMI: Body mass index, IQR: Interquartile Range, SD: standard deviation amean (SD)

In the diagnostic hysteroscopic procedure, 187 (38,9%) women were evaluated as having normal endometrium, 156 (32.4%) women as having endometrial polyps, 118 (24.5%) women as having endometrial atrophy, and 20 (4.2%) women as having endometrial hyperplasia. In the 187 postmenopausal women with normal diagnostic hysteroscopic evaluation, histopathological findings were: 13 (7%) endometrial

hyperplasia, 2 (1.1%) atypical endometrial hyperplasia, 27 (14.4%) endometrial polyps, 4 (2.1%) endometrial atrophy, and 2 (1.1%) endometrial carcinoma.

Histopathological evaluation revealed the most common intrauterine lesion detected in the study population was endometrial polyps diagnosed in 189 (39.3%) cases, and other histopathologic findings of the patients are shown in Fig. 1. Five endometrial carcinomas and one endometrial hyperplasia were identified based on the presence of endometrial polyps.



Fig. 1. The histopathologic outcome in 481 menopausal asymptomatic women with endometrial thickness $\geq 5 \text{ mm}$

Clinical and demographic characteristics of patients with benign and atypical endometrial hyperplasia/ endometrial carcinoma are presented in Table 2.

Table 2.	Demographic	and clinical	characteristi	cs of patier	its with
benign an	d atypical end	ometrial hyp	erplasia/ endo	ometrial care	cinoma

	Benign (n=459) (Median) (IQR)	AEH and Endometrial carcinoma (n=22)	Р
Age year	53.0 (8.0) (41-80)	55.0 (7.0) (46-72)	.252
Age at	46 (5)	47.5 (7)	.288
menopause year	(30-55)	(33-54)	
Duration of	6 (7)	6.5 (8.0)	.604
menopause year	(1-30)	(2-24)	
BMI (kg/m ²)	27.3 (2.8) (20.9-37.2)	28.2 (3.0) (23.9-33.3)	.122
Endometrial	10 (7)	18.5 (15)	
thickness (mm)	(5-30)	(5-32)	
	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	.000
Endometrial	11.5 (5.2)	18.8 (7.9)	
thickness (mm)	(5-30)	(5-32)	

BMI: Body mass index, AEH= Atypical endometrial hyperplasia, IQR: Interquartile Range, SD: standard deviation

The endometrial thickness was analyzed with the ROC curve for cutoff value differentiating AEH/endometrial carcinoma from benign lesions and 10.5 mm was found with 90% sensitivity and 63% specificity (area under curve = 0.783; P<.0001; 95% confidence interval) (Fig. 2). At this threshold

value, the rate of endometrial cancer was 0.4% (n=2) and the endometrial thicknesses of the cases were 6 mm and 7 mm. The positive predictive value of 10.5 mm endometrial thickness was % 8.66 and the negative predictive value was % 99.2.



Fig. 2. ROC curve associated with the risk-scoring model. The area under the curve was 0.783 (95% CI 0.674 to 0.893; P<.0001)

4. Discussion

The findings of this study show that the cut-off value we determined for the diagnosis of endometrial cancer and atypical hyperplasia is 10.5mm. 20 women with endometrium cancer and atypical hyperplasia were seen above our cut-off value, and the negative predictive value was calculated as 99.2%. While endometrial cancer was observed in only 2 cases below the cut-off value, no cases with atypical hyperplasia were observed by hysteroscopy, one of these two cases was diagnosed as atrophy, and the other as an endometrial polyp.

Since benign lesions are more common in women with increased endometrial thickness, the positive predictive value was calculated as 8.66%. In recent years, TVU has been the method of choice for endometrial examination of premenopausal and postmenopausal women due to its high accuracy and lack of invasiveness (12). Asymptomatic submucosal fibroids and endometrial polyps are benign lesions, they usually do not require any treatment.10 In asymptomatic postmenopausal women, endometrial polyps were the most commonly observed localized intrauterine lesions (13). In our study, endometrial polyps were detected within 189 (39.3%) patients. The incidence of endometrial cancer based on the presence of polyps was 10% in postmenopausal women with symptoms and whose endometrial thickness was measured as greater than 5 mm on TVU, it was reported 0.9% in asymptomatic postmenopausal women, which is a very low percentage when compared (14). Similarly, in our study, the rate of cancer development in the presence of polyps was found to be 1% (n=5) in asymptomatic postmenopausal women.

Endometrial cancer can develop in postmenopausal women without causing bleeding, therefore, a thicker endometrium

discovered by chance may necessitate an endometrial assessment. However, for endometrial cancers and other pathologies there is no standardized screening procedure or cut-off value. The current guidelines suggest that only women with Lynch syndrome which is a genetic condition associated with risk of developing endometrial cancer, be screened for endometrial cancer (15).

The UK Collaborative Ovarian Cancer Screening Study (UKCTOCS) presented a sensitivity of 80.5% and a specificity of 85.7% when the cut-off value is applied as 5 mm for the diagnosis of endometrial cancer or atypical hyperplasia (16). In another study, an endometrial thickness limit of 11 mm was suggested for an incidentally measured increase in endometrial thickness of a patient with no symptoms (6). In our study, the optimal cut-off value for premalignant and malignant lesions was 10.5 mm with 91% sensitivity and 63% specificity. Moreover, the malignancy or atypical hyperplasia risk for patients having endometrial thickness measurements under the threshold value is extremely low (0.4%, n=2), and the proportion of women with malignancy and atypical hyperplasia above the threshold is 4.2% (n=20). Even if endometrial curettage is not performed in asymptomatic patients above the threshold value, these women may require follow-up.

Endometrial polyp (74.3%) was determined to be the most common pathology in hysteroscopy in asymptomatic women with endometrial thickening on transvaginal ultrasound in a previous study (17). Similarly, in our study, the most common pathology observed in hysteroscopy was endometrial polyp. Hysteroscopy is an easy and safe technique for detecting intrauterine lesions (polyps, fibroids), but it is not sufficient for the diagnosis of endometrial hyperplasia and endometrial cancer. Hysteroscopic appearance, along with histopathological evaluation, may be the gold standard for endometrial evaluation (18).

The limitation of this study was that since we excluded women with risk factors of endometrial carcinoma, there was no evaluation based on the patient's specific characteristics. In conclusion, TVU may be useful in the evaluation of endometrial pathology and in the diagnosis of early endometrial cancer. In this study, 2 cases of endometrial cancer were detected in women with endometrial thickness less than 10.5 mm, negative predictive value was very high. Above the cut-off value, about 9 times of endometrial cancer cases were diagnosed Because of their low positive predictive value, endometrial thickness measurements with TVU should not be used alone to make a decision about further evaluation. These findings, however, can be used to aid clinical decisions.

Ethical statement

The Committee of Ethics of the Scientific Board of the Ministry of Health of Republic of Turkey and the administrative board of the hospital gave their approval to this study (registration no:1828-903).

Conflict of interest

The authors declare no potential conflict of interests for this work.

Funding

No funding was obtained for this study.

Acknowledgments

None to declare.

Authors' contributions

Concept: O.S.G., Design: O.S.G., A.B., Data Collection or Processing: M.T., A.B.T., Analysis or Interpretation: Z.G.O., U.K., Literature Search: U.K., M.T., Writing: N.T., A.B.T.

References

- Brenner PF. Differential diagnosis of abnormal uterine bleeding. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1996 Sep;175(3 Pt 2):766-9. doi: 10.1016/s0002-9378(96)80082-2. PMID: 8828559.
- Haslam DW, James WP. Obesity. Lancet. 2005 Oct 1;366(9492):1197-209. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(05)67483-1. PMID: 16198769.
- Bray F, Dos Santos Silva I, Moller H, Weiderpass E. Endometrial cancer incidence trends in Europe: underlying determinants and prospects for prevention. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 2005 May;14(5):1132-42. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-04-0871. PMID: 15894663.
- Saccardi C, Vitagliano A, Marchetti M, Lo Turco A, Tosatto S, Palumbo M, et al. Endometrial Cancer Risk Prediction According to Indication of Diagnostic Hysteroscopy in Post-Menopausal Women. Diagnostics (Basel). 2020 Apr 27;10(5):257. doi: 10.3390/diagnostics10050257. PMID: 32349386; PMCID: PMC7277718.
- Gull B, Carlsson S, Karlsson B, Ylöstalo P, Milsom I, Granberg S. Transvaginal ultrasonography of the endometrium in women with postmenopausal bleeding: is it always necessary to perform an endometrial biopsy? Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2000 Mar;182(3):509-15. doi: 10.1067/mob.2000.103092. PMID: 10739500.
- Smith-Bindman R, Weiss E, Feldstein V. How thick is too thick? When endometrial thickness should prompt biopsy in postmenopausal women without vaginal bleeding. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol. 2004 Oct;24(5):558-65. doi: 10.1002/uog.1704. PMID: 15386607.
- Malkasian GD Jr, Annegers JF, Fountain KS. Carcinoma of the endometrium: stage I. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1980 Apr 1;136(7):872-88. doi: 10.1016/0002-9378(80)91045-5. PMID: 7361835.
- Worley MJ Jr, Dean KL, Lin SN, Caputo TA, Post RC. The significance of a thickened endometrial echo in asymptomatic postmenopausal patients. Maturitas. 2011 Feb;68(2):179-81. doi: 10.1016/j.maturitas.2010.10.007. Epub 2010 Nov 13. PMID: 21075567.
- Lev-Sagie A, Hamani Y, Imbar T, Hurwitz A, Lavy Y. The significance of intrauterine lesions detected by ultrasound in asymptomatic postmenopausal patients. BJOG. 2005 Mar;112(3):379-81. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-0528.2004.00444.x. PMID: 15713160.
- 10. Park YR, Lee SW, Kim Y, Bae IY, Kim HK, Choe J, et al. Endometrial thickness cut-off value by transvaginal ultrasonography for screening of endometrial pathology in premenopausal and postmenopausal women. Obstet Gynecol Sci. 2019 Nov;62(6):445-453. doi: 10.5468/ogs.2019.62.6.445. Epub

2019 Oct 7. PMID: 31777741; PMCID: PMC6856473.

- Zhang G, Wang Y, Liang XD, Zhou R, Sun XL, Wang JL, et al. Microscale endometrial sampling biopsy in detecting endometrial cancer and atypical hyperplasia in a population of 1551 women: a comparative study with hysteroscopic endometrial biopsy. Chin Med J (Engl). 2020 Sep 30;134(2):193-199. doi: 10.1097/CM9.00000000001109. PMID: 33009021; PMCID: PMC7817330.
- 12. Ozelci R, Dilbaz B, Akpınar F, Kınay T, Baser E, Aldemir O, et al. The significance of sonographically thickened endometrium in asymptomatic postmenopausal women. Obstet Gynecol Sci. 2019 Jul;62(4):273-279. doi: 10.5468/ogs.2019.62.4.273. Epub 2019 Jun 24. PMID: 31338345; PMCID: PMC6629991.
- **13.** Kim MJ, Kim JJ, Kim SM. Endometrial evaluation with transvaginal ultrasonography for the screening of endometrial hyperplasia or cancer in premenopausal and perimenopausal women. Obstet Gynecol Sci. 2016 May;59(3):192-200. doi: 10.5468/ogs.2016.59.3.192. Epub 2016 May 13. PMID: 27200309; PMCID: PMC4871935.
- 14. Wethington SL, Herzog TJ, Burke WM, Sun X, Lerner JP, Lewin SN, et al. Risk and predictors of malignancy in women with

endometrial polyps. Ann Surg Oncol. 2011 Dec;18(13):3819-23. doi: 10.1245/s10434-011-1815-z. Epub 2011 Jun 24. PMID: 21701931.

- 15. Lynch HT, Lynch JF. Lynch syndrome: history and current status. Dis Markers. 2004;20(4-5):181-98. doi: 10.1155/2004/460240. PMID: 15528784; PMCID: PMC3839282.
- 16. Menon U, Gentry-Maharaj A, Ryan A, Sharma A, Burnell M, Hallett R, et al. Recruitment to multicentre trials--lessons from UKCTOCS: descriptive study. BMJ. 2008 Nov 13;337:a2079. doi: 10.1136/bmj.a2079. Erratum in: BMJ. 2008;337:a2976. PMID: 19008269; PMCID: PMC2583394.
- 17. Schmidt T, Breidenbach M, Nawroth F, Mallmann P, Beyer IM, Fleisch MC, et al. Hysteroscopy for asymptomatic postmenopausal women with sonographically thickened endometrium. Maturitas. 2009 Feb 20;62(2):176-8. doi: 10.1016/j.maturitas.2008.11.018. Epub 2009 Jan 3. PMID: 19121901.
- 18. Korkmazer E, Solak N, Üstünyurt E. Hysteroscopic assessment of postmenopausal endometrial thickening. Prz Menopauzalny. 2014 Dec;13(6):330-3. doi: 10.5114/pm.2014.47985. Epub 2014 Dec 30. PMID: 26327874; PMCID: PMC4352917.





k.org.tr/omujecm



J Exp Clin Med 2023; 40(1): 47-51 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.40.1.10

Comparison of depression and anxiety in inflammatory bowel patients treated with anti-TNF or immune modulators

Esra ÇATALTEPE¹^(b), Nergiz EKMEN^{2,*}^(b), Mehmet CİNDORUK²^(b)

¹Department of Geriatrics, Faculty of Medicine, Gazi University, Ankara, Türkiye ²Department of Gastroenterology, Faculty of Medicine, Gazi University, Ankara, Türkiye

Received: 01.06.2022 • Accepted/Published Online: 29.07.2022	•	Final Version: 18.03.2023
--	---	---------------------------

Abstract

The aim of this study was to investigate patients diagnosed with inflammatory bowel disease (IBD), the effects of drug groups used in the treatment of inflammatory bowel disease on depression and anxiety. This study was a single-center prospective study involving 94 patients with inflammatory bowel disease, 51 of whom had ulcerative colitis (UC) and 43 had Crohn's disease (CD). Harvey-Bradshaw activity scores for CD and Mayo Clinic activation scores for UC were calculated. Depression and anxiety data were collected with the Beck Depression Inventory and Beck Anxiety Inventory. The mean age for UC and CD were 40.25 ± 14 and 38.9 ± 13.8 years, respectively. There was a positive correlation between disease activation and depression and anxiety levels in both IBD subgroups (p<0.05). All patients included in the study were compared in terms of depression and anxiety levels before and after treatment, and a statistically significant improvement was found with the remission of both ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease (p<0.001). There was a significant difference in depression and anxiety levels before and after treatment according to treatment options (p<0.001). There is a positive relationship between the disease activation score and the level of depression and anxiety in IBD. Immunosuppressive and immunomodulatory drugs used in the treatment of IBD may also improve the parameters of depression and anxiety in this disease.

Keywords: ulcerative colitis, Crohn disease, depression, anxiety, disease activation

1. Introduction

Both Crohn's disease (CD) and ulcerative colitis (UC) are chronic inflammatory diseases that affect the gastrointestinal system. They impair quality of life and are characterized by periods of relapse and remission. In the general population, the prevalence of depression and anxiety is higher in patients with chronic diseases (1).

Studies have shown that the frequency of depression and anxiety is higher in patients with inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) compared to the general population (2). While depressive symptoms can affect the activity of the disease, higher rates of depression and anxiety have been reported in the active phase of the disease compared to the remission period. Anxiety and depression rates are between 29-35% in the remission period; at the time of relapse, this rate goes up to 80% for anxiety and 60% for depression (2).

Improvement in IBD activity has also been linked to a reduction in the severity of depressive and anxiety symptoms, according to research. Several studies suggest that anti-tumor necrosis factor alpha (anti-TNF), an agent used in the treatment of IBD, may reduce depressive symptoms and improve quality of life. In addition, there are data showing that

immunomodulatory treatment types such as azathioprine and methotrexate, which are widely used in the treatment of IBD, also benefit depressive symptoms.

In this study, it was aimed to evaluate the effect of any newly initiated immunosuppressive therapy (anti-TNF therapy or immunomodulatory therapy) on anxiety and depression symptoms in the active phase of inflammatory bowel disease. We aimed to evaluate whether the regression in disease activity is associated with improvement in depressive symptoms and whether it differs in the level of depression according to the treatment options they receive.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Study design

This study was conducted between June 2018 and January 2019. Patients with active UC and CD who applied to the gastroenterology outpatient clinic or followed up in the gastroenterology service were included. Depression and anxiety data of the patients were obtained with the Beck Depression Inventory (BDI) and the Beck Anxiety Inventory (BAI), and the relationship between the treatment they received and depression and anxiety were evaluated.

The patients were informed about the study, and a written consent form was obtained from the patients before starting the study.

Inclusion Criteria

- To be diagnosed with IBD clinically, endoscopically and pathologically
- Being in active disease

Exclusion Criteria

- Refusing to volunteer and sign the consent form
- The inability to read or write.
- Presence of substance abuse, psychiatric illness or any neurological disease
- Using psychotropic medication in the last 1 year

Workflow

After clinical, laboratory, endoscopic and histological evaluation, patients diagnosed with active IBD according to the current ECCO guideline and followed up in the Gastroenterology outpatient clinic and service were asked whether they would like to be included in the study. The study was explained in detail to the patients who stated that they wanted to participate, and their written consent was obtained. All patient groups were evaluated twice with the Beck Depression Inventory (BDI) and Beck Anxiety Inventory (BAI) before starting treatment and 3 months after starting inflammatory bowel disease treatment. The questionnaires were filled by the person participating in the study after being informed by the doctor. Before starting treatment, disease activity on the day of the survey was semi-quantitatively determined and recorded by the Harvey-Bradshaw Index for CD and Mayo scoring for UC. Whether the patients were in remission or not was determined according to these indices.

2.2. Data collection tools *Beck Depression Scale*

It is used to have information about the risk of depression and to measure the level and severity of depressive symptoms. It was developed by Beck et al. The Turkish validity and reliability study of the BDI was conducted (3). It is a selfevaluation scale. It can be applied to both healthy individuals and psychiatric patients. It consists of a total of 21 selfevaluation sentences. Each question is evaluated on a scale of 0 to 3. It ranges from 0 to 63 in total and is classified as follows; (4).

- Normal 0-9
- Mild depression 10-18
- Moderate depression 19-29
- Severe depression 30-63

Beck Anxiety Scale

It is an inventory consisting of 21 questions developed by Beck et al (5). Each question is evaluated between 0 and 3 and

categorized as follows;

- Minimum anxiety 0-7
- Mild anxiety 8-15
- Moderate anxiety 16-25
- Severe anxiety 26-63

Mayo Clinic Ulcerative Colitis Disease Activity Index

It is a scoring system that grades the severity of the disease in the follow-up of UC. Results are obtained by evaluating stool pattern, rectal bleeding severity, endoscopic findings and general well-being of the physician.

It ranges from 0 to 12 in total and there is a positive correlation between the increasing score and the severity of the anxiety clinic/disorder. Score of 2 points or less is associated with remission, 3-5 points mild disease, 6-10 points moderate disease, and 11-12 points severe disease.

Harvey-Bradshaw Index

It is used to evaluate the severity of the disease in the followup of CD. Scoring is done by stool pattern, mean number of abdominal pains, general well-being, systemic complications, and whether there is a mass in the abdomen. A score of less than 5 is associated with remission, a score of 5-7 is associated with mild disease, a score of 8-16 is associated with moderate disease, and a score greater than 16 is associated with severe disease.

2.3. Statistical analysis

Data analysis was performed using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences 22 (SPSS, Inc, Chicago IL, USA). As a statistical analysis, in the descriptive findings section, categorical variables will be presented as numbers and percentages, and continuous variables will be presented as mean±standard deviation for normally distributed data and median (min, max) for non-normally distributed data, and number of cases and (%) for nominal variables. The Mann-Whitney U-test was used to compare categorical data between groups that did not show a normal distribution. The Wilcoxon test was used to compare the continuous data between groups after checking whether they fit the normal distribution. The *p* value < 0.05 was accepted as significant according to the 95% confidence interval.

3. Results

127 patients, including 73 UC and 54 CD, were evaluated for the study, 9 of these patients did not come for follow-up after 3 months, and 24 patients were excluded because they had one or more of the exclusion criteria. Thus, a total of 94 patients were included (39.65 ± 13.93 years), 51 patients with UC (21 female), 43 patients with CD (23 female). In the mean age was 40.25 ± 14 in UC and 38.9 ± 13.8 in CD. There was no significant difference between the groups in terms of age and gender.

3.1. Disease activity

The mean of Harvey-Bradshaw Index, which was an activation indicator for CD, was 8.09 ± 1.9 , while the lowest activity score

was 5 and the highest was 13. According to the Harvey-Bradshaw index, 46% of patients with CD had a mild disease and 53.5% had a moderate disease. For UC, the mean of Mayo Clinic UC activity index was 7.75 ± 1.32 and while the lowest activity score was 4 and the highest was 11. According to the Mayo Clinic UC activity index, 9.8% of UC patients had a mild disease, 86.3% had a moderate disease, and 3.9% had severe disease.

3.2. Beck Depression Inventory and Beck Anxiety Inventory Scores

BDS ranged from 0 to 23, and the mean was 14.72 ± 5.07 in the entire patient group before treatment. It was determined that 12.8% of the patients were normal, 63.8% mild depression, 22.3% moderate depression and 1.1% severe depression before treatment.

BAS ranged from 0 to 28, and it was 10.29 ± 3.68 in the entire patient group before treatment. It was found that before the treatment, 23.4% of the patients had minimal anxiety, 64.9% had mild anxiety and 11.7% had moderate anxiety.

The mean BDS was 13.89 ± 4.98 in females and 15 ± 5.09 in males in the entire patient group before treatment. Before treatment, the mean BAS was 10 ± 3.48 in women and 10.5 ± 3.8 in men. There was no significant difference in depression and

anxiety levels according to gender before and after treatment. (p>0.05).

It was determined that there was a change in this mean, as 5.88 ± 2.20 for BDS and 3.27 ± 2.02 for BAS, 3 months after starting IBD treatment. Similarly, a statistically significant difference was found in UC patients in terms of depression and anxiety levels before and after treatment (p<0.001) (see Table 1).

In patients with CD, the mean BDS was 15.6 ± 5.38 and the BAS was 11 ± 3.74 before treatment. It was detected that 3 months after starting the inflammatory bowel disease treatment, the mean BDS changed to 6.33 ± 2.27 and the mean BAS was 3.56 ± 2.42 .

It was observed that there was a statistically significant difference between depression and anxiety levels before and after treatment in CD patients, as in patients with UC. (p<0.001) (see Table 1).

There was a significant decrease in anxiety and depression scores before and after treatment in anti-TNF and anti-integrin, 5-ASA, 5-ASA \pm azathioprine treatment groups (*p*<0.001) (see Table 2).

Table 1. Comparison of depression and anxiety levels before and after treatment in the study population						
	Before treatment BDS	After treatment BDS	р	Before treatment BAS	After treatment BAS	р
CD	15,6±5,38	6,33±2,27	<0,001	11±3,74	3,56±2,42	<0,001
UC	13,96±4.97	$5,88\pm2,20$	< 0,001	9,69±3,56	3,27±2,02	< 0,001
Wilcovon Te	et was used UC ulcerative col	itie: CD Crohn's disease: BDS	Back depress	on scale BAS Back anyiety sc	2010	

ilcoxon Test was used. UC, ulcerative colitis; CD, Crohn's disease; BDS, Beck depression scale; BAS, Beck anxiety scale

Table 2. Change in anxiety and depression levels in the study group according to the treatment they received

0	•			•	•		
	Before BDS	After BDS	р	Before BAS	After BAS	р	
5-ASA n=24	11.29 ± 4.80	5±2.24	<0,001	9.04±3.82	2.58±1.99	<0,001	
Azathioprine n=21	13.43±4.74	5.52±1.7	<0,001	9.38±2.71	2.86±1.79	< 0,001	
Anti-TNF and anti-integrin n=49	16.96 ± 4.40	6.86±2.15	<0,001	11.29±3.75	4.04±2.30	< 0,001	
Wilcoxon Test was used. UC, ulcerative of	colitis; CD, Crohn's o	disease; BDS, Beck	depression scale; B	AS, Beck anxiety sca	le		

A positive correlation was assigned between the level of disease activation and depression and anxiety in both UC and CD patients (see Table 3)

Table 3. Evaluation of the relationship between activation scores and

 Beck depression and anxiety scores in the study group

	Beck Depression score		Beck A	Anxiety ore
	r	р	r	р
Mayo score, n=51	0.780	< 0.001	0.474	0.001
Harwey-Bradshaw, n=43	0.708	< 0.001	0.474	0.001

r: Spearman's Correlations Coefficient

4. Discussion

Although psychiatric diseases are a public health problem that negatively affects general health, the presence of chronic diseases is one of the stressor factors that facilitate the emergence of psychiatric diseases such as anxiety and depression or negatively affect the prognosis.

Recent studies have noted increased rates of depression and anxiety in patients with IBD (6). In studies on IBD and other chronic diseases, the prevalence of depression was found to be 6-14% (1, 7). In our study, the prevalence of depression at baseline was higher than in other studies. This can be explained by the inclusion of patients in the active disease stage in the study.

Likewise, the presence of anxiety and depression negatively affects the prognosis of chronic diseases. A prospective study reported that individuals with IBD who had higher depressive symptoms at disease onset were more likely to relapse than individuals without depression. (8).

Studies show that IBD treatment can actually affect depressive symptoms. Minderhoud et al. found a significant improvement in depressive symptoms after one or two infusions of infliximab every 14 weeks with CD (9). Similar to the previous study, improvement in depressive symptoms was observed in a small study of 15 patients who received a single infliximab infusion and were followed for 8 weeks (10). Similarly, in our study, we found a significant decrease in the number of patients with moderate and severe depression symptoms in the 3-month follow-up after starting IBD treatment.

Some small studies have found that improvement in depressive symptoms in inflammatory diseases such as CD and ankylosing spondylitis is not associated with improvement in disease activity after anti-TNF therapy (10, 11). In our study, on the contrary, significant improvement in depression and anxiety symptoms was observed in both groups receiving anti-TNF therapy and immunomodulatory therapy.

Improvement of depressive symptoms may not be due to the initiation of IBD treatment alone. On the contrary, there is important literature that also associates depression with the proinflammatory process and disease activation (12). Supporting this association, a randomized placebo-controlled trial evaluated the role of infliximab in the treatment of patients treatment-resistant depression independent with of inflammatory disease. They found no significant improvement in depressive symptoms with infliximab treatment, but improvement in depressive symptoms was found in patients with high baseline C-reactive protein (CRP) levels (hCRP>5 mg/l) (13). In the current study, high depression and anxiety scores in the active period may be associated with high CRP and active pro inflammatory processThere is a positive correlation between the decrease in CRP level after the patients enter remission and the decrease in depression and anxiety symptoms.

In the present study, depression and anxiety levels in the active disease period were found to be significantly higher than in the remission period, similar to other studies. A decrease in depression and anxiety levels may be due not only to the decrease in disease activity, but also to the improvement of multifactorial causes such as discontinuation of corticosteroids used in the active period, improvement of other medical conditions or the passage of time.

The small number of patients, lack of sociodemographic data, previous use of corticosteroids, smoking status and incomplete data on sociocultural status are the weaknesses of our study. These incomplete data make it difficult to control for confounding factors affecting depression and anxiety symptoms.

The Beck depression and anxiety questionnaire was approved for the assessment of depressive symptoms. However, it is not a definitive method to evaluate depressive disorders. Another factor limiting our study is that the depression status of the patients could only be obtained with Beck depression and anxiety scores in a short time during hospital visits.

In conclusion, the present study highlights the importance of treating all aspects of the disease, including psychological comorbidities such as depression, in patients with IBD. At the same time, it should be kept in mind that depressive and anxious symptoms may accompany the disease and even adversely affect the prognosis of the disease.

This study shows that; immunosuppressive and

immunomodulatory drugs that make IBD go into remission can also improve psychological parameters in this disease.

More research is needed in this area to understand both the pathophysiology of IBD and the most common psychological comorbidities associated with the disease.

Ethical statement

The study was designed as a prospective study approved by the ethics committee of Gazi University Faculty of Medicine, Ankara, Turkey (Approval number: 254-2018/05, Date: 05.06.2018). The study protocol was designed in accordance with the ethical guidelines of the Declaration of Helsinki published in 1975.

Conflict of interest

The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Funding

The authors declared that this study had no financial support.

Acknowledgments

None to declare.

Authors' contributions

Concept: E.Ç., N.E., M.C., Design: E.Ç., N.E., M.C., Data Collection or Processing: E.Ç., N.E., M.C., Analysis or Interpretation: E.Ç., N.E., M.C., Literature Search: E.Ç., N.E., M.C., Writing: E.Ç., N.E., M.C.

References

- Katon W, Ciechanowski P. Impact of major depression on chronic medical illness. J Psychosom Res. 2002 Oct;53(4):859-63.
- Mikocka-Walus AA, Turnbull DA, Moulding NT, Wilson IG, Andrews JM, Holtmann GJ. Controversies surrounding the comorbidity of depression and anxiety in inflammatory bowel disease patients: a literature review. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2007 Feb;13(2):225-34.
- **3.** Hisli N. Beck depresyon envanterinin universite ogrencileri icin gecerliligi, guvenilirligi. (A reliability and validity study of Beck Depression Inventory in a university student sample). J Psychol. 1989;7:3-13.
- **4.** Aydemir Ö, Köroğlu E. Psikiyatride kullanılan klinik ölçekler. Hekimler Yayın Birliği, Ankara. 2000;5.
- Beck AT, Epstein N, Brown G, Steer RA. An inventory for measuring clinical anxiety: psychometric properties. J Consult Clin Psychol. 1988 Dec;56(6):893-7.
- Kurina LM, Goldacre MJ, Yeates D, Gill LE. Depression and anxiety in people with inflammatory bowel disease. J Epidemiol Community Health. 2001 Oct;55(10):716-20.
- Walker EA, Gelfand MD, Gelfand AN, Creed F, Katon WJ. The relationship of current psychiatric disorder to functional disability and distress in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. Gen Hosp Psychiatry. 1996 Jul;18(4):220-9.
- **8.** Mittermaier C, Dejaco C, Waldhoer T, Oefferlbauer-Ernst A, Miehsler W, Beier M, et al. Impact of depressive mood on relapse in patients with inflammatory bowel disease: a prospective 18-month follow-up study. Psychosom Med. 2004 Jan-Feb;66(1):79-84.
- **9.** Minderhoud IM, Samsom M, Oldenburg B. Crohn's disease, fatigue, and infliximab: is there a role for cytokines in the pathogenesis of fatigue? World J Gastroenterol. 2007 Apr

14;13(14):2089-93.

- 10. Guloksuz S, Wichers M, Kenis G, Russel MG, Wauters A, Verkerk R, et al. Depressive symptoms in Crohn's disease: relationship with immune activation and tryptophan availability. PLoS One. 2013;8(3):e60435.
- **11.** Ertenli I, Ozer S, Kiraz S, Apras S, Akdogan A, Karadag O, et al. Infliximab, a TNF- α antagonist treatment in patients with ankylosing spondylitis: the impact on depression, anxiety and quality of life level. Rheumatol Int. 2012 Feb;32(2):323-30.
- Howren MB, Lamkin DM, Suls J. Associations of depression with C-reactive protein, IL-1, and IL-6: a meta-analysis. Psychosom Med. 2009 Feb;71(2):171-86.
- **13.** Raison CL, Rutherford RE, Woolwine BJ, Shuo C, Schettler P, Drake DF, et al. A randomized controlled trial of the tumor necrosis factor antagonist infliximab for treatment-resistant depression: the role of baseline inflammatory biomarkers. JAMA Psychiatry. 2013 Jan;70(1):31-41.





Research Article

J Exp Clin Med 2023; 40(1): 52-56 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.40.1.11

The investigation of concomitant dermal and oral lichen planus in patients referred to Zahedan University centres

Tahereh NOSRATZEHI^{1,*}, Abolfazl PAYANDEH², Atefeh NOSRATZEHI¹

¹Department of Oral Medicine, Oral and Dental Disease Research Center, Zahedan University of Medical Sciences, Zahedan,

Iran

²Community Nursing Research Center, Zahedan University of Medical Sciences, Zahedan, Iran

Received: 19.	.08.2022	•	Accepted/Published Online: 26.11.2022	•	Final Version: 18.03.2023

Abstract

Lichen planus (LP) is a prevalent chronic immunologic inflammatory epidermal and mucocutaneous condition which involves the oral mucosa, the skin, as well as occasionally both, and the leading reason of which is still unidentified. Because of the significance and frequency, this study was performed to measure the relationship of oral and dermal lesions in LP patients. In this descriptive study, a total number of 99 patients with involvement of LP in skin or mucosa were selected from 6510 patients who referred to the Dermatology Clinic and Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Diseases, Zahedan Dental School. The selected patients were exanimated completely and interviewed, and in case of presence of suspected lesions, the histopathologic tests achieved by biopsy were used for the assessment. After physical examination and taking history, a questionnaire was filled for each case. The study showed a 38 percent relation between oral and dermal lesions in 39.3 percent. The most common symptom of oral lichen planus was the Oral ulcer, and the most common site of involvement was the buccal mucosa was and the erosive form showed high prevalent. The most reported symptom of dermal lichen planus in this study was Itching, as well as Simultaneous hand and foot conflict was the main site of involvement and the Papular form was highly prevalent. The high prevalence of dermal and oral lichen planus relationship suggests attention to complete systemic examinations of the patients. Since this study was performed in the dermatology clinic, it appears that other studies in dental schools and all over the public will be essential to confirm the results. According to this study, no significant statistical relationship suggests

Keywords: oral lichen planus, dermal lichen planus, association, concomitant

1. Introduction

The oral lichen planus is a cutaneous and mucosal disease that can affect the skin of the oral mucosa and other mucous membranes. The etiology of (lichen planus) LP, an inflammatory disease, is unknown. Still, it has been attributed to an immune response (often related to CD_4^+ lymphocyte cells) to keratocystic antigens (1), which involves an IV hypersensitivity reaction to a variety of antigens in the mucosa and skin lining (2).

In 1866, Erasmus Wilson, an English physician, described the pathology of the lesion. He suggested that stress could be the cause of the lesion (3). Lowiswickhem was then able to describe the lesion as the Lichen planus. Then, the grey lines and spots on the lesion were called Wickham striae (1, 2).

OLP usually is present in the mouth for years and has periods of healing or deterioration. In the worsening phase of the lesion, pain, erythema, or ulcer areas are seen in the lesion. Patients feel relief after intense itching of the lesions. Trauma may exacerbate a disease known as the Koebner phenomenon. Other factors that can cause it to include mechanical trauma caused by dental processes, irritation and friction caused by sharp objects, rough dental restorations, heat and temperature stimulation by smoking, and oral habits such as chewing gum (1).

Clinical manifestations can range from painless keratotic lesions to painful wounds. The most commonly involved lesion site is the buccal mucosa, where the lesions appear bilaterally. According to Andreasen's division, lichen planus lesions appear in six different views:

1-Reticular, 2-Papular, 3-Plaque-like, 4-Erosive, 5-Atrophic, 6-Bullous (1).

Different types of dermal LP include hypertrophic lichen planus (LP), follicular LP, linear LP, actinic LP, pigmented LP, annular (ring-like) LP, atrophic LP, guttate LP, acute and subacute LP, and LP on hands and feet (4).

The demographic and clinical data of patients with oral

lichen planus were not evaluated in this geographical area. Many discussions are found on the tendency of the disease to become malignant. In this regard, the present study aimed to assess patients' demographic and clinical characteristics with oral lichen planus.

2. Materials and Methods

A descriptive cross-sectional study was designed to evaluate the demographic and clinical characteristics of lichen planus patients referred to Zahedan Dental School and Dermatology Clinic. The study is approved by ethics committee of Zahedan University of Medical Sciences (IR.ZAUMS.REC.1398.370, 2019.11.17).

In this regard, a form consisting of personal information such as age, sex, and types of LP (oral or dermal) was designed based on the clinical examinations, histopathology examination, and histopathologic manifestation of OLP. OLP is diagnosed through clinical findings as well as pathological appearance. Clinical signs of OLP are including 2 sections: red and white; the different surface features of the lesion contribute to the classification of OLP. The white and red components of the lesion may have the following surface features: network (reticular), plaque-like, papules, erythematous, bullous, and wounded. To differentiate the OLP, the reticular and papules components should be existing. The histopathologic features of OLP are containing the zones of hyperparakeratosis or hyperorthokeratosis characteristically with a thickening of the granular cell layer besides a saw-toothed appearance to the rete pegs; liquefaction degeneration or the basal cell layer necrosis; as well as an eosinophilic band that is below the basement membrane which is named eosinophilic coagulum. The patients were diagnosed according to the distinctive clinical and histological characteristics via a dental specialist. Therefore, the routine assessment of these cases is not useful in OLP diagnosis.

In papule biopsy, irregular acanthosis of the epidermis with compressed hypergranulosis is seen in the center. Besides, the granularized layer of cell infiltration thickens, which corresponds to the appearance of Wickham striae (2).

Reticular Oral Lichen Planus does not need any pathological examination; thus, patients with oral lichen planus do not undergo reticular biopsy. Further, the pathological diagnosis of dermal lichen planus was done in some cases with no clinical manifestation of typical lesions [EE3], then completed after taking a history, required examination, and checklist. The lesion site, the lesions' clinical form, the lesions' duration, and the patient's symptoms at the time of diagnosis are classified based on the table of variables; then, the extracted information is recorded in a checklist designed for this purpose.

The data were described after reviewing their quality in SPSS 24. For this purpose, tables of frequency distribution and statistical graphs such as bar graphs, box pie charts, and histograms were applied. Distance estimates for the proportion of lesions in each subgroup were also reported. The Kappa coefficient was used to evaluate the association between lesions; α equaled 5% in all analyses.

3. Results

The present study aimed to investigate the concomitant dermal lichen planus and oral lesions in patients referred to Zahedan University Centres during 2009-2010. So, 99 patients with dermal and oral lichen planus were included in the study, of which 60 patients had oral lichen planus, and 39 had dermal lichen planus. The value of the kappa coefficient was 0.35, which was statistically significant. Patients are divided into oral lichen planus (n=60, 60.6%) and dermal lichen planus groups (n=39, 39.4%). The mean age of patients with oral lichen planus was $84/8\pm 53/42$; most patients with oral lichen planus were females (n=40, 66.7%).

Most patients with oral lichen planus had erosive lesions (n=49, 81.7%) (Table 1).

Table 1. The Frequency distribution of a clinical form of oral lesions in patients with oral lichen planus

The clinical form of lesions	Frequency	%
Erosive	49	81.7
Non-erosive	3	5.0
Concurrent erosive and non-erosive	8	13.3
Total patients	60	100

The mean duration of lesions in patients with oral lichen planus was 10.98 ± 9.64 months (Table 2).

Table 2. The Frequency distribution of the presentation duration of lesions in a patient with oral lichen planus

Descriptive index	Mean	Standard deviation	Max.	Min.
Duration presence of lesion	10.98	9.64	36	1

The most common symptoms of patients with oral lichen planus were wounds (n=31, 51.7%) (Table 3).

Table 3. The frequency distribution of patients' symptoms at the diagnosis of a patient with oral lichen planus

Patients' symptoms	Frequency	%
Ulcer	31	51.7
Burning	6	10
Concomitant ulcer and burning	23	38.3
Total patient	60	100

The highest involvement of patients with oral lichen planus was related to cheek mucosal involvement [n=40 patients (66.7%)] (Table 4).

Table 4. The Frequency distribution location of oral lesions in a patient with oral lichen planus

Location of oral lesions	Frequency	%
Buccal mucosa	40	66.7
Dorsal of the tongue	7	11.7
Lateral of the tongue	13	21.7
Total patient	60	100

The mean age of dermal lichen planus involvement patients was 39 ± 14.16 years (Table 5).

Table 5. The frequency of age distribution in a patient with Dermal lichen planus

Descriptive index	Mean	Standard deviation	Max.	Min.
Age	39.36±39	14.16	80	22

Most of the patients with dermal lichen planus were females (n=33, 84.6%) (Table 6).

Table 6. The frequency of sex distribution in a patient with dermal lichen planus

Sex of patients	Frequency	%
Female	33	84.6
Male	6	15.4
Total patients	39	100

Based on the clinical form of lesion of patients with dermal lichen planus, the highest number of involvements was in patients with papules (n=16, 41%) (Table 7).

Table 7. The frequency of clinical forms of a skin lesion in a patient with dermal lichen planus

Clinical forms of skin lesions	Frequency	%
Papule	16	41
Plaque	10	25.6
Hyperpigmentation	1	2.6
Simultaneous conflict	12	30.8
Total patients	39	100

The mean period of lesions in patients with skin lichen planus was 23 ± 58.55 months.

The symptom of most patients with skin lichen planus involvement was itching (n=37, 94.9) (Table 8).

 Table 8. The frequency distribution of patients' symptoms at the diagnosis of a patient with dermal lichen planus

Patients Symptoms	Frequency	%
Itching	37	94.9
Hair Loss	1	2.6
Itching and Hair Loss	1	2.6
Total patient	39	100

Most patients with dermal lichen planus had comorbidity lesions (n=22, 56.4%) (Table 9).

Table 9. The frequency distribution location of oral lesions in a patient with dermal lichen planus

Location of oral lesions	Frequency	%
Hand	2	5.1
Foot	13	33.3
Neck	2	5.1
Simultaneous conflict	22	56.4
Total patient	39	100

The kappa coefficient was equal to 0.35, which was statistically significant (P < 0.001) (Table 10).

 Table 10. Determine the amount of association between dermal and oral lichen planus

Type of lichen planus	Frequency	%
Oral lichen planus	60	60.6
Dermal lichen planus	39	39.3
Oral lichen planus and dermal lichen planus	38	38.3
Total patient	99	100

4. Discussion

LP is a chronic dermal mucosal disease with unknown etiology. The mean age of patients with this lesion is about 55 years, and its prevalence is higher in women (5). However, oral LP is white, bilateral, and sometimes ulcerative lesions with various clinical forms, including reticular, papular, plaquelike, bullous, erosive, and ulcerative (6).

Oral Lichen planus lesions take two forms: reticular and erosive. The reticular type is more common and asymptomatic. Malignant changes are a more common erosive type, especially if the lesion is on the tongue, palate, and floor of the mouth (7). Due to malignancy and the risks of these changes, the oral Lichen planus becomes important in oral diseases (8).

The study on the frequency and epidemiological changes of oral lichen planus lesion in Iran has been minimal, including the study of Pakfetrat et al. (9) in Mashhad (2008), in which the mean age of patients was 16.41 years, and 9 / 64% of them were female. Further, in 2.85% of patients, the cheeks were the most commonly involved area. The study of Esmaili et al. (10) in Tehran (2003) showed that oral LP is more common in men in their fourth decade. Furthermore, the study of Khalili et al. reported that the age of incidence of the lesion was 42 years, in the range of 5-83 years.

The clinical characteristics of patients in current study demonstrate many similarities and dissimilarities with previously reported studies. We detected that the males outnumbered the females (ratio M: F=1.61:1), which disagree with many other studies (11-13). In most studies, female predominance is reported. OLP is more predominant in the third decade of life according to this study (mean age of 36.9 years), which is lesser than the mean age stated in the central China [50.4 years], the Spain [56.4 years], the United Kingdom [52.0 years], and the Italy [56.7 years] (13-16). This was perhaps because of our cohorts' ethnic population as well as the geographic difference in comparison to the preceding reports. OLP in minor juveniles or children is rare, and in this study childhood form of the OLP was not detected. Though childhood OLP is very infrequent, early recognition is vital to make suitable treatment and relieve signs in little children (17, 18).

LP is a relatively common disorder that affects about 0.5-2% of the population. Besides the higher prevalence of OLP than the dermal type, it is more resistant to treatment.

In the present study, the demographic pattern and clinical profiles of patients with OLP were recorded. In this study, the incidence of OLP was higher in women than men, which is consistent with the results of some researchers [DroreEisen (12), Silverman (3), Bermejo-Fenoll (16), Mankapur (2), and Mozaffari (19)] but inconsistent with the Munde's (20) study on India's rural populations. According to the results of this study and most similar articles, OLP is more common in females. The inconsistency of Munde's study results (20) may be due to the clinical features and lifestyle prevailing in that area.

Accordingly, the mean age of people with OLP was 42.53.

It was consistent with Mozaffari's study (19), in which the mean age of patients was 42.13, and was closely correlated with Mankapure's study (2), in which the mean age of patients was 45.4.

Based on the present study results and similar articles, we conclude that OLP occurs in the 5th and 6th decades of human life.

Based on the results of this study and all similar papers, the buccal mucosa is the most common site of OLP lesions, followed by the prevalence of OLP in the gums and tongue with a much lower percentage. On the other hand, relating to the clinical form of OLP lesions, it can be stated that in the present study, similar to that of Bermejo-Fenoll's (16), the erosive form of lesions with 49% OLP has the highest clinical form. This difference between the results of both studies is due to the lifestyle of patients living in Zahedan.

Patients with OLP have a variety of symptoms. Based on the present study results, the ulcer is one of the most common symptoms in 51.7% of patients, which is consistent with Mankapure's study (2).

Regarding the duration of OLP lesions, patients reported that lesions stay for 10.98. 9.64 months.

Among 39 patients with dermal lichen planus, 33 (846.3%) were female, indicating a higher disease prevalence in women, which is consistent with Boyd's theory that women are more likely to develop lichen planus than men (21).

In this study, the mean age of patients was 39 ± 14.16 years, consistent with that of Black's study on 200 patients with lichen planus, with a mean age of 4 decades (22).

The most common involved site reported in the present study was concomitant involvement of the hands and feet, accounting for 56.4% of all patients, and consistent with Black's study stated that the anterior wrist, lumbar region, and around the ankle (22) are the most commonly involved sites.

The most common clinical form of the present study was the papular pattern (41%) which was observed on the face, neck, and hands, confirming the ROOK theory stating that the maximum prevalence of actinic lichen planus is found in the Middle East, East Africa and India (23). In the present study, six men (1.1%) had genital zone involvement, lower than the 25% reported in Arndt's study (24).

It may be due to the small sample size of the present study or the impossibility of a full-body examination due to cultural problems. But the Annular (ring-like) lichen planus is found in only ten patients (2.9%), which is less than the 10% mentioned in the sources (5). According to Boyd, 38 (38.3%) patients had concomitant dermal and oral involvement.

Merely about three patients developed an oral carcinoma and from them 2 were smokers and the other one was smok¬ers and drinker, which is lower than some other reports from malignant transformation rates (25, 26). Studies of the malignant potential of oral lichen planus (OLP) have been hampered by contradictions in the diagnostic criteria used for OLP (27), nevertheless, since most patients will have longstanding OLP, and possibly a risk of malignant transformation, it is crucial that such patients be wisely monitored through a well-experienced clinician in long term (28-30).

oral lichen planus is prone to the risk of malignancy (0.4-4.3%), and WHO considers it a pre-malignant lesion, it is essential to consider the follow-up of patients, the concomitant dermal and oral involvement and timely referral of patients with oral lesions to a dermatologist and those with dermal lesions to an oral and maxillofacial specialist.

There was concomitant dermal and oral lichen planus in patients referred to Zahedan University Centres. It is recommended to conduct a study with a larger sample size considering different age groups and sex in various types of mucosal LP and referral of patients with oral lesions to dermatologists and those with dermal lesions to oral and maxillofacial specialists.

Ethical statement

The study is approved by ethics committee of Zahedan University of Medical Sciences (IR.ZAUMS.REC.1398.370, 2019.11.17).

Conflict of interest

None to declare.

Funding

None to declare.

Acknowledgments

None to declare.

Authors' contributions

Concept: T.N., Design: T.N., A.N., Data Collection or Processing: A.P., A.N., Analysis or Interpretation: T.N., A.N., Literature Search: T.N., A.P., Writing: A.P., A.N.

References

- 1. Tak MM, Chalkoo AH. Demographic, clinical profile of oral lichen planus and its possible correlation with thyroid disorders: A case-control study. Int. J. Sci. Study. 2015;3(8):19-23.
- 2. Mankapure PK, Humbe JG, Mandale MS, Bhavthankar JD. Clinical profile of 108 cases of oral lichen planus. J Oral Sci. 2016;58(1):43-7.
- **3.** Silverman Jr S, Bahl S. Oral lichen planus update: clinical characteristics, treatment responses, and malignant transformation. American journal of dentistry. 1997;10(6):259-63.
- Breathnach SM. Lichen Planus and Lichenoid Disorders. 2010:1-28.

- 5. Neville B, Damm D, Allen C. Oral & maxillofacial pathology. 2nd ed. Philadelphia: Saunders Co.; 2002.
- Greenberg M, Glick M. Burket's oral medicine: Diagnosis & treatment. 10th ed. Hamilton: BC Becker 2003; 107. 10th ed. Hamilton: BC Becker; 2003.
- Vincent SD, Fotos PG, Baker KA, Williams TP. Oral lichen planus: the clinical, historical, and therapeutic features of 100 cases. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol. 1990 Aug;70(2):165-71.
- Mardani M, Torabi Ardakani S, Dastgheib L, Hamidizadeh N. Serum Levels of IL-22 in Patients with Oral Lichen Planus and Cutaneous Lichen Planus. J Dent (Shiraz). 2020 Dec;21(4):330-334.
- **9.** Pakfetrat A, Javadzadeh-Bolouri A, Basir-Shabestari S, Falaki F. Oral Lichen Planus: a retrospective study of 420 Iranian patients. Med Oral Patol Oral Cir Bucal. 2009;14(7):E315-8.
- Esmaily N, Barzegarri M, Rezaee M. Prevalence a clinical manifestation at lichen planus: Case reports 120 cases. Journal of Dermatological Disease. 2003;8(2):110-4.
- Khalili M, Shojaee M. A retrospective study of oral lichen planus in the oral pathology department, Tehran University of Medical Sciences (1968-2002). J. Dent. Med. 2006;19(3):45-52.
- **12.** Eisen D. The clinical features, malignant potential, and systemic associations of oral lichen planus: a study of 723 patients. J Am Acad Dermatol. 2002;46(2):207-14.
- 13. Xue JL, Fan MW, Wang SZ, Chen XM, Li Y, Wang L. A clinical study of 674 patients with oral lichen planus in China. J Oral Pathol Med. 2005;34(8):467-72.
- 14. Ingafou M, Leao JC, Porter SR, Scully C. Oral lichen planus: a retrospective study of 690 British patients. Oral Dis. 2006;12(5):463-8.
- 15. Gandolfo S, Richiardi L, Carrozzo M, Broccoletti R, Carbone M, Pagano M, et al. Risk of oral squamous cell carcinoma in 402 patients with oral lichen planus: a follow-up study in an Italian population. Oral Oncol. 2004;40(1):77-83.
- 16. Bermejo-Fenoll A, Sanchez-Siles M, Lopez-Jornet P, Camacho-Alonso F, Salazar-Sanchez N. A retrospective clinicopathological study of 550 patients with oral lichen planus in south-eastern Spain. J Oral Pathol Med. 2010;39(6):491-6.
- Alam F, Hamburger J. Oral mucosal lichen planus in children. Int J Paediatr Dent. 2001;11(3):209-14.

- Laeijendecker R, Van Joost T, Tank B, Oranje AP, Neumann HA. Oral lichen planus in childhood. Pediatr Dermatol. 2005;22(4):299-304.
- **19.** Mozaffari HR, Rahmani M, Rezaei F, Sadeghi M, Sharifi R, Ejtehadi A. Evaluation of oral lichen planus frequency in patients referred to pathology centers of Kermanshah city, during 2008 to 2011. Sch. J. Appl. Med. 2016;4(6):2200-2.
- 20. Munde AD, Karle RR, Wankhede PK, Shaikh SS, Kulkurni M. Demographic and clinical profile of oral lichen planus: A retrospective study. Contemp Clin Dent. 2013;4(2):181-5.
- **21.** Boyd A, Nelden K. Lichenplanus. In: Demis J, editor. Clinical dermatology. New York: Lippirncortt_Raven; 1999. p. 1-9: 2.9.10.20.
- 22. Black M. Lichen planus and lichenoid disorders. In: Champion R, Burton J, Burns D, editors. Text book of Dermatology 6th ed. Oxford England: Blackwell Science Ltd; 1998. p. 1899–926.
- Rook/Wilkinson/Eblingtextbook of dermatology. Oxford: Blackwell sciences; 1998.
- **24.** Ardnt K. Lichenplanus. In: Fitzpatrick T, Eisen A, Wolff K, editors. Dermatology in general medicine. New York: McGraw-Hill; 1993. p. 1134-48.
- 25. Zhang JH, Zhou ZT. [Oral lichen planus: a retrospective study of 724 Chinese patients]. Zhonghua Kou Qiang Yi Xue Za Zhi. 2007 Nov;42(11):669-71. Chinese.
- 26. Bornstein MM, Kalas L, Lemp S, Altermatt HJ, Rees TD, Buser D. Oral lichen planus and malignant transformation: a retrospective follow-up study of clinical and histopathologic data. Quintessence Int. 2006;37:261-71.
- **27.** Gonzalez-Moles MA, Scully C, Gil-Montoya JA. Oral lichen planus: controversies surrounding malignant transformation. Oral Dis. 2008;14:229-43.
- 28. Ismail SB, Kumar SK, Zain RB. Oral lichen planus and lichenoid reactions: etiopathogenesis, diagnosis, management and malignant transformation. J Oral Sci. 2007;49:89-106.
- **29.** Van der Meij EH, Mast H, Van der Waal I. The possible premalignant character of oral lichen planus and oral lichenoid lesions: a prospective five-year follow-up study of 192 patients. Oral Oncol. 2007;43:742-8.
- **30.** Lanfranchi-Tizeira HE, Aguas SC, Sano SM. Malignant transformation of atypical oral lichen planus: a review of 32 cases. Med Oral. 2003;8:2-9.



Research Article



J Exp Clin Med 2023; 40(1): 57-61 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.40.1.12

Efficacy of kinesio taping versus extracorporeal shock wave therapy in the short term for the calcaneal spur

Nurten NAS KIRDAR^{1,*}, Tuba KANYILMAZ²

¹Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, Denizli State Hospital, Denizli, Türkiye ²Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, Çivril Şehit Hilmi Öz State Hospital, Denizli, Türkiye

Received: 03.09.2022	•	Accepted/Published Online: 16.01.2023	•	Final Version: 18.03.2023	
					_

Abstract

The calcaneal spur is a common cause of heel pain, and there are various approaches to its treatment. Our aim in this study is to investigate the short-term effectiveness of kinesio taping against Extracorporeal Shock Wave Therapy (ESWT) in the treatment of calcaneal spur. This study was designed as an experimental, prospective and single-center clinical trial. A total of 93 patients with calcaneal spur (18 men, 75 women) were included. Patients were divided into two groups (based on gender, age, BMI, and pain duration) by stratified randomization (kinesio tape group=46, ESWT group=47 patients). 3 sessions of ESWT were applied to the heels of the patients in the 1st group with an interval of 1 week. Kinesio taping was applied to the 2nd group. It was applied once a week, for 3 weeks. Visual Analogue Scale (VAS) and Foot Function Index (FFI) scores of the patients in both groups before the treatment and 1 week after the end of the treatment were recorded. When we evaluated the pre-treatment and post-treatment parameters, we found a significant decrease in VAS, FFI-pain, FFI-disability and FFI-activity restriction scores in both groups (p=0.0001). We also found that kinesio taping was more effective than ESWT in reducing FFI-pain (for after treatment FFI-pain inter group p=0.002) and FFI-disability (for after treatment FFI-disability inter group p=0.023, for FFI-disability difference inter group p=0.002) and FFI-disability (for after treatment FFI-disability inter group p=0.023, for FFI-disability and activity limitation, kinesio taping was found to be more effective in reducing pain and disability in the short term. Studies with longer follow-up are needed to clarify our results.

Keywords: calcaneal spur, extracorporeal shock wave therapy, kinesio tape, heel pain

1. Introduction

Plantar heel pain is one of the most common feet pains in adults (1). Heel pain has many causes, one of which is a calcaneal spur (2). Studies have shown that the rate of calcaneal spur in the cause of heel pain was found between 30 and 89% (3). Clinical symptoms are inflammation, swelling of the feet, pain and limitations of movement. Treatment options are; nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, local steroid injections, stretching exercises, acupuncture, iontophoresis, extracorporeal shock wave therapy (ESWT), low-intensity laser therapy, silicone heel pad, medial arc support, night splint, physical therapy modalities, kinesio taping, cold application and rest (4).

Kinesio taping acts by supporting damaged joints and muscles, lifting the skin, increasing lymph and blood circulation, accelerating the removal of inflammatory mediators from the damaged area, and reducing clinical pain. In a recent study investigating efficacy of kinesio taping for plantar fasciitis, Tezel et al. (5) showed that both kinesiotaping and ESWT treatments improved pain levels and quality of life in patients with plantar fasciitis, but kinesio taping also improved functionality. In another study Ercan et al. (6) evaluated the effect of kinesio tape application in addition to extracorporeal shock wave therapy for plantar fasciitis. It was stated that extracorporeal shock wave therapy reduced the pain scores of plantar fasciitis patients in three weeks, but additional kinesio tape application to extracorporeal shock wave therapy did not provide any additional benefit. In the literature, we could not find any studies investigating the effectiveness of kinesio taping in the treatment of calcaneal spur.

Our aim in this study is to investigate the effectiveness of kinesio taping against ESWT, which is a frequently used method in the treatment of calcaneal spur, and to discuss our results in the light of the literature. Our study will be the first study in the literature with this aspect.

2. Materials and Methods

We designed our study as an experimental, prospective and single-center clinical study. Local ethics committee approval was obtained. It has been determined that the effect size obtained in the reference study is strong (d=0.95) (5). As a

result of the power analysis, it was calculated that if at least 90 people were included in the study, 80% power could be obtained at the 95% confidence level. Thus, a total of 93 patients (46 patients in kinesio tape group, 47 patients in ESWT group) were included in the study. This study was approved by Pamukkale University Non-Interventional Clinical Research Ethics Committee (Date: 13/01/2022, Approval number: E.155512). Participants were informed about the study, and their written informed consent was obtained. The protocol was performed per the ethical standards in the 1964 Helsinki declaration.

2.1. Participants

Patients with a diagnosis of calcaneal spur who applied to the Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation outpatient clinic of Denizli State Hospital between February 2022 and July 2022 were included in the study. Inclusion criteria: to be 18-70 years old, heel pain persisting for at least 4 weeks, presence of radiologically detected calcaneal spur, medical treatment, cold application and stretching exercises have been applied but have not benefited. Exclusion criteria: history of acute trauma to the foot, history of injection in the heel (steroid, PRP (platellet rich plasma), etc.), history of foot surgery, inflammatory rheumatic diseases, neurological diseases (polyneuropathy, radiculopathy, etc.), pregnancy, malignancy.

2.2. Method

Age, gender, body mass index, and duration of heel pain of the patients included in the study were noted. The patients were allocated to both groups by stratified randomization (according to gender, age, BMI, and duration of pain). In terms of variables, our groups were as follows;

- 1- female, male,
- 2- age (18-45 years, 46-65 years, 66-70 years),

3-BMI (<18.5, 18.5-24.9, 25-30, >30 kg/m2),

4- duration of pain (4-12 weeks, >12 weeks).

Patients were requested not to take any analgesics and/or NSAIDs during the course of the study. 3 sessions of ESWT were applied to the heels of the patients in the 1st group with an interval of 1 week (with Chattanooga Intelect RPW device, 10 Hz, 3.2 bar, 2000 beats to the heel). Kinesio taping was applied to the 2nd group (Tmax Kinesiology Tape cotton, standard 5.0 cm tape). It was applied once a week, for 3 weeks.

During the taping, the patient was in a prone position with the knee joints at 90° of flexion and the ankle joints at a neutral position. The tape was cut longitudinally into four slices of equal width. It was applied to the forefoot by stretching it by 25% (7). Visual Analogue Scale (VAS) and Foot Function Index (FFI) scores of the patients in both groups before the treatment and 1 week after the end of the treatment were recorded (8, 9). Foot function index consists of 23 items with 3 subgroups; pain, disability, and limitation of activity. Nine item-containing pain subscale measures the level of foot pain in a variety of situations. With the disability subscale containing 9 items, the foot depending on the problems, the degree of difficulty in performing various functional activities is determined. Containing five items with activity limitation subscale; due to foot problems activity limitations are evaluated.

2.3. Statistical analysis

All statistical analyses were performed using SPSS 25.0 (IBM SPSS Statistics 25 software (Armonk, NY: IBM Corp.)) software. Continuous variables were defined by the mean \pm standard deviation, median, interquartile range (25.-75. percentiles), minimum- maximum values and categorical variables were defined by number and percent. In examining the differences between the groups, when the parametric test assumptions were met, Independent samples t test was used. When the parametric test assumptions were not met, Mann Whitney U test was used. In examining dependent group differences, when the parametric test assumptions were met, Paired samples t test was used. When the parametric test assumptions were not met, Wilcoxon Signed Rank test was used. Differences between categorical variables were analyzed by Chi-square analysis. Statistical significance was determined as p<0.05.

3. Results

A total of 93 patients (18 men, 75 women) were included in this study. The mean age of the patients was 47.48 years (min 23- max 70). The mean body mass index (BMI) was 30.77 kg/cm2. The number of patients with pain duration between 4-12 weeks was 43, and the number of patients with pain longer than 12 weeks was 50.

Table 1 shows that there is no statistically significant difference between the two groups in terms of age, BMI, gender and pain duration.

Table 1	. Demographic	characteristics	of groups
---------	---------------	-----------------	-----------

					8	1		
			Kinesio tape (n=4	46)		ESWT (n=47)		Inter group a
		Mean±S.D	Med (IQR)	MinMax.	Mean±S.D	Med (IQR)	MinMax.	inter group p
Age		48.67±10	48.5(42.75-56.25)	26-69	46.32 ± 8.96	46 (40- 53)	23-70	0.235 (t=1.196)
BMI		31.03 ± 4.42	30 (27.7-34.03)	24.6-44	30.5±4.14	30 (27.6-32.8)	21-43.8	0.721 (z=-0.358)
Condor (n9/)	Male		6 (13%)			12 (25.5%)		0.127(a=2.222)
Gender (1176)	Female		40 (87%)			35 (74.5%)		0.127 (cs - 2.525)
Duration (n9/)	>12 weeks		26 (56.5%)			24 (51.1%)		0.508 (as -0.270)
Dui ation (1176)	4-12 weeks		20 (43.5%)			23 (48.9%)		0.598 (08-0.279)

ESWT: Extracorporeal shock wave therapy, BMI: Body mass index, S.D: Standard deviation, Med (IQR): Median (25.-75. Percentiles); t: Independent samples t test; cs: Chi Square test

When we evaluated the pre-treatment and post-treatment parameters, we found a significant decrease in VAS, FFI-pain, FFI-disability and FFI-activity restriction scores in both groups (p=0.0001). We also found that kinesio taping was more effective than ESWT in reducing FFI-pain (inter group p for after treatment FFI-pain=0.005, for FFI-pain difference=0.002) and FFI-disability (inter group p for after treatment FFI-disability=0.023, for FFI-disability difference=0.0001) scores. The results of the evaluation parameters of the groups before and after the treatment and the comparison of both groups are shown in Table 2.

	Kinesio ta	ape (n=46)	ESWT	ESWT (n=47)	
	Mean±S.D	MinMax.	Mean±S.D	MinMax.	Inter group p
b.t. VAS	8.09±1.43	4-10	7.77±1.73	3-10	0.346 (z=-0.943)
a.t. VAS	4.91±1.36	1-7	5.47 ± 1.38	1-8	0.054 (z=-1.929)
Intra Group p		0.0001* (z=-5.908)		0.0001* (z=-5.712)	
VAS difference	3.17±1.39	-1-6	2.3±1.55	-1-5	0.004* (z=-2.858)
b.t. FFI1	70.34±11.16	47.1-92.8	$68.88{\pm}16.08$	32.8-100	0.612 (t=0.509)
a.t. FFI1	45.02±10.99	21.4-67.1	52.74 ± 4.38	21.4-82.2	0.005* (t=-2.904)
Intra Group p		0.0001* (t=13.896)		0.0001* (t=7.104)	
FFI1 difference	25.32±12.36	-8.6-50	$16.14{\pm}15.58$	-10.9-51.4	0.002* (t=3.143)
b.t. FFI2	67.75±15.26	22.9-90	63.03±16.51	18.8-91.1	0.124 (z=-1.538)
a.t. FFI2	43.4±12.93	12.2-76.6	50.24±15.39	8.8-78.8	0.023* (t=-2.318)
Intra Group p		0.0001* (z=-5.512)		0.0001* (t=6.744)	
FFI2 difference	24.34±15.55	-26.7-50	12.79±13	-20- 45.6	0.0001* (z=-4.005)
b.t. FFI3	38.66±10.05	23.3-66.6	32.52±14.04	3.3-66.6	0.014* (z=-2.464)
a.t. FFI3	23±11.47	10-73.3	24.79±9.45	3.3-46.6	0.14 (z=-1.477)
Intra Group p		0.0001* (t=11.157)		0.0001* (z=-4.515)	
FFI3 difference	15.65 ± 9.52	-13.3- 36.7	7.73 ± 9.58	-6.7-33.3	0.0001* (z=-4.02)

*p<0.05 statistically significant; For Inter group p t: Independent samples t test; z: Mann Whitney U test; For Intra group p t: Paired samples t test; z: Wilcoxon Signed Rank test, ESWT: Extracorporeal shock wave therapy, b.t.: before treatment, a.t.: after treatment, VAS:visual analogue scale, FFI: foot function index, FFII: pain FFI2: disability, FFI3: limitation of activity

4. Discussion

In this study, we investigated the short-term effectiveness of kinesio taping against ESWT in the treatment of calcaneal spur and found that there was a statistically significant reduction in pain, disability and activity limitation with both treatment methods. In addition, we found that kinesio taping was more effective than ESWT in reducing pain and disability in the short term.

On the other hand, 75 (80.6 %) of the patients included in the study were women and the mean BMI of the patients was 30.77 kg/cm2. There are also studies in the literature showing that female gender and obesity are risk factors in the formation of calcaneal spurs (10). Our results also support the literature on this subject.

In the treatment of calcaneal spur, ESWT has been used for a long time and its effectiveness has been shown (11–15). Although it has some mild side effects (pain, minor hematoma, vs.), it is generally a safe and beneficial treatment option (16). Therefore, it is often compared to ESWT when a new treatment option is explored (5, 17). The short-term effectiveness of kinesio taping against ESWT has been demonstrated in our study, which will make it more preferable as a treatment option. When we offer ESWT as an option in the treatment of calcaneal spur, we find that most patients have concerns that the procedure may be painful. In this respect, kinesio taping treatment comes to the fore a little more. Because there is no pain during or after the procedure. Kinesio taping is a taping method that has been used in sports injuries and musculoskeletal pain since the 1970s. Kuyucu et al. (18) investigated the effect of kinesiotaping in calcaneal apophysitis seen in male athletes and found that it was effective in restoring foot function but had a limited effect in reducing pain. A meta-analysis of 84 studies concluded that available evidence does not support the use of Kinesio taping applied to the ankle for improvements in functional performance, regardless of population (19). In another study, it was stated that the use of kinesio taping as an alternative to medical treatment or in combination with medical treatment would be beneficial (20). We see that there are opposite views in the literature about kinesio taping. A few studies have emphasized the need for high-quality, placebo-group studies (21, 22).

In this study, we came to a conclusion by evaluating the scales of the patients before and 1 week after the treatment. In this way, we have seen that kinesio taping is effective in a short time. However, we believe that the results may be different in longer follow-ups. The fact that our total follow-up period was 4 weeks can be considered as a limitation of the study. We think that studies with longer follow-up periods are needed to clarify our results. Another limitation of our study is the absence of a control group.

In conclusion, our study is the first to investigate the effectiveness of kinesio taping in the treatment of calcaneal spur, and our results will contribute to the literature. Kinesio tape is a good and effective treatment option in the treatment of calcaneal spur due to its ease of application, cost effectiveness and tolerability, and the absence of side effects such as pain or hematoma.

Ethical statement

This study was approved by Pamukkale University Non-Interventional Clinical Research Ethics Committee (Date: 13/01/2022, Approval number: E.155512).

Conflict of interest

None to declare.

Funding

None to declare.

Acknowledgments

We thank Hande ŞENOL for her contribution to the statistical analysis of our study.

Authors' contributions

Concept: N.N.K., T.K., Design: N.N.K., T.K., Data Collection or Processing: N.N.K., T.K., Analysis or Interpretation: N.N.K., T.K., Literature Search: N.N.K., T.K., Writing: N.N.K.

References

- Yalcin E, Keskin Akca A, Selcuk B, Kurtaran A, Akyuz M. Effects of extracorporal shock wave therapy on symptomatic heel spurs: a correlation between clinical outcome and radiologic changes. Rheumatol Int [Internet]. 2012 Feb 26;32(2):343–7. Available from: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s00296-010-1622-z
- 2. Ahmad J, Karim A, Daniel JN. Relationship and Classification of Plantar Heel Spurs in Patients With Plantar Fasciitis. Foot Ankle Int [Internet]. 2016 Sep 20;37(9):994–1000. Available from: http://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/1071100716649925
- 3. Johal KS, Milner SA. Plantar fasciitis and the calcaneal spur: Fact or fiction? Foot Ankle Surg [Internet]. 2012 Mar;18(1):39–41. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1268773111000385
- Agyekum EK, Ma K. Heel pain: A systematic review. Chinese J Traumatol [Internet]. 2015 Jun;18(3):164–9. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1008127515000437
- Tezel N, Umay E, Bulut M, Cakci A. Short-term efficacy of kinesiotaping versus extracorporeal shockwave therapy for plantar fasciitis: A randomized study. Saudi J Med Med Sci. 2020;8(3):181.
- Ercan S, Demir HM, Baygul Atalay Y, Cetin C. Efficiency of Combined Treatment of Extracorporeal Shock Wave Therapy and Kinesiotape Application on Patients with Plantar Fasciitis. Turkish J Sport Med [Internet]. 2017 Oct 2;52(3):102–10. Available from: http://www.sporhekimligidergisi.org/eng/abstract/285/eng
- Çeliker R, Güven Z, Aydoğ T, Bağış S, Atalay A, Yağcı HÇ, et al. Kinezyolojik Bantlama Tekniği ve Uygulama Alanları. Türkiye Fiz Tıp ve Rehabil Derg [Internet]. 2011 Dec 15;57(4):225–35. Available http://www.fordensisi.com/ang/uschole/2025/215/Teull Text

http://www.ftrdergisi.com/eng/makale/2935/215/Full-Text

8. Yaliman A, Sen EI, Eskiyurt N, Budiman-Mak E. Turkish Translation and Adaptation of Foot Function Index in Patients with Plantar Fasciitis. Türkiye Fiz Tip ve Rehabil Derg [Internet]. 2014 Sep 4;60(3):212–22. Available from: http://ftrdergisi.com/eng/makale/3717/287/Full-Text

- Anaforoğlu Külünkoğlu B, Fırat N, Yıldız NT, Alkan A. Reliability and validity of the Turkish version of the Foot Function Index in patients with foot disorders. Turkish J Med Sci [Internet]. 2018 Jun 14;48(3):476–83. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/29914240
- 10. Başdelioğlu K. Radiologic and Demographic Characteristics of Patients With Plantar Calcaneal Spur. J Foot Ankle Surg [Internet]. 2021 Jan;60(1):51–4. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1067251620302465
- Ulusoy A, Cerrahoglu L, Orguc S. Magnetic Resonance Imaging and Clinical Outcomes of Laser Therapy, Ultrasound Therapy, and Extracorporeal Shock Wave Therapy for Treatment of Plantar Fasciitis: A Randomized Controlled Trial. J Foot Ankle Surg [Internet]. 2017 Jul;56(4):762–7. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1067251617301321
- 12. Hayta E, Salk I, Gumus C, Tuncay MS, Cetin A. Extracorporeal shock-wave therapy effectively reduces calcaneal spur length and spur-related pain in overweight and obese patients. J Back Musculoskelet Rehabil [Internet]. 2016 Dec 20;30(1):17–22. Available from: https://www.medra.org/servlet/aliasResolver?alias=iospress&doi =10.3233/BMR-160708
- 13. Krukowska J, Wrona J, Sienkiewicz M, Czernicki J. A comparative analysis of analgesic efficacy of ultrasound and shock wave therapy in the treatment of patients with inflammation of the attachment of the plantar fascia in the course of calcaneal spurs. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg [Internet]. 2016 Sep 11;136(9):1289–96. Available from: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s00402-016-2503-z
- 14. Tengku Yusof TNB, Seow D, Vig KS. Extracorporeal Shockwave Therapy for Foot and Ankle Disorders: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. J Am Podiatr Med Assoc [Internet]. 2022 Feb 25;1–26. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/34878537
- 15. Notarnicola A, Maccagnano G, Moretti L, Farì G, Bianchi FP, Working Group SWCB, et al. Could the presence of heel spur be a prognostic factor for outcome of extracorporeal shock wave therapy for plantar fasciitis? J Biol Regul Homeost Agents [Internet]. 33(6):1949–54. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/31939270
- 16. Auersperg V, Trieb K. Extracorporeal shock wave therapy: an update. EFORT Open Rev [Internet]. 2020 Oct;5(10):584–92. Available from: https://eor.bioscientifica.com/view/journals/eor/5/10/2058-5241.5.190067.xml
- 17. Badil Güloğlu S, Yalçın Ü. Comparison of effects of low-level laser therapy and extracorporeal shock wave therapy in calcaneal spur treatment: A prospective, randomized, clinical study. Turkish J Phys Med Rehabil [Internet]. 2021 May 25;67(2):218–24. Available from: http://www.ftrdergisi.com/uploads/pdf/pdf 4292.pdf
- 18. Kuyucu E, Gülenç B, Biçer H, Erdil M. Assessment of the kinesiotherapy's efficacy in male athletes with calcaneal apophysitis. J Orthop Surg Res [Internet]. 2017 Oct 6;12(1):146. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28985751
- Nunes GS, Feldkircher JM, Tessarin BM, Bender PU, da Luz CM, de Noronha M. Kinesio taping does not improve ankle functional or performance in people with or without ankle injuries: Systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin Rehabil [Internet]. 2021 Feb;35(2):182–99. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/33081510
- 20. Morris D, Jones D, Ryan H, Ryan CG. The clinical effects of Kinesio ® Tex taping: A systematic review. Physiother Theory Pract [Internet]. 2013 May 22;29(4):259–70. Available from:

http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.3109/09593985.2012.73 1675

- **21.** Halseth T, McChesney JW, Debeliso M, Vaughn R, Lien J. The effects of kinesioTM taping on proprioception at the ankle. J Sports Sci Med [Internet]. 2004 Mar;3(1):1–7. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24497814
- 22. Williams S, Whatman C, Hume PA, Sheerin K. Kinesio taping in treatment and prevention of sports injuries: a meta-analysis of the evidence for its effectiveness. Sports Med [Internet]. 2012 Feb 1;42(2):153–64. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22124445.





Research Article

J Exp Clin Med 2023; 40(1): 62-65 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.40.1.13

Lumbosacral transitional vertebrae: An overlooked cause of back pain on MRI

Gamze TÜRK^{1,*}^(b), Mustafa BİLGİLİ¹^(b), Ahmet Emrah AÇAN²^(b), Ali KOÇ¹^(b)

¹Department of Radiology, Kayseri State Hospital, Kayseri, Türkiye

²Department of Orthopedics and Traumatology, Faculty of Medicine, Balıkesir University, Balıkesir, Türkiye

Received: 12.09.2022	•	Accepted/Published Online: 26.11.2022	•	Final Version: 18.03.2023

Abstract

To evaluate the frequency of lumbosacral transitional vertebrae (LSTV) on MRI in patients with backpain and clinically suspected of sacroiliitis. Sacroiliac MRI of patients who had backpain and were clinically suspicious for sacroiliitis between November 2021-March 2022 were retrospectively analyzed from the hospital database by two different radiologists. LSTV cases were identified and subgrouped according to Castellvi classification. Presence of sacroiliitis, degeneration and /or herniation of cranial segment intervertebral disc, facet joint hypertrophy, coxarthrosis and psoas atrophy were recorded. In cases where radiologists were in conflict, consensus was made. Between November 2021-March 2022, 614 sacroiliac MRIs were obtained and 81 (13%) had LSTV. Fifty-nine patients were female (72.8%). Mean age was 43.4. The most common identified LSTV was type 1a (n=30, 10 right-sided, 20 left-sided). Sacroiliitis was significantly more common in younger patients (p=0.04) and in males (p=0.009). Disc degeneration, disc herniation, facet joint hypertrophy and psoas atrophy increased significantly with age (p=0.007, p=0.001, p=0.002 and p=0.013 respectively). No correlation was found between gender or presence of sacroiliitis and any type of LSTV. LSTV may present with backpain and should be considered in patients where sacroiliitis is clinically suspected. MRI is a useful tool to identify other accompanying pathologies in these cases.

Keywords: back pain; sacroiliitis; lumbosacral transitional vertebra; disc degeneration; spine transitional anomalies

1. Introduction

Lumbosacral transitional vertebra (LSTV) is a common congenital anatomical variant and its prevalence varies 7 to 32% in the literature (1-4). In these cases, the transverse process of the last lumbar vertebrae is somewhat elongated and forms a connection with sacrum which may manifest on a wide spectrum from an isolated elongated transverse process to complete fusion with the sacrum. According to its relation with the sacrum, LSTV can be classified in to four types by the Castellvi classification (1). Type 1 indicates an enlarged transvers process (>19 mm) of L5. Type 2 refers to pseudoarticulation of the enlarged transvers process with sacral ala whereas Type 3 involves complete fusion of the transverse process and the ala. Type 4 are those with Type 2 on one side and Type 3 on the other side. Moreover, "a" is added for unilateral involvement and "b" is added for bilateral involvement in this classification. Additionally in 1996, O'Driscoll et al proposed another classification based on the S1 lumbarization and S1-S2 intervertebral disc morphology (5).

Lumbosacral transitional vertebrae-related back pain was first introduced in 1917 by Bertolotti(6) who attributed the pain to the arthritis at the pseudo-articulation. In these patients the pain and the limited range of motion becomes more prominent with ipsilateral bending and rotation. It's been shown in the literature that LSTV is a protective factor for disc degeneration at the level of transition, whereas it causes increased load at the cephalad disc, making it vulnerable for degeneration (7-9). Early and more advanced disc degeneration has been reported in LSTV, particularly in young patients (2, 7, 10). Additionally, LSTV prevalence was found to be higher in patients with lumbar disc herniation compared to control group (11).

In this study we aimed to evaluate the presence of LSTV in patients who underwent MRI with a pre-diagnosis of sacroiliitis.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Patient selection

Sacroiliac MRIs that were obtained with a sacroiliitis prediagnosis between November 2021-March 2022 were retrospectively analyzed from the hospital picture archiving and communication system (PACS). The study protocol was approved by the Kayseri State Hospital Ethics Committee (21.02.2023/803). Patients with major surgery or fracture history of lumbar, hip or pelvic area were excluded. Images were evaluated by two radiologists. Patients with LSTV were recorded and grouped according to Castellvi classification.

2.2. Magnetic resonance imaging and radiological analysis Sacroiliac MRI was performed by a 1,5 T MRI system (Magnetom Aera, Siemens, Erlangen). The MRI protocol

included a coronal T1-weighted and T2-weighted fast spinecho (FSE) sequence, a coronal short-tau inversion recovery sequence, and an axial T2-weighted fat-saturated FSE sequences. Intervertebral discs cephalad and at the level of transitional level were evaluated using the Pfirrmann and Modic classifications (12, 13). Presence of sacroiliitis, herniation of intervertebral discs, facet joint hypertrophy, coxarthrosis and psoas atrophy were recorded. In cases where radiologists were in conflict, consensus was made.

2.3. Statistical analysis

SPSS 22 statistical package program was used for statistical analysis. Study characteristics are stated as means, frequencies or ratios.

3. Results

Of 614 sacroiliac MRIs, 81 (13%) had LSTV. Fifty-nine patients were female (72.8%). Mean age was 43.4. Thirty patients had Type 1a (10 right-sided, 20 left-sided); 13 patients had Type 1b (Fig.1); 27 patients had Type 2a (10 right-sided, 17 left-sided) (Fig. 2); 17 patients had Type 2b; 5 patients had Type 3a (4 right-sided, 1 left sided) (Fig. 3), 1 patient had Type 3b and 3 patients had Type 4.



Fig. 1. Coronal T2- weighted MRI image shows bilateral enlarged transverse processes (Type 1b)



Fig. 2. Pseudo-articulation of left transvers process of L5 and sacral ala is seen on coronal T2- weighted image (Type 2a). Increased intensity is noted adjacent to the pseudo-articulation, suggesting inflammation



Fig. 3. Left transvers process of L5 is totally fused with sacrum on this coronal STIR image (Type 3a)

Concomitant sacroiliitis was present in 11 cases (13.5%), in 10 cases sacroiliitis was bilateral and in one case only right side was involved. Degeneration was noted in the cephalad intervertebral disc in 42 patients (52%), accompanied by disc herniation in 27 patients (33.3%). Disc was spared at the level of transition 40 of the 42 cases with cephalad disc degeneration. Facet joint hypertrophy was present in 11 patients (13.6%), coxarthrosis in two patients and psoas atrophy in 3 patients.

Sacroiliitis was significantly more frequent in younger (p=0.04) and in male patients (p=0.009). Presence of sacroiliitis was not significantly correlated with any LSTV types. Rates of disc degeneration, disc herniation, facet joint hypertrophy and psoas atrophy increased significantly with age (p=0.007, p=0.001, p=0.002 and p=0.13, respectively). LSTV type was also not correlated with gender or disco-vertebral pathologies.

4. Discussion

Lumbosacral transition is a relatively common pathology but mostly overlooked in the management of back pain. Even though x-ray is the first line for imaging in the evaluation of back pain, MRI has become increasingly more available particularly for identifying active inflammation in the sacroiliac joints and detailed visualization of disc pathologies. Reported LSTV prevalence varies among the imaging modalities used. Standard AP x-rays have 76-84% accuracy for diagnosis and 53-58% accuracy for classification of LSTV (14). Previous reports prevail a prevalence 7 to 32% with male dominance (%28.1 vs %11.1) (1-4). However, in our study, 13 percent of our patients had LSTV and majority of the cases were female. We attribute this difference to our small sample size, that our study only includes the symptomatic patients, and the more common hospital visits by the female.

Cadaveric studies indicated that SI joint width was
correlated with sacral height and sacrum AP dimension; and suggested that LSTV development may be related to load bearing capacity of normal sacrum at very early periods. When the sacrum is shorter, the SI joint surface also is smaller resulting in insufficient transfer of load to pelvis. Therefore, in these patients with small sacra with a narrow SI joint surface, sacrum may fuse with L5 to increase its load bearing capacity (15). The discrepancy of load bearing is more prominent in one-sided cases (8).

Due to the disruption of the pelvic alignment and scoliosis, degenerative changes at the intervertebral disc and the facet joint cephalad to the transition level may be seen (16). Presence of LSTV has been shown to have a protective effect on the intervertebral disc at the level of transition (7, 9, 16, 17). An increase in this protective effect was noted as the osseous bridge is more prominent (9). When compared with control group, degenerative changes were more severe and developed at a younger age (2, 7, 10). In our study disc degeneration was noted in half of the patients, and of these cases only three showed degeneration at the level of the transition. These three patients were older patients with accompanying other degenerative changes in lumber spine and hip. Other than those, disc at the level of transition was spared. Our results showed an increase of degenerative changes with age, which was expected.

In their study of 211 cases, Apazidis et al reported that Type 1a was the most common subtype, with a prevalence of 14.7% (18). However, Type 1a mostly has no clinical significance and requires no further evaluation (1). In another study prevalence of Type 1 and 2 was reported as 40% each, Type 3 was 11,5% and Type 4 was 5,25% (19). In our study Type 1 and 2 consisted of 53% and 54% of patients respectively. Type 3 was 7.5% and Type 4 was 3.7%.

Knowledge of LSTV presence has also utmost importance before surgery. In sacralized patients, pars interarticularis height and laminae width decreases, resulting in predisposition for spondylolysis and spondylolisthesis.

Pain related to LSTV still remains a controversial issue. Following the report of Bertolotti on LSTV-related back pain, some studies argued that degenerative changes at the pseudoarticulation was not related with the pain (20). On the other hand, scintigraphic activity was shown at the pseudoarticulation in symptomatic patients with no pathologies other than LSTV (21). Nerve compression by the osteophytes at the level of pseudo-articulation has been described (22). There are also case reports on compression of lumbar nerve between L5 transverse process and sacral ala, and extraforaminal nerve compression caudal to transition (23-25). In the literature, Bertolotti syndrome was found to be 4-8% in patients with back pain (4). Nardo noted that pain was more frequent in type 2 and 4 (19).

In conclusion, LSTV may manifest with backpain and

should be kept in mind while evaluating MRI for back pain. MRI also enables identification other pathologies that may accompany this anatomical variant.

Ethical statement

The study protocol was approved by the Kayseri State Hospital Ethics Committee (21.02.2023/803).

Conflict of interest

The authors declared no conflict of interest.

Funding

No funding was used for the study.

Acknowledgments

None to declare.

Authors' contributions

Concept: G.T., A.E.A., A.K., Design: G.T., A.E.A., A.K., Data Collection or Processing: G.T., M.B., A.K., Analysis or Interpretation: G.T., M.B., A.K., Literature Search: G.T., A.E.A., Writing: G.T., A.K.

References

- **1.** Castellvi AE, Goldstein LA, Chan DP. Lumbosacral transitional vertebrae and their relationship with lumbar extradural defects. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) 1984; 9(5): 493-495.
- Otani K, Konno S, Kikuchi S. Lumbosacral transitional vertebrae and nerve-root symptoms. J Bone Joint Surg Br 2001; 83(8): 1137-1140.
- **3.** Delport EG, Cocuzzella TR, Kim N, Marley J, Pruitt C, Delport AG. Lumbosacral transitional vertebrae: incidence in a consecutive patient series. Pain Physician 2006; 9(1): 53-56.
- Sekharappa V, Amritanand R, Krishnan V, David KS. Lumbosacral transition vertebra: prevalence and its significance. Asian Spine J. 2014; 8(1): 51-58.
- O'Driscoll CM, Irwin A, Saifuddin A. Variations in morphology of the lumbosacral junction on sagittal MRI: correlation with plain radiography. Skeletal Radiol. 1996; 25(3): 225-230.
- Bertolotti M. Contributo alla conoscenza dei vizi di differenziazione regionale del rachide con speciale riguardo all assimilazione sacrale della v. lombare. Radiol Medica 1917; 4: 113-144.
- Luoma K, Vehmas T, Raininko R, Luukkonen R, Riihimaki H. Lumbosacral transitional vertebra: relation to disc degeneration and low back pain. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) 2004; 29(2): 200-205.
- **8.** Mahato NK. Lumbosacral transitional vertebrae: variations in low back structure, biomechanics, and stress patterns. J Chiropr Med 2012; 11(2): 134-135.
- **9.** Farshad-Amacker NA, Herzog RJ, Hughes AP, Aichmair A, Farshad M. Associations between lumbosacral transitional anatomy types and degeneration at the transitional and adjacent segments. Spine J. 2015; 15(6): 1210-1216.
- Quinlan JF, Duke D, Eustace S. Bertolotti's syndrome. A cause of back pain in young people. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 2006; 88(9): 1183-1186.
- 11. Avimadje M, Goupille P, Jeannou J, Gouthiere C, Valat JP. Can an anomalous lumbo-sacral or lumbo-iliac articulation cause low back pain? A retrospective study of 12 cases. Rev Rhum Engl Ed. 1999; 66(1): 35-39.
- 12. Pfirrmann CW, Metzdorf A, Zanetti M, Hodler J, Boos N.

Magnetic resonance classification of lumbar intervertebral disc degeneration. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2001; 26(17): 1873-1878.

- **13.** Modic MT, Steinberg PM, Ross JS, Masaryk TJ, Carter JR. Degenerative disk disease: assessment of changes in vertebral body marrow with MR imaging. Radiology. 1988; 166(1 Pt 1): 193-199.
- 14. Jancuska JM, Spivak JM, Bendo J. A review of symptomatic lumbosacral transitional vertebrae: Bertolotti's syndrome. Int J Spine Surg. 2015; 9: 42.
- **15.** Mahato NK. Morphological traits in sacra associated with complete and partial lumbarization of first sacral segment. Spine J. 2010; 10(10): 910-915.
- **16.** McGrath K, Schmidt E, Rabah N, Abubakr M, Steinmetz M. Clinical assessment and management of Bertolotti Syndrome: a review of the literature. Spine J. 2021; 21(8): 1286-1296.
- 17. Vergauwen S, Parizel PM, van Breusegem L, van Goethem JW, Nackaerts Y, van den Hauwe L et al. Distribution and incidence of degenerative spine changes in patients with a lumbo-sacral transitional vertebra. Eur Spine J. 1997; 6(3): 168-172.
- **18.** Apazidis A, Ricard PA, Diefenbach CM, Spivak JM. The prevalence of transitional vertebrae in the lumbar spine. Spine J. 2011; 11(9): 858-862.
- **19.** Nardo L, Alizai H, Virayavanich W, Liu F, Hernandez A, Lynch JA et al. Lumbosacral transitional vertebrae: association with low back pain. Radiology. 2012; 265(2): 497-503.

- **20.** Elster AD. Bertolotti's syndrome revisited. Transitional vertebrae of the lumbar spine. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 1989; 14(12): 1373-1377.
- **21.** Connolly LP, d'Hemecourt PA, Connoly SA, Drubach LA, Micheli LJ, Treves ST. Skeletal scintigraphy of young patients with low-back pain and a lumbosacral transitional vertebra. J Nucl Med. 2003; 44(6): 909-914.
- 22. Porter NA, Lalam RK, Tins BJ, Tyrrell PNM, Singh J, Cassar-Pullicino VN. Prevalence of extraforaminal nerve root compression below lumbosacral transitional vertebrae. Skeletal Radiol. 2014; 43(1): 55-60.
- **23.** Weber J, Ernestus RI. Transitional lumbosacral segment with unilateral transverse process anomaly (Castellvi type 2A) resulting in extraforaminal impingement of the spinal nerve: a pathoanatomical study of four specimens and report of two clinical cases. Neurosurg Rev. 2010; 34(2): 143-150.
- 24. Abe E, Sato K, Shimada Y, Okada K, Yan K, Mizutani Y. Anterior decompression of foraminal stenosis below a lumbosacral transitional vertebra. A case report. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 1997; 22(7): 823-826.
- **25.** Ichihara K, Taguchi T, Hashida T, Ochi Y, Murakami T, Kawai S. The treatment of far-out foraminal stenosis below a lumbosacral transitional vertebra: a report of two cases. J Spinal Disord Tech. 2004; 17(2): 154-157.



Journal of Experimental and Clinical Medicine https://dergipark.org.tr/omujecm

Research Article



J Exp Clin Med 2023; 40(1): 66-71 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.40.1.14

Evaluation of the effect of NO₂ levels on mortality in four key cities of Türkiye between 2017-2019

Elif Nur YILDIRIM ÖZTÜRK^{1,*}, Mustafa ÖZTÜRK²

¹Department of Public Health, Faculty of Medicine, Ankara University, Ankara, Türkiye ²Department of Emergency Medicine, Pursaklar State Hospital, Ankara, Türkiye

Received: 16.09.2022 • Accepted/Published Online: 21.12.2022	•	Final Version: 18.03.2023
--	---	---------------------------

Abstract

This study aimed to evaluate the NO₂ levels in four key cities of Türkiye (İstanbul, Ankara, İzmir, and Bursa) over three years and examine the effect of NO₂ on mortality and is a descriptive-ecological research. It required each city's air quality (NO₂), population and death data to cover the dates between January 1, 2017, and December 31, 2019. The study accepted 20 μ g/m³ as the annual NO₂ limit value. Numbers, percentages, mean, standard deviation, and minimum and maximum values were used in summarizing data. Calculations related to mortality attributed to NO₂-induced air pollution were made using the AirQ+ software's methodology. In 2019, 33 stations in İstanbul, four in Ankara, five in İzmir, and five in Bursa measured NO₂. In 2019, the weighted NO₂ mean was 40.61 μ g/m³ in İstanbul, 32.94 μ g/m³ in Ankara, 7.87 μ g/m³ in İzmir, and 31.68 μ g/m³ in Bursa. The estimated percentage of deaths attributed to NO₂ in 2019 was 7.95 in İstanbul, 5.07 in Ankara, and 4.58 in Bursa. No calculations were made for 2018 in Ankara and 2017, 2018, and 2019 in İzmir, as the NO₂ levels in these cities were less than 20 μ g/m³ in the years in question. The results revealed that the NO₂ levels were higher than the limit value in three of the four key cities in Türkiye and that the mortality rates attributed to NO₂ were higher compared to similar studies in the literature.

Keywords: air pollution, AirQ+, nitrogen oxide, NO2, Türkiye

1. Introduction

Air pollution, accepted as one of the top ten risk factors threatening human health, is the most critical environmental factor threatening health (1, 2). Increasing air pollution levels can increase the burden of heart disease, stroke, lung cancer, and acute and chronic respiratory diseases. It is estimated that there were 4.2 million deaths in 2016 due to air pollution in rural and urban areas (1). 91% of the world population lives in places where the air quality limit values of the World Health Organization are exceeded (3).

According to the Global Burden of Disease study, 11.80% of all deaths and 8.40% of DALYs (Disability-adjusted life years) worldwide in 2019 are associated with air pollution (4). In the same study, air pollution in Türkiye increased by 3.5% between 2009 and 2019, making it the fifth most common cause of death and disease in 2019 (5). Reducing diseases and deaths due to air pollution, using clean energy sources in houses, and reducing the environmental burden of cities by improving air quality are among the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals (6, 7).

Nitrogen dioxide (NO2) is one of the nitrogen oxides and a

reactive gas that is an important cause of air pollution. NO2 is produced as a result of the combustion of fuels. The main source of this pollutant is exhaust emissions and power plants (8). High doses of NO2 can aggravate respiratory diseases and increase hospital admissions and emergency room visits (1, 8). It is known that long and short-term NO2 exposures cause mortality (9, 10). There are also research cohorts showing the association of NO2 with increased mortality (11, 12).

This research aimed to evaluate the NO₂ levels in the three years covering 2017-2019 and examine the effect of NO₂ on mortality in Türkiye's four most densely populated provinces (İstanbul, Ankara, İzmir, and Bursa).

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Introduction of the Working Area

Türkiye is located in the European Region of the World Health Organization, has lands in Asia and Europe, and is in the uppermiddle economic class (Fig. 1 and 2). The research was conducted in the four key cities of Türkiye. One-third of Türkiye's population lives in these four cities.



Fig. 1. Türkiye's Location in the World



Fig. 2. The Four Key Cities of Türkiye (İstanbul, Ankara, İzmir, and Bursa) that are the subject of this research

2.2. Type of Research and Research Permits

This is a descriptive-ecological research. Ethics committee approval was obtained from Ankara University Health Sciences Ethics Committee (Number: 05-54, Date: 07.03.2022).

2.3. Research Data

This research was carried out between November 1, 2021, and June 15, .2022. This study required provincial air quality, population, and death data. The NO₂ levels, one of the air quality data, were obtained from the official website of the Turkish Republic of the Ministry of Environment and Urbanization, covering the dates between January 1, 2017, and December 31, 2019 (13), and the province-based population and death data for the years 2017, 2018 and 2019 were obtained from the Turkish Statistical Institute (14). The crude death rate per hundred thousand people was calculated by excluding those caused by poisoning and injury from the number of deaths in the relevant years. It is stated in the annual report of the Right to Clean Air Platform, created by the gathering of

sixteen non-governmental organizations, that the levels of air pollutants, including NO₂, are not adequately measured throughout Türkiye (15). For this reason, the data of all air quality measurement stations that measure NO₂ value was used in the study.

2.4. Data Evaluation

The World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe has developed a software called AirQ+ to determine the effects of air quality on mortality and morbidity. AirQ+ is used to quantify air pollution parameters' effects on a specified population's health. The software is used to evaluate the impact of long- and short-term exposure to ambient air pollution and long-term exposure to household air pollution. All calculations performed with AirQ+ software are based on methodologies and concentration-response functions established by epidemiological studies. The baseline concentration-response functions are based on systematic review and meta-analysis studies (16).

For the data required by the AirQ+ software, in order to calculate the annual means of NO2 levels, the NO2 levels of the stations that made the NO₂ measurement in the relevant year were weighted according to the measurement frequency of the air quality station and divided by the number of stations. In addition, the population at risk in the relevant year and the crude death rate per hundred thousand people were entered the software. The relative risk value (1041, 95% CI 1019-1064) suggested by the AirQ+ software for NO2 was used. In the study, the limit value of 20 μ g/m³, which is the annual limit value recommended in the 2013 'Health Risks of Air Pollution in Europe' (HRAPIE) project, was accepted as the NO2 limit value (17). 10 μ g/m³, which is the current value of WHO as of September 2021, was not used as a limit value since it was determined after the date of the data within the study (1). The annual NO₂ limit value determined in Türkiye is 40 μ g/m³ (18).

Descriptive statistics from the analyzes related to the study

were calculated using manual methods. Other statistics were performed in the computer environment using AirQ+ software. Numbers and percentages were used to summarize categorical data, while mean, standard deviation, and minimum and maximum values were used to summarize numerical data. Calculations related to mortality attributed to NO2-induced air pollution were made using the AirQ+ software's methodology.

3. Results

3.1. Population and Death

The population of İstanbul was 15.029.231 in 2017, 15.067.724 in 2018, and 15.519.267 in 2019. İstanbul's crude death rate per hundred thousand people was calculated as 387.744 in 2017, 398.819 in 2018, and 399.123 in 2019. Population, the number of deaths, and crude death rates per hundred thousand people in İstanbul, Ankara, İzmir, and Bursa by years are shown in Table 1.

Table 1. Population, Number of Deaths, and Crude Death Rates per Hundred Thousand Persons in Istanbul, Ankara, Izmir, and Bursa	by Years
--	----------

City	Year	Population	Total number of deaths	Number of deaths caused by poisoning and injury	Crude death rate per hundred thousand people
	2017	15.029.231	59.921	1.646	387.744
İstanbul	2018	15.067.724	62.547	2.454	398.819
	2019	15.519.267	63.371	1.430	399.123
	2017	5.445.026	25.413	1.111	446.316
Ankara	2018	5.503.985	26.115	1.189	452.872
	2019	5.639.076	26.405	956	451.297
	2017	4.279.677	25.756	960	579.390
İzmir	2018	4.320.519	26.471	1.101	587.198
	2019	4.367.251	27.567	1.030	607.636
Bursa	2017	2.936.803	16.309	714	531.020
	2018	2.994.521	16.636	742	530.769
	2019	3.056.120	16.697	652	525.012

3.2. NO₂ Measurements and Means

The number of stations measuring NO₂ in İstanbul was 12 in 2017 and 2018, and 33 in 2019. The weighted NO₂ mean in İstanbul was 41.39 in 2017, 34.81 μ g/m³ in 2018, and 40.61 μ g/m³ in 2019. For each city, the number of stations making measurements and the weighted NO₂ means calculated by the measurement percentages of the stations are presented in Table 2.

 Table 2. Number of Stations Making Measurements in İstanbul,

 Ankara, İzmir, and Bursa by Years and Weighted NO2 Means

City	Year	Number of stations	Weighted NO ₂ mean (µg/m ³)
	2017	12	41.39
İstanbul	2018	12	34.81
	2019	33	40.61
	2017	4	40.88
Ankara	2018	4	15.90
	2019	4	32.94
	2017	3	13.64
İzmir	2018	10	3.74
	2019	5	7.87
Bursa	2017	5	45.28
	2018	5	27.56
	2019	5	31.68

The trend of NO₂ levels from 2017 to 2019 showed (Fig. 3)

no clear increase or decrease. Some decreases and increases do not follow a certain trend from year to year and from city to city.





3.3. Deaths Attributed to NO₂

The number of deaths attributed to NO₂ pollution in İstanbul was 4799 (2300-7242) in 2017, 3472 (1652-5275) in 2018, and 4923 (2357-7434) in 2019. The estimated percentages of deaths attributed to NO₂ were 8.24 in 2017, 5.78 in 2018, and 7.95 in 2019 (Table 3). Calculations of 2018 for Ankara and 2017, 2018, and 2019 for İzmir were not made because NO₂ levels were less than 20 μ g/m³ in these years.

City	Year	Estimated Number of Attributed Deaths (Min-Max)	Estimated Number of Attributed Deaths Per Hundred Thousand (Min-Max)	Estimated Percentage of Attributable Deaths (Min-Max)
	2017	4799 (2300-7242)	31.93 (15.30-48.18)	8.24 (3.95-12.43)
İstanbul	2018	3472 (1652-5275)	23.04 (10.96-35.01)	5.78 (2.75-8.78)
	2019	4923 (2357-7434)	31.72 (15.19-47.90)	7.95 (3.80-12.00)
	2017	1956 (937-2952)	35.92 (17.20-54.22)	8.05 (3.85-12.15)
Ankara	2018	-	-	-
	2019	1289 (612-1963)	22.87 (10.86-34.81)	5.07 (2.41-7.71)
	2017	-	-	-
İzmir	2018	-	-	-
201	2019	-	-	-
	2017	1506 (725-2264)	51.29 (24.67-77.08)	9.66 (4.65-14.51)
Bursa	2018	476 (225-728)	15.88 (7.50-24.32)	2.99 (1.41-4.58)
	2019	736 (349-1121)	24.07 (11.42-36.70)	4.58 (2.17-6.99)

Table 3. Number of deaths attributed to NO2 air pollution in İstanbul, Ankara, İzmir and Bursa by year

4. Discussion

There is epidemiological evidence of the health effects of air pollution. The World Health Organization reported deaths attributed to ambient air pollution as age-standardized for both sexes per hundred thousand people as 46.57 (40.17-53.31) for Türkiye, 13.31 (9.51-17.78) for the USA, 46.24 (36.87-57.21) for Russia, and 66.73 (57.74-75.79) for China, 109.4 (96.73-124.2) for India, 13.75 (10.15-18.21) for UK, 6.96 (4.63-9.8) for Canada, 24.06 (19.3-30.22) for Brazil, 113.18 (9.51-17.38) for Denmark, 66.55 (54.05-79.37) for the Democratic Republic of Congo and 8.39 (5.9-11.81) for Australia in 2016 (19). Attributable to ambient air pollution DALYs (Disabilityadjusted life years) for the same year for both sexes per hundred thousand were reported that 1,175 (1.041-1.320) for Türkiye, 333 (249.1-430.4) for the USA, 1,131 (953.1-1.315) for Russia, 1.475 (1.291-1.652) for China, 3.038 (2.700-3.413) for India, 300.3 (235.2-381.9) for the UK, 152.1 (109.9-200.8) for Canada, 591 (484.1-723.2) for Brazil, 271.3 (200.7-350.5) for Denmark, 2.179 (1.647-2.715) for the Democratic Republic of the Congo, and 175.2 (131.4-225.7) for Australia (20). According to the Global Burden of Disease study 2019, 11.80% of all deaths and 8.41% of all DALYs worldwide; 9.70% of all deaths and 5.72% of all DALYs in Türkiye are caused by air pollution (21, 22).

There is also evidence showing the health consequences of exposure to NO₂. NO₂ exposure results in an increased risk of lower respiratory tract infections in children (23), is associated with the development of COPD (24), causes the development of childhood asthma (25), causes asthma attacks in both children and adults (26), and may cause lung cancer (26, 27) and increases all-cause mortality (9, 28). A Danish cohort study found a relationship between NO₂ and cardiovascular mortality (29). A meta-analysis of thirteen studies found a relationship between NO₂ exposure and breast cancer (30). A systematic review study evaluating thirteen studies determined that exposure to air pollutants, including NO₂, increases the risk of dementia (31). In a systematic review including fifteen studies, NO₂ was found to be a trigger on the spread and lethality of Covid-19 (32).

In this study, NO₂ measurements in the four key cities of Türkiye were higher than the limit value, excluding every three years in İzmir and in 2018 in Ankara. The trend of NO₂ levels from 2017 to 2019 showed no clear increase or decrease. Some decreases and increases do not follow a certain trend from year to year and from city to city. A study conducted in northern China determined that NO₂ was in a decreasing trend (33). In studies conducted in Portugal, Northwest China, Spain, and India, it was found that NO₂ showed irregular decreases and increases (34-37). In addition, there are studies showing that NO₂ levels decrease during the Covid-19 pandemic period (38-40). Since the main source of NO₂ is exhaust emissions and power plants, this result can be explained by reasons such as traffic density and energy need. This may also be related to the location of the station, the number of measurements, and its accuracy.

The deaths attributed to NO₂ for 2019 in the research are 7.95% in İstanbul, 5.07% in Ankara, and 4.58% in Bursa. Since the measured and recorded NO₂ values in İzmir are below 20 μ g/m³, no deaths were attributed to NO₂. In studies conducted in other cities in Türkiye, deaths attributed to NO₂ were 9.5% for Konya in 2019, 18.9% for Erzurum in 2018, 5.57% for Kocaeli in 2018, 3.98% for Sakarya in 2018, 2.61% for Bilecik in 2018, 2.18% for Edirne in 2018 and 0.89% for Balıkesir in 2018 (41-43).

Among the studies conducted in Iran, the rate of deaths attributed to NO₂ was 1.03% for Isfahan in 2013-2014, 2.08% for Mashhad in 2015-2016, and 1.37% short-term exposure and 14.39% long-term exposure for Ahvaz in 2014-2017 (44-46). In a study conducted in North China, the rate of deaths attributed to NO₂ was 4.19%, and in a study conducted in Northwest China, it was calculated as 1.57% (33, 35). In another study in northern Italy, the rate of deaths attributed to NO₂ was 1.8% (47). There are lower percentages in the literature than the frequency of deaths attributed to NO₂ obtained in the current study. This situation may depend on the distance of the buildings to the highways, the type and amount of energy used in the houses, and the policies implemented or not implemented by the countries regarding reducing air pollution.

Our research evaluated the NO_2 values and the deaths attributed to NO_2 in the four key cities in Türkiye. To our

knowledge, this is the first study to evaluate four key cities in Türkiye. Since the research was conducted using the latest death data in Türkiye, it provides up-to-date information. These two situations are the highlights of the research.

Since the research is of ecological type, it does not evaluate the individual, but the geographical location and the society in that region. Both our study and other air quality-related studies in the literature are affected by the number of measuring stations, the location of the station (the distance to the highway, the power plant, etc.), and the number and quality of measurements. Therefore, such studies should be interpreted by taking this information into account. In cities where millions live, relatively few stations have measured and recorded NO₂. These are the limitations of the research.

As a result of the research, it is determined that the NO₂ levels were higher than the determined limit values in three of the four big cities in Türkiye, and the mortality rates attributed to NO₂ were higher compared to similar studies in the literature. It has to be considered that deaths due to air pollutants are preventable deaths. It should be ensured that measures are taken on an international, national and local basis and that air pollutant levels are measured in appropriate localizations, in sufficient numbers, and at acceptable quality. In addition, it is recommended to carry out actual research involving other cities/more cities both from Türkiye and around the world with AirQ+ software to keep the subject up to date and follow the situation.

Ethical statement

Ethics committee approval was obtained from Ankara University Health Sciences Ethics Committee (Number: 05-54, Date: 07.03.2022).

Conflict of interest

None declared by the authors.

Funding

None declared by the authors.

Acknowledgments

None declared by the authors.

Authors' contributions

Concept: E.N.Y.O., Design: E.N.Y.O., M.O., Data Collection or Processing: E.N.Y.O., M.O., Analysis or Interpretation: E.N.Y.O., Literature Review: E.N.Y.O., M.O., Writing: E.N.Y.O., M.O.

References

- 1. World Health Organization. Fact sheet, Ambient (outdoor) air pollution [Internet]. 2022 [cited 2022 May 24]. Available from https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/ambient-(outdoor)-air-quality-and-health
- **2.** GBD 2017 Risk Factor Collaborators. Global, regional, and national comparative risk assessment of 84 behavioural, environmental and occupational, and metabolic risks or clusters of risks for 195 countries and territories, 1990–2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. Lancet. 2018; 392(10159): 1923-1994.

- **3.** World Health Organization. Themes, Air pollution data portal [Internet]. 2022 [cited 2022 May 24]. Available from https://www.who.int/data/gho/data/themes/air-pollution
- 4. Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation. Global air pollution deaths and DALYs [Internet]. 2019 [cited 2022 May 26]. Available from https://vizhub.healthdata.org/gbdresults?params=gbd-api-2019permalink/8637b93bb3fd644655fc38391c087e04
- 5. Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation. Country profiles: Turkey [Internet]. 2019 [cited 2022 May 26]. Available from http://www.healthdata.org/turkey
- 6. United Nations Sustainable Developments Goals. 17 goals to transform our world [Internet]. 2015 [cited 2022 May 26]. Available from https://www.un.org/sustainabledevelopment/
- 7. World Health Organization. Sustainable development goals & air pollution [Internet]. 2022 [cited 2022 May 26]. Available from https://www.who.int/teams/environment-climate-change-and-health/air-quality-and-health/policy-progress/sustainable-development-goals-air-pollution
- 8. Environmental Protection Agency. Nitrogen dioxide (NO2) pollution [Internet]. 2022 [cited 2022 May 25]. Available from https://www.epa.gov/no2-pollution/basic-information-about-no2
- **9.** Huang S, Li H, Wang M, Qian Y, Steenland K, Caudle WM, et al. Long-term exposure to nitrogen dioxide and mortality: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Science of The Total Environment. 2021: 776; 145968.
- 10. Meng X, Liu C, Chen R, Sera F, Vicedo-Cabrera A M, Milojevic A, et al. Short term associations of ambient nitrogen dioxide with daily total, cardiovascular, and respiratory mortality: multilocation analysis in 398 cities. BMJ 2021; 372: n534.
- Heinrich J, Thiering E, Rzehak P, Krämer U, Hochadel M, Rauchfuss KM, et al. Long-term exposure to NO2 and PM10 and all-cause and cause-specific mortality in a prospective cohort of women. J Occup Environ Med. 2013; 70: 179-186.
- **12.** Crouse DL, Peters PA, Hystad P, Brook JR, van Donkelaar A, Martin RV, et al. Ambient PM 2.5, O3, and NO2 exposures and associations with mortality over 16 years of follow-up in the Canadian Census Health and Environment Cohort (CanCHEC). Environ Health Perspect. 2015; 123: 1180-1186.
- 13.T.R. Environment and Urban Ministry. Air quality-station data download [Internet]. 2022 [cited 2022 Jan 10]. Available from https://sim.csb.gov.tr/STN/STN_Report/StationDataDownloadN ew
- 14. Turkish Statistical Institute (TURKSTAT). City-based population and death data for 2017, 2018 and 2019 [Internet]. 2019 [cited 2022 Jan 10]. Available from https://data.tuik.gov.tr/
- 15. Clean Air Rights Platform. Black report 2021: Air pollution and health effects [Internet]. 2021 [cited 2022 May 27]. Available from https://www.temizhavahakki.com//wpcontent/uploads/2021/09/KaraRapor2021.pdf
- 16. WHO Regional Office for Europe. AirQ+: Software tool for health risk assessment of air pollution [Internet]. 2016 [cited 2022 Jan 12]. Available from https://www.who.int/europe/publications/i/item/WHO-EURO-2016-4104-43863-61761
- 17. Health risks of air pollution in Europe-HRAPIE project. Recommendations for concentration-response functions for costbenefit analysis of particulate matter, ozone and nitrogen dioxide. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2013: p10. (Access date: 27.07.2021)
- 18. Dated 06.06.2008 and numbered 26898 T.R. Air quality

assessment and management regulation [Internet]. 2008 [cited 2022 May 27]. Available from https://www.mevzuat.gov.tr/mevzuat?MevzuatNo=12188&Mevz uatTur=7&MevzuatTertip=5

- **19.** WHO. The Global Health Observatory, Ambient air pollution attributable death rate (per 100.000 population, age-standardized) [Internet]. 2016 [cited 2022 May 17]. Available from https://www.who.int/data/gho/data/indicators/indicator-details/GHO/ambient-air-pollution-attributable-death-rate-(per-100-000-population-age-standardized)
- **20.** WHO. The Global Health Observatory, Ambient air pollution attributable DALYs (per 100.000 population, age-standardized) [Internet]. 2016 [cited 2022 May 17]. Available from https://www.who.int/data/gho/data/indicators/indicator-details/GHO/ambient-air-pollution-attributable-dalys-(per-100-000-population-age-standardized)
- 21. Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation. Global Burden of Disease Study 2019, Air pollution deaths and DALYs [Internet].
 2019 [cited 2022 May 17]. Available from https://vizhub.healthdata.org/gbd-results/
- 22. Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation. Global Burden of Disease Study 2019, Country profiles: Turkey, Air pollution deaths and DALYs [Internet]. 2019 [cited 2022 May 17]. Available from https://vizhub.healthdata.org/gbd-results/
- 23. Suryadhi MAH, Abudureyimu K, Kashima S, Yorifuji T. Nitrogen dioxide and acute respiratory tract infections in children in Indonesia. Archives of Environmental&Occupational Health. 2020; 75: 274-280.
- 24. Zhang Z, Wang J, Lu W. Exposure to nitrogen dioxide and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) in adults: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Environ Sci Pollut Res Int. 2018; 25: 15133-15145.
- 25. Khreis H, Kelly C, Tate J, Parslow R, Lucas K, Nieuwenhuijsen M. Exposure to traffic-related air pollution and risk of development of childhood asthma: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Environ Int. 2017; 100: 1-31.
- 26. Orellano P, Quaranta N, Reynoso J, Balbi B, Vasquez J. Effect of outdoor air pollution on asthma exacerbations in children and adults: Systematic review and multilevel meta-analysis. PLoS One. 2017; 12(3): e0174050.
- 27. Hamra GB, Laden F, Cohen AJ, Raaschou-Nielsen O, Brauer M, Loomis D. Lung cancer and exposure to nitrogen dioxide and traffic: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Environ Health Perspect. 2015; 123: 1107-1112.
- **28.** Yorifuji T, Kashima S. Long-term exposure to nitrogen dioxide and natural-cause and cause-specific mortality in Japan. Science of The Total Environment. 2020; 741: 140465.
- **29.** Hvidtfeldt UA, Sørensen M, Geels C, Ketzel M, Khan J, Tjønneland A, et al. Long-term residential exposure to PM2.5, PM10, black carbon, NO2, and ozone and mortality in a Danish cohort. Environ Int. 2019; 123: 265-272.
- **30.** Gabet S, Lemarchand C, Guénel P, Slama R. Breast cancer risk in association with atmospheric pollution exposure: A meta-analysis of effect estimates followed by a health impact assessment. Environ Health Perspect. 2021; 129(5): 57012.
- **31.** Peters R, Ee N, Peters J, Booth A, Mudway I, Anstey KJ. Air pollution and dementia: A systematic review. J Alzheimers Dis. 2019; 70(s1): 145-163.
- 32. Copat C, Cristaldi A, Fiore M, Grasso A, Zuccarello P, Signorelli SS, et al. The role of air pollution (PM and NO2) in COVID-19 spread and lethality: A systematic review. Environ Res. 2020; 191:

110129.

- **33.** Xu C, Zhang Z, Ling G, Wang G, Wang M. Air pollutant spatiotemporal evolution characteristics and effects on human health in North China. Chemosphere. 2022; 294: 133814.
- **34.** Brito J, Bernardo A, Gonçalves LL. Atmospheric pollution and mortality in Portugal: Quantitative assessment of the environmental burden of disease using the AirQ+ model. Sci Total Environ. 2022; 815: 152964.
- **35.** Luo H, Guan Q, Lin J, Wang Q, Yang L, Tan Z, et al. Air pollution characteristics and human health risks in key cities of northwest China. J Environ Manage. 2020; 269: 110791.
- 36. Rovira J, Domingo JL, Schuhmacher M. Air quality, health impacts and burden of disease due to air pollution (PM10, PM2.5, NO2 and O3): Application of AirQ+ model to the Camp de Tarragona County (Catalonia, Spain). Sci Total Environ. 2020; 703: 135538.
- 37. Markandeya, Verma PK, Mishra V, Singh NK, Shukla SP, Mohan D. Spatio-temporal assessment of ambient air quality, their health effects and improvement during COVID-19 lockdown in one of the most polluted cities of India. Environ Sci Pollut Res Int. 2021; 28(9): 10536-10551.
- 38. Gao H, Wang J, Li T, Fang C. Analysis of air quality changes and influencing factors in Changchun during the COVID-19 pandemic in 2020. Aerosol Air Qual. Res. 2021; 21: 210055.
- **39.** Amouei Torkmahalleh M, Akhmetvaliyeva Z, Omran AD, Darvish Omran F, Kazemitabar M, Naseri M, et al. Global air quality and COVID-19 pandemic: Do we breathe cleaner air? Aerosol Air Qual. Res. 2021; 21, 200567.
- **40.** Upadhyay A, Mahapatra PS, Singh PK, Dahal S, Pokhrel S. Bhujel A, et al. Learnings from COVID-19 forced lockdown on regional air quality and mitigation potential for south Asia. Aerosol Air Qual. Res. 2022; 22: 210376.
- **41.** Yildirim-Ozturk EN, Uyar M, Ozturk M. Evaluation of the effect of NO2 originated air pollution on mortality in Konya province between 2016-2019 by using AirQ+ software. Bozok Med J. 2022; 12(1): 11-16.
- **42.** Kavuncuoglu D, Yilmaz S, Kosan Z. The effect of NO2 levels on mortality in Erzurum in 2016-2018. ESTUDAM Public Health Journal. 2021; 6: 114-122.
- **43.** Palanbek-Yavas S, Onal AE, Pacci S, Caglayan C. Effect of PM10 and NO2 levels on chronic bronchitis incidence and mortality in Marmara Region. Turkiye Klinikleri J Med Sci. 2021; 41(3): 225-233.
- **44.** Abdolahnejad A, Jafari N, Mohammadi A, Miri M, Hajizadeh Y. Mortality and morbidity due to exposure to ambient NO2, SO2, and O3 in Isfahan in 2013-2014. Int J Prev Med. 2018; 9: 11.
- **45.** Miri M, Derakhshan Z, Allahabadi A, Ahmadi E, Oliveri Conti G, Ferrante M, et al. Mortality and morbidity due to exposure to outdoor air pollution in Mashhad metropolis, Iran. The AirQ model approach. Environ Res. 2016; 151: 451-457.
- 46. Karimi A, Shirmardi M, Hadei M, Birgani YT, Neisi A, Takdastan A, et al. Concentrations and health effects of short- and long-term exposure to PM2.5, NO2, and O3 in ambient air of Ahvaz city, Iran (2014-2017). Ecotoxicol Environ Saf. 2019; 180: 542-548.
- **47.** Fattore E, Paiano V, Borgini A, Tittarelli A, Bertoldi M, Crosignani P, et al. Human health risk in relation to air quality in two municipalities in an industrialized area of northern Italy. Environ Res. 2011; 111(8): 1321-1327.



Journal of Experimental and Clinical Medicine https://dergipark.org.tr/omujecm



Research Article

J Exp Clin Med 2023; 40(1): 72-75 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.40.1.15

What is the effect of vitamin D deficiency on Pap smear test results in the postmenopausal period?

Asena AYAR MADENLİ^{1,*}, İnci ÖZ², Ergül DEMİRÇİVİ³

¹Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, İstinye University, Liv Hospital, İstanbul, Türkiye
 ²Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Kağıthane Kızılay Hospital, İstanbul, Türkiye
 ³Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Prof. Dr. Süleyman Yalçın City Hospital, İstanbul, Türkiye
 Received: 02.10.2022 • Accepted/Published Online: 02.01.2023 • Final Version: 18.03.2023

Abstract

This study aimed to determine the impact of vitamin D deficiency on Pap smear test results in women in the postmenopausal period. This crosssectional study included 394 women who applied to İstanbul Medeniyet University, Göztepe Training and Research Hospital gynecology and obstetric clinic for routine Pap smear tests. This study was conducted between May 2019 and December 2020. Cases were divided into severe deficiency (<12 ng/ml), moderate deficiency (12-20 ng/ml), deficiency (21-30 ng/ml), and sufficiency (>30 ng/ml) according to the vitamin D levels measured in the postmenopausal period within the scope of check-up examinations. Pap smear test results compared with vitamin D levels. The mean age of the study group was 48.70 ± 3.46 years. There was a statistically significant association between vitamin D values and Pap smear test results (p<0.05). Vitamin D greater than 20 ng/ml had a significant relationship with the normal cytology results. There was a statistically significant association between vitamin D lower than 20 ng/ml and cervicitis cytology results. The results showed that the serum vitamin D and the Pap smear test results had a significant association. It is recommended that physicians prescribe the use of vitamin D supplements in women in the high-risk group of cervical cancer.

Keywords: cervical cancer, vitamin D, Pap smear test, cervical cytology

1. Introduction

Several experts considered vitamin D a lipid-soluble hormone in steroid structure, causing different effects in different tissues (1, 2). Vitamin D has been extensively studied as a steroid in the extraskeletal system. In previous studies, vitamin D has been reported to affect several physiologic systems with various clinical influences, such as protection against degenerative disease and cancer prevention (2, 3). Since vitamin D is a naturally synthesized substance, it is an attractive material in cancer treatment and prevention studies (4). The relationship between vitamin D and the progression of cancer, known as the "Vitamin D/cancer hypothesis," has attracted the attention of researchers, particularly in the last two decades (5). The immune modulation of B and T lymphocytes is facilitated by vitamin D, playing an essential role in the natural immune system, proving them to differentiate in the adaptive immune system. This helps monocytes become macrophages and enhances their phagocytosis capacity (6).

Cervical cancer, the fourth most common cancer among women, is a global public health problem, of which the death rate is expected to reach 13.400.000 by 2070 (7, 8). Cervical cancer has quite a high incidence due to either nonexistent or poorly implemented prevention programs. Developing countries have the highest number of cases and deaths caused

by cervical cancer (9). The reason is that cancer prevention and control programs are not sufficient in these countries. In developed countries, about 80% of cervical cancers have been reduced by implementing effective prevention programs and effective treatments in the early stages of cancer (10). Effective preventive health behavior in this field is to perform a Pap smear test. A Pap smear test is an easy screening method to evaluate infection and investigate the pre-cancer changes and cervical cancer (11, 12). It is an effective way to prevent cervical cancer development and a noninvasive, simple, easy, and cost-effective way to detect precancerous lesions (13). In communities with active screening programs, the death rate caused by this cancer has decreased by 40% in the past thirty years. Based on the studies, 44% of women are aware of cervical cancer screening programs and have refereed at least once for this test in Sweden (14).

Many studies have evaluated the identification of factors affecting Pap smear test results. The present study assessed the relationship between vitamin D and Pap smear results. It is essential to determine factors affecting the Pap smear test results to provide treatments to reduce costs and increase the success of the treatment. This study aims to evaluate the relationship between vitamin D and Pap smear results.

2. Materials and Methods

The Ethics Committee of İstanbul Medeniyet University approved this prospective cross-sectional study. (Date: 13.01.2021 Decision no: 2021/0041). All procedures were carried out in accordance with the ethical rules and the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki. With the ethics committee's approval, the data were scanned retrospectively using the Hospital Information Management System.

We included patients who applied within the scope of the postmenopausal routine check-up program and had a Pap smear test and their vitamin D level checked. Three hundred ninety-four women participated in this study between May 2019 and December 2020.

All surgical pathology and Pap smear files were searched for "routine" Pap smears after the approval of the Institutional Review Board. We classified abnormal routine Pap smears into the following categories based on the latest Bethesda system: Atypical squamous cells of undetermined significance (ASC-US), atypical glandular cells of undetermined significance (AGUS), low-grade squamous intraepithelial lesion (LGSIL), high grade squamous intraepithelial lesion (HGSIL), and cervicitis. If available, we performed correlation with tissue biopsy from the cervix for each abnormal Pap smear. Serum vitamin D values were recorded from the hospital information management system. The scale for measuring hormones was Nanograms per milliliter (ng/ml). Patients were clustered as subjects severe deficiency (<12 ng/ml) (n=127), moderate deficiency (12-20 ng/ml) (n=70), insufficiency (21-30 ng/ml) (n=122), and sufficiency (>30ng/ml) (n=75) groups.

2.1. Statistical analysis

We used the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test to check the normality and measured Mean and standard deviations (SD) to check each continuous variable, including age, serum vitamin D, gravida, parity, abortus, body mass index (BMI), the coital debut age, and menopause.

We used the Chi-square and the Pairwise Z-Tests tests to study the difference between groups and SPSS v22 for statistical analyses. A value of p < 0.05 was accepted as statistically significant. To calculate the sample size with the G-Power 3.1 program, we measured two groups' total mean based on the Z test with the power of 75%, 0.5 proportion p1, 0.6 proportion p2, and 0.1 type 1 error for at least 378 women (15).

3. Results

Women's mean age and BMI were 48.70 ± 3.46 and 25.04 ± 2.13 , respectively. The frequency for the serum vitamin D<12 ng/ml interval is 127 (32.2%). The frequency for the vitamin D (12-20 ng/ml), vitamin D (21-30 ng/ml) and vitamin D (>30 ng/ml) were 70 (17.8%), 122 (31%), and 75 (19%), respectively.

The mean vitamin D level was 20.05 ± 11.82 . The mean vitamin D level of four groups of women in the study, severe

deficiency, moderate deficiency, insufficiency, and sufficiency were 7.09 ± 1.50 , 15.47 ± 1.94 , 25.13 ± 2.09 , and 37.98 ± 7.18 , respectively. Table 1 shows descriptive statistics of study parameters.

 Table 1. Descriptive statistics of study parameters in women (n=394)

 Study parameters

 Study parameters

 Study parameters

 Study parameters

 Study parameters

 Study parameters

 Study parameters

 Study parameters

 Study parameters

 Study parameters

 Study parameters

 Study parameters

 Study parameters

 Study parameters

 Study parameters

 Study parameters

 Study parameters

 Study parameters

 Study parameters

 Study parameters

 Study parameters

 Study parameters

 Study parameters

 Study parameters

 Study parameters

 Study parameters

 Study parameters

 Study parameters

 Study parameters

 Study parameters

 Study parameters

 Study parameters

 Study parameters

 Study parameters

 Study parameters

 Study parameters

 Study parameters

 Study parameters

Study parameters	median (range) mean \pm SD
Age (yr)	47 (41-58) 48.70±3.46
Vitamin D	20 (4.6-66) 20.05±11.82
Gravida	1 (0-2) 1.12±0.55
Parity	1 (0-1) 0.58±0.49
Abortus	0 (0-2) 0.52±0.62
BMI	25 (19-30) 25.04±2.13
The coital debut age (yr)	25 (18-31) 24.37±2.53
Menopause (yr)	3 (1-7) 3.27±1.84
SD, standard deviation.	

Table 2 shows the frequency of Pap smear test results and the mean and SD of vitamin D values in each Pap test result. Women with normal Pap test results had the highest vitamin D levels (23.87 ± 11.98). As stated in Table 2, the highest frequency of Pap smear results was normal 175 (44.4%), cervicitis 121 (30.7%), ASCUS 60 (15.2%), AGUS 9 (2.3%),

Table 2. The frequency of Pap smear test results

LGSIL 21 (5.3%), and HGSIL 8 (2%).

Study para	meters	n (%)	Vitamin D (mean ± SD)
	Normal	175 (44.4)	23.87±11.98
Pap smear test results	AGUS	9 (2.3)	18.98 ± 10.45
	ASCUS	60 (15.2)	16.48±11.29
	LGSIL	21 (5.3)	$17.14{\pm}10.4$
	HGSIL	8 (2)	16.95 ± 15.58
	Cervicitis	121 (30.7)	17.1±10.45

As stated in Table 3, a chi-square test found a statistically significant association between vitamin D levels and Pap smear test results (p<0.001). The Pairwise Z-Tests found that the percentage of women who had the normal cytology results was significantly higher for those who had vitamin D (21-30ng/ml and > 30ng/ml) than for those who had vitamin D lower than 20ng/ml.

 Table 3. The relationship between Pap test results and vitamin D

 levels

Study parame	eters	<12 ng/ml n (%)	12-20 ng/ml n (%)	21-30 ng/ml n (%)	>30 ng/ml n (%)	р
	Normal	32 (25.2)	26 (37.1)	69 (56.6)†	48 (64.0)†	
Pap smear	AGUS	3 (2.4)	2 (2.9)	3 (2.5)	1 (1.3)	
	ASCUS	30 (23.6)	8 (11.4)	14 (11.5)	8 (10.7)	<0.001*
results	LGSIL	9 (7.1)	5 (7.1)	4 (3.3)	3 (4.0)	
Tesuits	HGSIL	4 (3.1)	2 (2.9)	1 (0.8)	1 (1.3)	
	Cervicitis	49 (38.6)†	27 (38.6)†	31 (25.4)	14 (18.7)	

*A Chi-square test. † Pairwise Z-Tests

Fig. 1 shows vitamin D levels in different Pap smear test results.



Fig. 1. Vitamin D levels in different Pap smear test results

4. Discussion

In the current study, we researched the association between Pap smear results and vitamin D levels in women. Of the 394 sexually active women, 175 (44.4%) had normal cytology results, and 219 (55.6%) women had abnormal cytology. The frequency of abnormal cytology was 2.3% (n=9) for AGUS, 15.2% (n=60) for ASCUS, 5.3% (n=21) for LGSIL, 2% (n=8) for HGSIL, and 30.7% (n=121) for cervicitis. There was a significant association between Vitamin D and Pap smear results. According to research findings, the value of vitamin D greater than 20 has a statistically significant relationship with normal cytology results. The value of vitamin D lower than 20 has a statistically significant relationship with cervicitis cytology results. By increasing vitamin D's value, the normal cytology results frequency has increased. Therefore, there is a statistically significant relationship between the normal cytology results and vitamin D.

Vitamin D, which has several vital functions, includes vitamins D1, D2, and D3 as a fat-soluble vitamin in a family of compounds. The most important functions of vitamin D for the body include: reducing the risk of multiple sclerosis (16), decreasing the chance of heart disease (17), decreasing the likelihood of severe illnesses (18), supporting weight loss (19), supporting immune health (20), and reducing the possibility of depression (21). The effect of vitamin D on women with polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) (22), osteoporosis in women (23), and pregnancy period was investigated in many studies (24). Our study showed that vitamin D positively affects Pap smear results. The value of 20ng/ml was an important criterion. More or less than this value will affect the Pap test results. Patients were clustered as insufficiency (21-30ng/ml) and sufficiency (>30ng/ml) groups were normal cytology results.

Sharif (25) reported that conservative sexual behavior, religious norms, and low smoking rates impact pap smear results. Sachan et al. (26) found in a study on the patients'

demographic profile affecting results of pap smear tests that HGSIL and LGSIL were first seen in 41–50 year women, and a significant risk factor for cervical carcinoma is multiparity (>3). According to Gosh et al. (27), there is an association between the results of pap smear and younger age at sexual debut, a more youthful age group, and lower socioeconomic status. the positive association between the infections and young age is due to more sexual activity of younger women increasing their susceptibility to sexually transmitted infections. In several studies, socioeconomic status affecting Pap smear results was reported due to few health check-ups and poor hygiene (28-30). Studies found age and socioeconomic status to be critical factors in cervical cancer screening, affecting Pap smear test results.

The shortcoming of the study was that all samples were recovered from a single center whereas the high number of samples can be counted as its strength.

In conclusion, vitamin D may have some beneficial effects on the Pap smear test results in women. Therefore women in the high-risk group for cervical cancer may be advised to regularly check their vitamin D status. The heavy burden of cervical cancer to the health system warrants any medication which has clinically proven benefits. This study suggests that maintaining the normal levels of Vitamin D, which plays a supportive role in immune system may be an efficient yet cheap and easy accessible way to fight cervical precancerous lesions before they evolve into cervical cancer.

Ethical statement

The Ethics Committee of İstanbul Medeniyet University approved this prospective cross-sectional study. (Date: 13.01.2021 Decision no: 2021/0041).

Conflict of interest

The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Funding

The authors declared that this study had no financial support.

Acknowledgments

None to declare.

Authors' contributions

Concept: A.A.M., İ.Ö., Ö.D., Design: A.A.M., İ.Ö., Ö.D., Data Collection or Processing: A.A.M., İ.Ö., Ö.D., Analysis or Interpretation: A.A.M., İ.Ö., Ö.D., Literature Search: M A.A.M., İ.Ö., Ö.D., Writing: A.A.M., İ.Ö., Ö.D.

References

- Ağar M, Güngör K, Güngör ND, Kavrut M, Madenli AA. Vitamin D supplementation inhibits NF-kβ signaling pathway in lean and obese women with PCOS. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci 2022; 26: 3973-7.
- Güngör K, Güngör ND, Başar MM, Cengiz F, Erşahin SS, Çil K. Relationship between serum vitamin D levels semen parameters and sperm DNA damage in men with unexplained infertility. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci 2022; 26: 499-505.
- 3. Güngör K, Dokuzeylül Güngör N. First-trimester maternal

vitamin d levels and risk for gestational diabetes mellitus. Ankara Med J 2021; 21: 339-49.

- 4. Gokmen Karasu AF, Ates S, Gurbuz T, Sahin N, Takmaz T, Aydin S. A Clinico-pathological Study of Transvaginal Endometrial Thickness Measurement in Asymptomatic Postmenopausal Patients and Patients with Postmenopausal Bleeding. Gynecol Obstet Reprod Med 2019; 25: 85-8.
- Özgü E, Yılmaz N, Başer E, Güngör T, Erkaya S, Yakut Hİ. Could 25-OH vitamin D deficiency be a reason for HPV infection persistence in cervical premalignant lesions? J Exp Ther Oncol 2016; 11: 177-80.
- **6.** Çakir AT, Ozten MA. Serum vitamin D levels in high-risk HPV infected patients, is there any relation? J Clin Med Kaz 2022; 19: 35-9.
- 7. Buskwofie A, David-West G, Clare CA. A Review of Cervical Cancer: Incidence and Disparities. J Natl Med Assoc 2020; 112: 229-32.
- **8.** Alfaro K, Soler M, Maza M, Flores M, López L, Rauda JC, et al. Cervical Cancer Prevention in El Salvador: Gains to Date and Challenges for the Future. Cancers (Basel) 2022; 14: 2776.
- **9.** Small W Jr, Bacon MA, Bajaj A, Chuang LT, Fisher BJ, Harkenrider MM, et al. Cervical cancer: A global health crisis. Cancer 2017; 123: 2404-12.
- 10. Tanaka S, Palmer M, Katanoda K. Trends in cervical cancer incidence and mortality of young and middle adults in Japan. Cancer Sci 2022; 113: 1801-7.
- **11.** Saleh HS. Can visual inspection with acetic acid be used as an alternative to Pap smear in screening cervical cancer? Middle East Fertility Society Journal. 2014;19(3):187-91.
- **12.** Chitra B, Kumar S. Recent advancement in cervical cancer diagnosis for automated screening: a detailed review. J Ambient Intell Humaniz Comput 2021; 1: 3.
- **13.** Devi NL, Thirumurugan P. A literature survey of automated detection of cervical cancer cell in Pap smear images. World Rev of Scie Techno and Sust Develop 2022; 18: 74-82.
- 14. Dillner J, Sparén P, Andrae B, Strander B. Livmoderhalscancer ökar hos kvinnor med normalt cellprov - Skillnader mellan laboratorier tyder på att ökningen orsakas av faktorer som kan åtgärdas [Cervical cancer has increased in Sweden in women who had a normal cell sample]. Lakartidningen 2018; 115: E9FD.
- **15.** Faul F, Erdfelder E, Buchner A, Lang AG. Statistical power analyses using G*Power 3.1: tests for correlation and regression analyses. Behav Res Methods 2009; 41: 1149-60.
- Sintzel MB, Rametta M, Reder AT. Vitamin D and Multiple Sclerosis: A Comprehensive Review. Neurol Ther 2018; 7: 59-85.
- 17. Saponaro F, Marcocci C, Zucchi R. Vitamin D status and

cardiovascular outcome. J Endocrinol Invest 2019; 42: 1285-90.

- 18. Grant WB, Lahore H, McDonnell SL, Baggerly CA, French CB, Aliano JL, et al. Evidence that Vitamin D Supplementation Could Reduce Risk of Influenza and COVID-19 Infections and Deaths. Nutrients 2020; 12: 988.
- Karampela I, Sakelliou A, Vallianou N, Christodoulatos GS, Magkos F, Dalamaga M. Vitamin D and Obesity: Current Evidence and Controversies. Curr Obes Rep 2021; 10: 162-80.
- 20. Chen J, Mei K, Xie L, Yuan P, Ma J, Yu P, et al. Low vitamin D levels do not aggravate COVID-19 risk or death, and vitamin D supplementation does not improve outcomes in hospitalized patients with COVID-19: A meta-analysis and GRADE assessment of cohort studies and RCTs. Nutr J 2021; 20: 1-10.
- **21.** Tan Q, Liu S, Chen D. Poor vitamin D status and the risk of maternal depression: a dose-response meta-analysis of observational studies. Public Health Nutr 2021; 24: 2161-70.
- **22.** Menichini D, Facchinetti F. Effects of vitamin D supplementation in women with polycystic ovary syndrome: a review. Gynecol Endocrinol 2020; 36: 1-5.
- 23. Polzonetti V, Pucciarelli S, Vincenzetti S, Polidori P. Dietary Intake of Vitamin D from Dairy Products Reduces the Risk of Osteoporosis. Nutrients 2020; 12: 1743.
- 24. Gürbüz T, Dokuzeylül Güngör N. Hiperemezis gravidarum etiyopatogenezinde vitamin D eksikliğinin rolü var mı ?. ADYÜ Sağlık Bilimleri Derg 2018; 4: 761-71.
- **25.** Sharif YH. Clinical correlation of cervical cancer screening using Pap smear test. J Popul Ther Clin Pharmacol 2022; 29: e1-e8.
- 26. Sachan PL, Singh M, Patel ML, Sachan R. A Study on Cervical Cancer Screening Using Pap Smear Test and Clinical Correlation. Asia Pac J Oncol Nurs 2018; 5: 337-41.
- 27. Ghosh S, Pattanshetty SM, Mallya SD, Pandey D, Guddattu V, Kamath VG, et al. Cervical cytology and associated factors among tribal women of Karnataka, India. PLoS One. 2021; 16: e0248963.
- 28. Marconi C, Duarte MT, Silva DC, Silva MG. Prevalence of and risk factors for bacterial vaginosis among women of reproductive age attending cervical screening in southeastern Brazil. Int J Gynaecol Obstet 2015; 131: 137-41.
- **29.** Bautista CT, Wurapa E, Sateren WB, Morris S, Hollingsworth B, Sanchez JL. Bacterial vaginosis: a synthesis of the literature on etiology, prevalence, risk factors, and relationship with chlamydia and gonorrhea infections. Mil Med Res 2016; 3: 4.
- 30. Teixeira PM, Vital WC, Lima AA, Silva NNT, Carneiro CM, de Medeiros Teixeira LF, et al. Bacterial vaginosis: prevalence, risk profile and association with sexually transmitted infections. Revista de Epidemiologia e Controle de Infecção. 2020; 10(3).



Journal of Experimental and Clinical Medicine https://dergipark.org.tr/omujecm





J Exp Clin Med 2023; 40(1): 76-79 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.40.1.16

Investigation of awareness of human papilloma virus infection among female health workers at Ondokuz Mayıs University

Yunus KATIRCI^{1,}*[®], İbrahim YALÇIN²[®], AbdülKadir BAKAY²[®], Davut GÜVEN²[®], İdris KOÇAK²[®]

¹Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Gümüşhacıköy State Hospital, Amasya, Türkiye ²Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Faculty of Medicine, Ondokuz Mayıs University, Samsun, Türkiye

	Received: 03.10.2022	•	Accepted/Published Online: 01.02.2023	•	Final Version: 18.03.2023
--	-----------------------------	---	---------------------------------------	---	---------------------------

Abstract

Less developed areas have the highest incidence rates of cervical cancer, which vary by geographic region. If the right lifestyle changes are made, all cervical cancer risk factors can be avoided. Furthermore, vaccines have been created to guard against a number of the high-risk strains of the human papillomavirus (HPV). Not all women are aware of cervical cancer or how to prevent it, even though it is preventable. Therefore, every woman must assess level of knowledge regarding HPV prevention and cervical cancer. We applied a validated questionnaire between January and June 2021 to the female health workers at Ondokuz Mayıs University Hospital to assess their knowledge of cervical cancer and HPV protection as well as their attitudes toward it. Our findings indicate that women's knowledge on this topic is lacking, especially regarding the most recent advancements in HPV testing was available. Although the incidence of cervical cancer is low, this figure is subject to change, particularly in light of the economic crisis and rising immigration rates, which could lead to higher rates of HPV infection in the population if no action is taken. Although the HPV vaccine has been available for some time, the Turkish government does not recommend it as a routine vaccine as part of the National Immunization Program. Even among the highly educated workforce in the healthcare industry, there is a lack of understanding about HPV vaccine. Healthcare professionals should be fully informed about the HPV vaccine for their own benefit so that they can discuss it with their patients. This study aimed to remove vaccination barriers and assess healthcare professionals' current knowledge of cervical cancer and HPV vaccination in a tertiary hospital.

Keywords: HPV, cervical cancer, smear, cervical pathology

1. Introduction

The fourth most common cancer in women overall is cervical cancer (1, 2). Cervical cancer is brought on by human papillomavirus (HPV) infection; HPV 16 and 18 strains, in particular, are responsible for 75% of cases (3). Having multiple sexual partners, having sex at a young age, smoking, taking oral contraceptives for an extended period of time, having more children, and giving birth at a young age are risk factors for HPV infection (4). Pregnant women and the fetus may be affected by infections like syphilis, gonorrhea, trichomoniasis, chlamydia, hepatitis B, HIV, herpes simplex viruses 1 and 2 (HSV-1-2), and human papillomavirus (HPV). (5). Although most genital HPV infections are asymptomatic, previous research has shown that high-risk HPV types are almost always the root of cervical cancer cases (6). The precursors of cervical cancer can be easily found at an early stage and effectively treated using screening methods like the Pap test, VIA (Visual Inspection with Acetic Acid), or efficient HPV-DNA detection procedures. Contrary to cancers that develop in other parts of the body, cervical cancer and its precursor lesions are treatable in the early stages of the disease and can be detected early. The majority of women do not typically exhibit symptoms until the disease has progressed, making cervical cancer screenings essential (7). Awareness of the condition, screening methods, and preventive measures are all essential to the prevention and control of cervical cancer (8). From local management to national management, the relationship between PAP smear results, HPV type distributions, colposcopic evaluations, and histopathological results is crucial in the fight against cervical cancer (9). The use of bivalent and quadrivalent HPV vaccines is authorized in Turkey (10). 9 to 12 years old is the recommended range for vaccination. Vaccination for breeding is permitted up until the age of 26 (11). Men have been tested for use of the tetravalent vaccine, which is currently licensed (12). Pregnant women are advised against receiving the vaccine (13, 14). Additionally, the vaccine is available for nursing mothers. Cervical cancer screening cannot be replaced by immunization. A further effort is being made to prevent cervical cancer in the country. Even though the HPV vaccine has been around for a while, the Turkish government still does not offer it as a routine

vaccination as part of the National Immunization Program. Even among the highly educated population working in the healthcare sector, ignorance of its dosage, schedule, and cost exists. For their own benefit, healthcare professionals should be fully informed about the HPV vaccine so they can discuss it with their patients. In order to remove vaccination barriers and assess current knowledge of cervical cancer and HPV vaccination among healthcare professionals working in a tertiary hospital, this study was conducted.

2. Material and Method

The study was approved by the ethics committee of Ondokuz Mayıs University clinical research (OMUKAEK:2020/744). 350 female employees working at Ondokuz Mayıs University Faculty of Medicine were included in the study. Written informed consent was obtained from the participants before the questionnaire was administered. Patients were asked to fill out a questionnaire containing questions about the HPV vaccine and the HPV-cancer link. The survey consisted of two parts. The first part was about social demographics, and the second part was about self-awareness about diseases. All questions were closed-ended yes or no or multiple choice for a more accurate assessment. The questionnaire is given in Table 1.

Table 1. Questions asked to participants

No	Questions	Answers
1.	What is your age?	
2.	What is your profession?	
3.	Can cervical cancer be diagnosed early with screening?	
4.	I know that cervical cancer is caused by the HPV virus.	
5.	HPV is a sexually transmitted virus.	
6.	Can men get HPV infection?	
7.	HPV causes genital warts.	
8.	HPV is not seen in women who doesn't have sexual intercourse.	
9.	Have you heard that the state makes HPV screening test free for cervical cancer screening?	
10.	Have you ever had a cervical cancer screening test (smear or HPV)?	
11.	Can you be vaccinated to protect yourself from cervical cancer?	
12.	Who gets the HPV vaccine?	
13.	I have had the HPV vaccine.	
14.	Have any of your relatives had the HPV vaccine?	

3. Results

The age distribution of health professionals included in the study is between 20 and 55 (Fig. 1). The majority of the participants included nurses (280 women, 37.1%) and physicians (280 women, 24.6%), and the remaining health workers (Fig. 2). While 98.3% of the 290 female participants

answered yes to the question of whether the early diagnosis of cervical cancer can be made by screening, the remaining 1.7% answered no (Fig. 3). When asked "I know that the HPV virus causes cervical cancer", 87.2% of participants answered "I know", and 12.8% answered "I don't know" (Fig. 4). Responding to the question of HPV is a sexually transmitted virus, a total of 86.9% of participants said "yes", 3.8% said "no" and, "9.3%" had no idea (Fig. 5). In our study, about the sexual transmission of HPV virus, 86.9% of the participants said yes, 9.3% had no idea and 3.8% answered no (Fig. 6). It was determined that the awareness of male HPV infection was high among the female health workers of Ondokuz Mayıs University. The level of awareness of the possible cause of genital warts was found to be high. To the question that HPV is not seen in women who do not have sexual intercourse, 53.4% of the participants answered "yes", while 27.6% had "no idea" (Fig. 7). The question "Are you aware that cervical cancer screening is free of charge, Have you had this test before?" reveals that the awareness of the participants is high. To the question of who is vaccinated against cervical cancer, 29.7% of the participants replied to "women", 37.2% to "both women and men", and 13.1% had "no idea". While 96.2% of the participants were not vaccinated against HPV, 3.8% were vaccinated against HPV. When asked if they have had HPV vaccine soon, 54.8% of the participants answered "no", 13.8% "yes", and 31.4% had "no idea" (Fig. 8).



Fig. 1. Distribution of the answers given to the 1st question of the questionnaire

What is your occupation? 280 responses



Fig. 2. Distribution of the answers given to the 2nd question of the questionnaire

Katırcı et al. / J Exp Clin Med

Cervical cancer can be diagnosed early with screening.

290 responses



Fig. 3. Distribution of the answers given to the 3rd question of the questionnaire



Fig. 4. Distribution of the answers given to the 4th question of the questionnaire



Fig. 5. Distribution of the answers given to the 5th question of the questionnaire



Fig. 6. Distribution of the answers given to the 6th question of the questionnaire

HPV is not seen in women who cannot have sexual intercourse. 290 responses



Fig. 7. Distribution of the answers given to the 8th question of the questionnaire

Have any of your relatives had the HPV vaccine? 290 responses



Fig. 8. Distribution of the answers given to the 14th question of the questionnaire

4. Discussion

In this study, the knowledge and attitudes of women over 20 years of age towards genital warts, cervical cancer, swab test, prevention method, HPV vaccine were evaluated. It was determined that most of the participants in the study did not know that the large HPV virus causes cervical cancer. Also, a large proportion of the participants had a high level of knowledge about the sexually transmitted disease of cervical cancer. 87.2% of them knew that HPV virus causes cervical cancer. However, 96.2% of them have not been vaccinated against HPV. We determined that most of the participants had sufficient knowledge about cervical smear test, HPV infection and male vaccines. A multicenter cross-sectional study was conducted with 1146 women and 557 undergraduate students in China and they showed that 320 (28%) of 1146 women and 66 (12%) of 557 students knew about HPV, and very few of them knew about the HPV-cancer link. (11). Even in societies where HPV vaccination is routine, awareness may be raised to a great extent, but information may still be insufficient. Bowyer et al. supported this view with the study they conducted on 1033 girls who had been vaccinated with HPV 3 years ago at 13 schools in London (12).

It is known that HPV causes cervical cancer, that vaccination is important, and that a cervical smear test is still required. In our study, 87.2% of the participants claimed to know the cause of cervical cancer, while 98.3% were aware that HPV cervical cancer could be diagnosed early with the screening method. There are other studies from Turkey about HPV infection and awareness of infection-cancer link. Ozyer et al. conducted a study with 408 participants in Turkey (8). In this study, it was shown that 41.6% of the participants were

aware of HPV, and 33% knew the link between HPV infection and cervical cancer. In the same study, only 27.9% of the participants knew about the HPV vaccine, and only 1.4% had been vaccinated. In another study, 520 nursing students working in a tertiary health institution in Ankara and a control group of 232 people were evaluated (7).

This study, which was conducted among female health workers about HPV, showed that awareness knowledge/ awareness of HPV is high among female health workers. The fact that our study was only among female health workers and in a primary health care institution may be counted among the limitations of the study. There is a need for larger-scale studies on HPV infection and vaccine to be conducted throughout Turkey.

In conclusion, we observed that the awareness rate of female health workers at Ondokuz Mayıs University was high about the connection between HPV infection and cervical cancer. We concluded that HPV infection causes cancer, vaccination prevents HPV infection to a large extent, and inhouse training increases awareness about HPV infection.

Ethical statement

The study was approved by the ethics committee of Ondokuz Mayıs University clinical research (OMUKAEK:2020/744).

Conflict of interest

None to declare.

Funding

None to declare.

Acknowledgments

None to declare.

Authors' contributions

Concept: Y.K., İ.Y., A.B., D.G., İ.K., Design: Y.K., İ.Y., A.B., D.G., İ.K., Data Collection or Processing: Y.K., İ.Y., A.B., D.G., İ.K., Analysis or Interpretation: Y.K., İ.Y., A.B., D.G., İ.K., Literature Search: Y.K., İ.Y., A.B., D.G., İ.K., Writing: Y.K., İ.Y., A.B., D.G., İ.K.

References

- Petca A, Borislavschi A, Zvanca ME, Petca RC, Sandru F, Dumitrascu MC. Non-sexual HPV transmission and role of vaccination for a better future (Review). Exp Ther Med. 2020 Dec;20(6):186. doi: 10.3892/etm.2020.9316. Epub 2020 Oct 13. PMID: 33101476; PMCID: PMC7579832.
- Hirth J. Disparities in HPV vaccination rates and HPV prevalence in the United States: a review of the literature. Hum Vaccin Immunother. 2019;15(1):146-155. doi: 10.1080/21645515.2018.1512453. Epub 2018 Sep 6. PMID: 30148974; PMCID: PMC6363146.
- Mladěnka A, Sláma J. Vaccination against HPV and view of new possibilities. Ceska Gynekol. 2018 Winter;83(3):218-225. English. PMID: 30764623.

- Capra G, Giovannelli L, Matranga D, Bellavia C, Guarneri MF, Fasciana T, et al. Potential impact of a nonavalent HPV vaccine on HPV related low-and high-grade cervical intraepithelial lesions: A referral hospital-based study in Sicily. Hum Vaccin Immunother. 2017 Aug 3;13(8):1839-1843. doi: 10.1080/21645515.2017.1319026. Epub 2017 Jun 8. PMID: 28594305; PMCID: PMC5557238.
- **5.** Şahin B, Güner E, Kara OF. The Evaluation of Colposcopic Examinations and Cervical Histopathology Results of Women With Abnormal PAP-smear and/or HPV Positivity: A Sample From Amasya. Med J West Black Sea. 2020; 4(3): 142-149.
- **6.** Şahin B, Şahin B, Şahin GC. Sexually Transmitted Infections in Pregnancy, Screening and Treatment. Curr Obstet Gynecol Rep. 2022;11: 34–43.
- Gohar A, Abdeltawab NF, Shehata N, Amin MA. Preclinical study of safety and immunogenicity of combined rubella and human papillomavirus vaccines: Towards enhancing vaccination uptake rates in developing countries. Papillomavirus Res. 2019 Dec;8:100172. doi: 10.1016/j.pvr.2019.100172. Epub 2019 Jun 8. PMID: 31185296; PMCID: PMC6586776.
- Okunade KS. Human papillomavirus and cervical cancer. J Obstet Gynaecol. 2020 Jul;40(5):602-608. doi: 10.1080/01443615.2019.1634030. Epub 2019 Sep 10. Erratum in: J Obstet Gynaecol. 2020 May;40(4):590. PMID: 31500479; PMCID: PMC7062568.
- Fields EJ, Hopfer S, Warren JR, BeLue R, Lebed J, Hecht ML. Motivators and Barriers to HPV Vaccination: A Qualitative Study of Underserved Women Attending Planned Parenthood. Vaccines (Basel). 2022 Jul 15;10(7):1126. doi: 10.3390/vaccines10071126. PMID: 35891290; PMCID: PMC9317585.
- 10. Roland KB, Benard VB, Greek A, Hawkins NA, Saraiya M. Primary care providers human papillomavirus vaccine recommendations for the medically underserved: a pilot study in U.S. Federally Qualified Health Centers. Vaccine. 2014 Sep 22;32(42):5432-5. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2014.07.098. Epub 2014 Aug 12. PMID: 25131744; PMCID: PMC4480766.
- 11. Gilkey MB, McRee AL. Provider communication about HPV vaccination: A systematic review. Hum Vaccin Immunother. 2016 Jun 2;12(6):1454-68. doi: 10.1080/21645515.2015.1129090. Epub 2016 Feb 2. PMID: 26838681; PMCID: PMC4964733.
- 12. Khosa LA, Meyer JC, Motshwane FMM, Dochez C, Burnett RJ. Vaccine Hesitancy Drives Low Human Papillomavirus Vaccination Coverage in Girls Attending Public Schools in South Africa. Front Public Health. 2022 May 24;10:860809. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2022.860809. PMID: 35685759; PMCID: PMC9171038.
- Berkowitz Z, Nair N, Saraiya M. Providers' practice, recommendations and beliefs about HPV vaccination and their adherence to guidelines about the use of HPV testing, 2007 to 2010. Prev Med. 2016 Jun;87:128-131. doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2016.02.030. Epub 2016 Feb 26. PMID: 26921654; PMCID: PMC6343123.
- 14. Kechagias KS, Kalliala I, Bowden SJ, Athanasiou A, Paraskevaidi M, Paraskevaidis E, et al. Role of human papillomavirus (HPV) vaccination on HPV infection and recurrence of HPV related disease after local surgical treatment: systematic review and metaanalysis. BMJ. 2022 Aug 3;378:e070135. doi: 10.1136/bmj-2022-070135. PMID: 35922074; PMCID: PMC9347010.



Journal of Experimental and Clinical Medicine https://dergipark.org.tr/omujecm



Research Article

J Exp Clin Med 2023; 40(1): 80-84 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.40.1.17

Evaluation of patients admitted to the emergency department after Coronavac (Sinovac) vaccination?

Bahadır TAŞLIDERE¹[®], Ertan SÖNMEZ¹[®] Serdar ÖZDEMİR^{2,*}[®]

¹Department of Emergency Medicine, Bezm-i Alem University, İstanbul, Türkiye

²Department of Emergency Medicine, University of Health Sciences Ümraniye Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul,

Türkiye

Received: 04.10.2022	•	Accepted/Published Online: 21.12.2022	•	Final Version: 18.03.2023

Abstract

To evaluate the symptoms and laboratory parameters of patients admitted to the emergency department after CoronaVac (Sinovac) vaccination. Complaints, demographic characteristics, laboratory tests, interventions, and outcomes of patients admitted to the emergency department within seven days of receiving the CoronaVac (Sinovac) were all evaluated. Pain at the injection site, swelling, redness, and pain in the injected arm were expected side effects of the vaccination. In this study, a total of six people had syncope following the vaccination, one of whom developed an allergic reaction. The most common adverse events in non-geriatrics were fatigue, headache, fever, and abdominal pain, while in geriatric patients' fatigue, headache, chest pain, and dyspnea were most common, with fever falling in the last place. Rare symptoms following vaccination included syncope and urticaria. It is necessary to be prepared for the side effects that may occur during mass vaccination against COVID-19. In this study, the body's response to the vaccine in geriatric patients was atypical in vital signs and laboratory values.

Keywords: vaccine, side effect, COVID-19, CoronaVac, SARS-CoV-2

1. Introduction

The coronavirus disease COVID-19 started in Wuhan in December 2019. It spread rapidly around the world and was declared a pandemic. It causes severe acute respiratory syndrome in patients. The mortality of the disease varies between 0.4% and 7% (1). Vaccine studies have accelerated due to the increased mortality rates, especially with the delta variant.

On the other hand, the fact that the immunity of those who had the disease is not permanent and the reinfection rates are high revealed the importance of community immunity in order to end the pandemic (2). Vaccines are obtained using antigenic substances produced from the disease-causing agent, in order to create a defense mechanism against diseases and to produce antibodies (3). In line with the COVID-19 Vaccine Implementation Strategy (in the study's country of origin), on January 14, 2021, the vaccination of those aged 65 and overprimarily healthcare workers-began. The plan is to vaccinate all individuals by dividing them into age groups, according to the COVID-19 vaccination calendar from the Ministry of Health of Turkey. The vaccine made in the study's country of origin is the CoronaVac (Sinovac) vaccine. CoronaVac was obtained by producing and inactivating the live SARS-CoV-2 virus in a laboratory, using the traditional vaccine production method (4). The country and healthcare system aim to be

prepared for the potential side effects following the COVID-19 vaccination. The most common post-vaccine side effects are reported by the World Health Organization as pain at the injection site, headache, fatigue, and myalgia (5).

As the vaccination process reaches the stage of comprehensive vaccination in the wider community, an awareness of the potential side effects makes it possible to decide where and how the vaccine will be administered, considering the gender and age of the recipient and whether they suffer from any chronic diseases (6-8).

Data on adverse events following the initial vaccination are valuable, as they can inform the healthcare system in advance of the potential side effects in preparation for mass vaccination. In turn, this allows both patients and health institutions to act more cautiously when administering the vaccine and encountering side effects, and it enables adequate preparation for the potential side effects following the COVID-19 vaccination. At the stage of comprehensive vaccination of the wider community, the location and method of vaccination can be determined, considering the gender and age of the recipient and whether they suffer from any chronic diseases.

2. Material and Methods

The study was conducted retrospectively and included patients aged 18 and over who applied to the Emergency Department (ED) between January 11, 2021, and February 11, 2021.

Vaccination is carried out by appointment, and specific conditions must be established for patients to receive the vaccination: It is not administered to patients with a fever of 38 °C or above, those with undiagnosed acute disease, or those who are experiencing a period of acute attack from a chronic illness.

The COVID-19 disease status of the patient is checked. If they are found to have the disease, the vaccine is not administered. Being in contact with a confirmed COVID-19 case in the last ten days is checked, and if so, the vaccine is not administered. It is also checked whether the patient has received other vaccines in the month prior: Those who have received seasonal influenza, pneumococcal, meningococcal, and other inactivated vaccines must wait two weeks to make an appointment to receive the COVID-19 vaccine. Complaints, demographic characteristics, laboratory tests, and the interventions and outcomes of the patients admitted to the ED within seven days of receiving the vaccination were all evaluated. All patients admitted to the ED following the CoronaVac (Sinovac) vaccination were included in the study.

Laboratory tests, including those for white blood cells, lymphocytes, neutrophils, platelets, hemoglobin, alanine aminotransferase, aspartate aminotransferase, bilirubin, fasting blood glucose, and creatinine, are investigated to assess for any post-vaccination side effects. The data is obtained from NUCLEUS MBS—the patient clinical information system of the Medical Faculty Hospital.

2.1. Statistical analysis

The statistical analyses were performed using SPSS, version 22 (IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Armonk, NY; IBM Corp., 2013). First, a Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was used to determine which variables should be included in the data analysis and whether the data for the variables were normally distributed, but the data were not normally distributed. Therefore, non-parametric tests were used. The Mann-Whitney U test was used to compare continuous variables across the groups. The Wilcoxon signed Ranks Test was used to compare two dependent variables. The mean \pm standard deviation, frequency, and percentage were reported as descriptive statistics. The statistical significance level was set to p < 0.05.

2.2. Ethics

Approval was obtained from The Bezm-i Alem Foundation University local ethics committee with dated 29.04.2021 and number 09. Due to the retrospective design of the study and its relationship with public health, consent was not obtained from the patients within the knowledge of the ethics committee.

3. Results

A total of 66 patients were admitted to the ED following CoronaVac (Sinovac) vaccination, with a mean age of 51.2±23.4 years and a median age of 47.5 years (25-90). Twenty-eight (42.4%) patients were female and 38 (57.6%) were male. The number of geriatric patients totaled 43 (65.4%). Of the 66 patients, hypertension was witnessed in 20 (30.3%), coronary artery disease in 14 (21.2%), diabetes mellitus in 12 (18.2%), chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in 12 (18.2%), and nine (21.2%) suffered from congestive heart failure. Of the 66 patients, 51 (77.3%) were discharged from the ED, 12 (18.2%) were admitted onto a ward, two (3%) were admitted to the intensive care unit, and one patient (1.5%) died (Table 1). In terms of complaints, 33 (50%) patients suffered from fatigue, 27 with headaches (40.9%), 17 with fever (25.8%), 15 with shortness of breath (22.7%), 14 with joint pain (21.2%), 14 with abdominal pain (21.2%), 11 with a cough (16.7%), 10 with nausea and/or vomiting (15.2%), eight with dizziness (12.1%), eight with chest pain (12.1%), eight with diarrhea (12.1%), six with syncope (9.1%), and two with urticaria (3%)(Table 2). Two geriatric patients experienced fever (8.7%), compared to 15 of the non-geriatric patients (34.9%) (p=0.02). Fatigue was present in nine (39.1%) of the geriatric patients, compared to 24 (55.8%) of the non-geriatric patients (p=0.196). Dyspnea was present in six (26.1%) geriatric patients, compared to nine (20.9%) of the non-geriatric patients (p=0.634). Headaches were experienced by nine (39.1%) of the geriatric patients, compared to 18 (41.9%) of the non-geriatric patients (p=0.830). Of the geriatric patients, four (17.4%) suffered from joint pain, compared to ten (23.3%) of the nongeriatric patients (p=0.755). Nausea and/or vomiting was experienced by four (17.4%) of the geriatric patients, compared to six (14%) of the non-geriatric patients (p=0.730). Cough was present in five (1.7%) of the geriatric patients, compared to six (14%) of the non-geriatric patients (p=0.495). Abdominal pain was experienced in three (13%) of the geriatric patients, compared to 11 (25.6%) of the non-geriatric patients (p=0.346). Syncope was present in four (17.4%) of the geriatric patients, compared to two (4.7%) of the non-geriatric patients (p=0.172). Of the geriatric patients, three (13%) suffered from dizziness, compared to five (11.6%) of the non-geriatric patients (p=0.867). Chest pain was experienced by seven (30.4%) of the geriatric patients but only one (2.3%) nongeriatric patient (p=0.002). Diarrhea was present in three (13%) of the geriatric patients, compared to five (11.6%) of the non-geriatric patients (p=0.867). Urticaria was only witnessed in two (8.7%) of the geriatric patients, and not at all in the nongeriatric patient sample (Table 2). Anaphylactic shock developed in one female patient, who also experienced syncope and was non-geriatric. Vital and laboratory parameters of the enrolled patients and their comparison between the geriatrics and non-geriatrics groups are presented in table 3.

Taşlıdere et al. / J Exp Clin Med

 Table 1. Demographics and baseline characteristics of simple

U	1	1
Variables		n (%)
Condor	Female	28 (42.4%)
Gender	Male	38 (57.6%)
Age		51.2±23.4
	<65 years	43 (65.2%)
	≥65 years	23 (34.8%)
	Hypertension	20 (30.3%)
	Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease	12 (18.2%)
Comorbialities	Congestive heart failure	9 (13.6%)
	Coronary artery disease	14 (21.2%)
	Diabetes mellitus	12 (18.2%)
	Discharge	51 (77.3%)
Outcomo	Service	12 (18.2%)
Outcome	Intensive care	2 (3%)
	Death	1 (1.5%)

Table 2. Symptoms of the enrolled patients and their comparison

 between the geriatrics and non-geriatrics groups

	Non-geriatrics	Geriatrics	
	n (%)	n (%)	P
Fever	15 (34.9%)	2 (8.7%)	0.02
Fatigue	24 (55.8%)	9 (39.1%)	0.19
Dyspnea	9 (20.9%)	6 (26.1%)	0.63
Headache	18 (41.9%)	9 (39.1%)	0.83
Join-muscle pain	10 (23.3%)	4 (17.4%)	0.75
Nausea-vomiting	6 (14%)	4 (17.4%)	0.73
Cough	6 (14%)	5 (21.7%)	0.49
Abdominal pain	11 (25.6%)	3 (13%)	0.34
Syncope	2 (4.7%)	4 (17.4%)	0.17
Dizziness	5 (11.6%)	3 (13%)	0.86
Chest pain	1 (2.3%)	7 (30.4%)	0.02
Diarrhea	5 (11.6%)	3 (13%)	0.86
Urticaria	0	2 (8.7%)	0.11

Table 3	Vital and laboratory	v parameters of the e	nrolled natients	and their com	narison between f	ne geriatrics and	non-geriatrics or	nins
I able J.	v hai and iauoraiory	parameters of the c	moneu patients	and then com	iparison between t	le geriaules allu	non-genatics giv	Jups

		Non-geriatrics	Geriatrics	р
	Fever	36.7±0.7	36.2±0.4	0.01
Vital signs	Blood pressure (mm/Hg)	121±17.8	145.7±22.6	0.02
	Respiratory rate (/min)	19.5±2.1	20.8±1.7	0.23
	Heart rate (/min)	95.9±12.1	81.8±12.3	0.17
	Oxygen saturation	96.3±1.6	93.9±3.5	<0.001
	<i>White blood cell count (10³/µL)</i>	6.1±1.2	8.6±3	<0.001
	Hemoglobin (g/dL)	13.8±1.3	11.9±2	0.16
Platelet count (J0 ³ /µL)Platelet count (10 ³ /µL)Troponin I (ng/dL)Prothrombin timePartial ThromboplastinLaboratoryparametersD-Dimer (ng/mL)	<i>Platelet count (10³/μL)</i>	197.3±79	188±39.4	<0.001
	Troponin I (ng/dL)	3.9±6.4	348±1073	<0.001
	Prothrombin time	13.5±1.5	14.9±3.1	<0.001
	Partial Thromboplastin Time	27.9±7.4	32.1±7.1	0.91
	International normalized ratio	0.9±0.15	1.1±0.27	< 0.001
	D-Dimer (ng/mL)	203±88.1	481±300	< 0.001
	C-Reactive Protein (mg/dL)	13.3±27.4	6.5±8.2	0.05
	Lactate dehydrogenase (mg/dL)	211±71.7	380±374	<0.001
	Blood urea nitrogen (mg/dL)	18.9±10	32.6±14.9	0.12
	Creatinine (mg/dL)	$0.8{\pm}0.2$	1.6 ± 1.4	0.01
	Aspartate transaminase (U/L)	31.3±23.8	64.2 ± 144	0.01
	Alanine transaminase (U/L)	35.5±37.8	45.9±92	0.05
	Discharge	36 (83.7%)	15 (65.2%)	
Outcomo	Hospitalization to ward	7 (16.3%)	5 (21.7%)	0.08
Outcome	Intensive care unit admission	0	2 (8.7%)	0.00
	Death	0	1 (4.3%)	

4. Discussion

In the study's country of origin, health workers and patients over 65 years of age were included in the scope of the initial stage of the COVID-19 vaccination program. It aimed to vaccinate the majority of the population in order to create social immunity.

The most important risk factor for COVID-19-related mortality was advanced age. Immunization programs around the world started with health workers and the elderly, who are at risk groups (9) The goal of herd immunity is particularly important in the case of COVID-19, due to its deadly nature and limited treatment options (10). However, many people are concerned about whether vaccines protect them, whether vaccines are safe, and what the possible side effects are. In a previous study, it was shown that 29% of participants were not willing to get vaccinated, and 44% believed that COVID-19 vaccines could have serious side effects that could affect their health (11).

The most common symptoms associated with COVID-19 were fever, shortness of breath, and muscle and joint pain. Vaccination-related symptoms are similar to disease symptoms (12). Convincing people to get vaccinated can only be achieved with the help of scientific studies. Following vaccination, pain at the injection site, swelling, redness, and pain in the arm injected are all expected side effects (13). Those side effects most feared, however, are those related to allergic reactions

and the degree of involvement of vital organs (e.g., myocarditis). Mild to moderate reactions can be seen as "a sign of the immune system's response to the vaccine" (14); however, these symptoms normally only last a short time and subside on their own. In this study, a total of six patients suffered from post-vaccine syncope, and only one developed allergic reaction. Hypotension, tachycardia, and an angioedema were observed in the first five minutes following vaccination. It was discovered that this patient, whose condition improved with intervention, had a previous history of allergic reaction. It should be accepted that those with a history of allergies are potentially at risk (15). Anaphylaxis is a life-threatening allergic reaction that occurs in rare situations following vaccination, with a typical onset of minutes to several hours (16, 17). There are existing studies reporting that anaphylaxis is a risk following a COVID-19 vaccination (18); however, the prognosis of anaphylaxis is good when diagnosed and treated in a timely and correct manner (19). Vaccination centers should be equipped with the necessary materials and equipment for the treatment of anaphylaxis. In this study, the most common side effect following a COVID-19 vaccination was fatigue (50%), the second most common was a headache (40.9%), and the third most common was fever (34.9%). However, in the geriatric group, fever ranked last (8.7%), and there was a statistically significant difference between the geriatric and non-geriatric groups (p=0.02)—high fever may not always be observed in geriatric patients, even in the presence of severe infection (20). Abdominal pain was more common in those under 65 years of age (25.6%). Normal physiological changes (such as the absence of fever and leukocytosis) and physical examination can be seen in geriatric individuals, even with significant abdominal pathologies (21). While chest pain was seen at a rate of 30.4% in people over 65 years of age, it was among the rarer symptoms in the nongeriatric group. In connection with this complaint, the troponin value was found to be higher in the geriatric age group. According to these results, there is a need for further studies focusing on the relationship between vaccines and myocarditis. Complaints of chest pain in those under the age of 65 were 2.3% and troponin values were within the normal range. Common side effects listed by the World Health Organization (WHO) for the COVID-19 vaccine included fever, weakness, headache, muscle pain, and nausea (22). In this study, diarrhea, syncope, urticaria, and chest pain were added to these complaints. Post-vaccination, 77.3% of the patients admitted to the ED were discharged following clinical evaluations and only two (3%) were admitted to the ward. One patient in the geriatric age group, also suffering from additional diseases, died: They had been admitted to the ED in arrest the day following their vaccination, despite having no active complaints prior to this. The most significant laboratory parameter for this patient was a platelet count of 25,000. In a similar study, death after vaccination was associated with a low blood platelet count. In a study conducted in Norway, 23 geriatric deaths following vaccination were reported (23).

Vaccination against SARS-CoV-2, the cause of COVID-19, is the most important global strategy for controlling the pandemic. In order to achieve herd immunity, it is crucial to persuade those who are currently opposed to the vaccination; in order to successfully achieve this, scientific data should be applied. It is also particularly important to consider the potential side effects when performing mass vaccination against COVID-19. A patient who has previously experienced a severe allergic reaction should be prepared for post-vaccine anaphylactic shock. This study has also shown that postvaccine geriatric patients may experience atypical vital signs and laboratory values, and there were statistically significant differences between the geriatric and non-geriatric groups. As a result, adverse reactions may develop in the body's response to the vaccine in geriatric patients, particularly when combined with the effects of an underlying disease.

There are several important limitations to our study. The retrospective design is the most important limitation. Secondly, to better interpret the changes in laboratory values of patients admitted to the ED post-vaccination, the same parameters should also be measured in blood samples taken prior to vaccination. The limited sample and single-center design can be considered as other limitations that could limit the generalizability of our findings.

As a conclusion, it is necessary to be prepared for the potential side effects when conducting mass vaccination against COVID-19. The results of this study can be used as evidence-based scientific data that addresses the side effects of CoronaVac (Sinovac). Thus, it can be used to increase public engagement in the vaccination program by raising awareness about CoronaVac (Sinovac).

Ethical statement

Approval was obtained from The Bezm-i Alem Foundation University local ethics committee with dated 29.04.2021 and number 09.

Conflict of interest

There are no conflicts of interest.

Funding

The authors received no financial support for this research.

Acknowledgments

None to declare.

Authors' contributions

Concept: B.T., E.S., S.Ö., Design: B.T., E.S., S.Ö., Data Collection or Processing: B.T., E.S., S.Ö., Analysis or Interpretation: B.T., E.S., S.Ö., Literature Search: B.T., E.S., S.Ö., Writing: B.T., E.S., S.Ö.

References

- 1. Özkan A. Diagnostic Accuracy of Clinical Gestalt of Doctors with Different Experiences in COVID-19 Suspected Patients. J Exp Clin Med. 2022; 39(3): 738-742.
- Akça HŞ, Algın A, Özdemir S, Sevimli H, Kokulu K, Eroğlu SE. Comparison of the efficacy of PSI, CURB-65, CALL and BCRSS

in predicting prognosis and mortality in COVID-19 patients. J Exp Clin Med. 2021; 38(4): 434-439.

- **3.** Canoui E, Launay O. History and principles of vaccination. Rev Mal Respir. 2019;36(1):74-81.
- **4.** Saatçi E, Şen SK, Öztürk YK. The COVID-19 Pandemic and Health Workers. Türk Aile Hek Derg. 2020;24:172-4
- 5. Yen JS, Wang IK, Yen TH. COVID-19 vaccination and dialysis patients: why the variable response. QJM. 2021 Nov 5;114(7):440-444.
- 6. Dhillon P, Altmann D, Male V. COVID-19 vaccines: what do we know so far? FEBS J. 2021 Sep;288(17):4996-5009.
- Xia S, Zhang Y, Wang Y, Wang H, Yang Y, Gao GF, et al. Safety and immunogenicity of an inactivated SARS-CoV-2 vaccine, BBIBP-CorV: a randomised, double-blind, placebocontrolled, phase 1/2 trial. Lancet Infect Dis. 2020;21:39–51
- 8. Kahraman EP, Altındis M. COVID-19 Aşıları; Pandemide Sona Doğru? J Biotechnol and Strategic Health Res. 2020;4:240-9
- Özdemir S, Eroğlu SE, Algın A, Akça HŞ, Özkan A, Pala E, et al. Analysis of laboratory parameters in patients with COVID-19: Experiences from a pandemic hospital. Ann Clin Anal Med. 2021;12 (Supp 4):518-523.
- 10. Rossen LM, Branum AM, Ahmad FB, Sutton P, Anderson RN. Excess deaths associated with COVID-19, by age and race and ethnicity—United States, January 26–October 3, 2020. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2020;69:1522–7
- Bsoul EA, Loomer PM. COVID-19 vaccination experience among United States dental professionals and students: Safety, confidence, concerns, and side effects. PLoS One. 2022 Feb 22;17(2):e0264323.
- 12. Özdemir S, Akça H, Altunok İ, Algın A, Özkan A, Pala E, et al. Evaluation of the Relationship between Symptoms and Poor Prognosis on Patients Admitted to COVID-19 Outpatient Clinic: Retrospective Cohort Study. Anatolian J Emerg Med. 2021; 4(1): 1-5.

- 13. Djanas D, Martini RD, Putra H, Zanir A, Nindrea RD. Survey Data of COVID-19 Vaccine Side Effects among Hospital Staff in a National Referral Hospital in Indonesia. Data Br. 2021;36,107098
- 14. Guimaraes LE, Baker B, Perricone C, Shoenfeld Y. Vaccines, adjuvants and autoimmunity. Pharmacol Res. 2015;100:190-209
- 15. Nittner-Marszalska M, Rosiek-Biegus M, Kopec A, Pawlowicz R, Kosinska M. Pfizer-BioNTech COVID-19 Vaccine Tolerance in Allergic versus Non-Allergic Individuals. Vaccines (Basel). 2021;9(6):553
- McNeil MM, DeStefano F. Vaccine-associated hypersensitivity. J Allergy. Clin Immunol. 2018;141:463–72.
- 17. Bellomo RG, Gallenga CE, Caraffa A, Tete G, Ronconi G, Conti P. Anaphylaxis is a rare reaction in COVID-19 vaccination. J Biol Regul Homeost Agents. 2021;35(1):1-4
- 18. Shimabukuro T, Nair N. Allergic Reactions Including Anaphylaxis After Receipt of the First Dose of Pfizer-BioNTech COVID-19 Vaccine. JAMA. 2021;23:780-1
- 19. Garvey LH, Dewachter P, Hepner DL. Management of suspected immediate perioperative allergic reactions: an international overview and consensus recommendations. Br J Anaesth. 2019;123:50–64.
- 20. El Chakhtoura NG, Bonomo RA, Jump RLP. Influence of Aging and Environment on Presentation of Infection in Older Adults. Infect Dis Clin North Am. 2017;31(4):593-608
- **21.** Spangler R, Pham TV, Khoujah D, Martinez JP. Abdominal emergencies in the geriatric patient. Int J Emerg Med. 2014;7:43
- 22. Meo S, Bukhari I, Akram J, Meo A, Klonoff D. COVID-19 vaccines: Comparison of biological, pharmacological characteristics and adverse effects of Pfizer/BioNTech and Moderna Vaccines. Eur. Rev. Med. Pharmacol. Sci. 2021;25;1663–9
- **23.** Torjesen I. Covid-19: Norway investigates 23 deaths in frail elderly patients after vaccination. BMJ. 2021;372:149.



Journal of Experimental and Clinical Medicine https://dergipark.org.tr/omujecm



Research Article

J Exp Clin Med 2023; 40(1): 85-89 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.40.1.18

Impact of an HPV diagnosis on the psychosexual sphere

Esra KELEŞ^{1,*}^(b), Uğur Kemal ÖZTÜRK¹^(b), Cihat Murat ALINCA¹^(b), Damlanur YÜCEL¹^(b), Murat APİ¹^(b), Kürşad Nuri BAYDİLİ²^(b)

¹Department of Gynecologic Oncology, University of Health Sciences, Zeynep Kamil Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Türkiye

²Department of Biostatistics, Hamidiye Faculty of Medicine, University of Health Sciences, İstanbul, Türkiye

Received: 05.10.2022	•	Accepted/Published Online: 01.02.2023	•	Final Version: 18.03.2023

Abstract

We aimed to evaluate the psychosexual impact of being diagnosed with human papillomavirus (HPV). A cross-sectional study was conducted to assess the anxiety and depression levels and sexual functions in women with and without HPV between March and May 2021. Beck anxiety inventory, the Beck depression inventory, and the Libido scoring system scales were used as scales. A total of 575 respondents were included; 292 (50.2%) were HPV-negative, and 283 (49.8%) were HPV-positive, of whom 170 (60,1%) had high-risk HPV genotypes 16/18 and 113 (39.9%) had non-16/18 high-risk HPV-positive patients. There was no significant association between HPV-negative and HPV-positive patients in terms of sociodemographic characteristics. While 21.6% of the HPV-positive group experienced masturbation, it was 15.1% in the HPV-negative group (p=0.044). While severe depression was 4.9% in HPV-positive women, this rate was 1.4% in HPV-negative women (p=0.002). The present study showed that being diagnosed with HPV made a significant difference in sexual function, except for sexual interest, but increased anxiety and depression scores. Sexual dysfunction following an HPV diagnosis cannot be explained solely by depression and anxiety.

Keywords: anxiety, depression, human papillomavirus (HPV), sexual function

1. Introduction

Human papillomavirus (HPV) is the most common sexually transmitted infection, with approximately 80% of sexually active people having been exposed at least once in their lifetime (1). More than 120 varieties of HPV have been identified and classified as high-risk or oncogenic types and low-risk or non-oncogenic types. Although HPV infections are often asymptomatic and disappear without treatment (2), persistent HPV infections are associated with cervical intraepithelial neoplasia (CIN) and cervical cancer (3, 4). This information has led to the transformation of HPV-based cervical cancer screening programs in many countries (5).

All sexually transmitted infections, including HPV, have an adverse effect on women's psychosocial and sexual lives (6). Several studies found that positive HPV test results can lead to distress, anxiety, and depression, as well as sexual dysfunction in women (7-9), resulting in decreased quality of life (10). Given that many women experience adverse psychological and sexual consequences after being diagnosed with HPV (11), the impact of HPV on mental health and sexual function should be addressed to help alleviate the psychosexual burden.

Although there is a vast amount of literature on HPV epidemiology, screening methods, vaccines, and treatments

over the past decades, yet, there have still been knowledge gaps and contradictory findings on the effects of HPV on individuals' sexual life and anxiety and depression levels. Therefore, this study aimed to assess anxiety, depression levels, and sexual functions following HPV testing.

2. Material and methods

We conducted a cross-sectional study from March 1, 2021, to May 30, 2021, to compare anxiety and depression levels and sexual functions in women with and without HPV.

We performed a sample size calculation based on a previously published study (12), and this gave a sample size of 482 women at a power of 80% for a confidence level of 95% and an alpha error of 5%. We assumed a refusal rate of 10%; the target sample was 530 women.

Women attending the outpatient gynecologic clinic were asked to participate in the study. Those who accepted to participate were informed about the study's purpose and assured of confidentiality. We included sexually active women over 18 years who received an HPV-positive test result for the first time and agreed to complete the questionnaire. Exclusion criteria were refusal to participate, having psychiatric disorders, chronic systemic diseases, sexual penetration disorders, pregnancy, pelvic organ prolapse, gynecological or urological cancer, premature ovarian insufficiency, skin conditions affecting the genital area, drugs that cause sexual dysfunction, and a history of pelvic pain or gynecological surgery. The Research Ethics Committee of the Zeynep Kamil Training and Research Hospital approved the study (Approval number: 21.06.2021-21/211). Written and verbal informed consent was taken from all participants.

The questionnaire contained items investigating sociodemographic factors such as age, education, marital status, number of children, work status, and income level. To assess levels of anxiety, depression, and sexual function, we used the Beck anxiety inventory (BAI), the Beck depression inventory (BDI), and the Libido scoring system scales (LSSS) as scales. We adopted the set of questions from the studies by Ulusoy et al. (1998), Hisli (1988), and Api et al. (2005) (13-15).

2.1. Beck Anxiety Inventory

The Beck anxiety inventory (BAI) is a 21-item, four-point Likert-like scale (0-3) questionnaire aimed at assessing anxiety symptoms. The total score ranges between 0 and 63 points, with higher scores indicating more severe anxiety.

2.2. Beck Depression Inventory

The Beck Depression Inventory (BDI) is a 21-item, four-point Likert-like scale (0-3) questionnaire that aims to assess the severity of depression in normal and psychiatric populations. The total score ranges between 0 and 63 points, with higher scores indicating more severe depressive symptoms.

2.3. Libido Scoring System Scale

The libido scoring system (LSS) scale, which includes four questions on four domains; orgasmic function, coital frequency, sexual desire, and self-sexual interest (masturbation), was used to assess female sexual function. A total score ranges between 0 and 12 points, with higher scores indicating better sexual functioning.

2.4. Statistical Analysis

We analyzed the data using IBM SPSS for Windows, Version 25.0 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA). Qualitative variables were expressed with frequency (n) and percentage (%) values. Quantitative variables were presented with mean and standard deviation (mean + SD) values. The Chi-Square test was used to compare categorical variables between groups. P-values less than 0.05 were considered to indicate statistically significant.

3. Results

A total of 575 women were eligible for the final analysis. The mean age of the patients was 35 years. Overall, 42.4% of the participants were university graduates, 47.0% were unemployed, 55.8% were married, 86.8% had two or fewer children, and 29.6% had a monthly income below 2000 Turkish Liras. All sociodemographic characteristics and HPV results of the study participants are presented in Table 1.

Table 1.	Baseline	characteristics	of	participants

	a par troipanto
	n (%)
Age (years)	35 (19-72)
Education	
Illiterate	10 (1.7)
Primary	132 (23)
Secondary	189 (32.9)
Tertiary (University/College)	244 (42.4)
Marital Status	
Single	178 (31)
Married	321 (55.8)
Widowed/Divorced	76 (13.2)
Number of children	
0	200 (34.8)
1	128 (22.3)
2	171 (29.7)
3	52 (9)
≥4	24 (4.2)
Employment	
Unemployed	270 (47)
Governmental employee	64 (11.1)
Laborer	67 (11.7)
Self-employed	174 (30.3)
Financial Status	
≤2000 TL	170 (29.6)
2001-3000 TL	166 (28.9)
3001-4000 TL	106 (18.4)
≥4001 TL	133 (23.1)
HPV Results	
HPV (-)	292 (50.8)
HPV (+)	283 (49.2)
Abbreviations: HPV, human papillom	avirus; TL, Turkish Liras

Of the 575 women, 292 (50.8%) were HPV-negative, and 283 (49.2%) were HPV-positive. The two groups did not differ in educational level, marital status, number of children, occupation, and financial status (Table 2).

Table	2.	Comparison	of	HPV	status	by	sociodemographic
charact	erist	tics					

	HPV (-)	HPV (+) n (%)	р
Education	II (70)	II (70)	
Illiterate	4 (40)	6 (60)	
Primary	73 (55.3)	59 (44.7)	
Secondary	88 (46.6)	101 (53.4)	0.387
Tertiary	127 (52)	117 (48)	
(University/College)			
Marital status			
Single	86 (48.3)	92 (51.7)	
Married	172 (53.6)	149 (46.4)	0.279
Widowed/Divorced	34 (44.7)	42 (55.3)	
Number of			
children			
0	98 (49)	102 (51)	
1	64 (50)	64 (50)	
2	94 (55)	77 (45)	0.484
3	22 (42.3)	30 (57.7)	
≥4	14 (58.3)	10 (41.7)	
Employment			
Unemployed	135 (50)	135 (50)	
Governmental employee	31 (48.4)	33 (51.6)	0.223
Laborer	42 (62.7)	25 (37.3)	
Self-employed	84 (48.3)	90 (51.7)	

 Table 2. Comparison of HPV status by sociodemographic characteristics (continue)

Financial Status			
≤2000 TL	84 (49.4)	86 (50.6)	
2001-3000 TL	86 (51.8)	80 (48.2)	0.717
3001-4000 TL	50 (47.2)	56 (52.8)	0.717
≥4001 TL	72 (54.1)	61 (45.9)	
Abbroviations, UDV hum	an nonillomovinus. TI	Turkich Lines	

Abbreviations: HPV, human papillomavirus; TL, Turkish Liras

In comparing libido scoring system domains among women who were HPV-negative and HPV-positive, 21.6% of HPV-positive patients experienced masturbation, and 15.1% in the HPV-negative group (p=0.044). While severe depression was 4.9% in HPV-positive women, this rate was 1.4% in HPVnegative women (p=0.002). Orgasmic function, sexual intercourse frequency, and sexual desire did not differ between HPV-positive and HPV-negative groups (all p>0.05). Comparison of Libido Scoring System domains, anxiety, and depression in HPV-positive and HPV-negative women are demonstrated in Table 3.

 Table 3. Comparison of Libido scoring system (LSS), anxiety and depression across groups

	HPV (-) n (%)	HPV (+) n (%)	р
Sex Frequency			
None	51 (17.5)	60 (21.2)	
≤once a week	133 (45.5)	127 (44.9)	0.601
twice a week	70 (24)	61 (21.6)	0.091
\geq twice a week	38 (13)	35 (12.4)	
Masturbation			
Does not	248 (84.9)	222 (78.4)	0.044
Does	44 (15.1)	61 (21.6)	*
Who starts the sexual activity			
Always Partner	49 (16.8)	48 (17)	
Mostly Partner	208 (71.2)	195 (68.9)	0.910
Mostly Herself	31 (10.6)	37 (13.1)	0.819
Always Herself	4 (1.4)	3 (1.1)	
Orgasm			
Never	60 (20.5)	70 (24.7)	
Sometimes	158 (54.1)	123 (43.5)	0.060
Frequently	66 (22.6)	76 (26.9)	0.000
Always	8 (2.7)	14 (4.9)	
Libido Scoring System			
Loss of Libido	67 (22.9)	78 (27.6)	
Low Libido	157 (53.8)	122 (43.1)	0.077
Good Libido	65 (22.3)	80 (28.3)	0.077
High Libido	3 (1)	3 (1.1)	
Depression			
Minimal Depression	192 (65.8)	146 (51.6)	
Mild Depression	57 (19.5)	73 (25.8)	0.002
Moderate Depression	39 (13.4)	50 (17.7)	*
Severe Depression	4 (1.4)	14 (4.9)	
Anxiety			
Minimal Anxiety	167 (57.2)	140 (49.5)	
Mild Anxiety	65 (22.3)	67 (23.7)	0.071
Moderate Anxiety	46 (15.8)	48 (17)	0.071
Severe Anxiety	14 (4.8)	28 (9.9)	

Abbreviations: HPV, human papillomavirus; BAI, Beck Anxiety Inventory; BDI, Beck Depression Inventory; LSS, Libido Scoring System

4. Discussion

The present study indicated that HPV-positive women had more sexual interest than HPV-negative women. We found no

association between positive HPV test results and the domains of sexual desire, frequency of sexual activity, and orgasmic experience. We found higher depression levels in HPVpositive women compared to the control group. However, we did not observe a significant difference in anxiety levels between groups.

The cervical cancer screening programs are generally population-based interventions. Globally, millions of women receive HPV-positive test results at cervical screening programs each year. World Health Organization recognizes HPV as a global burden, associated with an estimated 570,000 new cases of cervical cancer and leading to 311,000 deaths worldwide (16). Additionally, a diagnosis of HPV may be associated with adverse psychological, behavioral, and sexual effects; this translates into a significant number of individuals being exposed to negative psychological and behavioral consequences. This has led many researchers to investigate the impact of an HPV diagnosis on mental health and sexual behavior. To date, much work in this field has been carried out, yet, there have still been contradictory findings due to differences in the study designs, heterogeneity in the cervical screening programs, and lack of a well-accepted definition of emotions (17). For instance, the randomized controlled trial on the psychosexual impact of HPV testing in primary cervical screening conducted in 2008 by Kitchener et al. from England found that psychosexual functioning did not differ between those who received an HPV+ or HPV- result (18). In another study reported by Maggino et al. among 72 women attending a gynecological clinic, there were no significant differences in interest in sex, sexual arousal, sexual satisfaction, frequency of sex, sexual satisfaction, and sexual pleasure/orgasm between women who were HPV+ and HPV- over 6 to 12+ months (10). A third study by Reed et al. found no difference in sexual satisfaction, frequency of sex, or sexual arousal (19). These findings are in contrast to those reported by Ferenidou on 51 women whose HPV-positive results were recently disclosed, 41% reported a decrease in the frequency of sex, 22% reported feeling dissatisfied with their sex life, 22% reported difficulty in reaching orgasm, and decreased sexual desire following an HPV diagnosis (20). Our findings suggest that among women with HPV+ or HPV- results, testing positive for HPV may have no significant adverse sexual effects on both frequencies of sex, sexual desire, and orgasm; however, the difference reaches significance only with a sexual interest in HPV+. While there is a large amount of clinical, socioeconomic, and demographic data on HPV testing, this particular area of psychosexual outcomes is lacking and might have been overlooked to date. One possible explanation was that the study participants ranged from 18 to 72 years. Since sexual function in postmenopausal women over the age of 50 is different from women of childbearing age, this may affect the results obtained.

The majority of prior research found an increase in psychological morbidity, particularly short-term anxiety, following HPV-positive test results (10, 21, 22). However, we

did not observe a significant difference in anxiety levels after an HPV-positive test result. On the contrary, we found higher depression levels in women diagnosed with HPV compared to those without HPV. Our results support previous research in this area (18, 23). As we evaluated the patients shortly after their HPV-positive results, anxiety and depression may not have yet developed in such a short time. In addition, patients with severe lesions undergoing treatment for HPV may have experienced a deterioration in mental health. Unfortunately, we were unable to evaluate patients after a gynecological procedure. Moreover, it should be kept in mind that clinical and statistical heterogeneity makes it difficult to conclude the psychosexual impact of testing HPV-positive (23, 24).

Several limitations to this study are worth considering when interpreting the results. Firstly, the study's crosssectional design did not allow us to infer causality between testing positive for HPV and emotional response. Due to the short duration of the study, we could not conclude the longterm effects of HPV infection on mental health status and sexual dysfunction. Unfortunately, we were unable to obtain relevant data on the patients' cytologic results, presence of genital warts, HPV vaccination status, and their partner's or husband's sexual function. Lastly, considering Türkiye's context, these findings may not apply to other settings due to cultural, religious, and ethnic diversity. Notwithstanding these limitations, this study has several strengths in that it has a large sample size comparing healthy and HPV-positive subjects that maximizes the interpretability of the study findings. A reliable, validated instrument was used to measure anxiety, depression, and sexual dysfunction since emotional responses are difficult to categorize, and healthcare providers and patients are reluctant to talk about sexual issues and sexually transmitted diseases.

The present study was designed to evaluate the psychosexual impact of testing positive for HPV. This study showed that being diagnosed with HPV made no significant difference in anxiety levels and sexual function, except for sexual interest, but increased depression scores. We believe that our findings add substantially to our understanding of the short-term psychosexual consequences of being diagnosed with HPV. Considering the large number of women participating in cervical cancer screening programs each year and are likely to be affected by psychosocial and sexual aspects, further studies are needed to investigate the psychological, social, and sexual effects of being diagnosed with HPV.

Ethical statement

The Research Ethics Committee of the Zeynep Kamil Training and Research Hospital approved the study (Approval number: 21.06.2021-21/211).

Conflict of interest

The authors have no conflicts of interest.

Funding

No funds were received in support of this work. No benefits in any form have been or will be received from a commercial party related directly or indirectly to the subject of this manuscript.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank the study participants for their contribution.

Authors' contributions

Concept: E.K., M.A., Design: E.K., M.A., Data Collection or Processing: U.K.Ö., C.M.A., D.Y., Analysis or Interpretation: K.N.B., E.K., Literature Search: E.K., U.K.Ö., M.A., C.M.A., D.Y., K.N.B., Writing: E.K., U.K.Ö., M.A., C.M.A., D.Y., K.N.B.

References

- 1. Centers CDC. Genital HPV Infection-Fact Sheet. STD Fact Sheet Internet. 2017. [Cited 10 Dec 2021.] Available from URL: https://www.cdc.gov/std/hpv/stdfact-hpv.htm
- **2.** Tovar JM, Bazaldua OV, Vargas L, Reile E. Human papillomavirus, cervical cancer, and the vaccines. Postgrad Med. 2008;120(2):79-84.
- **3.** Moscicki AB, Hills N, Shiboski S, Powell K, Jay N, Hanson E, et al. Risks for incident human papillomavirus infection and low-grade squamous intraepithelial lesion development in young females. JAMA. 2001;285(23):2995-3002.
- **4.** de Sanjose S, Quint WG, Alemany L, Geraets DT, Klaustermeier JE, Lloveras B, et al. Human papillomavirus genotype attribution in invasive cervical cancer: a retrospective cross-sectional worldwide study. Lancet Oncol. 2010;11(11):1048-1056.
- **5.** Cuschieri KS, Cubie HA. The role of human papillomavirus testing in cervical screening. J Clin Virol. 2005;32 Suppl 1:S34-S42.
- 6. O'Connor M, Costello L, Murphy J, Prendiville W, Martin CM, O'Leary JJ, et al. 'I don't care whether it's HPV or ABC, I just want to know if I have cancer.' Factors influencing women's emotional responses to undergoing human papillomavirus testing in routine management in cervical screening: a qualitative study. BJOG. 2014;121(11):1421-1429.
- 7. Lin H, Jeng CJ, Wang LR. Psychological responses of women infected with cervical human papillomavirus: a qualitative study in Taiwan. Taiwanese J Obstet Gynecol. 2011;50(2):154-158.
- **8.** Kahn JA, Slap GB, Bernstein DI, Kollar LM, Tissot AM, Hillard PA, et al. Psychological, behavioral, and interpersonal impact of human papillomavirus and Pap test results. J Womens Health (Larchmt). 2005;14(7):650-659.
- **9.** McCaffery K, Waller J, Nazroo J, Wardle J. Social and psychological impact of HPV testing in cervical screening: a qualitative study. Sex Transm Infect. 2006;82(2):169-174.
- 10. Maggino T, Casadei D, Panontin E, Fadda E, Zampieri MC, Donà MA, et al. Impact of an HPV diagnosis on the quality of life in young women. Gynecol Oncol. 2007 Oct;107(1 Suppl 1):S175-179.
- 11. Foster L, Byers E. Predictors of the sexual well-being of individuals diagnosed with Herpes and Human Papillomavirus. Arch Sex Behav. 2014;45(2):403–414.
- **12.** Sakin Ö, Uzun SB, Koyuncu K, Giray B, Akalın EE, Anğın AD. Cervix human papilloma virus positivity: Does it cause sexual dysfunction? Turk J Obstet Gynecol. 2019;16(4):235-41.

- **13.** Ulusoy M, Şahin N, Erkman H. Turkish version of the beck anxiety inventory: psychometric properties. Journal of Cognitive Psychotherapy. 1998:12;28–35.
- Hisli N. Beck Depresyon Envanteri'nin Geçerliği Üzerine Bir Çalışma. Psikoloji Dergisi. 1988:6;118–126.
- 15. Api M, Api O, Görgen H, Çetin A, Yayla M. New diagnostic instrument for sexual function assessment in menopausal women: Libido scoring system. J Turk Ger Gynecol Assoc. 2005;6:24-29.
- 16. Ferlay J, Colombet M, Soerjomataram I, Parkin DM, Piñeros M, Znaor A, et al. Cancer statistics for the year 2020: An overview. Int J Cancer. 2021 Apr 5. doi: 10.1002/ijc.33588. Epub ahead of print. PMID: 33818764.
- 17. Bennett KF, Waller J, Ryan M, Bailey JV, Marlow LAV. The psychosexual impact of testing positive for high-risk cervical human papillomavirus (HPV): A systematic review. Psychooncology. 2019;28(10):1959-1970.
- **18.** Kitchener HC, Fletcher I, Roberts C, Wheeler P, Almonte M, Maguire P. The psychosocial impact of human papillomavirus testing in primary cervical screening-a study within a randomized trial. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2008;18(4):743-748.
- Reed BD, Ruffin MT, Gorenflo DW, Zazove P. The psychosexual impact of human papillomavirus cervical infections. J Fam Pract.

1999;48(2):110-116.

- **20.** Ferenidou F, Salakos N, Vaidakis N, Paltoglou G, Bakalianou K, Papadimitriou G, et al. The impact of HPV diagnosis on women's sexual and mental health: preliminary findings. Clin Exp Obstet Gynecol. 2012;39(1):79-82.
- **21.** McBride E, Tatar O, Rosberger Z, Rockliffe L, Marlow LAV, Moss-Morris R, et al. Emotional response to testing positive for human papillomavirus at cervical cancer screening: a mixed method systematic review with meta-analysis. Health Psychol Rev. 2021;15(3):395-429.
- **22.** Alay I, Kaya C, Karaca I, Yildiz S, Baghaki S, Cengiz H, et al. The effect of being diagnosed with human papillomavirus infection on women's sexual lives. J Med Virol. 2020;92(8):1290-1297.
- **23.** Mercan R, Mercan S, Durmaz B, Sur H, Kilciksiz CM, Kacar AS, et al. Sexual dysfunction in women with human papilloma virus infection in the Turkish population. J Obstet Gynaecol. 2019;39(5):659-663.
- **24.** Johnson CY, Sharp L, Cotton SC, Harris CA, Gray NM, Little J, et al. Human papillomavirus infection and anxiety: analyses in women with low-grade cervical cytological abnormalities unaware of their infection status. PLoS One. 2011;6(6):e21046.



Journal of Experimental and Clinical Medicine https://dergipark.org.tr/omujecm



Research Article

J Exp Clin Med 2023; 40(1): 90-93 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.40.1.19

Correlation of blood glucose and prostatic-related parameters in patients with prostate enlargement

Ida Bagus Gde Tirta Yoga YATİNDRA^{1,*®}, Anak Agung Sagung Mirah PRABANDARİ²®, Pande Made Wisnu TİRTAYASA³®, Ida Bagus Tatwa YATİNDRA^{4,5}®, Anak Agung Ngurah Oka DİATMİKA⁴®, Kadek Cindy MERNİKA¹®

¹Tabanan General Hospital, Bali, Indonesia
 ²Mangusada General Hospital, Bali, Indonesia
 ³Department of Surgery, Udayana University Hospital, Bali, Indonesia
 ⁴Department of Surgery, Tabanan General Hospital, Bali, Indonesia
 ⁵Faculty of medicine, Warmadewa University, Bali, Indonesia

Received: 23.10.2022	٠	Accepted/Published Online: 01.02.2023	•	Final Version: 18.03.2023

Abstract

Enlarged prostate, either in benign prostatic hyperplasia or prostate cancer is the predominant urological disease affecting older men. Metabolic syndrome including high blood glucose was considered to take part in the development of prostate enlargement, although their association is still unclear. This study aims to investigate the correlation between blood glucose with prostatic-related parameters. A cross-sectional study was conducted involving 91 men with prostate enlargement from Urology Polyclinic, Tabanan Hospital, Bali Province, Indonesia. Prostatic-related parameters collected include patient's international prostate symptoms score using the questionnaire, prostate-specific antigen and random blood glucose analysis from serum blood sample, and prostate volume determined with transabdominal ultrasonography. Patient's mean age was 65.4 \pm 10 years, mean prostate volume 52.7 \pm 26 ml, mean prostate-specific antigen (PSA) 9.2 \pm 17 ng/ml, mean international prostatic symptoms score (IPSS) 14.31 \pm 7.1, mean random blood glucose 121.1 \pm 40.5 mg/dl. This study found weak positive correlation between random blood glucose and prostate volume (r=0.269; p=0.01). PSA and prostate volume showed moderate positive correlation (r=0.365; p<0.001). No correlation between random blood glucose with PSA or IPSS was found in this study. This study found random blood glucose has positive correlation with prostate volume. We recommend enhancing blood glucose control to prevent the progress of prostate enlargement.

Keywords: blood glucose, prostate, prostate-specific antigen, urology

1. Introduction

Enlarged prostate is the most common cause of lower urinary tract symptoms in elderly men. As life expectancy increases, the elderly population is increasing and so does the incidence of prostate enlargement. Research in Asia showed the prevalence of benign prostatic hyperplasia (BPH) increases after the age of 40 years, with a prevalence of 8-60% at the age of 90 years (1). Prostate enlargement causes various morbidity and high financial burden, thus making prevention efforts mandatory. Risk factors thought to affect prostate enlargement are divided into non-modifiable factors and modifiable factors. Non-modifiable factors include age, race, and genetics, while modifiable factors include sex steroid hormones, metabolic syndrome, obesity, diabetes, physical activity, diet, and inflammation (2). Investigating the association of those risk factors with prostate enlargement, particularly the modifiable one, can be beneficial to prevent and treat prostate enlargement.

Besides the increase in the prevalence of prostate

enlargement, diabetes mellitus prevalence was also increasing (3). By 2030, the global prevalence of type 2 diabetes mellitus is expected to increase up to 7079 cases per 100,000 people, demonstrating an ongoing rise in all regions (4). Type 2 diabetes mellitus was commonly seen in developed countries, but there are alarming tendencies in lower-income nations. The prevalence of diabetes in hospital-based studies may be underestimated because blood glucose measurements were never carried out by many people until there is a symptom. A lot of diabetic patients also do not comply with treatment, resulting in consistently high blood glucose (5).

Evidence showed that hyperglycemia is considered to take part in the development of prostate enlargement (6). Although, the association between the two is still unclear. Understanding the potential relationship of hyperglycemia with prostate enlargement could improve men's quality of life significantly. This study aims to investigate the correlation between random blood glucose with prostatic-related parameters including prostate volume, international prostate symptoms score (IPSS), and prostate-specific antigen (PSA).

2. Materials and Method

This study was a cross-sectional study conducted at the Urology Polyclinic of Tabanan Hospital, Bali Province, Indonesia from January-March 2022. This study methodology has been approved by the Institutional Review Board of Tabanan Hospital with the ethical clearance letter number 800/3102/KEPEG/RSUD. Informed consent has been obtained from all patients. We included all patients with prostate enlargement (prostate volume >20 ml) which was determined by transabdominal ultrasonography. Patients with repeated admission, incomplete data, and who refused to participate were excluded from this study. Research participant selection was done using total sampling methods. The independent variable in this study was random blood glucose (RBG), while the dependent variables were prostate volume, IPSS, and PSA. The patients were asked to fill out and submit the IPSS questionnaire, with the total score being the sum of the scores in each question. Serum blood samples were used to measure PSA and RBG on a clinical chemistry analyzer (Thermo Scientific Indiko Plus, Finland). Prostate volume was measured by transabdominal ultrasonography (GE® LOGIQ P9, South Korea) and calculated from transverse images by using the prostate ellipsoid formula (0.524 \times height \times width \times length).

Data analysis was performed by using IBM Statistical Package Software for Social Science[®] version 23.0. The normality of numerical data distribution was measured using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. The correlation between random blood glucose and prostate-related parameters was analyzed using the Pearson correlation test for normally distributed data. Otherwise, the Spearman correlation test will be used. Further analysis was carried out using multiple linear regression analysis to investigate the association between prostate volume and other parameters. A two-tailed p<0.05 was considered a statistically significant association.

3. Results

There were a total of 114 men with prostate enlargement visiting the Urology Polyclinic at Tabanan Hospital from January-March 2022. 23 patients were excluded due to refusal to participate. There were a total of 91 patients who fulfilled the inclusion criteria. Baseline characteristics of the patients were shown in Table 1.

Table	1.	Baseline	characteristics
-------	----	----------	-----------------

Variables (n=91)	Mean	SD	Range
Age (years)	65.41	10.074	48-91
Random Blood Glucose (mg/dL)	121.14	40.469	79-303
IPSS	14.31	7.136	1-28
PSA (ng/mL)	9.20	17.01	0-123
Prostate Volume (mL)	52.69	26.09	20.4-148

IPSS: International Prostate Symptoms Score, PSA: Prostate-Specific Antigen

Kolmogorov-Smirnov test revealed that the data was not normally distributed, therefore correlation analysis was carried out using Spearman Test. A significant correlation between RBG and prostate volume was found, but there was no correlation between RBG with IPSS and PSA (Table 2).

 Table 2. Correlation test between variables

Variables	Correlation	р
RBG and IPSS	0.137	0.197
RBG and PSA	0.063	0.551
RBG and Prostate Volume	0.269	0.010
RBG: random blood glucose		

Random blood glucose was found to be associated with prostate volume only, therefore only prostate volume was investigated in the multivariate analysis. Multiple linear regression revealed that there was a significant correlation between random blood glucose and prostate volume. There was also a significant correlation between PSA and prostate volume (Table 3).

 Table 3. Multivariate analysis of possible risk factors affecting prostate volume

Variables	Correlation	95% CI	р
Age	0.056	-0.378 - 0.670	0.582
Random Blood Glucose	0.279	0.053 - 0.307	0.006
IPSS	0.062	-0.500 - 0.954	0.537
PSA	0.239	0.053 - 0.680	0.022
TRAG L I.B		a. b. a a a.	

IPSS: International Prostate Symptoms Score, PSA: Prostate-Specific Antigen

4. Discussion

This study revealed that random blood glucose has a positive correlation with prostate volume. This finding was consistent with previous studies which found that there was an association between hyperglycemia and prostate size and that abnormal glucose was correlated with prostate enlargement. In patients younger than 70 years, compared with the normal glucose group, the adjusted odds ratio for prostate volume enlargement in the prediabetic group and the diabetic group was 2.27 (95% CI 1.29 - 4.00) and 4.74 (95% CI 2.18 - 10.30) respectively (6). Prostate volume was found to be higher in patients with HbA1c levels $\geq 6.5\%$ (45.69 ± 3.97 vs. 36.64 ± 3.30) (7). Another study by Qu et al. showed that BPH patients with fasting glucose \geq 7 mmol or oral glucose tolerance test >110 mg/dl had increased prostate volume (41.18 vs 51.52 cm³, p=0.005) (8). Opposite findings were reported in the study by Zhang et al. that found no correlation between fasting blood glucose and HbA1c with prostate volume, except fasting insulin (r=0.421). In the study by Yim et al., increased prostate volume is associated with fasting blood glucose (9).

While the precise mechanism was still unclear, there are several proposed mechanisms on how blood glucose could impact prostate enlargement. First, hyperglycemia was found to induce an inflammatory state in vitro and in vivo (10). A study showed an increase in c-reactive protein and increased reactive oxygen species in hyperglycemic patients compare to control (11). Inflammatory cells are frequently found in BPH and are also present in prostate cancer. Findings of T lymphocytes, B lymphocytes, and macrophages were reported, which are associated with prostate size in prostatectomy specimens. Second, hyperglycemia was found to be related to raised sympathetic nerve activity, which increased the smooth muscle tone of the prostate and subsequent blockage of the bladder outlet and cause obstructive symptoms. Third, related to the increase of sex hormones in prostate cells. Hyperglycemia leads to hyperinsulinemia which is related to a lower level of sex hormone-binding globulin and leads to the increased quantity of sex hormone entering prostatic cells, thus influencing the growth of the prostate in size (10). Another proposed mechanism is that hyperinsulinemia (as a result of hyperglycemia) might induce prostate growth through the insulin-like growth factor (IGF) pathway that stimulates cell proliferation. Additionally, elevated insulin levels (as in diabetic patients) increase catecholamine levels in plasma and tissue, which may have a trophic effect causing an enlarged prostate by lowering the progression of apoptosis (12).

This study revealed that there was no correlation between blood glucose and IPSS. Chen et al. revealed that IPSS were higher in patients with HbA1c levels $\geq 6.5\%$ (16.30 ± 3.31 vs. 9.87 ± 1.0) (7). Another study by Ferreira et al. stated that patient with type 2 diabetes mellitus has significantly higher IPSS (13). This discrepancy might be due to the difference in blood glucose parameters being used. This study also revealed that there was no correlation between blood glucose and PSA, although a previous study found PSA was higher in diabetic compared to the non-diabetic group (3.23 vs 1.94, p=0.013) (8). A study by Duarsa et al. in the Balinese population also found that increased PSA and age were correlated with prostate volume progression (14). Meanwhile, age was not correlated with prostate volume in this study.

The blood glucose parameter was chosen over the history of diabetes mellitus because of several conditions met in our patient. First, we were lacking the diagnostic standard to diagnose diabetes mellitus such as fasting blood glucose, because most of the patients were not fasting during the examination. Second, a lot of patients who admitted to not having a history of diabetes mellitus, never actually check their blood glucose levels which turned out to be high. Third, patients with a history of diabetes mellitus may have low blood glucose due to diabetic medication and still have high blood glucose due to non-adherence to medication.

This study has several limitations. First, this study design is cross-sectional and thus was unable to reveal causal associations between blood glucose and the prostatic parameters measured. Second, this study was a single institutional study and all patients have not undergone transurethral resection of the prostate (TURP) procedure, therefore in this study, we were unable to identify the cause of the prostate enlargement and differentiate between BPH and prostate cancer by biopsy. Although, prostate cancer was found to be associated with a higher prostate volume than BPH (15). Third, several variables that might be a significant factor for prostate volume such as previous medication was also not investigated and might be confounding factors. 5-a reductase inhibitor was known to be associated with prostate volume reduction (16), metformin was also found to inhibit prostate growth in an animal study (17), while insulin is associated with prostate cell growth (18). Oral hyperglycemic drugs were also not investigated and may have affected the levels of blood glucose measured.

This study showed that random blood glucose has a positive correlation with prostate volume. This study has demonstrated the necessity for blood glucose control to prevent the progress of prostate enlargement. We recommended further studies conducted with a better methodological approach, a larger sample size, and including more variables in a multivariate analysis, to better understand the association between blood glucose and prostate volume.

Ethical statement

This study methodology has been approved by the Institutional Review Board of Tabanan Hospital with the ethical clearance letter number 800/3102/KEPEG/RSUD.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare there is no conflict of interest.

Funding

The authors declare that this study has not received funding from any sources.

Acknowledgments

The authors have no acknowledgments to declare.

Authors' contributions

Concept: I.B.G.T.Y.Y., A.A.S.M.P., Design: I.B.G.T.Y.Y., A.A.S.M.P., P.M.W.T., Data Collection or Processing: I.B.G.T.Y.Y., I.B.T.Y., A.A.N.O.D., K.C.M., Analysis or Interpretation: I.B.G.T.Y.Y., A.A.S.M.P., P.M.W.T., Literature Search: I.B.G.T.Y.Y., A.A.S.M.P., P.M.W.T., Writing: I.B.G.T.Y.Y., A.A.S.M.P.

References

- 1. Lim K Bin. Epidemiology of clinical benign prostatic hyperplasia. Asian J Urol. 2017 Jul;4(3):148–51.
- Patel ND, Parsons JK. Epidemiology and etiology of benign prostatic hyperplasia and bladder outlet obstruction. Indian J Urol. 2014 Apr;30(2):170–6.
- **3.** Kharroubi AT, Darwish HM. Diabetes mellitus: The epidemic of the century. World J Diabetes. 2015 Jun;6(6):850–67.
- Khan MAB, Hashim MJ, King JK, Govender RD, Mustafa H, Al Kaabi J. Epidemiology of Type 2 Diabetes - Global Burden of Disease and Forecasted Trends. J Epidemiol Glob Health. 2020 Mar;10(1):107–11.
- 5. Liu C, Yuan Y-C, Guo M-N, Xin Z, Chen G-J, Bentley AR, et al. Incidence of Type 1 Diabetes May Be Underestimated in the Chinese Population: Evidence From 21.7 Million People Between 2007 and 2017. Diabetes Care. 2021 Nov;44(11):2503–9.
- **6.** Wu Y, Ding Y, Cao QF, Qian SB, Wang C, Duan HQ, et al. The relationship between glucose homeostasis status and prostate size in aging Chinese males with benign prostatic hyperplasia. World J Urol. 2020 Nov;38(11):2923–31.
- 7. Chen Z, Miao L, Gao X, Wang G, Xu Y. Effect of obesity and

hyperglycemia on benign prostatic hyperplasia in elderly patients with newly diagnosed type 2 diabetes. Int J Clin Exp Med. 2015;8(7):11289–94.

- 8. Qu X, Huang Z, Meng X, Zhang X, Dong L, Zhao X. Prostate volume correlates with diabetes in elderly benign prostatic hyperplasia patients. Int Urol Nephrol. 2014 Mar;46(3):499–504.
- **9.** Yim SJ, Cho YS, Joo KJ. Relationship between metabolic syndrome and prostate volume in Korean men under 50 years of age. Korean J Urol. 2011 Jun;52(6):390–5.
- Breyer BN, Sarma A V. Hyperglycemia and insulin resistance and the risk of BPH/LUTS: an update of recent literature. Curr Urol Rep. 2014 Dec;15(12):462.
- **11.** Kahal H, Halama A, Aburima A, Bhagwat AM, Butler AE, Graumann J, et al. Effect of induced hypoglycemia on inflammation and oxidative stress in type 2 diabetes and control subjects. Sci Rep. 2020;10(1):4750.
- 12. Nugroho EA, Kurniawan R. Association between Hyperglycemia and Prostate Volume in Patients with Benign Prostate Enlargement: A Hospital Case-Control Study. J Biomed Transl Res [Internet]. 2017 Dec 31;3(2):46. Available from: https://ejournal2.undip.ac.id/index.php/jbtr/article/view/1971

- **13.** Ferreira FT, Daltoé L, Succi G, Cunha F, Ferreira JM, Lorenzetti F, et al. Relation between glycemic levels and low tract urinary symptoms in elderly. Off J Int Soc Study Aging Male. 2015 Mar;18(1):34–7.
- 14. Duarsa GWK, Dau DO, Pramana IBP, Tirtayasa PMW, Yudiana IW, Santosa KB, et al. Risk Factors for Prostate Volume Progression After Prostate-Transurethral Resection. Res Reports Urol [Internet]. 2020 May [cited 2022 Oct 1];Volume 12:175–8. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC7211307/
- Al-Khalil S, Ibilibor C, Cammack JT, de Riese W. Association of prostate volume with incidence and aggressiveness of prostate cancer. Res reports Urol. 2016;8:201–5.
- **16.** Kim EH, Brockman JA, Andriole GL. The use of 5-alpha reductase inhibitors in the treatment of benign prostatic hyperplasia. Asian J Urol. 2018 Jan;5(1):28–32.
- 17. Xu C, Xu Y, Shen Z, Zhou H, Xiao J, Huang T. Effects of metformin on prostatic tissue of rats with metabolic syndrome and benign prostatic hyperplasia. Int Urol Nephrol. 2018 Apr;50(4):611–7.
- **18.** Wang Z, Olumi AF. Diabetes, growth hormone-insulin-like growth factor pathways and association to benign prostatic hyperplasia. Differentiation. 2011;82(4–5):261–71.



Journal of Experimental and Clinical Medicine https://dergipark.org.tr/omujecm



Research Article

J Exp Clin Med 2023; 40(1): 94-99 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.40.1.20

Relationship between psychiatric symptoms, childhood traumas, and types of crime of convicts in Elazig closed prisons

Şüheda KAYA^{1,*}^(b), Gülay TAŞCI²^(b), Nülüfer KILIÇ¹^(b), Bahadır DEMİR³^(b) Filiz ÖZSOY⁴^(b)

¹Department of Psychiatry, Mental Health and Diseases Hospital, Elazığ, Türkiye
 ²Department of Psychiatry, Fethi Sekin City Hospital, Elazığ, Türkiye
 ³Department of Psychiatry, Faculty of Medicine, University of Gaziantep, Gaziantep, Türkiye
 ⁴Department of Psychiatry, Faculty of Medicine, University of Gaziosmanpaşa, Tokat, Türkiye

Received: 05.12.2022	•	Accepted/Published Online: 03.02.2023	•	Final Version: 18.03.2023
----------------------	---	---------------------------------------	---	---------------------------

Abstract

Our study aimed to examine the childhood traumas and psychiatric symptoms of prisoners and their relationship with crime types. Persons convicted in Elazig Penitentiary Institutions were included in the study. The Demographic and Clinical Evaluation Form, Beck Depression Inventory (BDI), Beck Anxiety Inventory (BAI), Childhood Trauma Questionnaire (CTQ) and Symptom Checklist (SCL-90) were administered to all participants. A total of 370 people were included in the study. For prisoners who have been imprisoned before, CTQ-physical abuse, BAI, SCL-90-somatization, anxiety, and hostility subscale scores were higher than those who entered the prison for the first time (p values: 0.020, 0.003, 0.016, 0.017, 0.047, respectively). Prisoners with a family history of prison entry had higher SCL-90 test all subscale scores, total scores and CTQ physical abuse subscale scores than the group without a family history of prison entry. Those exposed to violence in childhood and those who had attempted suicide before had higher scores on all scales. Those with a history of alcohol and substance use had higher total scores on the CTQ-emotional abuse and sexual abuse scale. According to the type of crime committed, only the CTQ-sexual abuse subscale scores differed. These subscale scores of the prisoners involved in more than one crime were higher than those involved in a single crime (p=0.030). The CTQ-sexual abuse subscale scores of those who were involved in the crime of willful homicide were calculated to be high (p=0.030). It was thought that preventing abuse, violence, and traumas in childhood may be necessary in reducing the tendency to crimes.

Keywords: prison, prisoner, depression, anxiety, psychiatric symptoms

1. Introduction

Crime defines all of the actions for which criminal law sanctions are envisaged. The Criminal behavior concept is as old as human history, affects all societies, and is widespread (1). Individuals obliged to stay in prison after any crime and legally deprived of their freedom are defined as "detainees". A "convict" is a person whose conviction has been decided by judicial organs (2). According to the Ministry of Justice's data in Turkey for 2022, there were 314.502 detainees and 275.965 convicts (3). According to the 2018 data from the Turkish Statistical Institute (TSI), the number of people in prisons increased by 10.1% in 2019 (4).

The individual imprisoned for the crime committed is alienated from society. For the detainees and convicts, the crime committed, the punishment received, and being in a closed environment are stress factors. When all these come together, it is reported that the incidence of mental problems in detainees and convicts increases (5). Depressive disorder, schizophrenia, other psychotic disorders and anxiety disorders were found to be high in detainees and convicts in studies in the literature (5, 6, 7). It was also reported that the frequency of traumas and traumatic experiences was high in studies conducted with detainees and convicts (1). Also, detainees and convicts who have inadequate coping attitudes have difficulty overcoming their problems and have a risk of suicide (5, 8). Studies were conducted on coping attitudes, the effects of regular exercise programs on violent behavior, and the severity of depressive and anxiety symptoms in prisoners and convicts in prisons in our country (4, 9, 10, 11). However, to the best of our knowledge, a study in which general psychiatric symptoms and childhood traumas were evaluated together and their relationship with crime types was not detected in the literature. In light of this information, the present paper examined the childhood traumas and psychiatric symptoms of convicts in prisons and their relationship with crime types.

2. Patients and Method

2.1. Sampling and the intervention

The study was conducted in Elazig E Type, T Type, No 1 High-Security, and No 2 High-Security Penal Institutions. People convicted in Elazig E Type, T Type, No 1 High-Security, and No 2 High-Security Prisons were informed about the study.

The study included people who agreed to participate, were literate and could fill in the forms. People who did not agree to participate in the study, those who had mental retardation or neurodegenerative diseases, and those who were illiterate were excluded.

The approval of the Firat University Non-Interventional Local Ethics Committee was received for the study on 23.05.2019 with the number 09/02 and from the Republic of Tükiye Ministry of Justice with the date 12.08.2022 and the number 112444. The study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki principles. Each participant signed a written informed consent form. Then, the demographic and clinical evaluation form, Beck Depression Inventory (BDI), Beck Anxiety Inventory (BAI), Childhood Trauma Questionnaire (CTQ), and Symptom Checklist (SCL-90) were applied.

2.2. Data collection tools

The Demographic and Clinical Evaluation Form: This form was prepared by the researchers and includes demographic data on age, gender, marital status, and education levels. It also includes clinical evaluation questions such as how many years the participants had been in prison, whether they had received psychiatric treatment, whether they had taken substances before, and if so, what they used.

Beck Depression Inventory (BDI): Developed by Beck to measure the presence and severity of depressive symptoms as a self-report scale with twenty-one questions. As the calculated total score increases, the severity of depression increases. The Turkish validity and reliability study was conducted by Hisli et al. (12, 13).

Beck Anxiety Inventory (BAI): It was developed by Beck et al. to determine the frequency and severity of anxiety symptoms experienced by an individual on a self-report scale with 21 questions, scored between 0-3. Ulusoy et al. adapted the inventory into Turkish (14, 15).

Childhood Trauma Questionnaire (CTQ): The scale evaluates the experiences of abuse and neglect during childhood and adolescence. Developed by Bernstein et al., it is a self-report scale with twenty-eight questions. Turkish validity and reliability study was performed by Şar et al. It has five sub-dimensions; emotional neglect, emotional abuse, physical neglect, physical abuse, and sexual abuse. A total scale score is calculated based on the sub-dimension scores (16, 17).

Symptom Checklist (SCL-90): It is a ninety-question, 11subscale, self-report scale. Symptom distribution is evaluated with subscale scores with nine sub-dimensions consisting of somatization, obsessive-compulsive symptoms, interpersonal sensitivity, depression, anxiety, anger/hostility, phobic anxiety, paranoid thoughts, and psychotic symptoms. In addition to these subscales, there is an additional scale that evaluates sleep and eating problems and a general subscale that makes a general assessment. The net score is obtained by dividing the calculated score of each subscale by the number of questions. The scores of one or more indicate psychopathological conditions. The scale was developed by Derogatis et al. and translated into Turkish by Dağ (18, 19).

2.3. Statistical analysis

All the analyzes were evaluated with the Statistical Package for Social Sciences version 22 program. The descriptive analyzes of the demographic data and applied scales were performed. Numerical data were presented as mean and standard deviation, and categorical data were presented as numbers and percentages. The Kolmogorov-Smirnov Test was used to analyze whether the data were suitable for normal distribution, and it was found that the data did not fit the given normal distribution. The Mann-Whitney U Test was used to compare the scales between two independent groups, and the Kruskal-Wallis Test was used to compare the scales between three or more independent groups. The linear relationship between the variables was analyzed using the Spearman Correlation Analysis. When a p-value calculated for our study was less than 0.05, it was considered statistically significant.

3. Results

3.1. Demographic characteristics of the participants

The forms were given to 500 prisoners for the study, and 370 individuals who met the inclusion criteria were recruited. All participants were male, and their mean age was calculated as 34.51 ± 10.26 . The occupations before entering prison were as follows. The majority of the participants were self-employed (craftsmen) (151 people), and their economic situations were bad (225 people) with less than one thousand TL. The crimes due to which the prisoners were imprisoned were as follows: 131 people (35.40%) were selling drugs, 81 (21.89%) were injured, 57 (15.40%) were deliberately murdered, and 53 (14.32%) were extortion. One hundred people (27.02%) were involved in multiple types of crime.

Receiving psychiatric treatment status before entering prison was as follows: A total of 66 (17.83%) participants received psychiatric treatment, 304 (82.16%) did not have psychiatric treatment, and 47 (12.70%) of those who received psychiatric treatment received inpatient treatment. Although 60 (16.21%) had people who received psychiatric treatment in their family, 310 (83.78%) did not. While 272 (73.5%) never experienced self-harm/suicide attempt in any period of their life, 98 (26.5%) experienced self-harm/suicide attempt. The ways the participants tried suicide were as follows: 33 (8.9%) tried to commit suicide with drugs, 26 (7%) with sharp objects, 12 (3.2%) with firearms, 11 (3.0%) jumped off a height, and the remaining 16 participants tried multiple methods. The demographic characteristics of the participants are given in Table 1.

3.2. The scale scores of the participants

The Beck Depression Inventory scores were calculated as 19.21 ± 13.19 . The number of participants who scored 30 points

or more was 95 (25.67%). For BAI, the calculated value was 16.99±13.87. Two hundred twenty-seven participants (61.35%) received a score of 1 or higher in the SCL-90 supplementary items in which physiological symptoms such as appetite and sleep were questioned. SCL-90 general psychopathology level was calculated as one or more in 194 (52.43%) participants. The mean, standard deviation, and minimum-maximum values of the participants' scale scores are given in Table 2.

Table 1.	The	demographic	characteristics	of the	participants
rabit r.	1 IIC	demographie	enaracteristics	or the	purnerpunts

		Ν	(%)
Marital status	Single	188	50.8
	Married	134	36.2
	Divorced	40	10.8
	Spoused dead	8	2.2
Level of education	Literate	29	7.8
	Primary school graduate	76	20.5
	Secondary school graduate	130	35.1
	High school graduate	91	24.6
	Üniversity graduate	19	5.1
	Still in education	25	6.8
Occupation before	Employee	91	24.6
going to prison	Craftsman	151	40.8
	Civil servant	15	4.1
	Unemployed	94	25.4
	Retired	5	1.4
	Farmer	9	2.4
	Student	5	1.4
Income status (TL)	< 1000	225	60.8
	1000-2000	79	21.4
	2000-3000	41	11.1
	3000-4000	8	2.2
	> 4000	17	4.6
Type of prison	Open prison	144	38.9
51 1	E type	114	30.3
	T type	112	30.8
Entering prison	Yes	237	64.1
before	No	133	35.9
A person who went to	Yes	149	40.3
prison in the family	No	221	59.7
Was s/he exposed to	Yes	160	43.2
violence as a child?	No	210	59.7
Type of violence to	Physical violence	130	35.1
which they were	Sexual violence	3	0.8
exposed	Other	27	7.3
Alcohol intake before entering prison	Yes/No/Quit	151/ 59/1 60	40.8 /15. 9/4 3.2
Smoking status	Yes/No/Quit	288/ 40/4 2	77.8 /10. 81/ 11.3 5
Drug intake before entering prison	Yes/No/Quit	170/ 47/1 53	45.9 /12. 7/4 1.4
Type of substance	Marijuana	106	28.6
used	Heroin	7	1.9
	Cocaine	4	1.1

Methamphe amine	6	1.6
Green prescription drug	5	1.4
Multiple substances/drugs	69	18.6

Table 2. The scores received in the scales applied to the participants

	Mean	SD	Min-Max
BDI	19.21	13.19	0-60
BAI	16.99	13.87	0-57
SCL-90 Somatization	1.29	0.96	0-4
SCL-90-Anxiety	1.10	0.93	0-3.9
SCL-90-Obsession	1.34	0.90	0-4
SCL-90-Depression	1.26	0.94	0-4
SCL-90-Interpersonal	1.21	0.94	0-3.69
sensitivity			
SCL-90-Psychoticism	0.96	0.84	0-4
SCL-90-Paranoid thought	1.30	1.01	0-3.6
SCL-90-Hostility	1.11	1.04	0-3.63
SCL-90 Phobic anxiety	0.73	0.79	0-4
SCL-90-Addition	1.43	0.95	0-4
SCL-90-General	1.19	0.82	0-4
psychopathology			
CTQ-Emotional abuse	8.27	4.02	5-24
CTQ Physical abuse	8.21	4.49	5-25
CTQ Physical neglect	9.06	3.42	5-21
CTQ Emotional neglect	12.80	5.22	5-27
CTQ Sexual abuse	6.68	3.68	5.23
CTQ- Total	45.03	15.33	25-109
CTQ-Denial	0.79	0.83	0-3

3.3. The relationship between clinical variables and scale scores

The relationship between the participants' demographic data and clinical variables and the scale scores was examined. In the results, CTQ physical abuse score was higher in singles than in married people (p=0.046). Prisoners imprisoned before had CTQ-physical abuse, BAI, SCL-90-somatization, anxiety, and hostility subscale scores were higher than the inmates who entered prison for the first time (p values: 0.020, 0.003, 0.016, 0.017, 0.047, respectively). Prisoners whose families had a prison entrance had higher CTQ physical abuse scores than those with no family history of prison entry (p=0.009). They also had higher SCL-90 somatization, anxiety, obsession, depression, interpersonal sensitivity, psychoticism, paranoid thought, hostility, phobic anxiety, additional symptoms, and general symptom screening subscale scores than the group without prison entry in their families (p values=0.015; 0.045; 0.003; 0.010; 0.046; 0.001; 0.004; 0.013; 0.047; 0.000; 0.003, respectively). All scale and subscale scores of prisoners exposed to violence in childhood were high. Prisoners who had alcohol intake before entering prison also had higher CTQ physical abuse, emotional abuse, sexual abuse, total trauma scores, and SCL-90 hostility subscale scores than those without alcohol intake (p values = 0.000; 0.005; 0.001; 0.004; 0.005, respectively). Prisoners who used substances before entering the prison had higher CTQ-emotional abuse, physical abuse, sexual abuse, total scores of the scale and SCL-90 somatization, anxiety, psychoticism, hostility, and general subscale scores than the group without substance use (p values = 0.005; 0.000; 0.013; 0.012; 0.034; 0.047; 0.021; 0.005; 0.042, respectively). All scale and subscale scores of the prisoners who had attempted suicide before were higher. According to the type of crime committed by the prisoners, only the CTQ-sexual abuse subscale scores differed. The subscale scores of prisoners involved in many different crimes were higher than those involved in one type of crime (Mean Rank=176.74; p=0.030). Those who were involved in the crime of willful homicide had high CTQ-sexual abuse subscale

scores (Mean rank=163.26; p=0.030).

3.4. Spearman correlation analysis results

The depression and anxiety scale scores of the participants were positively and moderately correlated (r=.582; p=0.000). All sub-dimensions of the CTQ were positively correlated with BDI and BAI. BDI and BAI were moderately positively correlated with all subscales of the symptom screening list (SCL-90). The Spearman Correlation Analysis results of the participants are given in Table 3.

Table 3. Spearman correlation analysis results									
	Prison duration	BDI	BAI	CTQ-P Neglect	CTQ-E Neglect	CTQ-P Abuse	CTQ-S Abuse	CTQ-E Abuse	CTQ- Total
Prison duration	1	.097	.221*	.136*	012	.083	.043	.031	.078
BDI	.097	1	.582*	. 364*	.228*	.351*	.188*	.374**	.409*
BAI	.220*	.582*	1	.393*	.183*	.417*	.201*	.451*	.428*
SCL-90-1	.195*	.502*	.746*	.312*	.116*	.363*	.189*	.367*	.347*
SCL-90-2	.161*	.529*	.746*	.389*	.185*	.419*	.266*	.455*	.441*
SCL-90-3	.157*	.491*	.635*	.338*	.084	.376*	.215*	.404*	.359*
SCL-90-4	.127*	.576*	.642*	.362*	.188*	.363*	.231 *	.423*	.399*
SCL-90-5	.164	.620*	.699*	.379*	.159*	.243*	.406*	.460*	.477*
SCL-90-6	.157*	.486*	.626*	.362*	.191*	.387*	.292*	.446*	.424*
SCL-90-7	.131*	.440*	.579*	.352*	.134*	.371*	.197*	.431*	.381*
SCL-90-8	.178*	.453*	.583*	.394*	.150*	.450*	.267*	.465*	.455*
SCL-90-9	.155*	.438*	.596*	.334*	.207*	.326*	.262*	.392	.399*
SCL-90- 10	.147*	.524*	.596*	.290*	.085	.339*	.182*	.379*	.328*
SCL-90- 11	.176*	.559*	.726*	.390*	.160*	.421*	.257*	.469*	.435*

Abbreviations in the table: BDI: Beck Depression Inventory, BAI: Beck Anxiety Inventory, SCL-90-1: Symptom Checklist-Somatization; SCL-90-2: Symptom Checklist-Anxiety; SCL-90-3: Symptom Checklist-Obsession; SCL-90-4: Symptom Checklist-Depression; SCL-90-5: Symptom Checklist-Interpersonal sensitivity; SCL-90-6: Symptom Checklist-Psychoticism; SCL-90-7: Symptom Checklist-Paranoid thought; SCL-90-8: Symptom Checklist-Hostility; SCL-90-9: Symptom Checklist-Phobic anxiety; SCL-90-10: Symptom Checklist-Appendix; SCL-90-11: Symptom Checklist-general symptomatology; CTQ-P. Neglect: Childhood trauma questionnaire-Physical abuse; CTQ-E. Abuse: Childhood trauma questionnaire-emotional abuse; CTQ-S. Abuse: Childhood trauma questionnaire-Sexual abuse; CTQ-Total: Childhood trauma questionnaire-total score. Spearman Correlation Analysis Test was used in the calculations. The *r* values are given in the table. *p<0.05

4. Discussion

The present study examined the psychiatric symptoms of the prisoners, the traumas they experienced during their childhood, and their relationship with the types of crimes. The majority of our participants were single and low-income people. The number of people who received outpatient and inpatient psychiatric treatment before entering prison was relatively low. Suicide attempt was experienced at a rate of 26.5% in the past. In the evaluations made with their current state, the depression scores of the participants were calculated as 25.67%, at a level that can be called severe depression. The psychiatric symptom scores of those who had been in prison before were higher. The SCL-90 somatization, anxiety, hostility scores, BAI scores, and CTQ-physical abuse scores were higher in those with prison admission before. Similarly, some subscale scores of those with a family history of prison entrance were high. Also, prisoners exposed to violence during childhood and those who had attempted suicide before had higher scores on all scales. When the results were examined according to the types of crimes committed by the prisoners, only the CTQ-sexual abuse subscale scores differed. These subscale scores of the prisoners involved in multiple crimes were higher than those involved in one. Finally, those who were involved in the crime of willful homicide had higher CTQ-sexual abuse subscale scores when compared to the prisoners who were involved in other crimes.

Both the crime and closed environment are a source of stress for the individual in prison because of a crime committed and whose freedom is restricted, making the prisoners mentally risky groups (5). The results obtained here confirm this data. The present study calculated the SCL-90 general psychopathology level as one or higher in 194 (52.43%) prisoners. An SCL-90 general symptom level score of 1.00 and above indicates that the symptoms are at a psychopathological level (18, 19). It was found that 227 prisoners (61.35%) received a score of 1 or higher from the SCL-90 supplementary sub-scale, in which physiological symptoms such as sleep quality and appetite were questioned. In a study very similar to the present study, SCL-90 additional symptoms, somatization,

and depression scores of a group of convicts were found to be in the first three ranks (5). Additional symptoms, obsession, and paranoid thought made up the first three lines in our results and were followed by somatization and depression. It was considered that psychiatric symptoms might increase with stress factors such as being in a closed environment and punishment.

It was shown that people become lonely and depressed after a while in prisons where freedoms are restricted, and inmates live within the framework of specific rules (5, 20). It was also determined that suicidal thoughts are high (5, 21). In a study conducted abroad with 236 newly imprisoned people, anxiety scores were high, with a rate of 66.5%, and depression scores with a rate of 85.2% (22). Similarly, it was shown in another study that prisoners have a risk of suicide rate of 13.2%. The same study also listed depressive disorder, dysthymic disorder, panic disorder, generalized anxiety disorder diagnoses, and childhood traumas as predictors for the probability of suicide (23). Another study conducted abroad reported the rates of depression in prisoners in developing and developed countries as 39.2% and 33.1%, respectively. Moreover, studies that used severity-determining scales for depressive disorder have shown a significant rate of 19.1% to 54% (24). In our results, the depression scores were high in the third rank for SCL-90. Also, the BDI scores of the prisoners participating in the study were calculated at a rate of 25.67%, at a level that can be called severe depression, and the participants tried suicide attempts with a rate of 26.5%. Although the scale scores for both depressive symptoms and suicide were high, people were less likely to seek treatment. In addition to all these, all scale scores of prisoners exposed to childhood violence were higher than those who did not experience violence. In other words, the depression scores of prisoners exposed to violence as children were much higher. These rates obtained here were generally compatible with the literature, and this was interpreted as an increased susceptibility to depression in deprived prisoners.

When the literature was reviewed, the number of prison entrances was examined in a limited number of studies, and the psychiatric symptoms of prisoners were questioned (22, 25). In a previous study, it was reported that the depression scores of those who had a prison entrance before were higher than those who did not have a prison entrance (22). Another study showed that the idea of suicide was less among prisoners entering prison for the first time (251). In our results, psychiatric symptom scores of prisoners admitted to prison before were higher than those who entered prison for the first time. SCL-90 somatization, anxiety, hostility scores and BAI scores, and CTQ-physical abuse scores were higher in those admitted to prison. This was interpreted as exposure to prison stressors more than once with different crimes increases mental symptoms.

Finally, when the prisoners were grouped according to the types of crimes they committed, it was found that there was

only a difference in the CTQ-sexual abuse subscale scores. The subscale scores of prisoners involved in multiple crimes were higher than those involved in one. Those who were involved in the crime of willful homicide had higher CTQ-sexual abuse subscale scores than the prisoners who were involved in other crimes. In previous studies conducted in the literature on this subject, it was determined that the rates of childhood traumas were high in prisoners (26, 27, 28). Many studies show that traumas can increase the risk of mental illness. It was demonstrated that traumas might pose a risk of suicide (28). A previous study reported that all childhood traumas and abuse rates were high in both male and female prisoners. Again, a study conducted abroad reported that the rate of post-traumatic stress disorder was high in prison inmates and that people had anger control problems with the effect of traumas, and the risk of suicide increased (29). The present study found that those who were in prison more than once were exposed to more traumas, which supports these studies.

The most important limitation of the present study was the unequal distribution between the genders. Other limitations were the relatively insufficient number of participants, the selfreport scale of the scales, and the inability to apply structured clinical interviews with the participants. These limited the interpretation and generalization of the results. It is necessary to conduct more extensive studies with larger sample groups for findings obtained to gain importance.

As a result, it was concluded that prison inmates might have mental symptoms and that their anxiety and depressive complaints might increase. It was also found that going to prison more than once causes more mental symptoms. Also, prisoners who were exposed to violence in childhood and had a previous suicide attempt had more psychiatric symptoms, and prisoners involved in more than a thousand different crimes and willful homicides were exposed to more childhood sexual abuse. In light of all these findings, it was considered that people who had a healthy childhood and were not exposed to abuse, violence, or trauma during childhood could be mentally healthier. It was thought that exposure to trauma in childhood might lead a person to commit a crime, which may affect both the person's life and society. For this reason, it was considered that the psychiatric follow-up of children exposed to childhood trauma and providing the necessary psychosocial support could reduce the delinquency rate. It was also considered very important to follow up on the prisoners' psychiatric symptoms, reveal the traumas they experienced, and intervene correctly and promptly. To generalize and interpret the findings obtained in the study, there is a need for studies in larger sample groups that also examine different psychiatric symptoms.

Ethical statement

The study was approved by the Firat University Non-Interventional Local Ethics Committee on 23.05.2019 with the number 09/02 and by the R.T. Ministry of Justice with the date 12.08.2022 and the number 112444.

Conflict of interest

The authors declared no conflict of interest.

Funding

No funding was used for the study.

Acknowledgments

None to declare.

Authors' contributions

Concept: Ş.K., Design: G.T., Data Collection or Processing: N.K., Analysis or Interpretation: B.D., Literature Search: F.Ö., Writing: Ş.K.

References

- 1. McAloney K (2011). From Victim to Perpetrator: The Impact of Community Violence. Hasselm AE (Ed). Crime: causes, types and victims. Nova Science Publishers, New York.
- Demir G (2011). Ceza İnfaz Kurumu Kütüphaneleri ve Türkiye'de Durum. (Yayımlanmamış Doktora Tezi). İstanbul Üniversitesi/ Sosyal Bilimler Enstitüsü, İstanbul.
- 3. Ceza ve tevfikevleri genel müdürlüğü; Ceza İnfaz Kurumunda Bulunan Tutuklu/Hükümlü Mevcutları. Erişim linki: https://cte.adalet.gov.tr/Home/SayfaDetay/cikistatistikleri12012021090932
- Türkiye İstatistik Kurumu; 2.11.2020; 33625. Erişim linki https://data.tuik.gov.tr/Bulten/Index?p=Ceza-Infaz-Kurumu-Istatistikleri-2019-33625#
- Çaynak S, Kutlu Y (2016). Bir grup tutuklu ve hükümlünün ruhsal belirtileri, intihar olasılığı ve başa çıkma yolları. Anadolu Psikiyatri Der 17(2):93-98.
- **6.** Thomas EG, Spittal MJ, Heffernan EB, Taxman FS, Alati R, Kinner SA (2016). Trajectories of psychological distress after prison release: implications for mental health service need in ex. Psychol Med 46(3): 611-621.
- 7. Thomas EG, Spittal MJ, Taxman FS, Kinner SA (2015). Healthrelated factors predict return to custody in a large cohort of exprisoners: New approaches to predicting re-incarceration. Health Justice 3(1):1-13.
- 8. Akgün R, Duyan V (2013). Kadın hükümlülerin ceza infaz kurumunda yaşadıkları sorunlar ve başa çıkma tarzlarının belirlenmesi: Eskişehir Çifteler Kadın Kapalı Ceza İnfaz Kurumu örneği. Adli Bilimler Derg 12:7-23.
- **9.** Ravanoğlu A (2018). Ceza infaz kurumlarındaki mahkumlarda algılanan sosyal desteğin kurumdaki uyum ve ruhsal durum ile ilişkisinin incelenmesi (Yayınlanmamış Yüksek Lisans Tezi).
- 10. Uney R, Erim BR (2019). Kapali cezaevindeki kalan erkek mahkumlarda düzenli fiziksel egzersizin şiddet davranışı, stresle bas etme ve özgüven üzerine etkileri. Anadolu Psikiyatri Derg 20(6): 619-627.
- Meydan HN (2019). Gümüşhane E tipi açık ve kapalı ceza infaz kurumunda bulunan erkek hükümlülerin depresyon düzeyleri ve saldırgan davranışları arasındaki ilişkinin incelenmesi (Sosyal Bilimler Enstitüsü, Yayınlanmamış Yüksek Lisans Tezi).
- **12.** Beck AT (1961). An inventory for measuring depression. Arch Gen Psychiatry 4(6):561-571.
- 13. Hisli N (1989). Beck Depresyon Envanteri'nin Üniversite

Öğrencileri için Geçerliği, Güvenirliği. Psikoloji Derg 6(23):3-13.

- Beck AT, Epstein N, Brown G, Steer RA (1988). An inventory for measuring clinical anxiety: Psychometric properties. J Consult Clin Psychol 56: 893-897
- **15.** Ulusoy M, Şahin N, Erkman H (1998). Turkish Version of The Beck Anxiety Inventory: psychometric Properties. J Cognitive Psychotherapy: Int Quaterly 12:28-35.
- 16. Bernstein D, Fink L, Handelsman L, Foote J, Lovejoy M, Wenzel K, Sapareto E, Ruggiero J (1994). Initial reliability and validity of a new retrospective measure of child abuse and neglect. Am J Psychiatry 151(8):1132-1136.
- 17. Şar V, Öztürk E, İkikardeş E (2012). Çocukluk çağı ruhsal travma ölçeğinin türkçe uyarlamasının geçerlilik ve güvenilirliği. Türkiye Klinikleri J Med Sci 32(4):1054-1063.
- **18.** Derogatis LR, Rickels K, Rock AF (1976). The SCL-90 and the MMPI: A step in the validation of a new self-report scale. British J Psychol 128: 280-289.
- **19.** Dağ İ (1991). Belirti Tarama Listesi (SCL-90-R)'nin üniversite öğrencileri için güvenirliği ve geçerliği. Türk Psikiyatri Derg 2: 5-12.
- 20. Boğa S (2016). Cezaevi Hükümlülerinin Ruhsal Belirtileri Ve Stresle Başa Çıkma Tarzlarının İncelenmesi. Yüksek Lisans Tezi, Toros Üniversitesi, Mersin. (Yayımlanmış Yüksek Lisans Tezi).
- 21. Görgülü T (2009). Tutuklu ve Hükümlü Erkek Bireylerin Depresyon Düzeyleri, Boyun Eğici Davranışları ve İntihar Olasılıklarının İncelenmesi. Ankara Üniversitesi, Sağlık Bilimleri Enstitüsü, Ankara, 2009. (Yayımlanmamış Yüksek Lisans Tezi).
- **22.** Okoro JN, Ezeonwuka CN, Onu JU (2018). Socio-demographic characteristics as correlates of psychological distress. Int J Prisoner Health 14(3):210-219.
- **23.** Ayhan G, Arnal R, Basurko C, Pastre A, Pinganaud E, Sins D, Jehel L, Falissard B, Nacher M (2017). Suicide risk among prisoners in French Guiana: prevalence and predictive factors. BMC Psychiatry 17(1):1-10.
- **24.** Bedaso A, Ayalew M, Mekonnen N, Duko B (2020). Global estimates of the prevalence of depression among prisoners: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Depres Res Treat 26:3695209.
- **25.** Caravaca Sánchez F, Aizpurua E, Ricarte JJ, Barry TJ (2021). Personal, criminal and social predictors of suicide attempts in prison. Arch Suicide Res 25(3): 582-595.
- **26.** Stensrud RH, Gilbride DD, Bruinekool RM (2019). The childhood to prison pipeline: Early childhood trauma as reported by a prison population. Rehabilitation Counsel Bull 62(4):195-208.
- **27.** Altintas M, Bilici M (2018). Evaluation of childhood trauma with respect to criminal behavior, dissociative experiences, adverse family experiences and psychiatric backgrounds among prison inmates. Compr Psychiatry 82: 100-107.
- **28.** Navarro-Atienzar F, Zabala-Baños C, Ricarte-Trives JJ (2019). Childhood Trauma as a risk factor for suicidal behaviour in prisons. Revista Esp Sanid Penit 21(1):42-51.
- **29.** Facer-Irwin E, Blackwood NJ, Bird A, Dickson H, McGlade D, Alves-Costa F, MacManus D (2019). PTSD in prison settings: A systematic review and meta-analysis of comorbid mental disorders and problematic behaviours. PLoS One 14(9): e0222407.


Research Article



2023; 40(1): 100-102 doi: 10.52142/omujecm.40.1.21

The effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on pediatric patients with otitis media with effusion

Nesrettin Fatih TURGUT 💿

Department of Otolaryngology, Samsun Training and Research Hospital, Samsun, Türkiye

Received: 09.01.2023	•	Accepted/Published Online: 18.01.2023	•	Final Version: 18.03.2023

Abstract

Otitis media with effusion (OME) is a frequently self-limiting middle ear fluid accumulation. During the COVID-19 pandemic, there was a decrease in patient referrals to pediatric Otorhinolaryngology (pENT) outpatient clinics. The aim of this study was to compare the patients who presented at our pENT outpatient clinic with OME during the pandemic with patients who presented during the equivalent period before the pandemic, and to investigate the effects of pandemic measures on OME. The study included patients aged 1-15 years who presented at the pENT Outpatient Clinic due to OME. Four groups were created based on the date of March 2020, when the first COVID-19 case was recorded in Turkey. The groups were formed as one for each year from March 2018 to March 2022. The total number of patients admitted to the pENT outpatient clinic was recorded. Group 1 (March 2018-March 2019) included 1338 patients diagnosed with OME, which constituted 12% of the total number of patients. Group 2 (March 2019- March 2020) included 1238 patients, Group 3 (March 2020-March 2021) 241 (8%), and Group 4 (March 2021-March 2022) 432 (9.4%). From this study, it was observed that the greater attention paid to the mask, social distance and hygiene rules during the COVID-19 pandemic, and the implementation of distance education decreased the frequency of upper respiratory tract infections, and had a positive effect on the number of OME cases.

Keywords: COVID-19, children, otitis media, effusion

1 Introduction

Otitis media with effusion (OME) is fluid accumulation in the middle ear, which is frequently self-limiting and has an acute or chronic pattern. The presence of effusion for a period of longer than three months is defined as chronic OME. Before the age of 10 years, an average of 80% of children experience an attack of OME at least once, and it is seen most often in the first two years of life (1, 2). OME is seen at the highest rate in childhood because the Eustachian tube is anatomically and functionally immature, and there is a higher rate of upper respiratory tract infections associated with exposure to viruses and bacteria at school and creche and the presence of adenoid hypertrophy. The persistence of OME for longer than three months despite treatment is a cause of hearing loss and a primary indication for the application of a ventilation tube (3).

During the COVID-19 pandemic, there was a great decrease in patients presenting at or being referred to paediatric Ear, Nose, and Throat (pENT) polyclinics because of OME (4). This can be attributed to a decrease in infections that can cause OME due to the closure of schools, creches, curfews, and instructions to stay at home.

This study aimed to investigate the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic precautions on OME by comparing patients who presented at the pENT polyclinic because of OME during the pandemic with patients who presented in the equivalent period before the pandemic.

2. Material and Method

Approval for the study was granted by the Ethics Committee of Ondokuz Mayıs University (decision no: KAEK 2022/213). The study included patients aged 1-15 who presented at the pENT of Samsun University Medical Faculty Hospital, a tertiary-level regional reference centre. The patients were separated into four-year groups, based on March 2020, when the first COVID-19 case was recorded in Turkey.

Group 1 (pre-pandemic) included patients diagnosed with OME between March 2018 and March 2019.

Group 2 (pre-pandemic) included patients diagnosed with OME between March 2019 and March 2020.

Group 3 (pandemic period) included patients diagnosed with OME between March 2020 and March 2021.

Group 4 (pandemic period) included patients diagnosed with OME between March 2021 and March 2022.

The diagnosis of OME was made in our clinic as stated in the international guidelines, from the presence of fluid in the middle ear, retracted tympanic membrane, air bubble, or the air-fluid level in the otoscopic examination, together with the presence of Type B curve in the tympanometric examination.

The data of the patients diagnosed with OME in our clinic were retrieved from the hospital database and patient files. The total number of patients in the same age group who presented at the pENT for any reason in the same time periods was also recorded.

The study exclusion criteria were incomplete records, the presence of acute mastoiditis, cholesteatoma, cleft palate or lip, or any diagnosed syndrome or chronic disease.

The acoustic impedance measurements of the patients were taken using Interacoustics AZ26 and AT235H clinical tympanometry devices.

2.1. Statistical Analysis

Descriptive statistics were stated as number (n) and percentage (%) for categorical variables. The age distribution between the groups was evaluated with the Kruskal Wallis test, and the gender distribution with the Chi-square test.

3. Results

Group 1 (pre-pandemic: March 2018 - March 2019) included 1338 patients, comprising 792 (60%) males and 546 (40%) females. The patients diagnosed with OME constituted 12% of the total 10.810 presentations at the pENT in that period.

Group 2 (pre-pandemic: March 2019 - March 2020) included 1238 patients, comprising 768 (62%) males and 470 (38%) females. The patients diagnosed with OME constituted 11% of the total 10.728 presentations at the pENT in that period.

Group 3 (pandemic period: March 2020 - March 2021) included 241 patients, comprising 137 (56%) males and 104 (44%) females. The patients diagnosed with OME constituted 8% of the total 2905 presentations at the pENT in that period.

Group 4 (pandemic period: March 2021 - March 2022) included 432 patients, comprising 251 (58%) males and 181 (42%) females. The patients diagnosed with OME constituted 9.4% of the total 4571 presentations at the pENT in that period.

No difference was determined between the groups regarding age and gender distribution (Table 1).

During the COVID-19 pandemic, there was observed to be a significant decrease in the total number of patients and patients diagnosed with OME.

4. Discussion

From March 2020, when the World Health Organisation declared COVID-19 a global pandemic, there was an increase in COVID-19 case numbers, and a series of precautions were taken to restrict social life in Turkey, as throughout the world. In that period, due to greater attention given to hygiene rules, mask-wearing, social distancing, curfews and lockdowns, and the implementation of distance education, there was a decrease in upper respiratory tract infections and, therefore, hospital presentations because of OME (5). This study aimed to investigate the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on OME by

evaluating the patients diagnosed with OME in the pENT before and during the pandemic.

Table 1. Distribution of the demographic data according to the groups

		Group 1 (n=1338)	Group 2 (n=1238)	Group 3 (n=241)	Group 4 (n=432)	Р
Age		6.08±3.1	6.21±3.1	6.09 ± 3.2	5.98 ± 3.2	
nge (vears)		(min:1,	(min:1,	(min:1,	(min:1,	0.748^{F}
(years)		max:15)	max:15)	max:15)	max:15)	
Candar	м	792	768	137	251	
Gender M	(59.2 %)	(62 %)	(56.8 %)	(58.1 %)	0.2468	
	Б	546	470	104	181	0.240
	Г	(40.8 %)	(38 %)	(43.2 %)	(41.9 %)	

The prevalence of OME is greater in younger children as the Eustachian tube has not reached full anatomic and functional maturity. Moreover, an increase in upper respiratory tract infections also increases the frequency of OME (1, 2). In England, it has been reported that OME is the most common reason in childhood for referral to a surgeon (6). In another study in England, the frequency of patients with OME consulting a general practitioner was reported to be 15.2% (7). In two different studies in Turkey, the OME frequency was reported as 8.7% and 6.8% (8, 9). The OME frequency in the current study was determined as 11% and 12% in the two years before the COVID-19 pandemic.

Studies in literature have reported that OME is seen more in males (3). Although the reason for this is not fully known, several hypotheses have been developed. Genetic factors, different effects of the sex hormone on cytokines, and impaired mastoid ventilation in males have been suggested as possible reasons (10-12). According to the gender distribution data of the current study, OME was observed more in males, which was consistent with the data in the literature.

Although tympanograms are an important diagnostic tool in diagnosing OME, false positivity has been reported at 8% in previous studies (13, 14). Therefore, in our clinic, the evaluations of all the patients diagnosed with OME are made with physical examination, tympanogram, and audiogram findings together.

In a study by Nguyen et al. (4), the numbers of patients diagnosed with OME before and during the COVID-19 pandemic were compared, and there was reported to be a 50% decrease. Alde et al. (15) examined 2-month periods before and during the pandemic (May-June 2019, January -February 2020, May-June 2020) to investigate the effects of the COVID-19 restrictions on OME. The tympanogram data (Type B) were determined as 46% and 52% and fell to 2.3% during the pandemic. In a study by Toretta et al. (5), the period of February-April was compared in 2019 and 2020, and there was shown to be a significant decrease in the number of OME attacks and the number of antibiotics prescribed. In the current study, the two years before the pandemic were evaluated separately, and the numbers of patients diagnosed with OME were determined to constitute 11% and 12%, respectively, of

the total patient numbers. The number of patients who presented during the pandemic significantly decreased, with an 80% decrease in the number of patients compared to the previous year. The total number of presentations revealed that the rate of OME was 8% during the COVID-19 pandemic.

It was observed that wearing masks, social distancing, greater attention paid to hygiene rules, and the implementation of distance education with a decrease in upper respiratory tract infections (5) positively affected the number of OME cases during the pandemic.

This study had some limitations, primarily that it was retrospective and was conducted in a single centre. It should also be considered that even if a child was ill at that time, overly cautious parents might have been hesitant to visit a hospital because of the fear of infection during the pandemic.

This study differs from previous similar studies as two years were evaluated before and during the pandemic. The number of patients and percentage of the total presentations in the second year of the pandemic (Group 4) were significantly low, showing that preventative measures such as mask-wearing and social distancing could play a preventive role in developing OME. In light of these findings, taking these protective measures in addition to treatment could positively contribute to the follow-up period in managing chronic OME.

Ethical Approval

Approval for the study was granted by the Ethics Committee of Ondokuz Mayıs University (decision no: KAEK 2022/213, dated: 27.04.2022).

Conflict of interest

The authors declared no conflict of interest.

Funding

No funding was used for the study.

Acknowledgments

None to declare.

Authors' contributions

Concept, Design, Data Collection and processing, Analysis, and Interpretation (NFT)

References

1. Qureishi A, Lee Y, Belfield K, Birchall JP, Daniel M. Update on otitis media - Prevention and treatment. Infection and Drug Resistance. 2014; 7: 15-24.

- Schilder AGM, Chonmaitree T, Cripps AW, Rosenfeld RM, Casselbrant ML, Haggard MP, et al. Otitis media. Nat Rev Dis Prim. 2016; 2(1): 1-69.
- **3.** Rosenfeld RM, Tunkel DE, Schwartz SR, Anne S, Bishop CE, Chelius DC, et al. Clinical Practice Guideline: Tympanostomy Tubes in Children (Update). Otolaryngol - Head Neck Surg. 2022; 166(1_suppl):1-55.
- Nguyen DK, Jueng J, Maul TM, Wei JL. Middle ear effusion prevalence at time of tympanostomy before and during COVID-19 pandemic. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol . 2021;147:1-5.
- Torretta S, Capaccio P, Coro I, Bosis S, Pace ME, Bosi P, et al. Correction to: Incidental lowering of otitis-media complaints in otitis-prone children during COVID-19 pandemic: not all evil comes to hurt. Eur J Pediatr. 2020; 180(2): 649-652.
- Ian Williamson M. Otitis media with effusion in children. BMJ Clin Evid . 2011; 5(2): 1-74.
- Williamson I, Benge S, Mullee M, Little P. Consultations for middle ear disease, antibiotic prescribing and risk factors for reattendance: A case-linked cohort study. Br J Gen Pract. 2006; 56(524). 170-175.
- **8.** Gultekin E, Develioğlu ÖN, Yener M, Ozdemir I, Külekçi M. Prevalence and risk factors for persistent otitis media with effusion in primary school children in Istanbul, Turkey. Auris Nasus Larynx. 2010;37(2) : 145-149.
- **9.** Kucur C, Şimşek E, Kuduban O, Özbay İ. Prevalence of and risk factors for otitis media with effusion in primary school children: case control study in Erzurum, Turkey. Turk J Pediatr. 2015; 57: 230–235.
- 10. Atkinson H, Wallis S, Coatesworth AP. Otitis media with effusion. Postgrad Med. 2015; 127(4): 381-385.
- Hayashi T, Kitamura K, Hashimoto S, Hotomi M, Kojima H, Kudo F, et al. Clinical practice guidelines for the diagnosis and management of acute otitis media in children—2018 update. Auris Nasus Larynx. 2020; 47(4): 493-526.
- 12. Macintyre EA, Karr CJ, Koehoorn Phd M, Demers P, Tamburic Bsc L, Lencar C, et al. Otitis media incidence and risk factors in a population-based birth cohort. Paediatr Child Health. 2010; 15(7): 437-442.
- **13.** Kemaloglu YK, Beder L, Göksu N. Tympanometry and acoustic reflectometry in ears with chronic retraction without effusion. International Journal of Pediatric Otorhinolaryngology. 2000; 55(1): 21-27.
- 14. Anwar K, Khan S, Habib-ur-Rehman, Javaid M, Shahabi I. Otitis media with effusion: Accuracy of tympanometry in detecting fluid in the middle ears of children at myringotomies. Pakistan J Med Sci. 2016; 32(2): 466-470.
- 15. Aldè M, Di Berardino F, Marchisio P, Cantarella G, Ambrosetti U, Consonni D, et al. Effects of COVID-19 Lockdown on Otitis Media With Effusion in Children: Future Therapeutic Implications. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg (United States). 2021; 165(5): 710–715.





Research Article

J Exp Clin Med 2023; 40(1): 103-106 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.40.1.22

The value of preoperative inflammatory markers in patients through total laryngectomy for advanced stage larynx carcinoma

Mehmet ÇELEBİ¹[®], Dursun Mehmet MEHEL²[®], Semih VAN²[®], Seda Nur CİHAN^{2,*}[®], Doğukan ÖZDEMİR²[®], Abdülkadir ÖZGÜR³[®]

¹Department of Otorhinolaryngology, Faculty of Medicine, Ondokuz Mayıs University, Samsun, Türkiye
²Department of Otorhinolaryngology, Samsun Training and Research Hospital, Samsun University, Samsun, Türkiye
³Department of Otorhinolaryngology, Faculty of Medicine, Biruni University, İstanbul, Türkiye

Accepted/Fublished Online: 15.05.2025

Abstract

The aim of this study is to evaluate the difference between neutrophil, lymphocyte, platelet and RDW (red cell distribution width) counts and NLR (neutrophil/lymphocyte ratio) and PLR (platelet/lymphocyte ratio) between patients who underwent total laryngectomy for advanced stage laryngeal squamous cell carcinoma and healthy control group. The study group consisted of 37 patients (36 male, 1 female) who underwent total laryngectomy and bilateral neck dissection for advanced stage laryngeal squamous cell carcinoma between January 2017 and December 2019. As a control group, complete blood count records of 35 healthy individuals who were routinely examined in 2019 within the scope of occupational health and safety were compiled. Blood was collected preoperatively from the patient in the study group. The data obtained from the whole blood counts of the two groups were analyzed statistically by comparing neutrophil, lymphocyte, platelet, RDW, NLR and PLR values. The age difference between the study and control groups was not significant (p=0.05). Neutrophil, platelet and RDW counts were higher in the study group compared to the control group and this difference was statistically significant (p=0.001, p=0.003, p=0.001, respectively). Although the lymphocyte count was high in the study group, the difference was statistically significant (p=0.001, p=0.007, respectively). Neutrophil, platelet, RDW, NLR, PLR and RDW, NLR, PLR values were significantly higher in patients with advanced stage laryngeal cancers, may be biomarkers in determining prognosis. For this, multicenter, prospective studies are needed.

Keywords: laryngeal carcinoma, neutrophil lymphocyte ratio, platelet lymphocyte ratio, red cell distribution width

1. Introduction

Laryngeal cancer accounts for 30-40% of malignant tumors of the head and neck, and 1-2.5% of all malignant neoplasms in the human body. Histopathologically, 95-98% of laryngeal cancers are squamous cell carcinoma (SCC). Laryngeal cancer is more common between the 5th and 7th decades of life and in male gender. Many factors such as viral infections, smoking and alcohol exposure, exposure to carcinogens, gastroesophageal reflux and heredity are effective in the etiology (1).

Although the most important factor determining the prognosis of laryngeal carcinoma is the pathological TNM stage, vascular and perineural invasion, depth of invasion, patient's general condition, age, sex and treatment-related factors affect the process (2). In studies conducted, it has been reported that inflammation that occurs as a host response in tumor tissue affects tumor development, metastasis and response to treatment (3). Neutrophils, T and B lymphocytes and thrombocytes (platelets) play an important role in tumor

inflammation and immunology (4).

Increased neutrophil count, lymphopenia and thrombocytosis have been associated with malignancies. While lymphocytes prevent tumor growth, cytokines secreted by tumor cells cause an increase in the number of neutrophils. Neutrophils play an important role in enlargement and metastasis. Platelets contribute to the development of the tumor by increasing angiogenesis by means of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) (5). NLR and PLR are considered to be an important prognostic factor in many carcinomas and it is accepted that NLR is a better predictor than PLR (6). There are studies showing that RDW adversely affects the clinical outcomes of various cancers as an indicator of systemic inflammatory response (7).

The aim of this study was to evaluate the difference between neutrophil, lymphocyte, platelet, RDW counts, NLR and PLR between patients undergoing total laryngectomy for advanced stage laryngeal carcinoma.

2. Materials and Methods

This retrospective study was approved by the Health Sciences University Samsun Training and Research Hospital Ethics Committee with the 2019/3/5 numbered decision. Between January 2017 and December 2109, 37 patients who underwent total laryngectomy and bilateral neck dissection for advanced stage laryngeal squamous cell carcinoma were included in the study. As a control group, complete blood count records of 35 healthy individuals who were routinely examined in 2019 within the scope of occupational health and safety were compiled.

Of the 37 patients in the study group, 36 were male and 1 was female, while the control group consisted of 35 men. Patients who had autoimmune disease, impaired thyroid function tests, diabetes mellitus, chronic renal failure, second malignancy, hematologic disease, active infection, chemotherapy-radiotherapy, steroid treatment in the last month and immunsupressive were not included. All patients in the study group had transglottic tumors and were in the T4a stage clinically and pathologically according to the American Cancer Committee Association (AJCC) 8th edition. Thyroid cartilage invasion by the tumor was reported pathologically in all patients.

Preoperative examination of the patients in the study group was performed with 2cc venous blood from the forearm. The control group included complete blood counts from venous blood. Blood counts were performed with Coulter LH 780 Analyzer (Beckman, USA). Neutrophil, lymphocyte, platelet, RDW counts were recorded separately for the study and control groups and then NLR and PLR were calculated.

SPSS 21.0 analysis program was used for statistical analysis. The normal distribution of the data of the study and control groups was analyzed by using the Shapiro-Wilk test. The values of normally distributed and abnormally distributed groups were shown as mean \pm sd. The difference between the groups was evaluated by Independent Student-t test and Mann-Whitney U test. Logistic regression analysis was used to investigate the effects of the parameters on the groups. Descriptive statistics were expressed with Odds ratio and 95% confidence intervals. p<0.05 was considered statistically significant. The diagnostic decision-making characteristics of serum NLR and PLR values in advanced stage laryngeal cancers were examined by receiver operating characteristics (ROC) curve. Sensitivity, specificity, area under curve (AUC) of these limits were calculated in the presence of significant limit values and p<0.05 was considered statistically significant.

3. Results

The age of the patients in the study group of 37 patients with total laryngectomy ranged from 44 to 75, with an average of 59.89 years. In the control group of healthy individuals, mean age was 59.49 between 45 and 68 years. The mean age of all subjects was 59.69 years. Of the patients in the study group, 36 were male and 1 was female. All subjects in the control group

were male. Age difference between the two groups was not statistically significant (p>0.05) (Table1).

Table 1. Age distribution of the study and control groups

Groups	n	Male/ Female	Mean age	Sd	Min.	Max	р
Patient	37	36/1	59.89	7.214	44	75	
Control	35	35/0	59.49	5.431	45	68	
Total	72	71/1	59.69	6.368	44	75	0.05

All patients in the study group had transglottic tumors and thyroid cartilage invasion in the pathology report. Seven patients had perineural invasion, 6 had perivascular invasion, 16 had subglottic extension, 13 had extralaryngeal involvement, and 7 had neck lymph node metastasis (bilateral metastasis in 2 patients).

Neutrophil, platelet and RDW counts were higher in the study group compared to the control group and this difference was statistically significant (p=0.001, p=0.035, p=0.001, respectively). Although lymphocyte counts were high in the study group, the difference was not statistically significant (p=0.061). The difference between NLR and PLR between the two groups was high in the study group and this difference was statistically significant (p=0.001, p=0.007, respectively) (Table 2).

 Table 2. Distribution and analysis of hematological parameters and inflammatory markers

	Patient group (n=37)	Control group (n=35)	р	OR	95% CI	р
Neutrophil	6.43±2.45	4.54±1.55	0.001	2.55	0.751- 8.665	0.133
Lymphocyte	1.88±0.71	2.15±0.62	0.061	0.55	0.058- 5.295	0.607
Platelet	291.95±94.26	249.23±64.45	0.035	0.99	0.972- 1.233	0.651
RDW	14.66±2.05	13.522±0.89	0.001	2.25	1.093- 4.639	0.028
NLR	4.021±2.82	2.31±1.10	0.001	0.51	0.076- 3.459	0.493
PLR	175.65±86.75	123.77±42.23	0.007	1.01	0.974- 1.059	0.462

Neutrophil, lymphocyte, platelet and RDW values are calculated as x10³ NLR: neutrophil/lymphocyte ratio PLR: platelet/lymphocyte ratio OR: Odds ratio

The sensitivity, specificity and AUC values for NLR were 75.7%, 62.9% and 0.772, respectively. The sensitivity, specificity and AUC for PLR were 70.3%, 51.4%, 0.685 respectively.In addition, the diagnostic cut off value for NLR and PLR calculated with data from both groups is summarized in Table 3.

Table 3. Cut-off value of parameters

	Cut-off	AUC		Specifity	
	Value		Sensitivity		р
		0.772			
		(0.664-			
NLR	>2.26	0.880)	%62.9	%75.7	0.001
		0.685			
		(0.560-			
PLR	>121.08	0.809)	%51.4	%70.3	0.007
		,			

4. Discussion

Laryngeal carcinomas accounts for 30% to 40% of malignant tumors of the head and neck; 1% to 2.5% of all malignant neoplasms in the human body. Histopathologically, 95-98% of larvngeal carcinomas are epithelial-originated squamous cell carcinoma (1). Advances in the diagnosis and treatment of laryngeal carcinomas provide protection of the larynx and prolonged survival. However, the 5-year survival rate remains low for patients with advanced laryngeal carcinoma (8). As a result of the intensive treatments applied to advanced staged patients, the patients' swallowing, respiratory and speech functions deteriorate, social problems are experienced and eventually their quality of life decreases (9). Total laryngectomy and bilateral neck dissection were performed in all 37 patients constituting the study group. Pathological evaluation revealed that all patients had T4a stage tumor and all of them had thyroid cartilage invasion.

There are many studies in which chronic inflammation contributes to the initiation and progression of cancer (4,10). Increasing neutrophil count contributes to tumor growth by reducing the cytolytic activity of lymphocytes and natural killer (NK) cells, producing proangiogenic factors such as VEGF, chemokines and proteases (11). Lymphocytes play an important role against the tumor progression by inhibiting proliferation-migration of tumor cells and inducing cytotoxic cell death.In animal studies, the deficiency in the development and / or function of CD4 + Th1 helper cells, CD8 + cytotoxic T cells or NK cells has been shown to increase susceptibility to cancer formation in the host (12). Reduced lymphocyte count negatively affects prognosis in some cancers (13). Tumor cells can increase the number of peripheral platelets through thrombopoetin, IL-6 or leukemia-inhibiting factor.The increase in the number of platelets contributes to the progression of the tumor by increasing angiogenesis through VEGF. Brown et al. reported that thrombocytosis is a negative prognostic factor in different malignancies (14). In our study, neutrophil and platelet counts were higher in the patient group compared to the control group, and this difference was statistically significant (p = 0.001, p = 0.035, respectively). Although the lymphocyte counts were lower in the patient group compared to the control group, the difference between the two groups was not statistically significant (p = 0.061).

Rise of RDW has been reported as a finding of inflammation and oxidative stress (15). In a meta-analysis consisting of eight cohort studies, increased RDW level has been reported as an indicator of poor prognosis in upper aerodigestive tract cancers (16). Bozkurt et al. (17) reported the results of 132 patients with laryngeal cancer that the risk of local and regional recurrences increased in patients with high RDW. Hsueh et al. reported that disease-free survival, cancerspecific survival and overall survival were low in patients have squamous cell laryngeal carcinoma with high RDW levels (18). In our study, RDW level was found to be significantly higher in the patient group compared to the control group (p =

0.001).

NLR and PLR values have been shown to be associated with poor prognosis in terms of mortality and recurrence (7). Increased NLR and PLR has been shown to be associated with poor prognosis in liver, parotis, oropharyngeal SCC and esophageal cancers. These markers were found to be independent prognostic factors in the head and neck SCC (19). Kara et al. (10) reported in their study on patients with laryngeal cancer that those who were at the T4 stage found PLR higher than those at the T1-2 stage, and those with higher NLR had higher local recurrence and survival was low. Tu et al. (20) showed that patients with advanced laryngeal cancer have high NLR and PLRvalues, NLR or PLR not only reflects tumor burden, but can also stimulate tumor progression by affecting tumor metabolism and microenvironment. They found that the combination of these markers, rather than using them separately, was more valuable in predicting prognosis. In our study, the specificity for NLR was 62.9% and the sensitivity was 75.7%. PLR specificity was calculated as 51.4% and sensitivity as 70.3%. NLR and PLR were found high in favor of the patient group, and this difference was found to be statistically significant (p = 0.001, p = 0.007, respectively). The limitations of our study wereto be retrospective, singlecentered, and less number of cases.

In our study, neutrophil, platelet, NLR, PLR, RDW values were found to be statistically significantly higher in the patient group with advanced laryngeal cancer compared to the control group. NLR, PLR and RDW values, which can be examined easily, cheap and fast at the diagnosis step of laryngeal cancers, can be biological markers to determine the prognosis. To support these findings, multi-center, prospective studies need to be done.

Ethical Statement

This retrospective study was approved by the Health Sciences University Samsun Training and Research Hospital Ethics Committee with the 2019/3/5 numbered decision.

Conflict of interest

The authors declared no conflict of interest.

Funding

No funding was used for the study.

Acknowledgments

None to declare.

Authors' contributions

Concept: M.Ç., Design: D.M.M, Data Collection or Processing: S.V., Analysis or Interpretation: S.N.C., Literature Search: D.Ö., Writing: A.Ö.

References

- 1. Ballenger JJ, Snow JB. Otorhinolaryngology: head and neck surgery. 15th ed. Media, Williams & Wilkins, PA, USA. 1996.
- Kim S, Smith BD, Haffty BG. Prognostic factors in patients with head and neck cancer. In: Head and Neck Cancer: A Multidisciplinary Approach. Harrison LB, Sessions RB, Kies MS,

editors. Philadelphia, U.S.A: Wolters Kluwer; 2013. p. 87-111.

- **3.** Chen L, Zeng H, Yang J, Lu Y, Zhang D, Wang J, Kuang C, Zhu S, Wang M, Ma X. Survival and prognostic analysis of preoperative inflammatory markers in patients undergoing surgical resection for laryngeal squamous cell carcinoma. BMC Cancer. 2018;18(1):816.
- Schreiber RD, Old LJ, Smyth MJ. Cancer immunoediting: integrating immunity's roles in cancer suppression and promotion. Science. 2011;331:1565-70.
- Dunn GP, Old LJ, Schreiber RD. The immunobiology of cancer immunosurveillance and immunoediting. Immunity. 2004;21:137–48.
- Choi WJ, Cleghorn MC, Jiang H, Jackson TD, Okrainec A, Quereshy FA. Preoperative neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio is a better prognostic serum biomarker than platelet-to-lymphocyte ratio in patients undergoing resection for nonmetastatic colorectal Cancer. Ann Surg Oncol. Ann Surg Oncol. 2015;22(Suppl 3):S603–S613.
- Koma Y, Onishi A, Matsuoka H, Oda N, Yokota N, Matsumoto Y,et al. Increased red blood cell distribution width associates withcancer stage and prognosis in patients with lung cancer. PLoSONE. 2013;8(11):e80240.
- **8.** Ji W, Guan C and Pan Z: Analysis of curative effects on laryngeal carcinoma patients in the northeast region of China. Acta Otolaryngol. 2008;128:574–577.
- **9.** Woodard TD, Oplatek A and Petruzzelli GJ: Life after total laryngectomy: A measure of long-term survival, function, and quality of life. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 2007;133:526–532.
- 10. Kara M, Uysal S, Altinişik U, Cevizci S, Güçlü O, Dereköy FS. The pre-treatment neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio, platelet-tolymphocyte ratio, and red cell distribution width predict prognosis in patients with laryngeal carcinoma. Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol. 2017; 274: 535-542.
- 11. Pillay J, Kamp VM, van Hoffen E, Visser T, Tak T, Lammers JW

et al. A subset of neutrophils in human systemic inflammation inhibits T cell responses through Mac-1. J Clin Invest. 2012;122:327–36.

- Teng MW, Swann JB, Koebel CM, Schreiber RD, Smyth MJ. Immune-mediated dormancy: an equilibrium with cancer. J Leukoc Biol. 2008;84(4): 988–93.
- **13.** Mantovani A, Allavena P, Sica A, Ballkwill F. Cancer-related inflammation. Nature. 2008;454(7203):436-44.
- 14. Brown KM, Domin C, Aranha GV, Yong S, Shoup M. Increased preoperative platelet count is associated with decreased survival after resection for adenocarcinoma of the pancreas. Am J Surg. 2005;189:278-82.
- **15.** Zhao Z, Liu T, Li J, Yang W, Liu E, Li G. Elevated red cell distribution width level is associated with oxidative stress and inflammation in a canine model of rapid atrial pacing. Int J Cardiol. 2014; 174:174–6.
- 16. Tham T, Bardash Y, Teegala S, Herman WS, Costantino PD. The red cell distribution width as a prognostic indicator in upper aerodigestive tract (UADT) cancer: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Am J Otolaryngol. 2018; 39:453–8.
- Bozkurt G, Korkut AY, Soytaş P, Dizdar SK, Erol ZN. The role of red cell distribution width in the locoregional recurrence of laryngeal cancer. Braz J Otorhinolaryngol.2019;85(3):357-64.
- 18. Hsueh CY, Lau HC, Li S, Tao L, Zhang M, Gong H, Zhou L. Pretreatment Level of Red Cell Distribution Width as a Prognostic Indicator for Survival in a Large Cohort Study of Male Laryngeal Squamous Carcinoma. Front Onkol. 2019;9:271.
- 19. Rassouli A, Saliba J, Castano R, Hier M and Zeitouni AG: Systemic inflammatory markers as independent prognosticators of head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. Head Neck. 37:103–110. 2015.
- 20. Tu XP, Tian T, Liang-Si Chen LS, Luo XN, Lu ZM, Zhang SY, Chen SH. Prognostic values of preoperative NLR and PLR in patients with laryngeal squamous cell carcinoma. Transl Cancer Res 2018;7(2):301-309.



Research Article



J Exp Clin Med 2023; 40(1): 107-112 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.40.1.23

An evaluation of the laboratory and clinical data of the Crimean-Congo hemorrhagic fever patients during the COVID-19 pandemic

Pınar ÖNER^{1,*}, Müge ÖZGÜLER²

¹Department of Microbiology, Fethi Sekin City Hospital, Elazığ, Türkiye ²Department of Infectious Diseases and Clinical Microbiology, Fethi Sekin City Hospital, Elazığ, Türkiye

Received: 14.01.2023	•	Accepted/Published Online: 15.02.2023	•	Final Version: 18.03.2023
----------------------	---	---------------------------------------	---	---------------------------

Abstract

In this study, the purpose was to investigate the demographic, laboratory, and clinical characteristics of the Crimean-Congo Hemorrhagic Fever (CCHF) cases that were treated in our hospital during the Coronavirus disease-2019 (COVID-19) pandemic. It was also investigated whether the patients hospitalized with a provisional diagnosis of CCHF who tested negative for CCHF PCR were infected with COVID-19. In our study, data (epidemiological, clinical, laboratory, prognosis) from 38 patients diagnosed with CCHF through reverse-transcriptase polymerase chain reaction (PCR) and viral-RNA and/or Immunoglobulin M antibodies using ELISA between May 2020 and November 2022 were investigated retrospectively. Of all the patients, 23 were CCHF PCR (+) and 15 were CCHF PCR (-).15 (65.2%) of PCR (+) patients and 9 (60%) of PCR (-) patients were engaged in farming. 65.2% of PCR (+) and 26.7% of PCR (-) patients presented with a history of tick bites. 21 (91.3%) of PCR (+) and 12 (80%) of PCR (-) patients had a history of rural living. Among the PCR (+) patients, 65.2%, 17.4%, and 17.4% received treatment for CCHF in 2022, 2021, and 2020 respectively. 87% of PCR (+) and 60% of PCR (-) patients were discharged after full recovery. The most common symptoms were fever, diffuse body ache, weakness, and headache. Significant differences were found between PCR (+) and PCR (-) patients in terms of leukocytes, LDH, INR, NEU, PLT, fibrinogen, and NLR values. 3 patients hospitalized with a provisional diagnosis of CCHF tested negative for CCHF PCR and positive for COVID-19 PCR. Thoracic CT, clinical, and laboratory findings of these patients showed no differences from the other patients. The possibility of misdiagnosis should be considered in CCHF and COVID-19 infections due to their similar symptoms and indications. Extensive multicentric studies need to be conducted to investigate the causes of the increased number of CCHF cases during the pandemic.

Keywords: Crimean-Congo hemorrhagic fever, COVID-19, pandemic, tick

1. Introduction

The coronavirus disease-2019 (COVID-19) that has affected millions of people worldwide has been effective in our country since March 2020. The common symptoms observed in COVID-19 patients are highly similar to the symptoms in patients with Crimean-Congo Hemorrhagic Fever (CCHF) (1). There have also been cases of mixed infections of CCHF and COVID-19 during the COVID-19 pandemic (2). Thus, CCHF cases and epidemics are an additional threat to the pandemic coronavirus infection in endemic countries such as Türkiye, Iran, Oman, Russia, and Pakistan. This may lead to misdiagnosis and improper treatment in these regions (3).

The World Health Organization Regional Office for the East Mediterranean presented various risk factors for the emergence of zoonotic diseases and arboviruses in the background of the COVID-19 infection. Climatic and environmental changes, humanitarian emergencies, conflicts, insufficient healthcare systems, poor supervision and inadequate laboratory facilities, domestication, and animal slaughter during religious holidays are some of these risk factors (4).

CCHF is zoonotic disease caused by the *Nairovirus* that is transmitted to humans through *Ixodidae* tick bites (*Hyalomma marginatum* in our country) and unprotected contact with the blood or tissue of animals in the viremia stage or infected humans (5). There are also studies reporting nosocomial and sexual transmission of the disease (6). Moreover, it has been reported that the transportation of virusinfected ticks through migratory birds influences CCHF transmission (7).

The COVID-19 infection has many common clinical, laboratory, and radiographic characteristics with the CCHF (8). Fever, weakness, nausea, vomiting, stomachache, myalgia, diffuse bleeding, petechia, ecchymosis, hepatic dysfunction, and diffuse body ache are some of the common symptoms of CCHF. On the other hand, fever, dry cough, weakness and shortness of breath (dyspnea), and loss of taste and smell perception are common symptoms of COVID-19 (9). Both diseases are diagnosed with PCR tests. An important finding for both CCHF and COVID-19 is the ground-glass opacification in Chest Tomography (CT) scan findings. However, there is no evidence for the CCHF virus' direct invasion to the pulmonary interstitial tissue (10).

In this study, the goal was to investigate the laboratory and clinical characteristics of the CCHF cases treated in our hospital during the COVID-19 pandemic. Moreover, it was aimed to demonstrate that the patients hospitalized with a provisional diagnosis of CCHF who tested negative for CCHF PCR may have been subject to misdiagnosis and are infected with COVID-19.

2. Materials and Methods

Laboratory and clinical characteristics of the cases treated at our hospital for Crimean-Congo hemorrhagic fever between 2020-2022 were investigated retrospectively. Patients who were tested in the Microbiology Reference Laboratory of the Public Health Institution of Turkey and were diagnosed with positivity of CCHF virus IgM antibodies by ELISA and/or detection of CCHF virus RNA positivity by real-time reverse transcriptase (RT) polymerase chain reaction (PCR) were included in the study. Patients' demographic data including sex, occupation, and place of residence; their contact with ticks, onset year of the disease, symptoms, and findings; laboratory findings including hemogram, C-reactive protein (CRP), creatine kinase (CK), lactic dehydrogenase (LDH), activated partial thromboplastin time (aPTT), and international normalized ratio (INR); and the recovery and mortality rates were investigated.

Ethical permission for the study was obtained by Ethic Committee from Elazig Firat University, with decision numbers 12-23 and 18.11.2021.

2.1. Statistical Analysis

Statistical Package for Social Science for Windows (SPSS) 24.0 package was used to analyze the data. A chi-square test of independence was performed to investigate whether there were statistically significant differences between CCHF PCR (-) and PCR (+) patients regarding demographics, anamnesis, physical examination findings, laboratory findings, and epidemiological history findings. Furthermore, an independent samples t-test was performed to investigate the statistically significant differences in the laboratory findings of CCHF PCR (-) and PCR (+) patients. The results were considered significant with 99% (p<0.01) and 95% (p<0.05) confidence levels.

3. Results

A total of 38 patients were included in the study. 23 of these patients were PCR (+) and 15 were PCR (-). The demographic characteristics of the patients show that 65.2% of the PCR (+) patients and 80% of the PCR (-) patients were male. 8 (34.8%) of the PCR (+) patients and 3 (20%) of the PCR (-) patients were female. There were no significant differences between groups in terms of sex (p=0.326) (Table 1). 15 (65.2%) of the

PCR (+) patients and 9 (60%) of the PCR (-) patients were engaged in farming. There were no significant differences between groups in terms of occupation (housewife, student, teacher, retiree, technician) (p=0.147) (Table 1). There were no significant differences in the cities that patients were residing in. However, 7 (30.4%) of the PCR (+) patients and 10 (66.6%) of the PCR (-) patients came to our hospital from the city of Elazığ (Table 1). Of the PCR (+) patients, 65.2%, 17.4%, and 17.4% received treatment for CCHF in 2022, 2021, and 2020 respectively. Of the PCR (-) patients, 46.7%, 33.3%, and 20% received treatment for CCHF in 2022, 2021, and 2020 respectively (p=0.461) (Table 1). 65.2% of the PCR (+) and 26.7% of the PCR (-) patients had a history of tick bites. 21 (91.3%) of the PCR (+) and 12 (80%) of the PCR (-) patients had a history of living in rural areas. 87% of PCR (+) and 60% of PCR (-) patients were discharged after full recovery. Inpatients in the clinic and the intensive care unit were given outpatient treatment and discharged. We did not have any patients who died (Table 1).

Table 1. Epidemiological and demographic characteristics ofCrimean-Congo Hemorrhagic Fever cases

		PCR (+) n:23	PCR (-) n:15	р
Year	2020	4 (%17.4)	3 (%20)	
	2021	4 (%17.4)	5 (%33.3)	0.461
	2022	15 (%65.2)	7 (%46.7)	
Gender	female	8 (%34.8)	3 (%20)	0.226
	male	15 (%65.2)	12 (%80)	0.520
Job	Farmer	15 (%65.2)	9 (%60)	
	Housewife	6 (%26.1)	2 (%13.3)	
	Student	0 (%0)	1 (%6.7)	0.147
	Teacher	2 (%8.7)	0 (%)	0.14/
	Retired	0 (%)	1 (%6.7)	
	Technician	0 (%)	2 (%13.3)	
Clinical	service	1 (%4.3)	4 (%26.7)	
status	*ICU	0 (%)	2 (%13.3)	0.134
	service+he aling	2 (%8.7)	0 (%)	0.154
City	Healing	20 (%87)	9 (%60)	
	Elazig	7 (%30.4)	10 (%66.6)	
	Bingol	5 (%21.7)	1 (%6.7)	
	Tunceli	3 (%13)	2 (%13.3)	
	Bitlis	4 (%17.4)	1 (%6.7)	0.440
	Diyarbakir	1 (%4.3)	0 (%)	0.449
	Sivas	1 (%4.3)	1 (%6.7)	
	Kahraman maras	1 (%4.3)	0 (%)	
	Agri	1 (%4.3)	0 (%)	
Tick Bite	_	15 (%65.2)	4 (%26.7)	0.063
Country side life		21 (%91.3)	12(%80)	0.235

*ICU: Intensive care units, *p<0.05

Investigating the symptom and findings of the patients, 73.9% of the PCR (+) and 66.7% of the PCR (-) patients presented with fever; 78.3% of the PCR (+) and 73.3% of the PCR (-) patients presented with a headache; and 87% of the PCR (+) and 73.3% of the CCHF PCR (-) patients presented with diffuse body ache. There were no significant differences between PCR (+) and PCR (-) patients in terms of fever, headache, and diffuse body ache variables. PCR (+) and PCR

(-) patients showed significant differences in weakness (p=0.025) such that weakness was observed in all of PCR (+) patients and only 80% of PCR (-) patients. Other symptoms and findings did not differ significantly in PCR (+) and PCR (-) patients (Table 2).

Table 2. Symptoms and findings of Crimean-Congo HemorrhagicFever cases

	PCR (+) n:23	PCR (-) n:15	Р
Fever	17 (%73.9)	10 (%66.7)	0.630
Headache	18 (%78.3)	11 (%73.3)	0.727
Diffuse body ache	20 (%87)	11 (%73.3)	0.290
Weakness	23 (%100)	12 (%80)	0.025*
Nausea/vomiting	10 (%43.5)	8 (%53.3)	0.552
Diarrhea	7 (%30.4)	4 (%26.7)	0.802
Stomach ache	5 (%21.7)	6 (%40)	0.225
Ecchymosis	0	1 (%6.7)	0.210
Debris	2 (%8.7)	2 (%13.3)	0.649
Bleeding	2 (%8.7)	2 (%13.3)	0.649
Bloody diarrhea	1 (%4.3)	1 (%6.7)	0.754
Consciousness disorder	0	1 (%6.7)	0.210
Bleeding gums	1 (%4.3)	0	0.413

There were significant differences between PCR (+) and PCR (-) patients in terms of anemia (p=0.002), leukopenia (p=0.037), LDH level (p=0.004), and INR level (p=0.047). 4.3% of the PCR (+) and 46.7% of the PCR (-) patients presented with anemia. Leukopenia was observed in 73.9% of the PCR (+) and 40% of the PCR (-) patients. High LDH level were observed in all PCR (+) patients whereas only in 66.7% of the PCR (-) patients. The INR value was 1.2 and above in 73.8% of the PCR (+) and 40% of the PCR (-) patients (Table 3).

Table 3. Laboratory parameters of Crimean-CongoHemorrhagic Fever cases at the time of application-1

		PCR (+) n:23	PCR (-) n:15	Р
Anemia		1 (%4.3)	7 (%46.7)	0.002**
AST/ALT increase		21 (91.3)	11 (%73.3)	0.138
Lung Infiltration (CT)		1 (%4.3)	1 (%6.7)	0.754
Leukopenia		17 (%73.9)	6 (%40)	0.037*
CK increase		17 (%73.9)	9 (%60)	0.367
Creatinine	1.4 and below	21 (%91.3)	14 (%93.3)	0.242
	1.5 – 2.4	2 (%8.7)	0	
	2.5 and above	0	1 (%6.7)	
Thrombocyto penia		22 (%95.7)	13 (%86.6)	0.315
LDH increase		23 (%100)	10 (%66.7)	0.004**
INR increase	0.9 and below	2 (%8.7)	2 (%23.4)	0.047*
	0.9-1.2	4 (17.5)	7 (%46.6)	
	1.2 and	17 (%73.8)	6 (%40)	

	above			
aPTT	11 sec and under	20 (%87)	9 (%60)	0.056
	15 sec and above	3 (%13)	6 (%40)	
aPTT rate	75% and below	21 (%91.3)	14 (%93.3)	0.821

Significant differences were found in terms of NEU (p=0.0001), CRP (p=0.002), fibrinogen (p=0.001), and NLR (p=0.002) between PCR (+) and PCR (-) patients. Accordingly, the mean value of NEU was determined as 1.22±0.82 in PCR (+) patients and 5.35±3.68 in PCR (-) patients. NEU value was found to be higher in PCR (-) patients compared to PCR (+) patients. The mean value of PLT was determined as 49.30±28.14 in PCR (+) patients and 95.06 ±58.76 in PCR (-) patients. PLT value was found to be higher in PCR (-) patients compared to PCR (+) patients. The mean value of CRP was determined as 99.34 ±51.25 in PCR (+) patients and 21.21±13.26 in PCR (-) patients. CRP value was found to be higher in PCR (+) patients compared to PCR (-) patients. The mean value of fibrinogen was determined as 2.31 ± 0.56 in PCR (+) patients and 3.93±2.06 in PCR (-) patients. Fibrinogen value was found to be higher in PCR (-) patients compared to PCR (+) patients. The mean value of NLR was determined as 2.32 ± 1.81 in PCR (+) patients and 7.58 ± 7.53 in PCR (-) patients. NLR value was found to be higher in PCR (-) patients compared to PCR (+) patients. No significant differences were observed between the two groups in terms of MPV, LYM, D-Dimer, and PLR values (Table 4).

Table 4. Laboratory parameters of Crimean-CongoHemorrhagic Fever cases at the time of application-2

	PCR (+) n:23	PCR (-) n:15	Р
MPV	8.73 ± 0.74	8.59 ± 0.87	0.586
NEU	1.22 ± 0.82	5.35 ± 3.68	0.0001*
LYM	0.75 ± 0.58	1.01 ± 0.89	0.286
PLT	49.30 ± 28.14	95.06 ± 58.76	0.003*
CRP	99.34 ± 51.25	21.21 ± 13.26	0.002*
D-DIMER	6.39 ± 5.21	4.63 ± 0.22	0.402
FIBRINOGEN	2.31 ± 0.56	3.93 ± 2.06	0.001*
PLR	109.28 ± 91.25	118.95 ± 78.85	0.753
NLR	2.32 ± 1.81	7.58 ± 7.53	0.002*

3 patients hospitalized with a provisional diagnosis of CCHF tested negative for CCHF PCR and positive for COVID-19 PCR. However, there were no significant differences in the clinical, laboratory, and thoracic computerized tomography (CT) findings.

4. Discussion

The COVID-19 pandemic has led to various arbovirus epidemics in different regions and countries such as Brazil, Kenya, and Asia (10,11). There has been a CCHF epidemic in addition to the COVID-19 pandemic in our country as well. The majority of the cases were detected in the northern regions of Middle and Eastern Anatolia and middle regions of the

Black Sea region (10). Barkay and colleagues (12) reported an increase in the number of CCHF cases, especially in Eastern Türkiye, compared to previous years after the start of the COVID-19 pandemic in 2020. They argued that this increase in the number of CCHF cases is related to several factors including the increased residence in rural areas during the COVID-19 pandemic, the possibility of developing resistance to acaricides used against ticks, and ecological and climatic causes. In our study, we also detected an increase in the number of CCHF cases during the pandemic and especially in 2022.

CCHF is an important public health issue in Türkiye due to high mortality rates (1). CCHF can be seen in people of any age and sex. However, it has been reported to be more common in middle-aged working people as well as people who have a high risk of tick contact due to working in animal husbandry (13). The majority of patients included in our study are engaged in farming (PCR (+) = 65.2%, PCR (-) = 60%). Studies show that approximately 60% of CCHF patients have a history of tick bites (14). A study reported that 67.6% of patients had a history of tick bites and all of them lived in the rural areas (15). Kadanalı and colleagues (16) reported that 50.8% of patients had a history of tick bites and 93.6% of them lived in the rural areas. In our study, we found that 65.2% of CCHF PCR (+) and 26.7% of PCR (-) patients during the pandemic had a history of tick bites. Furthermore, 21 (91.3%) of CCHF PCR (+) and 12 (80%) of the PCR (-) patients had a history of living in the rural areas. It is easier to diagnose patients who have a history of tick bites with CCHF. However, it may be challenging to diagnose patients with CCHF when they do not have a history of tick bites and show symptoms similar to COVID-19 infection.

There is a possibility that COVID-19 conceals or imitates other inflammatory diseases in endemic regions (17). Thus, viral infections such as CCHF can lead to diagnostic confusion in patients infected with COVID-19 (10). There are also studies reporting co-infections of COVID-19 and CCHF (18,19,20). Our data includes 3 patients who were hospitalized with a provisional diagnosis of CCHF and tested positive for COVID-19. One of these patients had a history of tick bites and all of them had a history of visiting rural areas.

COVID-19 infection has atypical characteristics that complicate the diagnosis. The initial symptoms of COVID-19 are fever, cough, myalgia, and fatigue (21). A study showed that 83% of COVID-19 patients had fever, 82% had a cough, 31% had dyspnea, 11% had muscle pain, 8% had a headache, 2% had chest pain, 2% had diarrhea, and 1% had nausea and vomiting (22). CCHF also presents with non-disease-specific symptoms such as weakness, fever, headache, myalgia, nausea, and vomiting (10). Similarly, the most common symptom in our patients was weakness and it was 100% in CCHF PCR positive patients and 80% in CCHF PCR negative patients. Other most common symptoms were diffuse body ache (87%), headache (78.3%), and fever (73.9%) in CCHF PCR positive patients. Our COVID-19 PCR positive patients also displayed nonspecific symptoms such as fever, headache, diffuse body ache, diarrhea, and stomachache.

The most common abnormal laboratory findings observed in COVID-19 infection are thrombocytopenia, lymphopenia, prolonged prothrombin time, active partial thromboplastin time prolongation (hypercoagulability), high levels of D-dimer, and increase in ALT, AST, and LDH (23). CCHF laboratory findings Similarly. also show thrombocytopenia, lymphopenia, high levels of liver enzymes, and prolonged aPTT (17). A study by Baran and colleagues (24) reported as high LDH and CK (100%), thrombocytopenia and lymphopenia (90%), high AST levels (90%), and high ALT levels (70%). In a study by Alkan-Çeviker and colleagues (25), thrombocytopenia (95%), increased levels of AST and ALT (72%), leukopenia (69%), neutropenia (42%), increased levels of LDH (47.9%), and PTZ (25.3%) and aPTT prolongation (16.9%) have been reported in CCHF patients. The increase in neutrophils in CCHF patients leads to excessive cytokine release, decrease in the number of lymphocytes and monocytes, impaired immunity, and decrease in humoral antibody response. Inflammation emerges in tissues and organs. The increase in proinflammatory cytokines in CCHF patients causes hemophagocytic cell activation which leads to a rapid decrease in the number of leukocytes and thrombocytes. Thrombocytopenia is one of the primary laboratory parameters of CCHF (26). In a study, it was reported that the leukocyte and thrombocyte levels of CCHF patients are lower compared to the patients in the control group (27). Similarly, Doğan and colleagues (28) also reported lower levels of leukocyte, lymphocytes, and platelet in the CCHF patient group. Our study shows similar results to the literature. Our CCHF patients showed a decrease in leukocytes and thrombocyte levels. There were significant differences between CCHF PCR (+) and PCR (-) patients in terms of anemia, leukopenia, high LDH levels, and high INR levels. These indications were higher in the CCHF PCR (+) group. Thrombocytopenia was also observed in high levels in CCHF PCR (+) (95.7%) and PCR (-) (86.6%) patients but no significant difference was found between the two groups. NLR and PLR are biomarkers that indicate inflammation. Erturk and colleagues (29) reported similar levels of NLR and PLR in CCHF patients and the control group. Turkdogan and colleagues (30) reported significantly low levels of NLR in CCHF patients and that this relates to the severity of the disease. In our study, NLR levels were found to be significantly low in the CHHF PCR (+) group. No significant differences were found between the two groups in terms of PLR levels.

It has been shown that COVID-19 and CCHF do not only show similarities in clinical symptoms but also in CT findings (10). No direct invasion of the CCHF virus into the lung interstitial tissue was shown, but the ground-glass opacification is an important finding of the CCHF. It is coobserved with pleural effusion and consolidation due to alveolar hemorrhage (9). In our study, there were nonspecific imaging findings in the CT results of CCHF patients. There were also no discriminatory findings in the CT results of COVID-19 positive patients.

It is possible to lose co-infected patients who have both COVID-19 and CCHF due to bad clinical course (19). In our study, all patients were discharged after full recovery. We did not have any patients who died. Patients who were COVID-19 PCR (+) and who were receiving inpatient treatment in the clinic or the intensive care unit were discharged with outpatient follow-up.

The constant attention to COVID-19 by public health officials and distraction from other infectious agents have led to different epidemics in various countries. It is important to keep in mind that there may diagnostic confusions between CCHF and COVID-19 due to the similarities in the clinical picture where CCHF is endemic, and that these infections may co-occur. Further research is needed for the development of diagnostic algorithms for the differential diagnosis of these diseases.

Ethical statement

Elazig Firat University Ethics Committee, dated:18.11.2021, approval number:12-23

Conflict of interest

The authors declared no conflict of interest.

Funding

No funding was used for the study.

Acknowledgments

None to declare.

Authors' contributions

Concept and design: P.Ö.; data collection or processing: P.Ö., M.Ö.; analysis and interpretation: P.Ö., M.Ö.; writing: P.Ö., M.Ö.

References

- 1. Gül Ö, Binay UD, Barkay O, Karakeçili F. The Importance of Differential Diagnosis During Pandemic: A Case Report with Coexistence of COVID-19, Brucellosis and Crimean-Congo Hemorrhagic Fever. Mikrobiyol Bul 2022;56(2):365-370.
- Büyüktuna SA, Hasbek M, Öksüz C, Baysal C, Öz M, Elaldı N, et al. COVID-19 Co-infection in a patient with Crimean Congo Hemorrhagic Fever: A Case Report. Mikrobiyol Bul 2021;55(3):445-451.
- **3.** Butt MH, Ahmad A, Misbah S, Mallhi TH, Khan YH. Crimean-Congo hemorrhagic fever and Eid-Ul-Adha: A potential threat during the COVID-19 pandemic. J Med Virol 2021;93(2):618-619.
- Ahmed A, Tahir MJ, Siddiqi AR, Dujaili J. Potential of Crimean– Congo hemorrhagic fever outbreak during Eid-Ul-Adha Islamic festival and COVID-19 pandemic in Pakistan. J Med Virol 2021;93:182–183.
- **5.** Türkoğlu E, Öner SZ. Turhal Devlet Hastanesi'ne kene ısırması ile başvuran olguların değerlendirilmesi. Turk Hij Den Biyol Derg 2021;78(4):477-486.

- 6. Öztürk DB. Evaluation of nosocomial Crimean Congo hemorrhagic fever patients reported from Turkey. Ortadogu Tıp Derg 2019;11(3):322-325.
- Kepenek-Kurt E, Kandemir B, Erayman İ, Bulut R, Bitirgen M. Crimean-Congo haemorrhagic fever and the role of the migrating birds. Klimik Derg 2019;32(3):292-7.
- Ozaras R, Dilek A, Sunbul M, Leblebicioglu H. Association between Crimean–Congo hemorrhagic fever (CCHF) and coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19): A systematic review. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 2021;1-2.
- **9.** Pazarlı AC, Parlak Z, Ekiz T. COVID-19 and Crimean-Congo Hemorrhagic Fever: Similarities and Differences. Heart Lung 2020;49(6):892-893.
- 10. Mehmood Q, Tahir MJ, Jabbar A, Siddiqi AR, Ullah I. Crimean– Congo hemorrhagic fever outbreak in Turkey amidst COVID-19 pandemic; a debacle for the healthcare system of Turkey. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 2022;43(11):1726-1727.
- 11. Harapan H, Ryan M, Yohan B, Abidin RS, Nainu F, Rakib A, et al. COVID-19 and dengue: double punches for dengue-endemic countries in Asia. Rev Med Virol 2021;31(2):e2161.
- 12. Barkay O, Binay UD, Gül Ö, Karakeçili F. A significant increase in the number of Crimean–Congo haemorrhagic fever cases in the COVID-19 pandemic: what is happening? Klimik Dergisi 2020;33:197-198.
- **13.** T.C. Ministry of Health, General Directorate of Public Health, Department of Zoonotic and Vectorial Diseases. https://hsgm.saglik.gov.tr/tr/zoonotikvektorelkkka/zoonotikvektorel-kkka-istatistik. Date of access:08.10.2022.
- 14. Sağmak Tartar A, Akbulut A, Demirdağ K, Balin ŞÖ. Crimean-Congo Hemorrhagic Fever in Differential Diagnosis During the Coronavirus Disease-2019 Pandemic. Turkiye Parazitol Derg 2022;46(1):50-53.
- 15. Günaydın NS, Aydın K, Yılmaz G, Çaylan R, Köksal İ. Crimean-Congo hemorrhagic fever cases in the eastern Black Sea Region of Turkey: demographic, geographic, climatic, and clinical characteristics. Turk J Med Sci 2010;40:829-34.
- 16. Kadanalı A, Erol S, Özkurt Z, Özden K. Epidemiological risk factors for Crimean-Congo hemorrhagic fever patients. Turk J Med Sci 2009;39:829-32.
- Coleman JJ, Manavi K, Marson EJ, Botkai AH, Sapey E. COVID-19: to be or not to be; that is the diagnostic question. Postgrad Med J 2020; 96(1137): 392-8.
- 18. Rahim F, Amin S, Noor M, Ali B, Wahab A. Dengue Fever, Crimean-Congo Hemorrhagic Fever, and COVID-19 Triple Coinfection: Out of the Frying Pan Into the Fire. Cureus 2022;14(9):e29028.
- 19. Şimşek M, Tayşi Mr, Karaman İ, Yıldırım F, Sezgi A, Şencan İ. Increased Mortality with Co-existence of Crimean Congo Hemorrhagic Fever and COVID-19. Mediterr J Infect Microb Antimicrob 2022;11:36.
- **20.** Dülger AC, Yakarişik M, Uzun YE, Şahin AM. Treatment of Crimean-Congo Haemorrhagic Fever by Favipiravir in a Patient with Novel Coronavirus CoInfection. Eur J Case Rep Intern Med 2020;7(12):002042.
- 21. Kevadiya BD, Machhi J, Herskovitz J, Oleynikov MD, Blomberg WR, Bajwa N, et al. Diagnostics for SARS-CoV-2 infections. Nat Mater 2021;20(5):593-605.
- **22.** Chen N, Zhou M, Dong X, Qu J, Gong F, Han Y, et al. Epidemiological and clinical characteristics of 99 cases of 2019 novel coronavirus pneumonia in Wuhan, China: a descriptive study. Lancet 2020;395(10223):507-513.

- **23.** Zehra T, Siddique SK, Aamir R, Mahmood A, Kiani AH, Virk ST. Coronavirus Disease Clinical and Laboratory Parameters: Dismembering the Values Reveals Outcomes. Cureus 2021;13(3): e13720.
- 24. Baran Aİ, Çelik M, Arslan Y, Menteş O, Sünnetçioğu M. Crimean
 Congo Hemorrhagic Fever: Evaluation of 10 cases. Harran Üniversitesi Tıp Fakültesi Dergisi 2021;18(3):464-467.
- **25.** Alkan-Çeviker S, Günal Ö, Kılıç SS. Retrospective analysis of Crimean-Congo haemorrhagic fever cases. Klimik Derg 2019;32(3):275-280.
- 26. Eren S. H, Zengin S, Büyüktuna S.A, Gözel M.G. Clinical severity in forecasting platelet to lymphocyte ratio in Crimean–Congo hemorrhagic fever patients. J Med Microbiol 2016: 65;1100-1104.

- 27. Inci A. Increased Mean Platelet Volume in Patients with Crimean Congo Hemorrhagic Fever. J Clin Anal Med 2015;6:1-3.
- 28. Doğan E, Girişgin AS, Ertekin B, Demirci OL. Diagnostic Value of Hemogram Parameters in Crimean-Congo Hemorrhagic Fever. Genel Tıp Derg 2021;31(2)101-104.
- 29. Ertürk A, Cüre E, Parlak E, Cüre M.C. Yüce S, Özkurt Z. Prognostic value of mean platelet volume and neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio in patients with Crimean Congo Hemorrhagic Fever. JMID 2015;5:51-56.
- **30.** Turkdogan KA, Eren SH, Coskun A, Engin A, Sonmez E, Civelek C. Ratio of neutrophil to lymphocyte counts in Crimean Congo Hemorrhagic Fever. J Clin Anal Med 2016;7(1): 10-3.





Research Article

J Exp Clin Med 2023; 40(1): 113-115 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.40.1.24

Epidemiological and clinical characteristics, management, and outcomes of antenatal hydronephrosis: A single-centre experience of 229 cases

Mesut ÖNAL^{1,*}, Hülya Gözde ÖNAL²

¹Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Faculty of Medicine, Ondokuz Mayıs University, Samsun, Türkiye ²Department of pediatrics, Faculty of Medicine, Ondokuz Mayıs University, Samsun, Türkiye

Received: 17.02.2023	•	Accepted/Published Online: 23.02.2023	•	Final Version: 18.03.2023
-----------------------------	---	---------------------------------------	---	---------------------------

Abstract

The advances in the utilization of USG in routine antenatal follow-up resulted in an increased diagnosis of antenatal hydronephrosis (ANH). This study was conducted to elaborate on the ANH's epidemiological and clinical characteristics, management, outcomes, and possible risk factors. Two hundred twenty-nine cases diagnosed with ANH were included during the antenatal follow-up at the Obstetrics and Gynecology Department of Ondokuz Mayıs University between 2004 and 2022. The ANH was a USG finding suggesting a hydronephrosis \geq 7 mm. The epidemiological and clinical characteristics, risk factors, treatment and outcomes in the postnatal period were assessed retrospectively. About 75% of the cases were male, 8% were premature births, and the mean gestational week of diagnosis was 22±3 weeks. About 43.7% of mothers had urinary tract infections, and a family history of any kidney disease was present in 24.5% of mothers' and 20.5% of fathers' family histories.38.7% of cases underwent surgery. At the end of the 6-month follow-up, 37.3% had regressed, 38.7% of them had stable hydronephrosis, and 18.9% of them had normal findings in USG. Male gender increased gestational urinary tract infections, and parents' family histories for any kidney disease were found as possible risk factors for the development of ANH. However, close follow-up and timely intervention, including surgery, provide favourable outcomes in these cases.

Keywords: antenatal hydronephrosis, antenatal ultrasonography, ANH epidemiology, risk factors, ANH surgery, ANH outcomes

1. Introduction

One of the most often observed anomalies on standard prenatal ultrasounds (USG) is antenatal hydronephrosis (ANH), which affects 1 to 4.5 per cent of all pregnancies (1). ANH is typically defined by an anterior-posterior diameter of 3 of 4 mm at less than 28 weeks of gestation and 37 mm after 28 weeks (2). Unfortunately, many patients cannot receive a conclusive diagnosis even though it is frequently regarded as an indication of congenital abnormalities of the kidney and urinary tract (CAKUT). Even though the knowledge of the causes and effects of CAKUT is growing, there has yet to be a consensus regarding the clinical importance, postnatal assessment, and treatment of newborns with AHN (3).

The main obstacle against a consensus on ANH management is partly associated with the difficulties in classifying a fetus's or a newborn's upper urinary tract dilatation, which is also a cause for the inconsistent reports on the degree and management of this condition (4). Thus, elaborating on the epidemiological features, patient characteristics, management strategies, and relevant outcomes in ANH is crucial for clinical decision-making. Furthermore, keeping the population characteristics may also play a role in

the disease's epidemiology in mind, this study aimed to evaluate the general demographic and clinical characteristics, management and outcomes of our patients with ANH.

2. Material and Method

This study was conducted at the Gynecology and Obstetrics department of Ondokuz Mayis University Faculty of Medicine. Patients diagnosed with ANH between 2004 and 2022 were retrospectively evaluated. Demographic and clinical characteristics, parent characteristics, clinical management and follow-up records were obtained from electronic hospital databases and patient records. The ANH was an antenatal USG finding of hydronephrosis \geq 7 mm.

Descriptive statistics were presented using frequency and per cent for categorical variables, and mean and standard deviation for continuous variables. All analyses were done using SPSS 25.

This study was conducted with the approval of Ondokuz Mayıs University ethics committee (Approval number: 2023/26, approval date: 04.02.2023).

3. Results

A total of 229 patients with ANH were included in the study. The general parental characteristics of patients are presented in Table 1. Sixteen patients' parents were close relatives, and the mean ages of the mothers and fathers were 31 ± 6 and 34 ± 7 years, respectively. Urinary tract infections were present in 100 (43.7%) mothers but none of the fathers. However, kidney disease was present in 24.5% of mothers' and 20.5% of fathers' family histories.

Table 1. General characteristics of parents of the ANH cases

	n (%) / Mean ± SD
Parent consanguinity	16 (7)
Mother's characteristics	
Age (year)	31 ± 6
Weight gain during pregnancy	13.2 ± 4.44
UTI history	100 (43.7)
Gestational diabetes	13 (5.7)
Gestational hypertension	10 (4.4)
Medical treatment/drug use	61 (26.6)
Smoking	33 (14.4)
Kidney disease in mother's family	56 (24.5)
Father's characteristics	
Age (year)	34 ± 7
Medical treatment/drug use	21 (9.2)
Hypertension	3 (1.3)
Smoking	126 (55)
Kidney disease father's family	47 (20.5)

The demographic and clinical characteristics of the babies diagnosed with ANH in prenatal USG are presented in Table 2. Accordingly, most babies were male (73.4%), and 7.9% were premature births with a mean birth weight of 3218 ± 497 grams. The mean gestational week of diagnosis was 22 ± 3

Table 3. Clinical progression of patients during 6-month follow-up USG assessments

weeks of pregnancy. Postnatal USG was unable for one patient, hydronephrosis diagnoses were confirmed in 224 patients (97.8%), and the remaining four patients (1.7%) had abnormal findings other than hydronephrosis.

	n (%) / Mean ± SD
Sex	
Female	61 (26.6)
Male	168 (73.4)
Prematurity	18 (7.9)
Birth weight (gr)	3218 ± 497
Gestational week of diagnosis	22 ± 3
Postnatal USG	
None	1 (0.4)
Hydronephrosis	224 (97.8)
Abnormal finding	4 (1.7)

Follow-up USG findings in the 1^{st} , 2^{nd} , 3^{rd} , and 6th-month USG assessments are presented in Table 3. Accordingly, hydronephrosis regressed from 3.1% to 37.3% and progressed in 0.9% to 5.1% of patients. At the end of the 6-month follow-up, 38.7% had stable hydronephrosis, and 18.9% had normal findings in USG.

The two approaches in clinical management included close follow-up and surgical management in indicated cases. As a result, about 61.3% of patients were followed-up without surgical intervention, and 38.7% underwent surgery. At the end of the follow-ups, ANH was resolved in 21.6%, regressed in 38.3%, and remained stable in 40.1% of the patients. Data presented table 4.

	1st month	2nd month	3rd month	6th month
	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)
Follow-up USG				
Normal	1 (0.4)	6 (2.6)	21 (9.3)	41 (18.9)
Hydronephrosis - regressed	7 (3.1)	47 (20.7)	86 (38.2)	81 (37.3)
Hydronephrosis - stable	217 (95.6)	138 (60.8)	101 (44.9)	84 (38.7)
Hydronephrosis - progressed	2 (0.9)	36 (15.9)	17 (7.6)	11 (5.1)

Table 4. Clinical management and outcomes of ANH

	n (%)
Surgical management	
None	138 (61.3)
Yes	87 (38.7)
Patient outcomes	
Resolved	49 (21.6)
Regressed	87 (38.3)
Stable	91 (40.1)

4. Discussion

To our knowledge, this is the most extensive case series of ANH patients in Turkey. In this study, we retrospectively evaluated our patients with ANH, and to summarize our findings, mothers and fathers of the patients with ANH were in their 30s of ages, about 15% of mothers and 55% of fathers were smoking, medical treatment for other comorbidities were present in about a quarter of mothers and 10% of fathers. Urinary tract infections were present in about half of the

mothers. Regarding an inheritance pattern of kidney disease, almost 25% of mothers' and 21% of fathers' family histories had kidney disease. Most babies were male, and about 8% were premature births. About 40% of the patients underwent surgical intervention for ANH, and during the follow-up of 6 months, about one-fifth of them recovered completely, 40% regressed, and 40% remained stable.

Widespread utilization of prenatal USG during routine antenatal follow-ups resulted in increased diagnoses of ANH worldwide, and early diagnosis also provided timely interventions and decreased severe complications (5). The diagnosis is made using a 5-MHz transducer USG in the 3rd trimester of gestation (6). A USG finding suggesting visualization of the fetal urinary system and ureters, which should not be visible under normal development, indicates the presence of hydronephrosis. Various classification systems and management strategies were reported for ANH, and identifying patients' epidemiological and clinical characteristics is essential for clinical decision-making in different populations. Based on our findings, male gender, presence of urinary tract infections during pregnancy, and a family history of kidney disease in the parents' families were found to be increased in the babies with ANH.

Several previous studies evaluated the risk factors associated with CAKUT. In one of those, Liu et al. (7) reported that male gender, preterm birth, abnormal antenatal USG, gestational hypothyroidism, and oligohydramnios were associated with increased CAKUT risk during pregnancy. Our results partly supported these risk factors, which the majority of our cases were male, and all had abnormal antenatal urinary system USG findings. However, we found no gestational hypothyroidism and oligohydramnios among our patients. The previous reports suggest that the most common causes of ANH are transient and physiological hydronephrosis, which may occur in more than half of the cases and have a benign prognosis after birth (8). Likewise, almost all of our cases in the postnatal USG had hydronephrosis remained, but more than half of them had regular or regressed USG findings in postnatal 6th-month assessments.

Besides the risk factors, there are discrepancies in ANH cases' management strategies. In general, the management strategies are associated with the persistence of hydronephrosis in the postnatal period, bilateral involvement and the severity of the disease. Antibiotic treatment is suggested to prevent urinary tract infections, but evidence for continuous antibiotic prophylaxis lacks (9). In an extensive series of 208 hydronephrosis patients with a mean follow-up of 11 years, Anderson et al.(10) recommended further evaluation and interventions for cases with symptomatic cases. Another study by Koff and Campbell (11) reported that only 5% of their cases undergone pyeloplasty surgery, however a review by Agras reported that about one-quarter of patients with an anteroposterior renal diameter of 3 cm were reported to undergo surgery in the first year (12). This was also consistent with our results that almost 40% of our patients underwent surgery in the postnatal first year.

The increased antenatal routine follow-up and widespread utilization of USG assessment during pregnancy resulted in a high diagnosis of ANH. This study evaluated our cases with ANH and reported the epidemiological and clinical characteristics, possible risk factors, treatment approaches, and outcomes in this patient group. Our results support the available evidence in the literature and suggest population characteristics in our region. To the best of our knowledge, this is the most extensive case series reported yet in Turkey. However, future studies with different areas and larger sample sizes are needed to make conclusions on the epidemiology of this prevalent disorder.

Ethical statement

This study was conducted with the approval of Ondokuz Mayıs University ethics committee (Approval number: 2023/26, approval date: 04.02.2023).

Conflict of interest

None to declare.

Funding

None to declare.

Acknowledgments

None to declare.

Authors' contributions

Concept: M.Ö, Design: G.Ö., Data Collection or Processing: G.Ö., M.Ö, Analysis or Interpretation: G.Ö., M.Ö, Literature Search: G.Ö., M.Ö, Writing: G.Ö., M.Ö.

References

- Liu DB, Armstrong WR 3rd, Maizels M. Hydronephrosis: prenatal and postnatal evaluation and management. Clin Perinatol. 2014 Sep;41(3):661-78.
- Corteville JE, Gray DL, Crane JP. Congenital hydronephrosis: correlation of fetal ultrasonographic findings with infant outcome. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1991 Aug;165(2):384-8.
- **3.** Tonni G, Vito I, Ventura A, Grisolia G, De Felice C. Fetal lower urinary tract obstruction and its management. Arch Gynecol Obstet. 2013 Feb;287(2):187-94.
- Kim SY, Kim MJ, Yoon CS, Lee MS, Han KH, Lee MJ. Comparison of the reliability of two hydronephrosis grading systems: the Society for Foetal Urology grading system vs. the Onen grading system. Clin Radiol. 2013 Sep;68(9):e484-90.
- Choi YH, Cheon JE, Kim WS, Kim IO. Ultrasonography of hydronephrosis in the newborn: a practical review. Ultrasonography. 2016 Jul;35(3):198-211.
- 6. Sinha A, Bagga A, Krishna A, Bajpai M, Srinivas M, Uppal R, et al. Revised guidelines on management of antenatal hydronephrosis. Indian J Nephrol. 2013 Mar;23(2):83-97.
- Liu Y, Shi H, Yu X, Xiang T, Fang Y, Xie X, et al. Risk Factors Associated With Renal and Urinary Tract Anomalies Delineated by an Ultrasound Screening Program in Infants. Front Pediatr. 2022 Jan 24;9:728548.
- **8.** Woodward M, Frank D. Postnatal management of antenatal hydronephrosis. BJU Int. 2002 Jan;89(2):149-56.
- Silay MS, Undre S, Nambiar AK, Dogan HS, Kocvara R, Nijman RJM, et al. Role of antibiotic prophylaxis in antenatal hydronephrosis: A systematic review from the European Association of Urology/European Society for Paediatric Urology Guidelines Panel. J Pediatr Urol. 2017 Jun;13(3):306-315.
- Anderson NG, Fischer J, Leighton D, Hector-Taylor J, McEwing RL. Management in children of mild postnatal renal dilatation but without vesicoureteral reflux. Pediatr Nephrol. 2010 Mar;25(3):477-83.
- **11.** Koff SA, Campbell KD. The nonoperative management of unilateral neonatal hydronephrosis: natural history of poorly functioning kidneys. J Urol. 1994 Aug;152(2 Pt 2):593-5.
- **12.** Agras K. Diagnostic evaluation of infants with antenatal hydronephrosis. Turk J Urol. 2011;37 47-53.



Review Article



J Exp Clin Med 2023; 40(1): 116-121 doi: 10.52142/omujecm.40.1.25

Hemiplegia and oral health

Manolya ILHANLI^{1,60}, Ilker ILHANLI^{2*60}, Peruze ÇELENK¹⁶⁰

¹Department of Dentomaxillofacial Radiology, Faculty of Dentistry, Ondokuz Mayıs University, Samsun, Türkiye ²Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, Faculty of Medicine, Ondokuz Mayıs University, Samsun, Türkiye

Received: 05.07.2022	٠	Accepted/Published Online: 08.07.2022	•	Final Version: 18.03.2023

Abstract

Oral health problems are often neglected due to other problems that are thought to be more vital in stroke patients. However, oral health is a significant quality of life determinant and needs to be protected in stroke patients as well as general population. Moreover, problems such as hemiparesis, hemiplegia, dysphagia, balance and coordination disorder and cognitive dysfunction due to strokes have a very negative impact on the self -care and/or care support of the caregivers. In this study, we aimed to search a large number of health databases and make a compilation on oral health problems, impact on quality of life and solutions in stroke patients. Keywords 'oral, dental, health, care, hygiene, dental, prosthesis, denture, tooth brushing, stroke, cerebrovascular and cardiovascular' and combinations of these words were searched in the literature. Studies involving at least one subject for oral health in stroke patients were included in the review. In the literature, it was seen that the oral health of the stroke patients was discussed more about mastication, swallowing, dysphagia, nutrition, hygiene, prosthesis and quality of life. It was concluded that there are no sufficient assessment and care guides that can be used by stroke patients or caregivers, and the information of dentists, patients and caregivers about special care for stroke patients was not sufficient.

Keywords: : dental health, oral hygiene, stroke, teeth

1. Introduction

Stroke is a disease characterized by the formation of focal neurological deficits as a result of brain lesions developed by embolism, ischemia or hemorrhage (1).Considering that approximately 15 million people have strokes each year and about one third of them die and one third of them are permanently disabled, it will be realized that the community affected by the stroke is too crowded (2).Stroke is the most common cause of neurological disability worldwide (3,4). It is the third cause of death after coronary artery disease and cancer (5).World Health Organization describes oral health as a person's being free of problems of biting, chewing, smile, speech and psychosocial, oral and facial pain, oral and throat cancer, oral infection and wounds, periodontal disease, dental decay, dental loss and other diseases (6).Factors such as hemiparesis, hemiplegia, spasticity, dysphagia, coordination disorder and cognitive dysfunction that occur with the influence of the central nervous system adversely affect the general life of the patients and seriously affect their oral health (2,7-9).In particular, techniques for oral hygiene, use of auxiliary devices and training of patients and caregivers are gaining importance. In addition, interventions for mastication, swallowing, nutritional problems and dental problems are required. Oral health problems are often neglected due to other problems that are thought to be more vital in stroke patients. However, oral health is a significant quality of life determinant and needs to be protected in stroke patients as well as general

population. In this regard, health professionals, patients and caregivers need to be informed.

Due to the limited publications containing all the details related to oral health in patients with strokes in the literature and the lack of existing information that has been brought together, this study aims to present the details of oral health in patients with strokes in the light of the current literature, ie the effect of oral health problems in stroke patients, the quality of life and solution suggestions to problems. We also aimed to contribute to the education of all stakeholders of this disease.

1.1. Material and Methods

Keywords 'oral, dental, health, care, hygiene, dental, prosthesis, denture, tooth brushing, stroke, cerebrovascular and cardiovascular' and combinations of these words were searched in a large number of health databases (PubMed, Cochrane, Embase, MEDLINE and others). Studies involving at least one subject for oral health in stroke patients were included in the review. Current approaches and standards were investigated.

The fact that the populations examined in the studies contain any of the ischemic or hemorrhagic stroke were deemed sufficient to be involved in our study. The references of the articles included in order to determine the articles that may have been overlooked were searched, too.

2. Results and Discussion

2.1. Oral health problems in stroke patients

Some studies have shown that oral health problems especially tooth loss, dental caries, and periodontal diseases are more frequent in stroke patients than the healthy individuals (10-15).

Factors such as hemiparesis, hemiplegia, spasticity, ataxia, apraxia, dysphagia, coordination disorder and cognitive dysfunction that occur with the influence of the central nervous system adversely affect the general lives of the patients and seriously affect their oral health (2,7-9,16).

Hemiplegic patients are insufficient to use their affected hands to brush teeth (2). It is often not possible to brush an effective brushing with non -dominant hand. As a result, dental caries and periodontal diseases can be seen (2). Stroke patients, who cannot perform their self -care because of their physical and/or cognitive status, are dependent on their nurses or caregivers (17). Some previous studies have shown that more than two -thirds of the patients had difficulty in brushing teeth in a way in relation to the severity of stroke. Although there is a gradual decrease in the post -stroke healing process, it is still stated that approximately half of the patients could not perform the ideal teeth brushing action (18,19). As a result of hygiene decreasing in the oral cavity, plaque formations, tooth decay, infection and halitosis may develop (20-22). Studies have shown increased bacterial colonization and fungal formation in stroke patients compared to non-stroke patients (23). In stroke patients who perform worse in daily life activities it has also been reported that the development of Staphloccoci spp. and Candida spp. is higher. This result shows the importance of self -care and nutrition in stroke patients in preventing bacterial colonization and thus protecting oral health (24).

It has been shown that colonization has increased due to dental prosthesis and as the device usage prolongs in intubated patients. There are also studies showing that gingival bleeding is higher in stroke patients (25). Another problem in stroke patients is dry mouth-xerostomia. It is usually seen as a side effect of drugs used and has been shown to develop more in stroke patients than non -stroke patients. Bacterial and fungal colonization and plaque formation may increase as a result of xerostomia (21,26-29). *Candida albicans* development is more common in hospitalized stroke patients, especially under antibiotic treatment (30).

In the studies, it was emphasized that the impact of the possible healing process after the stroke and the efforts of the caregivers decrease the yeast colonization and plaque formation. The contribution of rehabilitation to healing cannot be denied (18,25).

Patients with strokes may experience chewing, eating, drinking, swallowing and oral hygiene problems because of the affected lip, tongue, chewing muscles, soft palate and pharynx (20,26,31-34). Chewing and swallowing activities may be seriously impaired especially in moderate and advanced stroke patients. The biting force may be reduced on the affected side.

In addition, it is possible to develop atrophy in chewing muscles in patients who cannot be fed for a long time. In both cases it disrupts nutrition. Previous studies have shown that up to 70% of stroke patients could not be fed sufficiently due to chewing and swallowing problems. The condition of the chewing muscles and temporomandibular joint in patients with stubbornness may cause malocclusion, impaired appearance and orofacial disorder (35).

Especially dysphagia is a serious risk factor for aspiration pneumonia, an important cause of death in stroke patients. In the presence of non -appropriate hygiene conditions in the mouth, advanced bacterial colonization occurs, especially aerobic gram-negative bacteria *Escherichia spp.*, *Enterobacter spp.*, *Klebsiella spps*, *Morganella spp.* and *Proteus spp.* (2,20).

In case of facial paralysis, the patient's buccal sulcus may not be aware of the accumulation of food residues. The tongue will naturally have the ability to clean the oral cavity and will not be able to reveal this feature in case of paralysis. For this reason, it is important to clean the oral cavity and sulcus with a toothbrush or with the help of a gauze wrapped in a finger. If the patient uses dental prosthesis, the cleaning of the prosthesis is also very important (21,27).

It should be remembered that problems such as aphasia will adversely affect the communication between the patient and the dentist and caregivers (10).

Stroke is more common in men (36). In accordance with this information, there are studies showing that the frequency of dental decay is more frequent in male stroke patients (37,38).

In the normal population of sixty and over, there are studies showing that some tasks related to personal care are approximately 10% and the rate of need for assistance in the field of daily living activities is approximately 40%, and as the age progresses, there are studies showing that dependence on others increases in daily living activities (39-41). In patients over sixty years old, there are studies that indicate that there is more gingival disease than younger patients. In addition, it has been reported that gingival health is worse in the elderly with acute strokes compared to the healthy elderly in the same age group. The frequency of applying to the dentist urgently due to the gingival problem among individuals with stroke history has been reported as high compared to the normal population (42-44).

Various studies for the perception of oral health status in the elderly have demonstrated different results. In some elderly populations, dissatisfaction with oral health came to the forefront, while in some studies, it was concluded that oral health is not cared for (45-47). This can be attributed to the socio-cultural state of the populations studied or the perception that other diseases are more vital. Since stroke is mostly seen in older individuals, the perception of oral health of stroke individuals may vary as in the general elderly population.

Due to the high frequency of stroke in the old age group, the possibility of using dental prosthesis increases, which has been reported in a study that approximately half of the patients with strokes were reported to use dental prosthesis (18,42). In another study, it was reported that the rate of patients who can use prosthesis instead of the lost teeth was lower than expected, and that the reason for this may be the inability to reach the health institution due to the bad socioeconomic condition that prevented intervention and the bad functional condition (37). It is obvious that stroke patients cannot perform the care of dental prostheses due to motor losses. In patients with hyperactive gag reflex, the problem of inability to tolerate dental prosthesis may also occur. For this purpose, even palatal anesthesia may be required to solve this problem of glossopharyngeal nerve (48). In some patients, revision of dental prosthesis may be required after stroke to adapt to the mouth better (27,49). The frequency of patients who needed this was as 42% in a study (50). It should be kept in mind that problems such as bad appearance, wound, infection, aspiration and nutritional failure due to inappropriate dental prostheses may develop (21,51).

It should be remembered that diabetes, which is a risk factor for stroke, are also a risk factor for the oral health problems of xerostomia, dental caries, fungal infections, dysphagia and glossodynia (52). In addition, another risk factor for stroke was reported to be associated with more teeth loss in stroke patients (37).

In a study with four hundred and ten strokes, low socioeconomic condition, unemployment and low education level were associated with impaired oral health. In addition, low functional independence and permanent function disorders were also associated with poor oral health (37).

The number of publications investigating the frequency and order of dentist control after stroke is limited. Among these studies, there are studies indicating that the proportion of stroke patients going to the dentist control was approximately three quarters, the reason for this is that there are problems due to stroke such as dependence to the house, dependence to a wheelchair, inability to drive and inability to climb stairs (19).

2.2. Oral health related quality of life in stroke patients

These problems adversely affect the quality of life of the affected individual. Hemiparesis, which is frequently encountered in stroke patients, reportedly causes permanent insufficiency affecting the quality of life in approximately 70% of patients (53,54). Physical function and psychosocial deterioration of the affected individual should adversely affect the quality of life and cause an increase in the disability (55-57). Oral health is effective on the quality of life in physical and psychosocial context (58,59). Oral health was also found to be associated with the quality of life in patients with strokes (60,61). Decomposition in general appearance, eating, drinking and speaking abilities due to oral health will adversely affect the psychology, social participation and quality of life of individuals with strokes. A study has shown that almost all of

the patients with strokes are not satisfied with the general appearance of their teeth. In the studies that evaluate the quality of life associated with oral health, the quality of life is bad in both acute and progressive rehabilitation stages in patients, and the quality of life associated with oral health is much worse in patients with strokes than non-stroke patients. In addition, it has been reported that the quality of life in edentulous patients is worse than the dentulous patients (19).

2.3. Assessment and management of oral health in stroke patients

Among the scales used frequently to evaluate oral health in patients with stroke, Oral Health Impact Profile 14 (OHIP-14) Oral Assessment Guide, Oral Health-Related Quality of Life (OHRQol), Geriatric Oral Health Assessment Index (GOHAI) and Medical Outcomes Study 12-item Short Form (SF-12) are included (62). There is no data showing the superiority of these scales. These scales are the scales that can be completed by the individual or by their caregivers. When it is evaluated whether there is a difference in the completion of the scale by the person himself or the caregiver, it is concluded that there is no difference in general except for subjective parameters such as pain and sensitivity and that the scale can be completed by the patient himself or the caregiver.

In the literature, methods to reduce bacterial colonization, plaque formation, gingival bleeding and halitosis are mentioned and there are no detailed results. These methods include manual or mechanical tooth brushing, sponge brushes, mouthwashes, brushes for dental prosthesis and ultrasonic irrigation (2).

The full and accurate training of health professionals, patients and caregivers about oral health of patients with strokes seems to be a must (2,63). It is known that separate special clinics are formed for dental and oral health of individuals with obstacles (2,64,65). For these patient groups that require special interest and care, it seems important to encourage and experience dentists (2,66). Information of the patient and the caregiver and training should be performed by the dentist. Dentist should be cautious in terms of bleeding, considering that patients with strokes are prone to gingival bleeding and using anticoagulants for prophylaxis (67). The appropriate time for elective interventions after stroke is controversial. In addition to the opinion that elective interventions should be avoided up to 3-6 months after the stroke, there are also opinions that argue that if the patient is stable, it can be intervened within a few weeks after stroke (21, 50, 68, 69)

Oral care is usually performed by nurses in patients with stroke in acute periods and is generally known to be reluctant in this regard. For this reason, it is also left to personnel who do not have authority and knowledge. In intubated patients, oral care may be disrupted due to the fear of damaging intubation. The education of nurses who will do oral care is given by seniority from their own professional group not by professional dentists, and continues to be applied by traditional methods and patient care cannot be performed according to current guidelines (2,70,71). The absence of equipment such as toothbrushes, toothpaste, rinses, artificial saliva and floss in the units where patient follow -up is performed is also a distinct problem.

In a randomized controlled study, the quality of life associated with oral health was found better in the group receiving an electric toothbrush, mouthwash and oral hygiene training than the group receiving manual tooth brushing and oral hygiene (62).

Oral health risk assessment should be performed in patients with strokes. Oral care of patients should be performed at least twice a day (72,73). Regular oral health assessments should not be neglected.

In patients with strokes, the protection of oral health and the solution of problems that may develop are as important as in the general population. However, considering the special needs of stroke patients, all the health professionals, patients and caregivers should be educated, encouraged and experienced. For interventions to stroke patients, it is necessary to develop some standardized guidelines, and in order to develop these guides, there is need for studies on the oral health of patients with stroke.

Conflict of interest

None to declare.

Funding

The authors received no financial support for the research and/or authorship of this article.

Acknowledgments

None to declare.

Authors' contributions

Concept: M.I., I.I., P.C., Design: M.I., I.I., P.C., Data Collection or Processing: M.I., I.I., Analysis or Interpretation: M.I., I.I., Literature Search: M.I., I.I., Writing: M.I., I.I., P.C.

References

- Canning CG, Ada L, O'Dwyer NJ. Abnormal muscle activation characteristics associated with loss of dexterity after stroke. J Neurol Sci 2000; 176: 45-56.
- Kwok C, Mcintyre A, Janzen S, Mays R, Teasell R. Oral care post stroke: a scoping review. Journal of Oral Rehabilitation 2015; 42: 65-74.
- **3.** Pontes-Neto OM, Silva GS, Feitosa MR, et al. Stroke awareness in Brazil:alarming results in a community-based study. Stroke 2008; 39: 292-6.
- **4.** Petty GW, Brown RD Jr, Whisnant JP, Sicks JD, O'Fallon WM, Wiebers DO. Ischemic stroke subtypes: a population-based study of functional outcome, survival, and recurrence. Stroke. 2000 May;31(5):1062-8.
- Mackay J, Mensah GA. The atlas of heart disease and stroke [Internet]. World Health Organization; 2004. Available at: https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/43007 accessed 04July 2022.
- 6. Oral health fact sheet [Internet]. World Health Organization; 2022.

Available at:https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/oral-health, Accessed 04July 2022.

- 7. Doucet BM, Griffin L. Variable stimulation patterns for poststroke hemiplegia. Muscle Nerve 2009; 39: 54-62.
- Zackowski KM, Dromerick AW, Sahrmann SA, et al. How do strength,sensation, spasticity and joint individuation relate to the reaching deficits of people with chronic hemiparesis? Brain 2004; 127: 1035-46.
- **9.** Terroni LM, Leite CC, Tinone G, et al. Poststroke depression: risk factors and antidepressant treatment. Rev Assoc Med Bras 2003; 49: 450-9.
- **10.** Karolyhazy K, Aranyi Z, Hermann P, Vastagh I, Marton K. Oral health status of stroke patients related to residual symptoms: a case-control epidemiological study in Hungary. Oral Health Prev Dent 2018;16(3):233-9.
- **11.** Zeng LN, Rao WW, Luo SH, Zhang QE, Hall BJ, Ungvari GS, et al. Oral health in patients with stroke: a meta-analysis of comparative studies. Top Stroke Rehabil 2020;27(1):75-80.
- 12. Dai R, Lam OL, Lo EC, Li LS, Wen Y, McGrath C. A systematic review and meta-analysis of clinical, microbiological, and behavioural aspects of oral health among patients with stroke. J Dent 2015;43(2):171-80.
- Pillai RS, Iyer K, Spin-Neto R, Kothari SF, Nielsen JF, Kothari M. Oral health and brain injury: causal or casual relation? Cerebrovasc Dis Extra 2018;8(1):1-15.
- 14. Leira Y, Seoane J, Blanco M, Rodriguez-Yanez M, Takkouche B, Blanco J, et al. Association between periodontitis and ischemic stroke: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur J Epidemiol 2017;32(1):43-53.
- **15.** Sinha RK, Singh A, Kishor A, Richa S, Kumar R, Kumar A. Evaluation of oral hygiene status in patients with hemorrhagic and ischemic stroke. J Pharm Bioallied Sci 2021;13(Suppl 1):233-6.
- 16. Kothari M, Pillai RS, Kothari SF, Spin-Neto R, Kumar A, Nielsen JF. Oral health status in patients with acquired b. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol 2017;123(2):205-19.
- **17.** Gurgel-Juarez N, Perrier MF, Hoffmann T, Lannin N, Jolliffe L, Lee R, et al. Guideline recommendations for oral care after acquired brain injury: protocol for a systematic review. JMIR Res Protoc. 2020;9(7): e17249.
- 18. Zhu HW, McGrath C, McMillan AS, Li LSW. Can caregivers be used in assessing oral health-related quality of life among patients hospitalized for acute medical conditions? Community Dent Oral Epidemiol 2008;36:27-33.
- **19.** Hunter RV, Clarkson JE, Fraser HW, MacWalter RS. A preliminary investigation into tooth care, dental attendance andoral health related quality of life in adult stroke survivors in Tayside, Scotland. Gerodontology 2006;23:140-8.
- Millns B, Gosney M, Jack CIA, Martin MV, Wright AE. Acute stroke predisposes to oral gram-negative Bacilli—a cause of aspiration pneumonia? Gerontology 2003;49:173-6.
- Dougall A, Fiske J. Access to special care dentistry, Part 9.Special care dentistry services for older people. Br Dent J 2008;205:421-34.
- **22.** Nishimura T, Takahashi C, Takahashi E. Dental hygiene residential care in a 3-year dental hygiene education programme in Japan: towards dysphagia management based on the dental hygiene process of care. Int J Dent Hyg 2007;5:145-50.
- **23.** Schimmel M, Leemann B, Christou P, Killaridis S, SchniderA, Herrmann FR et al. Oral health-related quality of life in hospitalized stroke patients. Gerodontology 2011;28:3-11.

- 24. Mihishige F, Yoshinaga S, Harada E, Hirota K, Miyake Y, Matsuo T et al. Relationships between activity of daily living, and oral cavity care and the number of oral cavity microorganisms in patients with cerebrovascular diseases. J Med Invest 1999;46:79-86.
- Pow EH, Leung K, Wong M, Li LS, McMillan AS. A longitudinal study of the oral health condition of elderly stroke survivors on hospital discharge into the community. IntDent J 2005;55:319-24.
- 26. Kawasaka T, Shimodozono M, Ogata A, Tanaka N, Kawahira K. Salivary secretion and occlusal force in patients with unilateral cerebral stroke. Int J Neurosci 2010;120:355-60.
- 27. Kleiman CS. Assisting the stroke patient. Dent Assist 1981;50:22-3.
- **28.** Cassolato SF, Turnbull RS. Xerostomia: clinical aspects andtreatment. Gerodontology 2003;20:64-77.
- **29.** Ostuni E. Stroke and the dental patient. J Am Dent Assoc 1994;125:721-7.
- **30.** Aizen E, Feldman PA, Madeb R, Steinberg J, Merlin S, Sabo E et al. Candida albicans colonization of dental plaque in elderly dysphagic patients. Isr Med Assoc J 2004;6:342-5.
- **31.** Grover S, Rhodus NL. Common medical conditions in elderly dental patients. Part two: diabetes, stroke andbreathing problems. Northwest Dent 2012;91:12-6.
- 32. Katzan IL, Cebul RD, Husak SH, Dawson NV, Baker DW. The effect of pneumonia on mortality among patients hospitalized for acute stroke. Neurology 2003;60:620-5.
- 33. Prendergast V, Hallberg IR, Jahnke H, Kleiman C, Hagell P. Oral health, ventilator-associated pneumonia, and intracranial pressure in intubated patients in a neuroscience intensive care unit. Am J Crit Care 2009;18:368-76.
- **34.** Kim HT, Park JB, Lee WC, Kim YJ, Lee Y. Differences in the oral health status and oral hygiene practices according to the extent of post-stroke sequelae. J Oral Rehabil 2018;45(6):476-84.
- **35.** Dahl KE, Wang NJ, Holst D, et al. Oral health-related quality of life among adults 68–77 years old in Nord-Trøndelag, Norway. Int J Dent Hyg 2011; 9: 87-92.
- 36. Bushnell CD, Chaturvedi S, Gage KR, Herson PS, Hurn PD, Jimenez MC,et al. Sex differences in stroke: Challenges and opportunities. J CerebBlood Flow Metab 2018;38(12):2179-91.
- 37. Moldvai J, Orsos M, Herczeg E, Uhrin E, Kivovics M, Nemeth O. Oral health status and its associated factors among post-stroke inpatients: a cross-sectional study in Hungary. BMC Oral Health 2022; 22:234
- **38.** Madlena M, Hermann P, Jahn M, Fejerdy P. Caries prevalence and tooth loss in Hungarian adult population: results of a national survey. BMC Public Health 2008;8:364.
- **39.** Slade GD, Spencer AJ. Development and evaluation of the Oral Health Impact Profile. Community Dent Health 1994; 11: 3-11.
- **40.** da Silva SR, Castellanos Fernandes RA. Self-perception of oral health status by the elderly. Rev Saude Publica 2001; 35: 349-55.
- **41.** Hunt RJ, Slade GD, Strauss RP. Differences between racial groups in the impact of oral disorders among older adults in North Carolina. J Public Health Dent 1995; 55: 205-9.
- **42.** Yoshida M, Murakami T, Yoshimura O, Akagawa Y. The evaluation of oral health in stroke patients. Gerodontology 2012;29:489-93.
- 43. McMillan AS, Leung KCM, Pow EHN, Wong MCM, Li LSW, Allen PF. Oral health-related quality of life of stroke survivors on discharge from hospital after rehabilitation. J OralRehabil

2005;32:495-503.

- **44.** Griffin SO, Barker LK, Griffin PM, Cleveland JL, Kohn W. Oral health needs among adults in the United States with chronic diseases. J Am Dent Assoc. 2009;140:1266-74.
- **45.** Reed R, Broder HL, Jenkins G, et al. Oral health promotion among older persons and their care providers in a nursing home facility. Gerodontology 2006; 23: 73-8.
- **46.** Haikal DS, Paula AM, Martins AM, et al. Self-perception of oral health and impact on quality of life among the elderly: a quantitative-qualitative approach. Cien Saude Colet 2011; 16: 3317-29.
- **47.** Reisine S, Miller J. A longitudinal study of work loss related to dental diseases. Soc Sci Med 1985; 21: 1309-14.
- **48.** Kleiman CS, Zafran JN, Zayon GM. Dental care for the stroke patient. Dent Hyg (Chic) 1980;54:237-9.
- **49.** English CE. Hygiene, maintenance, and prosthodontic concerns for the infirm implant patient: clinical report and discussion. Implant Dent 1995;4:166-73.
- **50.** Corsalini M, Rapone B, Grassi FR, Di Venere D. A study on oral rehabilitation in stroke patients: analysis of a group of 33 patients. Gerodontology 2010;27:178-82.
- **51.** Fort S, Batty GM, Wilkins WE. Prolonged pharyngeal impaction of dentures following stroke. Stroke 1989;20:1748-50.
- **52.** Tavares M, Lindefjeld Calabi KA, San ML. Systemic diseases and oralhealth. Dent Clin North Am 2014;58(4):797-814.
- 53. Saliba VA, Júnior IP, Faria CD, et al. Propriedades Psicométricas da Motor Activity Log: uma revisão sistemática da literatura. Rev Fisioter Mov 2008; 21: 59-67.
- **54.** Harris JE, Eng JJ. Paretic upper-limb strength best explains arm activity in people with stroke. Phys Ther 2007; 87: 88-97.
- **55.** Shumway-Cook A, Woollacott MH. Controle motor: teoria e aplicações práticas, 2nd ed. Barueri: Manole 2003; pp:179-208.
- 56. Bernspang B, Asplund K, Eriksson S, Fugl-Meyer AR. Motor and perceptual impairments in acute stroke patients: effects on selfcare ability. Stroke 1987;18: 1081-6.
- 57. Filiatrault J, Arsenault AB, Dutil E, Bourbonnais D. Motor function and activities of daily living assessments: a study of three tests for persons with hemiplegia. The American journal of occupational therapy 1991;45:806-10.
- **58.** Mariño R, Schofield M, Wright C, et al. Self-reported and clinically determined oral health status predictors for quality of life in dentate older migrant adults. Community Dent Oral Epidemiol 2008; 36: 85-94.
- **59.** Tatematsu M, Mori T, Kawaguchi T, et al. Masticatory performance in 80-year-old individuals. Gerodontology 2004; 21: 112-9.
- 60. da Silva FC, da Silva DFT, Mesquita-Ferrari RA, Fernandes KPS, Bussadori SK. Correlation between upper limb function and oral health impact in stroke survivors. J. Phys. Ther. Sci 2015;27: 2065-8.
- **61.** Dai, R. et al. Orofacial functional impairments among patients following stroke: a systematic review. Oral diseases 2015;21: 836–49.
- **62.** Dai R, Lam OLT, Lo ECM, Li LSW, McGrath C. Oral healthrelated quality of life in patients with stroke: a randomized clinical trial of oral hygiene care during outpatient rehabilitation. Scientific Reports 2017;7: 7632.
- 63. Bangee M, Martinez-Garduno CM, Brady MC, Cadilhac DA, Dale

S, HurleyMA, et al. Oral care practices in stroke: findings from the UK and Australia.BMC Nurs 2021;20(1):169.

- **64.** Orsos M, Moldvai J, Kivovics P, Nemeth O. Oral health related quality of life of patients undergoing physical medicine and rehabilitation. Orv etil 2018;159(52):2202-6.
- **65.** Moldvai J, Orsós M, Simon F, et al. Descriptive study of oral health, dental care and health behavior of inpatients undergoing physical medicine and rehabilitation. Oral Health Care 2019;4:4.
- 66. British Society of Gerodontology. Guidelines for the oral healthcare of stroke survivors. 2010. https://www.gerodontology.com/content/uploads/2014/10/stroke _guidelines.pdf. Accessed 05 July 2022.
- **67.** Ghezzi EM, Ship JA. Systemic diseases and their treatments in the elderly: impact on oral health. J Public Health Dent 2000;60:289-96.
- **68.** McCreary C. Systemic diseases and the elderly. Dent Update 2010;37:604-7.
- 69. Elad S, Zadik Y, Kaufman E, Leker R, Finfter O, Findler M.A

new management approach for dental treatment after a cerebrovascular event: a comparative retrospective study. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod 2010;110:145-50.

- **70.** Orsós M, Moldvai J, Simon F, Putz M, Merész G, Németh O. Oral health status of physically disabled inpatients results from a Hungarian single centre cross-sectional study. Oral Health Prev Dent 2021;19(1):699-706.
- Sen S, Giamberardino LD, Moss K, Morelli T, Rosamond WD, Gottesman RF,et al. Periodontal disease, regular dental care use, and incident ischemic stroke. Stroke 2018;49(2):355-62.
- 72. Casaubon LK, Suddes M. Chapter 4 Acute inpatient strokecare. In: Lindsay MP, Gubitz G, Bayley M, Hill MD, Davies-Schinkel C, Singh S, Philips S, eds. Canadian best practice recommendations for stroke care (update 2010). Ottawa, Canada: Canadian Stroke Network; 2010. Available at: www.strokebestpractices.ca Accessed 05 July 2022.
- **73.** Mannen J. Oral health and stroke. Dimens Dent Hyg 2012;10:50-2



Review Article

J Exp Clin Med

doi: 10.52142/omujecm.40.1.26

2023; 40(1): 122-126

Stem cell applications in female infertility – A rewiev

Ayşe Zehra ÖZDEMİR 10, Ayşe Şeyma TAŞTAN*

Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Faculty of Medicine, Ondokuz Mayıs University, Samsun, Türkiye

Received: 25.07.2022 A Acconted/Published Online: 01.10.2022 Final Version: 18.03.2023					
Accepted/1 ubisited Online. 01.10.2022	Received: 25.07.2022	•	Accepted/Published Online: 01.10.2022	•	Final Version: 18.03.2023

Abstract

Infertility is a problem that affects approximately 15% of couples today. Although assisted reproduction techniques are widely used today, only 40-50% of couples who apply can have children with their own genetic structure. Especially in people with premature ovarian failure, the rate of conception does not exceed 5-10% with the treatments applied today. For this reason, many studies are carried out to obtain oocyte from stem cells with their proliferation and differentiation feature. In addition, regenerative cellular therapies that can replace assisted reproductive techniques and correct impaired fertility are also being investigated in both animal and human studies. In recent years, research has been carried out on stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles, which will eliminate immunological problems. In terms of safety and efficacy, clinical studies involving large populations are needed.

Keywords: infertility, premature ovarian failure, embryonic stem cells, adult stem cells

1. Introduction

Infertility is not being able to conceive despite one year of regular, unprotected intercourse (1). Infertility is encountered approximately in 12-15% of couples and 72 million people worldwide are diagnosed with infertility (2).

Despite all the developments in assisted reproduction today, most infertile patients cannot get pregnant with these methods. For this reason, stem cells are intensively investigated as an alternative method in the treatment of infertile patients (3,4,5,6,7,8,9,10,11).

It can be used as an alternative method in the treatment of infertility, as well as in the treatment of pathologies that indirectly cause infertility. These four diseases are as follows:

Premature Ovarian Failure (POF): According to the definition made by the European Society of Human Reproduction and Embryology (ESHRE), it is defined as a condition under 40 years of age, defined as oligo/amenorrhea lasting at least 4 months and Follicle Stimulating Hormone (FSH) value >25 IU/l measured at least 4 weeks apart. Its incidence has been reported to be 1% on average (13). The etiology of the disease has not been fully elucidated and genetic, environmental, enzymatic, infectious and iatrogenic factors are blamed (14). Current treatments are insufficient and different treatment modalities are needed.

Polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS): It is a cause of infertility that causes increased ovarian function and anovulation. It is characterized by high androgen levels, irregular menstruation and the presence of numerous small cysts in the ovary. Its incidence is among 5-10% women of reproductive age and it is the most common endocrine disorder among women of reproductive age (15,16). Current treatments are inadequate in many patients. Regenerative medicine applications are being investigated in the treatment of inflammatory and immunological processes.

Endometriosis: It is a chronic inflammatory disease in which the basal layer of the endometrium is located outside the uterine cavity. Its frequency is between 6% and 10% and it is a multifactorial disease (17). Genetic, environmental and immunological mechanisms are involved in its pathogenesis. Today, treatments for infertility and pain cannot provide sufficient success for these patients.

Asherman's Syndrome: It is characterized by intrauterine adhesions, hypomenorrhea, or amenorrhea. Scar tissue formed in the uterus may disrupt embryo implantation and cause infertility or recurrent pregnancy loss (18). There is a history of pregnancy-related curettage in 90% of the patients. Although hysteroscopy and hormonal treatments are applied today, developments in regenerative methods may increase the success in the management of the disease.

Stem cells are undifferentiated cells found in embryo or adult tissues. These cells are cells that can renew themselves or differentiate when necessary.

Stem cells are divided into embryonic stem cells, induced pluripotent stem cells, adult mesenchymal stem cells, spermatogonial stem cells and ovarian stem cells according to their origin.

Embryonic stem cells are cells that can transform into all three germ sheets obtained from the inner cell mass of the embryo. It has been observed that both human and mouse embryonic stem cells are transformed into primordial germ cells in vitro, from which male and female gamete cells are formed by meiosis (19). It has also been shown that embryonic stem cells are effective in the restoration of endometrial tissue (20). However, due to ethical concepts, studies on the subject are limited.

Induced pluripotent stem cells were obtained from mouse fibroblast culture in 2006 and it has been shown that they can form all three germ sheets and maintain the same karyotype as embryonic stem cells (21). Since these cells are produced from adult cells, ethical problems caused by embryos are eliminated. In addition, since it is produced from people's own cells, immunological reactions are also less (22). Eguizabal et al. produced haploid gamete-like cells from keratinocytes and cord blood. They used a culture medium containing retinoic acid. Then forskolin, human recombinant leukemia inhibiting factor (LIF) and CYP26 inhibitor R115866 were used (23). Ramathal et al., on the other hand, transplanted skin cells from azoospermic and fertile men, together with Bone morphogenetic protein 4 (BMP4), Bone morphogenetic protein 8 (BMP8), retinoic acid (RA) and LIF, into mouse testis and studied germ cells. Ramathal et al. transplanted skin cells from azoospermic and fertile men together with BMP4, BMP8, RA and LIF into mouse testis and obtained germ cell-like cells (GCLCs) (24). Sasaki et al. human induced pluripotent stem cells in the presence of Activin A, CHIRON, BMP4, stem cell factor (SCF), epidermal growth factor (EGF) and LIF in human primordial stem cells. demonstrated that they can transform into germ cells. These cells are epithelial cell adhesion molecule (EpCAM) and Integrin a6 are distinguished from other cells by markers (25). Another study showed that human fibroblast-derived induced stem cells were transformed into spermatogenic cells both in a normal culture medium and by xenotransplantation (26). In their study, Yamashiaro et al. (27) and Gell and Clark (28) first transformed somatic cells into induced stem cells, then incipient mesoderm-like cells (iMeLCs) with Activin A and Chiron and then into human primordial germ cells and these cells were transformed into female mouse embryonic cells. Oogonia cells were obtained by culturing with ovarian-derived gonadal cells. Although induced pluripotent stem cells are promising, they carry teratogenic potential and the use of nucleic acid integration procedures, epigenic changes and genomic instability limits their use in treatment (29,30,31).

Mesenchymal stem cells are cells that can transform into osteoblasts, adipocytes and chondroblasts containing CD105, CD73 and CD90 surface antigens (32). These can be stem cells from bone marrow, stem cells from adipose tissue, stem cells from menstrual blood, stem cells from the umbilical cord and stem cells from amniotic fluid, depending on the tissue from which they are obtained. Mesenchymal stem cells contribute to the restoration of the ovary by going to the damaged ovarian tissue and secreting various cytokines. It increases new vessel formation with insulin-like growth factor (IGF-1), vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) and reduces apoptosis and fibrosis. The proliferation and differentiation abilities of mesenchymal stem cells decrease with age (33). Increased telomerase activity causes fetal stem cells to live longer than adult stem cells (34). Fetal mesenchymal stem cells can also be obtained from extraembryonic tissues such as amnion, umbilical cord, and placenta. Fetal stem cells contain CD105, CD29 and CD90, which are the surface markers of mesenchymal cells, as well as Octamer-binding transcription factor 4 (Oct-4), Nanog and Rex-1 markers of pluripotent cells (34). Fetal and adult mesenchymal stem cells use different pathways (35). For example, it was observed that fetal mesenchymal cells act through melatonin membrane receptor and antioxidant activity in mouse ovary damaged by cyclophosphamide (36).

Bone marrow-derived stem cells were obtained by Owen and Friedenstein in 1988 (37). Jing et al. showed that bone marrow-derived stem cells increased endometrial thickness after intravenous injection in mice while increasing antiinflammatory cytokines and decreasing inflammatory cytokines (38). Wang et al. found that bone marrow-derived stem cells injected intravenously or directly into the uterus of mice with which they formed intrauterine adhesion increased the estrogen-progesterone receptor of the endometrium and decreased the fibrotic area. has shown to increase glands (39). Abd-Allah et al. provided the restoration of ovarian follicles by downregulating the FSH receptor of bone marrow-derived stem cells, downregulating the estrogen and upregulating the VEGF receptor in mice, in which they caused ovarian failure by giving cyclophosphamide in rabbits (3). Santamaria et al., in a prospective study of patients with Asherman syndrome, gave CD133+ bone marrow-derived stem cells to spiral arterioles and 10 of 16 patients became pregnant spontaneously or after the transfer (5).

Menstrual blood-derived stem cells are cells that can differentiate and proliferate like other mesenchymal stem cells and are obtained noninvasively. Liu et al. found that in the treatment with menstrual blood-derived stem cells in mice with premature ovarian failure with cyclophosphamide, Anti-Müllerian Hormone (AMH), Inhibin and estrogen levels improved and ovarian functions improved compared to the control group (40). Zheng et al., in their study, transformed MB-Mesenchymal stem cells (MB-MSC) cells into endometrial cells in vitro and then transplanted them into mice with adhesions in vivo to regenerate the endometrium (41). The ability to differentiate cells of menstrual origin comes from the presence of the OCT-4 transcription factor. Tan et al. used menstrual stem cells together with hormonal therapy in seven Asherman patients, while five patients became pregnant on their own, while two patients became pregnant after the transfer (42).

Endometrial stem cells stromal consists of epithelial and endothelial cells. Stromal ones contain CD44, CD73 and CD90 but CD34 and CD45 are negative, epithelial ones are stagespecific embryonic antigen (SSEA-1), N- cadherin and NTDPase2 are positive, endothelial ones are in CD 31 and CD 34 phenotype (43). endometrial in the absence of injury, these cells remain silent. In the presence of endometrial damage, these cells are directed to the damaged area by means of chemokines and C-X-C chemokine receptor type 4 (CXCR4) (44).

Umbilical cord-derived stem cells are CD29, CD44, CD73, CD90 and CD105 positive, CD31, CD45 and HLADR-85 negative. It is very advantageous to obtain easily, low tumor risk and low immunological response. In animal POI models, the ovarian function has been shown to provide ovarian restoration by antiapoptotic activity in granulosa cells, decreasing FSH levels and increasing estrogen and progesterone (45,46). In addition, the dehydroepiandrosteroneinduced mouse PCOS model has been shown to reduce inflammatory cytokines and improve infertility (47). Umbilical-derived stem cells prevent granulosa cell apoptosis by using various signaling pathways. Mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling pathway, G protein-associated receptors and insulin signaling pathways (48). In animal models, umbilical cord-derived stem cells have been shown to be beneficial by interfering with damaged endometrial cells by changing vascularity and inflammation (49). In addition, it was seen that it showed the same effect by activating matrix metalloproteinase 9 (50). In premature ovarian failure patients, it phosphorylates transcription factor forkhead box protein O3a (FOXO3a) and Forkhead Box protein O1 (FOXO1), providing primordial follicle activation and thus increasing the number of follicles (51)

Amniotic fluid-derived stem cells are frequently used in regenerative medicine due to their immunoregulatory properties and their ability to differentiate. VEGF, *Transforming growth factor* alpha and beta (TGF α and β) of these cells' growth It has been shown to improve ovarian function by activating factor (EGF) and bone morphogenic protein (BMP) signaling pathways (48). In mouse POF models, these cells are follicular especially if they have CD4C/CD105+ antigen. It has been shown to prevent atresia and restore ovarian function (52,53).

Amnion-derived mesenchymal stem cells ovarian in POF animal model's dysfunction prevents (54.55). Besides, inflammatory it decreases cytokines, increases neovascularization, and reduce apoptosis.

Placenta-derived mesenchymal stem cells increase folliculogenesis by activating the Phosphatidylinositol-4,5-bisphosphate 3-kinase/protein kinase B (PI3K/Akt) signaling pathway in animal POF models and restore ovarian function by changing the expression of hormones and receptors (56,57). Li et al. inositol-requiring ovarian cells using enzyme 1 (IRE 1) α pathway. showed that it corrects the dysfunction (58).

Adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells are frequently preferred because of their easy availability. In animal experiments, snowed that when the ovarian graft is applied together with the stem cell, it gains function faster by increasing VEGF expression (59). It has been shown to increase neovascularization and follicle proliferation in mouse ovarian defects induced by chemotherapy (60). It has been observed that mesenchymal stem cell and hormone therapy accelerate endometrial regeneration in Asherman syndrome (61).

Ovarian stem cells: In 2012, White et al. obtained stemcell-specific marker VASA-positive cells from the human ovarian cortex and showed that follicle synthesis occurred after xenotransplantation of these cells into diabetic immunodeficient mice (62). However, the fact that these cells are very few in number and decrease with age has unfortunately hindered the progress of research. In addition, differentiation of these cells in vitro culture medium takes quite a long time.

Today, mesenchymal stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles are used to reduce the immunological reactions of stem cell therapy (63). However, although all these methods are promising, many studies are needed before they can be put into routine practice.

Conflict of interest

The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Funding

This research did not receive any specific grant from funding agencies in the public, commercial, or not-for-profit sectors.

Acknowledgments

None to declare.

Authors' contributions

Concept:A.Z.Ö.,A.Ş.T.,Design:A.Z.Ö.,A.Ş.T.,Data Collection or Processing:A.Z.Ö.,A.Ş.T.,Analysisor Interpretation:A.Z.Ö., A.Ş.T.,Literature Search:A.Z.Ö., A.Ş.T.,Writing:A.Z.Ö., A.Ş.T.

References

- Zegers-Hochschild F, Adamson GD, Dyer S, Racowsky C, De Mouzon J, Sokol R, et al. The international glossary on infertility and fertility care. Hum. Reprod. 2017; 32, 1786–1801.
- Volarevic V, Bojic S, Nurkovic J, Volarevic A, Ljujic B, Arsenijevic N, et al. Stem cells as new agents for the treatment of infertility: Current and future perspectives and challenges. BioMed Res. Int. 2014; 507234.
- **3.** Abd-Allah SH, Shalaby SM, Pasha HF, Amal S, Raafat N, Shabrawy SM, et al. Mechanistic action of mesenchymal stem cell injection in the treatment of chemically induced ovarian failure in rabbits. Cytotherapy. 2013; 15, 64–75.

- 4. Mohamed SA, Shalaby SM, Abdelaziz M, Brakta S, Hill WD, Ismail N, et al. Human mesenchymal stem cells partially reverse infertility in chemotherapy-induced ovarian failure. Reprod. Sci. 2018; 25, 51–63.
- Santamaria X, Cabanillas S, Cervello I, Arbona C, Raga F, Ferro J, et al. Autologous cell therapy with CD133+ bone marrow-derived stem cells for refractory Asherman's syndrome and endometrial atrophy: A pilot cohort study. Hum. Reprod. 2016; 31, 1087–1096.
- 6. Manshadi MD, Navid S, Hoshino Y, Daneshi E, Noory P, Abbasi M. The effects of human menstrual blood stem cellsderived granulosa cells on ovarian follicle formation in a rat model of premature ovarian failure. Microsc. Res. Tech. 2019; 82,635–642.
- 7. Domnina A, Novikova P, Obidina J, Fridlyanskaya I, Alekseenko L, Kozhukharova I, et al. Human mesenchymal stem cells in spheroids improve fertility in model animals with damaged endometrium. Stem Cell Res Ther. 2018; 9, 50.
- **8.** Wang S, Yu L, Sun M, Mu S, Wang C, Wang D, et al. The therapeutic potential of umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells in mice premature ovarian failure. Biomed Res. Int. 2013; 690491.
- **9.** Fan D, Wu S, Ye S, Wang W, Guo X, Liu Z. Umbilical cord mesenchyme stem cell local intramuscular injection for treatment of uterine niche: Protocol for a prospective, randomized, double-blinded, placebo-controlled clinical trial. Medicine. 2017; 96,e8480.
- 10. Yang X, Zhang M, Zhang Y, Li W, Yang B. Mesenchymal stem cells derived from Wharton jelly of the human umbilical cord ameliorate damage to human endometrial stromal cells. Fertil. Steril. 2011; 96, 1029–1036.E4.
- Zhu SF, Hu HB, Xu HY, Fu XF, Peng DX, Su WY, et al. Human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cell transplantation restores damaged ovaries. J. Cell. Mol. Med. 2015; 19, 2108–2117.
- Webber L, Davies M, Anderson R, Bartlett J, Braat D, Cartwright B, et al. ESHRE Guideline: Management of women with premature ovarian insufficiency. Hum. Reprod. 2016; 31, 926– 937.
- **13.** Zangmo R, Singh N, Sharma J. Diminished ovarian reserve and premature ovarian failure: A review. IVF Lite. 2016; 3, 46.
- Hoek A, Schoemaker J, Drexhage HA. Premature Ovarian Failure and Ovarian Autoimmunity. Endocr. Rev. 1997; 18, 107–134.
- **15.** Rocha AL, Oliveira FR, Azevedo RC, Silva VA, Peres TM, Candido AL, et al. Recent advances in the understanding and management of polycystic ovary syndrome. F1000Research. 2019; 8. F1000 Faculty Rev-565.
- **16.** Ndefo UA, Eaton A, Green MR. Polycystic ovary syndrome: A review of treatment options with a focus on pharmacological approaches. Pharm. Ther. 2013; 38, 336–355
- 17. Sasson IE, Taylor HS. Stem cells and the pathogenesis of endometriosis. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 2008; 1127, 106–115.
- Dreisler E, Kjer JJ. Asherman's syndrome: Current perspectives on diagnosis and management. Int. J. Women's Health. 2019; 11, 191–198.
- Kehler J, Hübner K, Garrett S, Schöler HR. Generating oocytes and sperm from embryonic stem cells. Semin. Reprod. Med. 2005; 23, 222–233.
- **20.** Wang J, Liu C, Fujino M, Tong G, Zhang Q, Li XK, et al. Stem cells as a resource for treatment of infertility-related diseases. Curr. Mol. Med. 2019; 19, 539–546.
- **21.** Takahashi K, Yamanaka S. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. Cell. 2006; 126, 663–676.

- 22. Hou J, Yang S, Yang H, Liu Y, Liu Y, Hai Y, et al. Generation of male differentiated germ cells from various types of stem cells. Reproduction. 2014; 147, R179–R188.
- **23.** Eguizabal C, Montserrat N, Vassena R, Barragan M, Garreta E, Garcia-Quevedo L, et al. Complete meiosis from human induced pluripotent stem cells. Stem Cells. 2011; 29, 1186–1195.
- 24. Ramathal C, Durruthy-Durruthy J, Sukhwani M, Arakaki JE, Turek PJ, Orwig KE, et al. Fate of iPSCs derived from azoospermic and fertile men following xenotransplantation to murine seminiferous tubules. Cell Rep. 2014; 7, 1284–1297.
- **25.** Sasaki K, Yokobayashi S, Nakamura T, Okamoto I, Yabuta Y, Kurimoto K, et al. Robust In Vitro induction of human germ cell fate from pluripotent stem cells. Cell Stem Cell. 2015; 17, 178–194.
- 26. Easley CA IV, Phillips BT, McGuire MM, Barringer JM, Valli H, Hermann BP, et al. Direct differentiation of human pluripotent stem cells into haploid spermatogenic cells. Cell Rep. 2012; 2, 440–446.
- **27.** Yamashiro C, Sasaki K, Yabuta Y, Kojima Y, Nakamura T, Okamoto I, et al. Generation of human oogonia from induced pluripotent stem cells In Vitro. Science. 2018; 362, 356–360.
- **28.** Gell JJ, Clark AT. Restoring fertility with human induced pluripotent stem cells: Are we there yet?. Cell Stem Cell. 2018; 23, 777–779.
- 29. Lee AS, Tang C, Rao MS, Weissman IL, Wu JC. Tumorigenicity as a clinical hurdle for pluripotent stem cell therapies. Nat. Med. 2013; 19, 998–1004.
- **30.** Wu P, Deng G, Sai X, Guo H, Huang H, Zhu P. Maturation strategies and limitations of induced pluripotent stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes. Biosci. Rep. 2020; 25;41.
- **31.** Fernandez TdS, de Souza Fernandez C, Mencalha AL. Human induced pluripotent stem cells from basic research to potential clinical applications in cancer. BioMed Res. Int. 2013; 430290.
- 32. Dominici M, Le Blanc K, Mueller I, Slaper-Cortenbach I, Marini F, Krause D, et al. Minimal criteria for defining multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells. The International Society for Cellular Therapy position statement. Cytotherapy. 2006; 8, 315–317.
- 33. Fehrer C, Lepperdinger G. Mesenchymal stem cell aging. Exp. Gerontol. 2005; 40, 926–930.
- **34.** Guillot PV, Gotherstrom C, Chan J, Kurata H, Fisk NM. Human first-trimester fetal MSC express pluripotency markers and grow faster and have longer telomeres than adult MSC. Stem Cells. 2007; 25, 646–654.
- 35. Brady K, Dickinson SC, Guillot PV, Polak J, Blom AW, Kafienah W, et al. Human fetal and adult bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells use different signaling pathways for the initiation of chondrogenesis. Stem Cells Dev. 2014; 23, 541–554.
- **36.** Huang B, Qian C, Ding C, Meng Q, Zou Q, Li H. Fetal liver mesenchymal stem cells restore ovarian function in premature ovarian insufficiency by targeting MT1. Stem Cell Res. Ther. 2019; 10, 362.
- **37.** Owen M, Friedenstein A. Stromal stem cells: Marrow-derived osteogenic precursors. Ciba Found. Symp. 1988; 136, 42–60.
- **38.** Jing Z, Qiong Z, Yonggang W, Yanping L. Rat bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells improve regeneration of thin endometrium in rat. Fertil. Steril. 2014; 101, 587–594.E3.
- 39. Wang J, Ju B, Pan C, Gu Y, Zhang Y, Sun L, et al. Application of bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells in the treatment of intrauterine adhesions in rats. Cell. Physiol. Biochem. 2016; 39, 1553–1560.

- 40. Liu T, Huang Y, Zhang J, Qin W, Chi H, Chen J, et al. Transplantation of human menstrual blood stem cells to treat premature ovarian failure in mouse model. Stem Cells Dev. 2014; 23, 1548–1557.
- **41.** Zheng SX, Wang J, Wang XL, Ali A, Wu LM, Liu YS. Feasibility analysis of treating severe intrauterine adhesions by transplanting menstrual blood-derived stem cells. Int. J. Mol. Med. 2018; 41, 2201–2212.
- **42.** Tan J, Li P, Wang Q, Li Y, Li X, Zhao D, et al. Autologous menstrual blood-derived stromal cells transplantation for severe Asherman's syndrome. Hum. Reprod. 2016; 31, 2723–2729.
- 43. de Miguel-Gómez L, López-Martínez S, Francés-Herrero E, Rodríguez-Eguren A, Pellicer A, Cervelló I. Stem cells and the endometrium: From the discovery of adult stem cells to preclinical models. Cells. 2021; 10, 595.
- **44.** Saha S, Roy P, Corbitt C, Kakar SS. Application of Stem Cell Therapy for Infertility. Cells. 2021 Jun 28;10(7):1613.
- **45.** Mohamed SA, Shalaby S, Brakta S, Elam L, Elsharoud A, Al-Hendy A. Umbilical cord blood mesenchymal stem cells as an infertility treatment for chemotherapy induced premature ovarian insufficiency. Biomedicines. 2019; 7, 7.
- **46.** Song D, Zhong Y, Qian C, Zou Q, Ou J, Shi Y, et al. Human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells therapy in cyclophosphamide-induced premature ovarian failure rat model. BioMed Res. Int. 2016; 2517514.
- **47.** Xie Q, Xiong X, Xiao N, He K, Chen M, Peng J, et al. Mesenchymal stem cells alleviate DHEA-Induced polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) by inhibiting inflammation in mice. Stem Cells Int. 2019; 9782373.
- **48.** Zhang C. The Roles of Different Stem Cells in Premature Ovarian Failure. Curr. Stem Cell Res. Ther. 2020; 15, 473–481.
- **49.** Zhang L, Li Y, Guan C-Y, Tian S, Lv X-D, Li J-H, et al. Therapeutic effect of human umbilical cord-derived mesenchymal stem cells on injured rat endometrium during its chronic phase. Stem Cell Res. Ther. 2018; 9, 36.
- 50. Xu L, Ding L, Wang L, Cao Y, Zhu H, Lu J, et al. Umbilical cordderived mesenchymal stem cells on scaffolds facilitate collagen degradation via upregulation of MMP-9 in rat uterine scars. Stem Cell Res. Ther. 2017; 8, 84.
- 51. Ding L, Yan G, Wang B, Xu L, Gu Y, Ru T, et al. Transplantation of UC-MSCs on collagen scaffold activates follicles in dormant ovaries of POF patients with long history of infertility. Sci. China Life Sci. 2018; 61, 1554–1565.
- **52.** Xiao G-Y, Liu I-H, Cheng C-C, Chang C-C, Lee Y-H, Cheng WT-K, et al. Amniotic fluid stem cells prevent follicle atresia and rescue fertility of mice with premature ovarian failure induced by chemotherapy. PLoS ONE. 2014; 9, e106538.

- **53.** Liu T, Huang Y, Guo L, Cheng W, Zou G. CD44+/CD105+ human amniotic fluid mesenchymal stem cells survive and proliferate in the ovary long-term in a mouse model of chemotherapy-induced premature ovarian failure. Int. J. Med. Sci. 2012; 9, 592.
- 54. Ling L, Feng X, Wei T, Wang Y, Wang Y, Wang Z, et al. Human amnion-derived mesenchymal stem cell (hAD-MSC) transplantation improves ovarian function in rats with premature ovarian insufficiency (POI) at least partly through a paracrine mechanism. Stem Cell Res. Ther. 2019; 10, 46.
- **55.** Feng X, Ling L, Zhang W, Liu X, Wang Y, Luo Y, et al. Effects of human amnion–derived mesenchymal stem cell (hAD-MSC) transplantation In Situ on primary ovarian insufficiency in SD rats. Reprod. Sci. 2020; 27, 1502–1512.
- 56. Yin N, Wang Y, Lu X, Liu R, Zhang L, Zhao W, et al. hPMSC transplantation restoring ovarian function in premature ovarian failure mice is associated with change of Th17/Tc17 and Th17/Treg cell ratios through the PI3K/Akt signal pathway. Stem Cell Res. Ther. 2018; 9, 37.
- **57.** Li H, Zhao W, Wang L, Luo Q, Yin N, Lu X, et al. Human placenta-derived mesenchymal stem cells inhibit apoptosis of granulosa cells induced by IRE1α pathway in autoimmune POF mice. Cell Biol. Int. 2019; 43, 899–909.
- 58. Li H, Zhao W, Wang L, Luo Q, Yin N, Lu X, et al. Human placenta-derived mesenchymal stem cells inhibit apoptosis of granulosa cells induced by IRE1α pathway in autoimmune POF mice. Cell Biol. Int. 2019; 43, 899–909
- 59. Damous LL, Nakamuta JS, de Carvalho AES, Carvalho KC, Soares JMJr, de Jesus Simões M, et al. Does adipose tissuederived stem cell therapy improve graft quality in freshly grafted ovaries? Reprod. Biol. Endocrinol. 2015; 13, 108.
- 60. Sun M, Wang S, Li Y, Yu L, Gu F, Wang C, et al. Adipose-derived stem cells improved mouse ovary function after chemotherapyinduced ovary failure. Stem Cell Res. Ther. 2013; 4,80.
- **61.** Kilic S, Yuksel B, Pinarli F, Albayrak A, Boztok B, Delibasi T. Effect of stem cell application on Asherman syndrome, an experimental rat model. J. Assist. Reprod. Genet. 2014; 31, 975–982.
- **62.** White YA, Woods DC, Takai Y, Ishihara O, Seki H, Tilly JL. Oocyte formation by mitotically active germ cells purified from ovaries of reproductive-age women. Nat. Med. 2012; 18, 413
- **63.** Qamar AY, Hussain T, Rafique MK, Bang S, Tanga BM, Seong G, et al. The Role of Stem Cells and Their Derived Extracellular Vesicles in Restoring Female and Male Fertility. Cells. 2021; 17;10:2460.





Review Article

J Exp Clin Med 2023; 40(1): 127-131 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.40.1.27

Overview of hematopoietic stem cell transplantation

Neslihan MERİÇ®

Faculty of Engineering and Natural Sciences, Department of Molecular Biology and Genetics,

Kütahya University of Health Sciences, Kütahya, Türkiye

Received: 15.08.2022	•	Accepted/Published Online: 31.12.2022	•	Final Version: 18.03.2023

Abstract

Hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (HSCT) is the intravenous administration of hematopoietic stem cells (HSC) to restore blood cell production in individuals whose bone marrow or immune system is damaged or dysfunctional. This approach has been used to treat various malignant and nonmalignant disorders for the past half-century.

HSCT is performed in two ways, autologous and allogeneic. In the clinic, the type of stem cell transplant is decided according to the patient's diagnosis. Both kinds of transplantation have advantages as well as disadvantages. Knowing and managing the HSCT process well affects the success of the transplant. Knowing the complications that may occur after transplantation will facilitate the patient's treatment process. In this short review, the HSCT process has been tried to be explained with general titles.

Keywords: hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (HSCT), stem cell (SC), human leukocyte antigen (HLA), graft versus host disease (GVHD).

1. Introduction

1.1. What is Hematopoietic Stem Cell?

HSCs are cells found in bone marrow (BM), peripheral blood (PB), and umbilical cord blood (UCB) that can self-renew and differentiate into all adult blood cell types (Fig. 1). The spongy BM contains HSCs. In the bone marrow, HSCs create cells of the myeloid and lymphoid lineages, which are essential components of the immune system. The lymphopoiesis begins

in the lymphoid series, and T, B, and natural killer (NK) cells, which are components of innate and adaptive immune cells, are created. The myeloid series gives rise to other blood cell components. Characterization of HSCs in clinical and research laboratories is done using CD markers. The existence and definition of HSCs were made 50 years ago, and studies on HSCs are still ongoing (1-3).



Fig. 1. Scheme of formation of mature blood cells from HSCs. Mature blood cells are formed from the blood-forming HSCs in the BM. Stem cells (SCs) are characterized by antigens on their surface (immunophenotyping)

1.2. Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation

Bone marrow transplantation, also known as HSCT, involves the transfer of healthy HSCs to patients with damaged bone marrow (4). In recent years, HSCT has entered the clinic as a life-saving treatment for many diseases, including autoimmune and genetic diseases, especially malignant and non-malignant hematological cancers. Since the 1940s, many developments have been recorded in the field of stem cell transplantation (SCT). Today, HSCT, which is accepted by many authorities to be used especially in treating hematological diseases, is performed in three different ways. They are allogeneic (from siblings, relatives, and HLA-matched unrelated donors), autologous (use of patient's own SCs in solid tumors), and syngeneic (from twin siblings). HSCs are derived from BM, PB, and UCB (5).

1.3. Autologous Stem Cell Transplantation

Using the patient's own SCs for transplantation is the main focus of autologous SCT. To increase the number of SCs in the peripheral blood, either cytokine (granulocyte colonystimulating factor (G-CSF)) or cytotoxic agents in combination with cytokine are given to the patient as a mobilization agent to allow the SCs to leave the BM and enter the PB. Plerixafor, a CXCR4 antagonist, is a highly potent mobilizing agent. The primary function of G-CSF in this context is to trigger the release of proteolytic enzymes, particularly metalloproteinase-9, from BM stromal cells, allowing HSCs to be separated from the stroma. The presence of a sufficient number of SCs in the patient's PB is referred to as mobilization, and it is measured using a flow cytometer and the CD34+ cell surface antigen. The patients' apheresis process begins when they achieve a suitable amount of SCs in the calculation made using the CD34+ SC count and the patient's white blood cell count. The apheresis equipment collects SCs from the patient, freezes them under specific circumstances, and stores them in liquid nitrogen tanks until the transplantation procedure. A series of high-dose chemotherapy and radiotherapy are administered to the patient to kill the blasts identified as undesirable cells. Following that, similar to a blood transfusion, healthy SCs are delivered to the patient on the day of transplantation (Fig.2). For the treatment of Hodgkin Lymphoma (HL), Non-Hodgkin Lymphoma (NHL), and Multiple Myeloma (MM), autologous transplantation is often favored (MM). The patient's hematopoiesis flow is regulated by SCs reinfused into the patient. This process, in which healthy blood cell production begins again, is called engraftment. This procedure is monitored by the daily blood counts of transplant recipients. Although the incidence of problems following transplantation is lower than allogeneic transplantation, the risk of illness recurrence is considerable. Because autologous transplantation uses the patient's own SCs, graft failure (the inability of the transplanted cells to grow and divide in the BM) is uncommon, and graft versus host disease (GVHD), which occurs in allogeneic transplantation and is extremely difficult to treat, is not seen (6).



Fig. 2. Autologous SCT process

1.4. Allogeneic Stem Cell Transplantation

Patients with malignant and non-malignant hematological blood disorders are treated with allogeneic SCT when

autologous SCT is not possible. In this type of transplant, human leukocyte antigen (HLA) compatibility between the patient and the donor is critical. Acute Myeloid Leukemia (AML), Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia (ALL), Chronic Myeloid Leukemia (CML), Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia (CLL), Multiple Myeloma (MM), Non-Hodgkin Lymphoma (NHL), and anemia are all treated with allogeneic SCT (3).

1.4.1 Types of Allogeneic Stem Cell Transplantation

Twins undergo *syngeneic SCT*. The community has a low rate of identical twins. The main benefits of syngeneic SCT are the minimal risk of developing GVHD and the lack of graft rejection risk. Because of these factors, the patient is not receiving long-term immunosuppressive medication (7).

Haploidentical SCT is performed on at least 50% HLAmatched relatives. The likelihood of graft rejection and GVHD is significant, depending on the degree of HLA incompatibility. Furthermore, after this transplant, the immune system takes a long time to rebuild (8).

Sibling SCT is a form of transplantation between siblings. Because of the genetic compatibility in HLA, it is frequently preferred. Transplantation from HLA-matched siblings is the clinic's first choice.

Unrelated SCT is an allogeneic SCT performed between individuals with unrelated HLA matching. When there are no HLA-matched family members, this is the transplant method of choice.

1.5. Sources of Hematopoietic Stem Cells

BM, PB, and UCR are the SC sources used for autologous or allogeneic HSCT. The BM source collects BM from the donor via aspiration while the donor is under general anesthesia. Using specific biopsy needles, BM is carefully aspirated from the posterior iliac crest region under operating room circumstances. The donor may undergo bleeding, infection, and localized pain throughout the 2.5-hour operation. Patients and donors who choose to collect SCs from bone marrow are subjected to a thorough physical assessment and any relevant tests. The patient does not need to introduce a specific catheter in BM transplants, and SCs are collected in one go under surgical settings. Another advantage is that no agents, such as G-CSF, are required, as with peripheral SC sources. On the other hand, the engraftment of neutrophils and platelets happens more slowly. Because of their quick engraftment timeframes and numerous other advantages, PB-derived SCs are the most often used source of HSCT in clinics. The quantity of SCs in the PB is normally modest. G-CSF and plerixafor are utilized to proliferate and transport SCs from the BM to the peripheral circulation. If sufficient CD34+SCs (5 to 15 g/kg/day) are calculated 4-5 days following the use of drugs, SCs are harvested from patients or donors in the apheresis unit. Because the veins of some patients or donors (children, patients undergoing continuous intravenous therapy, etc.) are insufficient for collecting enough SCs, the collection is done via a central venous catheter. Because not enough stem cells can be harvested in one go, SC collection (apheresis) may continue for a few days. In addition to being simple and inexpensive, acquiring PB-derived SCs has several drawbacks. The patient or donor may experience bone discomfort and flulike symptoms using mobilization agents. Furthermore, citrate or anticoagulant chemicals used to prevent coagulation in apheresis unit sets may produce unwanted effects on the patient or donor (hypocalcemia). Another concern is the possibility of central venous catheter bleeding and infection. However, compared to BM, the recovery of all of these adverse effects occurs concisely.

The chord is constricted from a certain point after the infant is born to collect SCs from the UCB. CB is contained in a sterile blood bag with the anticoagulant. It is extracted from erythrocytes and plasma and frozen for future transplantation. Because HLA type is not an issue with UCB transplants, the risk of GVHD is lower than in other sources. The most extended engraftment timeframes are caused by the low quantity of stem cells (CD34+) derived from UCB. At least stem cells (CD34+) are isolated from cord blood using the above procedures. PBSCs produce the most significant number of stem cells. However, the danger of GVHD, the most common issue in allogeneic transplants, is substantial in all three donors. These sources of SCs contain GVHD-inducing T lymphocytes. The ratios of lymphocytes, monocytes, T cells, and dendritic cells are very high in PBSCs (9,10).

1.6. Steps of HSCT;

1.6.1. Preparation Regime: The patient is first readied for travel at this stage by employing particular preparation regimens. The preparation regimen is based on the use of chemotherapy, radiation, and other biological treatment procedures for antineoplastic or immunosuppressive reasons before autologous and allogeneic transplantation. These treatments, typically including high-dose chemotherapy, significantly contribute to the pulmonary problems reported following transplantation. Because there would be no genetic variations in autologous transplants, the goal of the preparation regimen is to remove the patient's undesirable cells and tumors. When SCs from the donor (relative-unrelated) are given to the patient in allogeneic SCs, a response may develop due to differences in HLA tissue compatibility. Priming regimens reduce the patient's immune system to prevent the transplant rejection reaction. Furthermore, the patient's defective hematopoiesis is removed using the preparation regimen used before allogeneic SCT (myeloablation). Preparation regimens are chosen in various centers by parameters such as patient diagnosis, condition, other illness factors, and transplantrelated mortality risk (11–13)

1.6.2. Allogeneic Transplant Donor Selection: Allogeneic HSCT is the preferred treatment for a wide range of malignant and non-malignant disorders. Because the purpose of allogeneic HSCT is to replace the patient's ineffectively functioning hematopoiesis with that of a donor, so finding a compatible donor is a prerequisite. It is a time-consuming and complex process for both recipients and donors (10). Donor selection is crucial for allogeneic-HSCT success. When

making this decision, both relatives and non-relatives are considered. Tissue typing of fathers, mothers, siblings, and other relatives looks at the donor and recipient's HLA. When there is HLA compatibility, a stem cell source, and several donors available, donor age, gender, sex factor, weight, ABO blood group, and virus serological status should be evaluated in the donor selection process (8).

The phases of selecting a suitable donor in allogeneic SCT can be summarized as follows:

1. The tissue type of the patients is determined.

2. Family members' tissue type is determined (transplantation process starts at appropriate HLA match)

3. If compatible tissue typing cannot be established in family members, SCT centers apply to institutes that maintain national and international donor databases in search of suitable donors (National Marrow Donor Program (NMDP), German Bone Marrow Donor Center (DKMS), Turkish Stem Cell Coordination Center (TÜRKÖK), etc.)

4. Following the completion of the necessary procedures, the SCs are harvested from the compatible donor and sent to the transplant center under appropriate conditions (13).

1.6.2.1 Human Leukocyte Antigens (HLA)

Tissue typing (HLA screening) should be performed by experts in accredited laboratories as soon as possible when it is decided to perform allogeneic SCT for the patient. The HLA system is found on chromosome 6's short arm (6p21.3) and contains the most polymorphic gene cluster in the whole human genome. HLA system allows our immune system to recognize non-self. HLA is evaluated in the laboratory using molecular methods to determine whether there is tissue compatibility between the recipient and donor in allogeneic HSCT. Our HLA type is passed down from our parents. As a result, relative (family) screening is initiated first in the hunt for a donor. The HLA complex comprises Class I, Class II, and Class III sections and is found on the short arm of the sixth chromosome. HSCT screens for Class I genes HLA-A, B, and C and Class II genes HLA-DR, DQ, and DP. Donors should be entirely compatible in inbred screening and have an HLA match of 6/6 or 10/10 in unrelated screening. There is a 3/6 or 5/10 concordance in cases of one or two antigen mismatches or haploidentical cases (10, 13-15).

1.6.3. Harvesting and Storage of Stem Cells from Peripheral / Bone Marrow

Under general anesthesia, BMSCs are extracted from the pelvis bone. Special bone needles used in BM extraction are inserted with injectors into multiple sections of the bone, and roughly 5 ml of BM is aspirated so that it does not mix with blood. Heparin (5,000 U/mL) must be used to clean injectors with used bone needles. To avoid coagulation, the aspirated BM contains ACD anticoagulant solution and is collected in unique bags. According to popular belief, 2 -3 x10⁸ nucleated cells/kg are collected. The obtained BM is given to the patient the same day or the following day (16).

PBSCs are typically detected in tiny numbers. The number of PBSCs is enhanced approximately 100 times by utilizing different chemotherapeutic and growth agents (G-CSF, GM-CSF) (17). When sufficient SCs are obtained, they are harvested using special machines in the apheresis unit. If the harvested SCs are to be administered to the patient within 72 hours, they can be kept in the refrigerator at 2-8 °C. If the storage time is more than 72 hours, the SCs must be frozen to maintain viability. To prevent cellular dehydration and the production of ice crystals in the cells, 5-10% dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) is given to the collected SCs after centrifugation. Mechanical freezers (≤ -80 °C) are used to freeze stem cells, which are then preserved in vapor-phase liquid nitrogen (\leq -150°C) until the day of transplantation (6).

1.6.4. Transfusion of Stem Cells to the Patient

Frozen stem cell samples are thawed in a 37 °C water bath in the patient's room on the day of transplantation and infused immediately. Most adverse reactions during SCT are due to DMSO, fragmented granulocytes, or ABO incompatibility. Mild reactions such as nausea, vomiting, abdominal cramps, cough, hypertension, hypotension, and sometimes cardiac symptoms can be observed during SCT (Figure 2) (6).

1.7. Factors Affecting Transplant Success and Complications After Transplantation

Numerous factors influence transplant success. These factors may be related to the disease (disease resistance, disease phase, clonal abnormalities, and so on in malignancies, and the type of disease and associated rejection risk in non-malignant diseases), as well as the patient himself (age, comorbidities, infectious diseases/colonization, and so on). Furthermore, donor-related difficulties and SC sources can impact disease control and transplant-related mortality (18).

Another critical aspect is the occurrence of adverse responses and problems following transplantation. Despite advances in research and technology, severe and fatal reactions to drugs used in recipients' pre-transplantation preparation regimens, GVHD developing after allogeneic transplantation, infections resulting from recipient immune suppression, and respiratory failure in some patients are significant complications (12).

Post-transplant infections are one of the most serious of these problems. Cytomegalovirus (CMV) infection is one of the most prevalent after allogeneic transplantation. CMV infection can induce fever or cytopenia in patients, as well as pneumonia, hepatitis, gastroenteritis, retinitis, and encephalitis. CMV infection and the immune system both occur concurrently. For example, whereas GVHD disease increases the likelihood of CMV infection, CMV infection may have a role in the development of GVHD. The protein level in the patient's sample (plasma, urine, serum, tissue, etc.) or DNA using polymerase chain reaction is used to determine CMV (PCR). Although numerous factors influence CMV treatment,

antiviral medications, high-dose immune globulin therapy, and particular T cells are employed (19).

GVHD is one of the most prevalent problems following allogeneic SCT. GVHD, which is extremely difficult to treat, is studied in acute and chronic stages. It is referred to as acute GVHD if it occurs during the first 100 days of HPSCT and chronic GVHD if it occurs after 100 days. Age of the patient and donor, female donor option, unrelated donor option, and, as previously indicated, the presence of CMV in the patient or donor are all factors that contribute to the emergence of GVHD. The reactivity of the donor's T cells as a result of seeing the patient's tissues as antigenically foreign is critical in GVHD illness. GVHD causes serious harm to the patient's skin (scaling), liver (change in bilirubin level), and digestive system (severe diarrhea). The severity of GVHD and the extent of organ damage it produces are closely proportional to the level of HLA incompatibility (20).

1.2 Stem Cell Transplantation in Turkey

The journey of SCT in Turkey began in 1978. Prof.Dr.Korkut Zerkan performed the first allogeneic BMT in Turkey at Hacettepe University Medical Faculty Hospital in 1978, and Prof.Dr. Onder Berk and his colleagues performed the first autologous BMT at Gülhane Military Medical Academy in 1984. In 1992, the first autologous PBHSCT was conducted. Prof.Dr. Gündüz Gedikolu and Prof.Dr. Made by Sema Anak completed the first SCT in pediatric instances. Dr. Atila Tanyeli performed the first pediatric autologous SCT on a patient with recurrent HL in 1992 (21).

At the current level, Turkey competes with European countries on HSCT. Turkey, which has attained world standards due to qualified professionals trained in developing technical infrastructures, offers more appropriate and quality treatment options than other European countries and the USA. With the rise of health tourism, people worldwide are flocking to Turkey for transplants. The number of patients seeking transplantation services grows in lockstep with the expansion of stem cell transplantation centers. Of course, establishing the Turkish Stem Cell Coordination Center (TÜRKÖK) under the Ministry of Health to encourage unrelated SC donations and construct a donor database pool was critical to this accomplishment.

HSCT is a safe form of therapy for the treatment of hematological diseases. Having information about the transplant types will enable the selection of the right transplant type. It is very important in the search for alternative donors and HLA-matched allogeneic transplants. Technological developments to prevent complications that may occur after transplantation will further increase the use and effectiveness of HSCT.

Conflict of interest

The authors declared no conflict of interest.

Funding

No funding was used for the study.

Acknowledgments

None to declare.

Authors' contributions

Concept: N.M., Design: N.M., Data Collection or Processing: N.M., Analysis or Interpretation: N.M., Literature Search: N.M., Writing: N.M.

References

- Hawley RG, Ramezani A, Hawley TS. Hematopoietic stem cells. Methods Enzymol. 2006; 419:149–79.
- **2.** Can A. Kök hücre biyolojisi, türleri ve tedavide kullanımları. 2nd ed. Ankara: Akademisyen Kitapevi; 2021. 188 p.
- **3.** Lee JY, Hong SH. Hematopoietic stem cells and their roles in tissue regeneration. Int J Stem Cells. 2020;13(1):1.
- 4. Khaddour K, Hana CK, Mewawalla P. Hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. [Internet]. 2022 [cited 2022 Jun 5]. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30725636/
- **5.** Skinner R, Lennard A, Veys P. The transplant. In: Cant AJ, Galloway A JG, editors. Practical hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. 1 st ed. Oxford: Blackwell Publishing; 2007, p 23.
- Weinberg RS. Hematopoietic progenitor cell products derived from bone marrow and peripheral blood. Transfus Med Hemost. 2019;513–8.
- Mohyuddin GR, Faisal MS, Badar T, Shah N, Bashir Q, Patel KK, et al. A case control study of syngeneic transplantation versus autologous transplantation for multiple myeloma: two decades of experiences from a single center. Leuk Lymphoma [Internet]. 2018 [cited 2022 Jun 6];59(2):515–8. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28673185/
- **8.** Petersdorf EW. Stem cell transplantation for hematologic malignancies. In: Robert J. Soiffer M, editors. Hematopoietic stem cell transplantation, 2nd ed. USA. Humana Press, 2008. p.26.
- 9. Panch SR, Szymanski J, Savani BN, Stroncek DF. Sources of hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells and methods to optimize yields for clinical cell therapy. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant [Internet]. 2017 [cited 2022 Jun 6];23(8):1241–9. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28495640/
- Níchonghaile M. Donor selection. In: Kenyon M, Babic A, editors. The European Blood and marrow transplantation textbook for nurses. EBMT, 2018.
- Ozcelik T. Kök hücre transplantasyonu hazırlama rejimleri ve bunların seçiminde dikkat edilecek hususlar.Türk Hematoloji Derneği, HematoLog, 2021;1-1
- 12. Chia JY, Folz RJ. Pulmonary complications of hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Clin Respir Med [Internet]. 2008 [cited 2022 Jun 6];737–46. Available from: https://houstonmethodiststaging.elsevierpure.com/en/publications/pulmonarycomplications-of-hematopoietic-stem-cell-transplantatio
- Slatter, M, Fox S. Pre-transplant assessment. In: Cant A.J GAJ, editors. Practical hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. 1st ed. Oxford; 2007. p. 14.
- 14. Shiina T, Inoko H, Kulski JK. An update of the HLA genomic region, locus information, and disease associations. Tissue Antigens [Internet]. 2004 [cited 2022 Jun 6];64(6):631–49. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/15546336/
- Cruz-Tapias P, Castiblanco J, Anaya JM. Major histocompatibility complex: Antigen processing and presentation - Autoimmunity -

NCBI Bookshelf [Internet]. [cited 2022 Jun 6]. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK459467/

- **16.** Gorin NC. Bone marrow harvesting for HSCT. EBMT Handb Hematop Stem Cell Transplant Cell Ther [Internet]. 2019[cited 2022 Jun 6];109–15. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32091775/
- **17.** Kessinger A, Armitage JO. Harvesting marrow for autologous transplantation from patients with malignancies. Bone Marrow Transplantation. 1987;2(1):15-18
- 18. Ayuk F, Balduzzi A, Carreras E, Dufour C, Mohty M, Kröger N. Donor Selection for Adults and Pediatrics. EBMT Handb Hematop Stem Cell Transplant Cell Ther [Internet]. 2019[cited 2022 Jun 6];87–97. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32091810/
- Küpesiz A. Hematopoetik kök hücre naklinde cmv enfeksiyonu.
 Ulusal Kemik İliği Transplantasyonu ve Kök Hücre Tedavileri Kongresi, Antalya, 2014.
- 20. Giralt S, Bishop MR. Principles and overview of allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Cancer Treat Res [Internet]. 2009 [cited 2022 Jun 6];144:1. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC6953421/
- 21. Tanyeli A, Aykut G, Demirel AO, Akçaoğlu T. Hematopoetik kök hücre nakli ve tarihçesi. Arşiv Kaynak Tarama Derg [Internet].
 2014 [cited 2022 Jun 6];23(1):1–7. Available from: https://dergipark.org.tr/tr/pub/aktd/issue/2205/29321





Review Article

J Exp Clin Med 2023; 40(1): 132-149 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.40.1.28

Beyond cognition and sleep: Stop the domino effect

Shaimaa Nasr AMIN^{1,2,*}, Ahmed Sayed KHASHABA³, Ahmad Yousef ALAZZAM⁴, Hamzeh Mahmoud ALKHAWALDAH⁴, Khaled Anwer ALBAKRI⁴, Omar Amjad ALMAJDOUBAH⁴, Yasmeen Jamal ALABDALLAT⁴, Ahmed Shaaban ABU SEIF⁵

¹Department of Anatomy, Physiology, and Biochemistry, Faculty of Medicine, The Hashemite University, Zarqa, Jordan
 ²Department of Medical Physiology, Faculty of Medicine, Cairo University, Egypt
 ³Department of Basic Sciences, Riyadh Elm University, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia
 ⁴Faculty of Medicine, The Hashemite University, Zarqa, Jordan
 ⁵Department of Pharmacology, Faculty of Medicine, Ain Shams University, Egypt

Received: 07.03.2022	•	Accepted/Published Online: 12.07.2022	•	Final Version: 18.03.2023
Abstract				

Abstract

Sleep problems, particularly sleep deprivation and fragmentations, are common hazards in modern lifestyles and may be an unavoidable occupational drawback. Different metabolic or hereditary causes may induce sleep problems. Cognitive functions and closely related metacognition, which depend significantly on decision-making, are essential for learning and problem-solving. When impaired for any reason, the quality of life deteriorates, and the person may become dependent on others in severe cases of dysfunction. Sleep and cognition/metacognition are related, and an insult to one function may lead to the other domain's collapse. The present review highlights the significant causes and conditions of sleep problems, cognitive and metacognitive dysfunctions, the possible mechanisms, interactions, and the potential tools or agents that may improve them.

Keywords: sleep, cognition, metacognition, obesity, probiotics

1. Background

Poor sleep is a common health hazard in modern societies, and it impairs the rhythmic expression of clock genes responsible for circadian rhythm regulation for the central clock in the central suprachiasmatic nucleus (SCN) and the peripheral clocks throughout the body (1). Moreover, sleep deprivation is associated with impaired cognition, metacognition (2), stress coping, and affective disorder (3). These cases are summarized in Fig. 1.



Fig. 1. Causes and management of sleep disturbances

During sleep, there are ongoing processing and running activity for different cognitive domains like consolidation of motivationally relevant information, which depends on sleep spindles and slow-waves oscillatory activity (4), dopamine system activation (5), decision-making, and conditioned learning (6).

According to Caputo et al. (7), learning and cognitive memory mechanisms play a vital role in developing and maintaining anxiety since exposure to cues related to aversive situations induces high arousal and anticipatory anxiety. Memory becomes unstable following reactivation, and modification is then possible via reconsolidation and extinction, and inhibition of these processes results in attenuation of contextual cues on the anticipatory anxiety (8).

Circadian rhythm refers to all the physiological and behavioral activities repeated in a cyclic manner around 24 hours. The periodicity patterns depend on external factors or cues called zeitgebers, such as exposure to light or dark and temperature changes. The circadian phase determines multiple aspects of sleep physiology, including total sleep duration, the phasic alternation between rapid eye movement (REM) sleep and non-rapid eye movement sleep (NREM), sleep continuity, and spindle activity (9).

Accordingly, the circadian phase affects wakefulness and sleep duration, reflected in synaptic plasticity markers (10). Daily stress, hyper-arousal, and pre-sleep cognitive activities significantly affect sleep latency and insomnia (11).

Melatonin and cortisol levels are hormonal markers of circadian phases. Melatonin is the primary regulator of sleepwake timing (12). In contrast, cortisol is a stress hormone strongly linked to anxiety and depression and plays a role in arousal (13). Sleep effects on cognition are not related to age. However, aging makes the person more susceptible to the hazards of sleep deprivation and interruption of circadian rhythm and cognition (14, 15). Accordingly, maintaining normal sleep could be a protective or therapeutic tool for certain cognitive disorders (16).

Metacognition is a higher level of managing and controlling cognition; it is firmly related to decision-making and problem-solving with neural systems located in the prefrontal cortex (17). Metacognition is a powerful academic tool that can lift academic achievement and learning if used properly. It represents our driving and control of thinking through two significant steps: metacognitive knowledge and regulation (18). Metacognitive knowledge is what we all know about our thinking, which approach is the best and differentiates between what we know and what we understand (19). The second step for metacognition is metacognitive regulation, which involves the actions and procedures we perform to learn (20).

The direct relationship between metacognition and sleep deprivation is not well studied relative to cognitive functions.

Baranski (21) reported that sleep deprivation affects cognition and metacognition with more stress on cognitive functions. In another study by Aidman et al. (2), Using 40 hours of sleep deprivation in 13 Australian Army male volunteers aged 20 -30 years, tested metacognition functions many times. It showed that fatigue-inducing states affected metacognition rather than cognitive mechanisms.

The present review highlights the significant causes and conditions of sleep problems, cognitive and metacognitive dysfunctions, the possible mechanisms, interactions, and the potential tools or agents that may improve them.

The methodology used for the present review involved electronic searches on PubMed and googled scholar between 1985 and 2021 using the keywords; sleep, cognition, metacognition, obesity, dietary habits, leaky gut syndrome, leaky brain, heavy metals, MSG, exercise, Omega-3, magnesium, probiotics, oxidative stress, antioxidants, herbs, acupuncture.'. We excluded articles in languages other than English and unrelated ones, assessed two hundred eighteen articles for eligibility, and included them in the review.

Common causes of impaired sleep and metacognition Obesity and dietary habits

Cultural dietary habits are essential determinants for weight gain, sleep quality, and duration consequences. Moreover, in a cross-sectional self-reported questionnaire on African American 1837 adults (75% females), with a mean age of 48.2 + 13.7 years and a mean BMI of 32 + 7.5 Kg/m2, Wu et al. (22) demonstrated that decreasing sleep was related to increasing weight and Body Mass Index (BMI). This creates a vicious pathological circuit of weight gain and sleep abnormality.

Ding et al. (23) revealed an association between high consumption of sugars and sleep deprivation with modified leptin hormone profiles. They explained that shift work affected the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis and triggered circadian disturbances causing hyperglycemia and excessive fat deposition. Leptin and ghrelin are essential for controlling hunger and sleep, and both hormones are reciprocally regulated in sleep deprivation with higher production of ghrelin and lower production of leptin, resulting in disruption of energy balance (24, 25).

Metacognitive dysfunction is well described with eating disorders like anorexia nervosa (26). By evaluating 44 adults, Quattropani et al. (2016) illustrated that emotional and affective disorders were commonly associated with obesity.

On the molecular level of the neurons, repeated sleep disruption produces oxidative stress, neuronal injury, and loss, especially among the neurons involved in arousals like hypothalamic orexinergic neurons and the locus ceruleus noradrenergic neurons (27).

Obstructive Sleep Apnea (OSA) interrupts or pauses breathing cycles during sleep with airway obstruction. It is a common disorder among obese, related to numerous health

issues (28). Sleep duration and quality are essential to maintain cognitive performance homeostasis (29). It is common in obese individuals with decreased sleep duration or sleep quality, usually with dysfunction of cognitive processes (14, 30), especially consolidation of memories (31) through synaptic remodeling (32). Holloway et al. (32) studied 16 male subjects randomly assigned in a crossover design. They used a high-fat (75%) diet compared to a standard diet (23% fat) for five days. After a 2-week washout period, subjects consumed the opposite diet. They showed that a seven-day high-fat diet reduced attention and reaction time with depression and impaired retrieval speed associated with neuroinflammation. Besides, after studying 4- year cognitive change in 6183 older women, Okereke et al. (33) demonstrated that high intake of saturated fats in young adults impaired memory and cognitive function, causing neurological disorders like dementia and Alzheimer's disease in mid and later life.

Fats increase oxidative stress and change apoptosis. Free radicals cause the progression and development of cognitive dysfunction via interfering with synaptic transmission, mitochondrial function, neuroinflammation, and axonal transport, with neuronal loss in dementia disease (34).

2.2. Monosodium glutamate (MSG)

Monosodium l-glutamate (MSG), a sodium salt of l-glutamate, is commonly used as a taste-enhancing additive. Glutamate, an excitatory neurotransmitter, is a part of its molecule (35). MSG produces excitatory and inhibitory responses according to dose, route, and intake duration (36). Onaolapo et al. (36) compared the effect of food–added MSG on neurobehavior, serum biochemical measures, cerebral cortex, liver, and renal morphology in mice fed a standard diet and high-fat diet for eight weeks.

Glutamate transport across the BBB is well-regulated to protect against glutamate-induced excitotoxicity (37). Prolonged dietary consumption of glutamate in the form of MSG in 64 adult male rats increased glutamate levels in the brain in the long run and impaired hippocampal function (38). This produced forebrain activation in various areas, including the insular cortex, basal ganglia, limbic system, and hypothalamus (39). In studying ten adult rats, MSG prolonged Rapid Eye Movement (REM) sleep duration and its episode frequency (40) and was associated with snoring and sleep breathing disorders in non-obese subjects (41).

MSG causes hyperactive and inattentive behavior (35). Akataobi. (35) demonstrated that MSG affected neonate and adult rats after six weeks of study similarly. Memory impairment with MSG is either a result of interference with glutamate synthesis in the hippocampus or inhibition of the cholinergic system (42).

The effect of MSG on cognition has also been linked to its attenuating effect on the cyclic - AMPK level in the hippocampus (43). Hippocampal AMPK protects neurons and attenuates the damage by b-amyloid and glutamate excitotoxicity (44).

2.3. Leaky gut syndrome and leaky brain

There is a complex bidirectional interaction between the gut microbiome and the brain. This microbiome involves trillions of human microorganisms, including bacteria, fungi, viruses, and protozoa. It has the most significant and vulnerable surface to prevent a leak (penetration) of some food components, environmental factors, and others. Disruption of this barrier causes leaky gut and brain, resulting in neurological diseases such as Alzheimer's, autism spectrum disease, stress, and Parkinsonism (45).

Leaky gut (intestinal hyperpermeability) triggers include physical or psychological stress, nutritional deficiencies, food allergy, food irritants such as casein or gluten, food additives, intestinal dysbiosis, infections, autoimmune diseases, toxins, and NSAIDs.

When significant bacterial or food particles penetrate the intestine, they release inflammatory and immune mediators, initiating more inflammatory and allergic responses, with more intestinal permeability and changes in CNS functions, including mood and behavior (46). In a review by Julio-Pieper et al. (46), they reported that about half of clinical and animal model studies showed intestinal barrier damage in schizophrenia, autism spectrum disorders, and neurodegenerative diseases.

2.4. Oxidative stress

After intracerebroventricular injection of radiolabeled arachidonate into mouse models of Alzheimer's disease, Furman et al. (47) revealed increased biomarkers of oxidative stress in many neurodegenerative diseases. Redox imbalance can cause a leaky gut and leaky brain via immune cells modulating oxidative stress. Ischemia may initiate disruption of the blood GIT and blood-brain barrier and occurs via reperfusion and production of reactive oxygen or free radical formation. This is antagonized by antioxidants (48).

In humans, excessive energy, especially high-fat food, causes oxidative stress and impairs cognitive function. Oxidative stress is more likely to develop in the brain due to the diversity of reactive species to modulate heterogeneous signaling pathways (49). Cognitive dysfunction is linked to low-grade inflammatory stress, inducing cell-mediated immunity and oxidative stress.

2.5. Heavy metals

Mercury

Mercury (Hg) exposure induces aversive memory injury and recognition memory deficits (50). A review by Bjørklund et al. (50) revealed neurological symptoms in dental workers who are occupationally exposed to chronic low levels of metallic Hg. In dentists and dental personnel, memory, neurobehavioral, cognitive, and attention disturbances are more common. Long-standing exposure to HgCl2 impairs memory and induces anxiety (51). Mercury accumulation has
been shown in the pineal gland, which participates in circadian function through melatonin and serotonin (52).

Hg can cause Alzheimer's disease (53), and the high penetrability of Hg into the brain alters sleep patterns by dysregulating the extracellular concentrations of glutamate, acetylcholine, and dopamine. These neurotransmission changes are reflected in non-REM sleep, REM sleep, awakening, and decreased night-time melatonin levels (54).

After intoxicating 20 rats for 45 days, Teixeira et al. (51) showed that HgCl₂ accumulates in the hippocampus and cortex regions with a higher affinity for the cortex. Furthermore, Mercury inhibits serotonin binding to brain receptors (53). The 5-HTergic system in the prefrontal cortex and basal ganglia plays a significant role in neuroprotection and cognitive regulation (55).

Mercury exposure in the prenatal period impairs the dopaminergic and glutamatergic system, impairing learning and memory (56) with decreased IQ scores and other attention and spatial tests memory (57).

Methyl mercury, which has sufficient permeation to the brain, causes Minamata disease, producing damage and neurological manifestations of the disease (58).

Additionally, there is an association between mercury toxicity and autistic spectrum disorder (ASD) diagnosis. Of 91 studies from 1999 to 2016, 74% suggested a direct and indirect relationship between Hg and autistic spectrum disorder (59).

Lead

Lead (Pb) is another heavy metal that can penetrate the CNS and negatively affect metacognition and sleep. Lead precipitation in front-hippocampal circuits impairs the acquisition, consolidation, and recall of memories, especially emotional memories, which causes emotional and behavioral dysregulation frequently seen in Pb-exposed children (60). Moreover, lowered intellectual scores, learning and memory scores, visual memory scores, verbal memory scores, and inadequate sleep with inadequate performance during the day have been recorded with lead exposure (61). In a crosssectional study, Mohammadyan et al. (61) measured the occupational exposure of 40 soldering workers to lead fumes through their blood lead levels and sleep quality and recording of digestive disorders. Impaired sleep quality and gastrointestinal disorders were prevalent.

According to Kalinchuk et al. (62), nitric oxide (NO) donors induce sleep through adenosine production. This means that reduced NO production causes sleep deprivation. Pb changes the activity and expression of neuronal nitric oxide synthase (nNOS) and brains endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) as it simulates Ca⁺² and blocks its binding sites for NOS, reducing cerebral NO levels.

In addition to its effect on sleep, the reduced NO production impairs long-term potentiation (LTP), forming the molecular base for learning and memory (63). Lead exposure causes hippocampal damage by denaturating myelin and neuronal nuclear irregularities (64). Allen et al. (65) described memory and metacognition dysfunction using a high–resolution multiparameter mapping technique in 48 healthy individuals. Furthermore, Lead is a non-competitive N-Methyl-D-aspartate receptor (NMDAR) antagonist. NMDA-Rs are ligand-gated receptors stimulated by glutamate and are vital players during neural development, neuronal plasticity, learning and memory, and LTP (66). Rocha et al. (66) summarized clinical and preclinical studies with various research techniques. They showed that low lead levels decreased cognitive functions and produced maladaptive behavior in human and animal models.

It is worth noting that lead exposure is a risk factor and a common association with Attention Deficit Hyperactive Disorder (ADHD) (67).

2.6. Personality trait

Lack of impulsivity affects sleep behavior, and McGowan and Coogan's (68) study showed that individuals with impulsivity suffered from shorter sleep duration, less efficient sleep, delayed sleep timing, and greater diurnal arousal. Social Anxiety Disorder (SAD) is a common finding in modern societies. It is believed that the way of thinking may affect the severity of this disorder. In clinical and experimental samples included in cross-sectional investigations, Gkika et al. (69) showed that negative beliefs and the dangerousness of thoughts were positively and significantly correlated with SAD.

Using metacognition models, McEvoy (70) stated that Meta-Cognitive Therapy (MCT) was associated with a better outcome in the anxiety and depression symptoms than the usual treatment.

Ronfeldt et al. (71) investigated the effects of third-wave cognitive constructs (mindfulness, psychological inflexibility, and meta-cognitions) on a person's psychological status, stating that mindfulness was inversely proportional to anxiety.

Additionally, after completing an online questionnaire at baseline and one year on 76% of 2291 participants from universities, Sun et al. (72) showed that negative meta-cognitions contributed to developing anxiety and paranoia.

Anxiety and depression symptoms are common in people with physical health conditions, with increased anxiety symptoms in cardiac and cancer patients (73) and diabetes (74). Sleep deprivation is considered a factor that affects mental health; Pires et al. (75) observed that significant anxiogenesis resulted from lack of sleep.

Interestingly, most sleepwalking or talking children also had an anxiety disorder (76). Sleep problems have several adverse health outcomes. Gould et al. (77) study on 109 adults aged 66-92 years revealed that the Geriatric Anxiety Scale (GAS) affective and somatic sub-scales were significantly associated with global sleep quality, suggesting that personalized treatment improved specific anxiety –symptom domains or vice versa. A study by Nadorff et al. (78) showed that Generalized Anxiety Disorder (GAD) was significantly correlated with alarming dream frequency. Moreover, sleep loss affects brain regions, which are essential for decisionmaking, such as the prefrontal cortex.

Short and Weber (79) described an association between time of sleep and risk-taking, while Benard et al. (80) revealed that the proportion of suicides among patients with bipolar disorders (BD) was higher than in the general population, with more circadian rhythms and sleep disturbances compared to healthy control.

2.7. Autism

Autism spectrum disorder (ASD) has severe social communication impairments and restricted and repetitive behavior and interests (81). Grainger et al. (82) suggested that the metacognitive ability to express our mindset depended on the same processes that we could anticipate others' mindset ("mindreading"), which was impaired in ASD. They found that people with ASD had mindreading problems and could not precisely monitor their memory details and components. However, they showed that some people with ASD had superior metacognitive abilities relative to neurotypical people.

Furthermore, Griffin et al. (83) reported that adults with ASD had high levels of alexithymia, "a difficulty identifying and labeling one's emotional states". Autism is usually associated with a learning disability and lower levels of IQ, impacting all learning and severely impairing adaptive behavior compared to deficits in overall or general intelligence (84).

Adults with ASD hardly develop independent life with moderate mental capabilities (85). The metacognitive impairment in an ASD can be explained by understanding the representational nature of belief, even their own beliefs. They also have more difficulty understanding desire than neurotypical individuals (86). Additionally, individuals with ASD struggle with 'strategic' aspects of social learning, selecting the relevant and be-imitated information during imitation tasks (87).

Sleep problems are common lifelong comorbidity in ASD and can increase latency, sleep fragmentation, and circadian phase disorders (88, 89). This results from neurotransmitter abnormalities or other commonly associated comorbidities like epilepsy (90).

Sleep difficulties lead to negative consequences during the daytime, like physical aggression, irritability, inattention, hyperactivity (91), impaired cognitive performance, and quality of life (88).

2.8. Dyslexia

Dyslexic readers' abilities are lower than typically developing readers in all forms of self-reported metacognitive knowledge and reading motivation, with lower performance than typically developing readers. However, dyslexic children have normal vocabulary consolidation abilities and can recall novel words like normal children (92). Children with dyslexia have slowwave sleep with a longer duration and higher frequency of sleep spindles, explaining the affected vocabulary consolidation (93). Carotenuto et al. (94) found that children with dyslexia showed higher rates of Sleep Disturbances Scale for Children (SDSC) pathological scores in the total SDSC score, higher rates in the number of times they woke up, nocturnal hyperkinesis, and snoring.

A recent study by Huang et al. (2020) (95) revealed that salivary melatonin in dyslexic children was less than the average children, and the rhythm of day low/night high disappeared.

2.9. Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD)

Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) is associated with academic retardation, the dysfunctional social interaction that results in a poor quality of life. ADHD in adulthood suffers from inattention, hyperactivity, impulsivity, and low academic achievement (96). ADHD management includes cognitive-behavioral therapy (CBT) and stimulant drug treatment with methylphenidate (97).

ADHD negatively impacts different aspects of cognition, including attention, executive functioning, memory, and learning. Objective psychometric tests may provide information about the individual's cognitive efficiency, whereas subjective self-reports might indicate success in individual goal achievement (98)

Gregory et al. (99) study on 2232 twin children associated ADHD with low sleep quality. Caregivers of children with ADHD develop sleeping problems due to their effort to care for them (100). Their children also develop sleep abnormalities resulting in dysfunction (101). Fortunately, poor sleep remits over time in ADHD, which may reassure parents and children with ADHD (99).

2.10. Neurodegenerative diseases

Alzheimer's disease (AD), the commonest dementia worldwide, is associated with sleep deprivation. In 18 longitudinal studies that included 246.786 subjects at baseline and 25.847 dementia cases after an average of 9.49 years of follow-up, patients with insomnia, sleep-disordered breathing, or other sleep disturbances were found to have higher risks of developing AD (102).

A post-mortem study by Lim et al. (103) on 45 older adults with a mean age at death of 89.2 years demonstrated that repeated sleep interruption caused a decreased number of hippocampal neurons in AD than normal controls.

Sleep abnormalities in Parkinson's Disease (PD) are common non-motor symptoms significantly impacting patients' quality of life (104) and precede any motor or cognitive manifestations (105). Abbott and Videnovic (106) hypnotized that circadian and sleep changes may strike the neurodegenerative process in PD that increases the sleep and circadian abnormalities in a vicious circle pattern with more neurodegeneration and sleep disorders (107)

Sleep problem management may be a potential means to slow disease progression from the early stages of PD (108). Moreover, in PD, there is a dysfunction of circadian rhythm markers such as cortisol, melatonin, C-type natriuretic peptide amino-terminal (NT-proCNP), and Tumor necrosis factoralpha (TNF- α), and assessment of these markers can be considered as markers for onset and stage of PD (109).

3. Management of dysfunctional metacognition and sleep disorders

3.1. Physical Exercise

A healthy diet and lifestyle play a crucial role in delaying aging health issues and maintaining an acceptable cognitive function level, especially in vulnerable seniors (110). A higher level of total daily physical activity is associated with a reduced risk for neurodegenerative diseases (111).

Regular exercise may play an essential role in the upregulation of brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) and upregulates the production of several neurotransmitters, like serotonin, associated with mood enhancement and reduced depressive symptoms (112).

Physical exercise positively impacts sleep in both normal conditions and the presence of sleep disorders; it enhances sleep quality and decreases the time to fall asleep (113). Moreover, physical exercise has a restorative property on the brain's prefrontal lobe, positively impacting sleep quality (114).

These exercise-induced actions may indirectly affect cognition as sleep improves neurotransmitters and neurotrophic systems such as; norepinephrine, serotonin, endorphins, BNDF (113), and melatonin (115). The systematic review and meta-analysis reported by Banno et al. (115) included nine studies with a total of 557 participants.

There is a positive correlation between physical exercise and academic performance with higher cognitive and metacognitive skills (116), and this is linked to the remapping of the brain as a part of brain plasticity that is improved and upgraded by physical exercise(117). Physical exercise performance may affect the brain through factors released into circulation with physical exercise.

The bone hormone Osteocalcin level is upregulated by physical exercise, and it is essential in the construction of bones and the regulation of blood sugar (118). Moreover, Osteocalcin affects sleep length, diurnal rhythm, brain signaling, and metacognition. It stimulates the secretion of serotonin, which influences mood and cognition.

The Osteocalcin is composed of a protein gel matrix made from Vitamin D repositories in the body. Therefore, individuals with Vitamin D deficiency are obese and have sleep problems because it is correlated to Osteocalcin's function and its impacts on sleep and body mass(119).

3.2. Omega-3

Omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA n3) are neuroprotective agents because of their anti-inflammatory and anti-apoptotic actions. Furthermore, Omega-3 regulates the function of growth factors that influence synaptic plasticity and function (120). Omega-3 regulates membrane fluidity and gene expression (121). Low dietary Omega-3 causes impaired glutamate and monoamine synaptic function (122), contributing to depression, cognitive decline, or dementia, especially for AD. These effects of Omega-3 deficiency are related to manipulating the endocannabinoid and inflammatory molecules that result in microglia engulfment of hippocampal synapses. That explains the neuroprotective effect of Omega-3 and its attenuating action for cognitive decline in the elderly (119).

Oily fish is necessary for normal serotonin production and sleep control. Additionally, in 395 healthy children aged 7-9 years, 16 weeks of Omega-3 supplementation elevated the Omega-3 concentration of red blood cells and decreased the severity of obstructive sleep apnea with better sleep patterns (123). Oily fish also provide vitamin D that regulates the sleepwake cycle. In a trial involving 677 people consuming oily fish, Del Brutto et al. (124) showed a link between dietary fish consumption and sleeping in a population where caught fish formed the primary dietary protein source.

Another study by Komori (125) treating depressed individuals with phosphatidylserine and O3PUFAs showed normalized salivary cortisol (circadian and basal secretion) in responders compared to non-responders. Chronic insomnia is associated with spikes in the release of cortisol (126). In support of the previous studies; Alzoubi et al.'s (127) eight weeks study on rats demonstrated the protective and antioxidant effects of Omega-3 on long and short memory in sleep deprivation.

3.3. Melatonin and light therapy

Dysfunction of the timekeeping system causes Circadian rhythm sleep-wake disorder (CRSWD), leading to the loss of synchrony and harmony between endogenous components of the circadian system and the external ques (128). It may be a primary disorder like circadian phase disorder or secondary to abnormal melatonin secretion in psychiatric or neurological diseases (129).

Various drugs are introduced for sleep disorders, like chloral hydrate, barbiturates, benzodiazepines, modafinil, antidepressants, and anxiolytics. However, these medications have unavoidable side effects, like daytime sleepiness, cognitive dysfunction, and dependency.

It is crucial to consider synchronizing the circadian components with the given therapy, for example, considering the time of melatonin or light therapy for circadian rhythm sleep disorders (128). The wavelength determines the light therapy efficiency, the strength of the applied light, the time of application, and whether the person was previously exposed to light or not (130). The same light intensity may delay the sleep phase of the circadian cycle if administered before the core body temperature minimum or advance it if administered after it. For the same reasons, exogenous melatonin administration should also be timed by circadian phase for non-24 hours sleep-wake phase disorder. In blind individuals, Tasimelteon (a selective dual melatonin receptor agonist) showed promising results (128).

The pineal gland secretes melatonin into the blood exclusively in the dark following biological time. It is tolerated and has a lower risk of dependence than other sleep medications (131). Melatonin therapy for chronic insomnia is a safe and effective method to improve sleep onset, latency, duration, and quality. Exogenous melatonin stimulates the naturally secreted melatonin, binds to melatonin receptors, and triggers the target signaling pathways; hence, it treats insomnia (132). The pineal gland secretes melatonin into the blood exclusively in the dark following biological time. It is tolerated and has a lower risk of dependence than other sleep medications (131). Melatonin therapy in chronic insomnia is a safe and effective method to improve sleep onset, latency, duration, and quality (133); (134). Exogenous melatonin stimulates the naturally secreted melatonin, binds to melatonin receptors, and triggers the target signaling pathways; hence it treats insomnia (132).

Furthermore, melatonin ameliorates the complications caused by sleep-breathing disorders. The hypoxia-induced hyperglycemia in experimental studies for sleep apnea included 36 mice injected with IP melatonin for 21 days (135). It inhibits the expression of inflammatory cytokines (Tumor necrosis factor-alpha, Interleukin-6, and Cyclooxygenase-2) and fibrotic markers (PC1 and TGF-beta) (136).

On the other hand, melatonin may improve hypersomnolence's central disorder as it alters sleep architecture in narcolepsy, a disorder of circadian rhythm and REM sleep deficit. Changes in REM patterns in narcolepsy patients are like those seen in patients and animal models with the pineal gland removed. Additionally, melatonin's exogenous doses significantly increase REM sleep time in normal cohorts and patients with a central hypersomnolence disorder (132). Melatonin also relieves shift workers' sleepiness (137).

3.4. Tryptophan

A diet rich in Tryptophan and antioxidants improves affective and cognitive domains (138). Tryptophan plays a crucial role in protein synthesis. It is a precursor of biologically active compounds like serotonin, melatonin, quinolinic acid, kynurenic acid, tryptamine, and also coenzymes essential for electron transfer reaction (redox balance of metabolism), such as nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD⁺) (139).

A deficiency in Tryptophan, caused by malnutrition, may

affect the central and peripheral serotoninergic pathways, although different nutrition-derived hormonal molecules may rescue some of this deficiency (140). Serotonergic dysfunction has been related to panic, depression, aggression, and suicidality symptoms. Because the serotonin system is involved in various psychiatric disorders and is also involved in the regulation of satiety, it can be important in the pathophysiology of eating disorders such as anorexia nervosa.

Tryptophan is used to treat various disorders but has been withdrawn in most countries. During the treatment of tryptophan preparations, undesirable symptoms include various pulmonary, cutaneous, and neurologic symptoms, eosinophilia-myalgia syndrome, and disease-related muscle pain. Various diseases and disorders are linked with Tryptophan and its metabolites. Increased metabolism of Tryptophan, or undesirable effects of low Tryptophan, such as decreased absorption or intake and signs of depression and neurovegetative complaints, has been observed in different pathology types (141,142).

Murr et al. (143) measured serum concentrations of free Tryptophan and CRP in 1196 patients with coronary artery disease. Lower serum tryptophan levels in patients undergoing coronary angiography were predictive for higher total, cardiovascular, and non-cardiovascular mortalities. Thus, the increased risk in patients with major depression for developing cardiovascular disease, the inadequate response to treatment, and increased morbidity and mortality could relate to more significant disturbances of tryptophan metabolism (144).

The biosynthesis of the most important neurotransmitters for mood stability is serotonin, dopamine, epinephrine, norepinephrine, and nitric oxide (NO), which is achieved by enzymes tryptophan 5-hydroxylase, phenylalanine 4hydroxylase, tyrosine 3- hydroxylase, nitric oxide synthase, and all these enzymes require BH4 as a cofactor (145).

BH4 is a strong reductant and therefore undergoes oxidation readily (146). Consequently, antioxidants prolong the life span of BH4 and contribute to increasing the activity of the BH4-dependent enzymes (147), and the biosynthesis of the mentioned neurotransmitters increases; this may explain why foods rich in antioxidants are considered as mood enhancers and improve cognitive abilities.

Tryptophan can be used for the management of sleep problems. It is interesting to note that dietary Tryptophan produces therapeutic effects through melatonin. Tryptophan treatment's crucial feature is that it does not directly reduce cognitive ability (148).

Mood and cognition are closely related in older persons (149) and linked to serotonin's biochemistry (150). Classical antidepressants like selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) increase serotonin levels in the brain leading to enhanced postsynaptic neuronal activity (138).

A meta-analysis of several clinical trials observed a

precognitive effect of antidepressants in patients with major depressive disorder. Accordingly, antidepressants significantly affect psychomotor speed and delayed recall (150). A potential role of tryptophan depletion in cognitive ability has already been suggested and is further strengthened in patients with Alzheimer's dementia and Huntington's disease (151).

3.5. 5-hydroxytryptophan (5-HTP)

The density of serotonergic fibers increases in the hippocampus and decreases in the thalamic paraventricular nucleus (PVN) due to brain serotonin depletion. In contrast, the serotonin precursor 5-hydroxytryptophan (5-HTP) administration could rescue these defects following the reestablishment of brain 5-HT signaling (152).

A study that included 4-week-old mice considered that serotonergic systems affected sleep, and the combined GABA and 5-HTP had synergistic effects on sleep duration and quality (153).

Meloni et al. (154) revealed that scores of the Beck Depression Inventory (BDI-II) and the Hamilton Depression Rating Scale (HDRS21) showed substantially more significant improvement with 5- HTP. Supplementation for night terrors examined the influence of L-5-hydroxytryptophan on sleep terrors. More than half-night terror episodes have been observed in over 93% of children within a month. These results confirm that arousal levels might be positively influenced by treatment with L-5-hydroxytryptophan, resulting in reduced sleep terror behaviors in children (155). The trial of these authors included 45 children aged 3.2-10.6 years.

3.6. Magnesium and magnesium l-threonate (MgT)

Magnesium (Mg⁺²) is a cofactor for many enzymes, and many organs need it to maintain proper function (156). Furthermore, Mg⁺² is critical for numerous cellular processes, including enzymatic reactions, ion channel functions, metabolic cycles, cellular signaling, and biomolecules' stability, such as RNA, DNA, and proteins (157).

 Mg^{+2} is essential for regulating the structural and functional synapses and synaptic plasticity (158). The intracellular concentration of Mg^{+2} positively correlates to synaptic branches' arborization (156).

Besides, Mg^{+2} regulates NMDA receptors (NMDAR) block, which is essential in controlling long-term potentiation and synaptic plasticity (156).

Several studies indicated that synaptic connections in the hippocampus decline during aging, with the degree of loss of synapses correlating with memory function impairment. The reduction seems to be specific to certain hippocampal subregions. Furthermore, in aging rodents, the dentate gyrus (DG) is the most affected area in the loss of synapses (159). Altering the hippocampus's synaptic efficacy is an initial event in cognitive disorders such as AD (160).

Magnesium deficiency and depression are linked in

experimental and clinical studies (161, 162). However, prospective cohort studies failed to find an association between magnesium status and later risk of depression (163). Some intervention studies suggested a beneficial role of magnesium supplementation in treating depression (164), while others have not (165).

Moreover, Lai et al. (166) investigated children's cognitive functions and correlated the results to maternal blood zinc and magnesium levels during pregnancy. They revealed that deficiency of minerals during pregnancy was linked to the cognitive dysfunction of their children. A low Mg^{+2} intake has been associated with poor-quality sleep and inflammatory stress (161).

Magnesium l-threonate (MgT) consists of a magnesium ion and threonate, which exists physiologically within the brain. MgT significantly increases magnesium ion levels within the CSF (156) and improves memory recall and spatial memory (156).

Besides, MgT prevented reducing glutamatergic synaptic transmission under AD-like pathological conditions characterized by excitotoxicity (167). A study of the hypoxic zebrafish model assessed the effects of magnesium on cognitive functions. It showed that pre-treatment with MgT upregulated glutamate transporter EAAT4, improved neuronal survival, and maintained learning following hypoxia induction (168).

3.7. Probiotics, prebiotics, and synbiotics

The gut microbiome helps digestion, the immune system, and mental health (169). Enteroendocrine cells transmit signals from GIT to the brain via bacterial metabolites, hormones such as serotonin, and vagal afferent fibers (170). Roberts et al. (171) explained the role of the gut microbiome as a dynamic factor in the etiology of Alzheimer's disease by demonstrating metabolites from microbiota in the cerebrospinal fluid of Alzheimer's patients.

Chong et al. (172) did a randomized, double-blind, and placebo-controlled multicenter trial on 63 healthy elders over 65 years to study the effects of 12 weeks of probiotics on cognitive functions and mood. They demonstrated that probiotics promote mental flexibility and relieve stress in healthy older adults. This can encourage probiotic use in a healthy diet in adults.

Probiotics supply billions of beneficial bacteria directly and are derived from fermented food. Prebiotics are mainly fibers derived from vegetables, fruits, and cereals. They help the growth and multiplication of beneficial bacteria. Synbiotics are combinations of probiotics and prebiotics. These act by producing neurotransmitters such as gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA), dopamine, acetylcholine, serotonin, and neurochemicals such as BDNF. All these modulate cognition and mood (173).

In addition, intestinal dysbiosis causes inflammation via the

microbiota-gut-brain axis. Five studies with an aggregated sample of 297 individuals (174) showed that probiotics benefit cognitive function in Alzheimer's disease and mild cognitive impairment subjects by decreasing inflammatory and oxidative markers.

Li et al. (175) clarified that probiotics, prebiotics, and synbiotics are very beneficial therapeutically in improving cognitive function and behavioral and psychological symptoms in patients with dementia.

3.8. Antioxidants

Although oxidative stress is critical in the pathogenesis of many cognitive diseases, some studies revealed that antioxidant therapy is clinically ineffective in these disorders.

Certain precautions are required to be effective clinically. Firstly, dose adjustment is required. Higher doses of antioxidants may be harmful (176). Secondly, some antioxidants have low solubility and absorption with rapid metabolism, so they require new delivery systems. Thirdly, advanced delayed damage cannot be reversed by antioxidants (177); thus, they should be given at earlier stages of the disease.

3.9. Herbs

Lavender

Aromatherapy is a method based on plant-derived essential oils. In 39 elders, a week's daily smell of lavender oil improved cognition and sleep disorders (178). Rafii et al. (179) showed the anxiolytic and sleep-promoting effects in burn patients with lavender and chamomile oil during massage.

Lavender (Lavandula angustifolia) essential oil (EO) is used in emotional disorders and consists primarily of linalool and linalyl acetate (180) and belongs to Lamiaceae's family (181). Linalool is a monoterpene with antioxidant, antiinflammatory, and anti-convulsant activities, protects neurons from toxicity, and attenuates cognitive and affective disorders in the transgenic model of AD (182)

The anxiolytic action of lavender essential oil depends on its serotonin and glutamate-like characteristics (180) involved in the mechanisms for anxiety, learning, and reconsolidation of memory (183). However, lavender, coriander, and linalool's neuroprotective effects against A β - induced neurotoxicity in vitro cellular models are still unknown (7).

Coelho et al.'s (184) study demonstrated the inhibitory effect of vaporized lavender on the conditioned contextual fear memory without affecting the consolidation of tone fear memory, indicating lavender's potential use to manipulate the cognitive aspect of anxiety. Although memory updating depends on reconsolidation, the former process is a consequence of the latter, and the inhibition of memory updating does not necessarily imply impairment of the primary memory (185).

On the other hand, lavender oil reduces daytime sleepiness by improving sleep quality, thus improving mental functions (186), as shown in EEG changes in response to its antianxiety action (181). The Power Spectral Density of alpha and theta waves in EEG showed an increase in response to lavender inhalation, thus is associated with mood enhancement and calming effect (181, 187).

Chamomile

Chamomile is a common anxiolytic, sleep-inducing herb (188). Chang and Chen (189) studied the chamomile effect in postnatal women and showed that consumption of chamomile tea attenuated depression and sleep problems. However, these effects were noticed only for two weeks. On the other hand, Moss et al. (190) demonstrated that chamomile aroma impaired alertness and cognitive performance.

Ginseng

Ginseng has a therapeutic effect on improving cognitive function as learning and memory in neuroinflammatory diseases such as cerebral ischemia, stroke, traumatic brain injury, Parkinsonism, and Alzheimer's disease. It has antiinflammatory and regenerative effects and improves cell-cell communication via the induction of neurogenesis and angiogenesis (191).

Curcumin

Preparations of curcumin with high bioavailability improve working cognitive function, memory, learning, and mood in healthy older individuals (192). Clinical results of Katherine et al. (193) showed improvement in hippocampal function, suggesting relief of cognitive decline in some populations.

Multiple systemic and central mechanisms are involved via various nutrients, including flavonoids (194).

3.10. Behavioral therapy

Cognitive Behavioral Therapy for insomnia (CBT-i) improved multiple aspects of sleep, like sleep latency, efficiency, and insomnia severity (195, 196).

Sweetman et al.'s (197) trial included 145 participants treated for six months and compared the clinical data (symptoms, signs, investigations, outcome) using Continuous Positive Airway Pressure (CPAP)-which is considered a treatment for sleep apnea- with or without Cognitive and Behavioral Therapy for insomnia (CBT-i) before initiating CPAP treatment. They showed better compliance with CPAP use in the CBT-i group and developed attenuated global insomnia, cognitive enhancement, and a positive effect on sleep impairment six months later.

Despite the supportive data on the benefits of CBT on sleep disorders, the effect on metacognition and cognition is still unclear; meta-cognition and cognition decrease in Meta-Cognitive Therapy (MCT) and Cognitive-Behavioral Therapy (CBT). Specifically, in a study on 74 patients, meta-cognition was more affected in MCT than CBT, but cognition did not show marked alternation (198).

3.11. Meditation

Yoga promotes the mind and self-regulation's meta-cognitive capacity, such as potentiating attention and memory, improving cognitive functioning scores, and sensory awareness. In mild cognitive impairment, patients who received the mindfulness-based stress reduction program showed better neuronal circuits of the cingulate cortex, medial prefrontal cortex, and left hippocampus (199).

Aging is linked with neural structure, function, and cognitive performance; they naturally decline over time. The study by Gard et al. (200) found that Yoga and meditation decreased the fall-off rate for fluid intelligence.

Afonso et al. (201) revealed that 21 elderly women yoga practitioners showed a significantly greater Cortical Thickness (CT) in a left prefrontal lobe cluster. The brain's Default Mode Network (DMN) has three operational modules: two occipital-parietal-temporal subnets and one frontal subnet. Moreover, Fingelkurts et al. (202) showed an enhancement of the frontal DMN module via body scan with repeated yoga meditation, focus on breath, and mantra repetition.

Gard et al. (200) stated that Yoga improved memory, concentration, attention, speed, and accuracy in math computations with less emotional lability, excitability, and aggressiveness. Furthermore, Yoga increased students' self-compassion, emotion regulation skills, and non-judgmental self-reflection. Additionally, Pozuelos et al. (203) showed that a relatively short mindfulness practice period significantly changed brain dynamics related to the internal monitoring of response conflicts and errors.

Furthermore, Xiao et al. (204) showed that 121 perimenopausal women involved in meditation training showed significant improvement in their scores on the Self-Rating Anxiety Scale (SAS) and Pittsburgh Sleep Questionnaire (PSQ). Varghese et al. (205) studied meditation's effect on patients with Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus (T2DM) and revealed a significant improvement in the PSQ score, sleep quality, duration, and function during daytime activities.

Another study on the impacts of Integrated Yoga (IY) Intervention on Sleep Quality among professional caregivers of older adults with AD showed significant sleep quality improvement after one month than baseline (206).

3.12. Acupuncture

Acupuncture is considered complementary medicine, usually used as an additional treatment. It has been reported to improve performance in several tests (Insomnia Severity Index, Sleep Efficiency, Total Sleep Time) (207) and the Hamilton Depression Scale (HAMD) (208).

Acupuncture also improved persistent sleep disturbance in mild Traumatic Brain Injury (mTBI) and Posttraumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD) (209) and reduced insomnia after stroke (210). Wang et al. (211) studied the effect of acupuncture with nimodipine versus nimodipine alone and presented the best scores in the Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA) score in the acupuncture and the drug combination compared to acupuncture or drug alone.

Moreover, electro-acupuncture and body acupuncture combined with cognitive function training increased patients' Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE) scores compared to the cognitive function training alone (212). Patients had better scores in the Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE) and Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA) compared to western medications (213).

The present review presented the common cause and comorbidities associated with sleep, cognition, and metacognition dysfunction. Some of these conditions are initiated by affecting either sleep or cognitive functions; others simultaneously hit both domains (sleep and cognition). Primary therapeutic tools to restore sleep and cognitive function have been presented as investigated by previous studies. We recommend further clinical and experimental studies to clarify more data on the missing parts of the molecular mechanism of action for some of the presented drugs and procedures, to evaluate the combination of these factors to assess if there is any synergistic effect, and to check these factors concerning broader and diverse populations (age or sexbased).

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no conflicts of interest.

Funding

None to declare.

Acknowledgments

None to declare.

Authors' contributions

Concept: S.N.A., Design: S.N.A., Data Collection or Processing: A.S.K., A.Y.A., H.M.A., K.A.A., O.A.A., Y.J.A., Analysis or Interpretation: A.S.K., A.Y.A., H.M.A., K.A.A., O.A.A., Y.J.A., Literature Search: A.S.K., A.Y.A., H.M.A., K.A.A., O.A.A., Y.J.A., Writing: S.N.A., A.S.K., A.Y.A., H.M.A., K.A.A., O.A.A., Y.J.A., A.S.A.S.

References

- Archer SN, Oster H. How sleep and wakefulness influence circadian rhythmicity: effects of insufficient and mistimed sleep on the animal and human transcriptome. J Sleep Res [Internet]. 2015 Oct 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];24(5):476–93. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26059855/
- Aidman E, Jackson SA, Kleitman S. Effects of sleep deprivation on executive functioning, cognitive abilities, metacognitive confidence, and decision making. Appl Cogn Psychol [Internet]. 2019 Mar 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];33(2):188–200. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1002/acp.3463
- **3.** Erwin J. The Effects of Sleep Quality on Theory of Mind. [cited 2022 Oct 12]; Available from: https://digitalcommons.butler.edu/ugtheses/334
- 4. Oudiette D, Antony JW, Creery JD, Paller KA. The Role of

Memory Reactivation during Wakefulness and Sleep in Determining Which Memories Endure. J Neurosci [Internet]. 2013 Apr 4 [cited 2022 Oct 12];33(15):6672. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC3677604/

- Feld GB, Besedovsky L, Kaida K, Münte TF, Born J. Dopamine D2-like receptor activation wipes out preferential consolidation of high over low reward memories during human sleep. J Cogn Neurosci [Internet]. 2014 Oct 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];26(10):2310–20. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/24669794/
- Van Someren EJW, Cirelli C, Dijk DJ, Van Cauter E, Schwartz S, Chee MWL. Disrupted Sleep: From Molecules to Cognition. J Neurosci [Internet]. 2015 Oct 10 [cited 2022 Oct 12];35(41):13889. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC4604227/
- Caputo L, Piccialli I, Ciccone R, de Caprariis P, Massa A, De Feo V, et al. Lavender and coriander essential oils and their main component linalool exert a protective effect against amyloid-β neurotoxicity. Phytother Res [Internet]. 2021 Jan 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];35(1):486–93. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32785956/
- Manganiello-Terra FA, Correa-Netto NF, Masukawa MY, Ruzzi A, Linardi A, Santos-Junior JG. Inhaled Lavandula angustifolia essential oil enhances extinction learning and inhibits memory updating in mice submitted to the contextual fear conditioning. J Ethnopharmacol [Internet]. 2020 Jun 7 [cited 2022 Oct 12];260:113048–113048. Available from: https://europepmc.org/article/med/32525067
- 9. Dijk DJ, Czeisler CA. Contribution of the circadian pacemaker and the sleep homeostat to sleep propensity, sleep structure, electroencephalographic slow waves, and sleep spindle activity in humans. J Neurosci [Internet]. 1995 [cited 2022 Oct 14];15(5 Pt 1):3526–38. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/7751928/
- Tononi G, Cirelli C. Sleep and the price of plasticity: from synaptic and cellular homeostasis to memory consolidation and integration. Neuron [Internet]. 2014 Jan 8 [cited 2022 Oct 12];81(1):12–34. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/24411729/
- Palagini L, Mauri M, Dell'Osso L, Riemann D, Drake CL. Traitand pre-sleep-state-dependent arousal in insomnia disorders: what role may sleep reactivity and sleep-related metacognitions play? A pilot study. Sleep Med [Internet]. 2016 Sep 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];25:42–8. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27823715/
- 12. Wright KP, McHill AW, Birks BR, Griffin BR, Rusterholz T, Chinoy ED. Entrainment of the human circadian clock to the natural light-dark cycle. Curr Biol [Internet]. 2013 Aug 19 [cited 2022 Oct 12];23(16):1554–8. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/23910656/
- Elder GJ, Wetherell MA, Barclay NL, Ellis JG. The cortisol awakening response--applications and implications for sleep medicine. Sleep Med Rev [Internet]. 2014 [cited 2022 Oct 12];18(3):215–24. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/23835138/
- Blackwell T, Yaffe K, Ancoli-Israel S, Redline S, Ensrud KE, Stefanick ML, et al. Association of sleep characteristics and cognition in older community-dwelling men: the MrOS sleep study. Sleep [Internet]. 2011 Oct 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];34(10):1347–56. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/21966066/
- **15.** Lim ASP, Yu L, Costa MD, Leurgans SE, Buchman AS, Bennett DA, et al. Increased fragmentation of rest-activity patterns is associated with a characteristic pattern of cognitive impairment in older individuals. Sleep [Internet]. 2012 May 1 [cited 2022

Oct 12];35(5):633–40. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/22547889/

- 16. Luik AI, Zuurbier LA, Direk N, Hofman A, Van Someren EJW, Tiemeier H. 24-HOUR ACTIVITY RHYTHM AND SLEEP DISTURBANCES IN DEPRESSION AND ANXIETY: A POPULATION-BASED STUDY OF MIDDLE-AGED AND OLDER PERSONS. Depress Anxiety [Internet]. 2015 Sep 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];32(9):684–92. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25693731/
- 17. Qiu L, Su J, Ni Y, Bai Y, Zhang X, Li X, et al. The neural system of metacognition accompanying decision-making in the prefrontal cortex. PLoS Biol [Internet]. 2018 Apr 23 [cited 2022 Oct 14];16(4). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29684004/
- Jacobs JE, Paris SG. Children's Metacognition About Reading: issues in Definition, Measurement, and Instruction. https://doi.org/101080/0046152019879653052 [Internet]. 2011 [cited 2022 Oct 12];22(3–4):255–78. Available from: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/00461520.1987. 9653052
- **19.** Veenman MVJ. The assessment of metacognitive skills: What can be learned from multi-method designs? 2005;
- **20.** Sandi-Urena S, Cooper MM, Gatlin TA. Graduate teaching assistants' epistemological and metacognitive development. Chem Educ Res Pract [Internet]. 2011 Jan 24 [cited 2022 Oct 14];12(1):92–100. Available from: https://pubs.rsc.org/en/content/articlehtml/2011/rp/c1rp90012a
- **21.** Baranski J V. Fatigue, sleep loss, and confidence in judgment. J Exp Psychol Appl [Internet]. 2007 Dec [cited 2022 Oct 12];13(4):182–96. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/18194046/
- 22. Wu IHC, Nguyen N, Balachandran DD, Lu Q, McNeill LH. Sleep and obesity: the mediating role of health behaviors among African Americans. Sleep Heal [Internet]. 2019 Apr 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];5(2):193–200. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30928121/
- Ding C, Lim LL, Xu L, Kong APS. Sleep and Obesity. J Obes Metab Syndr [Internet]. 2018 [cited 2022 Oct 12];27(1):4–24. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31089536/
- 24. González-Ortiz A, López-Bautista F, Valencia-Flores M, Espinosa-Cuevas Á. Partial sleep deprivation on dietary energy intake in healthy population: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Nutr Hosp [Internet]. 2020 Sep 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];37(5):1052–60. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32960623/
- Nedeltcheva A V., Scheer FAJL. Metabolic effects of sleep disruption, links to obesity and diabetes. Curr Opin Endocrinol Diabetes Obes [Internet]. 2014 [cited 2022 Oct 12];21(4):293– 8. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/24937041/
- 26. Cooper MJ, Grocutt E, Deepak K, Bailey E. Metacognition in anorexia nervosa, dieting and non-dieting controls: a preliminary investigation. Br J Clin Psychol [Internet]. 2007 Mar [cited 2022 Oct 14];46(Pt 1):113–7. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/17472205/
- 27. Zhu Y, Fenik P, Zhan G, Xin R, Veasey SC. Degeneration in Arousal Neurons in Chronic Sleep Disruption Modeling Sleep Apnea. Front Neurol [Internet]. 2015 [cited 2022 Oct 12];6(MAY). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26074865/
- **28.** Hnin K, Mukherjee S, Antic NA, Catcheside P, Chai-Coetzer CL, McEvoy D, et al. The impact of ethnicity on the prevalence and severity of obstructive sleep apnea. Sleep Med Rev

[Internet]. 2018 Oct 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];41:78–86. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30149931/

- **29.** Goel N, Basner M, Rao H, Dinges DF. Circadian rhythms, sleep deprivation, and human performance. Prog Mol Biol Transl Sci [Internet]. 2013 [cited 2022 Oct 12];119:155–90. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/23899598/
- **30.** Kwon KJ, Lee EJ, Kim MK, Jeon SJ, Choi YY, Shin CY, et al. The potential role of melatonin on sleep deprivationinduced cognitive impairments: implication of FMRP on cognitive function. Neuroscience [Internet]. 2015 Aug 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];301:403–14. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26047724/
- Diekelmann S, Born J. The memory function of sleep. Nat Rev Neurosci [Internet]. 2010 Feb [cited 2022 Oct 12];11(2):114–26. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/20046194/
- **32.** Abel T, Havekes R, Saletin JM, Walker MP. Sleep, plasticity and memory from molecules to whole-brain networks. Curr Biol [Internet]. 2013 Sep 9 [cited 2022 Oct 12];23(17). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/24028961/
- 33. Okereke OI, Rosner BA, Kim DH, Kang JH, Cook NR, Manson JE, et al. Dietary fat types and 4-year cognitive change in community-dwelling older women. Ann Neurol [Internet]. 2012 Jul [cited 2022 Oct 12];72(1):124–34. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/22605573/
- 34. Swerdlow RH, Burns JM, Khan SM. The Alzheimer's disease mitochondrial cascade hypothesis: progress and perspectives. Biochim Biophys Acta [Internet]. 2014 [cited 2022 Oct 12];1842(8):1219–31. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/24071439/
- **35.** Akataobi US. Effect of monosodium glutamate (MSG) on behavior, body and brain weights of exposed rats. Environ Dis [Internet]. 2020 [cited 2022 Oct 12];5(1):3. Available from: http://www.environmentmed.org/article.asp?issn=2468-5690;year=2020;volume=5;issue=1;spage=3;epage=8;aulast=A kataobi
- 36. Onaolapo AY, Odetunde I, Akintola AS, Ogundeji MO, Ajao A, Obelawo AY, et al. Dietary composition modulates impact of food-added monosodium glutamate on behaviour, metabolic status and cerebral cortical morphology in mice. Biomed Pharmacother [Internet]. 2019 Jan 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];109:417–28. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30399577/
- **37.** Smith QR. Transport of glutamate and other amino acids at the blood-brain barrier. J Nutr [Internet]. 2000 [cited 2022 Oct 12];130(4S Suppl). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/10736373/
- Holton KF, Hargrave SL, Davidson TL. Differential Effects of Dietary MSG on Hippocampal Dependent Memory Are Mediated by Diet. Front Neurosci [Internet]. 2019 Sep 12 [cited 2022 Oct 12];13. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31572118/
- 39. Tsurugizawa T, Kondoh T, Torii K. Forebrain activation induced by postoral nutritive substances in rats. Neuroreport [Internet]. 2008 Jul 16 [cited 2022 Oct 12];19(11):1111–5. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/18596610/
- 40. Datta K, Kumar D, Mallick HN. Intragastric administration of glutamate increases REM sleep in rats. Physiol Behav [Internet]. 2013 Oct 2 [cited 2022 Oct 12];122:178–81. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/24055576/
- **41.** Mustafa Z, Ashraf S, Tauheed SF, Ali S. Monosodium Glutamate, Commercial Production, Positive and Negative Effects on Human Body and Remedies A Review. undefined.

2017;

- 42. Onaolapo AY, Onaolapo OJ. Glutamate and depression: Reflecting a deepening knowledge of the gut and brain effects of a ubiquitous molecule. World J Psychiatry [Internet]. 2021 Jul 7 [cited 2022 Oct 12];11(7):297. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC8311508/
- **43.** Kazmi Z, Fatima I, Perveen S, Malik SS. Monosodium glutamate: Review on clinical reports. https://doi.org/101080/1094291220171295260 [Internet]. 2017 Dec 29 [cited 2022 Oct 12];20:1807–15. Available from: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/10942912.2017. 1295260
- 44. Dief AE, Kamha ES, Baraka AM, Elshorbagy AK. Monosodium glutamate neurotoxicity increases beta amyloid in the rat hippocampus: a potential role for cyclic AMP protein kinase. Neurotoxicology [Internet]. 2014 [cited 2022 Oct 12];42:76–82. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/24769037/
- 45. Suganya K, Koo BS. Gut-Brain Axis: Role of Gut Microbiota on Neurological Disorders and How Probiotics/Prebiotics Beneficially Modulate Microbial and Immune Pathways to Improve Brain Functions. Int J Mol Sci [Internet]. 2020 Oct 2 [cited 2022 Oct 12];21(20):1–29. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33066156/
- 46. Julio-Pieper M, Bravo JA, Aliaga E, Gotteland M. Review article: intestinal barrier dysfunction and central nervous system disorders--a controversial association. Aliment Pharmacol Ther [Internet]. 2014 Nov 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];40(10):1187–201. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25262969/
- 47. Furman R, Murray IVJ, Schall HE, Liu Q, Ghiwot Y, Axelsen PH. Amyloid Plaque-Associated Oxidative Degradation of Uniformly Radiolabeled Arachidonic Acid. ACS Chem Neurosci [Internet]. 2016 Mar 16 [cited 2022 Oct 12];7(3):367–77. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26800372/
- Obrenovich MEM. Leaky Gut, Leaky Brain? Microorg 2018, Vol 6, Page 107 [Internet]. 2018 Oct 18 [cited 2022 Oct 12];6(4):107. Available from: https://www.mdpi.com/2076-2607/6/4/107/htm
- 49. Tan BL, Norhaizan ME. Effect of High-Fat Diets on Oxidative Stress, Cellular Inflammatory Response and Cognitive Function. Nutrients [Internet]. 2019 [cited 2022 Oct 12];11(11). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31731503/
- 50. Bjørklund G, Hilt B, Dadar M, Lindh U, Aaseth J. Neurotoxic effects of mercury exposure in dental personnel. Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol [Internet]. 2019 May 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];124(5):568–74. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30589214/
- 51. Teixeira FB, Fernandes RM, Farias-Junior PMA, Costa NMM, Fernandes LMP, Santana LNS, et al. Evaluation of the Effects of Chronic Intoxication with Inorganic Mercury on Memory and Motor Control in Rats. Int J Environ Res Public Health [Internet]. 2014 Sep 5 [cited 2022 Oct 12];11(9):9171. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC4199013/
- **52.** Parmalee NL, Aschner M. Metals and Circadian Rhythms. Adv Neurotoxicology [Internet]. 2017 Jan 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];1:119–30. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC6361389/
- **53.** Siblerud R, Mutter J, Moore E, Naumann J, Walach H. A Hypothesis and Evidence That Mercury May be an Etiological Factor in Alzheimer's Disease. Int J Environ Res Public Health [Internet]. 2019 Dec 2 [cited 2022 Oct 12];16(24):5152. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC6950077/
- 54. Bogomir A, Kobal D. Elemental Mercury Exposure and Sleep

Disorder. Sleep Disord [Internet]. 2012 Mar 14 [cited 2022 Oct 12]; Available from: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/221928533_Elementa 1_Mercury_Exposure_and_Sleep_Disorder

- 55. Štrac DŠ, Pivac N, Mück-Šeler D. The serotonergic system and cognitive function. Transl Neurosci [Internet]. 2016 Jan 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];7(1):35–49. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28123820/
- 56. Mello-Carpes PB, Barros W, Borges S, Alves N, Rizzetti D, Peçanha FM, et al. Chronic exposure to low mercury chloride concentration induces object recognition and aversive memories deficits in rats. Int J Dev Neurosci [Internet]. 2013 [cited 2022 Oct 12];31(7):468–72. Available from: https://www.academia.edu/3993208/Chronic_exposure_to_low _mercury_chloride_concentration_induces_object_recognition _and_aversive_memories_deficits_in_rats
- 57. Bose-O'Reilly S, McCarty KM, Steckling N, Lettmeier B. Mercury exposure and children's health. Curr Probl Pediatr Adolesc Health Care [Internet]. 2010 [cited 2022 Oct 12];40(8):186–215. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/20816346/
- **58.** Sakamoto M, Itai T, Murata K. [Effects of Prenatal Methylmercury Exposure: From Minamata Disease to Environmental Health Studies]. Nihon Eiseigaku Zasshi [Internet]. 2017 [cited 2022 Oct 12];72(3):140–8. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28931792/
- **59.** Kern JK, Geier DA, Sykes LK, Haley BE, Geier MR. The relationship between mercury and autism: A comprehensive review and discussion. J Trace Elem Med Biol [Internet]. 2016 Sep 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];37:8–24. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27473827/
- 60. Anderson DW, Mettil W, Schneider JS. Effects of low level lead exposure on associative learning and memory in the rat: Influences of sex and developmental timing of exposure. Toxicol Lett [Internet]. 2016 Mar 30 [cited 2022 Oct 12];246:57–64. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26812500/
- 61. Mohammadyan M, Moosazadeh M, Borji A, Khanjani N, Rahimi Moghadam S. Exposure to lead and its effect on sleep quality and digestive problems in soldering workers. Environ Monit Assess [Internet]. 2019 Mar 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];191(3). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30805730/
- Kalinchuk A V., McCarley RW, Porkka-Heiskanen T, Basheer R. Sleep deprivation triggers inducible nitric oxide-dependent nitric oxide production in wake-active basal forebrain neurons. J Neurosci [Internet]. 2010 Oct 6 [cited 2022 Oct 12];30(40):13254–64. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/20926651/
- 63. Nava-Ruiz C, Méndez-Armenta M, Ríos C. Lead neurotoxicity: effects on brain nitric oxide synthase. J Mol Histol [Internet]. 2012 Oct [cited 2022 Oct 12];43(5):553–63. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/22526509/
- **64.** Sanders T, Liu Y, Buchner V, Tchounwou PB. Neurotoxic Effects and Biomarkers of Lead Exposure: A Review. Rev Environ Health [Internet]. 2009 [cited 2022 Oct 12];24(1):15. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC2858639/
- **65.** Allen M, Glen JC, Müllensiefen D, Schwarzkopf DS, Fardo F, Frank D, et al. Metacognitive ability correlates with hippocampal and prefrontal microstructure. Neuroimage [Internet]. 2017 Apr 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];149:415–23. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28179164/
- **66.** Rocha A, Trujillo KA. Neurotoxicity of low-level lead exposure: History, mechanisms of action, and behavioral effects in humans

and preclinical models. Neurotoxicology [Internet]. 2019 Jul 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];73:58–80. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30836127/

- 67. Daneshparvar M, Mostafavi SA, Jeddi MZ, Yunesian M, Mesdaghinia A, Mahvi AH, et al. The Role of Lead Exposure on Attention-Deficit/ Hyperactivity Disorder in Children: A Systematic Review. Iran J Psychiatry [Internet]. 2016 [cited 2022 Oct 12];11(1):1–14. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27252763/
- 68. McGowan NM, Coogan AN. Sleep and circadian rhythm function and trait impulsivity: An actigraphy study. Psychiatry Res [Internet]. 2018 Oct 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];268:251–6. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30071388/
- 69. Gkika S, Wittkowski A, Wells A. Social cognition and metacognition in social anxiety: A systematic review. Clin Psychol Psychother [Internet]. 2018 Jan 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];25(1):10–30. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28836318/
- 70. McEvoy PM. Metacognitive Therapy for Anxiety Disorders: a Review of Recent Advances and Future Research Directions. Curr Psychiatry Rep [Internet]. 2019 May 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];21(5). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30880368/
- Lønfeldt NN, Silverman WK, Esbjørn BH. A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis of the Association Between Third-Wave Cognitive Constructs and Youth Anxiety. https://doi.org/101521/ijct2017102115 [Internet]. 2017 Jun 6 [cited 2022 Oct 12];10(2):115–37. Available from: https://guilfordjournals.com/doi/10.1521/ijct.2017.10.2.115
- 72. Sun X, So SH, Chan RCK, Chiu C De, Leung PWL. Worry and metacognitions as predictors of the development of anxiety and paranoia. Sci Rep [Internet]. 2019 Dec 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];9(1). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31605005/
- 73. Anderson R, Capobianco L, Fisher P, Reeves D, Heal C, Faija CL, et al. Testing relationships between metacognitive beliefs, anxiety and depression in cardiac and cancer patients: Are they transdiagnostic? J Psychosom Res [Internet]. 2019 Sep 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];124. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31443817/
- 74. Purewal R, Fisher PL. The contribution of illness perceptions and metacognitive beliefs to anxiety and depression in adults with diabetes. Diabetes Res Clin Pract [Internet]. 2018 Feb 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];136:16–22. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29203257/
- 75. Pires GN, Bezerra AG, Tufik S, Andersen ML. Effects of acute sleep deprivation on state anxiety levels: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Sleep Med [Internet]. 2016 Aug 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];24:109–18. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27810176/
- 76. Brown WJ, Wilkerson AK, Boyd SJ, Dewey D, Mesa F, Bunnell BE. A review of sleep disturbance in children and adolescents with anxiety. J Sleep Res [Internet]. 2018 Jun 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];27(3). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29193443/
- 77. Gould CE, Spira AP, Liou-Johnson V, Cassidy-Eagle E, Kawai M, Mashal N, et al. Association of Anxiety Symptom Clusters with Sleep Quality and Daytime Sleepiness. J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci [Internet]. 2018 Mar 2 [cited 2022 Oct 12];73(3):413–20. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28379498/
- **78.** Nadorff MR, Porter B, Rhoades HM, Greisinger AJ, Kunik ME, Stanley MA. Bad Dream Frequency in Older Adults with

Generalized Anxiety Disorder: Prevalence, Correlates, and Effect of Cognitive Behavioral Treatment for Anxiety. Behav Sleep Med [Internet]. 2014 Jan 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];12(1):28–40. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC3690155/

- 79. Short MA, Weber N. Sleep duration and risk-taking in adolescents: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Sleep Med Rev [Internet]. 2018 Oct 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];41:185–96. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29934128/
- Benard V, Etain B, Vaiva G, Boudebesse C, Yeim S, Benizri C, et al. Sleep and circadian rhythms as possible trait markers of suicide attempt in bipolar disorders: An actigraphy study. J Affect Disord [Internet]. 2019 Feb 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];244:1– 8. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30290235/
- **81.** Davis TE, Moree BN, Dempsey T, Hess JA, Jenkins WS, Fodstad JC, et al. The Effect of Communication Deficits on Anxiety Symptoms in Infants and Toddlers With Autism Spectrum Disorders. Behav Ther. 2012 Mar;43(1):142–52.
- 82. Grainger C, Williams DM, Lind SE. Metacognition, metamemory, and mindreading in high-functioning adults with autism spectrum disorder. J Abnorm Psychol [Internet]. 2014 [cited 2022 Oct 12];123(3):650–9. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/24955572/
- **83.** Griffin C, Lombardo M V., Auyeung B. Alexithymia in children with and without autism spectrum disorders. Autism Res [Internet]. 2016 Jul 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];9(7):773–80. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26426084/
- **84.** O'Brien G, Pearson J. Autism and learning disability. Autism [Internet]. 2004 Jun [cited 2022 Oct 12];8(2):125–40. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/15165430/
- **85.** Vivanti G, Rogers SJ. Autism and the mirror neuron system: insights from learning and teaching. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci [Internet]. 2014 Jun 5 [cited 2022 Oct 12];369(1644). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/24778379/
- 86. Broekhof E, Ketelaar L, Stockmann L, van Zijp A, Bos MGN, Rieffe C. The Understanding of Intentions, Desires and Beliefs in Young Children with Autism Spectrum Disorder. J Autism Dev Disord [Internet]. 2015 Jul 19 [cited 2022 Oct 12];45(7):2035–45. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25636676/
- 87. Spengler S, Bird G, Brass M. Hyperimitation of actions is related to reduced understanding of others' minds in autism spectrum conditions. Biol Psychiatry [Internet]. 2010 Dec 15 [cited 2022 Oct 12];68(12):1148–55. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/21130224/
- 88. Ballester P, Martínez MJ, Javaloyes A, Inda M del M, Fernández N, Gázquez P, et al. Sleep problems in adults with autism spectrum disorder and intellectual disability. Autism Res [Internet]. 2019 Jan 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];12(1):66–79. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30273974/
- 89. Lugo J, Fadeuilhe C, Gisbert L, Setien I, Delgado M, Corrales M, et al. Sleep in adults with autism spectrum disorder and attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol [Internet]. 2020 Sep 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];38:1–24. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32712061/
- 90. Goldman SE, Alder ML, Burgess HJ, Corbett BA, Hundley R, Wofford D, et al. Characterizing Sleep in Adolescents and Adults with Autism Spectrum Disorders. J Autism Dev Disord [Internet]. 2017 Jun 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];47(6):1682–95. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28286917/
- **91.** Mazurek MO, Sohl K. Sleep and Behavioral Problems in Children with Autism Spectrum Disorder. J Autism Dev Disord

[Internet]. 2016 Jun 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];46(6):1906–15. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26823076/

- **92.** Smith FRH, Gaskell MG, Weighall AR, Warmington M, Reid AM, Henderson LM. Consolidation of vocabulary is associated with sleep in typically developing children, but not in children with dyslexia. Dev Sci [Internet]. 2018 Sep 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];21(5). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29226513/
- 93. Henderson LM, Weighall AR, Brown H, Gaskell MG. Consolidation of vocabulary is associated with sleep in children. Dev Sci [Internet]. 2012 Sep [cited 2022 Oct 12];15(5):674–87. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/22925515/
- 94. Carotenuto M, Esposito M, Cortese S, Laino D, Verrotti A. Children with developmental dyslexia showed greater sleep disturbances than controls, including problems initiating and maintaining sleep. Acta Paediatr [Internet]. 2016 [cited 2022 Oct 12];105(9):1079–82. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27173764/
- **95.** Huang Y, Xu C, He M, Huang W, Wu K. Saliva cortisol, melatonin levels and circadian rhythm alterations in Chinese primary school children with dyslexia. Medicine (Baltimore) [Internet]. 2020 [cited 2022 Oct 14];99(6). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32028434/
- **96.** Atin Agarwal, Dipen Maru. Histologpic Spectrum of Ipilimumab Associated Colitis Is Narrow and Resembles Inflammatory Bowel Disease. Lab Investig [Internet]. 2016 Feb 27 [cited 2022 Feb 13];96(S1):158–212. Available from: http://www.nature.com/articles/labinvest20169
- **97.** Vidal-Estrada R, Bosch-Munso R, Nogueira-Morais M, Casas-Brugue M, Ramos-Quiroga JA. Psychological treatment of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder in adults: a systematic review. Actas Esp Psiquiatr [Internet]. 2012 May 1 [cited 2022 Oct 14];40(3):147–54. Available from: https://europepmc.org/article/med/22723133
- **98.** Fuermaier ABM, Tucha L, Koerts J, Aschenbrenner S, Weisbrod M, Lange KW, et al. Source discrimination in adults with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. PLoS One [Internet]. 2013 May 31 [cited 2022 Oct 12];8(5). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/23741472/
- 99. Gregory AM, Agnew-Blais JC, Matthews T, Moffitt TE, Arseneault L. ADHD and Sleep Quality: Longitudinal Analyses From Childhood to Early Adulthood in a Twin Cohort. J Clin Child Adolesc Psychol [Internet]. 2017 Mar 4 [cited 2022 Oct 12];46(2):284–94. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27485465/
- 100. Cortese S. Sleep and ADHD: what we know and what we do not know. Sleep Med [Internet]. 2015 Jan 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];16(1):5–6. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25468624/
- 101. Sung V, Hiscock H, Sciberras E, Efron D. Sleep problems in children with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: prevalence and the effect on the child and family. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med [Internet]. 2008 Apr [cited 2022 Oct 12];162(4):336–42. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/18391142/
- 102. Shi L, Chen SJ, Ma MY, Bao YP, Han Y, Wang YM, et al. Sleep disturbances increase the risk of dementia: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Sleep Med Rev [Internet]. 2018 Aug 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];40:4–16. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28890168/
- **103.** Lim ASP, Ellison BA, Wang JL, Yu L, Schneider JA, Buchman AS, et al. Sleep is related to neuron numbers in the ventrolateral preoptic/intermediate nucleus in older adults with and without

Alzheimer's disease. Brain [Internet]. 2014 Oct 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];137(Pt 10):2847–61. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25142380/

- 104. Högl B. Circadian Rhythms and Chronotherapeutics-Underappreciated Approach to Improving Sleep and Wakefulness in Parkinson Disease. JAMA Neurol [Internet]. 2017 Apr 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];74(4):387–8. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28241156/
- 105. Tekriwal A, Kern DS, Tsai J, Ince NF, Wu J, Thompson JA, et al. REM sleep behaviour disorder: prodromal and mechanistic insights for Parkinson's disease. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry [Internet]. 2017 May 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];88(5):445–51. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27965397/
- 106. Abbott SM, Videnovic A. Chronic sleep disturbance and neural injury: links to neurodegenerative disease. Nat Sci Sleep [Internet]. 2016 [cited 2022 Oct 12];8:55. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC4734786/
- 107. Musiek ES, Holtzman DM. Mechanisms linking circadian clocks, sleep, and neurodegeneration. Science [Internet]. 2016 Nov 25 [cited 2022 Oct 12];354(6315):1004–8. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27885006/
- 108. Mantovani S, Smith SS, Gordon R, O'Sullivan JD. An overview of sleep and circadian dysfunction in Parkinson's disease. J Sleep Res [Internet]. 2018 Jun 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];27(3). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29493044/
- 109. De Pablo-Fernández E, Breen DP, Bouloux PM, Barker RA, Foltynie T, Warner TT. Neuroendocrine abnormalities in Parkinson's disease. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry [Internet]. 2017 Feb 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];88(2):176–85. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27799297/
- 110. Ngandu T, Lehtisalo J, Solomon A, Levälahti E, Ahtiluoto S, Antikainen R, et al. A 2 year multidomain intervention of diet, exercise, cognitive training, and vascular risk monitoring versus control to prevent cognitive decline in at-risk elderly people (FINGER): a randomised controlled trial. Lancet (London, England) [Internet]. 2015 Jun 6 [cited 2022 Oct 12];385(9984):2255–63. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25771249/
- 111. Buchman AS, Boyle PA, Yu L, Shah RC, Wilson RS, Bennett DA. Total daily physical activity and the risk of AD and cognitive decline in older adults. Neurology [Internet]. 2012 Apr 24 [cited 2022 Oct 12];78(17):1323–9. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/22517108/
- 112. Meeusen R, Watson P, Hasegawa H, Roelands B, Piacentini MF. Central fatigue: the serotonin hypothesis and beyond. Sports Med [Internet]. 2006 [cited 2022 Oct 12];36(10):881–909. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/17004850/
- 113. Yoon BK, Kim JJ, Kwak YS. Effects of Exercise on Sleep Quality and Dementia-related Factors of Dementia Patients. J Life Sci [Internet]. 2019 [cited 2022 Oct 13];29(6):740–6. Available from: https://doi.org/10.5352/JLS.2019.29.6.740
- 114. Oudar P, Caillard L, Fillion G. In vitro effect of organic and inorganic mercury on the serotonergic system. Pharmacol Toxicol [Internet]. 1989 [cited 2022 Oct 12];65(4):245–8. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/2587506/
- 115. Banno M, Harada Y, Taniguchi M, Tobita R, Tsujimoto H, Tsujimoto Y, et al. Exercise can improve sleep quality: a systematic review and meta-analysis. PeerJ [Internet]. 2018 [cited 2022 Oct 12];6(7). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30018855/
- 116. Álvarez-Bueno C, Pesce C, Cavero-Redondo I, Sánchez-López M, Pardo-Guijarro MJ, Martínez-Vizcaíno V. Association of

physical activity with cognition, metacognition and academic performance in children and adolescents: a protocol for systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ Open [Internet]. 2016 Jun 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];6(6). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27354073/

- 117. Tomporowski P, Pendleton DM, McCullick BA. Varieties of learning and developmental theories of memory: Neurophysiological evidence and its relevance for researchers and educators. Phys Act Educ Achiev [Internet]. 2017 Aug 7 [cited 2022 Oct 12];32–62. Available from: https://www.taylorfrancis.com/chapters/edit/10.4324/97813153 05790-3/varieties-learning-developmental-theories-memoryphillip-tomporowski-daniel-pendleton-bryan-mccullick
- 118. Ahn N, Kim K. Effects of 12-week exercise training on osteocalcin, high-sensitivity C-reactive protein concentrations, and insulin resistance in elderly females with osteoporosis. J Phys Ther Sci [Internet]. 2016 Aug 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];28(8):2227–31. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27630402/
- 119. Zhang XW, Hou WS, Li M, Tang ZY. Omega-3 fatty acids and risk of cognitive decline in the elderly: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Aging Clin Exp Res [Internet]. 2016 Feb 1 [cited 2022 Oct 13];28(1):165–6. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26025463/
- 120. Zendedel A, Habib P, Dang J, Lammerding L, Hoffmann S, Beyer C, et al. Omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids ameliorate neuroinflammation and mitigate ischemic stroke damage through interactions with astrocytes and microglia. J Neuroimmunol [Internet]. 2015 Jan 15 [cited 2022 Oct 12];278:200–11. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25468770/
- **121.** Rangel-Huerta OD, Gil A. Effect of omega-3 fatty acids on cognition: an updated systematic review of randomized clinical trials. Nutr Rev [Internet]. 2018 Jan 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];76(1):1–20. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29240924/
- 122. McNamara RK, Asch RH, Lindquist DM, Krikorian R. Role of polyunsaturated fatty acids in human brain structure and function across the lifespan: An update on neuroimaging findings. Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids [Internet]. 2018 Sep 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];136:23–34. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28529008/
- **123.** Montgomery P, Burton JR, Sewell RP, Spreckelsen TF, Richardson AJ. Fatty acids and sleep in UK children: subjective and pilot objective sleep results from the DOLAB study a randomized controlled trial. J Sleep Res [Internet]. 2014 Aug 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];23(4):364–88. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/jsr.12135
- 124. Del Brutto OH, Mera RM, Ha J eun, Gillman J, Zambrano M, Castillo PR. Dietary fish intake and sleep quality: a populationbased study. Sleep Med [Internet]. 2016 [cited 2022 Oct 12];17:126–8. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26847986/
- 125. Komori T. The Effects of Phosphatidylserine and Omega-3 Fatty Acid-Containing Supplement on Late Life Depression. Ment Illn [Internet]. 2015 [cited 2022 Oct 12];7(1):7–11. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26266022/
- 126. Rodenbeck A, Huether G, Rüther E, Hajak G. Interactions between evening and nocturnal cortisol secretion and sleep parameters in patients with severe chronic primary insomnia. Neurosci Lett [Internet]. 2002 May 17 [cited 2022 Oct 12];324(2):159–63. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/11988351/
- 127. Alzoubi KH, Mayyas F, Abu Zamzam HI. Omega-3 fatty acids

protects against chronic sleep-deprivation induced memory impairment. Life Sci [Internet]. 2019 Jun 15 [cited 2022 Oct 12];227:1–7. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30998938/

- 128. Pavlova M. Circadian Rhythm Sleep-Wake Disorders. Continuum (Minneap Minn) [Internet]. 2017 Aug 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];23(4, Sleep Neurology):1051–63. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28777176/
- 129. Micic G, Lovato N, Gradisar M, Burgess HJ, Ferguson SA, Kennaway DJ, et al. Nocturnal Melatonin Profiles in Patients with Delayed Sleep-Wake Phase Disorder and Control Sleepers. J Biol Rhythms [Internet]. 2015 Oct 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];30(5):437–48. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26149168/
- 130. Duffy JF, Czeisler CA. Effect of Light on Human Circadian Physiology. Sleep Med Clin [Internet]. 2009 Jun [cited 2022 Oct 14];4(2):165. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC2717723/
- 131. Geoffroy P, Etain B, Franchi J-A, Bellivier F, Ritter P. Melatonin and Melatonin Agonists as Adjunctive Treatments in Bipolar Disorders. Curr Pharm Des [Internet]. 2015 Aug 4 [cited 2022 Oct 12];21(23):3352–8. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26088111/
- 132. Xie Z, Chen F, Li WA, Geng X, Li C, Meng X, et al. A review of sleep disorders and melatonin. Neurol Res [Internet]. 2017 Jun 3 [cited 2022 Oct 12];39(6):559–65. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28460563/
- 133. Scheer FAJL, Morris CJ, Garcia JI, Smales C, Kelly EE, Marks J, et al. Repeated melatonin supplementation improves sleep in hypertensive patients treated with beta-blockers: a randomized controlled trial. Sleep [Internet]. 2012 Oct 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];35(10):1395–402. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/23024438/
- 134. Chang Y Sen, Lin MH, Lee JH, Lee PL, Dai YS, Chu KH, et al. Melatonin Supplementation for Children With Atopic Dermatitis and Sleep Disturbance: A Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA Pediatr [Internet]. 2016 Jan 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];170(1):35–42. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26569624/
- 135. Kaminski RSR, Martinez D, Fagundes M, Martins EF, Montanari CC, Rosa DP, et al. Melatonin prevents hyperglycemia in a model of sleep apnea. Arch Endocrinol Metab [Internet]. 2015 [cited 2022 Oct 12];59(1):66–70. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25926117/
- 136. Yeung HM, Hung MW, Lau CF, Fung ML. Cardioprotective effects of melatonin against myocardial injuries induced by chronic intermittent hypoxia in rats. J Pineal Res [Internet]. 2015 [cited 2022 Oct 12];58(1):12–25. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25369321/
- 137. Gumenyuk V, Belcher R, Drake CL, Roth T. Differential sleep, sleepiness, and neurophysiology in the insomnia phenotypes of shift work disorder. Sleep [Internet]. 2015 Jan 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];38(1):119–26. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25325466/
- **138.** Strasser B, Gostner JM, Fuchs D. Mood, food, and cognition: role of tryptophan and serotonin. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care [Internet]. 2016 Jan 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];19(1):55–61. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26560523/
- 139. Stone TW, Darlington LG. The kynurenine pathway as a therapeutic target in cognitive and neurodegenerative disorders. Br J Pharmacol [Internet]. 2013 Jul [cited 2022 Oct 12];169(6):1211–27. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/23647169/

- 140. Patrick RP, Ames BN. Vitamin D hormone regulates serotonin synthesis. Part 1: relevance for autism. FASEB J [Internet]. 2014 [cited 2022 Oct 12];28(6):2398–413. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/24558199/
- 141. Capuron L, Schroecksnadel S, Féart C, Aubert A, Higueret D, Barberger-Gateau P, et al. Chronic low-grade inflammation in elderly persons is associated with altered tryptophan and tyrosine metabolism: role in neuropsychiatric symptoms. Biol Psychiatry [Internet]. 2011 Jul 15 [cited 2022 Oct 12];70(2):175–82. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/21277567/
- 142. Karu N, McKercher C, Nichols DS, Davies N, Shellie RA, Hilder EF, et al. Tryptophan metabolism, its relation to inflammation and stress markers and association with psychological and cognitive functioning: Tasmanian Chronic Kidney Disease pilot study. BMC Nephrol [Internet]. 2016 Nov 10 [cited 2022 Oct 12];17(1):1–13. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27832762/
- 143. Murr C, Grammer TB, Kleber ME, Meinitzer A, März W, Fuchs D. Low serum tryptophan predicts higher mortality in cardiovascular disease. Eur J Clin Invest [Internet]. 2015 Mar 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];45(3):247–54. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25586781/
- 144. Seligman F, Nemeroff CB. The interface of depression and cardiovascular disease: therapeutic implications. Ann N Y Acad Sci [Internet]. 2015 [cited 2022 Oct 12];1345(1):25–35. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25809518/
- 145. Werner ER, Blau N, Thöny B. Tetrahydrobiopterin: biochemistry and pathophysiology. Biochem J [Internet]. 2011 Sep 15 [cited 2022 Oct 12];438(3):397–414. Available from: /biochemj/article/438/3/397/45633/Tetrahydrobiopterinbiochemistry-and
- 146. Cunnington C, Van Assche T, Shirodaria C, Kylintireas I, Lindsay AC, Lee JM, et al. Systemic and vascular oxidation limits the efficacy of oral tetrahydrobiopterin treatment in patients with coronary artery disease. Circulation [Internet]. 2012 Mar 20 [cited 2022 Oct 12];125(11):1356–66. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/22315282/
- 147. Gostner JM, Becker K, Ueberall F, Fuchs D. The good and bad of antioxidant foods: An immunological perspective. Food Chem Toxicol [Internet]. 2015 Jun 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];80:72– 9. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25698357/
- 148. Richard DM, Dawes MA, Mathias CW, Acheson A, Hill-Kapturczak N, Dougherty DM. L-Tryptophan: Basic Metabolic Functions, Behavioral Research and Therapeutic Indications. Int J Tryptophan Res [Internet]. 2009 [cited 2022 Oct 12];2(1):45. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC2908021/
- 149. Vogiatzoglou A, David Smith A, Nurk E, Drevon CA, Ueland PM, Vollset SE, et al. Cognitive function in an elderly population: interaction between vitamin B12 status, depression, and apolipoprotein E ε4: the Hordaland Homocysteine Study. Psychosom Med [Internet]. 2013 [cited 2022 Oct 12];75(1):20–9. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/23213264/
- 150. Rosenblat JD, Kakar R, McIntyre RS. The Cognitive Effects of Antidepressants in Major Depressive Disorder: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Randomized Clinical Trials. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol [Internet]. 2015 Jul 25 [cited 2022 Oct 12];19(2). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26209859/
- 151. Capuron L, Geisler S, Kurz K, Leblhuber F, Sperner-Unterweger B, Fuchs D. Activated immune system and inflammation in healthy ageing: relevance for tryptophan and neopterin metabolism. Curr Pharm Des [Internet]. 2014 Oct 10 [cited 2022 Oct 12];20(38):6048–57. Available from:

https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/24641220/

- **152.** Pratelli M, Migliarini S, Pelosi B, Napolitano F, Usiello A, Pasqualetti M. Perturbation of Serotonin Homeostasis during Adulthood Affects Serotonergic Neuronal Circuitry. eNeuro [Internet]. 2017 Mar 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];4(2). Available from: https://www.eneuro.org/content/4/2/ENEURO.0376-16.2017
- **153.** Hong KB, Park Y, Suh HJ. Sleep-promoting effects of the GABA/5-HTP mixture in vertebrate models. Behav Brain Res [Internet]. 2016 Sep 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];310:36–41. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27150227/
- **154.** Meloni M, Puligheddu M, Carta M, Cannas A, Figorilli M, Defazio G. Efficacy and safety of 5-hydroxytryptophan on depression and apathy in Parkinson's disease: a preliminary finding. Eur J Neurol [Internet]. 2020 May 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];27(5):779–86. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32067288/
- 155. Bruni O, Ferri R, Miano S, Verrillo E. L -5-Hydroxytryptophan treatment of sleep terrors in children. Eur J Pediatr [Internet]. 2004 [cited 2022 Oct 12];163(7):402–7. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/15146330/
- **156.** Slutsky I, Abumaria N, Wu L-J, Huang C, Zhang L, Li B, et al. Article Enhancement of Learning and Memory by Elevating Brain Magnesium.
- **157.** Holm NG. The significance of Mg in prebiotic geochemistry. Geobiology [Internet]. 2012 Jul [cited 2022 Oct 12];10(4):269– 79. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/22429303/
- 158. Zhou J, Zhang J, Luo XH, Li MX, Yue Y, Laudon M, et al. Neu-P11, a novel MT1/MT2 agonist, reverses diabetes by suppressing the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis in rats. Eur J Pharmacol [Internet]. 2017 [cited 2022 Oct 13];812:225–33. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28687198/
- **159.** Wilson IA, Gallagher M, Eichenbaum H, Tanila H. Neurocognitive aging: prior memories hinder new hippocampal encoding. Trends Neurosci [Internet]. 2006 Dec [cited 2022 Oct 12];29(12):662–70. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/17046075/
- 160. Liu Y, Xu Y, Zhang L, Huang L, Yu P, Zhu H, et al. Down-Regulated Drebrin Aggravates Cognitive Impairments in a Mouse Model of Alzheimer's Disease. Int J Mol Sci [Internet]. 2017 Apr 11 [cited 2022 Oct 12];18(4). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28398234/
- 161. Winther G, Pyndt Jørgensen BM, Elfving B, Nielsen DS, Kihl P, Lund S, et al. Dietary magnesium deficiency alters gut microbiota and leads to depressive-like behaviour. Acta Neuropsychiatr [Internet]. 2015 Jan 20 [cited 2022 Oct 12];27(3):168–76. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25690713/
- 162. Tarleton EK, Littenberg B. Magnesium intake and depression in adults. J Am Board Fam Med [Internet]. 2015 Mar 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];28(2):249–56. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25748766/
- 163. Martínez-González MÁ, Sánchez-Villegas A. Magnesium intake and depression: the SUN cohort. Magnes Res [Internet]. 2016 Sep 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];29(3):102–11. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27910807/
- 164. Rajizadeh A, Mozaffari-Khosravi H, Yassini-Ardakani M, Dehghani A. Effect of magnesium supplementation on depression status in depressed patients with magnesium deficiency: A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Nutrition [Internet]. 2017 Mar 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];35:56–60. Available from:

https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28241991/

- 165. Fard FE, Mirghafourvand M, Mohammad-Alizadeh Charandabi S, Farshbaf-Khalili A, Javadzadeh Y, Asgharian H. Effects of zinc and magnesium supplements on postpartum depression and anxiety: A randomized controlled clinical trial. Women Health [Internet]. 2017 Oct 21 [cited 2022 Oct 12];57(9):1115–28. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27617502/
- 166. Lai JS, Cai S, Feng L, Shek LP, Yap F, Tan KH, et al. Associations of maternal zinc and magnesium with offspring learning abilities and cognitive development at 4 years in GUSTO. Nutr Neurosci [Internet]. 2021 [cited 2022 Oct 12];24(6):467–76. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31331255/
- 167. Li W, Yu J, Liu Y, Huang X, Abumaria N, Zhu Y, et al. Elevation of brain magnesium prevents synaptic loss and reverses cognitive deficits in Alzheimer's disease mouse model. Mol Brain [Internet]. 2014 Sep 13 [cited 2022 Oct 12];7(1). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25213836/
- 168. Kim YS, Won YJ, Lim BG, Min TJ, Kim YH, Lee IO. Neuroprotective effects of magnesium L-threonate in a hypoxic zebrafish model. BMC Neurosci [Internet]. 2020 Jun 26 [cited 2022 Oct 12];21(1). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32590943/
- 169. Kumar A, Chordia N. Role of Microbes in Human Health. Appl Microbiol Open Access [Internet]. 2017 [cited 2022 Oct 12];3(2):1–3. Available from: https://www.longdom.org/openaccess/role-of-microbes-in-human-health-36338.html
- 170. Latorre R, Sternini C, De Giorgio R, Greenwood-Van Meerveld B. Enteroendocrine cells: a review of their role in brain-gut communication. Neurogastroenterol Motil [Internet]. 2016 May 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];28(5):620–30. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26691223/
- 171. Roberts KF, Elbert DL, Kasten TP, Patterson BW, Sigurdson WC, Connors RE, et al. Amyloid-β efflux from the central nervous system into the plasma. Ann Neurol [Internet]. 2014 Dec 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];76(6):837–44. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25205593/
- 172. Kim CS, Cha L, Sim M, Jung S, Chun WY, Baik HW, et al. Probiotic Supplementation Improves Cognitive Function and Mood with Changes in Gut Microbiota in Community-Dwelling Older Adults: A Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled, Multicenter Trial. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci [Internet]. 2021 [cited 2022 Oct 12];76(1):32–40. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32300799/
- 173. Di Benedetto S, Müller L, Wenger E, Düzel S, Pawelec G. Contribution of neuroinflammation and immunity to brain aging and the mitigating effects of physical and cognitive interventions. Neurosci Biobehav Rev [Internet]. 2017 Apr 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];75:114–28. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28161508/
- 174. Deng H, Dong X, Chen M, Zou Z. Efficacy of probiotics on cognition, and biomarkers of inflammation and oxidative stress in adults with Alzheimer's disease or mild cognitive impairment - a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Aging (Albany NY) [Internet]. 2020 Feb 29 [cited 2022 Oct 12];12(4):4010–39. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32062613/
- 175. Li W, Guo J, Shen Y, Huang L, Leng B, Fan D, et al. Probiotics, prebiotics, and synbiotics for the treatment of dementia: Protocol for a systematic review. Medicine (Baltimore) [Internet]. 2020 Jan 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];99(5):e18608. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC7004668/
- **176.** Kawagishi H, Finkel T. Unraveling the truth about antioxidants: ROS and disease: finding the right balance. Nat Med [Internet].

2014 [cited 2022 Oct 12];20(7):711-3. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/24999942/

- 177. Aisen PS, Cummings J, Jack CR, Morris JC, Sperling R, Frölich L, et al. On the path to 2025: understanding the Alzheimer's disease continuum. Alzheimers Res Ther [Internet]. 2017 Aug 9 [cited 2022 Oct 12];9(1). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28793924/
- 178. Aydin Yildirim T, Kitiş Y. The Effect of Aromatherapy Application on Cognitive Functions and Daytime Sleepiness in Older Adults Living in a Nursing Home. Holist Nurs Pract [Internet]. 2020 Mar 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];34(2):83–90. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32049695/
- 179. Rafii F, Ameri F, Haghani H, Ghobadi A. The effect of aromatherapy massage with lavender and chamomile oil on anxiety and sleep quality of patients with burns. Burns [Internet]. 2020 Feb 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];46(1):164–71. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31859096/
- 180. López V, Nielsen B, Solas M, Ramírez MJ, Jäger AK. Exploring Pharmacological Mechanisms of Lavender (Lavandula angustifolia) Essential Oil on Central Nervous System Targets. Front Pharmacol [Internet]. 2017 May 19 [cited 2022 Oct 12];8(MAY). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28579958/
- 181. Koulivand PH, Khaleghi Ghadiri M, Gorji A. Lavender and the nervous system. Evid Based Complement Alternat Med [Internet]. 2013 [cited 2022 Oct 12];2013. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/23573142/
- 182. Sabogal-Guáqueta AM, Osorio E, Cardona-Gómez GP. Linalool reverses neuropathological and behavioral impairments in old triple transgenic Alzheimer's mice. Neuropharmacology [Internet]. 2016 Mar 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];102:111–20. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26549854/
- 183. Nikitin VP, Solntseva S V., Kozyrev SA, Nikitin P V., Shevelkin A V. NMDA or 5-HT receptor antagonists impair memory reconsolidation and induce various types of amnesia. Behav Brain Res [Internet]. 2018 Jun 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];345:72–82. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29499285/
- 184. Coelho LS, Correa-Netto NF, Masukawa MY, Lima AC, Maluf S, Linardi A, et al. Inhaled Lavandula angustifolia essential oil inhibits consolidation of contextual- but not tone-fear conditioning in rats. J Ethnopharmacol [Internet]. 2018 Apr 6 [cited 2022 Oct 12];215:34–41. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29288824/
- 185. Rodriguez-Ortiz CJ, Bermúdez-Rattoni F. Determinants to trigger memory reconsolidation: The role of retrieval and updating information. Neurobiol Learn Mem [Internet]. 2017 Jul 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];142:4–12. Available from: https://app.dimensions.ai/details/publication/pub.1010096054
- 186. Liu CF, Chien LW, Cheng SL. The effect of lavender aromatherapy on autonomic nervous system in midlife women with insomnia. Evid Based Complement Alternat Med [Internet]. 2012 [cited 2022 Oct 12];2012. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/21869900/
- 187. Sayorwan W, Siripornpanich V, Piriyapunyaporn T, Hongratanaworakit T, Kotchabhakdi N, Ruangrungsi N. The effects of lavender oil inhalation on emotional states, autonomic nervous system, and brain electrical activity. J Med Assoc Thai [Internet]. 2012 Apr [cited 2022 Oct 14];95(4):598–606. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/22612017/
- 188. Kong Y, Wang T, Wang R, Ma Y, Song S, Liu J, et al. Inhalation of Roman chamomile essential oil attenuates depressive-like behaviors in Wistar Kyoto rats. Sci China Life Sci [Internet]. 2017 Jun 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];60(6):647–55. Available from:

https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28527112/

- 189. Chang SM, Chen CH. Effects of an intervention with drinking chamomile tea on sleep quality and depression in sleep disturbed postnatal women: a randomized controlled trial. J Adv Nurs [Internet]. 2016 Feb 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];72(2):306–15. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26483209/
- **190.** Moss M, Howarth R, Wilkinson L, Wesnes K. Expectancy and the aroma of Roman chamomile influence mood and cognition in healthy volunteers. Int J Aromather [Internet]. 2006 [cited 2022 Oct 12];2(16):63–73. Available from: https://www.infona.pl//resource/bwmeta1.element.elsevier-2da5c593-178f-3480-8033-0baf19fd785f
- 191. Kim M, Mok H, Yeo WS, Ahn JH, Choi YK. Role of ginseng in the neurovascular unit of neuroinflammatory diseases focused on the blood-brain barrier. J Ginseng Res [Internet]. 2021 Sep 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];45(5):599–609. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34803430/
- 192. Cox KHM, Pipingas A, Scholey AB. Investigation of the effects of solid lipid curcumin on cognition and mood in a healthy older population. J Psychopharmacol [Internet]. 2015 May 5 [cited 2022 Oct 12];29(5):642–51. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25277322/
- 193. Cox KHM, White DJ, Pipingas A, Poorun K, Scholey A. Further Evidence of Benefits to Mood and Working Memory from Lipidated Curcumin in Healthy Older People: A 12-Week, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled, Partial Replication Study. Nutrients [Internet]. 2020 Jun 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];12(6):1–20. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32512782/
- 194. Scholey A. Nutrients for neurocognition in health and disease: measures, methodologies and mechanisms. Proc Nutr Soc [Internet]. 2018 Feb 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];77(1):73–83. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29224583/
- 195. Trauer JM, Qian MY, Doyle JS, Rajaratnam SMW, Cunnington D. Cognitive Behavioral Therapy for Chronic Insomnia: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. Ann Intern Med [Internet]. 2015 Aug 4 [cited 2022 Oct 12];163(3):191–204. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26054060/
- **196.** Taylor DJ, Peterson AL, Pruiksma KE, Hale WJ, Young-McCaughan S, Wilkerson A, et al. Impact of cognitive behavioral therapy for insomnia disorder on sleep and comorbid symptoms in military personnel: a randomized clinical trial. Sleep [Internet]. 2018 Jun 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];41(6). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29618098/
- 197. Sweetman A, Lack L, Catcheside PG, Antic NA, Smith S, Li Chai-Coetzer C, et al. Cognitive and behavioral therapy for insomnia increases the use of continuous positive airway pressure therapy in obstructive sleep apnea participants with comorbid insomnia: a randomized clinical trial. Sleep [Internet]. 2019 Dec 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];42(12). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31403168/
- 198. Johnson SU, Hoffart A, Nordahl HM, Ulvenes PG, Vrabel KA, Wampold BE. Metacognition and cognition in inpatient MCT and CBT for comorbid anxiety disorders: A study of withinperson effects. J Couns Psychol [Internet]. 2018 Jan 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];65(1):86–97. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28541060/
- 199. Ramírez-Barrantes R, Arancibia M, Stojanova J, Aspé-Sánchez M, Córdova C, Henríquez-Ch RA. Default Mode Network, Meditation, and Age-Associated Brain Changes: What Can We Learn from the Impact of Mental Training on Well-Being as a Psychotherapeutic Approach? Neural Plast [Internet]. 2019 [cited 2022 Oct 12];2019. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31065259/

- **200.** Gard T, Taquet M, Dixit R, Hölzel BK, de Montjoye YA, Brach N, et al. Fluid intelligence and brain functional organization in aging yoga and meditation practitioners. Front Aging Neurosci [Internet]. 2014 [cited 2022 Oct 12];6(APR). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/24795629/
- 201. Afonso RF, Balardin JB, Lazar S, Sato JR, Igarashi N, Santaella DF, et al. Greater Cortical Thickness in Elderly Female Yoga Practitioners-A Cross-Sectional Study. Front Aging Neurosci [Internet]. 2017 Jun 20 [cited 2022 Oct 12];9(JUN). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28676757/
- **202.** Fingelkurts AA, Fingelkurts AA, Kallio-Tamminen T. Longterm meditation training induced changes in the operational synchrony of default mode network modules during a resting state. Cogn Process [Internet]. 2016 Feb 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];17(1):27–37. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26525051/
- 203. Pozuelos JP, Mead BR, Rueda MR, Malinowski P. Short-term mindful breath awareness training improves inhibitory control and response monitoring. Prog Brain Res [Internet]. 2019 Jan 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];244:137–63. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30732835/
- **204.** Xiao C, Mou C, Zhou X. [Effect of mindfulness meditation training on anxiety, depression and sleep quality in perimenopausal women]. Nan Fang Yi Ke Da Xue Xue Bao [Internet]. 2019 Aug 30 [cited 2022 Oct 12];39(8):998–1002. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31511223/
- **205.** Varghese MP, Balakrishnan R, Pailoor S. Association between a guided meditation practice, sleep and psychological well-being in type 2 diabetes mellitus patients. J Complement Integr Med [Internet]. 2018 [cited 2022 Oct 12];15(4). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30024853/
- 206. Chhugani KJ, Metri K, Babu N, Nagendra HR. Effects of Integrated Yoga Intervention on Psychopathologies and Sleep Quality Among Professional Caregivers of Older Adults With Alzheimer's Disease: A Controlled Pilot Study. Adv Mind Body Med [Internet]. 2018 Jun 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];32(3):18–22. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31370033/
- **207.** Yin X, Gou M, Xu J, Dong B, Yin P, Masquelin F, et al. Efficacy and safety of acupuncture treatment on primary insomnia: a

randomized controlled trial. Sleep Med [Internet]. 2017 Sep 1 [cited 2022 Oct 13];37:193–200. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28899535/

- **208.** Zhang M, Zhao J, Li X, Chen X, Xie J, Meng L, et al. Effectiveness and safety of acupuncture for insomnia: Protocol for a systematic review. Medicine (Baltimore) [Internet]. 2019 Nov 1 [cited 2022 Oct 13];98(45):e17842. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31702639/
- 209. Huang W, Johnson TM, Kutner NG, Halpin SN, Weiss P, Griffiths PC, et al. Acupuncture for Treatment of Persistent Disturbed Sleep: A Randomized Clinical Trial in Veterans With Mild Traumatic Brain Injury and Posttraumatic Stress Disorder. J Clin Psychiatry [Internet]. 2018 Jan 1 [cited 2022 Oct 12];80(1):E1–8. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30549498/
- **210.** Lee SH, Lim SM. Acupuncture for insomnia after stroke: a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC Complement Altern Med [Internet]. 2016 Jul 19 [cited 2022 Oct 12];16(1). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27430619/
- **211.** Wang S, Yang H, Zhang J, Zhang B, Liu T, Gan L, et al. Efficacy and safety assessment of acupuncture and nimodipine to treat mild cognitive impairment after cerebral infarction: a randomized controlled trial. BMC Complement Altern Med [Internet]. 2016 Sep 13 [cited 2022 Oct 12];16(1). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27623621/
- **212.** Zhou L, Zhang YL, Cao HJ, Hu H. Treating vascular mild cognitive impairment by acupuncture: a systematic review of randomized controlled trials. Zhongguo Zhong Xi Yi Jie He Za Zhi [Internet]. 2013 [cited 2022 Oct 14];33(12):1626–30. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK258900/
- 213. Kim HHK, Kim HHK, Kim SY, Kim Y II, Yoo HR, Jung IC. Cognitive improvement effects of electro-acupuncture for the treatment of MCI compared with Western medications: a systematic review and Meta-analysis. BMC Complement Altern Med [Internet]. 2019 Jan 8 [cited 2022 Oct 12];19(1). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30621676/.



Journal of Experimental and Clinical Medicine https://dergipark.org.tr/omujecm



Review Article

J Exp Clin Med 2023; 40(1): 150-152 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.40.1.29

Experimental intervertebral disc degeneration models

Osman Fikret SÖNMEZ¹, Ayşe İKİNCİ KELEŞ^{2,*}

¹Department of Neurosurgery, Tepecik Education and Research Hospital, İzmir, Türkiye ²Department of Histology and Embryology, Faculty of Medicine, Aksaray University, Aksaray, Türkiye

Received: 21.04.2022 • Acce	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	Final Version: 18.03.2023
------------------------------------	---------------------------------------	---------------------------

Abstract

Intervertebral disc degeneration is a major health problem of close concern to both young and old. The problem is also growing as the global population ages. Intervertebral disc degeneration is defined as progressive changes affecting the spine as a component of natural aging under the effect of multiple factors (such as smoking, obesity, and incorrect exercise). For a solution to be found, experimental disc degeneration must first be induced, the causes of the disease must be identified, and early diagnostic and therapeutic methods must then be developed. Methods of inducing intervertebral disc degeneration with high applicability in rats were identified from the previous literature. This review discusses four methods of disc degeneration induction. It also discusses how to detect degeneration formation and development times. As a result of the literature review, information about four different and reliable intervertebral disc degeneration methods is presented.

Keywords: intervertebral disc, degeneration, animal models, rat

1. Introduction

Intervertebral disc degeneration (IDD) is a disease that may be seen at any age and may not be fully treatable. Cheung et al. (1) examined the distribution of IDD by age using magnetic resonance imaging and detected the condition in 40% of individuals aged under 30, and in more than 90% of those aged 50-55. This shows that IDD can be seen at any age, but that the incidence increases with age. However, some clinicians have reported no association between IDD and age, and describe the condition as having other pathological causes. There is, therefore, no current consensus on whether IDD develops due to age or pathological causes (1).

The elderly population is increasing worldwide. This is also leading to an increase in age-related health problems. In addition to old age (2), IDD can also emerge as a result of environmental factors (such as smoking, obesity, and incorrect exercise) (3). IDD is one of the principal causes of low back pain (4). More than 80% of adults approached health institutions due to low back pain at some time in their lives. Back pain is also one of the most common causes of restricted activity among individuals aged under 45 in particular (3). Disc degenerations are extremely painful, especially those seen in the early period (5). Back pain also affects the adult population, in addition to low back pain (6).

IDD caused low back pain has become an important problem due to increased costs and loss of working time for

diagnosis and treatment (4). One study from the USA reported total low back pain-associated health costs of \$91 billion. The health costs of individuals with low back pain exceed those without low back pain by approximately 60% (7). In addition, the incidence of IDD-related spinal surgery in the USA increased by 500% between 1990 and 2011 (8).

It is extremely difficult to develop and apply models for examining the pathogenesis of disc degeneration and assessing potential treatments (9). Disc degeneration is difficult to detect in humans and is usually identified after pain has occurred. Detection is particularly impeded by the slow progression of degeneration, the lack of disc degeneration tissue, and multifactor underlying causes. Animal experiments are, therefore, fundamental in this context. The anatomical and biomechanical properties of the discs of both large and small animals are relatively similar to those of humans (10, 11). The purpose of this review is to summarize viable animal models of IDD.

2. Models of experimental intervertebral disc degeneration in animals

2.1. Animals Used

Both Sprague Dawley and Wistar rats have been used in these experiments (12-15). All animals were anesthetized during the surgical procedures.

2.2. Methods Used

2.2.1. Intervertebral disc degeneration model induced with ovariectomy

Wang et al. (16) discovered during an experiment that rats subjected to ovariectomy also developed IDD. This method was subsequently developed based on that finding. Female Sprague Dawley rats were used for the model, and IDD has been reported to occur 12 weeks after surgical intervention (13).

Surgical procedure

Experiments begin when rats are three months old. The ovaries are removed (dual ovariectomy), and the incision area is sutured. Rats are sacrificed after 12 weeks of survival (13).

2.2.2. Intervertebral disc degeneration model created in the rat tail

This method is performed using the tail region of Sprague Dawley rats. IDD has been reported two weeks after the procedure Fernández-Susavila et al. (15).

Surgical procedure

During the procedure, a tourniquet is attached to the tail to reduce blood circulation in that region and the blood supply of the area to be studied.

Once the tail skin has been sterilized, a dorsal 4-cm midline incision is made between the C6 and C10 caudal vertebrates identified by digital palpation in the tail. A 1-mm diameter hole is created under the vertebral endplates using a precision drill. To control the depth of drill penetration, attention is paid to the resistance of the contralateral wall of the vertebral bone. The bone cavity is filled with cyanoacrylate to barrier any revascularization to the endplate, and the incision site is closed. The animals are sacrificed after two weeks (15).

2.2.3. Intervertebral disc degeneration model created by needle puncture

This method is applied to the coccygeal intervertebral region of Wistar rats weighing 300-350 g. IDD takes place 1-4 weeks after the procedure.

Surgical procedure

The coccygeal intervertebral spaces Co6-7, Co7-8, and Co8-9 are identified by digital palpation and confirmed by fluoroscopy. The intervertebral Co7-8 level is left untouched for control purposes, and no procedure is performed. The tail skin is first cleaned with antiseptic. A fluoroscopy-guided 20gauge needle is then inserted at the Co8-9 (distal) and Co6-7 (proximal) annulus fibrosus level. After penetration, the needle is rotated 3600 and held in place for 30 seconds. The depth of penetration of the needle is controlled. For this, the resistance of the contralateral annulus fibrosus is checked during the procedure. After the procedure, the area is closed, and the animals are sacrificed after four weeks (12).

2.2.4. Intervertebral disc regeneration model created by Dedifferentiated Fat (DFAT) cell transplantation

Sprague-Dawley male rats (12 weeks old, bodyweight 300 g) were used in this model. IDD occurs in the eighth week after the procedure. Intervertebral disc degeneration is created as a result of a two-stage application.

Dedifferentiated Fat cell preparation

A new preadipocyte cell line, named dedifferentiated fat (DFAT), is created with mature adipocytes from adult rats (17). DFAT cells are easily isolated from about 1 g of subcutaneous adipose tissue and can be increased easily (14). 1g adipose tissue is taken under the skin of the rats. The adipose tissue is gently shaken at 37 ° C for 1 hour and kept in 0.1% (W / V) collagenase solution (Collagenase type 1, Koken, Tokyo, Japan). After filtration and centrifugation at 135g for three minutes, the floating top layer containing unilocular adipocytes is collected. Afterwards, the collected cells are washed with phosphate-buffered saline. Then, the cells (5x104) are placed in 25 cm2 culture flasks filled with Dulbecco's modified Eagle medium (DMEM; Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) supplemented with 20% fetal bovine serum (FBS; JRH Bioscience, Lenexa, KS, Lot 6G2146). It is then incubated at 37 °C in 5% CO2. Cells float on medium and are waited until they stick to the upper inner ceiling surface of the bottle. After 7 days, the flasks are inverted, with the media removed and the cells at the bottom. The media are changed every 4 days until the cells merge. When cells divide occurs, the cells become available (14, 18). Using these methods, DFAT cells are obtained. These cells are then transferred to the intervertebral discs by surgical operation.

Dedifferentiated Fat cell transplantation

In rats, disc damage is created by the needle model (12). One week after intervertebral disc damage is done, DFAT cells (5 x104/50 ml PBS, DFAT group, n $\frac{1}{4}$ 13) are transferred to the damaged area. After the incision area is closed, animals are sacrificed eight weeks later (14).

2.3. Detection of intervertebral disc degeneration

Methods such as histology evaluations (Van Gieson, collagen VI, collagen fiber orientation using picrosirius red staining, hematoxylin-eosin, and immunohistochemistry), magnetic resonance imaging, micro-computed tomography, polarized light microscopy, light microscopy can be used to determine whether IDD is occurring (12-15, 19)

3. Result

IDD is still an unsolved problem for society. Scientists resort to all possible methods to solve this problem. Since there are restrictions on applications to the human body, the most appropriate approach is experiments on animals. In this review, we tried to bring together animal models of IDD.

Conflict of interest

There is no conflict of interest including any financial, personal

or other relationships with other people or organizations that could inappropriately influence, or be perceived to influence this work.

Funding

This study was supported by Niğde Ömer Halis Demir University Scientific Research Projects Coordination Unit as a Project No: SAT 2021/3-BAGEP.

Acknowledgments

None to declare.

Authors' contributions

Concept: A.İ.K., O.F.S., Design: A.İ.K., O.F.S., Data Collection or Processing: A.İ.K., O.F.S., Analysis or Interpretation: A.İ.K., O.F.S., Literature Search: A.İ.K., O.F.S., Writing: A.İ.K.

References

- 1. Cheung KM, Karppinen J, Chan D, Ho DW, Song YQ, Sham P, et al. Prevalence and pattern of lumbar magnetic resonance imaging changes in a population study of one thousand forty-three individuals. Spine (Phila Pa 1976), 2009; 34: 934- 940.
- Boos N, Weissbach S, Rohrbach H, Weiler C, Spratt KF, Nerlich AG. Classification of age-related changes in lumbar intervertebral discs: 2002 Volvo award in basic science. Spine, 2002; 27: 2631-2644.
- **3.** Kadow T, Sowa G, Vo N, Kang JD. Molecular basis of intervertebral disc degeneration and herniations: what are the important translational questions? Clin Orthop Relat Res., 2015; 473: 1903-1912.
- **4.** Navone SE, Marfia G, Giannoni A, Beretta M, Guarnaccia L, Gualtierotti R, et al. Inflammatory mediators and signaling pathways controlling intervertebral disc degeneration. Histol Histopathology, 2017; 32: 523-542.
- Adams MA, Roughley PJ. What is intervertebral disc degeneration, and what causes it? Spine (Phila Pa 1976), 2006; 31: 2151-2161.
- **6.** Peng B, Hao J, Hou S, Wu W, Jiang D, Fu X, et al. "Possible pathogenesis of painful intervertebral disc degeneration." Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2006; 31: 560-566.
- **7.** Luo X, Pietrobon R, Sun S, Liu G, Hey L. Estimates and patterns of direct health care expenditures among individuals with back pain in the United States. Spine, 2004; 29: 79-86.

- **8.** de Kunder SL, Rijkers K, Caelers I, de Bie RA, Koehler PJ, van Santbrink H. Lumbar interbody fusion: a historical overview and a future perspective. Spine vol. 2018; 16: 1161–1168.
- **9.** Alini M, Eisenstein SM, Ito K, Little C, Kettler AA, Masuda K, et al. Are animal models useful for studying human disc disorders/degeneration? Eur. Spine J., 2018; 17: 2–19
- O'Connell GD, Vresilovic EJ, Elliott DM. Comparison of animals used in disc research to human lumbar disc geometry. Spine, 2007; 32: 328–333.
- Beckstein JC, Sen S, Schaer TP, Vresilovic EJ, Elliott DM. Comparison of animal discs used in disc research to human lumbar disc: axial compression mechanics and glycosaminoglycan content. Spine vol. 2008; 33: 166–173.
- 12. Issy AC, Castania V, Castania M, Salmon CEG, Nogueira-Barbosa MH, Del Bel E, et al. Experimental model of intervertebral disc degeneration by needle puncture in Wistar rats. Brazilian Journal of Medical and Biological Research, 2013; 46: 235-244.
- **13.** Tian FM, Yang K, Wang WY, Luo Y, Li SY, Song HP, et al. Calcitonin suppresses intervertebral disk degeneration and preserves lumbar vertebral bone mineral density and bone strength in ovariectomized rats. Osteoporos Int. 2015; 26: 2853-2861.
- 14. Nakayama E, Matsumoto T, Kazama T, Kano K, Tokuhashi Y. Transplantation of dedifferentipromotet cells promotes intervertebral disc regeneration in a rat intervertebral disc degeneration model. Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 2017; 493: 1004-1009.
- Fernández-Susavila H, Pardo-Seco JP, Iglesias-Rey R, Sobrino T, Campos F, Díez-Ulloa MA. Model of disc degeneration in rat tail induced through vascular isolation of vertebral endplates. J Invest Surg., 2018; 31: 265-274.
- 16. Wang T, Zhang L, Huang C, Cheng AG, Dang GT. Relationship between osteopenia and lumbar intervertebral disc degeneration in ovariectomized rats. Calcif Tissue Int., 2004; 75: 205-213.
- Yagi K, Kondo D, Okazaki Y, Kano K. A novel preadipocyte cell line established from mouse adult mature adipocytes. Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 2004; 321: 967-974.
- **18.** Sugihara H, Yonemitsu N, Miyabara S, Yun K. Primary cultures of unilocular fat cells: characteristics of growth in vitro and changes in differentiation properties. Differentiation, 1986; 31: 42-49.
- Nishimura K, Mochida J. Percutaneous reinsertion of the nucleus pulposus. An experimental study. Spine (Phila Pa 1976),1998; 23: 1531-1538.



Journal of Experimental and Clinical Medicine https://dergipark.org.tr/omujecm



Review Article

J Exp Clin Med 2023; 40(1): 153-160 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.40.1.30

Emergencies in movement disorders

Dursun AYGÜN[®], Murat POLAT*[®]

Department of Neurology, Faculty of Medicine, Ondokuz Mayıs University, Samsun, Türkiye

Received: 02.06.2022	•	Accepted/Published Online: 21.07.2022	٠	Final Version: 18.03.2023

Abstract

Movement disorders can be defined as the abnormality of the speed and form of body movements. Although movement disorders often occur chronically, they can sometimes develop acutely or sub-acutely, and some can be fatal if not diagnosed and treated early. Here, emergencies in movement disorders are discussed under two main headings, as emergencies related to hyperkinetic movement disorders. This review draws attention to the importance of that accurate diagnosis and early treatment can be life-saving in emergencies in movement disorders. It also provides recommendations for diagnosis and therapy.

Keywords: movement disorders, emergencies, hyperkinetic movement disorders, hypokinetic movement disorders

1. Introduction

Movement disorders can be defined as the abnormality of the speed and form of body movements. Most of this group of disorders are due to deviations from the typical basal gangliacortex cycle (1). However, some movement disorders, such as myoclonus, may arise from pathologies in the spinal cord and other structures (1). Movement disorders are divided into two groups (1): 1) Hyperkinetic movement disorders are excessively unwanted movements and include tremor, chorea, ballism, dystonia, stereotypy, tics, and myoclonus. 2) Hypokinetic movement disorders include akinesia (loss of movement), hypokinesia (decreased amplitude of movement), bradykinesia (slowing of movement), and rigidity. Sometimes akinesia can be used broadly to include hypokinesia and bradykinesia. Therefore, hypokinetic movement disorders can also be expressed as akinetic-rigid disorders (1). Parkinsonism is an example of a hypokinetic movement disorder. Although movement disorders often occur chronically, they can sometimes develop acutely or sub-acutely, and some can be fatal if not diagnosed and treated early. Studies on the frequency of emergent movement disorders are few. In a prospective study (2), 6690 of 131,537 patients admitted to the emergency department underwent neurologic evaluation, of which 1.4% were diagnosed with acute movement disorders. It was revealed that 73.9% of these patients had hyperkinetic, 26.1% hypokinetic and 19.8% mixed movement disorders (2). There are few publications about emergencies in movement disorders in English literature. Here, emergencies in movement disorders have been discussed under two main headings, emergencies related to hyperkinetic movement disorders and

emergencies related to hypokinetic movement disorders. Here, we have discussed the clinical features (ie, definition, brief pathogenesis, causes, and diagnosis) and emergency treatment of each emergency movement disorder.

2. Emergencies related to hyperkinetic movement disorders This group includes acute chorea and ballismus, immediate myoclonus, emergencies in tic disorder, and acute dystonia and dystonic storm.

2.1. Acute chorea and ballismus Clinical features

Chorea is irregular, unpredictable, short, and non-stereotypical aimless movements that flow rapidly from one body part to another (3). Ballismus is a proximally dominant, irregular, abrupt, rough and bouncing rocking or throwing movement and is closely related to chorea (4). Indeed, ballismus and chorea are two hyperkinetic movements that differ in speed and amplitude, one of which may represent the continuity of the other (5). Hemiballism is ballistic movements on one side of the body. Movements can be self-destructive, tiring, or troublesome. Movements often improve after days to weeks, and ballistic movements often become choreiform (3). The most common cause is stroke [affecting the contralateral subthalamic nucleus (STN)], followed by non-ketotic hyperglycemia (3). Acute severe chorea and ballismus, if left untreated, can cause hyperthermia, dehydration, and rhabdomyolysis (5). Table 1 shows the causes of acute chorea and ballismus (5).

Table	1.	Causes	of	acute	chorea	and	ballismus
		0440000	~.		•		ownonited

Vascular	Autoimmune	Metabolic	Infectious	Structural	Drug/toxin
Stroke (Ischemic /	Sydenham / chorea	Uremic	Cryptococcal	Basal ganglia	Alcohol
hemorrhagic)	gravidarum	encephalopathy	granuloma	lesion/mass	
Malformation	Paraneoplastic*	Hypoglycemia	Toxoplasma	Cerebellar lesion	Antiepileptics
Cerebral anoxia	Multiple sclerosis	Hypoparathyroidism	Tuberculoma	Subthalomotomy	Methadone
Postpump chorea	SLE	NKHG	HIVE	Thalamotomy	Amphetamine
	Scleroderma	Hyperthyroidism			Morphine
	Behcet's disease	Polycythemia vera			Oral contraceptive
	APS				Levodopa
	Sarcoidosis				Cocaine
	PAN				

*May be anti CV2/CRMP-5 antibody-positive; SLE, Systemic lupus erythematosus; NKHG, Non-ketotic hyperglycemia; HIVE, Human immunodeficit virus encephalitis; APS, Anti-phospholipid antibody syndrome; PAN, *Polyarteritis nodosa*

Diagnosis is supported by laboratory investigations appropriate to clinical findings after clinically evaluating patients (5). Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) is often the first step, and a change in intensity in the basal ganglia may be seen. Auto-antibodies [e.g., α -streptolysin-O (ASO) and α -DNAase-B antibodies for a patient with Sydenham chorea] and other biochemical studies may be required for diagnosis and differential diagnosis (6). Sometimes functional imaging [e.g., *fluorodeoxyglucose*-positron emission tomography (FDG-PET)] may be needed. It has been reported that striatal hypermetabolism in FDG-PET is present in the acute phase of the disease in patients with Sydenham's chorea (6, 7), whereas striatal hypometabolism has been reported in FDG-PET in degenerative chorea (e.g., Huntington's disease) (7).

Treatment

Here, we will first define the general principles of the approach and then add specific treatments in some special clinical situations. In the general approach, the dose of the causative drug, if any, should be reduced first, or the drug should be temporarily stopped. Rehydration should be provided to meet the fluid deficit and prevent complications such as acute renal failure due to rhabdomyolysis. Dopamine receptor blockers (e.g., antipsychotics) or dopamine depleters (e.g., inhibitors of the presynaptic vesicular monoamine transporter type 2 -VMAT2 such as tetrabenazine) can be used to reduce symptomatic chorea and ballism (4, 6). If there is hyperthermia, antipyretic approaches (e.g., cooling the body) and drugs (e.g., paracetamol) should be given. If necessary, sedation (e.g., diazepam) should be provided. Since movements may disappear over time in hemiballism, treatment should be discontinued after three months, and the patient should be re-evaluated (3). On the other hand, it is crucial to investigate the underlying pathological condition or disease (Table 1.) and perform specific treatment accordingly (3).

Chorea due to non-ketotic hyperglycemia

Clinical features

Chorea due to non-ketotic hyperglycemia is more common in the elderly, women and people of Middle Asian origin (5, 8). It has been reported that GABA insufficiency may play a role in the mechanism of emergence of chorea in this group of patients since it causes deterioration of the basal ganglia functions (8). Because it has been reported in these patients that GABA is rapidly depleted due to both the use of GABA as energy and the lack of acetoacetate, which can be used to synthesize GABA (8). The clinic often presents as hemichorea (often ipsilateral extremity, sometimes predominant in the facial muscles, jaw and tongue) or hemiballism, with an acute/subacute onset (3, 5). Biochemical examination reveals high blood sugar and negative ketones in the urine, while T1weighted MRI shows a change in intensity in the basal ganglia (Fig. 1) (3, 5).



Fig. 1. T1-weighted MRI of a 67-year-old male patient with left hemichorea due to non-ketotic hyperglycemia shows hyperintensity in the right globus pallidus.

Treatment

Blood glucose regulation, supportive care, and symptomatic treatment (e.g., dopamine receptor blockers and, if necessary, sedation) should be given (mentioned in the general approach to chorea) (4,6,8).

Sydenham's chorea

Clinical features

Sydenham's chorea may begin abruptly 1 to 6 months after streptococcal pharyngitis (3, 9). It has been reported that autoimmune pathologies in persons with genetic predispositions are involved in the pathogenesis of Sydenham's chorea (6). It has been reported that anti-basal ganglia antibodies (e.g., antibodies developed against epitopes of M-

proteins) against A β-hemolytic streptococcus cause pathological changes that will lead to loss of function by acting against neuronal tubulin and D1 and D2 receptors in basal ganglia (6). Although chorea is often generalized clinically, it can also occur as hemichorea at a rate of 20% (6). Behavioral changes such as obsessive-compulsive disorder, hyperactivity, anxiety and emotional lability may accompany chorea (6). Weakness and hypotonia may be prominent, and even paralytic chorea may develop in 1.5% of cases (6, 10). Oculogyric crisis, hypometric saccades, and rarely vocal tics and dysarthria have also been reported (6, 10). The diagnosis is made clinically, but high ASO and anti-DNAse B antibody titers support the diagnosis (5, 6, 10). It has been reported that FDG-PET and Single Photon Emission Computerized Tomography (SPECT) performed in the acute phase of the disease revealed the striatal abnormality (striatal hypermetabolism and hyperperfusion, respectively) (6).

Treatment

In addition to supportive treatment, GABAergic drugs (e.g., benzodiazepines, valproic acid at a dose of >1500mg/day or carbamazepine), dopamine receptor blockers or dopamine depleting agents can be used in the symptomatic treatment of chorea (6, 10). In Sydenham's chorea, immunomodulatory therapy is recommended to shorten the disease duration and prevent relapses and complications (e.g., 25 mg/kg/day intravenous methylprednisolone for five days followed by oral deflazacort 0.9 mg/kg/day for three months, especially in severe or persistent cases of chorea, 1-2 gr/kg/day for two days or 400 mg/kg/day for five days intravenous immunoglobulin or plasma exchange) (10-12). It has been reported that penicillin can prevent cardiac complications of rheumatic fever (sometimes it may take several years) (10-12).

Chorea gravidarum

Clinical features

Chorea gravidarum (CG) often begins in the first trimester of pregnancy and may rarely cause an emergency (3). It is estimated that chorea may be related to increased sensitivity to dopamine in the striatum due to hormonal changes in patients (12). On the other hand, it has been reported that antiphospholipid antibody syndrome (APAS) is a common cause of CG in some people (3). It has been reported that it may

also be associated with previous Sydenham's chorea (5, 12). Chorea can be unilateral or bilateral, often, the face and extremities are affected, and dysarthria is common (3). Psychiatric complaints may accompany chorea (13).

Treatment

In CG, chorea usually resolves in the last trimester or disappears shortly after birth (14). In severe cases, general acute chorea therapy (e.g., haloperidol symptomatically) is administered (5). Abortion or premature delivery may be indicated rarely (15).

Antiphospholipid antibody syndrome (APS)

Clinical features

Antiphospholipid antibody syndrome may cause acute generalized chorea (3). Antiphospholipid antibody syndrome may be primary or secondary to systemic lupus erythematosus (3). It has been reported that antiphospholipid antibodies, which cause inflammation and increase the permeability of the blood-brain barrier by binding to the intracranial endothelium, cause chorea due to direct binding to the basal ganglia neurons (12). Antiphospholipid antibodies (i.e., lupus anticoagulant, anticardiolipin, and anti-\beta2-glycoprotein-I) are used for diagnosis (16).

Treatment

Treatment consists of general acute chorea treatment, immunosuppressive/immunomodulatory treatment of APS, and follow-up and treatment of its complications (deep vein thrombosis, pulmonary embolism, stroke, thrombotic microangiopathy, thrombocytopenia, and hemolytic anemia) (12).

2.2. Immediate myoclonus **Clinical features**

Myoclonus can be defined as a sudden-shock-like involuntary contraction (positive myoclonus) or inhibition (negative myoclonus) of muscle (agonist or antagonist) or muscle groups (3, 17). The pathogenesis of myoclonus is related to the source of the stimulus (e.g., it can be cortical, subcortical, brain stem, spinal cord or peripheral) (1, 18). Table 2 shows the causes of immediate myoclonus (3, 18).

	J 1		
Etiology	Clinical picture(s)		
Cerebral anoxia	Postanoxic myoclonus, Myoclonus SE		
Metabolic disorders; Hepatic and uremic encephalopathy	Asterix		
Toxic disorders; MAO inhibitors, SSRI, SNRI and tricyclic antidepressants, opiates, levodopa, gabapentin, triptans, LSD, amphetamines, cocaine, MDMA or ecstasy	Serotonin syndrome and NMS		
Structural disorders; Thalamic lesion (contralateral)	Acute focal Asterix, positive myoclonus		
SE, Status epilepticus; SSRI, Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor; SNRI, Sero	tonin noradrenaline reuptake inhibitor; NMS, Neuroleptic malignant syndrome;		

Table 2. Causes of immediate myoclonus and clinical pictures

LSD, Lysergic acid diethylamide; MDMA, 3,4-Methylenedioxymethamphetamine

Postanoxic myoclonus (Lance-Adams syndrome)

Clinical features

Lance-Adams syndrome is seen after recovery from anoxia (delayed onset) (3). It is action myoclonus (often intentional), absent at rest, and stimulus sensitive (3, 19). Myoclonus is of cortical origin, and it may be accompanied by mild cognitive impairment, dysarthria, ataxia, pyramidal signs, rigidity, and epilepsy (3, 19). It may resolve spontaneously over the years (3, 19).

Treatment

Clonazepam, primidone, valproic acid, or levetiracetam can be used alone or in combination for the symptomatic treatment of myoclonus (3).

Myoclonus status epilepticus

Clinical features

Myoclonus status epilepticus is a persistent generalized or multifocal myoclonus involving the face, extremities and axial muscles in coma patients and is spontaneous or sensitive to sound (3, 20). It is reported that it is seen in 30% of comatose adults who develop after cardiac arrest (21). It may begin in the hours immediately after cerebral anoxia (3). It may be of cortical (giant SEP; abnormal EEG) or subcortical (SEP and EEG normal) origin (20). Myoclonus status epilepticus is often considered to be a poor prognostic sign of cerebral anoxia (22). Additional poor prognostic features are defined as 1) death, 2) persistent unconsciousness after one month, or 3) severe disability requiring complete care after six months (3).

Treatment

After venous access is established, respiratory-circulatory support and therapeutic hypothermia should be applied to the patient as supportive treatment. While levetiracetam or Pracetam is the first choice for the cortical origin for the symptomatic treatment of myoclonus, valproic acid, phenytoin, phenobarbitone, and benzodiazepines can be used in combination with levetiracetam or Pracetam if there is no adequate response (23). Subcortical origin is often treated with clonazepam (23). In cases that cannot be controlled with these treatments, anesthesia should be provided with propofol (supports GABA) infusion. However, propofol can cause myoclonus (case reports) (20).

2.3. Emergencies in tic disorder Clinical features

Tic disorder is defined as semi-voluntary, sudden, rapid, nonrhythmic, intermittent, repetitive movements (motor tics) or sounds (voice tics) (3, 24, 25). Pathogenetically, it results from the disinhibition of the loop between the cortex-basal gangliacortex (24). Conditions that require urgent evaluation in tic disorder include tic exacerbation (i.e., increase in amplitude, efficacy, or frequency) and neurological effects associated with severe exacerbation (e.g., spacing-subdural hematoma, compressive neuropathy, and myelopathy) (3). Factors that worsen tics include fatigue, physical or mental stress, anger, infection, stimulants and tricyclic and SSRI group antidepressants (for the treatment of comorbid conditions such as attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder or OCD that may accompany tics) (3).

Treatment

First of all, removing the precipitating factor is very important to reduce the severity of deterioration (2, 3). Neuroleptics such as pimozide, haloperidol and risperidone, anti-hypertensives such as clonidine and guanfacine and tetrabenazine (dopaminedepleting agent) can be used as symptomatic treatment of tic attack (2,3). Botulinum toxin injections may be appropriate for focal tics (25). For tics resistant to pharmacological treatment, surgical treatment (e.g., deep brain stimulation) may be an option (26). In addition, the treatment of complications is essential.

2.4. Dystonic emergencies Dystonic storm or status dystonicus

Clinical features

Dystonia is defined as a movement disorder characterized by sustained or intermittent muscle contractions that cause abnormal, frequently repetitive, patterned movements, postures, or both (25). A dystonic storm is defined as continuous severe dystonic contractions in patients with dystonia (2). Dystonic storms can cause acute worsening (2). Aggravating factors include infection, drug changes, and trauma (2).

Treatment

Pharmacologically, anticholinergics, dopamine receptor blockers, dopamine depleters, sedative and paralytic agents can be given (2). In cases where there is no response to drug treatment, surgical methods such as deep brain stimulation can be applied (2).

Dystonic reaction

Clinical features

Acute dystonic reactions may occur 24 hours after exposure to dopamine receptor blockers (2). It has been reported that the risk increases in men and when the dose is titrated rapidly (2). Blepharospasm, cervical, laryngeal or limb dystonia, and oculogyric crisis may occur singly or in combination (2). When the larynx or pharynx is affected, there may be a danger of respiratory failure (2).

Treatment

First of all, the etiological drug should be discontinued, and then parenteral anticholinergics or antihistamines (e.g., diphenhydramine 25-50 mg) should be administered (3). It is recommended to take oral anticholinergics for a few more days to prevent the risk of relapse (3).

3. Emergencies related to hypokinetic movement disorders

When emergencies related to hypokinetic movement disorders are mentioned, emergencies in Parkinsonism and Parkinson's disease come to mind first. Parkinsonism is defined as the condition where bradykinesia is accompanied by one or more rest tremors, rigidity, and impaired postural reflexes (27). Parkinson's disease (PD) is the most common cause of parkinsonism and presents with non-motor symptoms and motor symptoms like parkinsonism (28). The emergencies in this group of diseases can be grouped under two headings: Specific and nonspecific (2, 3, 29). Specific ones will be discussed under hyperpyrexia syndromes, acute parkinsonism, acute worsening of parkinsonism, severe motor complications such as severe Off and severe dyskinesia, falling and psychosis (29). Nonspecific include infection (21-32% of PD patients presenting to the emergency department), cardiovascular or cerebrovascular events (12-26% of PD patients presenting to the emergency department), gastrointestinal disorders (8-11% of PD patients presenting to the emergency department), and metabolic disorders (2-6% of PD patients admitted to the emergency department) (29).

3.1. Hyperpyrexia syndromes Parkinsonism hyperpyrexia syndrome

Clinical features

Parkinsonism hyperpyrexia syndrome (PHS) is defined as a sudden clinical worsening in which UPDRS scores increase by ≥ 20 points and temporary unresponsiveness to the apeutic doses of dopaminergic drugs or rescue drugs for three days (30). PHS was first described in 1981 (31). PHS is clinically characterized by severe akinesia, severe rigidity, hyperthermia, dysautonomia (tachycardia, fluctuation in blood pressure, incontinence and sweating) and altered consciousness, which mimics neuroleptic malignant syndrome (NMS) and does not respond temporarily to dopaminergic therapy (2, 32). Studies have reported that dopamine active transporter (DAT) activity is markedly decreased in PD patients with akinetic crises (30). It has been reported that the decrease in DAT expression may occur in response to the sudden decrease in striatal dopamine levels and mitochondrial function due to the abrupt discontinuation of exogenous DA'ergic drugs (30). It is clear that DA transmission to the striatum, hypothalamus, and cortex decreases due to the decrease in DAT expression. It has also been reported that a decrease in binding to post-synaptic striatal D2 receptors (due to decreased striatal dopamine receptor expression and affinity) and an increase in calcium and pyrogen release from the sarcoplasmic reticulum in skeletal muscle are also involved in the pathogenesis (30, 33). From clinical history, determining the presence of one or more of the triggers such as reduction or stopping of dopamine agonists, levodopa and amantadine (18 hours to seven days later: malignant withdrawal syndrome), closure of STN-deepbrain stimulation (DBS) (malignant STN-DBS withdrawal syndrome), trauma, gastrointestinal system diseases. infections, excessive heat and dehydration may be a clue for diagnosis (2, 3, 30, 33). Although the diagnosis of PHS is considered when the neurological examination reveals severe akinesia, severe rigidity, hyperthermia, dysautonomia, and altered consciousness, the diagnosis should also be supported by determining the increase in serum white blood cell (WBC), creatine kinase (CK) and liver enzyme levels (2, 3, 32, 33). Complications of PHS include venous thrombosis, pulmonary embolism, aspiration pneumonia, DIC (disseminated intravascular coagulation) and kidney failure (30, 34).

Treatment

As in NMS, supportive measures such as intravenous (IV) hydration, antipyretic, and, if necessary, mechanical ventilation and hemodialysis are crucial. Dopaminergic therapy needs to be restarted. For this, liquid levodopa, bromocriptine (7.5-15mg 3 times a day), ropinirole (1-2mg 3 times a day), pramipexole (0.18-0.36mg 3 times a day), subcutaneous apomorphine (1- 2mg/hour) and transdermal rotigotine (2-4mg/day) are recommended (3, 34). Solving the underlying etiological problems will accelerate the healing process. As additional treatments, IV administration of dantrolene (relaxes muscles at muscle level), which prevents calcium release from the sarcoplasmic reticulum and thus muscle contraction, is recommended in severe or resistant rigidity (starting with 1 mg/kg, maximum 10 mg/kg/day in 3-4 doses) (34). High-dose IV methylprednisolone (e.g., 3-day pulse therapy) has been found to be effective (e.g., reduction in disease duration and significant clinical improvement) in small randomized trials (35, 36). Electroconvulsive therapy was found to be effective in case samples (36). Follow-up and treatment of complications are crucial. Despite treatment, 10-30% of permanent worsening and death have been reported (37).

Dyskinesia hyperpyrexia syndrome (DHS) in Parkinson's disease

Clinical features

DHS can be defined as the presence of severe and persistent dyskinesia, which causes mental status changes, hyperthermia, and elevated serum CK and BK, without rigidity, in patients with advanced Parkinson's disease (2, 38). Non-physiological (intermittent) dopaminergic stimulation predisposes to DHS, especially in long-term disease (38). In preclinical studies, an increase in ambient temperature has increased dopamine receptor sensitivity and dopaminergic transmission (38). Chauhan et al. (39) showed an increase in dopamine and glutamate in the blood and hypothalamus and the presence of hypothalamic inflammation at high ambient temperature (45 \pm 0.5 °C) in rats. The abnormality of thermoregulation, one of the autonomic impairments in PD, may cause a more noticeable increase in dopaminergic receptor sensitivity at high ambient temperatures (38). On the other hand, dehydration may exacerbate the abnormality of thermoregulation (38). Increasing the daily dose of DA'ergic therapy and multiple concomitant therapies, presence of infection, high ambient temperature (especially during long illness), trauma and dehydration are reported as risk factors (38). DHS is defined in a case where severe diffuse chorea and dystonia developed and body temperature increased to 42°C, serum CK to 16040 U/L and BK to 14200 while taking 1500 mg/day of L-dopa carbidopa intestinal gel (LCIG) in the summer heat (38).

Treatment

General approach methods such as antipyretic measures, IV

copious fluids, and reducing or treating the number of risk factors (e.g., reducing or stopping the number and dose of antiparkinsonian drugs, administering antibiotics if there is an infection) can be life-saving (3, 38). Treatment (e.g., respiratory-circulatory support, dialysis) of developing complications (e.g., rhabdomyolysis, renal failure, and heart failure) is crucial (3, 38). Despite treatment, there is a risk of increased mortality (38). Table 3 shows the comparison of clinical and laboratory features of hyperpyrexia syndromes (2, 3, 30, 34, 38, 40, 41).

Table 3. Comparison of clinical and laboratory features of hyperpyrexia syndromes	

Feature	PHS	DHS	NMS*	SS	MH
Age	Old	Old	Young	All ages	Child
Underlying disease	Parkinsonism	Parkinsonism	Psychosis	Psychiatric	Gene mutation**
Onset	Acute	Acute	Acute	Subacute	Acute
Triggering factor (s)	DBS and DA'ic drug withdrawal, surgery, trauma, infection	DA'ic drug, trauma, infection, high ambient temperature, dehydration	Antipsychotic use (Idiosyncratic)	SSRI, SNRI, MAOi, TCA Amphetamine, Cocaine	Volatile anesthetic, Succinylcholine
Fever	_/+	++/+++	+++	++	+++
Rigidity	+++	-	+++	++	+++
Other motor sign(s)	Other parkinsonian sign(s)	Dyskinesia	Tremor	Myoclonus, stereotypy, hyperreflexia	-
Autonomic instability	-/+	-/+	++/+++	+++	+++
Confusion	++/+++	_/+/++	+++	+++	+
Serum CK elevation	++	+++	+++	++	+++
Metabolic acidosis	+	-/+	+	+	++
Medication	LD, BC, PP, AM, DR	Dose reduction or interruption	BC, ATN, DR	CHDN, MTGT	DR

PHS, Parkinsonism hyperpyrexia syndrome; NMS, Neuroleptic malignant syndrome; SS, Serotonergic syndrome; MH, Malignant hyperthermia; DBS, Deep brain stimulation; DA, Dopamine; SSRI, Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor; SNRI, Serotonin-norepinephrine reuptake inhibitor; MAOi, Monoamine oxidase inhibitor; TCA, Tricyclic antidepressant; - None; + Mild; ++ Moderate; +++ Severe; CK, Creatine kinase; LD, Levodopa; BC, Bromocriptine; PP, Pramipexole; AM, Apomorphine; ATN, Amantadine; DR, Dandrolen; CHDN, Cyproheptadine; MTGT, Methysergite; *Three major (fever, rigidity, elevated CK) or two major and four minor (tachycardia, variable blood pressure, tachypnea, diaphoresis, mental status change, leukocytosis) criteria are required for the diagnosis of NMS **Type 1 ryanodine receptor (RYR1) gene encoding the ryanodine receptor found in skeletal muscle

3.2. Acute parkinsonism Clinical features

The terms acute worsening of parkinsonism or abruptly worsening OFF periods are also used synonymously with acute parkinsonism. Potential causes of abrupt change include parkinsonian drugs, particularly dopamine receptor blockers (e.g., antipsychotics and antiemetics), concomitant infection (e.g., urinary tract infection and pneumonia) or metabolic disruption (e.g., central pontine myelinosis), subdural hematoma (a history of falling can be obtained in patients with suddenly worsening PH), hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy, toxicity (e.g., carbon monoxide, methanol, and manganese), acute hydrocephalus, spinal cord lesion, and brain tumor (2, 3, 42).

Treatment

Correction or elimination of the underlying cause is very important (2). When necessary, symptoms should be treated with antiparkinsonian drugs (2).

3.3. Severe motor complications

It has been reported that 8% of Parkinson's patients admitted to emergency departments have motor complications (29).

Severe OFF periods

Clinical features

OFF periods can be defined as the reappearance of signs and symptoms of the disease seen in the later stages of PD. In severe OFF periods, significant akinesia may be accompanied by nonmotor symptoms such as abdominal discomfort, pain, and dysautonomia (e.g., diaphoresis, variations in blood pressure, and tachycardia) and panic attacks (2, 43). Potential triggers or aggravating factors include dopaminergic drug changes, the addition of antidopaminergic drugs to treatment, and concomitant infections (2). Severe prolonged OFF periods may lead to complications such as aspiration and deep venous thrombosis (43).

Treatment

Crushing L-dopa tablets in acidic liquid (e.g., by adding

vitamin C) or administering dispersible or controlled-release forms of L-dopa, dividing the daily dose of L-dopa, adding an MAO B inhibitor to L-dopa, and administering L-dopa with COMT inhibitor can shorten the off-time (2, 44). Subcutaneous injection of apomorphine or inhaled L-dopa powder without carbidopa (antiparkinsonian effect begins within 10-30 minutes) accelerates recovery (44). Prophylactic anticoagulants may be required. Stereotactic surgery can be considered as an additional alternative treatment (2).

Severe Dyskinesia

Clinical features

Severe generalized dyskinesia can cause rhabdomyolysis, hyperthermia, and dehydration (3). Dyspnea, tachypnea, dyskinesia of respiratory muscles (chest wall discomfort and involuntary grunting sounds) and anxiety may accompany (3).

Treatment

Reducing (or stopping) each levodopa dose is the first strategy in Peak-dose dyskinesias (44). Benzodiazepines can be given temporarily for accompanying anxiety (Neuroleptics should not be used) (3). Hydration and antipyretic approaches can be life-saving (3). An intermittent 'rescue' subcutaneous injection of apomorphine immediately before an on/off state transition may be a viable alternative in treating biphasic dyskinesias (43). Amantadine, DBS and LCIG are recommended for dyskinesia prophylaxis (3, 44).

3.4. Acute psychosis in Parkinson's disease Clinical features

It has been reported that 8% of Parkinson's patients admitted to emergency departments have psychosis (29). Psychosis is the name of the clinical picture accompanied by hallucinations (visual>auditory), delusions (commonly paranoid) and agitation in addition to confusion, and it is seen in more than half of the cases (45-64%) during the course of the disease (3, 43). The most common triggers are the conditions associated with antiparkinsonian drugs (drug change, addition or dose increase), followed by acute clinical conditions (infection, metabolic disorders) or concomitant dementia (3, 43).

Treatment

After treating comorbidities, starting from anticholinergics, **Table 4.** Non-dopaminergic pharmacological treatment in freezing

MAO-B inhibitors, DA agonists, amantadine, and COMT inhibitors should be gradually reduced or discontinued (3). If psychosis persists, antipsychotics (pimavanserin, a selective 5-HT2A receptor inverse agonist/antagonist, clozapine or quetiapine) may be required (3, 43, 45). Cholinesterase inhibitors such as rivastigmine and donepezil reduce hallucinations (43).

3.5. Fall in Parkinson's disease Clinical features

It has been reported that 13-27% of PD patients admitted to the emergency department have a history of falling (29). As PD progresses, falls increase, and the frequency of falls is reported to be around 70% annually (46). Postural instability or freezing causes 80% of falls (29). Injuries (often hip fractures) occur in approximately 25% of falls (29). Severe dyskinesias and orthostatic hypotension can also cause falls (47).

Treatment

Although adjusting the levodopa dose in the treatment of falls (e.g., reducing the dose in the on-stage freezing and increasing the dose in the off-stage freezing) is the first strategy, freezing and postural instability are often not sensitive to levodopa (29, 48, 49). In levodopa-resistant freezing, the benefit of DBS [STN, globus pallidus internus (GPi) singly or combined with pedunculopontine nucleus] is controversial. However, highfrequency stimulation such as 130Hz in STN-off period freezes and low-frequency stimulation such as 60Hz in STN-on period freezes can be recommended (49, 50). Table 4 shows nondopaminergic pharmacological treatment in freezing (49, 50). Exercise (reduces falls) and assistive devices (Walker, laser cane) can be preventative (49). Treatment of comorbidities that negatively affect mobility and may cause freezing can reduce falls (48). For example, SSRI or SNRI for depression and anxiety, rivastigmine for cognitive dysfunction, compression stockings and domperidone for orthostatic hypotension, and appropriate treatment for poor vision and musculoskeletal problems can be recommended. It has been reported that new non-drug treatment methods such as transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS), noninvasive vagus nerve stimulation (VNS), and transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) are also effective in freezing (49). In addition, the treatment of possible complications is also critical.

Drug	Group	Effect/Result
Rivastigmine	Ach-esterase inhibitor	Ineffective / Not recommended
Amantadine	Glutamate antagonist	Additional therapy in L-dopa-responsive freezing*
Methyl phenidate**	CNS stimulant	Freezing despite optimal L-dopa and STN DBS
A		
Atomoxetine**	Strattera	Ineffective/ Not recommended
Droxidopa	Prodrug of norepinephrine	Combined with entecapone in DA resistant
		freezing*
Caffeine / Istradefylline	Adenosine antagonist	Recommended for research*
Botulinum toxin	Chemical denervation	Off period freezing*

* Not clear: There are positive and negative results; **It is used in the treatment of hyperactivity attention deficit syndrome; CNS, *Central nervous system*; STN-DBS, Subthalamic nucleus-*deep brain stimulation*; DA, dopamine

4. Conclusion

In summary, accurate diagnosis and early treatment can be lifesaving in emergencies in movement disorders. Finally, complications related to device-aided therapies, including DBS, LCIG, and apomorphine subcutaneous infusion, may present extraordinary emergencies such as severe motor complications, psychosis and hyperpyrexia syndromes refractory to standard therapy (30, 38, 43). We discussed approaches to these complications in detail above.

Conflict of interest

None to declare.

Funding

None to declare.

Acknowledgments

None to declare.

Authors' contributions

Concept: D.A., M.P., Design: D.A., M.P., Data Collection or Processing: D.A., M.P., Analysis or Interpretation: D.A., M.P., Literature Search: D.A., M.P., Writing: D.A., M.P.

References

- Burn DJ. Approach to history taking and examination of the movement disorders patient. In: Burn DJ (ed.). Oxford textbook of movement disorders. Oxford University Press; Oxford, 2013:5-9.
- **2.** Dallocchio C, Matinella A, Arbasino C, Arno N, Glorioso M, Sciarretta M, et al. Movement disorders in emergency settings: a prospective study. Neurol Sci 2019;40(1):133–138.
- **3.** Robottom BJ, Factor SA, Weiner WJ. Movement disorders emergencies. Part 2: hyperkinetic disorders. Arch Neurol 2011;68(6):719-724.
- **4.** Duker AP, Espay AJ. Ballism. In: Jancovic J, Tolosa E (eds.). Parkinson's disease and movement disorders. Wolters Kluwer; Philadelphia, 2015:217-221.
- 5. Munhoz RP, Scorr LM, Factor SA. Movement disorders emergencies. Curr Opin Neurol 2015;28(4):406-412.
- **6.** Cardoso F. Sydenham chorea and other choreas. In: Jancovic J, Tolosa E (eds.). Parkinson's disease and movement disorders. Wolters Kluwer; Philadelphia, 2015:207-216.
- 7. Ehrlich DJ, Walker RH. Functional neuroimaging and chorea: a systematic review. J Clin Mov Disord 2017;4:8.
- **8.** Chang X, Hong W, Yu H, Yao Y. Chorea associated with nonketotic hyperglycemia. A case report with atypical imaging changes. Medicine. 2017;96(45): e8602.
- **9.** Weiner SG, Normandin PA. Sydenham chorea: a case report and review of the literature. Pediatr Emerg Care 2007;23(1):20-24.
- **10.** Fusco C, Spagnoli C. Corticosteroid treatment in Sydenham's chorea. Eur J Paediatr Neurol 2018;22(2):327-331.
- **11.** Dean SL, Singer HS. Treatment of Sydenham's chorea: A review of the current evidence. Tremor Other Hyperkinet Mov 2017;7:456.
- **12.** Feinstein E, Walker R. Treatment of secondary chorea: A Review of the current literature. Tremor Other Hyperkinet Mov 2020;10:22.
- **13.** Pathania M, Upadhyaya S, Lali BS, Sharma A. Chorea gravidarum: a rarity in West still haunts pregnant women in the

East. BMJ Case Rep (2013) 2013: bcr2012008096.

- 14. Palanivelu LM. Chorea gravidarum. J Obstet Gynaecol 2007;27(3):310.
- **15.** Schipper HM, Jay CA, Abrams GA. Sex hormones, pituitary, parathyroid and adrenal disorders and the nervous system. In: Aminoff MJ (ed.). Neurology and general medicine. Elsevier; Amsterdam, 2014:369-397.
- 16. Lopes MRU, Danowski A, Funke A, Rêgo J, Levy R, de Andrade DCO. Update on antiphospholipid antibody syndrome. Rev Assoc Med Bras (1992). 2017;63(11):994-999.
- 17. Handley A, Medcalf P, Hellier K, Dutta D. Movement disorders after stroke. Age Ageing 2009;38(3):260–266.
- **18.** Levy A, Chen R. Myoclonus: Pathophysiology and treatment options. Curr Treat Options Neurol 2016;18(5):21.
- Werhahn KJ, Brown P, Thompson PD, Marsden CD. The Clinical Features and prognosis of chronic posthypoxic myoclonus. Mov Disord 1997;12(2):216-220.
- 20. Bouwes A, van Poppelen D, Koelman JH, Kuiper MA, Zandstra DF, Weinstein HC, et al. Acute posthypoxic myoclonus after cardiopulmonary resuscitation. BMC Neurology 2012;12:63.
- **21.** Wijdicks EF, Parisi JE, Sharbrough FW. Prognostic value of myoclonus status in comatose survivors of cardiac arrest. Ann Neurol 1994;35(2):239-243.
- 22. Freund B, Kaplan PW. Post-hypoxic myoclonus: Differentiating benign and malignant etiologies in diagnosis and prognosis. Clin Neurophysiol Pract 2017;2:98-102.
- **23.** Kojovic M, Cordivari C, Bhatia K. Myoclonic disorders: a practical approach for diagnosis and treatment. Ther Adv Neurol Disord 2011;4(1):47–62.
- **24.** Liu ZS, Cui YH, Sun D, Lu Q, Jiang YW, Jiang L, et al. Current status, diagnosis, and treatment recommendation for tic disorders in China. Front Psychiatry 2020;11:774.
- **25.** Anandan C, Jankovic J. Botulinum toxin in movement disorders: An update. Toxins 2021;13(1):42.
- 26. Servello D, Galbiati TF, Balestrino R, Less G, Zekaj E, Michele S, et al. Deep brain stimulation for Gilles de la Tourette Syndrome: Toward limbic targets. Brain Sci 2020;10(5):301.
- 27. Spielberger S, Poewe W. Overview of parkinsonism and approach to differential diagnosis. In: Burn DJ (ed.). Movement disorders. Oxford University Press; Oxford, 2013:61-72.
- Armstrong MJ, Okun M.S. Diagnosis and treatment of Parkinson disease. JAMA 2020;323(6):548–560.
- **29.** Robottom BJ, Weiner WJ, Factor SA. Movement disorders emergencies. Part 1: Hypokinetic disorders. Arch Neurol 2011;68(5):567-572.
- 30. Rajan R, Krishnan S, Kesavapisharady KK, Kishore A. Malignant subthalamic nucleus-deep brain stimulation withdrawal syndrome in Parkinson's disease. Mov Disord Clin Pract 2016;3(3):288-291.
- 31. Toru M, Matsuda O, Makiguchi K, Sugano K. Neuroleptic malignant syndrome-like state following a withdrawal of antiparkinsonian drugs. J Nerv Ment Dis 1981;169(5):324-327.
- **32.** Mizuno Y, Takubo H, Mizuta E, Kuno S. Malignant syndrome in Parkinson's disease: concept and review of the literature. Parkinsonism Relat Disord 2003;9(Suppl 1):3-9.
- **33.** Velásquez JLC, Sanz ER, Tabuenca HC, Val JLD, Llerda JAM. Parkinsonism hyperpyrexia syndrome. Neurologia 2018;33(2):133-135.
- 34. Jones SL, Hindle JV. Parkinson's disease in the acute hospital.

Clin Med 2011;11(1):84-88.

- **35.** Sato Y, Asoh T, Metoki N, Satoh K. Efficacy of methylprednisolone pulse therapy on neuroleptic malignant syndrome in Parkinson's disease. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 2003;74(5):574–576.
- 36. Meagher LJ, McKay D, Herkes GK, Needham M. Parkinsonism– hyperpyrexia syndrome: The role of electroconvulsive therapy. J Clin Neurosci 2006;13(8):857–859.
- **37.** Douglas A, Morris J. It was not just a heatwave! Neuroleptic malignant-like syndrome in a patient with Parkinson's disease. Age Ageing 2006;35(6):640–641.
- 38. Sarchioto M, Ricchi V, Melis M, Deriu M, Arca R, Melis M, et al. Dyskinesia-hyperpyrexia syndrome in Parkinson's disease: a heat shock-related emergency? Mov Disord Clin Practice 2018;5(5):534–537.
- **39.** Chauhan NR, Kapoor M, Singh LP, Gupta RK, Meena RC, Tulsawani R, et al. Heat stress-induced neuroinflammation and aberration in monoamine levels in hypothalamus are associated with temperature dysregulation. Neuroscience 2017;358:79–92.
- **40.** Wang M, Wang W, Gao Z, Yin X, Chen T, Jiang Z, et al. Dyskinesia-hyperpyrexia syndrome in Parkinson's disease: a systematic review. Clinical Autonomic Research 2021;31(4):529–542.
- **41.** Brandom BW, Bina S, Wong CA, Wallace T, Visoiu M, Isackson PJ, et al. Ryanodine receptor type 1 gene variants in the malignant hyperthermia-susceptible population of the United States. Anesth Analg 2013;116(5):1078–1086.

- **42.** Chou SM, Gutmann L. Deteriorating parkinsonism and subdural hematomas. Neurology 2001;57(7):1290-1295.
- 43. Simonet C, Tolosa E, Camara A, Camara A, Valldeoriola F. Emergencies and critical issues in Parkinson's disease. Pract Neurol 2020;20(1):15–25.
- **44.** Jankovic J, Tan EK. Parkinson's disease: etiopathogenesis and treatment. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 2020;91(8):795–808.
- 45. Isaacson SH, Ballard CG, Kreitzman DL, Coate B, Norton JC, Fernandez HH, et al. Efficacy results of pimavanserin from a multi-center, open-label extension study in Parkinson's disease psychosis patients. Parkinsonism Relat Disord 2021;87:25–31.
- 46. Wood BH, Bilclough JA, Bowron A, Walker RW. Incidence and prediction of falls in Parkinson's disease: a prospective multidisciplinary study. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 2002;72(6):721–725.
- 47. Schrag A, Choudhury M, Kaski D, Gallagher DA. Why do patients with Parkinson's disease fall? A cross-sectional analysis of possible causes of falls. NPJ Parkinsons Dis 2015;1:15011.
- **48.** Nonnekes J, Snijders AH, Nutt JG, Deuschl G, Giladi N, Bloem BR. Freezing of gait: a practical approach to management. Lancet Neurol 2015;14(7):768–778.
- **49.** Gao C, Liu J, Tan Y, Chen S. Freezing of gait in Parkinson's disease: pathophysiology, risk factors and treatments. Transl Neurodegener 2020;9:12.
- 50. Gilat M, de Lima ALS, Bloem BR, Shine JM, Nonnekes J, Lewis S. Freezing of gait: Promising avenues for future treatment. Parkinsonism Relat Disord 2018;52:7-16.



Journal of Experimental and Clinical Medicine https://dergipark.org.tr/omujecm



gipark.org.tr/omujecm



J Exp Clin Med 2023; 40(1): 161-170 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.40.1.31

CRISPR/Cas9 system in hematopoietic stem cells: Basic research and clinical applications

Esra ALBAYRAK

Center of Stem Cell Application and Research, Ondokuz Mayıs University, Samsun, Türkiye

	Received: 08.08.2022	•	Accepted/Published Online: 07.09.2022	•	Final Version: 18.03.2023
--	----------------------	---	---------------------------------------	---	---------------------------

Abstract

Clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats (CRISPR) approach adapted from the prokaryotic adaptive immunity system against pathogen attack is so valuable and promising tool for treatment of human malignant and non-malignant hematological disease and disorders through gene editing in hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs). Moreover, the CRISPR/Cas9 approach is not only useful for therapeutic purposes; it is considerably preferred for the generation of in vitro and in vivo animal disease models. CRISPR/Cas9 approach has been developed for highly efficient on-target cleavage, and low off-target effect via delivery systems and manipulation of CRISPR components including single guide RNA (sgRNA) and Cas enzymes. In this review, we discussed the CRISPR/Cas9 system applications on hematopoietic stem cells in basic research and clinical area with basic research and clinical perspectives.

Keywords: hematopoietic stem cells, CRISPR/Cas9, gene editing, genome engineering, hematologic diseases, hematologic malignancies

1. Introduction

1.1. CRISPR System as Prokaryotic Adaptive Immunity System

The CRISPR system is found in prokaryotic organisms as a natural defense system against viral infection and exogenous plasmids. CRISPR system was discovered in Escherichia coli in 1987 (1) and it was found that this system cooperates with CRISPR-associated (Cas) proteins. We know that the prokaryotic organisms have a high ability for survival against to many difficult environmental conditions and viral attacks in spite of their simple cellular structure. This ability is associated with the management of genome homeostasis and protection from viruses using many defense systems (2). The CRISPR system, which is one of the defense systems, is mainly used against viruses, called as bacteriophages, in a prokaryotic cell. This system works in three stages including specific sequence recognition, targeting and degradation of exogenous foreign nucleic acid, respectively. CRISPR system is based on the recognition of the specific features of pathogens and thus, reminiscence of this pathogen features such as recognition of pathogen-derived structures by human immune memory B cells and rapidly reaction against to pathogens by adaptive immune system cells (3). The recognition occurs through the addition of the nucleic acids of viruses and exogenous plasmids into the CRISPR locus. This locus consists of short palindromic repeated sequences (25-35 bp). These sequences are separated by spacers (typically 30-40 bp each), also called as CRISPR array, and also the cluster of Cas genes (4). The spacer sequences of the CRISPR array that belong to different

viruses provide targeting of the viral nucleic acids and destroy them when the viral attack is repeated. The insertion of the viral nucleic acid parts into the CRISPR array is also called as adaptation stage (2). In the adaptation stage, Cas protein complex first interacts with the target nucleic acid by recognition of the specific short (2-4 bp) sequence (known as protospacer-adjacent motif (PAM)) and then, double stranded breaks (DSBs) are generated in the target DNA. The ejected region of the target DNA is inserted into the CRISPR array (4). The adaptation stage is followed by the generation of a long precursor CRISPR RNA (pre-crRNA), also called as expression stage, through the transcription of the CRISPR array and expression of Cas genes. After the maturation of precrRNA by Cas proteins, the recognition of target viral nucleic acid results in the destruction of the target by crRNA and Cas endonucleases functions. Mature crRNA has a guide function to recognize and then cleave the foreign target nucleic acid which has similarity to the previously memorized sequences in CRISPR array (2, 3). Therefore, the crRNA is referred as guide RNA (gRNA) (4). This process is also called as RNA-mediated interference (2, 3).

Cas proteins encoded by Cas genes located in the CRISPR array are another essential components of CRISPR–Cas system. Cas proteins, which display effector role, are responsible for CRISPR/Cas system diversity. CRISPR/Cas systems are mainly grouped into two classes (Class 1 and Class 2) based on the structure of the effector complex and these classes consist of six major types (Type I-VI) based on the Cas protein variety and the CRISPR locus structure (5). The Class 1 consists of multi-protein effector complexes (Cascade, Cmr, Csm), and includes types I, III and IV. However, Class 2 contains effector proteins with a single subunit that promote effector complex functions and also includes types II, V, and VI (6). Type I in Class 1 is the most common system rather than other types. In Type I system, the targeting of DNA is promoted by Cascade and PAM-dependent manner and the target DNA is destroyed by using Cas3 protein. Besides, Type III system in Class 1 which is commonly found in archea, includes the multi-protein Csm or Cmr complexes. Thus, it promotes the recognition of foreign DNA or RNA regardless of the PAM sequence and the cleavage of targets by using Cas10 protein along with effector nucleases such as RNases Cmr4 and Csm3. The last system Type IV is rare system rather than the others (6, 7). In Class 2, Type II system is characterized by Cas9 endonuclease which is a multi-domain protein (7) and dual crRNA- transactivating crRNA (tracrRNA) guides which promote the guidance of the RuvC and HNH nickase domains to form the blunt-ended DNA DSBs in target DNA with 3' PAM. Type V is rare system and includes Cpf1 (Cas12a) nuclease which promotes guidance of a single crRNA to RuvC-like endonuclease for generation of stickyends in target DNA with a 5' PAM (6). The type VI CRISPR-Cas system, which encodes the HEPN domain (higher eukaryotes and prokaryotes nucleotide)-containing effector protein Cas13 (8), targets single-stranded RNA (ssRNA) with an RNase activity through the requirement for a protospacer flanking sequence (PFS) instead of the PAM sequence. Among Class 2, Types II and V are used for DNA editing, whereas type VI is used for RNA editing (9).

The diversity on CRISPR/Cas system leads to the diversity on its functions. CRISPR/Cas systems along with these properties have become so valuable for the development of new genome engineering tool. In particular, the CRISPR–Cas9 system among overall systems has become prominent with its simplicity (5) and has become the apple of the biotechnology.

1.2. CRISPR System as Genome Editing Tool

Genome editing has paved the way in the field of biotechnology by allowing for genetic manipulation. The development of genome editing tools provides the improvement of the treatment of monogenic diseases and disorders. Genome editing technologies are not only studied in animal and human cells but also, they are valuable tools for plant genome editing enabling the improvement of crop and nutritional value, resistance to crop disease and management of the biotic and abiotic stress in many crop species (10).

Until today, several genome editing tools have been developed. The overall tools are based on the sequencespecific programmable endonucleases including meganucleases, zinc-finger nucleases (ZFNs), transcription activator-like effector nucleases (TALENs) and CRISPR-Cas

162

(11). These engineered nucleases provide genome editing through DNA repair mechanisms including non-homologous end-joining (NHEJ) or homology-directed repair (HDR) following the generation of the DSBs at the specific DNA site (12). These engineered nucleases are divided into two classes depending on the strategy of target DNA recognition. Meganucleases, ZFNs and TALENs enable the target DNA recognition with protein-DNA interactions and thus, are included in one class. The second class consists of CRISPR/Cas which provides the targeting to specific DNA site by a short RNA guide molecule (13). Therefore, meganucleases, ZFNs and TALENs are referred to the protein-based platforms while CRISPR/Cas system is referred to the RNA-guided targeting (14).

Let's briefly mention other engineered nucleases before deeply getting into the CRISPR/Cas9 system: Meganucleases are restriction endonucleases and have large recognition sites (13). ZFNs and TALENs are chimeric endonucleases and have fused two domains including the DNA binding domain and the Fokl nuclease domain (11). ZFNs have a DNA-binding domain consisting of a tandem array of Cys2His2 zinc fingers while TALENs have a DNA-binding domain derived from the proteins found in Xanthomonas plant bacteria (15). Among them, ZFNs are more expensive technology rather than the others and also, they are difficult to design. Besides, they are known to cause cytotoxicity. In contrast to ZFNs, TALENs are not cytotoxic but, they have low off-target activity (16).

Genome editing is accelerating with the development of CRISPR/Cas system modifying the mechanism of the prokaryotic adaptive immune system. CRISPR/Cas system in biotechnology uses type II and Cas9 displays a vital role as an effector protein. The RNA-guided CRISPR-Cas9 system is originally derived from Streptococcus pyogenes bacteria and it does not require target-specific protein interaction. Its specificity depends on the guidance of 20 nucleotide length guide RNA sequence and Cas9 effector protein. Guide RNA hybridizes with target DNA sequences and also, Cas9 protein is responsible for the recognition of 5'-NGG-3' sequences known as PAM (16). Cas 9 protein has six different domains including HNH, RuvC, REC I, REC II, Bridge Helix, PAM interacting domains. The nuclease domains that are responsible for cleavage of target DNA are HNH and RuvC domains. Besides, the Bridge Helix domain is associated with the cleavage activity. The Rec I domain is essential for binding to guide RNA while the function of the REC II domain remains unclear. The PAM-interacting domain plays a crucial role in binding to target DNA through contributing to PAM specificity (17). The CRISPR/Cas9 system, like other tools, benefits from natural DNA repair mechanisms such as NHEJ and HDR. NHEJ repairs the DSBs through relegation of the two DSB ends without any requirement for template and also, is used for gene suppression through the formation of insertion or deletion (Indel) mutations. HDR requires a homologous template for repair and thus, it is used for replacement of a mutated gene

and recovery of gene (13). Besides, the adaptation (spacer acquisition), expression (crRNA biogenesis) and interference stages of the CRISPR system in a prokaryotic cell are adapted in the engineered technology with the specific design of single guide RNA (sgRNA). Moreover, trans-activating crRNA is discovered as an anti-sense RNA and a cofactor for Cas9 nuclease and, it also contributes to processing crRNAs (15). Briefly, CRISPR/Cas9 system initiates with the binding of gRNA to Cas9 nuclease and thus, Cas9 protein is activated with the conformational changes. Cas9 protein screens the DNA sequences to find the target DNA sequences that can match PAM specific sequence and then, gRNA binds to the target region. Finally, Cas9 nuclease domains form the cleavage on the target DNA (17).

The CRISPR-Cas9 system is more applicable than proteinbased nucleases with many advantages. Cas9 protein is a stable component for CRISPR/Cas applications however; other nucleases are newly synthesized depending on the target. CRISPR-Cas9 is a cheaper technology than the others. Importantly, multiple gene editing can be performed with CRISPR/Cas9 system through the use of different sgRNA specifically designed for the different DNA sites (18).

CRISPR/Cas9 system is mainly used with three strategies including the plasmid-based CRISPR-Cas9 system, transfer of Cas9 mRNA and sgRNA and also, transfer of Cas9 protein and sgRNA to the target cell. Overall strategies have been developed to increase the CRISPR-Cas9 efficiency and thus, focus on different points and have different advantages and disadvantages. Plasmid-based CRISPR/Cas9 system is developed to prevent multiple transfections and thus, single plasmid encoding Cas9 nuclease and sgRNA, which is specific to the target DNA site, is used in this strategy. However, plasmid transfer processes result in different challenges. Another strategy involves the transfer of Cas9 mRNA and sgRNA into the target cell. However, low stability of transferred mRNA can cause the failure of gene editing and thus, it is a major problem for this strategy. The direct delivery of Cas9 protein and sgRNA into the target cell has many advantages, including high stability, showing faster function and low immune response (18).

The efficiency of CRISPR/Cas9 technology not only depends on Cas9 and sgRNA forms but, it also significantly depends on the delivery methods including viral and non-viral delivery systems. Each system has different advantages and disadvantages. In viral system, viral vectors are used for the delivery of CRISPR/Cas9 components. The utilized viral vectors are mainly divided into two groups such as integrating (retroviruses and lentiviruses) and non-integrating vectors (adeno-associated viruses (AAVs), adenoviruses, and herpes viruses) (18). Among them, AAVs and Lentiviruses are more useful and popular depending on their non-pathogenicity, low immunogenicity, and high infection efficiency (19). However, the integration of viral vector into the host cell genome is the main handicap for this delivery system. Therefore, non-viral delivery systems including the physical delivery systems, microinjection, electroporation, hydrodynamic delivery, lipid transfection, and utilization of gold nanoparticles become more preferable (18).

The utilization of CRISPR/Cas9 system in biotechnology is limited by off-target and on-target issues. It is expected that CRISPR/Cas9 system having sgRNA and PAM sequences matching to target DNA site only perform the genetic manipulations on the interested site. However, CRISPR/Cas9 system can recognize the undesired DNA regions and cleave these regions. This circumstance is called off-target effect of CRISPR/Cas9 system. Off-target effects cause genomic instability and toxicity, functional destruction in genes, epigenetic alterations, cell death, transformation and accordingly carcinogenesis (18). For reduction of the off-target and increase of the on-target efficiency, many various strategies based on the main components of the CRISPR/Cas9 system such as sgRNA and Cas9 have been developed. These strategies include truncation of the 3' end of sgRNA and the addition of two guanine nucleotides to the 5' end of the sgRNA, optimization of Cas9-sgRNA concentration, replacement of wild type Cas9 nuclease with D10 nickase, which is a mutant version of Cas9 allowing cleavage of only one strand (also known as paired nicking strategy), generation of fused dysfunctional Cas9 with FokI nuclease domain catalytically (fCas9) leading to enhanced DNA cleavage specificity and also, co-transfer of chemically modified sgRNAs with Cas9 mRNA or protein. Among them, modification of sgRNA and Cas9-sgRNA concentration strategies may reduce on-target specificity along with minimizing off-target effect and thus, it requires a balance (20). CRISPR/Cas9 applications are also limited by the induction of DNA damage toxicity because of the trigger of CRISPR-induced DSBs to apoptosis (21). To overcome this, different Cas9 variants such as catalytically inactive endonuclease dead Cas9 (dCas9), which perform gene editing without the generation of DSBs and Cas9 nickase, which induces single-strand breaks rather than DSBs, have been developed. These variants may prevent this limitation through the elimination of the risks of DSBs (22, 23). In addition to the DNA-damage toxicity, immunogenic toxicity caused by anti-Cas9 antibodies and the antibodies against the AAV vector used for the delivery of CRISPR components can be seen as a problem for CRISPR/Cas9 applications. For that, researchers have investigated the different Cas9 orthologs and AAV serotypes that may be safer for gene editing through prediction of the binding strength to major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I and class II (21).

Studies are still being conducted to improve the efficiency of CRISPR/Cas9 and to avoid its limitations. The CRISPR/Cas system is a promising and valuable tool for therapeutically treatment of viral infection, cardiovascular, hematologic and eye diseases, muscular dystrophy, neurological and immunological disorders and also, cancer therapy. The CRISPR/Cas system is not only used for gene therapy but also, it is important for the generation of transgenic cell lines and animal models through the mimicking of various modifications of DNA. Besides, the CRISPR/Cas9 system is preferred for the manipulation of plant genomes for crop improvement (17).

In this review, we will specifically discuss the applications of CRISPR/Cas system, which has a wide application area, in HSCs and thus, improvements in the treatment of malignant or non-malignant hematological diseases and disorders with research and clinical perspectives.

1.3. Basic Research on CRISPR System in Hematopoietic Stem Cells

In 2013, the CRISPR/Cas9-mediated genome editing was firstly applied in the mammalian cells (24, 25). This milestone has accelerated the research on the treatment of various diseases with gene therapy and the generation of in vitro and in vivo disease models. Especially, gene editing applications in HSCs are highly curative approach for many hematological diseases and disorders.

Hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (HSCT) is a widely used approach for the treatment of many hematological diseases and malignancies with the ability to reconstitute the hematopoietic system. HSCT is divided into two categories, such as autologous transplantation, in which the patient's healthy blood stem cells are used, and allogeneic transplantation, which uses the stem cells from foreign healthy donors. The utilization of allogeneic HSCT has many limitations, such as the lack of a human leukocyte antigen (HLA)-matched donor, the risk of progressing graft versus host disease (GVHD) and infection depending on immune suppression. As a result, autologous transplantation is a viable alternative to allogeneic HSCT and has demonstrated efficacy in clinical trials for hematological diseases and malignancies, metabolic storage diseases, and immunodeficiency disorders with the development of gene therapy. The autologous transplantation of genetically edited HSCs provides more safety and efficiency for various genetic and oncological diseases (26).

The monogenic β -hemoglobinopathy diseases caused by mutations in the β -globin (HBB) gene, commonly consist of sickle cell disease (SCD) and β -thalassemia and are conventionally treated by HSC transplantation (27). However, hemoglobinopathies could be ameliorated by these CRISPR/Cas9 system-mediated gene correction in patientderived HSCs. Gene editing on β-hemoglobinopathies with CRISPR/Cas9 system is based on gene correction, HBB gene insertion, and the disruption of genes suppressing the fetal hemoglobin (HbF). Among them, gene correction and gene insertion are more difficult strategies because of the quiescent properties of HSCs that are not eligible for HDR that occurs in the G2 phase of the cell cycle. Therefore, an NHEJ-based strategy is more applicable (28). However, Dever et al. showed that CD34+ HSPCs obtained from mobilized peripheral blood

164

(mPB) can be genetically modified at the HBB locus through the utilization of Cas9 ribonucleoproteins (RNPs) along with recombinant AAV6 donor delivery in spite of their resistance and the enrichment of the cells might enhance the editing efficiency if it is combined with HSC expansion technologies such as small molecule drug utilization (29). Another study also used the enrichment strategy of targeted-HSPCs (hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells) to minimize inefficient HSC targeting and optimized a protocol by using CRISPR/Cas9 and recombinant AAV6 homologous donor delivery for improvement of the gene therapy for blood and immune system diseases and disorders (30). Moreover, researchers described the new method based on electroporation of RNPs instead of using lentiviral transduction to edit the genomes of murine and human HSPCs using the CRISPR/Cas9 system and thus, showed that this method improves the CRISPR/Cas9 applications on hematopoiesis and hematologic diseases with no requirement for the stages of lentiviral transduction, minimizing the risks of lentiviral integration in unwanted regions and also, no requirement of a mouse strain expressing Cas9 (31). Many studies have focused on the disruption of genes suppressing HbF such as BCL11A, KLF1, and ZBTB7A genes for HbF reactivation (32). In relation to that, Lattanzi et al. tried to optimize a new efficient protocol for CRISPR/Cas9 mediated gene editing on β-globin locus in mobilized CD34+ HSPCs by using plasmid or lentiviral mediated and DNA-free delivery methods and demonstrated that the plasmid-mediated delivery method had high cell toxicity and also, lentiviral-mediated delivery had a high level of off-target cleavage. However, RNA or RNP delivery had low off-target effect and toxicity on primary HSPCs, thus it could be used for gene editing (33). Another study developed an optimized protocol based on the editing of the BCL11A enhancer gene which is required for HbF repression by using modified synthetic sgRNA, SpCas9 protein (34). Besides, Samuelson et al. also investigated the new platform including multiplex CRISPR/Cas9-mediated gene editing on the BCL11A enhancer and the HBG promoter, which are required for HbF repression, in human HSCs. They showed that targeting and dual-editing on these genes provided the generation of HbF but, resulted in chromosomal rearrangement and thus, reported that this protocol had some safety concern resulting from the generation of chromosomal translocations in clinical usage despite HbF reinduction (35). Yen et al. developed a device (called TRIAMF) which is based on a filter membrane and provides cell permeabilization for the delivery of RNPs to HSPCs as an alternative to electroporation system. They reported that the usage of TRIAMF provided the in vitro HbF induction and also, protected the normal multi-lineage and engraftment potential in NSG mice [Non-obese diabetic (NOD) severe combined immune deficient (SCID) gamma mice]. Besides, the data showing that the erythrocytes derived from the engrafted edited HSPCs provided the maintenance of high level HbF induction until 20 weeks as a result of TRIAMF device support that this low cost and non-electroporated device

is so promising for delivery of RNPs into HSPCs (36). Moreover, the information about that the precipitation of α globin induces the apoptosis and death of erythroid lineages indicates the importance of the balance between of α and β globin subunits in treatment of β -thalassemia caused by the abnormalities on hemoglobin synthesis which consists of 2 pairs of α and β globin subunits. The study trying to ameliorate the β -thalassemia with genetically editing of the α -globin locus in HSPCs was based on the two strategies including downregulation of a-globin gene HBA2 and also, upregulation of β-globin gene by using Cas9 nickase allowing precise gene editing without InDel mutations. They performed the CISPR/Cas9 mediated gene editing on healthy HSPCs and then, on HSPCs of the patients with β -thalassemia. They showed that the edited healthy HSPCs had the long-term repopulation and multipotency capacities, as well as that CRISPR/Cas9 mediated gene editing provided the correction of α/β globin imbalance in HSPC-derived erythroblasts. This study revealed the novel approach on CRISPR/Cas9 application in HSPCs for β -thalassemia treatment (37). In relation to the balance between α and β globin chains, Mettananda et al. also used an alternative strategy based on knockdown α-globin expression through CRISPR/Cas9mediated mutation generation on MCS-R2 gene, which is an enhancer of a-globin in human CD34+ LT-HSCs and they provided the knockdown of a-globin in erythroid cells generated by edited HSCs without any distruption on erythroid differentiation or off-target activity (38). SCD from βhemoglobinopathies is also being investigated for CRISPR/Cas9 mediated gene editing. The study about the correction of SCD mutation used the RNP/ single-stranded oligodeoxynucleotides (ssODN)-based CRISPR system and revealed the efficient HDR-mediated correction of the mutation in SCD HSPCs and also, enhanced production of γ globin and fetal hemoglobin (39). In another study, it was shown that the usage of high-fidelity (HiFi) Cas9 variant with sgRNA and ssODN provided the correction of HBB gene in CD34+ HSPCs derived from SCD-patient and also, the edited cells differentiated into normal erythroid cells having a normal level of hemoglobin. Besides, these edited HSPCs had the ability to engraft and maintain post 16 weeks of transplantation (40). CRISPR-mediated gene editing is also a curative approach against immunodeficiencies, hematologic disorders and malignancies in addition to hemoglobinopathies. There are many researches regarding this.

Wiskott-Aldrich Syndrome (WAS) caused by mutations in the WAS gene, which is associated with cytoskeleton of hematopoietic cells, is an X-linked severe primary immunodeficiency. CRISPR/Cas9 or ZFN systems provides the gene addition to K-562 cancer cells with WAS donor template (41). Rai et al. also developed a CRISPR/Cas9 platform based on the knock-in WAS complementary DNA (cDNA) in patient-derived CD34+ HSPCs and thus, provided the amelioration of WAS expression by using gRNA targeting

WAS 5'UTR and an AAV6 vector (42).

The X-linked chronic granulomatous disease (X-CGD) from immunodeficiency syndromes was also genetically corrected to repair a mutation in CYBB gene by CRISPR/Cas9 system with HDR mechanism in CD34+ HSPC (43). Sweeney et al. also focused on gene therapy for X-CGD treatment and presented a CRISPR/Cas9-mediated HDR repair approach based on the targeted insertion of CYBB cDNA in X-CGD patient-derived HSPCs in combination with inhibitor of 53BP1, which is responsible for choosing NHEJ over HDR (44).

Severe combined immunodeficiency (SCID-X1) from Xlinked disorders is caused by mutations in the IL2RG gene located on the X chromosome and is a target for gene editing. Pavel-Dinu et al. described a modified CRISPR-Cas9-AAV6 approach based on the integration of cDNA which results in the gene correction >97% of IL2RG mutations on CD34+ HSPCs derived from SCID-X1 patient compared to healthy donor-, PB- and umbilical cord blood (UCB)-derived CD34+ HSPCs and also, provided the clinical advantages with safety (45).

In a study about the immunodeficiency focused on the treatment of X-linked agammaglobulinemia (XLA) caused by a mutation in the Bruton's tyrosine kinase (BTK) gene through the integration of BTK cDNA into the 5' end of BTK locus by using the HR mediated-CRISPR-Cas9 approach in mPB CD34+ cells and they showed the safety and efficiency of this approach for XLA treatment (46).

Friedreich ataxia (FRDA) caused by genetic abnormalities in the FXN gene is an autosomal recessive disorder (47). Researchers who reported that the HSPC transplantation can be used for the treatment of FRDA carried out a study based on the gene correction on CD34+ cells from a patient's peripheral blood with FRDA by using CRISPR/Cas9 system. They corrected the FXN gene in FRDA patients' CD34+ cells through the removal of GAA expansion with high efficiency, no cytotoxic effect in vitro or in vivo while the transplanted cells had engraftment and clonogenicity abilities (48).

Gomez-Ospina et al. firstly showed the application of CRISPR/Cas9 mediated gene editing for the treatment of Mucopolysaccharidosis type I (MPSI), which is a common lysosomal storage disease (LSD) from genetic disorders caused by lysosomal protein deficiencies and also, caused by iduronidase (IDUA) deficiency. They overexpressed IDUA protein using the CCR5 locus to deliver RNP and AAV6-mediated templates into human CD34+ HSPCs, revealing an efficient platform that allowed the edited HSPCs to provide the lysosomal protein while maintaining long-term repopulation and multi-lineage differentiation potential in the MPSI mouse model (49).

From metabolic disorders for which hematopoietic stem cell transplantation is a treatment option, Pyruvate kinase

deficiency (PKD) is caused by mutations in the liver and erythroid pyruvate kinase gene (PKLR). Fañanas-Baquero et al. used an RNP delivery-based CRISPR/Cas9 approach through rAAV6 transduction in human UCB HSPCs and showed the correction phenotype in erythroid cells derived from edited-PKD-HSPCs (49).

The CRISPR/Cas9 system is also used for gene knock-in, which is required for supplementation of a protein (also called protein replacement therapy) that is deficient because of a genetic defect for the treatment of many diseases. Pavani et al. developed an ex vivo editing platform to integrate the therapeutic transgenes into the genome under the transcriptional control of the α -globin promoter, which is a suitable locus for transgene knock-in, for enhancement of their expressions on human HSPCs. After knock-in of therapeutic transgenes, they demonstrated that erythroblasts derived from targeted HSPCs secreted the therapeutic proteins with maintained multi-lineage differentiation and long-term repopulation potential and thus presented the safety of the novel CRISPR-Cas9-based HSPC platform (50).

Moreover, CIRSPR/Cas9 approach is more beneficial for the contribution to immunotherapy. The study about the generation of resistance to immunotherapy targeting CD33 in normal hematopoietic cells demonstrated the efficient CRISPR/Cas9-mediated deletion of CD33 exon 2, which is responsible for expression of the V-set domain recognized by therapeutics targeting CD33, but not full-length CD33 to reduce the potential adverse effects caused by in vitro and in vivo disruption of the entire CD33 locus in hematopoietic cells and in immunodeficient mice (51). Another group also investigated the potential of CRISPR/Cas9 approach based on the NHEJ-mediated disruption of the CD33 gene to generate the resistance to CD33 CAR T therapy in normal HSPCs for leukemia treatment. They generated the CD33 knockout mPB-HSPC and thus, revealed that CD33 knockout HSPCs provided immune reconstitution post acute myeloid leukemia (AML) targeting with CD33 CART therapy (52).

The applications of CRISPR/Cas9 system are so common for human immunodeficiency virus (HIV-1) treatment. The study about the generation of HIV-1 resistance cells revealed that CRISPR/Cas9 with two sgRNA guiding SaCas9 (Staphylococcus aureus Cas9) that is known with the effective gene editing ability and ease of delivery provided the distruption on chemokine receptor 5 (CCR5) gene by using lentiviral delivery method in primary CD4+ T cells and human CD34+ HSPCs and thus, present an alternative approach for HIV-1 treatment (53). In addition, many studies have been carried out for the generation of CRISPR/Cas9 mediated-CCR5 ablation human CD34+ HSPCs to obtain the HIV-1 resistance cells (54-56).

Gene editing tools are important for the treatment of the hereditary disease Fanconi anemia (FA) which is caused by different mutations in 22 FA genes. Autologous edited-HSC

166

transplantation is mostly curative therapy (57). CRISPR/Cas9 approach has been mostly investigated in fibroblasts or induced-pluripotent stem cells derived from patients (58-63). Moreover, gene correction in HSCs is another strategy for FA treatment. Roman-Rodriquez et al. showed the correction of FA phenotype through the generation of compensatory mutations on the coding frame of FA proteins, which is required for the FA pathway, in FA patient-derived HSPC by using NHEJ-mediated repair in their preclinical study (64).

The CRISPR/Cas9 system is also used for the generation of disease models. Regarding this, Jeong et al. successfully generated a leukemia model by using the CRISPR/Cas9 system through induction of the chromosomal translocation between the MLL and AF9 genes in human UCB-derived CD34+ cells via the delivery of CRISPR/Cas9 as RNPs using electroporation (65). Another group also generated the murine leukemia model through the induction of reciprocal translocation between MLL and AF9 genes in both mouse cell line and primary isolated HSPCs by using CRISPR/Cas9 approach with a dual-single guide RNA (66). To generate a leukemia model characterized by translocation between MLL and ENL genes (t[11;19]/MLL-ENL), researchers generated chromosomal rearrangements on these gene locus by using the CRISPR/Cas9 system. This lentiviral-mediated CRISPR/Cas9 delivery system provided the generation of leukemia model through transformation of human UCB-derived CD34+ HSPCs (67). Schiroli et al. presented SCID-X1 mouse model with the efficacy and safety of hematopoietic reconstitution arising from edited HSPCs through CRISPR/Cas9-mediated gene correction on IL2RG in human HSPCs (68). Another gene editing study on HSPCs was carried out to generate the GATA1 transcription factor expressed HSPC model. They provided the expression of GATA1 isoforms including long and short isoforms in neonatal cord blood-derived long-term (LT-HSCs) and short-term HSCs (ST-HSCs), and myeloerythroid progenitors (MEPs). Therefore, down syndrome associated with AMKL was modeled with editing of GATA1 short isoform in CRISPR/Cas9 edited-HSPCs (69).

The CRISPR/Cas9 approach has been improved for more efficient editing without adverse effects including a low level of on-target cleavage and a high level of off-target activity. Researchers have optimized and developed many protocols for this aim. In this context, Hendel et al. used chemically modified sgRNAs, which is specific to IL2RG, HBB and CCR5, to induce gene editing efficiency and reduce off-target effect in cell lines and primary isolated human T and CD34+ HSPCs. They revealed that chemically modified sgRNA enhanced genome editing efficiencies rather than unmodified sgRNA through co-delivery of chemically modified sgRNAs with Cas9 mRNA or protein (70). Mandal et al. investigated the on-target efficiency and off-target cleavage risks depending on the utilization of sgRNA and dual gRNA in the CRISPR/Cas9 system in primary isolated human CD4+ T and CD34+ HSPCs through generation of beta-2 microglobulin (B2M) and CCR5 gene ablations. B2M, which is a component of MHC class I, ablation could be useful for generation of hypoimmunogenic cells for immunotherapy molecules and also, CCR5 ablation is important for the protection from HIV infection. They showed that the use of CRISPR/Cas9 with sgRNAs provided the efficient CCR5 ablation in CD34+ HSPCs, but not for B2M ablation in CD4+ T cells. However, the use of CRISPR/Cas9 with a dual gRNA enhanced gene deletion efficiency in CD4+ T and CD34+ HSPCs for B2M gene and also, for CCR5 gene in CD34+HSPCs. This approach is promising for efficient on-target and low off-target mutagenesis (71). In this regard, a study on CCR5 ablation using CRISPR/Cas9 editing revealed that CCR5 was edited by a non-viral CRISPR/Cas9 system with minimal off-target effect, and thus CCR5 ablated LT-HSCs provided long-term reconstitution and improved resistance to HIV-1 infection in transplanted immunodeficient mice. These findings revealed an alternative strategy for gene therapy on HSCs (54).

1.4. Clinical Applications of CRISPR System for Hematopoietic Stem Cells

Hematopoietic stem cells are generally used for curative therapy as allogeneic or autologous HSCT for hematological malignant /non-malignant and monogenic diseases. As explained before, allogeneic HSCT has many limitations including lack of HLA-matched donor, risk of GVHD and infection arising from immune suppression occurring for transplantation. Herein, autologous HSCT presents an alternative approach for eliminating these adverse effects of allogeneic HSCT. Especially, autologous transplantation of CRISPR/Cas9 mediated-edited HSCs is so promising for many hematological and monogenic diseases and disorders. Gene

therapy approach with viral vectors and gene editing tools such as ZFNs, TALENs and Meganucleases have recently been mostly preferable for treatment of many diseases. Especially, there are several ongoing and completed clinical trials about gene editing in HSCs (http://clinicaltrials.gov/) (summarized in Table 1). Among these, ZFNs-based gene editing in HSCs has been extensively clinically tested for inducing resistance to HIV infection via CCR5 disruption (NCT02500849) and reactivation of HbF for hemoglobinopathy treatment via BCL11A enhancer blocking (NCT03432364). The advantages and efficiency of CRISPR/Cas9 system have become a promising approach for gene correction in HSCs (72). Among them, CTX001, which is autologous CD34+ hHSPCs genetically edited by CRISPR-Cas9 system on BCL11A gene to produce HbF in HSCs, is particularly tested in phase I/II clinical trials in pediatric and general subject with βhemoglobinopathies (β-thalassemia (NCT03655678; NCT05356195) and SCD (NCT03745287; NCT05329649). Another clinical trial (NCT04925206) has also been carried out for β -thalassemia treatment through targeting of BCL11A repressor gene. In addition to reactivation of HbF, the replacement of mutated β-globin through gene correction is another approach for treatment of β -hemoglobinopathies (β thalassemia (NCT03728322; NCT05444894) and SCD (NCT04774536; NCT04819841). Other clinical trial has been carried out to investigate resistance to CD33-targetedimmunotherapy through the CD33 ablation with CRISPR system in HSCs (NCT04849910). Moreover, a clinical study (NCT03164135) has been performed for the evaluation of the safety of CRISPR-mediated CCR5 modified CD34+ cell transplantation for HIV-1 treatment.

	Tuble I: ennie	di tituis associated wi	th Children in Cuby mee	nated gene carting in 11505	
NCT number	Phase	Disease	Target	Responsible party	Status
<u>NCT03655678</u>	II/III	β-Thalassemia (Pediatric Participants)	BCL11A	Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated	Active
<u>NCT04925206</u>	I	β-Thalassemia	BCL11A	EdiGene (GuangZhou) Inc.	Active
<u>NCT05356195</u>	III	β-Thalassemia	BCL11A	Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated	Recruiting
<u>NCT04208529</u>	LT-Follow-up Study	β-Thalassemia	BCL11A	Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated	Enrolling by invitation
NCT03728322	Early Phase 1	β-Thalassemia	β-globin	Allife Medical Science and Technology Co., Ltd.	Unknown
NCT05444894	I/II	β-Thalassemia	β-globin	Editas Medicine, Inc.	Recruiting
<u>NCT04774536</u>	I/II	SCD	β-globin	Mark Walters, MD, Professor in Residence, University of California, San Francisco	Not yet recruiting
NCT04819841	I/II	SCD	β-globin	Graphite Bio, Inc.	Recruiting
<u>NCT03745287</u>	II/III	SCD	BCL11A	Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated	Active
<u>NCT05329649</u>	III	SCD (Pediatric Participants)	BCL11A	Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated	Recruiting
NCT04849910	I/II	AML	CD33	Vor Biopharma	Recruiting
NCT05309733	LT- Follow-up Study	AML	CD33	Vor Biopharma	Recruiting
NCT03164135	-	HIV-1	CCR5	Affiliated Hospital to Academy of Military Medical Sciences	Unknown

 Table 1. Clinical trials associated with CRISPR/Cas9-mediated gene editing in HSCs

Note: Information from clinicaltrials.gov.tr; LT: Long-term, SCD: Sickle cell disease; AML: Acute myeloid leukemia, HIV-1: human immunodeficiency virus

In the light of all preclinical and clinical studies, it can be highlighted the power of CRISPR/Cas9 approach in therapeutic area and the importance of the improvement of new platforms to enhance the gene editing efficiency and clinically feasibility.

2. Conclusion

HSCs which are valuable for the treatment of malignant and non-malignant hematological disease and disorders via transplantation are offered as a target for gene editing. Therefore, the CRISPR/Cas9 system of genome editing tools has been developed as a curative approach for hematological malignancies and diseases. In spite of the many advantages of the CIRSPR/Cas9 system including its fast and cost-effective, this technology has several technical limitations. Many studies have developed new platforms and protocols to overcome these limitations. Until today, many preclinical and clinical studies have shown the potential of CRISPR/Cas9 approach in correction of genetic abnormalities in HSCs and the curative action of the CRISPR/Cas9-mediated edited HSCs. Along with all these properties, CRISPR/Cas9 gene editing tool is considered a valuable and promising therapeutic method for future gene therapy.

Conflict of interest

None to declare.

Funding

None to declare.

Acknowledgments

None to declare.

Authors' contributions

Concept: E.A., Design: E.A., Data Collection or Processing: E.A., Analysis or Interpretation: E.A. Literature Search: E.A., Writing: E.A.

References

- 1. Ishino Y, Krupovic M, Forterre P. History of CRISPR-Cas from encounter with a mysterious repeated sequence to genome editing technology. Journal of bacteriology. 2018;200(7):e00580-17.
- **2.** Barrangou R. The roles of CRISPR–Cas systems in adaptive immunity and beyond. Current opinion in immunology. 2015;32:36-41.
- **3.** Rath D, Amlinger L, Rath A, Lundgren M. The CRISPR-Cas immune system: biology, mechanisms and applications. Biochimie. 2015;117:119-28.
- Koonin EV, Makarova KS. Origins and evolution of CRISPR-Cas systems. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B. 2019;374(1772):20180087.
- 5. Burmistrz M, Krakowski K, Krawczyk-Balska A. RNA-targeting CRISPR–Cas systems and their applications. Int J Mol Sci. 2020;21(3):1122.
- 6. Barrangou R. Diversity of CRISPR-Cas immune systems and molecular machines. Genome biology. 2015;16(1):1-11.
- Makarova KS, Wolf YI, Alkhnbashi OS, Costa F, Shah SA, Saunders SJ, et al. An updated evolutionary classification of CRISPR–Cas systems. Nature Reviews Microbiology. 2015;13(11):722-36.

- Hille F, Richter H, Wong SP, Bratovič M, Ressel S, Charpentier E. The biology of CRISPR-Cas: backward and forward. Cell. 2018;172(6):1239-59.
- **9.** Moon SB, Kim DY, Ko J-H, Kim Y-S. Recent advances in the CRISPR genome editing tool set. Experimental & molecular medicine. 2019;51(11):1-11.
- Barman A, Deb B, Chakraborty S. A glance at genome editing with CRISPR-Cas9 technology. Curr Genet. 2020;66(3):447-62.
- 11. Kirchner M, Schneider S. CRISPR-Cas: From the Bacterial Adaptive Immune System to a Versatile Tool for Genome Engineering. Angewandte Chemie International Edition. 2015;54(46):13508-14.
- **12.** Carroll D. Focus: genome editing: genome editing: past, present, and future. The Yale journal of biology and medicine. 2017;90(4):653.
- **13.** Cox DBT, Platt RJ, Zhang F. Therapeutic genome editing: prospects and challenges. Nat Med. 2015;21(2):121-31.
- 14. Mao YF, Botella JR, Liu YG, Zhu JK. Gene editing in plants: progress and challenges. Natl Sci Rev. 2019;6(3):421-37.
- Jiang W, Marraffini LA. CRISPR-Cas: new tools for genetic manipulations from bacterial immunity systems. Annual review of microbiology. 2015;69:209-28.
- 16. Kanchiswamy CN, Maffei M, Malnoy M, Velasco R, Kim J-S. Fine-tuning next-generation genome editing tools. Trends in Biotechnology. 2016;34(7):562-74.
- 17. Gupta D, Bhattacharjee O, Mandal D, Sen MK, Dey D, Dasgupta A, et al. CRISPR-Cas9 system: A new-fangled dawn in gene editing. Life Sci. 2019;232:116636.
- 18. Karimian A, Azizian K, Parsian H, Rafieian S, Shafiei-Irannejad V, Kheyrollah M, et al. CRISPR/Cas9 technology as a potent molecular tool for gene therapy. J Cell Physiol. 2019;234(8):12267-77.
- 19. Liu C, Zhang L, Liu H, Cheng K. Delivery strategies of the CRISPR-Cas9 gene-editing system for therapeutic applications. J Control Release. 2017;266:17-26.
- **20.** Zhang X-H, Tee LY, Wang X-G, Huang Q-S, Yang S-H. Offtarget effects in CRISPR/Cas9-mediated genome engineering. Molecular Therapy-Nucleic Acids. 2015;4:e264.
- **21.** Uddin F, Rudin CM, Sen T. CRISPR gene therapy: applications, limitations, and implications for the future. Front Oncol. 2020;10:1387.
- 22. Hu Z, Yu L, Zhu D, Ding W, Wang X, Zhang C, et al. Disruption of HPV16-E7 by CRISPR/Cas system induces apoptosis and growth inhibition in HPV16 positive human cervical cancer cells. Biomed Res Int. 2014;2014.
- **23.** Moses C, Nugent F, Waryah CB, Garcia-Bloj B, Harvey AR, Blancafort P. Activating PTEN tumor suppressor expression with the CRISPR/dCas9 system. Molecular Therapy-Nucleic Acids. 2019;14:287-300.
- 24. Cong L, Ran FA, Cox D, Lin S, Barretto R, Habib N, et al. Multiplex genome engineering using CRISPR/Cas systems. Science. 2013;339(6121):819-23.
- **25.** Ran FA, Hsu PD, Wright J, Agarwala V, Scott DA, Zhang F. Genome engineering using the CRISPR-Cas9 system. Nature Protocols. 2013;8(11):2281-308.
- 26. Daniel-Moreno A, Lamsfus-Calle A, Raju J, Antony JS, Handgretinger R, Mezger M. CRISPR/Cas9-modified hematopoietic stem cells—present and future perspectives for stem cell transplantation. Bone Marrow Transplantation.
2019;54(12):1940-50.

- **27.** Frati G, Miccio A. Genome editing for β -hemoglobinopathies: Advances and challenges. J Clin Med. 2021;10(3):482.
- 28. Miyaoka Y, Berman JR, Cooper SB, Mayerl SJ, Chan AH, Zhang B, et al. Systematic quantification of HDR and NHEJ reveals effects of locus, nuclease, and cell type on genome-editing. Sci Rep-Uk. 2016;6(1):1-12.
- 29. Dever DP, Bak RO, Reinisch A, Camarena J, Washington G, Nicolas CE, et al. CRISPR/Cas9 β-globin gene targeting in human haematopoietic stem cells. Nature. 2016;539(7629):384-9.
- **30.** Bak RO, Dever DP, Porteus MH. CRISPR/Cas9 genome editing in human hematopoietic stem cells. Nature protocols. 2018;13(2):358-76.
- **31.** Gundry MC, Brunetti L, Lin A, Mayle AE, Kitano A, Wagner D, et al. Highly efficient genome editing of murine and human hematopoietic progenitor cells by CRISPR/Cas9. Cell reports. 2016;17(5):1453-61.
- **32.** Bauer DE, Kamran SC, Orkin SH. Reawakening fetal hemoglobin: prospects for new therapies for the β-globin disorders. Blood, The Journal of the American Society of Hematology. 2012;120(15):2945-53.
- **33.** Lattanzi A, Meneghini V, Pavani G, Amor F, Ramadier S, Felix T, et al. Optimization of CRISPR/Cas9 delivery to human hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells for therapeutic genomic rearrangements. Mol Ther. 2019;27(1):137-50.
- **34.** Wu Y, Zeng J, Roscoe BP, Liu P, Yao Q, Lazzarotto CR, et al. Highly efficient therapeutic gene editing of human hematopoietic stem cells. Nat Med. 2019;25(5):776-83.
- **35.** Samuelson C, Radtke S, Zhu H, Llewellyn M, Fields E, Cook S, et al. Multiplex CRISPR/Cas9 genome editing in hematopoietic stem cells for fetal hemoglobin reinduction generates chromosomal translocations. Mol Ther-Meth Clin D. 2021;23:507-23.
- **36.** Yen J, Fiorino M, Liu Y, Paula S, Clarkson S, Quinn L, et al. TRIAMF: a new method for delivery of Cas9 ribonucleoprotein complex to human hematopoietic stem cells. Sci Rep-Uk. 2018;8(1):1-11.
- 37. Pavani G, Fabiano A, Laurent M, Amor F, Cantelli E, Chalumeau A, et al. Correction of β-thalassemia by CRISPR/Cas9 editing of the α-globin locus in human hematopoietic stem cells. Blood advances. 2021;5(5):1137-53.
- **38.** Mettananda S, Fisher CA, Hay D, Badat M, Quek L, Clark K, et al. Editing an α-globin enhancer in primary human hematopoietic stem cells as a treatment for β-thalassemia. Nature communications. 2017;8(1):1-11.
- **39.** DeWitt MA, Magis W, Bray NL, Wang T, Berman JR, Urbinati F, et al. Selection-free genome editing of the sickle mutation in human adult hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells. Sci Transl Med. 2016;8(360):360ra134.
- **40.** Park SH, Lee CM, Dever DP, Davis TH, Camarena J, Srifa W, et al. Highly efficient editing of the β -globin gene in patient-derived hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells to treat sickle cell disease. Nucleic acids research. 2019;47(15):7955-72.
- **41.** Gutierrez-Guerrero A, Sanchez-Hernandez S, Galvani G, Pinedo-Gomez J, Martin-Guerra R, Sanchez-Gilabert A, et al. Comparison of zinc finger nucleases versus CRISPR-specific nucleases for genome editing of the Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome locus. Hum Gene Ther. 2018;29(3):366-80.
- **42.** Rai R, Romito M, Rivers E, Turchiano G, Blattner G, Vetharoy W, et al. Targeted gene correction of human hematopoietic stem cells for the treatment of Wiskott-Aldrich Syndrome. Nature

communications. 2020;11(1):1-15.

- **43.** De Ravin SS, Li L, Wu X, Choi U, Allen C, Koontz S, et al. CRISPR-Cas9 gene repair of hematopoietic stem cells from patients with X-linked chronic granulomatous disease. Sci Transl Med. 2017;9(372):eaah3480.
- **44.** Sweeney CL, Pavel-Dinu M, Choi U, Brault J, Liu T, Koontz S, et al. Correction of X-CGD patient HSPCs by targeted CYBB cDNA insertion using CRISPR/Cas9 with 53BP1 inhibition for enhanced homology-directed repair. Gene therapy. 2021;28(6):373-90.
- **45.** Pavel-Dinu M, Wiebking V, Dejene BT, Srifa W, Mantri S, Nicolas CE, et al. Gene correction for SCID-X1 in long-term hematopoietic stem cells. Nature communications. 2019;10(1):1-15.
- 46. Gray DH, Villegas I, Long J, Santos J, Keir A, Abele A, et al. Optimizing Integration and Expression of Transgenic Bruton's Tyrosine Kinase for CRISPR-Cas9-Mediated Gene Editing of X-Linked Agammaglobulinemia. The CRISPR Journal. 2021;4(2):191-206.
- **47.** Tajiri N, Staples M, Kaneko Y, Kim SU, Zesiewicz TA, Borlongan CV. Autologous stem cell transplant with gene therapy for Friedreich ataxia. Medical hypotheses. 2014;83(3):296-8.
- **48.** Rocca CJ, Rainaldi JN, Sharma J, Shi Y, Haquang JH, Luebeck J, et al. CRISPR-Cas9 Gene Editing of Hematopoietic Stem Cells from Patients with Friedreich's Ataxia. Mol Ther-Meth Clin D. 2020;17:1026-36.
- **49.** Fañanas-Baquero S, Quintana-Bustamante O, Dever DP, Alberquilla O, Sanchez-Dominguez R, Camarena J, et al. Clinically relevant gene editing in hematopoietic stem cells for the treatment of pyruvate kinase deficiency. Mol Ther-Meth Clin D. 2021;22:237-48.
- **50.** Pavani G, Laurent M, Fabiano A, Cantelli E, Sakkal A, Corre G, et al. Ex vivo editing of human hematopoietic stem cells for erythroid expression of therapeutic proteins. Nature communications. 2020;11(1):1-13.
- 51. Humbert O, Laszlo GS, Sichel S, Ironside C, Haworth KG, Bates OM, et al. Engineering resistance to CD33-targeted immunotherapy in normal hematopoiesis by CRISPR/Cas9-deletion of CD33 exon 2. Leukemia. 2019;33(3):762-808.
- **52.** Kim MY, Yu K-R, Kenderian SS, Ruella M, Chen S, Shin T-H, et al. Genetic inactivation of CD33 in hematopoietic stem cells to enable CAR T cell immunotherapy for acute myeloid leukemia. Cell. 2018;173(6):1439-53.
- **53.** Xiao Q, Chen S, Wang Q, Liu Z, Liu S, Deng H, et al. CCR5 editing by Staphylococcus aureus Cas9 in human primary CD4+ T cells and hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells promotes HIV-1 resistance and CD4+ T cell enrichment in humanized mice. Retrovirology. 2019;16(1):1-17.
- 54. Xu L, Yang H, Gao Y, Chen Z, Xie L, Liu Y, et al. CRISPR/Cas9mediated CCR5 ablation in human hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells confers HIV-1 resistance in vivo. Mol Ther. 2017;25(8):1782-9.
- **55.**Li S, Holguin L, Burnett JC. CRISPR-Cas9-mediated gene disruption of HIV-1 co-receptors confers broad resistance to infection in human T cells and humanized mice. Mol Ther-Meth Clin D. 2022;24:321-31.
- 56. Nurul Hidayah YAS, Fitriana Kurniasari Solikhah RLM. Potential CRISPR-Cas9 Associated Vector Lentivirus for CCR5 Gene Silencing On CD34+ Hematopoetic Cells Intermediate HIV-1 Resistance. Journal of Hunan University Natural Sciences. 2021;48(2).
- 57. Koniali L, Lederer CW, Kleanthous M. Therapy development by

genome editing of hematopoietic stem cells. Cells-Basel. 2021;10(6):1492.

- 58. Skvarova Kramarzova K, Osborn MJ, Webber BR, DeFeo AP, McElroy AN, Kim CJ, et al. CRISPR/Cas9-mediated correction of the FANCD1 gene in primary patient cells. Int J Mol Sci. 2017;18(6):1269.
- **59.** Navarro S, Giorgetti A, Raya A, Tolar J. Induced Pluripotency and gene editing in Fanconi Anemia. Current gene therapy. 2016;16(5):321-8.
- **60.** Rio P, Baños R, Lombardo A, Quintana-Bustamante O, Alvarez L, Garate Z, et al. Targeted gene therapy and cell reprogramming in F anconi anemia. EMBO molecular medicine. 2014;6(6):835-48.
- **61.** Raya Á, Rodríguez-Pizà I, Guenechea G, Vassena R, Navarro S, Barrero MJ, et al. Disease-corrected haematopoietic progenitors from Fanconi anaemia induced pluripotent stem cells. Nature. 2009;460(7251):53-9.
- **62.** Osborn MJ, Lonetree C-l, Webber BR, Patel D, Dunmire S, DeFeo AP, et al. CRISPR/Cas9 targeted gene editing and cellular engineering in Fanconi anemia. Stem Cells Dev. 2016;25(20):1591-603.
- **63.** van de Vrugt HJ, Harmsen T, Riepsaame J, Alexantya G, van Mil SE, de Vries Y, et al. Effective CRISPR/Cas9-mediated correction of a Fanconi anemia defect by error-prone end joining or templated repair. Sci Rep-Uk. 2019;9(1):1-13.
- 64. Román-Rodríguez FJ, Ugalde L, Alvarez L, Díez B, Ramírez MJ, Risueño C, et al. NHEJ-mediated repair of CRISPR-Cas9-induced DNA breaks efficiently corrects mutations in HSPCs from patients with fanconi anemia. Cell Stem Cell. 2019;25(5):607-21.
- 65. Jeong J, Jager A, Domizi P, Pavel-Dinu M, Gojenola L, Iwasaki

M, et al. High-efficiency CRISPR induction of t (9; 11) chromosomal translocations and acute leukemias in human blood stem cells. Blood advances. 2019;3(19):2825-35.

- **66.** Sarrou E, Richmond L, Carmody RJ, Gibson B, Keeshan K. CRISPR Gene Editing of Murine Blood Stem and Progenitor Cells Induces MLL-AF9 Chromosomal Translocation and MLL-AF9 Leukaemogenesis. Int J Mol Sci. 2020;21(12):4266.
- 67. Reimer J, Knöß S, Labuhn M, Charpentier EM, Göhring G, Schlegelberger B, et al. CRISPR-Cas9-induced t (11; 19)/MLL-ENL translocations initiate leukemia in human hematopoietic progenitor cells in vivo. Haematologica. 2017;102(9):1558.
- 68. Schiroli G, Ferrari S, Conway A, Jacob A, Capo V, Albano L, et al. Preclinical modeling highlights the therapeutic potential of hematopoietic stem cell gene editing for correction of SCID-X1. Sci Transl Med. 2017;9(411):eaan0820.
- **69.** Wagenblast E, Azkanaz M, Smith SA, Shakib L, McLeod JL, Krivdova G, et al. Functional profiling of single CRISPR/Cas9-edited human long-term hematopoietic stem cells. Nature communications. 2019;10(1):1-11.
- **70.** Hendel A, Bak RO, Clark JT, Kennedy AB, Ryan DE, Roy S, et al. Chemically modified guide RNAs enhance CRISPR-Cas genome editing in human primary cells. Nat Biotechnol. 2015;33(9):985-9.
- **71.** Mandal PK, Ferreira LM, Collins R, Meissner TB, Boutwell CL, Friesen M, et al. Efficient ablation of genes in human hematopoietic stem and effector cells using CRISPR/Cas9. Cell Stem Cell. 2014;15(5):643-52.
- **72.** Worthington AK, Forsberg EC. A CRISPR View of Hematopoietic Stem Cells: Moving Innovative Bioengineering into the Clinic. Am J Hematol. 2022. doi:10.1002/ajh.26588.





nd Clinical Medicine rg.tr/omujecm



J Exp Clin Med 2023; 40(1): 171-179 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.40.1.32

From laboratory studies to clinical applications mesenchymal stem cells in cancer treatment: Translational oncology

Melek YÜCE®

Center of Stem Cell Application and Research, Ondokuz Mayıs University, Samsun, Türkiye

Received: 11.08.2022	•	Accepted/Published Online: 22.08.2022	•	Final Version: 18.03.2022

Abstract

Stem cell-based studies have accelerated to treat various pathologies, particularly neurological, cardiovascular, orthopedic diseases and cancer with the understanding of their therapeutic potential after their discovery. Stem cells have recently aroused great interest as a promising treatment option in fighting to cancer with extensive study in the fields of cancer biology. Nevertheless, much uncertainty regarding the act of stem cells in cancer development and treatment remains obscure before the clinical use of stem cell investigation. Despite many obstacles, the migration ability of stem cells, the bioactive factors they secrete, and their immune regulatory properties make them advantageous for gene therapy strategies. However, unknowns and a lack of scientific data remain concerning the use of stem cell-based therapies. Therefore, more experimental data are needed to confirm the different study results presented by different scientific communities. In this review, we focused on summarizing the available experimental and clinical data on the potential uses of mesenchymal stem cells in cancer therapy.

Keywords: anti-tumoral activity, cellular therapy, cancer, mesenchymal stem cells

1. Introduction

Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) were defined 40 years ago by Friedenstein et al. as non-hematopoietic cells isolated from the bone marrow (1). MSCs, depending on their stem cell properties, which have the potential to renew themselves and differentiate into cells from the same or different embryonic layer, are easily accessible cells because they can be obtained from many adult tissues (2-7)

Although MSCs show different characteristics according to the tissue sources from which they are obtained, they are basically described by the International Cellular Therapy Association (ISCT) depending on several properties; including 1. adhesion to plastic surface when grown in vitro, 2. having no expression of CD45, CD34, CD14 or CD11b, CD79 α or CD19 and HLA-DR but having high expression of CD73, CD90, and CD105, 3. differentiation to adipocytes, chondrocytes, and osteoblasts when cultured under certain conditions (8-10).

MSCs constitute a group of stem cells that are widely studied in clinical practice due to their ability to be cultured easily *in vitro*, their potential to differentiate into cells from different embryonic layers, their immunomodulatory properties, tissue repair, and their secretion of many paracrine factors (11).

MSCs can be induced into many different cell types of mesodermal and non-mesodermal origin (8). MSCs have

significant therapeutic potential for stem cell transplantation, repair of damaged organs, and gene therapy because of their potential for self-renewal and multi-lineage differentiation, and they emerge as the most promising candidates in regenerative medicine and clinical therapy (12). Their low immunoreactivity and high immunosuppressive properties make MSCs an important source of cells for both autologous and allogeneic applications (13).

Until today, clinical applications have been encountered in the treatment of orthopedic fractures and osteoarthritis (14, 15), and in the treatment of cardiovascular diseases (16, 17). In addition, MSC-based studies as cellular therapeutics have been carried out for many diseases including neurological diseases (18, 19), liver regeneration (20), acute kidney injury (21), cardiac ischemia (22) and diabetes (23) in preclinical animal models. At the same time, ongoing preclinical studies propose that MSCs may be appropriate targets for cell therapy in many cancers. However, the antitumor potentials of MSCs are still unknown. In some of the studies targeting many types of cancer, MSCs were found to show protumorigenic effects (24-28), while in some others it was observed that they showed antitumorogenic effects (29-40).

It has been considered that the various findings showing stimulating or inhibiting results of MSCs on tumor growth may be related to change in tumor patterns, differences in MSC source, donor-dependent variables, dose or timing of MSC administration, cell isolation and culture method, number of stem cell passages used, and the other experimental conditions (25, 41). Therefore, more scientific data is needed to make these studies suitable for future clinical research. At the same time, it is important to standardize the studies and explain the underlying reasons for this variability in the data before the results obtained from laboratory studies are transferred to clinical applications.

2. The Sources of MSC and Their Role in Cancer Treatment

Despite significant successes in treatment, cancer is still one of the major causes of death worldwide. The nature of cancer, such as its aggressive nature and metastatic potential, as well as weakness in the host defense mechanism and failures in therapeutic management, may be important causes of treatment failure. In this respect, discovering the cellular mechanisms and signaling pathways that are effective in tumor formation and development will enable the development of new targeted anti-cancer therapies (35).

Understanding that MSCs migrate to damaged tissues and areas of inflammation has an important place in the emergence of their therapeutical aspect in the therapy of diseases. Various research has reported that MSCs can cause tumor growth inhibition or induction, depending on the types of tumor which MSCs contact and interact with (8, 42).

Studies have reported that MSCs originating from different tissues show different properties. According to the results of various phenotype and function studies, it has been reported that MSCs obtained from different tissues are not completely similar, but represent an extremely heterogeneous cell population that varies depending on various extrinsic and intrinsic factors (43). In a study comparing the therapeutical potentials of the MSC population obtained from different sources, they showed that MSCs gained similar phenotypic and functional properties after the first passes; however, bone marrow derived MSCs (BMMSCs) performed better than other sources for protection of tissue viability and has a paracrine effect. Although MSCs originating from different sources exhibit similar behavior in cell culture, they secrete different paracrine factors and exhibit different therapeutic potential (41). Accordingly, MSCs obtained depending on the tissue source are thought to show different anti-cancer properties. It has been shown that co-culture of human umbilical cord blood and adipose tissue-derived MSCs with primary glioblastoma multiforme cells revealed the inhibitory and apoptotic effect of umbilical cord-derived-MSCs (hUCMSC) on glioblastoma multiforme cell growth and caused apoptosis and the effect of adipose tissue-derived-MSCs proliferative (hATMSC) (44). In the experimental model investigating the therapeutic effect of ATMSCs on hepatocellular carcinoma, it was found that cancer cell proliferation decreased and also, the transcriptional expression of TIMP-1, -2 and -3 and TIMP-1 and -3 were significantly increased in HepG2 and PLC-PRF-5 cells, respectively. It has been reported that increased TIMP secretion may be a mechanism used by stem cells to restrict tumor invasion (45).

It was highlighted that hUCMSCs exhibited growth inhibition in xenograft models of human breast cancer cells and the same results were obtained after repeated experiments. In the study, it was observed that hUCMSC significantly inhibited DNA synthesis in breast cancer cells depending on the applied dose and the cells were arrested in the G2 phase. Accordingly, it has been suggested that hUCMSCs cause cell cycle arrest and cause growth inhibition of cancer cells (29).

There are studies showing that hUCMSCs induce apoptosis in cancer cells and inhibit the proliferation of tumor cells (46). Another research also reported that after 48 hours co-culture of hUCMSCs and Esophageal cancer cells (Eca109) resulted in significant upregulation of B-cell lymphoma 2 (Bcl-2), survivin, matrix metalloproteinase 2 (MMP-2) and matrix metalloproteinase 9 (MMP-9) expression levels according to controls (47). Besides, the study performed in rats suggested that hUCMSCs could be used as cellular therapy for breast cancer (34). The effect of MSCs on cancer proliferation varies according to the source obtained, cancer cell, application dose and duration, and application method. The studies from the literature were summarized in Table 1 according to MSC source, cancer model, and experimental protocol.

MSCs source	Cancer model	Experimental protocol	Result	References
Human umbilical cord	Human breast cancer cell line	In vitro co-culture [1:6 (SC:CC)] and in vivo (xenograft model; 0.5×10 ⁶ cells per injection)	Inhibition of the proliferation	(29)
Human umbilical cord	Human malignant glioma cell line	hUCMSCs and activated hUCMSCs (by interleukin-2, interleukin-15, granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor); in vitro co-culture [0:1, 1:1, 5:1 and 10:1 (SC:CC)]	Inhibition of the proliferation	(48)
Human bone marrow, adipose tissue, and umbilical cord	Ovarian cancer cell lines	In vitro co-culture [1:1 (SC:CC)]	Inhibition of the proliferation	(36)
Human umbilical cord	Ovarian cancer cells line	In vitro co-culture [1:1 (SC:CC)] 24-96 hours	Inhibition of the proliferation	(46)
Human umbilical cord	Hepatocellular carcinoma cell line	In vitro co-culture [1:1 (SC:CC)] and CM (1:1 and 1:20); in vivo (xenograft model; 1:1 SC-CC injection)	Inhibition of the proliferation	(49)

Table 1. Study summaries showing the effects of MSCs on cancer proliferation

Yüce / J Exp Clin Med

Table 1. Study summaries showing the effects of MSCs on cancer proliferation (continue)

Human umbilical Cord	Esophageal	In vitro co-culture [0:1, 1:1, 2:1, 5:1 (SC:CC]	Inhibition of the	(50) (Abstract)
Human	Esophageal	In vitro co-culture [1:1 (SC:CC)] and CM (1:1); in vivo	Promotion of the	(47)
Human umbilical Cord blood	Human chronic myeloid leukemia cell line (K562)	Co-culture of 5.000 K562 cells /well with human UC-MSCs at 1:1, 1:5, 1:10 and 1:100	Inhibition of the proliferation in a dose-dependent	(33)
Human umbilical Cord	Human breast cancer cell lines	Conditioned medium (0, 10 or 20% CM)	Promotion the proliferation and migration (via activation of the ERK pathway.)	(26)
Human bone marrow	Kaposi's sarcoma	In vitro [1:6 (hUCMSC: MDA231)] and in vivo (xenograft model; 0.5×106 cells per injection)	Inhibition of the proliferation	(51)
Human bone marrow	Head and neck cancer cell lines (SCC-25)	Co-culture of SCC-25 cells with human BM-MSCs at 1:1 ratio	Promotion of the proliferation	(27)
Human bone marrow	Primary patient- derived human acute myeloid leukemia cells	Culture of MSCs (2 x 104 cells/well) 1 x 106 with AML cells in Transwell system for 3 days	Promotion of the proliferation	(24)
Human bone marrow	Human brain tumor cell lines	Co-culture with Transwell system and conditioned media usage	Decrease in tumor proliferation	(40)
Human bone marrow	Colon cancer cell lines (HCT116 and LOVO CRC)	Condition media obtained from 1 x 106 MSCs	Increase in proliferation	(28)
Rat bone marrow	Human chronic myeloid leukemia cell line (K562)	Co-culture of K562 and MSCs at 10:1 ratio for 7 days	Inhibition of cell proliferation	(32)
Human adipose and bone marrow	Pancreas, liver, colon, prostate cell lines	Co-culture of MSC-CC at different ratio (1:1, 1:5, 1:100) and conditioned media; <i>in vitro</i> and <i>in vivo</i> model	Inhibition of the proliferation in a dose-dependent	(30)
Human palatine tonsil tissue	Head and neck squamous cell carcinoma cell lines (PNUH-12 and SNU-899)	48 hours culture of MSC-CC at different ratio (1:20, 1:10, 1:5, 1:2)	Inhibition of the proliferation in a dose-dependent	(38)
Amniotic membrane	Lung carcinoma cells (A549)	Conditioned media and heat-treated conditioned media (at 43°C for 45 minutes and then at 37°C for 24 hours)	The conditioned medium led to significant proliferation of tumor spheroids. Heat treated conditioned medium resulted in a reduction in both spheroid diameter and cell proliferation	(31)
Amniotic fluid and adipose tissue SC: stem cell: CC: ca	Human kidney (786-0) and bladder (T24) carcinoma cell lines	24, 48, 72 hours incubation with conditioned media	It reduces the viability of bladder and kidney cancer cells, has been demonstrated to induce cell cycle disruptions in T24 cells; however, it may play a role in developing resistance to anticancer agents.	(39)

The anti-tumor function of MSCs on hematological cancers has been less studied than on solid cancers and less data are available. However, there are data showing that MSCs inhibit (32, 52-54), induce proliferation on hematological cancers (52).

Results obtained by administering mouse bone marrowderived MSCs to hematological cancer cells indicate that it may be safe and efficient in treating hematological malignancies (54). Additionally, proliferative effects of adipose tissue-derived MSCs on hematological cancer cell lines by secreting DKK-1 (dickkopf-1), a negative regulator of the WNT signaling pathway, which is known to be effective in tumor formation, are presented (55). Data have been provided that human bone marrow mesenchymal stem cell application has an anti-tumoral effect in the xenograft model of non-Hodgkin lymphoma (56), whereas it supports tumor growth of adipose tissue-derived MSCs in animal models of acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells (57). In a recent study, it was determined that bone marrow-derived MSCs caused a strong increase in the number of cells in the G0/G1 phase of stem cells after long-term co-culture with the K562 hematological cancer cell line, and significantly late apoptosis was induced in K562 cells. Analysis of 34 different cytokines suggested that the increase in metalloproteinase-1 tissue inhibitor (TIMP-1) and cytokine-stimulated neutrophil chemoattractant-1 (CINC-1) may be effective in the inhibition of K562 cell proliferation via BAX and caspase-3 cascade signaling pathway (32). It is known that secreted growth factors and cytokines vary according to the type of cell and culture conditions; however, the kind of cytokine, which is significant in cancer cell death, depends on both the stem cell and the target cancer cell type. It is known that the density of MSCs significantly affects morphology, proliferation rate and secreted factors. It has been suggested that the antitumor actions observed in solid cancers are associated with a low MSC dose. A similar association has not yet been proposed for hematological malignancies, possibly due to the paucity of studies (58).

In line with the data from different studies, the cytokines responsible for cancer cell death vary according to the stem cell and target cancer cells. Although a reduction in the growth curve of cancer cells due to UCMSC was observed, BMMSCs have been shown to stimulate the growth and metastatic ability of melanoma cells in a genetic tumor model. It has also been shown that MSCs participate in tumor stroma formation, thereby promoting tumor growth. The reasons underlying these conflicting results include the fact that MSC cultures contain differentiated cell populations, different pathophysiological conditions originating from the MSC obtained donors, or potential feeder cell contamination that may be present in the MSC culture supports different cellular processes in cancer cells (29).

MSCs show their therapeutic functions with immunosuppressive, anti-apoptotic, anti-fibrotic, angiogenic and anti-inflammatory effects through paracrine factors such as secreted growth factors, cytokines and extracellular vesicles. Tumors apply chemoattractive effects on MSCs, facilitating their movement to the tumor niche. One of the most frequently researched signaling pathways in the mobilization of MSCs into the tumor microenvironment has been identified as C-X-C Motif Chemokine Ligand 12/C-X-C chemokine receptor type 4 (XCL12/CXCR4). However, migration of MSCs towards cancerous tissue is also controlled by many molecules, including cytokines such as IL8, growth factors such as TGFB1 or platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF), and extracellular matrix molecules such as MMP-2. Upon reaching the tumor site, MSCs interact with cancer cells through direct and indirect mechanisms that influence tumor development and growth. The paracrine effects of MSCs are one of the major mechanisms involved in cancer regulation and are regulated by many factors, such as growth factors and cytokines. It ultimately affects cellular processes including proliferation, survival, angiogenesis and immunosuppression/immunomodulation of cancer cells. Paracrine agents can be secreted directly into the extracellular space or are packaged into extracellular vesicles for release into the tumor environment. At the same time, MSCs can induce cell cycle arrest by inhibiting various cellular mechanisms such as the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/protein kinase B (PI3K/AKT) pathway and negatively affect cancer proliferation (8).

3. Mesenchymal Stem Cells Conditioned Media

Co-culture studies can sometimes be contradictory due to the likely growth superiorities of one cell kind over another, caused by the culture medium, rather than a true anti-cancer effect. As a result of recent studies, it is known that MSCs generally exert their therapeutic effects with various paracrine factors such as cytokines, growth factors, extracellular matrix proteins and different extracellular vesicles secreted by these cells. MSC conditioned medium (MSC-CM), also called MSC secretome, constitutes an intensive source of paracrine factors. So far, it has been extensively studied for regenerative treatments in various diseases such as cardiovascular diseases, wound healing and bone regeneration (59, 60).

Using stem cells in translational oncology and regenerative medicine has many advantages. Besides, it has some disadvantages that come with the use of cells, such as immunological responses in the recipient after administration, movement of the cell to non-target tissue and a decrease in its regenerative potential. In vitro culture of target stem cells is mandatory to obtain the required amount of cells for clinical applications. However, factors such as minimal media variability in culture conditions and changing pH conditions encountered by enlarged stem cells following the transplantation process adversely affect their regenerative capacity. It has also been reported that in vitro cultured stem cells acquire properties similar to cancer cells when applied to normal tissues (61).

The important advantage of using CM as a cell-free cellular therapy is no requirement of donor-recipient compatibility, which is important in cellular therapy. At the same time, MSC-CMs will have an advantage that is more accessible and applicable as it will require less controlled conditions as an application procedure when compared to the use of stem cells, which require sterile and special production conditions in the application process to the patient. In addition, it will be easily packaged, commercialized after being freeze-dried or lyophilized, and will be more accessible and portable as it will eliminate the need for cryopreservation compared to cell-based therapy (59). Based on all these properties, CMs are promising candidates as biological pharmaceuticals, but with many unknowns (62).

Since stem cells obtained from different sources have the potential to secrete different paracrine factors, the choice of tissue in which stem cells will be used in the treatment of diseases is important (59). In addition, different paracrine factors can be secreted at different rates according to the age of the cells and the culture status (hypoxic / normoxic, time taken for MSC-CM collection, 2D/3D cultures) (61). Severe stress levels to which cells may be exposed can induce the secretion of resistance-related factors to toxic conditions. It has also been reported that the secretome obtained in serum-free conditions will accelerate the secretion of angiogenic factors. In a study, it was shown that 3D culture of cells and hypoxic culture conditions changed secretion levels in conditioned media. In particular, CMs from 3D spheroid cultures showed significant differences compared to 2D cultures in terms of 11 cytokines and IL-2Ra (59, 62, 63).

Different studies have been conducted to determine the effects of conditioned media of MSCs on cancer cell growth and different results have been observed (35, 64). It has been shown that CMs obtained from human lung-derived mesenchymal stem cells inhibit tumor cell growth (65), CMs obtained from human Wharton's jelly-derived MSC (hWJMSCs) had no effect on proliferation and apoptotic potential of A549 lung cancer cells (66), and CMs obtained from BMMSC can inhibit lung cancer cell proliferation and induce apoptosis of tumor cells in vitro (67).

In another research evaluating the anti-cancer effect of the secretome of hUCMSCs on breast cancer cells, it was shown to cause depending on the dose administered cytotoxic effect on the cancer cell line (68). Besides, the findings of in vitro studies investigating the therapeutic potential of MSCs from different tissues on ovarian cancer cell lines showed variability in the effects of MSC secretomes from different tissues, and conditioned media obtained from hUCMSCs was more effective in necrosis, while the supernatant derived from hATMSC was found to play a more important role in apoptosis. As a result, it has been reported that MSC-CMs cause a significant decrease in tumor markers (CA-125, LDH, beta-HCG) (36).

4. Mesenchymal Stem Cells Exosomes

Exosomes, which are secreted by cells and are approximately 30-100 nm in diameter, are defined as lipid bilayer extracellular membrane vesicles found in numerous body fluids, including blood, amniotic fluid, cerebrospinal fluid,

saliva, and lymph and secreted by a variety of cells in culture, including epithelial cells, stem cells, immune cells, and tumor cells (69, 70). These exosomes are known to function in the regulation of cellular interaction through various molecules, including cytokines, growth factors, nucleic acids such as protein, lipid, mRNA, miRNA, lncRNA (71). At the same time, most of the exosomes have tetraspanins such as CD81, CD63 and CD9, heat shock proteins such as HSP60, HSP70 and HSP90, ALG2-interacting protein X (ALIX), tumor susceptibility gene 101 (TSG101), and additionally tissue-specific proteins from which they are derived (72).

The molecular composition of exosomes varies considerably according to the donor cell, epigenetic changes, and physiological and pathological conditions to which the cell is exposed. Exosomes derived from MSCs also have antiinflammatory, immunomodulatory and regenerative properties, which are similar to MSCs (71) and have been reported to have both pro-tumorigenic and anti-tumoral effects (73).

There are studies reporting that MSCs and MSC-CMs induce or inhibit tumor cell proliferation, migration and growth and are discussed in detail in the sections above. Studies investigating the effect of MSC-derived exosomes on tumor proliferation and migration have accelerated in recent years, and it has not been resolved whether or not they contribute. In a study in which MCF7 breast cancer cells were treated with MSC exosomes, it was determined that MSC exosomes applied at different concentrations induced an increase in cell migration in a dose-dependent manner (74). However, MSC exosomes derived from mouse bone marrow have been shown to inhibit angiogenesis as a result of downregulation of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) expression in mouse breast cancer cell lines in in vitro and in vivo experimental models (75).

The results of the study evaluating the effect of exosomes obtained from hBMSCs on human gastric and colon cancer cell lines showed that the expression levels of VEGF and CXCR4, which are known to be important in tumor angiogenesis, growth and metastasis, was increased by the activation of ERK1/2 and p38 MAPK pathways. Besides, they showed the induction of tumor growth and promoting angiogenesis in *in vivo* models (76). Similarly, it has been shown to induce proliferation in gastric cancer cells and increase the migration and metastatic potential of cancer cells by stimulating epithelial-mesenchymal transition (77).

In addition to studies supporting that MSC-derived exosomes stimulate tumor growth, there are also a significant number of studies that inhibit tumor growth. In vitro and in vivo experimental models in bladder cancer cells demonstrated that the increase in caspase-3 expression and decrease in Akt phosphorylation of microvesicles derived from hWJMSCs induce apoptosis and cause cell cycle arrest in cancer cells (78). Another data demonstrating the antitumoral effect of exosomes was obtained from lung cancer xenograft models, and it was demonstrated that MSC-EVs increase apoptosis in lung cancer cells and have the potential to be a therapeutic agent (79).

Despite inconsistent results regarding the effect of exosomes on cancer proliferation, the use of these molecules as carriers for the specific and safe delivery of drugs or nucleic acids (miRNAs, siRNAs, and LncRNAs) is increasing interest in exosomes. Particularly, their nanoscale dimensions and their use in the intercellular transfer of various cellular components provide important advantages in the efficient transfer of therapeutic agents to cancer cells. It has been reported that siRNA-loaded exosomes targeting oncogenic Kras have a strong anti-tumoral effect in models of pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC), and importantly, it has been shown that large-scale production under good manufacturing practice (GMP) conditions in cancer treatment may be possible (80).

5. Clinical Applications of MSCs in Cancer Therapy

A limited number of clinical studies have been conducted, inspired by successful preclinical results in the cancer treatment of MSCs. In the study conducted by MD Anderson Cancer Center as a Phase 1 clinical trial, it was aimed to find the highest tolerable dose of human mesenchymal stem cells containing interferon beta (MSC-INF β) that can be given to patients with ovarian cancer and to test the safety of MSC-INFB (NCT02530047). Another Phase 1 clinical study was conducted to determine the maximum tolerated dose of allogeneic bone marrow-derived MSCs loaded with oncolytic adenovirus DNX-2401 in the treatment of glioma patients (NCT03896568). In addition to its potential for direct use in cancer treatment, there are clinical studies covering MSC applications to eliminate various side effects such as acute renal failure and cardiomyopathy that develop after treatment protocols such as chemotherapy and radiotherapy used in cancer treatment (NCT02509156, NCT03874572, NCT01275612, NCT02814864). The clinical studies carried out both for the treatment of MSCs and for the elimination of their side effects are summarized in Table 2. Despite the clinical trials, the lack of published studies reveals the need for more progress and more data to be obtained before MSCs can be used in cancer treatment.

Table 2. MSC clinical trials in the treatment of cancer and treatment-related adverse events

NTC Number	Treatment	Cancer type	Clinical stage
NCT01045382	Mesenchymal stem cells and HLA-mismatched allogeneic hematopoietic cells	Hematological malignancy	Phase II
NCT01092026	Cord blood transplantation with mesenchymal stem cell coinfusion	Hematological malignancy	Phase I/II
NCT01129739	Safety and efficacy study of umbilical cord/placenta-derived mesenchymal stem cells	Myelodysplastic syndromes	Phase II
NCT01844661	Safety and efficacy of bone marrow-derived autologous mesenchymal stem cells infected with ICOVIR5, an oncolytic adenovirus (CELYVIR)	Solid Tumors Metastases	Phase I/II
NCT01983709	Allogeneic human bone marrow derived mesenchymal stem cells	Prostate cancer	Phase I
NCT02270307	Mesenchymal stromal cells and cyclophosphamide as a GVHD prophylaxis	Leukemia Multiple Myeloma	Phase II/III
NCT02079324	Genetically modified mesenchymal stem cell (GX-051)	Head and Neck Cancer	Phase I
NCT02068794	Genetically modified mesenchymal stem cell (Oncolytic Measles Virus Encoding Thyroidal Sodium Iodide Symporter; MV-NIS)	Recurrent Ovarian Primary Peritoneal or Fallopian Tube Cancer	Phase I/II
NCT02181478	Cord blood and mesenchymal stromal cells	Hematological malignancy	Early Phase I
NCT02530047	Mesenchymal stem cells containing interferon beta (MSC-INFB)	Ovarian cancer	Phase I
NCT03184935	Umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells	Myelodysplastic syndromes	Phase I/II
NCT03298763	Mesenchymal stem cells expressing TRAIL	Adenocarcinoma of Lung	Phase I/II
NCT03608631	Mesenchymal stromal cells-derived exosomes with KrasG12D siRNA	Pancreatic cancer	Phase I
NCT03896568	Allogeneic bone marrow human mesenchymal stem cells loaded with a tumor selective oncolytic adenovirus, DNX-2401,	Glioma	Phase I
NCT02509156	Safety and efficacy of allogeneic mesenchymal stem cells	Anthracyclines-induced Cardiomyopathy	Phase I
NCT03874572	Evaluating the safety and feasibility of allogeneic mesenchymal stem cells	Radiation-induced hyposalivation and xerostomia	Phase I
NCT01275612	Ex-Vivo expanded mesenchymal stem cells	Chemotherapy-Induced Acute Kidney Injury	Phase I
NCT02814864	Mesenchymal stromal cell	Radiation-induced Hemorrhagic Cystitis	Phase II

6. Conclusion

This review focuses on the potential roles of mesenchymal stem cells, paracrine factors released from MSCs, and exosomes in cancer therapy, whose use in the treatment of many diseases in regenerative medicine is supported by clinical and preclinical studies. In the light of the data obtained so far, the potential effect of MSCs, paracrine factors released from MSCs and exosomes on cancer cells remains unclear due to the influence of various factors on tumor development and the variability between experimental applications. The fact that the results of the limited number of clinical studies have not been published appears to be an important shortcoming. Inconsistent reveals that their potential to be used in cancer treatment should be supported by more experimental processes and clinical studies.

Conflict of interest

The authors declared no conflict of interest.

Funding

No funding was used for the study.

Acknowledgments

The author would like to thank Esra Albayrak for editing the writing.

Authors' contributions

Concept: M.Y., Design: M.Y., Data Collection or Processing: M.Y., Analysis or Interpretation: M.Y., Literature Search: M.Y., Writing: M.Y.

- 1. Friedenstein AJ, Chailakhjan RK, Lalykina KS. The development of fibroblast colonies in monolayer cultures of guinea-pig bone marrow and spleen cells. Cell Tissue Kinet. 1970 Oct;3(4):393-403.
- Čamernik K, Mihelič A, Mihalič R, Presen DM, Janež A, Trebše R, et al. Skeletal-muscle-derived mesenchymal stem/stromal cells from patients with osteoarthritis show superior biological properties compared to bone-derived cells. Stem Cell Res. 2019 Jul;38:101465.
- **3.** Wu G, Pan M, Wang X, Wen J, Cao S, Li Z, et al. Osteogenesis of peripheral blood mesenchymal stem cells in self assembling peptide nanofiber for healing critical size calvarial bony defect. Sci Rep. 2015;5(1):1-12.
- **4.** Wang B, Liu X-M, Liu Z-N, Wang Y, Han X, Lian A-B, et al. Human hair follicle-derived mesenchymal stem cells: Isolation, expansion, and differentiation. World J Stem Cells. 2020;12(6):462.
- Ledesma-Martínez E, Mendoza-Núñez VM, Santiago-Osorio E. Mesenchymal stem cells derived from dental pulp: a review. Stem Cells Int. 2016;2016.
- 6. Wu M, Zhang R, Zou Q, Chen Y, Zhou M, Li X, et al. Comparison of the biological characteristics of mesenchymal stem cells derived from the human placenta and umbilical cord. Sci Rep. 2018;8(1):1-9.
- Mazini L, Rochette L, Amine M, Malka G. Regenerative capacity of adipose derived stem cells (ADSCs), comparison with mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs). Int J of Mol Sci. 2019;20(10):2523.

- 8. Hmadcha A, Martin-Montalvo A, Gauthier BR, Soria B, Capilla-Gonzalez V. Therapeutic potential of mesenchymal stem cells for cancer therapy. Front Bioeng Biotechnol. 2020;8:43.
- **9.** Lv F-J, Tuan RS, Cheung KM, Leung VY. Concise review: the surface markers and identity of human mesenchymal stem cells. Stem Cells. 2014;32(6):1408-19.
- **10.** Sheng G. The developmental basis of mesenchymal stem/stromal cells (MSCs). Dev Biol. 2015;15(1):1-8.
- 11. Pittenger MF, Discher DE, Péault BM, Phinney DG, Hare JM, Caplan AI. Mesenchymal stem cell perspective: cell biology to clinical progress. NPJ Regen Med. 2019;4(1):1-15.
- **12.** Bonab MM, Alimoghaddam K, Talebian F, Ghaffari SH, Ghavamzadeh A, Nikbin B. Aging of mesenchymal stem cell in vitro. BMC Cell Biol. 2006;7(1):1-7.
- 13. Choudhery MS, Badowski M, Muise A, Pierce J, Harris DT. Donor age negatively impacts adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cell expansion and differentiation. J Transl Med. 2014;12(1):1-14.
- 14. Granero-Moltó F, Weis JA, Miga MI, Landis B, Myers TJ, O'Rear L, et al. Regenerative effects of transplanted mesenchymal stem cells in fracture healing. Stem Cells. 2009;27(8):1887-98.
- **15.** Iijima H, Isho T, Kuroki H, Takahashi M, Aoyama T. Effectiveness of mesenchymal stem cells for treating patients with knee osteoarthritis: a meta-analysis toward the establishment of effective regenerative rehabilitation. NPJ Regen Med. 2018;3(1):1-13.
- 16. Mathiasen AB, Qayyum AA, Jørgensen E, Helqvist S, Fischer-Nielsen A, Kofoed KF, et al. Bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stromal cell treatment in patients with severe ischaemic heart failure: a randomized placebo-controlled trial (MSC-HF trial). Eur Heart J. 2015;36(27):1744-53.
- 17. Mathiasen AB, Qayyum AA, Jørgensen E, Helqvist S, Kofoed KF, Haack-Sørensen M, et al. Bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stromal cell treatment in patients with ischaemic heart failure: final 4-year follow-up of the MSC-HF trial. ur J Heart Fail. 2020;22(5):884-92.
- 18. Donega V, Nijboer CH, van Tilborg G, Dijkhuizen RM, Kavelaars A, Heijnen CJ. Intranasally administered mesenchymal stem cells promote a regenerative niche for repair of neonatal ischemic brain injury. Exp Neurol. 2014;261:53-64.
- 19. McGrath AM, Brohlin M, Kingham PJ, Novikov LN, Wiberg M, Novikova LN. Fibrin conduit supplemented with human mesenchymal stem cells and immunosuppressive treatment enhances regeneration after peripheral nerve injury. Neurosci Lett. 2012;516(2):171-6.
- **20.** Fouraschen SM, Pan Q, de Ruiter PE, Farid WR, Kazemier G, Kwekkeboom J, et al. Secreted factors of human liver-derived mesenchymal stem cells promote liver regeneration early after partial hepatectomy. Stem Cells Dev. 2012;21(13):2410-9.
- 21. Ullah M, Liu DD, Rai S, Dadhania A, Jonnakuti S, Concepcion W, et al. Reversing acute kidney injury using pulsed focused ultrasound and MSC therapy: a role for HSP-mediated PI3K/AKT signaling. Mol Ther Methods Clin Dev. 2020;17:683-94.
- 22. Berry MF, Engler AJ, Woo YJ, Pirolli TJ, Bish LT, Jayasankar V, et al. Mesenchymal stem cell injection after myocardial infarction improves myocardial compliance. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2006;290(6):H2196-H203.
- **23.** Si Y, Zhao Y, Hao H, Liu J, Guo Y, Mu Y, et al. Infusion of mesenchymal stem cells ameliorates hyperglycemia in type 2 diabetic rats: identification of a novel role in improving insulin sensitivity. Diabetes. 2012;61(6):1616-25.

- **24.** Brenner AK, Nepstad I, Bruserud Ø. Mesenchymal stem cells support survival and proliferation of primary human acute myeloid leukemia cells through heterogeneous molecular mechanisms. Front Immunol. 2017;8:106.
- **25.** Di G-h, Liu Y, Lu Y, Liu J, Wu C, Duan H-F. IL-6 secreted from senescent mesenchymal stem cells promotes proliferation and migration of breast cancer cells. PloS one. 2014;9(11):e113572.
- 26. Li T, Zhang C, Ding Y, Zhai W, Liu K, Bu F, et al. Umbilical cordderived mesenchymal stem cells promote proliferation and migration in MCF-7 and MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells through activation of the ERK pathway. Oncol Rep. 2015;34(3):1469-77.
- **27.** Liu C, Billet S, Choudhury D, Cheng R, Haldar S, Fernandez A, et al. Bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells interact with head and neck squamous cell carcinoma cells to promote cancer progression and drug resistance. Neoplasia. 2021;23(1):118-28.
- **28.** Wu X-B, Liu Y, Wang G-H, Xu X, Cai Y, Wang H-Y, et al. Mesenchymal stem cells promote colorectal cancer progression through AMPK/mTOR-mediated NF-κB activation. Sci Rep. 2016;6(1):1-12.
- **29.** Ayuzawa R, Doi C, Rachakatla RS, Pyle MM, Maurya DK, Troyer D, et al. Naive human umbilical cord matrix derived stem cells significantly attenuate growth of human breast cancer cells in vitro and in vivo. Cancer Lett. 2009;280(1):31-7.
- **30.** Cousin B, Ravet E, Poglio S, De Toni F, Bertuzzi M, Lulka H, et al. Adult stromal cells derived from human adipose tissue provoke pancreatic cancer cell death both in vitro and in vivo. PloS one. 2009;4(7):e6278.
- **31.** Dhiman N, Shagaghi N, Bhave M, Sumer H, Kingshott P, Rath SN. Indirect co-culture of lung carcinoma cells with hyperthermiatreated mesenchymal stem cells influences tumor spheroid growth in a collagen-based 3-dimensional microfluidic model. Cytotherapy. 2021;23(1):25-3632.
- **32.** Fathi E, Farahzadi R, Valipour B, Sanaat Z. Cytokines secreted from bone marrow derived mesenchymal stem cells promote apoptosis and change cell cycle distribution of K562 cell line as clinical agent in cell transplantation. PloS one. 2019;14(4):e0215678.
- **33.** Fonseka M, Ramasamy R, Tan BC, Seow HF. Human umbilical cord blood-derived mesenchymal stem cells (hUCB-MSC) inhibit the proliferation of K562 (human erythromyeloblastoid leukaemic cell line). Cell Biol Int. 2012;36(9):793-801.
- **34.** Ganta C, Chiyo D, Ayuzawa R, Rachakatla R, Pyle M, Andrews G, et al. Rat umbilical cord stem cells completely abolish rat mammary carcinomas with no evidence of metastasis or recurrence 100 days post-tumor cell inoculation. Cancer Res. 2009;69(5):1815-20.
- **35.** Gauthaman K, Yee FC, Cheyyatraivendran S, Biswas A, Choolani M, Bongso A. Human umbilical cord Wharton's jelly stem cell (hWJSC) extracts inhibit cancer cell growth in vitro. J Cell Biochem. 2012;113(6):2027-39.
- **36.** Khalil C, Moussa M, Azar A, Tawk J, Habbouche J, Salameh R, et al. Anti-proliferative effects of mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) derived from multiple sources on ovarian cancer cell lines: an invitro experimental study. J Ovarian Res. 2019;12(1):1-12.
- **37.** Larmonier N, Ghiringhelli F, Larmonier CB, Moutet M, Fromentin A, Baulot E, et al. Freshly isolated bone marrow cells induce death of various carcinoma cell lines. Int J Cancer. 2003;107(5):747-56.
- **38.** Lim Y-S, Lee J-C, Lee YS, Lee B-J, Wang S-G. Growth inhibitory effect of palatine tonsil-derived mesenchymal stem cells on head and neck squamous cell carcinoma cells. Clin Exp

Otorhinolaryngol. 2012;5(2):86.

- **39.** Maj M, Bajek A, Nalejska E, Porowinska D, Kloskowski T, Gackowska L, et al. Influence of mesenchymal stem cells conditioned media on proliferation of urinary tract cancer cell lines and their sensitivity to ciprofloxacin. J Cell Biochem. 2017;118(6):1361-8.
- **40.** Motaln H, Gruden K, Hren M, Schichor C, Primon M, Rotter A, et al. Human mesenchymal stem cells exploit the immune response mediating chemokines to impact the phenotype of glioblastoma. Cell Transplant. 2012;21(7):1529-45.
- **41.** Bortolotti F, Ukovich L, Razban V, Martinelli V, Ruozi G, Pelos B, et al. In vivo therapeutic potential of mesenchymal stromal cells depends on the source and the isolation procedure. Stem Cell Rep. 2015;4(3):332-9.
- **42.** Lin W, Huang L, Li Y, Fang B, Li G, Chen L, et al. Mesenchymal stem cells and cancer: clinical challenges and opportunities. BioMed Res Int. 2019;2019.
- 43. Zachar L, Bačenková D, Rosocha J. Activation, homing, and role of the mesenchymal stem cells in the inflammatory environment. J Inflamm Res. 2016;9:231.
- **44.** Akimoto K, Kimura K, Nagano M, Takano S, To'a Salazar G, Yamashita T, et al. Umbilical cord blood-derived mesenchymal stem cells inhibit, but adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells promote, glioblastoma multiforme proliferation. Stem Cell Dev. 2013;22(9):1370-86.
- **45.** Serhal R, Saliba N, Hilal G, Moussa M, Hassan GS, El Atat O, et al. Effect of adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells on hepatocellular carcinoma: In vitro inhibition of carcinogenesis. World J Gastroenterol. 2019;25(5):567.
- **46.** Li X, Li Z. Effects of human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells on co-cultured ovarian carcinoma cells. Microsc Res and Tech. 2019;82(6):898-902.
- **47.** Yang X, Li Z, Ma Y, Gao J, Liu S, Gao Y, et al. Human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells promote carcinoma growth and lymph node metastasis when co-injected with esophageal carcinoma cells in nude mice. Cancer Cell Int. 2014;14(1):1-11.
- **48.** Kang S-G, Jeun SS, Lim JY, Kim SM, Yang YS, Oh WI, et al. Cytotoxicity of human umbilical cord blood-derived mesenchymal stem cells against human malignant glioma cells. Childs Nerv Syst. 2008;24(3):293-302.
- 49. Liu J, Shi Y, Han J, Zhang Y, Cao Z, Cheng J. Quantitative Tracking Tumor Suppression Efficiency of Human Umbilical Cord-Derived Mesenchymal Stem Cells by Bioluminescence Imaging in Mice Hepatoma Model. Int J Stem Cell. 2020;13(1):104-15.
- 50. Zhao J, Zhao X, Yang Y, Zhang Y, Zhao S. Effect of umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells on biological characteristics of esophageal cancer EC1 cells. Zhonghua zhong liu za zhi [Chinese journal of oncology]. 2019;41(2):97-101.
- 51. Khakoo AY, Pati S, Anderson SA, Reid W, Elshal MF, Rovira II, et al. Human mesenchymal stem cells exert potent antitumorigenic effects in a model of Kaposi's sarcoma. J Exp Med. 2006;203(5):1235-47.
- **52.** Li Q, Pang Y, Liu T, Tang Y, Xie J, Zhang B, et al. Effects of human umbilical cord-derived mesenchymal stem cells on hematologic malignancies. Oncol Lett. 2018;15(5):6982-90.
- 53. Ramasamy R, Lam EW, Soeiro I, Tisato V, Bonnet D, Dazzi F. Mesenchymal stem cells inhibit proliferation and apoptosis of tumor cells: impact on in vivo tumor growth. Leukemia. 2007;21(2):304-10.
- 54. Song N, Gao L, Qiu H, Huang C, Cheng H, Zhou H, et al. Mouse

bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells inhibit leukemia/lymphoma cell proliferation in vitro and in a mouse model of allogeneic bone marrow transplant. Int J Mol M. 2015;36(1):139-49.

- **55.** Zhu Y, Sun Z, Han Q, Liao L, Wang J, Bian C, et al. Human mesenchymal stem cells inhibit cancer cell proliferation by secreting DKK-1. Leukemia. 2009;23(5):925-33.
- 56. Secchiero P, Zorzet S, Tripodo C, Corallini F, Melloni E, Caruso L, et al. Human bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells display anti-cancer activity in SCID mice bearing disseminated non-Hodgkin's lymphoma xenografts. PloS one. 2010;5(6):e11140.
- 57. Lee MW, Park YJ, Kim DS, Park HJ, Jung HL, Lee JW, et al. Human adipose tissue stem cells promote the growth of acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells in NOD/SCID mice. Stem Cell Rev Rep. 2018;14(3):451-60.
- 58. Lee MW, Ryu S, Kim DS, Lee JW, Sung KW, Koo HH, et al. Mesenchymal stem cells in suppression or progression of hematologic malignancy: current status and challenges. Leukemia. 2019;33(3):597-611.
- 59. Gunawardena TNA, Rahman MT, Abdullah BJJ, Abu Kasim NH. Conditioned media derived from mesenchymal stem cell cultures: The next generation for regenerative medicine. J J Tissue Eng Regen Med. 2019;13(4):569-86.
- 60. Sagaradze G, Grigorieva O, Nimiritsky P, Basalova N, Kalinina N, Akopyan Z, et al. Conditioned medium from human mesenchymal stromal cells: towards the clinical translation. Int J Mol Sci. 2019;20(7):1656.
- **61.** Bhang SH, Lee S, Shin J-Y, Lee T-J, Jang H-K, Kim B-S. Efficacious and clinically relevant conditioned medium of human adipose-derived stem cells for therapeutic angiogenesis. Mol Ther. 2014;22(4):862-72.
- **62.** Pawitan JA. Prospect of stem cell conditioned medium in regenerative medicine. BioMed Res Int. 2014;2014.
- **63.** Xie L, Mao M, Zhou L, Zhang L, Jiang B. Signal factors secreted by 2D and spheroid mesenchymal stem cells and by cocultures of mesenchymal stem cells derived microvesicles and retinal photoreceptor neurons. Stem Cell Int. 2017;2017.
- **64.** Onzi GR, Ledur PF, Hainzenreder LD, Bertoni APS, Silva AO, Lenz G, et al. Analysis of the safety of mesenchymal stromal cells secretome for glioblastoma treatment. Cytotherapy. 2016;18(7):828-37.
- **65.** Cortes-Dericks L, Froment L, Kocher G, Schmid RA. Human lung-derived mesenchymal stem cell-conditioned medium exerts in vitro antitumor effects in malignant pleural mesothelioma cell lines. Stem Cell Res Ther. 2016;7(1):1-8.
- **66.** Hendijani F, Javanmard SH, Rafiee L, Sadeghi-Aliabadi H. Effect of human Wharton's jelly mesenchymal stem cell secretome on proliferation, apoptosis and drug resistance of lung cancer cells. Res Phar Sci. 2015;10(2):134.
- 67. Li L, Tian H, Chen Z, Yue W, Li S, Li W. Inhibition of lung cancer

cell proliferation mediated by human mesenchymal stem cells. Acta Biochim Biophys Sin. 2011;43(2):143-8.

- **68.** Mirabdollahi M, Haghjooyjavanmard S, Sadeghi-Aliabadi H. An anticancer effect of umbilical cord-derived mesenchymal stem cell secretome on the breast cancer cell line. Cell and Tissue Bank. 2019;20(3):423-34.
- **69.** Zhou J, Tan X, Tan Y, Li Q, Ma J, Wang G. Mesenchymal stem cell derived exosomes in cancer progression, metastasis and drug delivery: a comprehensive review. J Cancer. 2018;9(17):3129.
- **70.** Hassanzadeh A, Rahman HS, Markov A, Endjun JJ, Zekiy AO, Chartrand MS, et al. Mesenchymal stem/stromal cell-derived exosomes in regenerative medicine and cancer; overview of development, challenges, and opportunities. Stem Cell Res Ther. 2021;12(1):1-22.
- **71.** Sohrabi B, Dayeri B, Zahedi E, Khoshbakht S, Nezamabadi Pour N, Ranjbar H, et al. Mesenchymal stem cell (msc)-derived exosomes as novel vehicles for delivery of mirnas in cancer therapy. Cancer Gene Ther. 2022:1-12.
- **72.** Yin K, Wang S, Zhao RC. Exosomes from mesenchymal stem/stromal cells: a new therapeutic paradigm. Biomark Res. 2019;7(1):1-8.
- 73. Yassine S, Alaaeddine N. Mesenchymal stem cell exosomes and cancer: controversies and prospects. Adv Biol. 2022;6(2):2101050.
- 74. Lin R, Wang S, Zhao RC. Exosomes from human adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells promote migration through Wnt signaling pathway in a breast cancer cell model. Mol Cell Biochem. 2013;383(1):13-20.
- **75.** Lee J-K, Park S-R, Jung B-K, Jeon Y-K, Lee Y-S, Kim M-K, et al. Exosomes derived from mesenchymal stem cells suppress angiogenesis by down-regulating VEGF expression in breast cancer cells. PloS one. 2013;8(12):e84256.
- 76. Zhu W, Huang L, Li Y, Zhang X, Gu J, Yan Y, et al. Exosomes derived from human bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells promote tumor growth in vivo. Cancer Lett. 2012;315(1):28-37.
- 77. Gu H, Ji R, Zhang X, Wang M, Zhu W, Qian H, et al. Exosomes derived from human mesenchymal stem cells promote gastric cancer cell growth and migration via the activation of the Akt pathway. Mol Med Rep. 2016;14(4):3452-8.
- 78. Wu S, Ju G-Q, Du T, Zhu Y-J, Liu G-H. Microvesicles derived from human umbilical cord Wharton's jelly mesenchymal stem cells attenuate bladder tumor cell growth in vitro and in vivo. PloS one. 2013;8(4):e61366.
- 79. Kalimuthu S, Gangadaran P, Li XJ, Oh JM, Lee HW, Jeong SY, et al. In vivo therapeutic potential of mesenchymal stem cellderived extracellular vesicles with optical imaging reporter in tumor mice model. Sci Rep. 2016;6(1):1-11.
- 80. Mendt M, Kamerkar S, Sugimoto H, McAndrews KM, Wu C-C, Gagea M, et al. Generation and testing of clinical-grade exosomes for pancreatic cancer. JCI insight. 2018;3(8).



Case Report

J Exp Clin Med 2023; 40(1): 180-182 doi: 10.52142/omujecm.40.1.33

Brain imaging findings of methanol poisoning and detection of chronic stage nervous system damage: A case report

Fatma YILMAZ CAN*[®], Mehmet Fevzi ÖZTEKİN[®]

Department of Neurology, Dışkapı Yıldırım Beyazıt Training and Research Hospital, Healty Sccience University, Ankara Türkiye

Received: 09.08.2022	•	Accepted/Published Online: 01.10.2022	•	Final Version: 18.03.2022
----------------------	---	---------------------------------------	---	---------------------------

Abstract

In this article, we presented the chronic neurological findings of an acute case of methanol intoxication due to the use of homemade alcohol. In the neurological examination performed 6 months after intoxication, bilateral vision loss, tremor, dysarthria, dysphagia, loss of taste sensation, and decrease in the Cognitive State Test score were detected. Peripheral polyneuropathy consistent with axonopathy was detected in the peripheral nerve conduction study, and optical neuropathy was detected in the examination of the pattern visual evoked potential. Brain magnetic resonance imaging revealed findings compatible with bilateral putaminal necrosis.

Keywords: methanol intoxication, optic neuropathy, putaminal hemorrhagic necrosis, polyneuropathy, cognition

1. Introduction

Methanol is called wood wine and obtained from the distillation of wood (1). It is contained in antifreeze, cleaning solutions, paint, and paint removers. Illegally produced alcohol or homemade alcoholic beverages may contain high methanol levels (2). Methanol itself is not very toxic, but its metabolites are. Methanol is converted to formaldehyde by the alcohol dehydrogenase enzyme, and formaldehyde is metabolized to formic acid by aldehyde dehydrogenase (2). Adverse effects due to methanol intoxication are caused by the effect of lactic acid, which increases due to formic acid and cellular hypoxia (3). There may be residual sequelae in the patients who have survived after acute methanol poisoning. We aimed to investigate the residual sequelae of methanol intoxication related to central nervous system (CNS), visual pathways, peripheral nervous system, and cognition.

2. Case

35-year-old male patient-applied to the neurology outpatient clinic of our hospital with the complaints of speech disorder, difficulty in swallowing, tremor in the hands, inability to taste, and forgetfulness. In his anamnesis, it was learned that he consumed approximately 200 ml of alcohol produced at home six months ago and then applied to the hospital with the complaints of headache, nausea, vomiting, blurred vision, and tendency to sleep. The patient declared that he received treatment in the intensive care unit with the diagnosis of methanol poisoning. A detailed neurological examination was performed 6 months after the event. The right eye could count fingers at a distance of one meter and the left eye at a distance of 0.5 meters. In the fundus examination, the bilateral temporal

reflex could not be observed; there was no uvula movement. Sweet (1/1 diluted sugar water), salty (1/1 diluted salt water) and sour (lemon juice) taste test was performed with the patient who stated that he could not taste. The test was applied to the right and left sides of the tongue. He could not get the bilateral salty and sweet flavors, and he got the sour taste partially. He had complete muscle strength in four extremities. There was no rigidity or bradykinesia. Babinski's reflex was negative on the left and positive on the right. There was a 3-4 beat clonus on both feet. Cognitive State Test was applied upon the description of forgetfulness complaint. He scored 21/27 on the cognition test. A decline was observed in memory, recall, abstraction-judgement, attention, and language skills in the test. No hearing loss was detected in the audiometry test. Brain magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) revealed bilateral putaminal and frontal subcortical lesions. There was no evidence of myelopathy in cervical and thoracic MRI. Bilateral visual evoked potential (VEP) study revealed bilateral visual transmission disorder. Distal symmetrical polyneuropathy (PNP) findings were detected in the peripheral nerve conduction study (NCS). He was investigated for the etiology of PNP. The laboratory tests results as fallows: fasting blood glucose was 83 mg/dL, HbA1c was 5.2%, thyroid stimulating hormone (TSH) was 2.1 mIU/L, and vitamin B12 was 374 ng/L. Anti-nuclear antibody, PR3 ANCA, MPO ANCA, Anti-DsDNA, anti-Sm-D1 were negative. Monoclonal gammopathy was not detected in serum immune electrophoresis. No

region was pale, and the visible retina was normal. Direct and indirect light reflex was bilaterally minimal. Bilateral gag

abnormal band was observed in urine immune fixation electrophoresis. Anti-human immunodeficiency virus (HIV), Anti HCV, HBsAg were negative.

Medical history: No known abnormality.

Family history: The mother was a type-2 diabetes mellitus patient.

3. Discussion:

Most cases of acute methanol toxicity result from oral intake. Ingestion of up to 30 mL of pure methanol results in permanent blindness. 30-240 mL is potentially fatal, but individual sensitivity varies greatly (4). Nausea, vomiting, dizziness, headache, and visual disorders are the most common complaints in the acute phase (5). Impaired consciousness, memory loss, Parkinsonism, convulsions, coma, and death may occur in severe poisonings (6). Extrapyramidal symptoms are typical neurological sequelae in the patients recovering from poisoning. These include dystonia and Parkinsonism (7). Our patient had mild-moderate essential tremor. He had no Parkinson's tremor and no dystonia. There was Babinski positivity and clonus. No epileptic seizures were diagnosed.

Characteristic brain imaging findings of methanol toxicity include bilateral putaminal hemorrhagic necrosis, cerebral and intraventricular hemorrhage, cerebellar necrosis, and diffuse cerebral edema. Cystic necrosis may occur in the chronic stage of the affected areas (8). Bilateral putaminal necrosis can also be observed in Wilson's disease, Kearns-Sayre syndrome, and Leigh's disease. Carbon monoxide, cyanide, trichloroethane poisoning, or diffuse hypoxia may also cause similar radiological findings and should be considered in the differential diagnosis (8). Our patient did not have any previously known metabolic or hereditary diseases. In addition, the history of vision loss and homemade alcohol use was characteristic for methanol intoxication.

The case had typical bilateral putaminal hemorrhagic necrosis images consistent with methanol intoxication in acute brain tomography (CT) (Fig. 1) and acute-subacute flair MRI (Fig. 2). In the chronic period, putaminal volume loss was observed (Fig. 3).



Fig. 1. Bilateral putaminal hemorrhagic necrosis accompanied by edema is observed in acute period brain CT



Fig. 2. Bilateral putaminal hemorrhagic necrosis areas in acutesubacute period flair MRI



Fig. 3. Bilateral putaminal volume loss in chronic period flair MRI, lesions accompanied by hemosiderin pigments and gliosis, and hyperintense lesion in the left frontal subcortical white matter



Fig. 4. Pattern VEP study showed there was no P100 wave on the left

In the literature, 5th, 7th and 9th cranial nerve involvement findings after methanol poisoning have been diagnosed (9). In our case, dysarthria, dysphagia, and loss of taste sensation (cranial 7th and 9th nerve involvement) were detected in accordance with cranial nerve involvement. Cognitive State Test was applied for the complaint of forgetfulness. He scored 21/27 on the cognition test. Although it is not common in the literature, there are papers stating that there is a decline in cognition (6).





Methanol intoxication can typically cause damage to pigmented retinal epithelial cells, chiasm, and optic tract. Visual symptoms usually start within 12-48 hours and occur in approximately 50% of cases (10). In our case, visual symptoms emerged in the acute period and progressed to blindness. Pattern VEP study showed severe visual conduction disorder in both eyes (Fig. 4 and Fig. 5).

Distal symmetrical PNP findings were detected in the NCS performed on the case. Laboratory values for PNP etiology were within normal limits. He had no alcohol addiction and no diabetes. For this reason, it was thought that PNP may be due to methanol intoxication. Cases of polyneuropathy due to methyl alcohol intoxication have been reported in the literature (5).

This case showed classical, clinical and imaging findings consistent with methanol intoxication. Contrary to the literature, findings consistent with loss of sense of taste and decreased cognition were observed.

Conflict of interest

The authors declared no conflict of interest.

Funding

No funding was used for the study.

Acknowledgments

None to declare.

Authors' contributions

Concept: F.Y.C., M.F.Ö., Design: F.Y.C., M.F.Ö., Data Collection or Processing: F.Y.C., Analysis or Interpretation:

F.Y.C., M.F.Ö., Literature Search: F.Y.C., Writing: F.Y.C.

- **1.** Ott J. Gronemann V, Pontzen F. Methanol. Ullmann's Encyclopedia of Industrial Chemistry. 2000; 27(2):403–404.
- **2.** Rietjens SJ, de Lange DW, Meulenbelt J. Ethylene glycol or methanol intoxication: which antidote should be used, fomepizole or ethanol? Neth J Med. 2014; 72(2):73-79.
- **3.** Kraut JA. Approach to the treatment of methanol intoxication. Am J Kidney Dis. 2016; 68(1):161-167.
- **4.** Paasma R, Hovda KE, Jacobsen D. Methanol poisoning and long term sequelae A six years follow-up after a large methanol outbreak. BMC Clin Pharmacol. 2009; 9:5.
- 5. Jarwani BS, Motiani P, Divetia R, Thakkar G. Rare combination of bilateral putaminal necrosis, optic neuritis, and polyneuropathy in a case of acute methanol intoxication among patients met with hooch tragedy in Gujarat, India. J Emerg Trauma Shock. 2012; 5(4): 356– 359.
- 6. Choi JH, Lee SK, Gil YE, Ryu J, Jung-Choi K, Kim H, et al. Neurological complications resulting from non-oral occupational methanol poisoning. J Korean Med Sci. 2017; 32(2):371-376.
- 7. Andresen H, Schmoldt H, Matschke J, Flachskampf FA, Turk EE. Fatal methanol intoxication with different survival times morphological findings and postmortem methanol distribution. Forensic Sci Int. 2008; 179(2–3):206–210.
- Taheri MS, Moghaddam HH, Moharamzad Y, Dadgari S, Nahvi V. The value of brain CT findings in acute methanol toxicity. Eur J Radiol. 2010; 73:211–214.
- Broadley S, Ferguson I, Walton B, Tomson C. Severe sensorimotor polyradiculoneuropathy after ingestion of ethyleneglycol. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1997; 63(2): 261.
- 10. Grzybowski A, Zülsdorff M, Wilhelm H, Tonagel F. Toxic optic neuropathies: an updated review. Acta Ophthalmol. 2015; 93(5):402-410.







J Exp Clin Med 2023; 40(1): 183-185 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.40.1.34

A rare case: Coexistence of noncompaction cardiomyopathy and Ebstein anomaly

Ahmet CINAR*10, Ömer GEDIKL10

Department of Cardiology, Faculty of Medicine, Ondokuz Mayıs University, Samsun, Türkiye

Received: 07.10.2022	•	Accepted/Published Online: 02.01.2023	٠	Final Version: 18.03.2023	
					_

Abstract

Noncompaction cardiomyopathy is a rare type of cardiomyopathy that can result in left ventricular failure, thromboembolic events, tachyarrhythmias, and sudden cardiac death. It is a congenital cardiomyopathy in which deep trabeculations and cavities in the left ventricle are formed due to the cessation of the development of myocardial tissue in the intrauterine period. Ebstein's anomaly is a congenital anomaly characterized by apical displacement of the tricuspid valve septal leaflet. Although the association of non-compaction cardiomyopathy and Ebstein is a rare disease, there are cases described in the literature. A 23-year-old male patient presented with palpitations and fatigue and was diagnosed with non-compaction cardiomyopathy and Ebstein anomaly. After the diagnosis, the patient is followed closely without complications with appropriate medical follow-up. Congenital heart diseases can be seen alone or in association with other cardiac malformations. When there are suspicious findings in a patient with Ebstein's anomaly, it may be associated with non-compaction cardiomyopathy, and screening with echocardiographic and cardiac MRI should be considered.

Keywords: noncompaction cardiomyopathy, Ebstein anomaly, congenital heart diseases

1. Introduction

Noncompaction cardiomyopathy is a rare type of cardiomyopathy that can result in left ventricular failure, thromboembolic events, tachyarrhythmias, and sudden cardiac death. It is a congenital cardiomyopathy in which deep trabeculations are formed, and cavities in the left ventricle are formed due to the cessation of the development of myocardial tissue in the intrauterine period. (1) Since normal compaction develops at the apex of the last ventricle, the apex is involved in the vast majority of cases. (2) End-systolic noncompact/compact myocardium ratio >2 in echocardiography is important in the diagnosis. (3) On the other hand, in cardiac MRI, according to Peterson's criteria, end-diastolic noncompact myocardium/compact myocardium rate ≥ 2.3 also makes the diagnosis. (4) Again, with cardiac MRI, Jacquier et al., in their study in which they measured trabecular and global left ventricular mass, showed that a trabecular myocardial mass greater than 20% of the global myocardial mass is important in diagnosis. (5)

Ebstein's anomaly is a congenital anomaly characterized by apical displacement of the tricuspid valve septal leaflet and may be associated with other congenital cardiac malformations. (6)

Although the association of non-compaction cardiomyopathy and Ebstein is a rare disease, there are cases described in the literature. We also planned to present this rare association in order to contribute to the literature.

2. Case Report

Our patient is a 23-year-old male patient with no known disease. He applied with the complaints of palpitation and fatigue, which lasted for 5-10 minutes and about 2-3 years, especially after exertion. In the cardiac examination of the patient, blood pressure was 120/70, and heart rate was 80 beats/min. A 2-3/6 systolic murmur was heard in the tricuspid valve focus. No significant additional pathology was detected in the physical examination. In the ECG of the patient, the rhythm was sinus, and ORS fragmentation was observed in lead D3. The ejection fraction was 55%, and mild global hypokinesia was observed in echocardiography. Increased trabecular structure in the LV and flow between these trabeculae with color Doppler were observed. In addition, it was noticed that the septal leaflet of the tricuspid valve was displaced apically, and the distance between the mitral and tricuspid annulus was measured as 18 mm. (Fig. 1). Cardiac MRI was requested from the patient with the preliminary diagnosis of non-compaction cardiomyopathy and Ebstein anomaly. Cardiac MRI showed a distinct trabecular appearance at the level of the apical and lateral walls of the left ventricle. The non-compact/compact ratio is approximately 2.3. The appearance was reported as compatible with light noncompaction. (Fig. 2) 100 mg of acetylsalicylic acid, 50 mg of metoprolol, and 1 mg of cilazapril were added to the patient's treatment. Our patient has been asymptomatic for about six months and can climb 3-4 flights of stairs. The patient is followed closely for possible complications.



Fig. 1. Echocardiography images of the patient



Fig. 2. Cardiac MR images of the patient, increased trabeculation structure in the LV apical

3. Discussion

This case is important because there are cases reported in the literature, even though there is a rare association with congenital heart disease. Both echocardiography and cardiac MRI are important in the association of Ebstein anomaly and left ventricular non-compaction cardiomyopathy. Cardiac MR imaging provides superior myocardial characterization and endocardial identification compared to echocardiography and is a more sensitive imaging modality in detecting left ventricular non-compaction. (7) Although current guidelines do not recommend routine cardiac In cases where there is increased trabecular structure in the left ventricle, cardiac MRI scanning can be considered in this sense to exclude left ventricular noncompaction. RI scanning may be considered in this context to rule out left ventricular non-compaction. In addition, this association is a condition that requires genetic screening. Both diseases may be alone or associated with other congenital heart diseases. Cases in which a mutation in the sarcomere gene MYH7 was associated with the coexistence of non-compaction cardiomyopathy and Ebstein anomaly have been reported. (8-9-10) In another literature study, this association was also shown in the sarcomere gene TPM1 genetic mutation. (11) In this study, it is recommended to perform both MYH7 and TPM1 gene analysis. In the same study, family screening was also recommended, and these gene mutations were detected and diagnosed in other family members. This shows us that genetic transmission may occur when the diagnosis is made, and it is important to detect other family members for early diagnosis. However, genetic screening was not performed in our case.

Congenital heart diseases can be seen alone or together with other cardiac malformations, as seen in our case. Noncompaction cardiomyopathy is a vital disease ranging from severe left ventricular dysfunction and malignant arrhythmias to life-threatening thromboembolic events and even sudden death. When there are suspicious findings in a patient with Ebstein's anomaly, it may be associated with noncompaction cardiomyopathy, and scanning with echocardiographic and cardiac MRI should be considered. It should also be kept in mind that it is hereditary and screening of other family members.

Conflict of interest

The authors declared no conflict of interest.

Funding

No funding was used for the study.

Acknowledgments

None to declare.

Authors' contributions

Concept: A.C., O.G., Design: A.C., O.G., Data Collection or Processing: A.C., O.G., Analysis or Interpretation: A.C., O.G., Literature Search: A.C., O.G., Writing: A.C., O.G.

- 1. Murphy RT, Thaman R, Blanes JG et al. Natural history and familial characteristics of isolated left ventricular non-compaction. Eur Heart J 2005; 26:187-92.
- Zuccarino F, Vollmer I, Sanchez G, Navallas M, Pugliese F, Gayete A. Left ventricular non-compaction: imaging findings and diagnostic criteria. AJR Am J Roentgenol 2015; 204: 519-30.
- **3.** Gebhard C, Stähli BE, Greutmann M, Biaggi P, Jenni R, Tanner FC. Reduced left ventricular compacta thickness: a novel echocardiographic criterion for non-compaction cardiomyopathy. J Am Soc Echocardiogr 2012; 25:1050-7.
- Petersen SE, Selvanayagam JB, Wiesmann F et al. Left ventricular non-compaction: Insights from cardiovascular magnetic resonance imaging. J Am Coll Cardiol 2005; 46: 101-5.
- Jacquier A, Thuny F, Jop B et al. Measurement of trabeculated left ventricular mass using cardiac magnetic resonance imaging in the diagnosis of left ventricular non-compaction. Eur Heart J 2010; 31: 1098-104.
- **6.** Scardi S, D'Agata B, Giansante C. Pratica clinica: l'anomalia di Ebstein. G Ital Cardiol. 2009. 10:509-15

- 7. Almeida AG, Fausto J Pinto, Heart 2013; 99:1535–1542. doi:10.1136/heartjnl-2012-302048
- **8.** Van Engelen K, Postma AV, van de Meerakker JB et al. Ebstein's anomaly may be caused by mutation in the sarcomere protein gene MYH7. Neth Heart J. 2013 Mar;21(3):113-7. doi: 10.1007/s12471-011-0141-1.
- 9. A. V. Postma, K. van Engelen, J. van de Meerakker et al., "Mutations in the sarcomere gene MYH7 in Ebstein anomaly," *Circulation: Cardiovascular Genetics*, vol. 4, no. 1, pp. 43–50,

2011.

- 10. A. L. Bettinelli, T. J. Mulder, B. H. Funke, K. A. Lafferty, S. A. Longo, and D. M. Niyazov, "Familial ebstein anomaly, left ventricular hypertrabeculation, and ventricular septal defect associated with a MYH7 mutation," *American Journal of Medical Genetics A*, vol. 161, no. 12, pp. 3187–3190, 2013.
- A. Nijak, M Alaerts, C. Kuiperi, et al. European Journal of Medical Genetics 61 (2018) 8–10

Case Report

J Exp Clin Med 2023; 40(1): 186-187 doi: 10.52142/omujecm.40.1.35

Post arrest bispectral index monitoring

Serdar ÖZDEMİR^{1,*} ^(D), Oktay ÖCAL² ^(D), Hasan DEMİR² ^(D), Yasin METİNER³ ^(D), Tuba CİMİLLİ² ^(D), Aysel HÜNÜK⁴ ^(D), Özge ECMEL ONUR⁵

¹Department of Emergency Medicine, University of Health Sciences Ümraniye Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Türkiye

²Department of Emergency Medicine, University of Health Sciences Fatih Sultan Mehmet Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Türkiye

³Department of Emergency Medicine, Bitlis Tatvan State Hospital, Bitlis, Türkiye ⁴Department of Emergency Medicine, İstanbul Tuzla State Hospital, İstanbul, Türkiye

⁵Department of Emergency Medicine, Marmara University, İstanbul, Türkiye

Received: 06.02.2022	•	Accepted/Published Online: 01.07.2022	•	Final Version: 18.03.2023

Abstract

The bispectral index is an electroencephalography-based technology used to monitor sedation. BIS is a processed EEG parameter designed specifically to assess patient responses to sedation and anesthesia. This case report aimed to discuss the bispectral index changes during resuscitation of a patient who applied at the emergency unit with cardiopulmonary arrest in light of the literature.

Keywords: bispectral Index, electroencephalography, cardiopulmonary arrest, cardiopulmonary resuscitation

1. Introduction

Cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR) includes medical support in circulatory and respiratory arrest. The quality of CPR, especially the quality of chest compressions and minimization of interruptions, are the most critical determinants of the cause of cardiac arrest and its treatment success. Cellular damage from ischemia/reperfusion injury is a dynamic process, and in cardiac arrest, there is a therapeutic window in which effects can be reduced after resuscitation. Neurological prognosis is very difficult to determine early after resuscitation from cardiac arrest. In most cases, attempts to determine prognosis are not possible from the return of spontaneous circulation (ROSC) to at least the 72-hour mark (1).

Bispectral index (BIS) is an electroencephalography (EEG) based technology used to monitor sedation. BIS is a processed EEG parameter designed specifically to assess patient responses to sedation and anesthesia. It is used primarily in an operating room setting and is increasingly used in the ICU. It has a sensor placed across the patient's forehead to detect the electrical activity in the brain (2). We performed the multivariate statistical analysis and combined relevant EEG features to produce the BIS, a number strongly correlated to the clinical endpoint of the hypnotic state and displayed on a linear scale (0-100). This scale includes arousal states such as awake,

sedation, deep sedation, and coma. A BIS value as 100 means an awake state, while a value below 60 and 40 means deep sedation and deep anesthesia or hypnotic state, respectively (3).

This report aimed to present our case who applied at the emergency unit with cardiopulmonary arrest and was monitored by BIS during CPR.

2. Case

A 64-year-old man applied at the emergency unit with cardiopulmonary arrest. His family mentioned that he was admitted to the hospital several times and discharged from the coronary intensive care unit a week ago. The patient had a history of hypertension and congestive heart failure. We performed cardiopulmonary resuscitation successfully for half an hour. After resuscitation, his vital signs were the following: Body temperature 36.1°C; blood pressure 85/64 mmHg; and heart rate 74 beats per minute. We monitored the patient with BIS. BIS values remained between 0 and 10 for half an hour. Then his BIS started to rise, and it reached 61 in the fiftieth minute after resuscitation (figure 1). Widespread ST depression was present on post-resuscitation electrocardiography. Echocardiography evinced ejection fraction as 20%. We admitted the patient to the intensive care unit. He was extubated after three days of ventilatory support. We discharged the patient without any sequelae after 5 days of



intensive care follow-up and 3 days of clinical follow-up. An informed consent form about publication of this case was obtained from the patient and his son.



Fig. 1 Bispectral index

3. Discussion

BIS is a parameter originating from a mathematical analysis of data taken from the electroencephalogram. It is a simple, easy to interpret and noninvasive method. A BIS of 100 represents an awake individual, while a BIS of 0 represents complete electrical silence (2). Using BIS may greatly benefit clinical management by assessing the central nervous system function. A high BIS value reflects cerebral activity and should encourage the team to continue CPR. On the other hand, it is not clear to stop CPR and make death decisions according to a low BIS. Many care reports showed the potential benefit of BIS monitoring during resuscitation from cardiopulmonary arrest. Our case showed that BIS could be low, even zero in postresuscitation, but it could rise after an hour.

EEG changes due to impaired cerebral perfusion and cerebral ischemia are defined as isoelectric EEG monitoring following voltage loss. In the literature, BIS changes due to cerebral hypoperfusion and stroke have been reported as case reports in patients who underwent perioperative BIS monitoring (5,6). Welsby et al. reported a patient with an unexpected BIS decrease during coronary bypass graft operation and a post-operative stroke. They claimed to have encountered a stroke and that this decrease might have been due to it (5). Morimato et al. suggested that this decrease might have been due to cerebral hypoperfusion in a patient who had a BIS decrease during an arteriovenous shunt operation (6). A study evaluating the relationship between ischemic stroke and BIS reported a low BIS in patients with acute ischemic stroke. The authors associated this lowness with low EEG waveforms caused by cerebral hypoperfusion (7). Similarly, Küsken et al. showed that it associated with pathological findings in patients with head injury (8).

Researchers in the literature have shown that ROSC was associated with sharp increases in cytokines and other inflammatory response markers (9). On the other hand, arterial carbon dioxide levels and partial pressure after ROSC have been shown to correlate with clinical outcomes. Additionally, specifically, hypocapnia is associated with worse neurological outcomes (10).

In conclusion, based on our clinical experience in this case, we think that BIS may be a predictor like other effective predictors of ROSC. We believe that researchers should be encouraged to do more research on the relationship between BIS and ROSC.

Conflict of interest

None to declare.

Funding

None to declare.

Acknowledgments

None to declare.

Authors' contributions

Concept: S.Ö., O.Ö., H.D., Y.M., T.C., A.H., Ö.E.O., Design: S.Ö., O.Ö., Ö.E.O., Data Collection or Processing: S.Ö., O.Ö., H.D., Analysis or Interpretation: S.Ö., Ö.E.O., Literature Search: S.Ö., O.Ö., H.D., Y.M., T.C., Writing: S.Ö., H.D., Y.M., T.C., A.H., Ö.E.O.

- Jouffroy R, Vivien B. Time to Return of Spontaneous Circulation (ROSC) and Survival: Tissue and Brain Perfusion Is Probably More Important than ROSC. Prehosp Emerg Care. 2021 Oct 4:1-2.
- 2. Rosow C, Manberg PJ. Bispectral index monitoring. Anesthesiol Clin North Am. 2001 Dec;19(4):947-66, xi.
- **3.** Avidan MS, Zhang L, Burnside BA, et al. Anesthesia awareness and the bispectral index. N Engl J Med. 2008 Mar 13;358(11):1097-108.
- 4. Kim TY, Hwang SO, Jung WJ, et al. Early neuro-prognostication with the Patient State Index and suppression ratio in post-cardiac arrest patients. J Crit Care. 2021 Oct;65:149-155.
- Welsby IJ, Ryan JM, Booth JV, et al. The bispectral index in the diagnosis of perioperative stroke: a case report and discussion. Anesth Analg. 2003;96:435-7.
- **6.** Morimoto Y, Monden Y, Ohtake K, et al. The detection of cerebral hypoperfusion with bispectral index monitoring during general anesthesia. Anesth Analg. 2005;100:161.
- Özdemir S, Cimilli T, Onur ÖE. Relationship between the National Institutes Health Stroke Scale Score and Bispectral Index in Patients with Acute Ischemic Stroke. J Exp Clin Med. 2021; 38(4): 440-444.
- **8.** Kusken O, Ozturk TC, Hunuk A, et al. Relationship between brain computed tomography findings and bispectral index score in patients presenting with head trauma. North Clin Istanb. 2019; 6:219–25
- Trzeciak S, Jones AE, Kilgannon JH, et al. Significance of arterial hypotension after resuscitation from cardiac arrest. Crit Care Med. 2009;37(11):2895–2903
- 10. Lee BK, Jeung KW, Lee HY, et al. Association between mean arterial blood gas tension and outcome in cardiac arrest patients treated with therapeutic hypothermia. Am J Emerg Med. 2014;32(1):55–60.







J Exp Clin Med 2023; 40(1): 188-190 doi: 10.52142/omujecm.40.1.36

Curative breast cancer surgery with local anesthesia

Yasin DALDA^{1,}*[®], Özlem DALDA²[®], Deniz Yavuz BAŞKIRAN³[®], Fatih GÖNÜLTAŞ¹[®]

¹Department of General Surgery, Faculty of Medicine, İnönü University, Malatya, Türkiye ²Department of Pathology, Faculty of Medicine, İnönü University, Malatya, Türkiye ³Department of Public Health, Faculty of Medicine İnönü University, Malatya, Türkiye

Received: 09.09.2022	•	Accepted/Published Online: 26.11.2022	•	Final Version: 18.03.2023	

Abstract

Breast cancer has become an important health problem affecting mostly women, and its incidence is increasing. It is treated with a multidisciplinary approach involving medical oncology, radiation oncology and surgical oncology. Surgical removal of the tumor is the most important step in its treatment. General anesthesia used during surgery carries significant risks in patient groups with advanced age and comorbidities. In addition, treatment options such as chemotherapy and radiotherapy other than surgery may have significant side effects in these patient groups. Therefore, surgery plays an important role in the treatment of patients. Surgery with local anesthesia is a suitable alternative to general anesthesia in patients with early stage breast cancer because it carries less risk. Invasive Ductal Carcinoma was diagnosed in a 64-year-old female who presented with a mass in the right breast. In the anesthesia examination, she was evaluated as an ASA 3 because of her comorbidities and age. We present our patient with high comorbidity and advanced age who underwent curative cancer surgery using only local anesthesia.

Keywords: breast cancer, local anesthesia, breast-conserving surgery, radiotherapy

1. Introduction

In women, apart from skin cancers, cancer of the breast is the most common malignant disease and also the second most common cause of cancer-related death (1-3). While the surgical treatment of breast cancer was aggressively applied as radical mastectomy at the beginning of the 20th century, today it has evolved into a more conservative and minimally invasive surgery in the form of breast-conserving surgery (BCS). With the addition of radiotherapy, BCS has achieved similar survival rates to mastectomy and has replaced mastectomy, especially in early-stage breast cancer (ESBC) (4-6). BCS has an increased risk of mortality and morbidity due to anesthesia, especially for elderly patients and patients with comorbidities, as it is mostly performed under general anesthesia. In this study, we aimed to present a breast cancer patient who was considered to be at high risk in terms of anesthesia and therefore underwent curative surgery using only local anesthesia.

2. Case Presentation

A 64-year-old female patient was admitted to our clinic due to a right breast mass. Written informed consent was obtained from the patient for the publication of the case report. The patient's medical and surgical history had mitral valve replacement and total thyroidectomy surgeries, atrial fibrillation, diabetes mellitus, hyperlipidemia, and primary

hypertension. On physical examination, an irregular mass was palpated in the outer middle quadrant of the right breast. No pathological lesion was palpated in the left breast and both axillae. On mammography and breast ultrasonography, the mass was interpreted as a 14x9 mm lesion with irregular borders and a thick echogenic capsule in breast imaging reporting and data system classification (BIRADS) 4. A tru-cut biopsy of the mass resulted in an invasive breast carcinoma. Surgery was planned for the patient whose whole body positron emission tomography did not reveal any findings suggestive of metastasis. Due to comorbidities, the patient was considered high risk by the American Society of Anesthesiologists (ASA) 3 in the anesthesia examination. Therefore, the patient's surgery was performed using 2% Prilocaine, a local anesthetic. No inhaler or intravenous anesthetic was used. Prilocaine was injected into the area where the incision was made for the sentinel lymph node biopsy (SLNB) after methylene blue injection to the subareolar region and 8 minutes of massage. A Sentinel lymph node was found and sent to the frozen section. Following prilocaine injection on and around the mass, the tumor was removed by obtaining a macroscopic clean margin and sent to frozen. As a result of the frozen section, the pathology reported that the closest surgical margin was 1,5 cm and no metastasis was observed in the sentinel lymph node. On the first postoperative

day, we discharged the patient, and she had no postoperative complications. In the pathological examination of the specimen, a tumor with the morphology of an Invasive Ductal Carcinoma (grade III/ III, Modified Bloom Richardson) with the largest diameter of 1,5 cm was detected. In the immunohistochemical examination, it was revealed that estrogen receptor (ER): 100% positive, progesterone receptor (PR): 60% positive, Cerb B2: negative, and Ki-67: 40-50%. No recurrence or metastasis was detected in the 3-year follow-up of the patient who received adjuvant radiotherapy and hormonal therapy in the postoperative period.

3. Discussion

Breast cancer is an important health problem with an increasing incidence. A multidisciplinary approach is needed for surgery, which is the most important step in the treatment. Surgery is mostly performed under general anesthesia. In addition, regional or local anesthesia can be applied to patients who are at high risk of general anesthesia due to advanced age or additional diseases. Among these techniques, various epidural anesthesia and nerve blocks are used.

Surya et al. (7) presented five patients who underwent mastectomy and axillary dissection with a combination of more than one anesthesia techniques which were brachial plexus block, supraclavicular nerve block, and finally thoracic epidural anesthesia. All of these patients had diabetes mellitus and hypertension and two patients had coronary artery disease.

Colak and Alici (8) performed a modified radical mastectomy under sedation and local anesthesia on a patient with advanced-stage who was evaluated as ASA IV as a result of anesthesia examination.

Chongshan et al. (9) found that there was no relationship between the type of anesthesia and the prognosis of the disease in breast cancer patients operated under local anesthesia and general anesthesia. And local anesthesia was found to be more advantageous in terms of cost.

Hirokawa et al. (10) operated ESBC patients under general and local anesthesia and showed that there was no difference in terms of oncological outcomes due to the type of anesthesia. Axillary dissection was performed in a second session under general anesthesia after a positive sentinel lymph node was detected in a patient who was operated on under local anesthesia, and they emphasized this as one of the disadvantages of local anesthesia. In addition, they found local anesthesia advantageous in terms of hospital stays and cost.

It is known that in the process from the past to the present, minimally invasive methods have taken the place of radical methods in breast cancer surgery. BCS with SLNB have become routine procedures, especially in the treatment of ESBC. Even if the SLNB is positive, there are randomized controlled studies showing that the disease is well controlled with adjuvant treatment without axillary dissection (11). It has not been shown that there is an oncological disadvantage in patients who were operated on without using general anesthesia (10). In our opinion, this shows that local and regional anesthesia techniques can be used instead of general anesthesia.

In conclusion, it should be kept in mind that curative breast cancer surgery can be performed under local anesthesia to avoid the risks of general anesthesia in patients with advanced age and comorbidities.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

Funding

The author(s) reported there is no funding associated with the work featured in this article.

Acknowledgments

None to declare.

Authors' contributions

Concept: Y.D., F.G., Design: Ö.D., D.Y.B., Data Collection or Processing: Y.D., Ö.D., D.Y.B., Analysis or Interpretation: Ö.D., F.G., Literature Review: Y.D., F.G., Writing: Y.D., Ö.D., D.Y.B.

- Howlader N, Noone AM, Krapcho M, Miller D, Brest A, Yu M. SEER Cancer Statistics Review (CSR) 1975–2017. Released April 15, 2020. Bethesda (MD): National Cancer Institute. 2021.
- Siegel RL, Miller KD, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2020. CA Cancer J Clin. 2020 Jan;70(1):7–30.
- **3.** Hendrick RE, Helvie MA, Monticciolo DL. Breast Cancer Mortality Rates Have Stopped Declining in U.S. Women Younger than 40 Years. Radiology. 2021 Apr 1;299(1):143–9.
- **4.** Christiansen P, Carstensen SL, Ejlertsen B, Kroman N, Offersen B, Bodilsen A, et al. Breast conserving surgery versus mastectomy: overall and relative survival-a population based study by the Danish Breast Cancer Cooperative Group (DBCG). Acta Oncol. 2018 Jan 2;57(1):19–25.
- **5.** Gentilini OD, Cardoso MJ, Poortmans P. Less is more. Breast conservation might be even better than mastectomy in early breast cancer patients. Breast. 2017 Oct 1;35:32–3.
- Fisher B, Anderson S, Bryant J, Margolese RG, Deutsch M, Fisher ER, et al. Twenty-year follow-up of a randomized trial comparing total mastectomy, lumpectomy, and lumpectomy plus irradiation for the treatment of invasive breast cancer. N Engl J Med. 2002 Oct 17;347(16):1233–41.
- Surya R, Joseph Gunasingh JL, Sethuraman RM, Asokan A, Thilak M. "Combination of Thoracic Epidural Anesthesia, Supraclavicular Brachial Plexus Block and Supraclavicular Nerve Block as Surgical Anesthesia for Modified Radical Mastectomy-A Case Series." A&A Pract. 2022 Jun 1;16(6):e01591.
- **8.** Colak E, Alici O. Modified Radical Mastectomy under Local Anesthesia in High-Risk Male Breast Cancer. J breast Heal. 2015 Apr 7;11(2):98–100.
- **9.** Gu C, Wang L, He Y, Ouyang T, Li J, Wang T, et al. Effect of Local Versus General Anesthesia in Breast-Conserving Surgery on Cancer Recurrence and Cost. Cancer Control. 2022 Mar 3;29.
- 10. Hirokawa T, Kinoshita T, Nagao T, Hojo T. A clinical trial of curative surgery under local anesthesia for early breast cancer.

Breast J. 2012 Mar;18(2):195-7.

11. Giuliano AE, Ballman K, McCall L, Beitsch P, Whitworth PW, Blumencranz P, et al. Locoregional Recurrence After Sentinel Lymph Node Dissection With or Without Axillary Dissection in Patients With Sentinel Lymph Node Metastases: Long-term Follow-up From the American College of Surgeons Oncology Group (Alliance) ACOSOG Z0011 Randomized T. Ann Surg. 2016 Sep 1;264(3):413–9.



\diamondsuit

Case Report

J Exp Clin Med 2023; 40(1): 191-193 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.40.1.37

Lung cancer and choroidal metastase

Fatma Selen ALA^{1,*}, Meftun ÜNSAL², Alparslan SERASLAN³

¹Department of Pulmonary Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Ondokuz Mayıs University, Samsun, Türkiye ²Department of Radiation Oncology, Faculty of Medicine, Ondokuz Mayıs University, Samsun, Türkiye

	Received: 26.09.2022	•	Accepted/Published Online: 09.02.2023	•	Final Version: 18.03.2023	
--	----------------------	---	---------------------------------------	---	---------------------------	--

Abstract

Sixty-nine-year-old male patient, having treatment after one month due to lung adenocancer, was admitted to our clinic with the complaint of blurred vision in the left eye. Fundoscopy examination revealed irregular macula in both eyes and metastasis in both eyes choroid in Optical Coherence Tomography (OCT). In our case, it was observed that although both eye choroids had metastasized, the complaints of the eyes were lost with radiotherapy. In this case, a patient who developed eye metastases during the follow-up of lung cancer after completion of chemotherapy is presented. The patient with eye metastases improved after radiotherapy.

Keywords: lung neoplasms, choroid, radiotherapy, metastasis

1. Case

Our case was a 69-year-ol male patient who had no complaints other than cough. In the computerized tomography (CT) taken incidentally, an enlarged lymph node in the right peribronchial, subcarinal, right anterolateral subpleural 10 mm spicular extension, irregular nodule was observed (Fig. 1). A diagnosis of adenocarcinoma was made as a result of biopsy taken from the lymph nodes by mediastinoscopy. The patient with T1b N2 M0 (Stage 3A) did not have EGFR, ALK, ROS-1 mutations. The patient was initially treated with paclitaxel and carboplatin chemotherapy with curative radiotherapy (RT) a total dose of 61.2 Gy to the primaries and lymph nodes in our clinic. He was admitted to our clinic with the complaints of increased dyspnea and blurred vision in his left eye 24 months after the end of his treatment. In the fundoscopy examination in the Ophthalmology clinic, macular irregularity was observed. Multiple masses in both eyes were evaluated as metastasis to the choroid in Optical Coherence Tomography (OCT) (Fig. 2). At the same time, Positron Emission tomography (PET-CT) showed high FDG (SUV max: 8,31) uptake in the mass in the right hilar region, pleural effusion and metastases to the adrenal and bone (Fig. 3).10 x 3 Gy radiotherapy to both eyes with volumetric intensity modulated arc radiotherapy (VMAT) technique for 10 days treatment. It was observed that the eye complaints disappeared after the treatment. An improvement in the appearance of metastases was observed with control OCT (Fig. 4). The patient's visual impairment improved after radiotherapy applied to the eye and carboplatin paclitaxel chemotherapy was continued. Informed consent form was obtained from the patient and patient relatives in that case reports.



Fig. 1. Right peribronchial, subcarinal enlarged lymph node, right anterolateral subpleural 10 mm spicular extension, irregular nodule



Fig. 2. Optical Coherence Tomography (OCT) image of choroidal metastasis



Fig. 3. High FDG uptake (Suv max :8.31) in the mass in the right hilar region and pleural effusion in positron emission tomography (PET-CT)



Fig. 4. Improvement in metastasis appearance with control OCT

2. Discussion

The majority of eye cancers develop from metastases of other organs to the eye.

It is quite rare, and its frequency has been reported to have increased in recent years. Choroidal metastasis; is more common than iris and ciliary body metastases (1). The number of studies evaluating the incidence of choroidal metastasis due to lung cancer is few, and the incidence of choroidal metastasis varies between 0.1-7%(2). Lung cancer, which metastasizes most frequently into the eye, is reported to be the histopathological type of adeno cancer in 41% (3).

The uveal system is the part of the eye where metastases are most common. In the uvea, the choroid (88%) is the most affected area, followed by the iris (9%) and the ciliary body (2%). Although the exact cause is not known, the high vascularity in the region may explain this situation (4-5). Lung cancer is responsible for 30% of metastases to the choroid (6). It is more common for choroidal metastases. It is more common for choroidal metastases to involve the eye as multiple foci and 20-40% of them are bilateral (7).

The majority of patients have symptoms of lung cancer. Eye metastases are usually seen in advanced stages of cancer. Presence of metastases in at least one or more organs other than the eye is common (8). The most common metastases are seen in the brain, kidney, and liver adrenal. At the time of presentation with ocular symptoms, the patient also had adrenal and bone metastases (9). In our case, the presence of metastasis in both eyes and the absence of symptoms in the other eye is due to the fact that the metastasis remained silent in that eye. It has been reported in fewer cases that patients without a diagnosis of lung cancer initially presented with ocular symptoms. In general, symptoms of blurred vision, pain, floaters, eye redness, epiphora, diplopia are seen. Our case, on the other hand, applied to our clinic with the complaint of blurred vision in the left eye after the end of the lung cancer treatment, but on examination, metastasis was found in both eyes.

Radiological methods such as OCT, fluorescence angiography of the fundus, CT, orbital MR ultrasonography, PET imaging are useful in the diagnosis of these metastases. OCT is more sensitive than ultrasonography in the evaluation of small metastases. Features of metastasis may include anterior compression, irregularity and posterior shadowing. In retinal involvement, retinal pigment epithelial abnormalities and subretinal fluid are found (10).

Purpose of treatment; to maximize the patient's quality of life and to restore or preserve vision. A multisystemic approach to the treatment of the disease is very important. Treatment can be systemic or local. Chemotherapy can be used in systemic treatment. However, there are no definite conclusions about its usefulness.

There are some studies in the form of more case reports, especially on adenocarcinoma, and it is reported that it responds well to various chemotherapies. In particular, tyrosine kinase inhibitors such as bevacizumab, gefitinib, erlotinib, crizotinib and pemekrexet are more effective chemotherapy drugs in adenocancer (10, 11).

However, in our patient EGFR, ALK, ROS-1 were negative, drugs mentioned in the literature could not be administered at the beginning of the disease and after metastasis developed. Systemic treatment is more preferred than local treatment because complications such as local infections, xerophthalmia and cataract formation are rare. Radiotherapy, enucleation, systemic steroids, less frequently transpapillary thermotherapy and vitreous bevacizumab are used in local treatment. It has been reported that good results will be obtained especially when bevacizumab is given intravitreal together with systemic treatment (12).

Surgery does not play an important role in treatment, as surgery has a high morbidity potential.

Radiotherapy is usually the most important form of local treatment applied when lesions do not respond to systemic therapy. In many studies, radiotherapy to the eye between 20 and 50 Gy is widely used and provides symptomatic relief by controlling tumor growth. Although External Beam

Radiotherapy (EBRT) is the most widely used technique in the treatment of choroidal metastases; newer modalities such as plaque brachytherapy, proton beam therapy, and stereotactic radiosurgery can be used.

External Beam Radiotherapy (EBRT), first applied in 1979, is a widely used treatment modality for uveal metastases that do not regress despite systemic therapy (13). There are many studies indicating that EBRT is very beneficial in the treatment of patient symptoms and life expectancy. The improvement in visual functions is more permanent due to the higher dose of EBRT compared to other radiotherapies. If the applied RT dose is more than 32 grays, a faster response to the treatment is observed and the symptoms improve significantly. Our case responded well to 3 Gy radiotherapy for 10 days visual acuity increased. The patient showed response to both palliative radiotherapy and subsequent chemotherapy. In choroidal metastases, survival time may vary depending on the primary tumor type and local spread of the tumor. The prognosis of patients who develop choroidal metastases due to lung cancer is generally poor and the average life expectancy is reported to be 7-12 months (14). The survival of the patient in choroid metastasis with lung primary is no more than six month (15).

In patients with a diagnosis of lung cancer, if there are ocular symptoms, metastasis to the choroid should be considered. Choroidal metastases have a poor prognosis. Primary choroidal melanoma, haemangioma, inflammatory granuloma can be the differential diagnosis. Treatment options should be reviewed in order to improve visual function and improve quality of life in these patients. A multidisciplinary approach seems important for the treatment and follow-up of patients. In conclusion, radiotherapy should be considered as another treatment option in patients with lung adenocarcinoma who do not respond to chemotherapy.

Conflict of interest

None to declare.

Funding

None to declare.

Acknowledgments

None to declare.

Authors' contributions

Concept: F.S.A, Design: F.S.A, Data Collection or Processing: F.S.A., M.Ü., A.S., Analysis or Interpretation: F.S.A., M.Ü., A.S., Literature Review: F.S.A., M.Ü., Writing: F.S.A.

- Frederick A, David J, Anna M, David M, Michael K. Pulmonary Adenocarcinoma Metastatic to the Choroid Diagnosed by Biopsy of an Extrascleral Nodule Ocular Oncology and Pathology 2016;2:24–28.
- Kreusel KM, Wiegel T, Stange M, Bornfeld N, Hinkelbein N, Foerster MH, Choroidal metastasis in disseminated lung cancer: frequency and risk factors. Am J Ophthalmol 2002;134:445–447.
- **3.** Abundo RE, Orenic CJ, Anderson SF,Townsend JC. Choroidal metastases resulting from carcinoma of the lung. J Am Optom Assoc. 1997;68(2):95-108.
- 4. Shields CL, Shields JA, Schwartz GP, Lally SE, Gross NE. Survey of 520 eyes with uveal metastases. Ophthalmology 1997;104:1265–1276.
- 5. Ferry AP, Font RL. Carcinoma metastatic to eye and orbit: a clinico pathologic study of 227 cases. Arch Ophthalmol. 1974;92:276-86.
- Namad T, Wang J, Tilton A, Arim NA. Bilateral choroidal metastasis from non-small cell lung cancer. Case Rep Oncol Med. 2014;2014:858265.
- 7. Goldberg RA, Rootman J, Cline RA. Tumors metastatic to the orbit: a changing picture. Surv Ophthalmol 1990;35:1–24.
- **8.** Kreusel KM, Bechrakis NE, Wiegel T,Krause L,Foester MH. Incidence and clinical characteristics of symptomatic choroidal metastasis from lung cancer. Acta Ophthalmol. 2008: 86: 515– 519.
- Turluc MD, Sava A, Dumitrescu GF, Cucu A, Eşanu A, Tudorache C, et al Right visual loss due to choroidal metastasis of a papillary adenocarcinoma of the lung: a case report. Rom J Morphol Embryol 2015, 56(3):1173–1177.
- Demirci H, Cullen A, Sundstrom JM. Enhanced depth imaging optical coherence tomography of choroidal metastasis. Retina. 2014;34:1354–1359.
- 11. Bearz A, Santarossa S, Manfrè A, Beltrame G, Urbani M, Sartor I, et al. Activity of crizotinib over choroidal metastases in nonsmall-cell lung cancer (NSCLC)-ALK rearranged: a casereport BMC ResNotes. 2014 Sep 2;7:589
- 12. Bhattacharyya T, Kapoor R, Bahl A, Yadav BS, Singh U, Joshi K, Rane S et al. Carcinoma lung presenting with choroidal metastasis as initial presentation: A rarity.J Can Res Ther 2013;9:504-6.
- **13.** Chen CJ, McCoy AN, Brahmer J, Chen CJ, Handa JT. Surv Ophthalmol. Emerging Treatments for Choroidal Metastases. 2011; 56(6): 511–521.
- 14. Wiegel T, Bottke D, Kreusel KM, Schmidt S, Bornfeld N, Foerster MH, et al. External beam radiotherapy of choroidal metastasesfinal results of a prospective study of the German Cancer society (ARO 95-08). Radiother Oncol. 2002;64(1):13–8.
- Fernando AJ, Fernandez CF, Garcia RA. Optical coherence tomography. Characteristics of choroidal metastasis. Ophthalmol. 2005;122:1612-19.



Letter to Editor

J Exp Clin Med 2023; 40(1): 194-195 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.40.1.38

Medical management during the pandemic period

Emin PALA®

Department of Family Medicine, University of Health Sciences Umraniye Training and Research Hospital, Istanbul, Türkiye

Received: 11.09.2022	•	Accepted/Published Online: 21.12.2022	•	Final Version: 30.08.2022

Abstract

We read with great interest the article titled "Diagnostic Accuracy of Clinical Gestalt of Doctors with Different Experiences in COVID-19 Suspected Patients" prepared by Özkan and published in the third issue of your journal in 2022. Thanks to the author and editorial board for this interesting and informative article. In addition, we would like to briefly touch on the parameters used in the perception of triage and patient management during the pandemic process.

Keywords: pandemic, SARS-CoV-2, COVID-19, medical management

Dear Editor,

We read with great interest the article titled "Diagnostic Accuracy of Clinical Gestalt of Doctors with Different Experiences in COVID-19 Suspected Patients" prepared by Özkan and published in the third issue of your journal in 2022 (1). Thanks to the author and editorial board for this interesting and informative article. In addition, we would like to briefly touch on the parameters used in the perception of triage and patient management during the pandemic process.

The increase in emergency service applications, especially during the pandemic, is a major problem worldwide and in Turkey. The fact that emergency health services are free of charge causes people to apply to emergency health services in non-emergency situations, and the growing patient volume causes many problems, such as the inability to intervene in time for patients who need urgent health care services and physician and patient dissatisfaction. In this case, the method of separating the emergency patients from the non-emergency patients and determining the priority of treatment of the patients gain importance (2).

In the Book of Travels of Evliya Celebi, Evliya Celebi talks about the soldiers waiting at the castle gate. Triage officers are not like soldiers waiting at the castle gate. Their key task is to ensure that the patient in need of emergency medical support reaches the physician immediately. They contribute to the management of health resources. Healthcare providers use triage scales to distinguish between emergency and nonemergency patients (2).

Concerns about the use of health resources have increased after the first SARS-CoV-2 case was reported in Turkey and

the World Health Organization declared a pandemic on March 31, 2020 (3). Rapid Emergency Medicine Score (REMS), Modified Early Warning Score (MEWS), and Rapid Acute Physiology Score (RAPS) are parameters that can be used in prehospital and emergency departments based on vital parameters. In the pandemic, early warning systems such as REMS, MEWS and RAPS were studied for their ability to predict bad outcomes (4).

Scoring systems formed by adding laboratory parameters to the early warning systems based on vital parameters in the emergency room management of SARS-CoV-2 patients were studied. It has been shown that available scoring systems such as CURB-65 and pneumonia severity index, which are used in the management of pneumonia patients, can also be used in SARS-CoV-2 patients (5). It has been reported that C-reactive protein, lymphocyte count, interleukin 6, and D-dimer can be used in the follow-up of disease and in clinical management, such as the decision for intensive care admission (6,7).

In addition to all these available scoring systems and laboratory parameters, new markers have been developed using machine learning (8-10). Weng et al. developed the ADNC score for SARS-CoV-2 infected patients using age, neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio, D-dimer, and C-reactive protein recorded at admission (8). Xie et al. reported a prognostic model using lactate dehydrogenase, lymphocyte count, age, and SpO2 as predictors of SARS-CoV-2-related death (9). Yan et al. proposed a marker that could predict 10day mortality using lactic dehydrogenase, lymphocytes, and high-sensitivity C-reactive protein (10).

As a result, the pandemic period is a period in which scarce

resources should be used effectively. Researchers have developed new parameters to manage resources using vital and laboratory parameters.

Conflict of interest

The authors declared no conflict of interest.

Funding

No funding was used for the study.

Acknowledgments

None to declare.

Authors' contributions

Concept: E.P., Design: E.P., Data Collection or Processing: E.P., Analysis or Interpretation: E.P., Literature Search: E.P., Writing: E.P.

References

- Özkan A. Diagnostic Accuracy of Clinical Gestalt of Doctors with Different Experiences in COVID-19 Suspected Patients. J Exp Clin Med. 2022; 39(3): 0-0. Epub ahead of print.
- **2.** Eroglu SE, Toprak SN, Urgan O, et al. Evaluation of non-urgent visits to a busy urban emergency department. Saudi Med J. 2012 Sep;33(9):967-72.
- **3.** Eroglu SE, Aksel G, Altunok I, et al. Can Google® trends predict emergency department admissions in pandemic periods? Medicine Science 2021;10(1):111-7. doi: 10.5455/medscience.2020.08.162
- 4. Özdemir S, Algın A, Akça HŞ, et al. Predictive Ability of the

MEWS, REMS, and RAPS in Geriatric Patients With SARS-CoV-2 Infection in the Emergency Department. Disaster Med Public Health Prep. 2022 May 2:1-4. doi: 10.1017/dmp.2022.107. Epub ahead of print.

- **5.** Akça HŞ, Algın A, Özdemir S, Sevimli H, Kokulu K, Eroğlu SE. Comparison of the efficacy of PSI, CURB-65, CALL and BCRSS in predicting prognosis and mortality in COVID-19 patients. J Exp Clin Med. 2021;38(4):434-9.
- **6.** Özdemir S, Eroğlu SE, Algın A, et al. Analysis of laboratory parameters in patients with COVID-19: Experiences from a pandemic hospital. Ann Clin Anal Med. 2021;12 (Supp 4):518-23. Doi: 10.4328/ACAM.20678.
- Özdemir S, Algin A. Evaluation of the ability of the C-reactive protein-to-albumin ratio to predict short-term mortality in patients with COVID-19. J Clin Med Kaz. 2021;18(6):35-9. Doi: 10.23950/jcmk/11324.
- **8.** Weng Z, Chen Q, Li S, et al. ANDC: an early warning score to predict mortality risk for patients with Coronavirus Disease 2019. J Transl Med. 2020 Aug 31;18(1):328. doi: 10.1186/s12967-020-02505-7.
- **9.** Xie J, Hungerford D, Chen H, et al. Development and external validation of a prognostic multivariable model on admission for hospitalized patients with COVID-19. medRxiv; 2020. DOI: 10.1101/2020.03.28.20045997.
- 10. Yan L, Zhang HT, Goncalves J, et al. An interpretable mortality prediction model for COVID-19 patients. Nat Mach Intell 2020;2:283-8. doi:10.1038/s42256-020-0180-7



Letter to Editor

J Exp Clin Med 2023; 40(1): 196 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.40.1.39

Prognosticating poor outcome in COVID-19

Emin PALA[®]

Department of Family Medicine, University of Health Sciences Umraniye Training and Research Hospital, Istanbul, Türkiye

B		A		E 1 V 18 02 2022
Received: 13.10.2022	•	Accepted/Published Online: 23.12.2022	•	Final version: 18.03.2023

Abstract

We have read the article titled "Comparison of liver biomarkers with N/L ratio, CRP, d-dimer in Covid 19 pneumonia and its effect on mortality" prepared by Haydar et al. with great interest. We thank the editorial board and the authors for publishing this successful and informative manuscript. We also would like to mention a few important points about prognosticating mortality in COVID-19 to contribute to the discussion of the study.

Keywords: COVID-19, SARS-CoV-2, pandemics, prognosticate

Dear Editor,

We have read the article titled "Comparison of liver biomarkers with N/L ratio, CRP, d-dimer in Covid 19 pneumonia and its effect on mortality" prepared by Haydar et al. with great interest (1). We thank the editorial board and the authors for publishing this successful and informative manuscript. We also would like to mention a few important points about prognosticating mortality in COVID-19 to contribute to the discussion of the study.

The COVID-19 pandemic has had negative social, economic, and psychological effects on health workers and society. The important reasons of these effects were not recognizing the disease in the early stages of the pandemic, not being able to predict how deadly it will be, and not being able to predict mortal cases (2). Authors studied early warning systems laboratory parameters and scores such as PSI and CURB-65 to prognosticate mortality in COVID-19 at early period of pandemic (3,4). Wang et al., one of these authors, worked to find the ideal prognostic score (5). As Haydar et al., they reported age, neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio, D-dimer and C-reactive protein as independent predictors. Based on this result, Weng et al. developed the ANDC early warning score. The score was calculated using the formula $1.14 \times age - 20$ $(years) + 1.63 \times neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio + 5.00 \times D-dimer$ $(mg/L) + 0.14 \times C$ -reactive protein (mg/L). They reported the area under the curve of the model with a good value of 0.975 (95% Confidence Interval: 0.947-1,000). The authors suggested that 59 and 101 for ANDC could be used as cut-off values to classify COVID-19 disease.

Conflict of interest

The authors declared no conflict of interest.

Funding

No funding was used for the study.

Acknowledgments

None to declare.

Authors' contributions

Concept: E.P., Design: E.P., Data Collection or Processing: E.P., Analysis or Interpretation: E.P., Literature Search: E.P., Writing: E.P.

- Haydar F, Otal Y, Avcioğlu G. Comparison of liver biomarkers with N/L ratio, CRP, d-dimer in Covid 19 pneumonia and its effect on mortality. J Exp Clin Med. 2022; 39(3): 693-8. Doi: 10.52142/omujecm.39.3.19
- Mutlu H, Sert ET, Kokulu K, Saritas A. Anxiety level in prehospital emergency medical services personnel during coronavirus disease-2019 pandemic. Eurasian J Emerg Med 2021; 20:43-48. Doi: 10.4274/eajem.galenos.2020.82621
- **3.** Özdemir S, Eroğlu SE, Algın A, et al. Analysis of laboratory parameters in patients with COVID-19: Experiences from a pandemic hospital. Ann Clin Anal Med. 2021;12 (Supp 4):518-523. https://doi.org/10.4328/ACAM.20678
- 4. Akça HŞ, Algın A, Özdemir S, et al. Comparison of the efficacy of PSI, CURB-65, CALL and BCRSS in predicting prognosis and mortality in COVID-19 patients. J Exp Clin Med. 2021; 38(4): 434-439. doi: 10.52142/omujecm.38.4.6
- Weng Z, Chen Q, Li S, et al. ANDC: an early warning score to predict mortality risk for patients with Coronavirus Disease 2019. J Transl Med. 2020 Aug 31;18(1):328. doi: 10.1186/s12967-020-02505-7.



Research Article

J Exp Clin Med 2023; 40(1): 197-198 **doi:** 10.52142/omujecm.40.1.40

SCUBE-1 as a novel predictor of thromboembolic event

Hatice Şeyma AKÇA®

Department of Emergency Medicine, University of Karamanoğlu Mehmet Bey, Karaman Education and Research Hospital, Karaman, Türkiye

Received: 07.12.2022	٠	Accepted/Published Online: 22.01.2023	٠	Final Version: 18.03.2023

Dear Editor,

SCUBE-1 is a newly identified, produced cell surface protein determined through embryogenesis's first part. The protein contains cascading EGF-like repeats following the N-terminal signal peptide sequence, a spacer area, cysteine-rich recurrence motifs, and a CUB domain at the C-terminus. These molecules are collected in alpha granules in inactivated platelets, translocated to the platelet surface after stimulation by thrombin, secreted as small fathomable fragments, and incorporated into the thrombus. After platelet activation, SCUBE-1 expression increases, and SCUBE-1 migrates to the cell surface, cleaves, and is issued into the flow as minor soluble units. These circulating particles increase plateletplatelet bonds and agglutination in thrombotic situations. In addition, it has been shown that it is associated with acute ischemia and an increase in hypertension due to the increase in SCUBE-1 values in endothelial damage. SCUBE-1 accumulation was detected immune-histochemically in the subendothelial matrix of improved atherosclerotic lesions in humans. Platelet stimulation and accumulation are responsible for acute ischemic complications (1-3). It is thought that SCUBE-1 may be a new platelet endothelial adhesion molecule.

There are many findings in the literature investigating SCUBE-1 and thromboembolic events (1-4). For example, Yıldırım et al. described that SCUBE-1 is a marker of platelet activation in cases with ST-elevation myocardial infarction (STEMI) and a novel platelet-endothelial adhesion molecule who experienced primary percutaneous coronary intervention and they recommended that SCUBE-1 can use as a predictor of great thrombus burden in cases with STEMI (1). In one more study, Sönmez et al. showed high levels of SCUBE1 both in the STEMI and non-STEMI patients (2). On the other hand, Özkan et al. found that SCUBE-1 was not a useful marker for unstable angina pectoris and acute coronary syndrome. The results of Özkan et al. suggested that further studies are necessary to show the association between SCUBE-1 and acute

coronary syndrome (3). Yılmaz et al. investigated the relationship between return of spontaneous circulation (ROSC) in cases with cardio-pulmonary resuscitation and serum SCUBE-1 levels and showed SCUBE-1 was higher in the ROSC group compared with the mortality cases (4). One of the important causes of mortality in COVID-19 is thromboembolic pathogenesis (5). Toprak et al. presented SCUBE1 as one of the main contributing factors of thrombotic complications, which is an increased cause of morbidity and mortality in COVID-19, according to the results of their study (6). Dirican et al. found high SCUBE-1 in cases with pulmonary embolism, and they recommended SCUBE-1 as a new diagnostic biomarker with high sensitivity (7). In an empirical study, Aköz et al. showed that SCUBE-1 is an early predictor of acute mesenteric ischemia and might be useful in detecting irreversible intestinal damage (8). In different experimental research, Türkmen et al. found that SCUBE-1 could use as an early predictor of acute ischemic stroke according to SCUBE-1 from the first hour of the persuaded stroke and continued elevated until the sixth hour verified (9).

In conclusion, in light of the mentioned literature, SCUBE-1 can be used as a predictor of thromboembolic events.

Keywords: SCUBE-1, thromboembolic events, myocardial infarction

Conflict of interest

The authors declared no conflict of interest.

Funding

No funding was used for the study.

Acknowledgments

None to declare.

Authors' contributions

Concept: H.Ş.A., Design: H.Ş.A., Data Collection or Processing: H.Ş.A., Analysis or Interpretation: H.Ş.A., Literature Search: H.Ş.A., Writing: H.Ş.A.



References

- Yıldırım A, Kücükosmanoglu M, Koyunsever NY, Cekici Y, Dogdus M, Saracoglu E, et al. Association between serum SCUBE1 levels and thrombus burden in patients with ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction. Acta Cardiol. 2021 Sep;76(7):777-784. doi: 10.1080/00015385.2020.1852753.
- 2. Sonmez E, Turkdogan KA, Karabacak M, Civelek C, Yilmaz C, Ozer OF, et al. The diagnostic role of signal peptide-C1r/C1s, Uegf, and Bmp1-epidermal growth factor domain-containing protein 1 in non-ST-elevation acute coronary syndrome. Am J Emerg Med. 2015 Jan;33(1):21-4. doi: 10.1016/j.ajem.2014.09.047.
- Özkan A, Sönmez E, Özdemir S, Özer F, Muharrem N, Gülen B, et al. The Diagnostic Value of SCUBE1 in Unstable Angina Pectoris Patients. Eurasian J Emerg Med. 2016;15:167-171. doi: 10.5152/eajem.2016.83997.
- 4. Yılmaz C, Gülen B, Sönmez E, Akbay D, Söğüt Ö, Özdemir S, et al. Serum SCUBE-1 Levels and Return of Spontaneous Circulation Following Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation in Adult Patients. Avicenna J Med. 2022 Sep 5;12(3):148-153. doi: 10.1055/s-0042-1755389.
- Algın A, Özdemir S. Evaluation of the predictability of platelet mass index for short-term mortality in patients with COVID 19: A retrospective cohort study. J Contemp Med 2021;11(5):728-33.

doi:10.16899/jcm.973825.

- 6. Toprak K, Kaplangoray M, Palice A, Taşcanov MB, İnanır M, Memioğlu T, et al. SCUBE1 is associated with thrombotic complications, disease severity, and in-hospital mortality in COVID-19 patients. Thromb Res. 2022 Dec;220:100-6. doi: 10.1016/j.thromres.2022.10.016.
- Dirican N, Duman A, Sağlam G, Arslan A, Ozturk O, Atalay S, et al. The diagnostic significance of signal peptide-complement C1r/C1s, Uegf, and Bmp1-epidermal growth factor domaincontaining protein-1 levels in pulmonary embolism. Ann Thorac Med. 2016 Oct-Dec;11(4):277-282. doi: 10.4103/1817-1737.191876.
- 8. Aköz A, Türkdoğan KA, Kahraman Çetin N, Kum S, Duman A, Türe M, et al. Predicting critical duration and reversibility of damage in acute mesenteric ischemia: An experimental study. Ulus Travma Acil Cerrahi Derg. 2018 Nov;24(6):507-513. doi: 10.5505/tjtes.2018.69710.
- **9.** Turkmen S, Mentese S, Mentese A, Uzun Sumer A, Saglam K, Yulug E, et al. The value of signal peptide-CUB-EGF domaincontaining protein 1 and oxidative stress parameters in the diagnosis of acute mesenteric ischemia. Acad Emerg Med. 2013 Mar;20(3):257-64. doi: 10.1111/acem.12096.

GUIDE FOR AUTHORS

PREPARING ELECTRONIC MANUSCRIPTS:

Please keep text, tables and graphics, as separate files in other word do not import the figures or tables into the text file. Text files should be supplied in one of the following formats: Microsoft Word or WordPerfect, Windows or Macintosh formatted.

ORGANIZATION OF THE ARTICLE:

Manuscripts should be prepared electronically using an appropriate MS Word compatible word-processing package, formatted for A4 or letter page size, double-spaced throughout with 2.5 cm margins on all sides, and using Times New Roman, 12-point font. Text should not be justified, but flush left. Words should not be hyphenated to fit on a line. Pages should be numbered sequentially.

<u>1-TITLE PAGE</u>: The title page should contain the following items:

- (1) complete title;
- (2) full names of all authors;
- (3) complete affiliations of all authors;
- (4) the ORCID of all authors;

(5) the name and complete address of the corresponding Author that includes telephone number, facsimile number and E-mail address to whom correspondence and proofs should be sent.

2-MAIN TEXT:

a) Original articles: Introduction; Materials and methods (with explicit reference to compliance with ethical standards, including the name of the Ethics Committee that approved the study and the informed consent declaration); results; discussion; acknowledgments; funding; conflict of interest; references.

b) Review: Systematic review or meta-analysis on data from the literature and critical analysis of the present state of knowledge should be represented with appropriate headings.

c) Case Report: Introduction; Case Report; Discussion; informed consent; conflict of interest; references.

The main text should contain the following items:

<u>Abstract</u>: This should provide a concise description of the purpose of the report or summary of the review and should not exceed 300 words. Avoid abbreviations, unless they are used universally.

Keywords: Provide at least 4-6 keywords. Only use terms that are include in the Medical Subject Headings - MeSH (<u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/mesh</u>).

Introduction: The objectives of the research should be clearly stated in this section. Relevant background information and recent published studies should be described concisely, and be cited appropriately.

<u>Materials and methods</u>: This section should contain all the details necessary to reproduce the experiments. Avoid re-describing methods already published; only relevant modifications should be included in the text.

Ethical statement: Research carried out on human participants must be in compliance with the Helsinki Declaration as revised in 2013. (https://www.wma.net/policies-post/wma-declaration-of-helsinki-ethical-principles-for-medical-research-involving-human-subjects/). The written consent of each subject should be

taken. Therefore, for any research studies or evaluations involving human participants (including students, residents, fellows and faculty members), authors need to provide information regarding ethical approval for the research presented in the manuscript. A statement to this effect must be incorporated into the "Materials and Methods" section and should include the name of the approving committee (e.g., Institutional Review Board, Ethics Committee on Human Research, etc.), the name of the institution at which approval was granted and a reference number where appropriate. When experimental animals are used, the methods section must clearly indicate that adequate measures were taken to minimize pain or discomfort. Experiments should be carried out in accordance with the European Communities Council Directive of 24 November 1986 (86/609/EEC), or with the animals for experimental procedures.

<u>Results</u>: This section should present the results and interpret them in a clear and concise manner. Results should usually be presented descriptively and be supplemented by figures.

Discussion: Extensive citations and discussion of published literature should be not be used.

Conflict of Interest:

All potential conflicts of interest must be stated within this section. This pertains to relationships with industry and other corporations whose products or services are related to the subject matter of the submitted manuscript.

Funding:

All funding agencies should be stated in this section.

Acknowledgments:

Author acknowledgments should be written in the third person ("The authors wish to thank...") and written permission should be obtained from all individuals who are listed in the Acknowledgments section of the manuscript.

Material in this manuscript previously presented in a different form, such as an oral presentation at a conference or meeting, must be reported.

References:

References must be numbered in parenthesis within the article and listed in order of their first appearance in the text. All references cited in the text should be listed at the end of the manuscript on a separate page. The accuracy of references is the responsibility of the author. The references should include only articles that are published or in press. Unpublished data, submitted manuscripts, or personal communications should be cited within the text only. Personal communications should be documented by a letter of permission. All items in the list of references should be cited in the text and, conversely, all references cited in the text must be presented in the list.

Identify references in text by Arabic numerals in parenthesis as follows: "as shown by Yasargil (1)"; if two authors; "Yasargil and Kadri (2)"; if more than two authors; "Yasargil et al. (3)". The style of references must follow the NLM system and for the abbreviations of journal titles; please consult the List of Journals Indexed in Index Medicus, published annually as a list in the January issue of Index Medicus, also accessible at www.nlm.nih.gov).

Please use the following style for references:

Article in a periodical:

Yaşargil MG, Kadri PA, Yasargil DC. Microsurgery for malignant gliomas. Neurooncol. 2004; 69(1-3): 67-81.

More than 6 authors: Rose ME, Huerbin MB, Melick J, Marion DW, Palmer AM, Schiding JK, et al. Regulation of interstitial excitatory amino acid concentrations after cortical contusion injury. Brain Res. 2002; 935(1): 40–46.

Chapter in a book (within a series):

Meltzer PS, Kallioniemi A, Trent JM. Chromosome alterations in human solid tumors. In: Vogelstein B, Kinzler KW, editors. The genetic basis of human cancer. New York: McGraw-Hill; 2002, p. 93-113.

<u>An entire book:</u> Murray PR, Rosenthal KS, Kobayashi GS, Pfaller MA. Medical microbiology. 4th ed. St. Louis: Mosby; 2002.

Web page:

Atherton, J. Behaviour modification [Internet]. 2010 [updated 2010 Feb 10; cited 2010 Apr 10]. Available from: http://www.learningandteaching.info/learning/behaviour_mod.htm.

Dissertation:

Borkowski MM. Infant sleep and feeding: a telephone survey of Hispanic Americans [dissertation]. Mount Pleasant (MI): Central Michigan University; 2002.

<u>**Graphic files:**</u> Journal only accepts PNG, TIFF and EPS formats for graph. Each figure should be a separate file and not be embedded in the text. All graphic files must be submitted in sufficiently high resolution, for grey scale and color images 250 dpi and 500-800 dpi for line art) to allow for printing.

Electronic submission of articles via the Web; http://dergipark.org.tr/omujecm

Full instructions for uploading data and files etc. are given on the website when submitting a manuscript. It is the responsibility of the Authors to create the proper files as instructed above for the electronically submitted manuscript. The editorial office cannot make conversions beyond the supported file types. After online submission, there is no need sending a hardcopy of manuscript or illustrations to the Editors. Please note that the electronic files supplied will always be used to produce the illustrations, including those for the print version of the article; it is the Authors' responsibility to ensure that these files are of suitable quality.

COPYRIGHT RELEASE FORM JOURNAL OF EXPERIMENTAL AND CLINICAL MEDICINE

Ondokuz Mayis University, Faculty of Medicine, Atakum, 55200, Samsun, Turkey Tel: +90 (362) 312 1919

Manuscript title:

Full names of all authors (in order to appear on manuscript):

Name of corresponding author:

Address of corresponding author:

l elephone:	

E-mail: _____

Mobile phone:		
---------------	--	--

Signature:

Date: _____

The author(s) warrant(s) that:

a) The submitted manuscript is his/her/their own original work;

b) All authors participated in the work in a substantive way and are prepared to take public responsibility for the work;

c) All authors have seen and approved the manuscript as submitted;

d) The manuscript has never been published before or is not at the stage of any evaluation in another journal;

e) The text, illustrations, and any other materials included in the manuscript do not infringe upon any existing copyright or other rights of anyone;

f) In consideration of my/our manuscript submitted, I/we hereby grant JOURNAL OF EXPERIMENTAL AND CLINICAL MEDICINE the unlimited, worldwide, irrevocable royalty-free, right to publish, use, distribute, publish, license, transmit, display, exhibit, record, store, translate, digitize, broadcast, reproduce and archive, in any format or medium, whether now known or hereafter developed.

However, reproduction, posting, transmission or other distribution or use of the article or any material contained therein, in any medium as permitted hereunder, requires a citation to the Journal and appropriate credit to JOURNAL OF EXPERIMENTAL AND CLINICAL MEDICINE as publisher, suitable in form and content as follows: Title of article, author(s), journal title and volume/issue, year.

All materials related to manuscripts, accepted or rejected, including photographs, original figures etc., will be kept by JOURNAL OF EXPERIMENTAL AND CLINICAL MEDICINE for one year following the editor's decision. These materials will then be destroyed.

This copyright form should only be signed by the corresponding author on behalf of all authors.
e-ISSBN 1309-5129

ONDOKUZ MAYIS UNIVERSITY
FACULTY OF MEDICINE



